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Recap

Larek Holsten had his entire world turned upside-down when he was accused of trying to kill the Headman’s daughter, but that was only the start of his new life.  After witnessing a Scission attack on a nearby town, the former Logger was discovered to have the potential to wield a magic he never wanted; as a result of this discovery, he was ordered to attend Crystalview Academy upon the threat of death if he didn’t comply. 

Along his journey to the Academy, the sheltered teenager learned more about the world than he ever knew existed – though not all of it was good.  The prejudice that the common people held toward his height weighed upon him, even though he knew it wasn’t something he could do anything about.  This prejudice continued after he arrived at Crystalview, though it wasn’t quite as intense as he feared; it helped that he learned a little about why everyone born in the Kingdom reacted to him the way they did – even if it wasn’t fair.  Unfortunately, that was the least of his problems.

What he had to worry about instead was his own inability to cast a spell, thanks to his initial efforts that literally blew up in his face.  On the other hand, he also discovered that the accidental permanence to his spell patterns was actually beneficial when it came to creating Fusions.  Not only that, some strange fluke gave Larek incredibly high starting stats that far outstripped anything a normal Fusionist – even a Grandmaster – could apply toward the formation of Fusions, and his instinctual understanding of their creation put him head-and-shoulders above everyone else.

But Larek also had a secret that he didn’t dare to share with anyone.  In a world where those with magical potential only became Mages or Martials, who were those with ability to manipulate Stama internally, the former Logger had the ability to become both.  This came to a head when the Academy was attacked from inside the city and Larek was forced to unlock a Martial Battle Art in the heat of the fight, though he had no control over the process.

Unfortunately, after the battle against the Scissions, his Fusions Professor was found to have been killed, and Larek was jointly blamed for the explosion of hundreds of Healing Surge Fusions on the roof of the Academy along with the now-deceased Professor, as well as the temporary comas that many of the Mages suffered as a result of using these healing Fusions that Larek created.  As a punishment, the Dean of Crystalview decided to send him away to Copperleaf Academy far to the south, along with his friends and a group of first-years that were left without a place to stay as a result of the explosion.

Escorted south by a caravan run by Merchants, Larek and the other transfer students were attacked by Bog Goblins, which eventually led to the Fusionist revealing some of his abilities and even his Status to multiple people – his friends included.  After finally hitching a ride on the SIC Transportation Network, which was comprised of giant carriages pulled by equally large Canniks, Larek was able to experiment a little more with his Fusions by creating some physical stat boosts for the Martial trainee graduates that were accompanying them on their journey. 

Overall, traveling south was largely uneventful besides allowing Larek to expand his capabilities as a Fusionist, but his introduction to Copperleaf Academy certainly was not.  To his good fortune, his studies included an Advanced Fusions class with Grandmaster Fusionist Shinpai, who agreed to teach him after learning about Larek’s obscenely high Pattern Cohesion and Mana regeneration rates, as well as his ability to make extremely strong and near-permanent Fusions. 

Unfortunately, the ecstatic student Fusionist had caught the eye of multiple parties due to completely different reasons.  First, his height was noticed by a particular Noble named Ricardo, who ended up capturing and torturing him in order to discover if something catastrophic called “The Culmination” was occurring.  During that interrogation, Larek also learned that he was likely something called a half-breed, which was a half-human and half-Gergasi or half-“Great One” – the race of giants that used Dominion magic to enslave the people of the Kingdom, and were still enslaving the Nobles to that day.

Healing and then freeing himself through the use of Fusions, Larek ensured Ricardo and his two Martial trainee helpers couldn’t spread the news about his origins and also protected his family from harm by eliminating all three of them and hiding the bodies.  That wasn’t the only complication to his existence at Copperleaf Academy, however.

Through helping an injured Martial trainee one day, Larek accidentally revealed that he had a Fusion that could heal people – and those in charge of Fort Pinevalley wanted it.  Unfortunately, sharing that kind of thing would also likely reveal his dual nature as both a Mage and a Martial, but the choice was taken out of his hands as he was essentially forced to compete in the upcoming Skirmish. 

To prepare for the set of competitions that pitted teams of Mages and Martials against each other, Larek created some powerful defensive Fusions for his team to use.  Penelope, the blue-haired Martial trainee that had caused the Fort to start looking into Larek more than he cared for, was their team leader.  Other members were two other Martials named Bartholomew and Vivienne, as well as a fifth-year Mage student, Kimble.  Nedira joined the team that was expected to fail spectacularly because they barely had any time to practice together, but they managed to pull off wins through the competition because of Larek’s powerful contributions.

After his team was accused of cheating with Larek’s Fusions, it was revealed by Dean Lorraine to the entirety of the Academy and Fort that Larek was a Fusion prodigy, a person who was able to create Fusions better than anyone else in the world.

This revelation, along with their win at the Skirmish, led to Larek becoming quite famous at Copperleaf Academy.  With that fame came new dangers along with new responsibilities, and Larek was tasked with creating Fusion after Fusion for the SIC, as directed by Grandmaster Fusionist Shinpai and by the Dean.  Despite everything he was creating, he was never able to figure out how to improve his Skills to the point where he could make Advanced Fusions.

While experimenting with some new ideas, Larek figured out how to create a healing Fusion that would work for non-Martials as well as a brand-new Skill that had never been seen before: Focused Division.  Because learning this new Skill could help with spellcasting, he was tasked to help teach the faculty of the Academy; unfortunately, his Dominion magic ended up being used to impart the information to the faculty, almost killing him in the process.

Shortly after starting the new school year, the Academy and Fort was visited by a Gergasi, who demanded of the Dean and the Vice General to bring his child to him.  Discovering that this Lord Vilnesh was his father, Larek and his companions were led by Shinpai to an escape tunnel after the Dean and Vice General were killed.  With a significant amount of money from his created Fusions and instructions to go to Silverledge Academy and Fort Ironwall, they fled as quickly as possible while staying out of sight, fighting monsters as they made their way through the countryside.  After their first major battle, Larek unlocked the ability to absorb Aetheric Force, which could be used to increase his maximum Skill levels. 

Saving a group of SIC members, Larek and his companions accompanied them to the overcrowded town of Whittleton, which had seen an influx of refugees fleeing the appearance of monsters all over the Kingdom.  Having seen and heard about the powerful Fusions that Larek had created for his friends, the Major in charge of the local SIC force believed that they would be better utilized by her forces and arranged for them to be taken from Larek and his group, potentially even turning them in as deserters.  In an attempt to appease them, Larek made Fusions for the entire SIC force, but that apparently wasn’t enough, as the group of companions was ambushed when leaving the town.

Having foreknowledge of the ambush, the Fusionist turned the tables on them and forced them to leave without anyone getting hurt.  Just when they were departing, something appeared nearby that immediately put everyone on alert; the appearance of an Aperture, what could almost be called a permanent Scission, was a great cause for concern.

Nearly killing himself and everyone else who went to destroy, and inevitably close, the Aperture, Larek and his companions were unprepared when another Gergasi appeared out of the sky.  Chinli, the Gergasi, promised to spare his friends (who had their memory wiped of all knowledge of Larek) if the Fusionist agreed to come along without a fight, and with great reluctance, he agreed.  Unfortunately, along their flight back to the Enclave, they were attacked by Warped Void Hunters, and during the battle, Larek was pulled into a void; when he could perceive the world again, he found himself transported to an entirely different land. 

During his struggle to free himself from the lake where he fell, Larek finally unlocked his Martial side, going so far as to have obtained the Stama Subjugation Skill – though he still didn’t have any idea how to properly use it.  Finding his way to a nearby town, he quickly learned that he was not in the Kingdom of Androthe anymore, but was instead somewhere called the Sealance Empire, which was apparently a long way from home.

On his journey back to the Kingdom, Larek discovered that he wasn’t just transported by a void to another portion of the world, but was also inside of that void for over four years.  That loss of time had another consequence, which was announced to everyone in the entire world:

The Apertures had now spread everywhere around the globe, not just the Kingdom of Androthe.

Along with the appearance of the Apertures, millions of people had undergone the process of obtaining the potential to become a Mage or a Martial, which threw everything into chaos. Given rudimentary knowledge of how to use their new abilities, Larek was confronted by quite a few individuals who used their potential for the good of their fellow citizens… as well as those who abused that same power.

Along his way across the Sealance Empire, he developed new Fusions that allowed him to help close Apertures along the way, which helped him to raise his maximum Skill Levels through the accumulation of Aetheric Force.  In addition, he finally broke through the block that had been preventing him from creating Advanced Fusions, and his potential for powerful Fusions became nearly limitless.

After nearly dying when he was duped by the Underworld Society, Larek pays off a debt to the city of Swiftwater from the damage that was inadvertently caused by his escape.  In the process of designing a river ferry for the city, he developed multiple Fusions that he would later adapt to create a flying Air Skimmer, which used to begin his journey over the desert of Lowenthal, his last obstacle between him and the Kingdom. 

Unfortunately, the desert was being influenced by the Apertures beneath the surface.  As a result, Larek was sucked underneath the sands and discovered an entire world of tunnels where Drekkin had once lived, though their numbers and safe areas had diminished with the arrival of the Apertures.  This was only exacerbated by the Umbral Demons, a shadowy monster race that could possess the lizard-like bipedal forms of the Drekkin, as they somehow took over the local Apertures and remade the monsters that emerged into their likeness. 

Teaming up with a group of Drekkin, Larek strives toward eliminating the threat that the Demons present, if only because he needs his new friends’ help to escape the closed-off tunnels and get back to the Kingdom.  Fortunately, with the help of a new Skill, Pattern Manipulation, he is able to fight back against the possessive attacks of the Demons – though not everyone is so lucky.  Not only did his new companions succumb to possession, but he also discovered that an old friend had as well.

Nedira.

Incensed by the appearance of the Naturalist overcome by the influence of the Umbral Demons, Larek utterly annihilated the enemy through the use of his Fusions and his new Skill, and then has to use his hated Dominion magic to wake up the unconscious body of his friend. 

With her now awake, it’s time to figure out why she was there in the first place, as well as to discover what has been going on in the Kingdom while he’s been gone….


Chapter 1

“How much longer, Gharix?”

The loud crushing and grinding coming from the work being done down the tunnel meant that Larek’s words were nearly drowned out, but the Drekkin standing nearby heard him anyway.

“Not much longer, or so I’ve been told.  I was never a Shaper, so I’m not the best judge of these types of things,” the smaller, bipedal lizard explained.

The Combat Fusionist nodded, understanding what he meant by that.  Ever since Larek had managed to defeat the Umbral Demons, shattering apart the massive Aperture that they were using to build a gigantic army of shadowy monsters to ostensibly take over the world, and then freeing those who were possessed by the same Demons, his world had been a whirlwind of activity.  That whirlwind included the knowledge that certain members of the Drekkin people specialized in boring through the bedrock where the underground tunnels were located.  Just as his roommate back at the Academy, Verne, could manipulate wood with his hands and an expression of his will, so too could these Shapers use these innate abilities to do the same with stone.

It was just a lot more violent, not to mention louder.

Larek watched down the large tunnel as the trio of Drekkin Shapers went to work, their arms outstretched in front of them as their hands touched the massive piles of stones that had been brought down to collapse the exit tunnel leading to the Kingdom.  With what seemed like a simple thought on the part of the Shapers, the large slabs of stone would crack apart before they were ground up into smaller pieces; these smaller pieces then flowed up and to the sides, where they solidified and formed the structure of the tunnel they were creating.  Or re-creating, as it were, as this was the major artery leading toward the underground tunnels of the Drekkin. 

Not only did they somehow create the walls of the tunnel itself, but by somehow condensing the stone in a certain way, they actually formed the bands of Luxite that enveloped most of the other tunnels he’d seen thus far underneath the desert, illuminating everything as they went.  It was extremely interesting to watch, as it seemed wondrous and impossible at the same time, and he had actually gained two Levels in Magical Detection while he’d been observing them over the last few days.

Magical Detection has reached Level 37!

Magical Detection has reached Level 38!

What was fascinating about it was that they weren’t using Mana or Stama, or even anything that he could identify as a resource he was familiar with.  Instead, a subtle glow that he suspected wouldn’t be visible to normal senses seemed to leak from their scales, and it was this glow that seeped over the stone they were manipulating as it was “shaped” into something else.  There was no discernable spell, ability, or technique used in the process, as it was simply just… done.  He couldn’t explain it, nor could the Shapers themselves describe it as anything but “natural,” which didn’t really help him figure it out.  Once he no longer increased his Magical Detection Skill even after watching them for a few more days, he began to focus on other things.

Such as his obligations toward the Drekkin – as well as fending off entreaties for him to stay longer.  The requests had been insistent, but fortunately not demanding; the worst of it was that it was coming from those he had grouped up with to defeat the Demons—

“Are you sure you won’t stay?  Just for a little while?” Gharix suddenly asked, looking at the Combat Fusionist imploringly.

Shaking his head, Larek said, “I told you before, I have to get back to the Kingdom.  Besides, you don’t need me now that I’ve finished.”

“For which we’re thankful, of course, but—"

“I’m going to cut you off right there,” a new voice butted into the conversation.  “Larek’s needed back home, where things are much worse.”

The Combat Fusionist smiled as he turned around, immediately taking in the reddish-gold hair of the woman coming to a stop in front of the two.  She held Larek’s staff in her hands, bringing it to him from where he had left it back at their makeshift camp further up the tunnel.  In reality, it was just his Air Skimmer at the camp with a few food supplies stored away in it, as they didn’t really have a lot of other possessions.  Larek still had almost everything he had brought with him from the Sealance Empire, with one massive exception.

His best friend, the axe he had essentially brought with him from back home, had been completely destroyed in his fight against the monsters controlled by the Umbral Demons.  Its absence at his hip felt like a void that ached to be filled, but unfortunately they didn’t have anything like a Logger’s axe down in the underground tunnels of Lowenthal. 

There weren’t any trees, after all. 

Which also meant that wood was scarce, as it was something that was only traded for by certain Drekkin who enjoyed the feel of it, but on the whole it was rare to find more than a few pieces of it in a city.  It was the reason he hadn’t been able to find anyone in Draverdin who could forge him a replacement Logger’s axe, as there was no wood available for the haft.  He’d had another axe with a steel haft created in the time he was in the Drekkin city, but even though he added the same Fusions to it, the tool didn’t feel the same.  He could instantly tell, once he’d picked up and swung it a few times, that it was different enough that his Axe Handling Skill didn’t apply to it; he was fairly certain that the Martial Skill, Bladed Weapon Expertise, was instead governing its movements in his hands.  At Level 2, it made the axe feel awkward and unwieldy, despite it being a familiar shape and form.

“There you are, Nedira!  Are you as anxious to get out of here as I am?”

A shadow seemed to cross her face before she composed herself.  “I’m more than ready to get out of this cursed land.” 

She shivered a little bit after speaking, her ragged green robe shaking over her malnourished body.  It had filled out a little over the two weeks since Larek freed her from the Demon’s possession, but the hollowness in her cheeks was evidence enough that she still hadn’t fully recovered from the ordeal.  Many of the others he had saved were the same, especially those that had been possessed for longer.  Unfortunately, by the time he had run out of names to put to the people he used his hated Dominion magic to forcibly wake up, dozens of those he couldn’t save had perished from the vacancy in their bodies, exacerbated by their malnourishment.  Others had been possessed for so long that they actually dissipated into shadowy smoke just as the monsters had, or as Serena Grovewhisperer had done in Day’s End.

Still, what he had been able to do was nothing short of astounding to the Drekkin people, which was why they had agreed to speed up the timetable they had in reopening their tunnels to the Kingdom and the Sealance Empire.  It wasn’t a priority before he asked it of their leadership, who seemed amazed that the threat of the Umbral Demons was gone, but they quickly put it on the list they started work on after the destruction of the massive Aperture. 

However, it was sent to the top of the list once Larek offered to create Fusions for them.

The Drekkin now had 200 stone rods that possessed the Variable Repeating Elemental Projectile Fusion on them, 150 stone plates with Graduated Parahealing, 50 stone plates with Healing Surge, and thousands of Sharpen Edge Fusions on weapons brought to him from the Drekkin.  There were dozens more Fusions that he could’ve created for them, especially defensive ones, but he only had so much time and Mana, so it was left to him to prioritize what they would receive and what would help the most in their efforts against the Apertures and the monsters they spawned.

Because while Larek had destroyed the massive Aperture containing all the others in Lowenthal, all the individual Apertures were back where they began and were already starting to open up again, spewing out more monsters.  The much-reduced Drekkin population needed to step up and keep them contained before they became too dangerous, and the easiest way to do that was to equip the Mages and Martials with ways to attack from afar, heal themselves if they got hurt, and kill monsters with extremely sharp weapons.  It was the least Larek could do to aid them after everything that had befallen their people, but he had a feeling that it was more than enough for them to not only survive but to thrive, now that the worst was behind them.

Gharix and his group were the only ones that possessed all of the Fusions he could create for them, and they were looked at as some sort of elite crew now, garnering looks of awe and jealousy from many of the other Drekkin.  They were celebrities of a sort, being the ones that freed them of the Demon threat and essentially saved the people, only less famous now than Larek.  The Combat Fusionist, of course, didn’t really like the attention his feat had attracted, though he wasn’t above using it to get what he wanted.

And what he wanted was to get out of Lowenthal and back to the Kingdom.

“Well, Gharix said that it shouldn’t be too much longer.”  At least, Larek sure hoped so, because it felt like the process was taking forever. 

It wasn’t really anyone’s fault, however.  The few Shapers that were currently working on excavating the tunnel were only three of the dozen still alive in Lowenthal, and they were switching on and off with three others when they ran out of the natural energy they were using to manipulate the stone.  The other Shapers were being used elsewhere in the tunnels for various projects, so they weren’t able to participate; if they had been able to make their way to the excavation of the exit, then the process would’ve been done in half the time.  The act of “shaping” the stone was visibly exhausting, and each day that these individuals worked on the tunnel, they were only able to continuously work for a few hours before they had to sleep for half a day to regain their energy.  That led to only about a quarter of each day being used in actually progressing down the tunnel, but it was still faster – and safer – than if Larek or anyone else had tried to do it manually.

He had briefly thought about trying to develop a Fusion to make his way through, but the thought of accidentally causing the ceiling to collapse on top of him and Nedira while they attempted to emerge from the underground world of the Drekkin made him hesitate to do more than think about it.  Nevertheless, he would’ve tried had these Shapers not been available to do the task, so all it meant now was simply waiting for the process to be completed.

“Good.  It can’t come fast enough—"

As Nedira was speaking, Larek glanced back down the excavating tunnel and saw a shaft of bright light stream through a tiny chip in the wall, illuminating a spot on the floor; the intensity of the light seemed to rival his own Illuminate Fusions with a higher Magnitude.  This first beam of light was followed by a few others as pieces of stone and then sand were moved out of the way, and Larek felt himself smile at his first look of the sun after being underground for so long. 

Unfortunately, that was all he was going to see until later, as the Shapers and all the other Drekkin nearby moved away from the tunnel exit immediately upon seeing the sunlight, stumbling around as if blind.  He immediately remembered hearing that their sensitivity to sunlight, more than anything else, was what led the Drekkin to live underground; apparently, Luxite gave off a glow that was different and not as harmful as sunlight, so it was more acceptable.

“They’ll finish once night falls,” Gharix said, turning away from the tunnel with his eyes all scrunched up.  Larek wondered for a moment why his own Illuminate Fusions didn’t affect the Drekkin the way real sunlight did, mainly because it was based on the light given off by the sun.  Must be something inherent in the sunlight that isn’t in my magical Fusions, he thought with a mental shrug.

“I could probably break the rest of the way out—“ Larek started to say, but stopped himself.  Looking back at the tunnel and the unfinished excavation, he realized that there was still a good chance that it would still collapse.  “Never mind.  What’s a few more hours, anyway?”

Making their way back to the campsite, which was out of view of the excavation tunnel, he waited with Gharix and Nedira for night to fall and the Shapers to resume their work.  Larek was slightly disappointed that the rest of the group he had journeyed with to defeat the Umbral Demons weren’t there to say goodbye, but he knew that they were busy killing monsters and closing Apertures.  It was fortunate enough that Gharix had been able to see him off, and he was thankful for that much at least.

When night fell a few hours later and the Shapers got back up to finish their work, he stood up and held out his hand to his erstwhile group leader.  “Well, it looks like we’re leaving soon,” he started, giving Gharix a hearty handshake.  “I want to thank you for everything you’ve done to aid me in getting out of here, despite desiring me to stay.”  Larek knew that was more than true, as he likely wouldn’t have had the excavation of the exit tunnel start so quickly without the influence of one of the heroes that led to the Umbral Demons’ destruction.  His own efforts toward that outcome notwithstanding, it wouldn’t have been nearly as smooth without Gharix’s assistance.

“It should be I who is thanking you for everything you’ve done, Larek.  To think, the threat of the Umbral Demons finally ending after centuries of their presence down in our tunnels… it’s still hard to believe.  You’ve done the impossible, like a hero out of legend.”

Slightly embarrassed at the worshipful way the Drekkin was looking at him, he mumbled, “Yeah, well, uh,” while rubbing the back of his head.  Nedira chuckled at him, before grabbing his hand and dragging him toward the Air Skimmer.  “Anyway, good luck with the Apertures!” he called back to the Drekkin after a few seconds.  Good luck with the Apertures?  What was that supposed to mean?  Larek still wasn’t well-practiced with saying goodbye, so that was about the best he had – especially after being a bit flustered when he was called a hero out of legend.

Ignoring his thoughts, he climbed aboard the Skimmer and lifted the abnormally light body of Nedira over the edge of the vessel.  Less than a minute later, she was standing near the front corner of the Skimmer, her weight easily balanced by the supplies in the opposite corner, and he activated the gusts to lift it gradually into the air.  Fortunately, Nedira had already experienced movement on the Air Skimmer as they traveled to the tunnel exit, so she was well used to the sound of air moving and the slight swaying motion before it stabilized. 

With a wave at Gharix, who was staring at him as if he could make Larek stop with his force of will alone, the Combat Fusionist moved toward the rapidly excavating tunnel, which was now dark instead of being full of light as it was before.  They only had to wait another few minutes before it was complete and the Shapers moved out of the way, their whole countenance one of exhaustion. 

“Ready?” he asked Nedira with a smile.

“I’ve never been this ready in all my life.  Let’s go.”

Without another word, he activated the forward thrust and the Skimmer moved forward, gradually picking up speed as they crossed the last portion of the underground world of Lowenthal.  As they crossed the threshold, the first thing that hit him was the fresh air, which he’d already felt once the tunnel was opened further, but now it was like taking a breath after being fully submerged in water.  The second thing he noticed was the blanket of stars above him, which he saw around the roof of his Skimmer.  Seeing something other than stone above and around him was exceptionally freeing, and he couldn’t keep the smile from wanting to permanently freeze on his face as the fresh air blew past him.  Granted, the air was a bit dry since the rest of his view showed that they were still in the desert, but he could sort of see something different approximately half a mile away in the distance, though it was hard to make out with just the partial moon’s light from above.  Not only that, but there seemed to be a stone road that led from the tunnel’s entrance to the east, covered partially with sand; that, more than anything, told him that they were getting close to the Kingdom of Androthe again.

It didn’t take long before the Air Skimmer traveled over the last of the desert of Lowenthal and the first sign of struggling vegetation could be seen as the sand gradually disappeared, replaced by dry dirt and stunted plants.  Another half hour brought them to their first real sign that they had finally left the desert behind, though compared to what he was used to, the 10-foot-tall tree was barely worthy to be called such.  Still, it was enough that Larek stopped the Air Skimmer and set it down gently.

Silence seemed to echo around him as the loud noise of the air gusts stopped, and he looked at Nedira.  The frail-looking woman was still gazing off into the distance, holding onto one of the roof supports, where she had been stationed without a word the entire trip thus far without moving. 

Walking up behind her, he placed his hand on her shoulder, and she seemed to jerk in surprise, before seeming to slump in place.

“Is it time?” she asked, her voice a hoarse whisper.

“Yes.  We’re free of the tunnels and back in the Kingdom now, Nedira – just like you wanted,” he said.  “Now, if you would, tell me… everything.”


Chapter 2

“I… can’t.”

Larek sighed, dropping his hand from Nedira’s shoulder.

“I don’t understand.  We’ve left the tunnels—”

“It’s not that,” the green-robed Mage said, turning around and looking straight into Larek’s eyes.  He could see that her own were wet, and he reached up to wipe away a tear that had tracked itself down her cheek.  Nedira reached up and grabbed his hand, pressing it against her face as she leaned her head into it.

“It’s alright if you don’t want to talk about it; that had to be a horrible experience.”

She didn’t say anything for a moment.  “It’s not that, either, though it certainly was the worst thing I’ve ever had happen to me.”

“Then—”

“It’s because I don’t remember!” she explained, nearly shouting by the end.

Larek was now confused.  She clearly remembered him, which was unusual in and of itself considering that she had been affected by Chinli’s Dominion magic, so what couldn’t she remember?

“Umm… what?”

She sighed as she pulled his hand away from her cheek.  “I remember you, as well as vague recollections of our time at Crystalview and Copperleaf Academies, but the rest is… fuzzy.  Whatever that Gergasi did to me never actually removed my knowledge of you, though I could never seem to act on that knowledge.  After whatever you did to bring me back, however, any trace of what she did to me is gone. 

“Unfortunately, being possessed by that Demon damaged quite a bit of my memories, to the point where I can only remember the events in the Kingdom in general terms over the past few years.  As for what I was doing in Lowenthal… I’m pretty sure I was part of an expedition heading to the Sealance Empire to the west, but I can’t remember who was with me.  I do know that we were going there for a specific purpose, though.”

Larek was silent for a moment as he took in what Nedira was saying.  He felt horrible for her that her memories had been damaged because of what the Umbral Demons had done to her, and he wished some of them still existed just so he could destroy them again.  However, what he heard also didn’t make much sense, because leaving the Kingdom for the Empire seemed counterproductive, especially as it apparently happened before the Scissions and Apertures spread throughout the world.

“What reason was that?” he asked.

She didn’t hesitate to answer now.  “To establish trade for food.”

“Food?  Why food?”

She shook her head slowly with a faraway look in her eyes.  “That’s the part I don’t remember.”

“Well then, what do you remember?”

She visibly gathered her thoughts this time before answering. “Well, after you left, the Kingdom was in a bit of turmoil due to the introduction of Apertures, and the knowledge about them spread quite quickly – thanks to the Gergasi, I assume, though I didn’t know it at the time.  I went to Silverledge Academy with my brother and Verne, graduated at the end of the year, and then was drafted into the SIC to start hunting down monsters despite my wishes otherwise.  Fragmented memories of the next few years have me traveling around with different groups of SIC members closing Apertures, but I can’t remember any places or faces.  The only thing I do remember is that at some point there were Apertures that had expanded to the point where even the strongest teams of Mages and Martials couldn’t close them, only contain them at the point they were at. 

“At some point, something changed.”  She paused for a moment as her face scrunched up, as if she was searching her mind for the answer.  “I think the Apertures began to slow their reopening rate, giving us a little breathing room, which was when different expeditions were sent out to neighboring lands – such as the one I was a part of.”

“To negotiate for food, right?”

“Yes,” she agreed with a nod.

Considering what she said for a moment, Larek could only think of one scenario that fit the narrative and would lead to the point where expeditions for food were needed.  The Apertures had obviously grown so large and made the land so dangerous that the vast farms he’d seen before on his travels between academies had likely been abandoned, or they were changed entirely due to the environmental effects of the Apertures.  As they expanded, even more land was taken away from what could be used for farming, which would inevitably lead to famine and the need for food.  He’d seen hints of it back at Crystalview before he and the others were forced to flee from there, as trade started to break down and shipments were disrupted by the increase in monsters across the land.  It was bad enough when they were roaming around, but if they had permanent areas where monsters appeared, then the likelihood that trade and travel had become worse was much greater.

“I think I understand, at least the general idea,” he assured her, as she appeared pained by the fact that she couldn’t give him a better picture of what was currently happening in the Kingdom.  While it would’ve been very helpful knowing that kind of information, he was just glad that Nedira was alive and safe with him now.  “Is there anything else you remember?”

She shook her head.  “No, not really.  What I really wish I knew was where Norde and the rest of our friends went after graduation.”

“You don’t remember?  Sorry, you obviously don’t.”  She appeared quite stressed by that lack of knowledge.  Larek would also like to know where they were, but finding them might be a difficult prospect until they could figure out what was really going on in the Kingdom at the moment. 

She abruptly smacked him in the arm, letting her hand linger on it a second longer as she said, “But you still haven’t told me why you were in those tunnels.  Were you there the whole time?”

That’s right; things were so chaotic after I brought her back from her possession that I never got a chance to explain.  Given that she, herself, hadn’t really wanted to talk about it while they were underground, he had put off going into detail.

So, he sat down on one of the bags of supplies inside the Skimmer and began to tell her of his adventures – or misadventures, as it was.  He described what happened when Chinli was attacked by the Warped Void Hunters and being sucked into the void, where he was trapped for a number of years, before being spit out into a lake in the Sealance Empire.  He described how he had unlocked his Stama Subjugation Skill and even acquired another Battle Art, but he was still ignorant of their activation and use, despite actually gaining a Level in the Skill during his fight against the monsters controlled by the Umbral Demons.  Another hour went by as he detailed his journey through the Empire, closing Apertures and avoiding notice as much as possible.

He attempted to skip over the events in Swiftwater with the all-female Underworld Society and his subsequent destruction of their base of operations, but Nedira chuckled and made him describe it all in great detail for some reason – especially how he was lured into their underground base in the first place.  She also seemed inordinately interested in the ferry boat he helped to create, and rightly extrapolated that he had used some of the same ideas to create his Air Skimmer.

The only thing she didn’t really want to hear about was his experience in the tunnels under the desert, which was understandable given what had happened to her there.  Still, he quickly explained what happened as concisely and without detail as he could, so she would know how he ended up where he found her.  It was only when he described his new Skill that she asked him to describe what it was a bit more and even demonstrate it for her, which he did by creating a shield out of his Pattern and then an axe, both of which he could now maintain while moving slowly.  It wasn’t overly helpful yet, but it was progress compared to where he started.

“I want to see if I can learn that in the future, as I can see how useful that could be,” she said, shaking her head with a laugh.

“What’s funny?”

“Just when I thought I remembered you fully, something like this makes me realize I barely recall half of what makes you so… unique,” she admitted.  “I forgot until now that you seem to be able to do the impossible, and it comes to you so naturally that you barely notice it.”

“Well—”

She held up a hand with another chuckle.  “I’m not saying it’s a bad thing; far from it, in fact.  It’s just going to take some getting used to again.”  They sat in silence for a moment, before she asked something that took him off-guard.  “So, what are our plans now?”

That… was an excellent question. 

“Well, originally I wanted to come back to the Kingdom for a couple of reasons.  First and foremost was to find my friends and family to ensure they were safe, which has been partially fulfilled by your presence,” he said, taking her hand in his with a smile.  “To aid in keeping them safe was to go back to the Academy, or more precisely, a Fort.”

She seemed confused for a second before her eyes opened in comprehension.  “Ah, your Martial abilities.  But I thought you said you unlocked Stama Subjugation already?”

“I did,” he confirmed, “but I haven’t been able to figure it out yet.  More than that, though, I have very little in the way of training in the ways of fighting; I’ve been using my Fusions, as well as my overwhelming speed and strength, to win my fights, but if I was evenly matched stat-wise with even a mediocre Martial member of the SIC, they would likely defeat me handily.  In addition, I’ve mostly been fighting weaker monsters, as those were what appeared in the Empire, and I barely survived against the stronger ones controlled by the Umbral Demons – and those weren’t even that strong compared to what I remember from my Monster Knowledge classes.”

Nedira nodded.  “From what I recall of those monsters… down there,” she said quickly, likely not wanting to remember them, “only a few would be classified at the level of a Category 3 or 4 Scission, and what little I remember from my time fighting the Apertures in the Kingdom, there are much stronger monsters.  Of course, we always fought in larger groups to tackle those types of threats, shoring up our weaknesses with numbers, so isn’t that something that you could do, too?  Is training at a Fort even necessary?”

What she said made some sense, but after being alone for so long during his trek through the Empire, he knew that it wasn’t as simple as that.  Besides, there was one thing that he hadn’t mentioned to her yet, which was the real reason he needed to get training.

“Yes, unfortunately.  There’s… something about my Battle Arts that I haven’t told you quite yet, which makes it imperative that I receive some sort of training as soon as possible.”  He took a deep breath before continuing.  “My Stama seems to have a mind of its own sometimes, and I’ve lost control of myself while my Battle Arts have been active.  I’m slowly trying to get a handle on it and have had a few successes in maintaining a modicum of control, but I’m worried that it’ll happen when there are innocent people nearby that could be hurt by it.  Not to mention that it almost inevitably wipes out most of my physical energy after it’s deactivated, leaving me extremely vulnerable.  If that happens at the wrong moment, I may not survive.”

“I… see.  That is definitely a problem.”  She sat there thinking for a moment.  “I agree that you should get some training, at least, but attending one of the Forts could be problematic.”

“Why?”

She waved toward him, taking in his entire body.  “Well, look at you; there were already problems before with you attending an Academy, and with you being so tall and much older than normal students, your appearance will certainly be remarked upon.  If anything, your height will get you into even more trouble than before.”

“What?  Why would that be?”

“Ah.  I think I forgot to mention something else that I remembered,” she said a little hesitatingly.  “Knowledge of the Gergasi, or the ‘Great Ones’ that the Nobles were enslaved to, has become common enough that the general population are aware that they still exist and are controlling things from behind the scenes.”

Larek was shocked.  “How did that happen?  Wait—did you say ‘were’ enslaved to?”

Nodding, she explained.  “At a point that I don’t recall too clearly, the Dominion magic controlling most of the Nobles suddenly vanished, freeing them immediately from their enslavement.  It was these Nobles that disseminated the information about them to the public, as a recruitment tactic to bring everyone together to fight the Gergasi, I believe, but it came to naught because everyone was too consumed with defending against the Apertures to rally against the powerful giants.  The Nobles’ efforts were further stymied by the fact that the Gergasi seemed to retreat even further from the world, disappearing completely to the point where not even those who had semi-regular contact with them could find them.”

Larek sat there with his mouth open in surprise at what he was hearing, because it was the last thing he expected.  After a minute or so, he closed his mouth with a snap, only to open it again as he started to speak aloud while he worked out what he thought happened.

“They must have realized they were losing against the Corruption and cut all ties with the Kingdom.  I’m sure they’re all holed up in the Enclave, protecting it directly from the breach, while the rest of the world burns around them.”

“Do you really think they would do something like that?” Nedira asked.

Honestly, Larek wasn’t sure, but it fit what he knew about them.  The people of the Kingdom were only a means to an end, with that end being power over the people; once they found that the people couldn’t fend for themselves, they abandoned them to their fate. 

But there was something about it that didn’t quite fit.  Based on his, albeit limited, interaction with Chinli, there were at least some that considered the people their subjects instead of just slaves, at least as far as wanting to protect them; it was why she had been sent out to investigate the Aperture in the first place, and didn’t end up slaughtering everyone who saw her or knew of Larek.  So for them to completely abandon the people of the Kingdom to save themselves, while not completely uncharacteristic of what little he knew of their nature, was… strange.  The fact that they suddenly stopped their Dominion magic enslaving all the Nobles was doubly odd, because he couldn’t reason why they would do something like that.

Of course, it was a good thing for the people of the Kingdom; he wasn’t denying that ending their slavery was beneficial in the long run.  It was only that he couldn’t fathom an explanation of why the Gergasi would suddenly withdraw their controlling magic.

With conflicting thoughts on the subject, Larek shrugged in response to Nedira’s question.  “Maybe?  Something seems off about the theory to me.  I’m obviously not overly fond of them for multiple reasons, but I still can’t see them doing something like that.  At least not voluntarily.”

Which, if he was following his logic, meant that they had done it involuntarily.  How that came about, he had no idea, but it ultimately didn’t matter at the moment.  What concerned him was what he was going to do now that he’d returned to the Kingdom.

“Regardless, you didn’t really answer my original question.  What are we going to do now?”

After considering all the reasons for coming back to the Kingdom, one of them took priority over everything else.  As Nedira had mentioned, attending a Fort for training would be difficult, but he had some ideas about making it work.  It was on the list of things he wanted to get done, though it wasn’t at the top.

Finding his friends and companions – including his roommate, Verne, and Nedira’s brother, Norde – was also on the list, but they were probably below training for himself as far as priority went, if he was being honest.  Accessing his Stama and fully utilizing his Battle Arts without losing control was more important to him than finding them at the moment.  It wasn’t out of selfishness, but out of necessity so that he didn’t hurt himself or others.  Besides, the two of them had no idea where everyone had ended up, and he could only assume that all of them were perfectly capable of taking care of themselves, having been trained to join the SIC. 

That left only one other goal that took priority: his family.  Having not seen them in more than half a decade, he had no idea what had happened to them after he had left, and they weren’t exactly capable of defending themselves properly if monsters appeared near the Rushwood forest.  He had already considered checking up on them when he had been forced to flee Copperleaf Academy, but had held off because he thought it would be safer if he stayed away; traveling through the hostile countryside all the way up north was also an issue at that time, adding to why he decided against checking on them.

But all of that had changed.  Larek was no longer helpless and had a means of conveyance that he could use to travel relatively quickly over the land, heading straight to his destination. 

Standing up and gripping the handlebars in the center of the Air Skimmer, he looked down at Nedira and smiled.  “I’m going home.  I’d love for you to meet my parents.”


Chapter 3

The western part of the Kingdom of Androthe, at least where Larek and Nedira had entered it after leaving the desert environment of Lowenthal, was relatively empty of anything – be it vegetation, people, or monsters.  That only lasted for an hour or so of travel, however, as the dry, arid land quickly morphed into fields of tall grasses and small streams of water, brought forth from the rolling hills in the distance. 

With the resumption of visible life came the appearance of people, and inevitably, Apertures.  It wasn’t until he’d traveled through the Sealance Empire and even the depths below the desert of Lowenthal that he discovered that the locations of the Apertures coincided with the presence of people nearby.  It wasn’t the same as when the Scissions used to open in proximity to towns and cities, as Apertures were more present in the countryside than near populated areas, but if there was a higher density of people in a general area, then there would likely be Apertures nearby.  It was the reason he hadn’t sensed any Apertures immediately after emerging from the tunnels beneath the desert, as there weren’t any concentrations of people nearby. 

However, that changed when they got close to the border city that acted in the same capacity as Day’s End back in the Empire.  Although neither of them could remember the name of the city they were approaching, they both knew it was there as they felt the presence of two nearby Apertures, one a bit further to the south, while the other was directly to the east in their pathway.  It had been decided, after Larek had announced he was determined to visit his family, that they needed to at least stop at this first city for a couple of reasons.

The first was to learn more about what was going on in the Kingdom, if such news was available.  With the way Nedira’s memory had been negatively affected by her recent possession, and with Larek being gone for years, they were essentially going into the Kingdom blind.  Once they figured out the current state of affairs, they could then travel to the northeast toward Rushwood, where the former Logger could ensure his family was as safe as possible during these turbulent times.

The second reason they needed to visit someplace was to restock their supplies.  While he’d been able to secure another week’s worth of food from the Drekkin, who didn’t have a lot to spare after everything that had happened to them with the monster attacks and the Umbral Demons, his leftover supplies from the Empire wouldn’t last much longer than that.  If they were going to travel overland toward his home, they’d need more to last them the entire distance.

“We can go around the Aperture—” Larek began to say once he sensed the one blocking their way to the city, already turning the Air Skimmer.

Nedira turned her head around from where she had been standing near the front of the Skimmer, looking at him as if what he just said was nonsense.  “It’s Surging, Larek.  Can’t you feel that?”

He had no idea what she was talking about.  Sure, he could feel the Aperture ahead of them, which felt relatively strong now that he concentrated on it, but he couldn’t feel any difference.  “What do you mean?  Surging?”

Understanding suddenly dawned upon her, and her expression became more understanding.  “I’d forgotten that you’re a few years out of touch.  I’m assuming that you didn’t encounter any Apertures in the Empire that expanded after they were left open for too long?”

That wasn’t entirely true, as he remembered closing a few Apertures that were larger than when they first formed, most notably the Shadow Rats that had caused the local population of brand-new Mages and Martials some difficulty due to their nature.  “I did encounter a few, but what does that have to do with this?”

“That’s good to hear, at least,” Nedira replied, before answering his question.  “Surging is what we call the actual process in which the Aperture expands its territory,” she explained.  “It’s a bit of a transitory time in between its previous territory state and its new one, and it’s also the point where it can be the most vulnerable.”

“Why is that?”

“Because it hasn’t started to populate its expanding territory yet, and the monsters that already exist are spread out, leaving an easier-to-navigate pathway to the Aperture.  The risk lies toward the end of the Surging, as when the new territory stabilizes, it will immediately begin to produce additional monsters to fill it up.  If you can catch it before this happens, the monsters guarding the territory are much slower to respond and therefore make the Aperture easier to close, but the risk that you arrive at just the wrong time makes it dangerous.”

Larek was learning something new.  He hadn’t seen anything like that in the Empire.  In fact….  “How is it that you know this?”

“It’s,” she began, hesitating a second before continuing, “ingrained in my knowledge, I guess?  Like how I know about Scissions, Apertures, and monsters; it isn’t necessarily a memory, more like knowledge of how to talk or write.  It’s common knowledge in the Kingdom, but I assume it wasn’t that way in the Empire.  At least, not yet.”

He nodded.  “I see.  How can you tell that it’s Surging?”

“Easy.  Do you feel how the strength of it is pulsing slowly, fading in and out?”

It took him a few seconds of exploring the sense he had of the Aperture before he felt it and nodded again.  It wasn’t very strong, and he wouldn’t have noticed it if she hadn’t pointed it out.

“That’s an indication of the Surge.  The weaker the Surge, the more recently it started expanding its territory; if you detect an Aperture with an intense pulse, then that means it’s nearing the end of its expansion and you should retreat until it has populated the entire territory.  It’s too dangerous, otherwise.”

That still didn’t exactly explain what it was he wanted to know.  “That is great information, but why does that matter?  Why can’t we go around it?  Does the expansion make it dangerous for some reason?”

Nedira shook her head.  “No, we need to close it.”

He waited for a moment for her to go on, but that was all she said as if it should be obvious.  Speaking slowly as he tried to figure out what she was talking about, he tried to reason with her.  “I’m sure it might be beneficial to close the Aperture, but I’m sure there’s some nearby SIC members that could take care of it without our help.  I didn’t come back to simply close Apertures; if you remember, we’re on our way to see to the safety of my family.”

“But we need to close it.  We can’t let it expand any more than it already has.”

Her tone sounded strange, as if she was repeating a phrase she’d said over and over to the point where it didn’t have any meaning anymore.  Her eyes also had an oddly fervent but vacant look that frightened him a little.

“Nedira, what’s going on?  Why is it so important to close this Aperture—”

“We need to close it!  Hurry, before it’s too late!” she suddenly yelled at him, and he stumbled backwards at the extreme level of panic written all over her face.

“Whoa!  Calm down, there’s no need to—”

Before he could finish his statement, Nedira turned away from him and moved to literally jump out of the Air Skimmer, despite it floating high off the ground.  It wouldn’t necessarily hurt Larek to jump down from that height, but she also didn’t have the Martial stats that he did.

Thankfully, he was able to grab her before she threw herself out of the Skimmer.  She struggled like a wild animal in his arms as he held her close to him, but he was strong enough to contain her without worry that she would hurt him – or herself.  What has gotten into her?

She began screaming for him to let her go, and while he didn’t really feel comfortable keeping her trapped like this, overpowering her with his strength, he didn’t want to risk her injuring herself if she jumped off the Skimmer – let alone race into the territory of an Aperture by herself.  Sure, Larek might be able to do it and survive, at least if it was a relatively weak monster, but Nedira didn’t have the same advantages as he did.  He hadn’t even had a chance to add Fusions to her robe like she had before, because she was obviously wearing a different one than the one he had created for her.  He now wished he had insisted on completing those Fusions before they left, but she hadn’t wanted to prioritize his time if it meant they could leave sooner.

Granted, Larek hadn’t actually had a chance to ask her about all the spells she knew now, which would likely make her more powerful than she had been when he knew her back at Copperleaf Academy.  But with only the offensive Fusions on the staff she was borrowing from him, which had fallen to the side in their tussle, it was too dangerous to attempt to close an Aperture on her own.

“Nedira, what’s wrong?  Why are you like this?” he asked her, but she seemed to completely ignore him as she struggled with all her strength.  When she didn’t even seem to react to his words other than to fight harder, he had a suspicion that, somehow, the Umbral Demon wasn’t completely gone.

With a flex of his Pattern Cohesion, he created a thick block of his Pattern and passed it through her body starting from her feet, which made her pause for a brief second as it touched her.  The struggle didn’t increase in intensity, as he thought it might if she was still being controlled by the Demon, and it passed through her without encountering even a trace of the entity.  It was as it had been when he had first brought her back from her possession, as the Demon had been essentially wiped from existence.  Of course, it had taken some extra effort to bring her back through the use of his—

Dominion magic?  Is that what this is?  But I thought all of it was removed?

While keeping her pressed up against him with only a modicum of strength, Larek began to look closer to the woman in his arms.  The hated portion of himself that contained his recently discovered well of Dominion magic flared as he considered applying it to Nedira to get her to stop trying to free herself, but he dismissed that thought immediately as anything but a last resort.  However, his recent connection to it, as well as his practice in manipulating his own Pattern, gave him a bit more insight than the normal person into the effects of outside influence on the body – and the mind.  Therefore, as he looked closer at Nedira, he began to search for any evidence that there was still any lingering Dominion magic affecting her in some way.

He immediately peered into her head, and while he couldn’t read thoughts or even make sense of what he saw there, he immediately saw what appeared to be an… absence of some kind.  Tentatively investigating it, he sensed an impression of Dominion magic, though it was more of the lingering traces of it.  In his mind’s eye, this absence felt similar to Chinli, and he instantly knew that it was the removed section of Dominion magic the Gergasi had used to make Nedira forget about Larek and that she’d even seen her.  The combination of her possession and the application of his own Dominion magic had removed everything but a hint of what was there, leaving only the impression that it had existed in the first place.

That faint trace of Dominion magic wasn’t causing whatever what was happening to her.

No, it was the strange, transparent blanket of Dominion magic that laid over her entire mind that was the issue.

It was so faint that he wouldn’t have noticed it if he hadn’t been looking for any type of anomaly.  The magic almost seemed designed to avoid detection, as it was so subtle that at first he almost passed right over it even after catching a glimpse of it; the feeling was as if he had seen it out of the corner of his eye but dismissed it as a figment of his imagination.

But the more he searched for it, the more he could concentrate on actually identifying it.  He tried to connect to it in some way, using his own Dominion magic, but quickly found that it was completely incompatible.  It was actually refreshing in a way, as it showed that his own Dominion magic was different from the Gergasi, but it also made it impossible to know what it was designed to do. 

The only thing he got from it was an impression that it wasn’t created by just a single Gergasi, but by many; it was almost as if they had all gotten together and used their Dominion magic on Nedira, weaving their energy to create an effect like this.  But that didn’t make much sense for them to do something like this, because it seemed like a lot of effort for a single person.

What if it wasn’t a single person?  What if everyone in the Kingdom’s SIC has this strange… compulsion?

Pieces started to click into place as he considered that angle of thought.  To work something like this compulsion on the entire population of SIC in the Kingdom would take an enormous amount of Dominion magic, which was impossible for the Gergasi to create – unless they eliminated their slave-like control of thousands of Nobles, of course.  At that point, he could see them being able to do something like this; a subtle order to compel any member of the SIC who felt a Surge in an Aperture to immediately try and close it.  That would explain a lot of what Nedira had described had happened, but it didn’t answer the biggest question.

Why?

Why was this compulsion on all the members of the SIC?

Larek had an idea, but he couldn’t really know for sure until he was able to find out more information on the current state of the Kingdom.  For now, though, he had to figure out how to prevent Nedira from hurting herself by rushing off to close a Surging Aperture. 

Although the blanket of transparent Dominion magic was a powerful compulsion, its very nature proved to be its downfall.  With deliberate care, Larek exercised his own Dominion magic and spread it all over the foreign substance within Nedira’s mind, letting it sink into the blanket, ensuring that every piece of it was covered.  The relatively frail construction of the compulsion began to break apart like it was salt being dropped into a bowl of water, dissolving bit by bit until there was nothing left. 

As this was occurring, Larek felt her begin to relax in his arms, the struggle to escape drifting away with the compulsion.  It took about 15 minutes for it to disappear completely, and by that time the worked-up woman had basically slumped in exhaustion until he was basically just holding her from collapsing on the floor of the Skimmer.

Putting her down on one of the supply bags, he expected her to be unconscious, but she was still alert enough to look up at him with tired-looking eyes.  “Thank… thank you.”

“Do you feel better now?  Why was there Dominion magic on you?” he asked.

She closed her eyes for a moment but opened them a few seconds later.  “I feel like a dishrag that just got rung out to dry.  That being said, I do feel much better – and it’s all thanks to you.”  She paused for a few more seconds before she went on.  “We really do need to close that Surging Aperture, though.”

Worried that he had somehow missed some of the compulsion and left it behind, he started to reach out to her again, but she waved him off.  “No, it’s not… whatever that was,” she assured him.  “Instead, when you got rid of it, it revealed a bit about why it was used on us, and—hold on, I’m still trying to make sense of it.”  She tiredly held up a hand to stop any other questions he might have, and he kept himself from speaking.  Finally, after a few minutes of her closed eyes searching back and forth behind her eyelids, she opened them again and sighed.  “Wow.  I didn’t realize it was that bad.”

“What do you mean?” he asked.

“Do you remember how I mentioned that some of the Apertures had grown to the point where they couldn’t be closed anymore?”  At his nod, she went on.  “Well, apparently, it was done that way deliberately by some members of the SIC for exploitation of the monsters inside, or more accurately, the material that the monsters provided upon their deaths.  Seeing a way to ‘harvest’ these materials for their own benefit, they allowed them to grow too large, to the point where they were unable to close them even if they wanted to. 

“Now, this is only an assumption, because I don’t know it firsthand, but I believe that the Gergasi caught wind of this happening, and seeing that disaster would befall their slaves if they did nothing, they added this compulsion to all the SIC members to ensure that if they felt an Aperture expanding, they would immediately try and close it rather than let it get bigger so that it could be exploited.”

Larek tilted his head slightly to the side in confusion.  “But that sounds… beneficial.  Why did you say it was bad?”

“Because the worst Apertures aren’t just large, they’re enormous.  As in, they cover hundreds of square miles, and they’ve incorporated other nearby Apertures into their territories.  From what I’ve been able to piece together, there are now around 5 major Apertures in the Kingdom, located roughly at the northwest, northeast, southwest, southeast, and central areas, and they are the major reason that there have been so many problems with food sustainability. The major farming lands are now within the territory of these Apertures, and without being able to access them, farmers have to make do with whatever plots of land are accessible and not under threat of being overrun by monsters.”

Larek shivered slightly at the mention of Apertures that were hundreds of square miles in territory size, as they likely rivaled if not exceeded what he had seen beneath the desert of Lowenthal.  Overall, it wasn’t a good situation, but that still didn’t stop him from wanting to get to his family.  If anything, it made the need even more urgent.

“If we don’t close any Aperture going through a Surge, then it could grow large enough to join the territory of these mega-Apertures, expanding their size even more.  If they grow large enough, they might even interact with each other, and soon enough, the entire Kingdom – followed by the whole world – will be inside their territory.

“At that point, no one would be safe, and life as we know it would cease to exist.”

Larek chuckled weakly.  “So, no pressure or anything, right?”

She smiled tiredly back at him, her energy slowly returning.  “Exactly.  I’m not sure why no one has closed this Aperture yet, but we can’t afford to let it be.  Once we close it, then I’d love to go meet your parents.”

“Fair enough.  As soon as you’re recovered enough, we’ll take this thing down.”

No more than 5 minutes later, she jumped up, ready to go.


Chapter 4

As they made their way to the east and toward the Surging Aperture, Larek took stock of his current equipment and progression, making sure that he was as prepared as possible for his first real fight since eliminating the last of the Umbral Demons.  First, he had a newly made axe from the blacksmiths of the Drekkin, which looked similar to his old best friend, but was different enough – with a metal haft, particularly – that it wasn’t something that his Axe Handling Skill applied to.  That meant it was a bit awkward in his hands, though he was at least familiar enough with the weapon – not a tool, but a weapon – that he’d probably be fine for the most part. 

As far as Fusions went on the axe, it had the normal Strengthen and Sharpen Edge to the blade, but also the Variable Elemental Gust Sphere addition that had been very useful during the attack against the Umbral Demons, even if it had ultimately led to the tool’s destruction at the end.  He planned on being much more careful with his new weapon, though he would gladly sacrifice it if necessary to save one of their lives.

Secondly, he had his clothing, which still had the same Fusions he’d added while in the safe room in the underground tunnels of the Drekkin.  They had an Omni Boost to increase each of his stats as well as boosts for most of his Mage and Martial Skills, a Healing Surge Fusion, Multi-Resistance Fusion for the durability of the fabric, and an Automatic Ice Repulsion Field Fusion for protection. 

Lastly, he had been able to find or replace all of his offensive Fusions that had been used during the attack on the massive Demon-controlled Aperture – though only one of each of the strongest ones.  While he had only a single Healing Shelter, Binding Thorns, and Frozen Zone, he had around 40 of his Weaken Fusion stones in his belt pouches since they were fairly easy to replicate.

What he didn’t have with him, which he did when fighting the Demons, was a staff or other item that sent out projectiles – because Nedira was using it.  He had debated using a stone or even some sort of metal rod of some kind to replicate the same Fusion so that he’d have one of his own, but decided against it until he had some wood to make another staff.  He figured that he’d have plenty of time to do such a thing once he got back to the Kingdom; of course, he hadn’t been planning on attacking any monsters almost immediately after arriving, so that was a failing on his part.

With his staff in Nedira’s capable hands, however, he would be able to concentrate on defense rather than offense, because he could still use his Pattern Cohesion through the application of his Pattern Manipulation Skill.  Along with a Pattern-based shield, he could also create an axe like the one he had lost, but would be able to swing it around with just a thought at any monsters that got too close.  Unfortunately, even though it was a higher Level than it used to be, at Level 30, using it and moving around were still difficult, though he found that he could move slowly and still maintain whatever construct he had created using his Pattern.

In addition to Pattern Manipulation reaching Level 30 during his fight against the Demons, Larek had also increased many of his Mage Skills while creating Fusions for the Drekkin.  Of course, before that happened, he had the chance to look at his Status once he had  a moment to himself back in the tunnels when he was busy waking people up from their possession.  He was glad that he did, too, because he found that not only did he reach Level 32 and had 23 Advancement Points to distribute to his stats, but he’d also accumulated 65,947 Aetheric Force throughout the battles against the shadowy forms of the Demon-controlled monsters.  He immediately went on a spending spree with his available AP and AF, determining from his experience against the Demons that he needed to begin increasing his Martial stats again. 

While he wasn’t exactly adjusted to the powerful speed and strength of his body, especially when it was boosted by 100% by his Fusions, he had definitely seen a need for it to increase during his recent fights.  Not only was he soon likely going to be facing stronger monsters now that he was going back to the Kingdom, either intentionally or inadvertently, but with his new Pattern Manipulation Skill, the higher his Pneuma and Pattern Cohesion, the stronger his usages of the resource would be.  The only way to increase those two stats would be to increase his Body stat, so that was exactly what he did – though he kept all three stats even so that he didn’t feel unbalanced.

Bringing all three Martial stats to 107 from 100 used 21 of his 23 AP, and he had spent the last 2 AP on Intellect since he had been preparing to make a whole bunch of Fusions at the time, which brought it up to 186.  The additional 7 points in Body also increased his Pneuma by a base of 63, which was the calculation of his original Pneuma of 5 plus the 4 he had put in later times the increase of 7 AP to his Body stat; with the boost to his Body thanks to his Fusion, this was actually increased by another 63.  Then, with the boost to his Pneuma through the same Fusion, it equaled 252 additional Pneuma, which translated to an additional 2,520 Pattern Cohesion – bringing it to a total of 38,520.  With his current limit of only 10% of his Cohesion being used by his Pattern Manipulation Skill, that equaled an additional 252 Cohesion to his shield or axe or whatever construct he created when flexing his Skill.

As for his incredible boon of nearly 66k Aetheric Force, he spread the wealth around to almost all of his Skills, Mage and Martial alike.  Some of their maximums increased by 10 or 15, especially many of the Martial Skills, while others only increased by 5; one of his goals had been to increase his Martial fighting techniques once he returned to the Kingdom, after all, and he needed to not be hindered by low maximums on his Skills if he wanted to fully take advantage of any training he received. 

During his marathon sessions of creating Fusions for the Drekkin, he’d managed to increase quite a few of his Mage Skills, though they quickly started hitting a wall at a certain point.  The most important examples of this were his Mana Control, Fusion, and Pattern Formation Skills, which he’d increased the maximums up to 60; but despite making hundreds of Fusions, he was only able to increase those three up to 57.  He figured he either needed to create many, many more of them to get to 60 or to create brand-new Fusions to demonstrate his abilities and how he executed the knowledge he possessed.

All-in-all, he had advanced greatly in just the last few months – but he knew it wasn’t quite enough if he wanted to not only survive but thrive in the Kingdom in the future.  He pulled up his Status one last time before he threw himself back into danger.
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Available Aetheric Force (AF): 47

Stama: 2140/2140

Mana: 3720/3720

Strength: 107 [214] (+)

Body: 107 [214] (+)
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Fusion – Muffle Sound
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Fusion – Multi-Thruster +6

Fusion – Omni Boost +10

Fusion – Paralytic Light

Fusion – Paralytic Touch

Fusion – Perceptive Misdirection +1

Fusion – Personal Air Deflection Barrier

Fusion – Pneuma Boost

Fusion – Red and White Illuminate

Fusion – Repelling Barrier

Fusion – Repelling Gust of Air

Fusion – Right Gust of Air +4

Fusion – Right Gust of Air +7

Fusion – Secure Hideaway +10

Fusion – Sharpen Edge
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Fusion – Stone Shredder Dome +6
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Stama Subjugation Level 2/35 (350 AF)

Bladed Weapon Expertise Level 2[12]/35 (350 AF)

Unarmed Fighting Level 3[13]/35 (350 AF)
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Listening Level 43

Axe Handling Level 92

He knew that once he had some time to spare, his Fusion list was getting a bit long again and he wished to combine the different magnitudes into consolidated Fusions once again.  He had ended up creating quite a few Fusions throughout his journey in the Empire and in Lowenthal, but now all of those creations just cluttered up his list; it wasn’t necessarily a bad thing, but he really wanted to clean it up once again.

Unfortunately, that was going to have to wait until he wasn’t in the middle of assaulting an Aperture with the intent of closing it.

Bringing his attention back to the world around him, he knew he was as ready as he could be without stopping and creating more Fusions.  As time was apparently of the essence when it came to Surging Apertures, he didn’t have the luxury of waiting any longer.

Unfortunately, despite all of his advancements, as soon as Larek sent his Air Skimmer into the territory of the Aperture they were set to close, he immediately knew they were in trouble.

It wasn’t the environment that caused him to worry, because while the Aperture had transformed the rolling, grass-covered hills of the western side of the Kingdom into what was essentially a rocky wasteland with no vegetation in sight, it wasn’t that big of a deal considering that they were essentially flying over it in his vessel.

Instead, it was the monsters that inhabited the stone-covered wasteland that brought about a whole heap of concern.

“Sand Vultures,” Nedira said as soon as she saw them.  Larek only vaguely recognized the large, bird-like monsters with 12-foot wingspans which flocked together in formations ranging from six to twenty in number, but what little he remembered from class and what he saw of them now was more than enough information. 

Formed from air-compressed sand, the Sand Vultures were neither biological in nature nor were they completely solid, meaning that he couldn’t simply cut them in half with his axe – either the metal one or the one created from his Pattern.  Or, more accurately, he could cut them in half, but they would reform with only a slight lessening of their overall form as some sand was lost.  The Gust Spheres created from the Fusion on his weapon might disperse the sand a bit more than a slice by his axe, but these monsters were formed from the combination of air and sand, meaning that they wouldn’t be as devastated by the Fusion’s effects as most others.

Sending a questioning glance at Nedira, he could see that she also had a troubled look on her face, as if she just realized they were a bit over their heads at this point.

Great.  Should I turn around now?

The determined look on Nedira’s face told him that wouldn’t likely be an option.


Chapter 5

“How do we kill them?”

Nedira glanced at Larek after his question, before turning back to the Sand Vultures in the distance.  “Explosive spells, fire, and Battle Arts that do wide-area damage,” she replied.

So… nothing that I can do?  “Why is that?” he asked.

“To key is to disperse the sand that comprises their bodies, either by removing the air through the use of fire or by strong attacks that can eliminate most of its form,” she explained, her eye on the flock of Vultures that were heading their way after seeing them from a distance.  Though, “seeing” might not be the right word, as he couldn’t see any eyes on any of the Vultures’ heads, as they were just smooth sand. 

“So, perhaps a large number of Gust Spheres?” he considered out loud. 

Nedira nodded even as she held out the staff with her right hand and gestured with her left.  A large, flaming ball, which he judged to be a Magnitude 5 size, flew out the end of the staff toward the now-diving flock, slamming into the wing of one of the six sandy avians as it tried to avoid the projectile.  In an instant, the wing seemed to dissolve and it plummeted toward the ground, but something frightening happened after it lost its wing.

Through the use of an ability it possessed, the Sand Vulture seemed to shrink as it became an amorphous mass for less than a second before reforming into a brand-new, fully winged Sand Vulture – at about three-quarters of its original size.  The sand in its body had essentially acted like clay, able to mold itself into a new shape that was completely healed from the damage it had taken.  With that one look at how they operated, Larek now knew why explosive spells and similar effects would work the best against them, as their sand would be too scattered to reform.

With her other hand, she finished forming a spell pattern that was quickly filled with Mana, and an explosive Pyroblast was set off in the middle of the Vulture’s diving formation, completely destroying one of them and scattering the others from the blast.  Nedira wasn’t done yet, however, as she fired one flaming ball after another from the staff, clipping the Vultures as they reorganized and dove toward them once again. 

“Should I set us down so that we can fight these things on the ground?” Larek asked as he saw the Vultures closing with the Air Skimmer.  While his vessel could take some abuse, he wasn’t sure what would happen if they were to slam into its frame at full speed.  At best, it would send the Skimmer rocking a little; at worst, it would tear holes in the vessel that could hit the Fusions, causing them to destabilize and explode.

He would prefer to avoid the last scenario if at all possible.

“No!  Keep going!  We need to keep moving in order to close the Aperture!” Nedira shouted back, even as she cast another Pyroblast that killed another Vulture.  “I’ll take care of these!”

He hesitated for only a second before he kept the Air Skimmer on course, headed toward the middle of the Aperture’s territory.  Now that he was inside, pinpointing its location was even easier than before, and he adjusted their heading for a direct interception course.  Meanwhile, Nedira continued casting and shooting out flaming balls as if it was nothing but a normal day, only showing the slightest bit of stress when two flaming balls missed their targets one after another.  That didn’t prevent her from coming back even stronger and achieving direct hits against the actual bodies of the next few Vultures she targeted, and he could see them being quickly whittled down to only a fraction of their previous sizes. 

It was on the fifth Pyroblast that he was momentarily surprised by a notification.

New Spell learned!

Pyroblast

Magnitude: 4-foot diameter

Base Elemental Damage (Explosion): 40

Base Elemental Damage (Burning): 3 per second for 5 seconds

Base Non-Elemental Damage (Knockback): 5

Base Mana Cost: 200

Base Pattern Cohesion: 8

Pattern Recognition has increased to 38!

What?  I learned a new spell?

Larek had virtually given up on learning any new spells, as his time at Copperleaf had shown that he couldn’t understand the spell patterns for spells more complicated than what was essentially the most basic variety.  Spells like Fireball, Light Orb, and Wind Barrier were some of the simplest that could be cast, both in terms of pattern complexity and in cost, and everything else had essentially been barred to him.  However, he suspected that because he had broken through the threshold for Advanced Fusions – and the benefits that came with it – he was able to understand and learn even more Spells than before.

As such, he was now excited to learn more spells that he could use the effects from in brand-new Fusions.  Of course, he had to survive the current expedition into the middle of a Sand Vulture Aperture, but with how Nedira tore through the monsters as if they were nothing, he didn’t think they’d have too many issues. 

Per Nedira’s instructions, Larek kept the Air Skimmer going even as she finished off the last of the Vultures.  Peering into the distance, he saw that there were at least two more flocks of monster birds in between them and their destination.  “Can you handle the rest of them?” he asked her as she eyed the next flock.

“I think so.  Regardless, as soon as the Aperture is closed, we can get out of here.” 

As they approached the next flock, Larek could finally see the sphere that indicated where the Aperture was located.  It was still a distance away, but he thought they could easily reach and close it before they were overwhelmed by every other flying monster in the territory.  Fortunately, Nedira proved more than capable of handling the Vultures on her own as she continued to use his staff to fire out flaming balls, this time at a lower Magnitude to increase the fire rate, and she found what seemed like the perfect equilibrium of size and speed in Magnitude 3.  At that point, she was basically cutting a line with flaming balls through the approaching flock, which was a total of 2 larger than the first one she had destroyed, and even after they reformed after being hit, they couldn’t move fast enough to prevent yet another one from hitting them.  She only had to use her Pyroblast twice during that fight, and the last Vulture didn’t even get within 20 feet of the Skimmer before it was hit by one last fiery orb that destroyed it completely. 

“This thing is completely broken, you know that?” Nedira shouted back at him with amusement in her voice, before flashing a grin back at him.  He chuckled but didn’t say anything, as the final defenders between them and the Aperture – a total of a dozen Sand Vultures in a single flock – were already lining up to dive toward them with murderous intensity. 

“Are those larger than the others?” he asked, suddenly aware that the sandy birds heading toward them seemed different.

Nedira cursed under her breath as she clutched the staff in her right hand with a tight grip.  “They’ve already evolved!” the Mage said in exasperation.  “This isn’t the first or even third time this Aperture has expanded,” she continued with somewhat of an explanation.  “I think it usually happens upon the fourth or fifth expansion, where a stronger version of the monster inside the territory evolves and starts to appear.”

“Should I stop?”

She actually hesitated for a second before shaking her head.  “No, keep going.  I should be able to kill them, but stay ready in case I need your help.

It quickly became obvious that she was going to need some help, as the first Pyroblast cast against the dozen evolved Sand Vultures finally put a scale to the monstrosities.  Instead of having 12-foot wingspans, their new opponents were at least twice as wide, if not wider; based on the 4-foot diameter of the Pyroblast that simply tore a chunk out of one of the birds without killing it outright, he estimated that its total body size was at least three times as large, with 25-foot wingspans to boot.

When he added in the fact that there were a full dozen of them, he began to become worried once again.

“I might need your help, Larek,” Nedira said calmly while she cast another Pyroblast in addition to bombarding the approaching flock with a stream of flaming balls from the staff. 

The Combat Fusionist steadied himself in his place in the center of the Air Skimmer, before pulling out the axe from its holder at his side.  He wasn’t sure how effective it would be from his current position, given that he wasn’t near the sides where the Vultures were likely to attack, but he felt better holding it in his left hand – just in case it was needed.  With his right, he pulled out a Weaken stone and prepared to chuck it ahead of them, waiting for the diving Vultures to come into range.  He needed to be as accurate as possible to hit them while they were both on the move in the middle of the air, but with his Throwing Skill boosted to 28, he felt fairly confident. 

When they were approximately 100 feet away, Larek used every little bit of his Skill to whip the stone forward, activating the Weaken Fusion on it in mid-flight.  His aim was fortunately true as it impacted one of the front line of Vultures, breaking apart with ease.  The explosion it created was large enough that it completely obliterated not just the one he hit, but two others nearby, and the rest were knocked away and damaged as a result.  The shockwave of the explosion was so great that Larek and Nedira had to hold on to the Air Skimmer as it wildly rocked back and forth for a few seconds. 

Unfortunately, the delay while they recovered also helped their enemies, as the evolved Sand Vultures were able to continue their flight within seconds after reforming in the middle of the air from the various bits of damage that was done to them.  Larek counted a total of six left after Nedira’s and his own efforts, and they quickly got close enough to extend their claws out in front of them as they dove for Nedira in the front of the vessel, each grasping a limb large enough to snap around her and lift her out of the Skimmer without any issues. 

A last-second barrage of flaming balls and a Pyroblast took out one last monster before they were too close, and unfortunately Larek wasn’t able to toss out any more Weaken stones in fear that they would cause some serious injuries to Nedira and himself from their proximity.

But that didn’t mean Larek was defenseless.  Concentrating on his Pattern Cohesion, he quickly pulled ten percent of it out and formed it into a sturdy shield that blocked a significant portion of the front portion of the vessel.  He absently noticed that it was slightly larger than he remembered it being, which he put down to his larger pool of Pattern Cohesion thanks to his higher Body stat.

Regardless, it was more than large enough to entirely block the first couple of Sand Vultures that attempted to smash right into Nedira, and Larek saw sand go flying in all directions upon impact.  Unfortunately, the last three flying monsters managed to bank their dive, avoid the Pattern shield in the process, and then swept off to the left, right, and above the Air Skimmer.  As they turned in a tight circle to return toward Larek and Nedira, another one was blasted out of the sky by a Pyroblast followed up by a barrage of smaller, Magnitude 2 flaming balls that ripped them apart to the point where they couldn’t recover.

The last two streaked toward the vessel and Larek canceled his Pattern shield, as he couldn’t protect Nedira from two different directions; it was at that point that the Combat Fusionist took a risk and decided to completely cut the gusts from below, holding them up in the air.  As the Skimmer plummeted to the rock ground, he activated the Mag 2 gusts to prevent them from slamming into the rocky environment, and while they still impacted the stone below them, it was more of a bounce than a harmful impact.

As for the two Sand Vultures, he couldn’t see what happened because of the roof above his head, but the rain of sand that fell around them as he began to raise the Skimmer back into the air indicated that his impromptu plan had worked.  The two monsters couldn’t stop their momentum and crashed into each other, obliterating their entire forms, and finishing off their flock for them.

“That was close,” Nedira said, appearing exhausted.  It was only then that he realized she didn’t have any of the boosts to her stats that he was used to her having, and he resolved to get her set up with them as soon as possible.  “Good thinking; I wasn’t sure if we were going to get out of that fight unscathed.”

“Thanks,” he replied with a grin that she didn’t even see since she was looking ahead for any other threats.  He had a feeling that she was nearly out of Mana at that point, so she’d only be able to use the staff to attack, but hopefully that wouldn’t matter.  The way ahead to the Aperture was completely clear, though he could see some other flocks heading their way in the distance.  Thankfully, they should get there in time to stop the Aperture from fully expanding, and then they could be on their way as quickly as possible. 

When they were approximately 100 feet away from the 15-foot-wide Aperture, Nedira aimed the staff at it, just waiting for them to get a little closer so that she could damage it from a distance.  As they closed in on 50 feet away, Larek slowed down, knowing that the immediate area around Apertures tended to freeze the nearby ambient Mana to the point where it was difficult for it to be absorbed by Fusions and even hindered Mana regeneration in people.  It wasn’t that big of a deal normally, as he rarely stayed close to an Aperture long enough for it to make a difference, especially with most Fusions that would be relatively fine for a minute or so of no ambient Mana absorption, but his Air Skimmer was a different matter.  It used a lot of Mana to keep it airborne, and it would be difficult to move away if it suddenly lost all external power.

A large flying stone shot out from the end of the staff toward the Aperture, which Larek judged to be a Magnitude 8 version, but right before impact a powerful *thump* erupted from the portal connecting to the Corrupted world, so deep and impactful that he felt it in his chest. 

“NO!”

Even as she screamed, she released another flying stone after the first hit the Aperture and seemed to bounce off it, showing no damage as it began to grow slightly in size. 

“What happened—” Larek began to ask, but was abruptly cut off.

“We were too late!”

As she answered him, another Sand Vulture appeared from inside the Aperture, followed by another and another.  They were the non-evolved variety, which meant that when Nedira turned her attention to them with the staff, they were quickly destroyed by the flaming balls she launched – but Larek could see why they were too late.

They just kept coming.

He was reminded of when he witnessed the Greater Trizards emerging from the Aperture during the first emergence of the phenomena, and how they continued to pour from the Aperture despite everything they sent at it.  It was only when Larek nearly killed himself by detonating a failed spell near it that finally closed the portal, but he wasn’t going to even attempt that here. 

But he did have something similar at hand. 

Backing up another 50 feet as Nedira continued to kill those that emerged, he pulled out a handful of Weaken stones and chucked them at the Aperture, willing them to activate their Fusions while in the air.  As the half-dozen stones came into contact with the edge of the Aperture, they detonated with escalating force, causing such an explosion that the Skimmer was sent flying backwards, nearly on its side.  Larek caught Nedira as she flew into him from her spot at the front, and he protected her as they slammed into a nearby stone hill, the wooden supports cracking and shearing off the entire roof as they hit the ground with bone-crunching force. 

Thankfully, he had enough presence of mind to deactivate the gusts from below so that they didn’t hit even harder.  As it was, he rolled out of the grounded Skimmer with Nedira held tightly to his chest, taking the brunt of the damage as he hit the rocky landscape.  Finally rolling to a stop with the woman in his arms on top, he looked down to see that she seemed to be relatively fine, and she scrambled to her feet even as Larek groaned from the injuries he’d sustained.  A quick activation of his Healing Surge popped his shoulder back into place while sealing up a number of cuts and scrapes all over his body, including one on his forehead that had bled into his eyes.

If my Body stat wasn’t so high, that probably would’ve killed me.  Even with his high Body stat, he wasn’t invulnerable, and something like a crashed Air Skimmer could do him a significant amount of damage if he wasn’t careful.

Stupid.  Just plain stupid, he chastised himself, knowing that it was his fault that he had nearly killed the both of them.

“Here they come!” Nedira shouted, pulling his attention away from his self-pity.  Looking up, he saw the Aperture in the distance and realized they had been launched back at least 500 hundred feet from their original location.  At the same time, he noticed that while the Aperture had shrunk dramatically in size, it wasn’t closed, proven by the fact that it was already growing larger as he watched.

The damage to it did manage to temporarily stop the flow of new Vultures, but those that had already emerged and hadn’t been killed by Nedira were heading their way.  He did a quick count and saw that there were only 7 of them that were still somehow intact from the explosion, but they weren’t the real problem.

It was the dozens of other Vultures that raced toward them from all over the territory after the Aperture was attacked.  He couldn’t count them all as he saw them diving from every direction, and he reached down to pull out his axe—

—only to realize he had dropped it when grabbing Nedira on the Skimmer after the explosion, and it was nowhere near him now.  As for the intact remains of the Skimmer, it was lying on its side approximately 150 feet away toward the Aperture.  He didn’t see the axe inside of it from where he was, so he assumed it could be anywhere.

Looking at Nedira to save them with his staff, his heart dropped into his stomach when he didn’t see her clutching it, ready to defend them both. 

She had dropped it at some point, as well.

Now, without any weapons and only the few dregs of Mana that his companion had managed to regenerate over the last minute or so, they were about to face dozens of Vultures that knew exactly where they were located and were out for blood after attacking their Aperture. 

He thought it couldn’t get much worse than that.

Of course, that was when the damaged Fusions on his Air Skimmer decided that they’d had enough abuse and exploded.


Chapter 6

The volume of Mana wrapped up in the Fusions on his Air Skimmer was much higher than the few Weaken stones he had thrown earlier, and the subsequent explosion as those Fusions detonated was catastrophic, to say the least.  Even being 150 feet away, the concussive shockwave spread so quickly and with such incredible force that Larek was only able to tap into his Agility to turn toward Nedira and move his body so that his back side blocked most—but not all—of the deadly explosion. 

As soon as it hit him, it felt like he had been smashed in the back with a warhammer, as even though he felt his Automatic Ice Repulsion Field start to activate, the ice that formed was too slow to halt the majority of the damage.  He nearly lost consciousness as his head was whipped forward, but his strong Body stat was not only enough to ensure that he stayed awake, but also kept him alive despite taking such a massive, unshielded blow from behind.

Nedira wasn’t quite as lucky.  While his body had protected her from the worst of the blast, it couldn’t stop the entire shockwave, and as he slammed into her as he was taken from his feet, it was all he could do to enfold her broken body in his arms as they were blown more than a hundred feet away from where they were standing. 

Even as he healed both himself and her with his Healing Surge Fusion on his clothes while they flew through the air, he knew that she was in severely rough shape and would be nearly useless once they finally landed.  The impact with the rocky ground was rough, and Larek could feel his leg snap as he landed on it wrong, but he also managed to shield the woman in his arms from the worst of their landing.  The pain from the injuries he’d suffered was ignored as he struggled to move after they came to a stop, tumbling and rolling a number of times; what he cared about most was ensuring that Nedira survived his mistake.

Because all of this was his fault.  He wished he hadn’t stupidly thrown those stones, wished he’d been able to cast spells, wished that he’d had reliable access to his Stama to use Battle Arts, and wished that he’d learned how to fight properly so that he could’ve done something that would’ve changed the outcome… Well, there were a lot of things that he wished he’d done differently, but there wasn’t anything he could do about it right now.  He had to survive first, and then he would figure out what to do about his shortcomings later.

Expecting to be attacked at any time by the Sand Vultures that had been so close to attacking them, when Larek looked up they were nowhere to be found.  Further out, a few flocks of them were still bearing down on them, but the ones nearest to him were gone; the only thing that he could see were clouds of sand that were already dispersing and still falling to the ground as he watched. 

The explosion must have destroyed them, too. 

“Wha—?”

By some miracle, despite all the damage that had been healed from his Healing Surge Fusion, Nedira was still awake.  He had half-expected her to be in a coma-like state afterwards, so he was happy to see that she was still with him.

“We’ve got to run.”

She looked up at him from where he had taken her into his arms, already intending to carry her.  “But… I don’t have the energy—”

“Don’t worry, I have enough for the both of us.”  In truth, Larek was exhausted from all the rapid healing that his body had undergone, and he could feel the weakness as his starving body wanted nothing but a huge meal and a nap.  Unfortunately, the former would be a little tough at the moment with all of their supplies having been obliterated by the Air Skimmer’s explosion, and the latter wasn’t going to happen in the middle of an Aperture’s territory.

With a glance at where the Sand Vultures still in the air were located, Larek turned on his heel and started running, holding Nedira close to his body as he did so.  With his Agility, Larek practically flew over the rocky environment with breakneck speed, and it was a struggle to keep his feet over the uneven ground; he nearly took a tumble when he misjudged a small leap over a crevasse, but managed to keep his feet – and kept from dropping Nedira.

It took a few minutes running at full speed to clear out of the Sand Vultures’ territory, the airborne monsters following after but unable to keep up with him, and he eventually stopped and looked back, seeing the birds turn back when they hit the edge. 

Breathing hard because his physical energy was completely spent by this point, he glanced down at the woman in his arms and noticed her eyes were closed after having fallen asleep at some point in the run.  Thankfully, she still didn’t appear to have fallen into a temporary coma, but the both of them needed to get somewhere they could get something to eat and rest in a place of safety.  Having lost all but the Fusions on his clothes when he had gone flying, he was feeling a bit vulnerable now – and he could only berate himself for letting all this happen in the first place.

Shaking his head after mentally beating himself up, he realized that this wasn’t going to help him.  Instead, he focused on what to do now, which was to find the closest town or city and get help. 

It was something he knew that he’d have to do ever since coming back home, especially after hearing what Nedira didn’t know about the state of the Kingdom, but he was hoping that he’d have some help to navigate his way inside.  Fortunately, he still had his ring of Perceptive Misdirection on it, which would hopefully allow him to enter his destination without causing too much of an issue.

Knowing that the longer he waited, the more of whatever remained of his energy would run out, he took off toward the northeast as he planned on running around the edge of the Vultures’ territory, remembering what Nedira had said about the location of the closest city.  He kept his run to a steady lope that he could keep up for hours even in his current state and carrying the light weight of the woman in his arms, as he began to pass through the tall grasses that marked the environment, eventually passing into the rolling hills that he’d seen from a distance before.  It wasn’t long until he came to a large valley that appeared in between the hills, and he got his first look at the city he was approaching.

Calling it a city might be giving it a bit too much credit, as he thought it didn’t look too much bigger than Whittleton to the southeast near Copperleaf Academy, but it was also just as packed with people as that overcrowded town had been.  The 40-foot-tall stone walls that surrounded the two hundred or so buildings inside appeared to be cracked and falling apart in disrepair, as if they were being neglected due to disuse.  He thought the reason for that was obvious enough, as tens of thousands of tents, lean-tos, and other haphazard shelters had been constructed outside of the walls, holding what had to be many tens of thousands of people.  Even from a distance, he could tell that many of those outside wore threadbare, torn, and dirty clothing, walking listlessly through the random pathways in between their poor accommodations.

“What happened here?” he asked out loud in complete shock about what he was looking at.  It was as if the overcrowding he’d seen in Whittleton had infected this place and then multiplied by 10, as he could sort of make out what seemed to be just as many or more people inside the walls as out.  It was like the last vestiges of the Kingdom had come together without hope against the Apertures that plagued the countryside.

But it wasn’t all bad, though, from what he could see.  In the distance, teams of SIC members accompanied by large wagons – with Canniks and their handlers driving them – were filled to the brim with what appeared to be monster corpses, heading toward the city.  At the same time, additional teams were heading out with their own wagons in three different directions, which he assumed were toward the Apertures he could feel to the northwest, to the south, and to the east. 

None of them were heading west toward the Aperture with the Sand Vultures, however, and even as he took in all that was happening around the city, he began to understand why.

There was very little farmland available around the city, and there was even less because of the refugees surrounding the walls.  He wasn’t a farmer, nor did he have a good idea of the logistics of feeding so many people, but from the few acres of land that were planted with what appeared to be wheat, a few plots with vines crawling along the ground which he assumed was some sort of root crop, and a scarce couple of areas where there were leafy plants containing some sort of vegetable, he knew that it was not nearly enough to sustain the current population.

Even as he stared down into the valley, he could see green-robed individuals walking very slowly amongst the fields, and using his Magical Detection Skill, he could faintly see them manipulating their Mana to cast a variation on a familiar spell he’d learned from the woman in his arms: Rapid Plant Growth.  He finally got to see a version of the spell in action, as the crops they were affecting began to grow in a 10-foot circle around them.  The process was slow, however, and in the minute or so that he watched, a stalk of wheat that was about shin height when they began only grew another foot by the time they passed.  The rapid growth wasn’t without its drawbacks, however, as they looked to be a lighter green than before, as if they were dried out from lack of water.  That was quickly solved as another Mage in a blue robe, who Larek recognized as an Aquamancer, used a spell he couldn’t see clearly, but the end result was a large splash of water that the crops seemed to soak up immediately, and they appeared healthier as a result. 

There were also a few teams of people with harvesting tools going through a few fields, harvesting wheat grain or picking out vegetables here and there; but unfortunately, there weren’t that many.  Larek thought it was probably because there were only four pairs of Naturalists and Aquamancers slowly working their way through the farmlands, and when he looked at the areas the teams left behind, he could tell that a single pass wasn’t enough to fully grow the plants so that they were harvestable. 

Perhaps three passes would do it? he thought.  He wondered why they didn’t just stay in a single place and fully grow a patch of crops before moving onto the next, but when he saw one pair get to the end of a row and sit down to take a break, he thought he could figure out the reason: lack of Mana. 

The original Rapid Plant Growth spell only cost 10 Mana to cast, but it also only affected a 5 X 5-foot area, and from what he understood, it only matured the plants in range a certain amount at its base level.  According to what Nedira told him when she taught him the spell back at Copperleaf Academy, it might require multiple casts of the simple version of Rapid Plant Growth to bring something like a crop to full maturity, though more Mana could be pumped into the spell to complete it in one go. 

While he was sure that the Naturalists walking along the fields could pump more Mana into them to do something like that, it would only affect so many at a time; in addition, they might be able to accomplish this feat a few dozen times before they emptied their Mana pool, but they’d then have to wait for it to regenerate in order to start again.  What he saw them doing now was obviously spreading the growth out to a larger area while maturing them less quickly, allowing them to cover much more before they had to take a break. 

Seeing the pattern in which they moved over the fields, he could see that the ones they used their spells on were continuing to grow, though at a much slower rate than when they were in the midst of the spell.  It was still much faster than natural growth, but apparently the effects lingered enough that they would eventually grow to full maturity in a few days, if not sooner.  It was an efficient use of Mana, and though it also meant that a lesser amount of crops would be available for harvest every day, it was a steady amount that would at least help a little bit.

Looking at the refugees both inside and outside the walls, he knew that whatever was grown was just a drop in the bucket compared to what was actually needed to feed them all.  Nedira’s objective to find additional sources of food from other places suddenly started to make a whole lot more sense to him.

With a shake of his head, wondering if there would even be a place to get supplies for a journey here, Larek made sure his ring’s Fusion was activated, obscuring his height from anyone who observed him.  He was slightly nervous after seeing dozens of Mages moving around outside, worried that they would see through the effects of Perceptive Misdirection, similar to what happened back in the Sealance Empire, but there really wasn’t any other choice at this point.  As he got closer to the city and its inhabitants outside, he also began to consider what would happen if his clothes were inspected a little too closely by those who could sense the Fusions on them, as they certainly stood out; he’d experienced the same thing in the Empire and from those underneath the desert in Lowenthal, even if those who noticed it had different reactions to seeing it.

Interest and curiosity over the Fusions he could handle; greed, anger, and envy could lead to situations that he’d rather not have to deal with at the moment – if he even could, considering how physically spent he was right now. 

He got more than a few strange looks as he made his way toward the refugee camp outside the walls of the city, walking down the packed dirt road in between farm fields, but he ignored them for the most part.  None of them mentioned his height, which was his main concern, as they instead focused on the fact that he was carrying a woman in a worn green robe, who appeared to be unconscious.

Passing through the edges of the camp, he was assaulted by the stench of unwashed bodies and other things he didn’t want to contemplate.  That wasn’t the worst part, however, as he finally got a close-up look at the actual refugees, which was worse than he expected.

Clearly seeing someone’s rib cage from starvation was one thing; it was something entirely different to see their spine – from the front. 

The further he walked through the refugee camp carrying Nedira, the worse off the sights became, as the occasional dead body was seen tucked away in a corner somewhere, and it was clear that many he saw were headed to the same fate if they didn’t get something to eat soon.  The worst were the children, as while they appeared slightly healthier than the adults, which he figured was because they were being prioritized when food was available, the effects of malnutrition were obvious in their stunted frames.

As he navigated his way through the tents and other temporary constructs on the way to the gates of the city, something he’d seen earlier and dismissed came to mind.  He’d seen hundreds of well-armed guards near the farms surrounding the perimeter, none of them Mages or Martials, and he had figured they were there to help protect them from monsters that might end up attacking.  Looking at all these starving people, however, he realized they were there for another reason.

They weren’t there to protect the fields from monsters; they were there to protect the fields from the refugees. 

In fact, if he remembered what he saw correctly, none of the wagons that were being brought in with monster corpses or harvested crops were stopping outside the walls – they were all heading straight through the gate that led inside.  As far as he could tell, things were set up to the point where the refugees outside were getting nothing in the way of food, which was why they all looked like they were a few short days of missed meals from dying.

It's not my problem.  Yes, what is happening here is horrendous and unconscionable, but we’re just passing through.  We just need some supplies and we’ll leave these people to figure it out on their own.

The thought that went through his head as he witnessed the suffering and misery of the people outside of the walls made him instantly reprimand himself for his selfishness; these people were from his own Kingdom, after all.  While he didn’t necessarily like them for the wrongs he’d experienced in the past at their hands, he still didn’t want them to die like this.  He was able to disassociate himself when it came to the people of the Empire because they weren’t suffering like this, and while he had ended up helping the Drekkin in Lowenthal, it ultimately served his own purposes and he hadn’t exactly felt obligated to help them.

But the people of the Kingdom of Androthe should be different.  Shouldn’t they?

He was wrestling with that notion when he noticed a group of what appeared to be Martials striding quickly out of the city gate ahead of him, staring in his direction.  On second glance, however, he realized they weren’t staring at him; they were staring at the unconscious woman in his arms; or, as far as they knew, she might even be dead and he was carrying her corpse.

It suddenly occurred to him that Nedira was wearing a green robe, marking her as a Mage.  More importantly, it also marked her as a Naturalist.

A sudden spike of danger flowed through him as he realized what the entire situation must look like to everyone else.  Some random person had suddenly showed up carrying the body of a Naturalist, one of those that could essentially create food from the seeds that were planted out in the fields, and it wasn’t lost on him that they might think he had hurt her in some way.  Such misconceptions had happened to him multiple times before, so it wouldn’t surprise him if it happened once again; especially when it was technically true, as he was the one that caused the Air Skimmer to crash and then ultimately explode.

Hmm… maybe I should leave and come back later when Nedira is awake?

Unfortunately, his thought came just a little too late as the group of Martials that had been eyeing him closed in on his position quickly, and there was no way to easily run away now after he was surrounded.

“Stop and stay where you are!” one of them shouted, a large, barrel-chested man from the Kingdom who nearly reached 6 feet tall shouted at him, while holding a massive, double-bladed battleaxe over his right shoulder.  The sound of authority resonated in his voice, and he had the self-assured bearing of a Noble.

He was also showing not a single sign of having missed any meals, though he wasn’t fat; instead, he just exuded an aura of one who was healthy and hadn’t missed a meal in a long time.

“Who are you, and why are your filthy hands touching one of the Providers?”


Chapter 7

A “Provider”?

Larek could extrapolate what that meant given what he’d seen of the city and its environs; a Naturalist was someone who could provide the people with food through the use of their spells.  He could only assume that any of the individuals who did the same, whether it was killing monsters for the meat or even supplying clean water, was similar in stature. 

Of course, that information didn’t help him much at the moment, because he was surrounded by around a dozen Martials who, while they didn’t have their weapons out, were threatening enough in their arrangement around him that he had little doubt that they would attack him once they ensured that the woman in his arms was safe.  However, as he looked at the Martials surrounding him, he could see that while they looked intimidating toward him, there was a mixture of reactions to the starving people around the area – and he took note of that as an idea began to form in his head.  He also briefly looked over the man who asked him the question, noticing that both his leather and steel armor and his axe had Fusions on them; poorly made Fusions, at least compared to his own, but they were still present.  Seeing them and assessing the situation, something he found so much easier with his recent experiences, he made a decision.

His old inclination, when facing this sort of conflict and being confronted by such a person, was to shrink back and bow to the authority of those that were obviously more important or more powerful than he was.  He used to let people walk all over him and take advantage of his non-confrontational nature; it wasn’t something that he ever intended to be like, but his view of the world and other people had shaped him that way when he was younger.  However, his experiences in the Kingdom, followed by his independent travels throughout the Sealance Empire, had changed his mindset. 

He wasn’t the same man who had been forced to leave his life behind, nor was he the shy and awkward Mage student who didn’t know what he was doing.  Well… he was still awkward at times, but he’d learned that such a trait didn’t define him, nor did it limit him in the slightest.  That was because he was strong in his own right, especially when it came to creating Fusions – even if most Martials and Mages of the SIC might not consider a Fusionist to be someone with such an inner strength. 

Now all he had to do was channel that same confidence he had in his own abilities and project it outward.  It wouldn’t be easy, but the plan he had considered earlier came to the forefront of his thoughts as he abruptly changed his mindset.  You can do this, Larek.

Standing up a little straighter, he stared right into the eyes of the Martial who had addressed him, fearing that he might have to suppress the urge to flinch away at the murderous gaze staring back.  Surprisingly, the anger in the other man didn’t bother him in the least.  He wasn’t sure if he just didn’t care what this person thought of him, or if he had been through so much that such a petty display of faux dominance fell flat from perceived ridiculousness, but the end result was the same.

The man actually flinched at what he saw in Larek’s stare, though he recovered quickly enough that he might have been the only one to see it.  After that, the Martial seemed even angrier as he tightened his grip on his battleaxe handle – but Larek didn’t care at that point.

“Who are you to be asking questions of me?” the Combat Fusionist asked, his voice projecting with a strength to it that he’d once taken time to tone down while he had been attending the different Academies, but he now unleashed it at full volume.  He had to admit that it felt good not to have to restrain himself when he spoke, because what came out felt natural and right.

It seemed as though his defiance and subsequent question had shocked the rest of the Martials surrounding him and he could sense them shuffling in place uncomfortably.  As for the one he was still staring at, it had the opposite effect.  “You don’t get to ask the questions here—” he said, taking a step forward and bringing his weapon down from his shoulder, now holding it with both hands across his body.  Larek cut him off before he could say any more than that.

“Oh, no?  And why is that?  Are you the pitiful excuse for a leader that runs this city?”

His confrontational words and confident tone had the desired effect.  First, the other Martials shuffled in place a little more, muttering under their breath as they looked at Larek. From what he could hear of those mutters, they were a mixture of slander against the Combat Fusionist and a smattering of agreement and discontent.  As he somewhat expected from his earlier observations, not all the Martials were content with what was happening outside the walls. 

Second, and most important, the barrel-chested man began to step forward with his axe positioned in a way that Larek thought was designed to sweep from right to left, likely to decapitate the stranger making him angry.  As the angered Martial did exactly that without more than a second’s hesitation, Larek was nearly too slow before he managed to use his Pattern Cohesion via his Pattern Manipulation Skill to create a floating shield that blocked the battleaxe before it could be swung more than a foot.  As it thudded into the glowing blue Pattern construct, it didn’t bounce off as if it had hit something metal, but instead simply lost all momentum as it came to a stop.

“Attacking random people now?” Larek asked, even as the man pulled back his axe as he looked suspiciously at the defense that had stopped his blow.  “That’s just rude.  And here I was arriving to help the people of this city, but I guess I can leave all of them to you; I’m sure that, as the leader here, you have a foolproof plan to feed all these fine people you have here,” he continued, glancing around at the starving figures in the background. 

The man chose not to respond verbally but to attack again while Larek was distracted, but the Combat Fusionist simply moved the shield with a thought and blocked the blow.  A second strike that happened nearly too fast for a normal person to see was swept upward from below, but his practice with his Pattern constructs meant that his ability to move them was as fast as his mind could process the attack.  With such high mental stats and an Agility that allowed him to perceive the quick movements, it was easy enough to prevent the battleaxe from hitting him. 

Of course, he was also standing still, which helped immensely; if he was forced to move his body while controlling the shield, he wouldn’t have been nearly as successful. 

“Ah, ah, ah!  No more of that, if you would.  Throwing a temper tantrum never did anyone any good.”

The man took a step back, a furious rage igniting in his eyes even further, as he brought his battleaxe above his head.  “No one disrespects me like this!”  As soon as Larek saw the manipulation of Stama moving through the Martial’s arms and into his axe, he knew it was time to take an even greater risk than what he’d already been doing.  Absorbing his Pattern shield, he quickly formed another construct, but this time it was something he’d never tried before.  Wrapping a layer of his Pattern Cohesion around the entire upper body, the upraised arms, and even the weapon of the angry man, he hardened it so that it was similar to his shield – and just as inflexible.  It was a crudely shaped form that he had created, looking more like a lopsided tube than the tightly fitting second skin he originally imagined, but if it worked, it really didn’t matter what it looked like.

Thankfully, it performed exactly as he had hoped.  The battleaxe-wielding Martial was essentially stuck in place as Larek’s Pattern construct surrounded his upper body, though it was loose enough that he had a tiny bit of wiggle room.  Not that it helped him, of course, because he couldn’t break free or slide out of the impenetrable barrier—

The Battle Art that the man had activated went off, which turned out to be a blade of concussive force that was supposed to fly out from the edge of the battleaxe once the Martial swung it down, cutting whatever it hit in half.  That, of course, didn’t happen, but what did happen was that the concussive force created from the Battle Art simply emanated out from the edge of the blade in a concentrated ray, slamming into his Pattern construct in a focused area, causing it to flare with a bright light that nearly blinded everyone .

Larek felt a pull on something inside of him, and a brief glance at his Status revealed that his Pattern Cohesion had just been drained by a little more than 300 points; in the grander scale of his high Pattern Cohesion, this wasn’t that big of a deal, but the fact that the Battle Art – powered by Stama – had damaged his Pattern construct certainly was.  He felt his manipulation of the construct automatically pull more Pattern Cohesion from his body to instantly repair the damage, but he now knew that his previously impenetrable shield was anything but impervious to damage.  Is it vulnerable only to all Stama-based Battle Arts, or will Mana-based spells damage it, too?  Or is it simply vulnerable to any intensely concentrated forms of damage?

He banished those questions from his mind as they weren’t important at the moment.  Instead, he focused back on the situation, which was dealing with this monster of a Martial before he managed to drain all of Larek’s Pattern Cohesion.

“Now that I have your attention, maybe you’ll listen—if you don’t stop that, I’ll be forced to take drastic measures.”  The Martial used the same Battle Art and tried to punch a hole through the construct again, which caused even more Pattern Cohesion to drain from Larek to instantly fix the damage it caused.  This was followed by the man using his Stama to do something to his body that obviously increased his Strength by a bit, because while the construct didn’t bend or break, it was being pushed against with such force that there was a constant funneling of his Pattern Cohesion to maintain its rigid shape. 

“LET ME GO!” the man screamed, veins bulging in his neck as he attempted to use raw power to break free.  “Vanders!  What are you waiting for? KILL HIM!”

Out of the corner of his left eye, Larek saw one of the Martials surrounding him start to move toward his position, but all it took was a look in the sword-wielding man’s direction to stop him in his tracks.  “Don’t even think about it,” he said, deliberately turning his attention away from the Pattern-held Martial as if he was no longer a threat.  “We’re simply having a friendly discussion, and there’s no reason to bring violence into it.”

Amazingly, that was all it took for the others to hesitate and stay where they were, allowing Larek to look at the enraged individual again.  “Now, where were we?  Oh, yes, you were about to tell me who you were.  And stop doing that; you’ll strain yourself if you’re not careful.  Besides, you’ll need the energy to fuel your Body Regeneration Skill if you continue to pursue your misguided attempts to kill me.”

If anything, this only caused the man to start foaming at the mouth in his rage as he pushed himself even further, burning his Stama at a prodigious rate as different Battle Arts were activated in an attempt to break through what was holding him trapped. 

Larek, slightly worried as he saw that his Pattern Cohesion had now dropped by over 3,000 by this point, sighed dramatically.  “Fine, don’t say I didn’t warn you.”

With another part of his concentration, which he freed up from what was keeping the Pattern construct intact, the Combat Fusionist looked closer at the Fusions on the man’s weapon and armor.  The Fusion on the battleaxe was a basic Sharpen Steel Edge +4, nothing too fancy, though the magnitude was higher than was normally created by most Fusionists.  That was because it would take an average Fusionist about 6 hours to create it, which was a lot of time to devote to a single Fusion that would fade in a month or two. 

As for the armor, the steel plates sewn into the leather undercoat had individual Strengthen Steel +2 Fusions, not as impressive as the one on the battleaxe, but the Martial probably didn’t need anything more than that if he had a relatively high Body stat to help protect him. 

In all, the Fusions weren’t anywhere near being crudely done, but they also weren’t so well constructed that they didn’t provide Larek exactly what he needed.  Using small threads of Pattern that he siphoned off of the construct, he fed these into the different Fusions, aiming for areas that were slightly thinner or less well-defined.  Like cracks in their armor, his own Pattern worked itself quickly into these imperfections, widening them and inserting itself temporarily as a replacement of a containment barrier here, or a chink in the Mana Cost section there. 

It only took two seconds for his agile mind to sabotage every Fusion on the Martial’s person, including a small ring he noticed at the last moment that was giving the man a Strength Boost +2 on his left hand. 

When everything was ready, he yanked out his own temporary Pattern fillers in the Fusions at the same time, pushing it all back into the construct holding the angry Martial.  Nothing happened for a second, but then each of the Fusions suddenly experienced a catastrophic failure in their grid formation, causing them to collapse – and to release the Mana inside of them… explosively.

It wasn’t anything near what happened when one of his Weaken Fusion stones broke apart, let alone causing the same destruction as when Larek’s Air Skimmer blew up.  Instead, a series of small, concentrated explosions erupted all over the man’s upper body, destroying the armor that protected him while doing terrible damage to the flesh underneath.  The Martial’s left hand, which originally held the ring with the Strength Boost +2 Fusion, was completely obliterated, along with a small portion of his wrist.  Neither of those results was life-threatening, as even though the man had been injured severely, Larek was 99% sure that the Martial’s Body stat and Body Regeneration Skill were high enough that he’d recover – and if they had a good enough Healer around, he’d also be able to have his hand regrown just like new.

However, the largest explosion came from the Axe, which was completely obliterated as the detonation was contained in a small space within Larek’s Pattern construction.  The resulting blast drained another 1,000 Pattern Cohesion from the Combat Fusionist, but it was worth it to see the head of the weapon shatter into hundreds of pieces, along with half of the steel haft.  He was suddenly glad that he had enclosed it in his construct; otherwise the shrapnel from the explosion might have hurt or killed some of the innocent bystanders still watching the confrontation.

A few seconds after the explosions were over, Larek reabsorbed his Pattern Cohesion from the construct, letting the battered and bloody – and unconscious – body of the Martial fall to the packed dirt ground.  The silence in the immediate area after what had just happened was slightly uncomfortable for Larek, but he simply looked at the man who had moved before.

“Vanders, was it?”  The Martial nodded after a moment, his shocked gaze moving between the fallen leader and Larek.  “It’s nice to meet you, Vanders.  We seem to have gotten off on the wrong foot here, so I’m hoping that you’ll be able to correct that.  Do you think you can do that?”

Vanders fully looked at Larek as he swallowed nervously.  A hesitant nod was all he got, but it was enough.

“Excellent!  If you would, detail some of your friends to pick up your fearless leader here, as he’s going to need a Healer to get better.  In the meantime, how about you show me around so that I can see where I can be of the best use?”

“Borex… he’s not dead?” Vanders asked, looking shocked as he stared at the fallen form of the Martial leader.

Larek chuckled.  “Of course not!  It would be rude of me if I killed him for being an absolute jerk.  He was simply under a misconception that I was going to put up with his misguided attempts at intimidation, as I don’t have time for that.  Now, you better hurry if you don’t want to prolong his recuperation… or perhaps that’s what you’d rather have happen?” he asked with a wink.  “There are going to be some changes around here, hopefully for the better, and you seem like you’d be much better amenable to such changes.  Would you like to be in charge now?”

“W-what?  But I thought—”

“That I wanted to be in charge?  Absolutely not.  I just don’t have time to mess with inflexible, power-hungry idiots like Borex here,” he said, indicating the still-bleeding Martial leader lying face-down in the dirt, “if I’m going to find a solution that will feed all these people while also making the surrounding lands safe from the Apertures.”

“You’re going to… what?”  Vanders seemed confused.

“We can discuss it more later, but first things first, let’s head inside so I can put my good friend here down so that she can recover.  Come on, get a move on.”

Without waiting for the rest of the Martials to move, Larek began walking toward the city gate, passing by the heavily injured Martial leader without a glance.

All the while, the Combat Fusionist’s heart was beating so loudly that it felt like someone was pounding on a large drum inside his chest.  A portion of his mind was practically gibbering at what Larek had done, expecting the Martials to call him out at any time for his arrogant speech and for injuring their leader.  Another portion of his mind was simply trying to maintain his façade of confidence, while a third was working on a solution to provide to these people what he had just promised.

Because he had no idea how he was going to both help feed the starving people around the city while also making them safer from the threat of the Apertures nearby.


Chapter 8

Who is this monster?

Obeying the indirect order, Vanders gestured toward two of the other Martials that were part of the “welcoming committee” to pick up the heavily damaged body of the Supreme Provider, a title that Borex had adopted only the month before.  Unfortunately for the Berserker, even his great Strength stat wasn’t enough to break free from whatever this frightening person did to him.

Which brought him to the worst part of the entire situation.  Vanders, in all his years in the SIC, had absolutely no idea what it was that the man carrying the unconscious Provider had done.  While he wasn’t a Mage, he’d worked with them enough over the last decade to know that what he saw was unlike anything he’d seen before; it was possible that it was the result of some sort of new spell, but what disabused him of that notion was how quickly it was cast.  The glowing blue plate of what felt like pure power appeared so fast that there was absolutely no way that even the most powerful Mages could’ve cast it, as it was basically instant – which was impossible, as far as he knew.  He’d seen some of the greatest Mages in the SIC cast something in a half-second or slightly faster, especially spells that they had cast thousands of times before, but he couldn’t see any sign of preparation or casting from the monster, who had a stare that frightened him more than he wanted to admit.

It had even frightened the Supreme Provider, though Borex had ensured that not many saw him flinch when that gaze was turned his way.  As soon as Vanders saw that, he immediately knew that this person wasn’t someone he wanted to mess with.  The fact that the stranger had also mentioned the starving people who were watching the entire confrontation, as well as calling Borex a pitiful excuse for a leader, only served to strengthen that conviction.  Still, when his commander ordered him to attack and kill this person, his duty took over and he nearly followed through with the order – and he was glad that he hadn’t.

He just wished that the stubborn hotheadedness of the Supreme Provider had been toned down just a little, because then he might not have ended up looking like a hunk of meat that had been chewed on by a dragon. 

“If I may ask, who exactly are you?”  Catching up to the man who boldly walked through the open gates of the city of Tarvada, Vanders cautiously tried to strike up a conversation.  Despite the fact that he was obviously powerful in a way that the former SIC member didn’t exactly understand, he wasn’t exactly keen on allowing him the freedom to do whatever he wanted.  His bold words notwithstanding, the monster had practically killed the Supreme Provider in a matter of seconds – a feat he never thought he would witness, as the Berserker was a force of nature all by himself.  He’d seen him injured when fighting some of the powerful monsters the nearby Apertures endlessly spawned, but he’d never seen the man so utterly dominated without seemingly any effort on the part of this stranger.

It was that same strength that led him to follow the Supreme Provider in the first place.  With the Kingdom of Androthe fractured and practically nonexistent due to the presence of the Five Calamities, a series of five Apertures so large that they could no longer be closed, only contained so that they didn’t grow any larger, the SIC had essentially been disbanded.  The fact that anyone was surviving throughout the broken Kingdom was due to the heroic efforts of the Mages and Martials who banded together to protect thousands of pockets of uncontested land, which held the majority of towns and cities – and their people, of course. 

Communication had broken down months ago, so it was up to these groups of powerful people to take charge and protect their own, utilizing their abilities to maintain the nearby Apertures so that they didn’t get any larger, as well as defending those that sought them out for safety.  When Borex announced that he was stationing himself as the leader of the defense of Tarvada, Vanders had jumped at the chance to join his idol in protecting the people. 

Protecting the weak and innocent was the core reason he loved the SIC, and joining with Borex and dozens of other like-minded Mages and Martials had seemed to be the best choice in a situation that continued to get worse and worse.  At first, approximately a month and a half ago, their actions to protect the citizens of Tarvada had been exactly what Borex promised, as they went out and killed monsters while temporarily closing the nearby Apertures, while bringing back monster corpses to help feed the population.  The few farms around the city were more than enough to feed the people with the supplemental monster meat, and everything seemed as if it was looking up.

At least, everything was going well until the fall of their sister city of Harvana to the north due to an Aperture expanding too close to the city, which caused them all to flee.  Without another prospect near enough for most of those who fled to make the journey, they ended up flooding the city of Tarvada with their numbers, even expanding out in front of the walls with whatever shelters they could set up.

The first few days had been ones of shared supplies and mutual partnership, all designed to help the displaced refugees survive the abrupt move to a city that couldn’t even hold them all.  After it quickly became obvious that they would rapidly run out of food if they continued to feed everyone, Borex took charge and completely abandoned any type of structure that the SIC had instilled in them all by calling all the Mages and Martials under him “Providers”, with himself as the Supreme Provider.  He’d also designated Vanders and another, a Mage named Fendra, as Grand Providers, working as his right and left hands, with the control and power that those positions granted them.

Which turned out to be quite substantial.  With trade and communication completely cut off from every other town and city in the fractured Kingdom, the Providers had absolute control over the city – and its people.  Being the only ones who could reliably hunt monsters for meat and rapidly grow food out in the farm fields, they held a position – and a personal power – that none of the citizens could refute.  Being a Noble, if only a Baron’s son, this only felt natural and right, as it should be those with the power to rule over those that didn’t.

He felt that way all the way up to the point where the Supreme Provider made the decision to cut food rations to the refugees from Harvana to only a tenth of what they had received when they first arrived, with the justification that in order for more to survive, some would have to suffer.  But that didn’t make sense when he saw how the original residents of Tarvada, especially those with Noble blood, always had the choicest picks of their available food and weren’t required to ration even the slightest.  As for himself and the rest of the Providers, they were also well taken care of, since it was necessary for them to be at full strength to continue providing the food that the city needed to survive.

He had soon grown numb to the entreaties of the refugees wanting an equal share of the rations, not because he didn’t care, but because he had no power to change it.  Even when at least half of the citizens of Tarvada had volunteered to go on half-rations so that the people outside the city could eat, Borex had stubbornly refused to change his mind.  Vanders had even gone so far as to propose some minor changes that would at least give some of the bounty they brought back to the city every day to the refugees, or even to allow some teams of prospective hunters to leave the city and kill monsters on their own, but he still denied any leniency.  “Do you want their deaths on your conscience when they don’t return from the vicinity of an Aperture, Vanders?” he had said.  “Because I sure don’t; they must leave the killing of monsters to the Providers, as that is our job.”

It was an extremely short-sighted view of the situation, but Vanders couldn’t do anything but back down.  He could only hope that something would change the Supreme Provider’s mind soon so that they wouldn’t have to witness the entirety of another city perishing on their veritable doorstep.  

The so-called Grand Provider had never thought that a change of mind might come in the form of a powerful stranger who showed up out of nowhere one day. 

“Oh?  I apologize; where are my manners?  The name’s Larek.”  Larek slowed down a little bit, his long legs allowing him to stride further than Vanders, who only stood five feet tall – but he’d never felt so small next to someone before, not even Borex.  There was just something about the powerful stranger that made him feel inherently dangerous, while there was also a sense of something familiar.  If he wasn’t mistaken, Larek had the feeling that Vanders associated with being a Martial; with the displays of power he’d seen earlier, however, that seemed impossible.  “So, tell me a little bit about the situation here in… what was the name of this city again?”

“Uh, it’s Tarvana,” Vanders responded, confused.  He doesn’t know the name of this city?  But I thought he said he was coming here to help us? 

“Tarvana, huh?  Alright, tell me about what has been happening here that led to thousands of people potentially starving to death out there.”

Still confused about what was going on, he hesitated for a few seconds before answering, but Larek didn’t hurry him.  After he decided that it was generally common knowledge, he told the stranger about the events of the last month and a half, which was essentially when he and the Mages and Martials took over complete control of the city.  He was just mentioning that they hadn’t had any recent contact with any other members of the now-defunct SIC when he was interrupted.

“Wait, what was that about the SIC?  And you’ve had no communication with other towns or cities?”

Vanders gave the man a questioning glance before answering.  “While I’m sure there might be pockets of the SIC that have managed to maintain their structure, with the Kingdom so fractured and basically nonexistent at this point, it’s all everyone can do just to survive.  How do you not know this?”

Larek had a grim expression on his face, and the Grand Provider thought that he was fortunate that it wasn’t directed toward him.  “I’ve been gone for a while.  But now I’m back, and I have to help you all.”  His tone didn’t seem to be happy about that last part for some reason.

“Why?”

The stranger looked at him.  “Why what?”

“Why help us at all, if you aren’t looking to rule the city?  Unless you’ve changed your mind?”

Larek shook his head.  “No, I haven’t changed my mind.  I have no desire to be put in charge of anyone.”  He was silent for a few seconds as he walked along the busy street next to Vanders, which was being cleared of people ahead of them so that they could get through the crowds without any issue.  It didn’t take much to do that, either, as everyone knew to get out of the way of the Providers when they were coming through.  “As for why I’m helping you, it serves my own purposes.”

Uh-oh.  That doesn’t sound good.  “And what purposes are those?” Vanders asked lightly, hoping that they hadn’t just let a crazy psychopath into the city.  He could only imagine what type of despicable acts might end up with people being better fed.  Is he proposing to kill half the people so there are less mouths to feed?  They wouldn’t be any starving people, after all.  Or worse, is he intending to feed the well-fed ones to the starving refugees?  Or just kill everyone so that no one has to worry about starving.  He wasn’t sure if the stranger in their midst was powerful enough to do something like that, but he didn’t know enough to discount the possibility.

“Honestly, I’m just trying to go home,” the powerful man said a bit wistfully – completely at odds at how he sounded earlier.  Vanders was confused enough that he didn’t know what to believe anymore.  “But in order to do that, I need food for the journey for my companion and I, which I was hoping to get from here.  Seeing those starving people outside, however, I knew I couldn’t just take what I need from here without hurting someone else.

“Therefore, the best solution I can come up with is to help create the food we need so that I don’t have all those peoples’ deaths on my conscience.  As for making the nearby areas safer, that’s simply a smart move; I need to travel through the Kingdom to reach my destination, so finding a way to clear the way helps me accomplish that.”

Vanders was frankly flabbergasted.  He’s helping us… because he needs food for when he leaves?  I thought he might be one of those selfless individuals who sees a problem and wants to help solve it because of some sense of righteousness or duty, but he just wants… supplies for a journey?  How does that make any sense?

At least it sounded as if he wasn’t planning on murdering a bunch of people and making the others eat them.

Before he could ask the man any more questions, he saw the old SIC Headquarters up ahead, which had been transformed into the Provider’s Palace by Borex.  It was a bit of a pretentious name, but at least it wasn’t gaudily decorated or anything; it essentially looked exactly the same, though everything referencing the SIC had been removed.

“Here we are,” Vanders told the stranger.  “You can put your friend in here, and she’ll be well taken care of.  What is wrong with her, anyway?”

“Oh, Nedira will be fine.  She just passed out from a bit of healing after my Air Skimmer exploded, but she’ll be ravenous when she wakes.  Speaking of that, I’m also going to need a meal before I get started, as that healing took a bit out of me, as well.”

“We should have some leftover lunch in the kitchens.  It isn’t much, given how short the city is, but Borex always made sure the Providers had more than enough to eat.”  For some reason, he couldn’t find it in himself to call the powerful Berserker by his title of Supreme Provider out loud.  It was probably because when he looked back at the Martials carrying the injured-but-slowly-recovering man, he certainly didn’t look “Supreme” at the moment. 

Vanders personally showed Larek to a recently cleaned bedroom where he could lay his friend down gently on a bed, before leading him down to the common room.  A quick word to the kitchens had some leftover food brought out to the stranger, which the man consumed quickly, barely breathing as he seemed to inhale the pieces of steak and bread made from their generous allotment of wheat.

When he was done, Vanders sat down across from the intimidating man, and he unconsciously tapped on the table.  His nervous tic was something he thought he’d grown out of over the years, but somehow this man brought it back.

“So, what exactly are you going to do?  How can you help?  What’s your plan?” Vanders finally asked.

Before Larek could answer, the front door to the Provider’s Palace opened and an entourage of robed Mages stormed in, following another Mage at the front of the pack.

“That’s exactly what I want to know.  What was your plan on allowing this man in here, my fellow Grand Provider, especially after what I heard he did to the Supreme Provider?  Who is he, anyway, but a peasant off the street—good lord!  Your clothes!  What the fu—”

Vanders cut her off before his counterpart in the Providers could make the stranger angry.  “Hello, Fendra.  Sit down, if you would.  We have a bit to discuss.”


Chapter 9

Larek was barely holding it all together, and it took a great effort of will to keep his hands from shaking from nervousness.  Ever since he’d made the decision to defend himself against the overbearing arrogance of the powerful Martial on the street, he felt like he was being swept away down a river of bluffs, lies, and misdirections, and it was all he could do to keep his head above water as the current carried him away. 

The biggest problem was the sheer dichotomy of his thoughts as he impersonated an equally arrogant and powerful individual, because it was so at odds at who he was.  Or at least, that was what he used to think, but the more he played the role of a mysterious and powerful stranger, the more it felt natural to him.  Ordering people around was something he’d had very little experience with, and that was only lately while he had been in the underground tunnels of Lowenthal; however, the way the other Martials out in the refugee camp had jumped to follow his orders felt… right.  More than that, he liked the feeling it gave him when people fulfilled his commands.

And it also scared him more than almost anything else.  He could practically feel his heritage as a Gergasi rearing its ugly head up at what he was doing, and he wished more than anything to punch it in the face and shove it back down.

It was only due to the knowledge that Nedira was going to be safe and taken care while in Tarvada that he was able to push through, embracing this new side of him to benefit himself and her in the long run.  He would end up getting the supplies he needed, and possibly even materials to build another Air Skimmer, while Nedira would get what she needed to recover from his own stupid mistakes.  In addition, if he was able to help the people of this city not starve to death and stay safer against the nearby Apertures and their monsters , then he considered the trade-off worth it.

Of course, that didn’t mean his efforts were going to be easy.  The description of the events that led to the current situation in the city, as well as the apparent state of the Kingdom, was almost too much for Larek to handle, and he was half-tempted to simply turn around and run away.  He had been wanting to return to the Kingdom for so long now that he couldn’t even imagine how much it had changed while he was gone, and things had fallen apart so badly that it seemed impossible to fix.  Not that he had come back to fix things, of course, but he had been hoping that his being present might at least help save his family and friends from the monsters that came out of the many Apertures across the land.

But even that idea had been stalled once he discovered that everything had broken down to the point where he couldn’t resupply without harming other people. 

And now things got even more complicated when a group of Mages barged into the so-called “Provider’s Palace,” and from the conversation the lead female Mage had with Vanders, he could tell that the woman was as powerful – at least politically – as the Martial sitting with him.

“Hello, Fendra.  Sit down, if you would.  We have a bit to discuss.”

That was an understatement, but now he knew the name of the Mage staring at him in shock.  At first, he could see that her astonishment came from seeing (at least semi-clearly) the Fusions she noticed on his clothing, which told him that she was strong enough and familiar enough with Fusions to be able to somewhat identify them.  Or to at least have an idea of how strong they were, if not know exactly what they did.

However, as he looked up into her eyes, he saw the confusion and anger bleed into them at a rapid rate, and he knew that her stats were high enough to pierce through his Perceptive Misdirection Fusion on his ring, which allowed her to see right through it to his real form underneath.

“Stop, Fendra,” he said quickly, as he sensed that she was about to cast something at him.  The Mage had just begun to move, and by leaning into his Agility stat, he was able to observe a bit of her own Pattern Cohesion coming out to set up a spell pattern, so he needed to interrupt her before she did something that could end up hurting a lot of people. 

Not from her spell, of course, but from what Larek might do in response to an attack.

“W-What?  How—?”

“If you attack me, a lot of people could die.  I’m not who you think I am.”

Standing tense as she stared at him, Larek could see the anger seething under the surface.  It also didn’t take long for the other Mages behind her to begin to suspect what was happening – or they were strong enough to break through his manipulating Fusion, as well.  This was what Nedira had warned him of, after all, as the Kingdom’s population – in particular the Nobles – were now aware of the Gergasi, and strong enough Mages could see through his Fusion and would likely only see his height as an indication of being a member of that race.

While they would be half-right, he didn’t think he’d be able to convince them that he was nothing like them.  Unless he could actively use his Dominion magic on them, which at that point was basically an admission of guilt.

So, he had to try something else.  Thinking at speeds he’d never really attempted before, Larek contemplated what he could do or say that could convince them.  Unfortunately, there was only one thing he could think of that might work – and it was enough of the truth that he thought it could be successful.  If it didn’t work, then there was going to be a lot of hurt feelings… and dead bodies that he didn’t want to contemplate.  He wasn’t going to allow them to hurt him, or by extension Nedira, because of their misconceptions, and he was prepared to use everything at his disposal to prevent that from happening.

He didn’t think he would live through such a fight, but he would sure make whoever did live through it would regret ever attacking him.  He was done messing around with these people, these former members of the SIC, who had (for the most part) done nothing but treat him poorly.  He was prepared to forget all of that for the sake of the people, as these former-SIC were at least trying to keep the people safe, even if they were going about it the wrong way.  But if they refused to listen and blindly attacked him out of misplaced anger, he wouldn’t hold back.

“What are you doing, Fendra?” Vanders asked, standing up and knocking his chair over in the process.  “You don’t have any idea—”

“It’s you who doesn’t have any idea what this person is!” the Mage practically spat out.  “You’ve been deceived, Van; he’s one of them—”

“I’m not,” Larek said quickly and loudly, cutting her off.

“What are you talking about?  One of who?”

Before she could answer and get even more worked up, Larek cut in.  “She thinks I’m a Gergasi, one of the Noble’s ‘Great Ones’.  I’m not; I’m simply taller than most people.”

“You’re not that tall—” Vanders responded, but cut off as soon as Larek deactivated his Perceptive Misdirection Fusion.

“W-What?”

The enraged Mage pointed at him.  “See!  I told you!  He was using some sort of effect to disguise himself!  You’re one of them!  A Gerg—”

“Don’t you dare call me that!” Larek roared, standing up to his full height, which made more than a few of those in the room flinch back.  “I’ve had to put up with your blindly prejudiced views since I grew into my height, and I’m sick of it!  Why was I disguised with a Fusion?  Because of this issue right here, coming from someone who has no idea what they’re talking about?  I’m tall, so that automatically makes me one of the Gergasi?  Does that work both ways?  You’re a woman, so does that automatically make you a bitch?”

Larek nearly said something a little less vulgar or controversial, but he was angry, and that translated into his speech.  The Mage took a step back at the vehemence in his voice, but she quickly responded with matching anger.

“How dare you—!”

“I dare because I’m tired of having to disguise myself because you’re all blinded by your hatred!  I hate the Gergasi just as much as you do, but did you even ask about that?  No, you just assumed I was one of them because of my appearance – but you’re wrong.  If you attack me because you think you’re justified in believing I’m one of them, then you’re going to be dead wrong.  I may not be able to kill every single one of you before I die, but I sure as hell will attempt to take out as many of you as I can…

“…starting with you,” he finished, pointing at the Mage whose face had abruptly gone pale at his words.  Or, more likely, her expression had transformed from one of anger to fear because of the sharp blade of the Pattern-made axe that was pressing gently up against her throat.  “Do we have an understanding?  Or would you like to test my patience for your ignorance?”

She swallowed a few times, staring at the glowing Pattern-made axe out of the corner of her eye.  “Y-Yes, we have an understanding.  I, uh, apologize for my assumption.”  She didn’t exactly sound apologetic, but he was willing to give her the benefit of the doubt.

Larek absorbed his Pattern Cohesion from the axe as his mind shook from the mental fatigue of managing his anger in the way he did without losing control.  The last thing he wanted was to give into it and have his Battle Arts activate, because while he’d been able to direct them a little bit while fighting against the Umbral Demons, he wasn’t sure how well he’d be able to control himself when being confronted by dozens of Mages and Martials who wanted to kill him.

It was extremely heavy-handed of him to do what he just did, but he really didn’t see another option.  The Mage, Fendra, didn’t seem to be willing to compromise and talk it out rationally; he could only assume that the Gergasi had done something heinous to her or her family at some point based on the reaction she had when she saw through his Fusion’s effects.  Regardless of the reason, he had a feeling that the only way she would stop an attack on him would be through intimidation and a show of strength, both of which seemed to do the trick.

Even though using such tactics made him sick to his stomach, as he felt it made him even more like his father’s people than he wished.

Pushing down the ill feeling that his words and actions generated, he put a smile on his face and a cheerful tone back in his voice.  “Excellent!  Now that we’ve gotten past all that, we can have a productive discussion.  Come, sit down and tell me a little bit about what’s been done to feed the people here.  Vanders was nice enough to tell me his viewpoint, but I’d love to hear yours.”  Larek sat back down and glanced at the Martial, who reluctantly copied him after he stood his chair back up, watching the Combat Fusionist the entire time as if expecting an attack.  It took a few more seconds before the Mage stiffly walked to the table and pulled out a chair for herself.

When she didn’t say anything, only stared at him silently, he sighed dramatically as he stared right back at her.  “Look, like I told Vanders, I didn’t come here for any nefarious purposes.  I’m just passing through, and I needed to resupply, but I couldn’t do that without harming the people here by taking what they obviously need to survive.  I’m not here to hurt anyone, and I’m sure as hell not here to take over running this city.  I have no interest in that kind of power, because as soon as I get what I need, I’m out of here.  You can choose to accept my help or not; that’s up to you.  I would appreciate it if you work with me, so that we can prevent as much death as possible, but I’m not going to force you to do it.  I can probably figure out some supplies for myself and my companion if you decide you don’t want my help, even if it would be an extreme inconvenience, but that is your prerogative.  And if you already have a plan for feeding all those starving refugees outside the walls, then I’ll leave and you never have to see me again.

“But if you do want my help, I can’t be watching my back every second of the day on the off-chance that you’ve changed your mind and think I deserve to die because I’m taller than you.  I need you to be committed to helping me, which will help your people.  That’s what being in the SIC entails, correct?  I believe that Vanders said that you’re called ‘Providers’ here, yes?  Then all I’m proposing is that you let me help you provide for the people, so that you don’t end up with thousands of people dying of starvation over the next few weeks, when you otherwise could’ve saved them.”

Silence fell over the room at his words.  Out of the corner of his eye, Larek could visibly see that Vanders was already convinced, which meant that most – if not all – of the Martials were with him.  However, he kept his gaze on Fendra, and he could see a range of conflicting emotions pass over her face in rapid succession as she struggled with what her innate prejudice was urging her to do, while at the same time thinking about what her duty to the people she protected required of her. 

Eventually, after nearly a minute of silence, he could see the Mage visibly slump in place, the stiffness in her body replaced with resignation.  He could tell right away that she wasn’t happy with the situation, and likely wouldn’t help all that much with what he was trying to do, but he had a feeling that she wouldn’t try and kill him.  Or, at least, not until he proved that he was unable to actually help them; at that point, she probably wouldn’t hesitate to call her magical wrath down on him.  Based on the light-red robe she wore, which was a color he’d never seen before on a Mage, he was sure that she was significantly strong enough that he wouldn’t even know what hit him.

As she reluctantly nodded, she asked, “How exactly are you going to help us?”

That was a good question, and it was the same one that Vanders had asked before the Mage and her entourage walked in.  “I’m not entirely sure, but I’ll know more once I see the farm fields a little closer.  I’d also appreciate a demonstration of what your Mages out there are doing to grow everything so quickly.”  He already knew what they were doing, but he wasn’t sure of the how quite yet.  They had either modified the Rapid Plant Growth spell or were using a whole new one, and he needed that information.  He already had an idea of what he could probably create as a Fusion to help, but he needed to be able to see it all in action to see all the logistics of the process. 

What he wanted to do was take the existing system in place and make it better.  He didn’t need to reinvent farming, after all, only to improve the process so that more food was created in less time and less reliance on the ‘Providers’.  They had more important jobs, after all, which were to deal with the Apertures and the monsters within their territories.  If he could remove the Mages and Martials from their need to provide food to the city’s people, which should be easy enough with a number of different Fusions in the hands of those same people, then the former-SIC members could “provide” the city and its people with the safety of secure nearby Apertures. 

“I think we can do that,” Vanders said, his tone slightly confused.

“And you’ll leave after helping us?” Fendra abruptly asked.  “You’re not going to ask for anything but some supplies for your journey?”

He was about to agree, but stopped himself.

“Well, there is one thing I want.”

The Mage leaned forward, pointing at him.  “I knew it—”

“I need a new axe.  A Logger’s axe, one that is used to fell trees.”

“An… axe?  But that’s a tool, not a weapon.  Why would you need—?”

“Because I lost my best friend, and I’ve been lost with them.  You get me that axe, and we’ll see about feeding all these people.  Sound like a plan?”

Fendra sat back, still looking suspicious, but she nodded along with Vanders.

“Alright, then.  Let’s get started; there’s no time to waste.”


Chapter 10

It didn’t take long for Larek to see what the Naturalists outside in the fields were doing to grow the crops, and it quickly became clear that they weren’t using the same Rapid Plant Growth spell he already knew.  Very similar, of course, but it wasn’t just a variation; instead, it was something new.

New Spell learned!

Nature’s Renewal

Magnitude: 30 X 30 foot area, fractional maturity

Duration: Permanent

Base Elemental Effect: Causes a wide area of plants in range to mature rapidly; requires additional infusions of water to ensure viable growth

Base Mana Cost: 75

Base Pattern Cohesion: 7

The description of the spell he learned from the Mages working in the fields, once he had them slow down their casting so he could see their spell pattern, revealed to him a few of the things he had noticed about the spell earlier.  First, the area that the spell could affect was much larger, at 30 X 30 feet in comparison to Rapid Plant Growth, which only affected a 5 X 5-foot area.  However, instead of it costing hundreds of Mana to cast, Nature’s Renewal only needed 75.  To make up for the small casting cost, it only matured plants to a fraction of their full maturity, as well as needing additional water to keep the plants healthy.

Larek could see why the spell was chosen over Rapid Plant Growth, because while Growth required 10 Mana as its base cost, Nature’s Renewal covered 36 times the area for less than a quarter of the Mana it would cost to cast the Growth over the same ground.  Even having to repeat it multiple times in order to reach full maturity was still saving Mana in the long run, so all it really cost was a bit of water…

New Spell learned!

Dousing Spray

Magnitude: 30 X 30 foot area

Duration: 15 seconds

Base Elemental Effect: Causes a wide circular spray of water to emerge from the caster’s location

Base Mana Cost: 60

Base Pattern Cohesion: 5

…which he learned the spell for soon after from one of the Aquamancers.  It was remarkably similar in size and effect as Nature’s Renewal, which made sense when he heard that the spells were developed centuries ago to help with areas wherein Scissions absolutely wrecked the nearby environment recover from the abuse.  Fire Sprites burn down a forest?  Snow Spiders cause all the nearby grass to freeze and die?  Powerful Necro Wraiths suck all the life out of a wheat field?  All it took was a pair of Mages with these particular spells and a little bit of time, and the land would be as good as new within a few days. 

They could also be used for growing crops to feed starving people, as it was obvious to see at the current moment, but it had rarely been used that way.  That was because there were vast tracts of land that were open and safe for farmers to manage their farms with very little danger from random monster attacks.  That had all changed because of the Apertures and the presence of so many threats to a farmer’s life and livelihood, so now the usage of these spells was imperative to feeding the people when there wasn’t much in the way of land able to be farmed near towns and cities.

Larek was also able to see the fieldhands at work harvesting the crops after they were grown, before tilling the field to get rid of any random plant debris, working it back into the soil, and then adding seeds to the ground.  The food that was harvested was then brought to the city, where it was distributed to the people – or to the people that the Providers thought deserved it more.  He was hoping to change that last part, however.

The whole farming process was interesting to learn about and watch, because he’d never really thought about it all before now.  He knew, in general, how growing food worked, but had never actually seen the entire cycle happening all at the same time.

And now he had to see if he could reproduce at least part of it, so that they could yield more food for the people of Tarvada and the refugees from Harvana. 

“Alright, I think I’ve seen enough.  Let’s head back inside and I’ll get to work,” Larek said, turning away from the fields and toward the city entrance.

“That’s it?  What did you learn?” Fendra asked, her tone suspicious and condescending, but he ignored it.  At least she wasn’t trying to kill him.

“I learned which spells are being used to grow and water everything, which I can now translate for my own work.”

“And what work is that?  Fusions?  I have to say, the Fusions I halfway recognize on your clothing are… powerful.  I’ve never seen anything quite like them before.”

Larek just nodded.

“But Fusions aren’t strong or adaptable enough to have the same kind of effects as these spells,” the Mage went on.  “The throughput of Mana throughout the formations will erode them quickly, causing them to destabilize after the first few times someone uses them.  It’s just not possible.”

Larek was intrigued at her words, despite the fact that she was wrong.  “Oh, are you a Fusionist?  I didn’t exactly take you for one.”

“I’ve been known to dabble a time or two.  In fact, I was the one who had placed the Fusions on the Supreme Provider’s weapon and armor.”

Larek remembered those Fusions, and while they weren’t up to his own standard, they weren’t exactly bad, either. 

“Those were actually impressive for what they were.  I’m sorry I had to destroy them,” he said.

“WHAT?!  You destroyed—?  I hadn’t heard that.  How did you do that?”

“My Pattern Manipulation Skill.”  To demonstrate what he meant, he pulled out a portion of his Pattern Cohesion and formed it into a shield in front of him, which appeared so quickly that the Mage next to him took a step back at its sudden appearance.  “Also, I’m really good at creating Fusions, and I have a special relationship with them.”

“Pattern Manipulation isn’t a Skill I’ve ever heard of,” Fendra said matter-of-factly.

“True; it’s not a Skill that you’ve ever heard of, because I’m fairly certain that I’m the only one who’s unlocked it.  I could almost say the same for my Focused Division Skill, but I believe the information about that has already been disseminated.”

“Focused Division is a Skill I’ve heard of, though I’ve heard that it’s extremely difficult to unlock.  Of course, that was before everything in the Kingdom went to hell in a handbasket, so now it’s impossible to find someone with the Skill.  Who taught you?”

Larek chuckled, even as he stared at the refugees he passed along the way to the city gates.  “No one taught me.”

“Oh, and I suppose you’ll tell me that you learned it on your own?  I’ve been told that it’s impossible without someone to teach how it’s done.  Even then, not everyone can learn it.”

Apparently, knowledge of the Skill has spread further than I thought, so at least some of the faculty back at Copperleaf are either still alive or were able to pass on the techniques for learning it before they died. 

“That makes sense, because most don’t have the kind of focus and ability to manipulate their Pattern Cohesion that it takes to really understand how it works,” he told her.  “Fusionists are probably the best candidates for learning it, but even then, it is difficult without someone to demonstrate the method of splitting a spell pattern or Fusion formation into multiple copies.”

“Wait, you’re serious?  You really have Focused Division?”

He shrugged.  “Of course I do.  I’m the one who discovered it, after all,” he said evenly, without a trace of smugness in his tone.  Alright, maybe a little smugness, but it was barely noticeable.

Larek really didn’t like to brag, but if it gave the Mage a reason to look at him with awe rather than hatred with a side of killing intent, he was willing to try just about anything. 

That was, of course, if she even believed him in the first place.

“I don’t believe you.  Show me your Status.”

There was no way he was going to do that.  There were too many differences on it since he’d obtained use of Aetheric Force, and while he was able to show only portions of his Status, he didn’t think he’d be able to hide the Level or AF requirements on his Skills.  The last thing he needed was another indication that he was different, leading her to potentially return to thinking he was a Gergasi.

However, there was one thing that might convince her that he was strong enough to back up his assertions that his Fusions would do exactly as promised.  The time for hiding his abilities had come and gone, and this was the best way to get his point across.

“No, I don’t think so.  There’s too much on there that you wouldn’t understand, and I don’t want to confuse you. That being said, let me show you why I believe my Fusions will far exceed your expectations of them.” 

Concentrating on his Status, he wished to have only a single line of it appear in front of him, where not only Fendra could see, but everyone else that was following along with them.

Pattern Cohesion: 38,520/38,520

Larek had to look over at her because he thought she was choking on something, but she was just spluttering in incomprehension, unable to understand what she was seeing.  She wasn’t the only one, either, as when he glanced around at everyone walking with him, they too looked at the portion of his Status floating in the air with various degrees of shock and disbelief.

“H-How?  What?”

Larek shrugged.  “I don’t know.  This is just how I’m so confident that my Fusions will not only be strong enough to do what I need them to do, but will last virtually forever as long as they’re handled properly.”  Both of those things were largely true, because while he knew that he had gained some advantages of being half-Gergasi, he was fairly certain that it didn’t include his incredibly high Pneuma and Pattern Cohesion.  As for his Fusions lasting forever, even his oldest creations had shown no signs of deterioration, and the only ones that had eventually broken had been the ones such as the Variable Elemental Gust Sphere on his axe, which broke because it channeled a lot of Mana through its formation all at once without time for it to recover, which stressed its construction to the point where it ruptured.

But for Fusions that were either constantly active or used Mana in a relatively gentle flow over a longer period of time, they seemed to be perfectly fine.  With the strength of his Pattern Cohesion baked into the Fusions’ formations, he could see them lasting for decades, centuries, or even longer if they were treated right.

“Impossible.  No one has ever made a Fusion last longer than six months, and that was one of the Grandmaster Fusionists that used to provide Fusions for the SIC.”

“Can you see the strength in my Fusions here?  What do you think?” he asked, pointing toward his shirt. 

“They’re… so powerful that I have a hard time even looking at them for long, but I can see that they are quite strong.  But forever?  Not likely.”

Larek chuckled.  “Alright, I’ll give you that it sounds far-fetched, and it’s not like I’ve been able to test one of them to ensure it actually lasted that long, but I can’t see them lasting any less than a few years, maybe at least a decade.  Is that more reasonable?”

Fendra was silent for a few seconds as they walked, finally passing through the gate to the city.  Eventually, she acknowledged that he had a point.  “Based on what I can see and feel from them, I can’t say that you’re wrong.  It’s just so….”

“Abnormal?  Unbelievable?  Yeah, it is, but that in no way means it isn’t true.”

They didn’t talk much after that, as the city was as busy as it had been earlier, if not busier for some reason.  It took a little more effort to make their way through the crowds and back to the pretentious-sounding “Providers’ Palace,” but they eventually made it without incident.  Once inside the relatively silent building, Larek met with both Fendra and Vanders, as he outlined his plan. 

“Now that I’ve seen the process up close, I believe that I can replicate and improve upon the method with which you’ve been growing your crops.  As long as enough seeds are kept from the harvests, there shouldn’t be any problem with growing more than enough food for everyone.  What it’s going to take is a concerted effort by larger teams of people to prepare the fields by furrowing and seeding the land, as well as harvesting and distributing the crops that are grown.  In addition, they’ll need to start expanding into the nearby land, giving them even more space to grow what is required to feed everyone.”

Vanders shook his head.  “There’s very little room to expand; the nearby Apertures are too close and have already encroached almost to the limits of what we’ve already cultivated.”

“Which brings me to the next step in the plan.  You’ve been sending out teams of Martials and Mages to kill the Aperture monsters so that you can bring their corpses back for meat, correct?”  At both Vanders and Fendra’s nod, Larek continued.  “And I assume the reason you haven’t temporarily closed them, thereby shrinking their territory, is because you need as many monsters as you can get to provide the meat to the citizens of Tarvada.”

“That is correct.  If we closed them, the supply of meat would immediately be cut off, and if they shrunk in territory, there wouldn’t be nearly enough monsters once they came back to feed even a fraction of the people we’re trying to help.”

Larek nodded, understanding that the “Providers” were caught between safety and starvation, and thereby they let the nearby Apertures grow in size so that they could feed as many as possible.  Of course, even that amount obviously wasn’t enough, but if they decided to change anything now, even more people would suffer from the lack of food than what was already happening.

“Right.  So as soon as we get the crop situation taken care of, you’re going to have to close those Apertures, which will then give the people enough land to expand their food-growing operation.”

“But the meat from—”

“Will be a little slim for a bit, but the crops that are being grown will more than make up for that.  Once the Apertures open again and start producing more monsters, they can be hunted down again and kept to low enough levels that they won’t be able to expand.  This includes the Sand Vulture one to the west, which just expanded its territory and will soon be a threat to you all.  That one will be your priority, keeping it as small as possible.”

“What do you mean by that?  We’ll be keeping all of them as small as possible, correct?” Fendra asked.

“Yes, but you won’t be doing it.  The people will have to take over hunting duties, because you all will be too busy with expanding your presence through the area and making it safe for travel.”

“Why?  We’re safe enough here, aren’t we?”

Larek nodded.  “Sure, but how long do you think that will last?  All it will take is an Aperture you’re not paying attention to just outside of your normal view to expand and start taking over the Apertures you’re using for meat production.  That’s how the… Calamities?  Yes, the Calamities started, if I’m understanding it all correctly.  If you don’t proactively search out and close those growing Apertures when you can, it’ll be too late once they become a real problem.”

He had been thinking this all through while he had been trying to tackle the issues with food production, and he realized that if the Mages and Martials here didn’t begin thinking farther out from the immediate area, and look toward the future, they would likely be overrun within the next few months as the Apertures grew out of control.  He really didn’t want them all dying just after he helped them finally feed their entire population, after all.

For more selfish reasons, if they began clearing out monsters and closing Apertures, especially toward the northeast, then Larek and Nedira would face fewer obstacles on their way toward his home and family.  After seeing what happened in the local area, he was starting to worry more and more about his family’s safety, but he was already doing everything he could to get back to them.  The delay bothered him more than a little bit, but he also didn’t feel right abandoning these people when he could help them.  He’d want someone to do the same thing if his family was in trouble, forced to flee from their homes and live as refugees.  It was that thought that motivated him, more than any desire to help the people who – like Fendra – looked at him with anger and fear; he would provide what assistance he could until they were sufficiently set up to survive, before taking a large amount of supplies for his continued journey.

And a new axe.  He couldn’t forget about acquiring a new best friend.

“I can see the logic in that, but that would also interrupt our meat harvesting from the nearby monsters.  There’s no way that the local population, even those experienced in hunting game, would be able to kill them, let alone survive when they come up against them.  We’re the ones doing it for a reason, as you know,” Vanders added.

“You don’t have to worry about that.  I’ve got a plan for that, as well.”

Fendra snorted with pure skepticism.  “What plan could you possibly have that would allow all the normies to kill a monster, let alone stay alive when facing them?”  

He didn’t really care for the derogatory term he used for the people who weren’t Mages or Martials, but she did have a point. 

“More Fusions, of course.  I’m going to equip large squads of hunters with both offensive and defensive Fusions that will allow them to not only survive against most monsters around here, but will aid in killing the dangerous creatures with ease.”  Larek looked around before clearing his throat.  “Before it gets too late, I need to retire to a quiet space like my room so that I can work on getting these Fusions done.  I’ll require a few materials to start with, if you don’t mind, and I’ll let you know what else I need down the line.  For now, basic iron or steel squares approximately 9 inches in length and a quarter-inch thick will be more than enough to get started.  Before I do anything, though, I need to check on my companion, to see if she’s awake yet.”

“I’ll get you whatever you need, and I’ll leave you to it,” Vanders said immediately, before turning away to issue orders for procuring the materials Larek requested.  As for Fendra, she just stared at him and hmphed, as if she was still unsure of him and was reserving judgment for if he actually delivered on his promises.  He actually didn’t blame her too much, because if he was anyone else, he would also be a bit skeptical that he could produce the Fusions that he claimed he could create.

Thankfully, Larek wasn’t anyone else, and he had full confidence in his abilities as a Combat Fusionist.  Or at least confidence in his abilities as a Fusionist; he hadn’t had the best results in combat lately, which was still something he needed to address.

With a sigh, he moved to the stairs that led to his room, or more precisely, where Nedira was hopefully waking up sometime soon.


Chapter 11

Closing the door behind him, Larek leaned up against it and slid to the floor before hanging his head in exhaustion.  The pressure of constantly maintaining a façade of authority and competence toward the Mages and Martials of Tarvada was extremely wearing on him, and all he could think while he was doing it was that at some point, one of them would call him out for being a fraud. 

Granted, he had a few abilities with Fusions and his Pattern Cohesion that made him much more powerful than them, but that didn’t give him the right to simply order them about and have them do his bidding.  Or did it?  He couldn’t help but think that he wasn’t much better than the “Supreme Provider,” Borex, gaining power by seizing it and pretending like he knew best, with everyone just following along because he was strong. 

Regardless of whether being powerful automatically allowed someone to take charge, Larek didn’t feel comfortable with it in the least.  He wasn’t lying when he said that he had no desire to be a leader for these people; not just because he was going to be leaving soon, but because he felt uncomfortable with the responsibility of caring for so many people.  Sure, he was willing to help provide some of his Fusions so that they wouldn’t starve and were safer overall, but as soon as that was done, he was out.  He didn’t even technically have to do that much, but his conscience wouldn’t let him leave without doing at least as much as he had time to accomplish.

Unfortunately, it appeared as though that time was going to be a little bit longer, because Nedira hadn’t quite awoken yet.  It had only been a couple of hours since they arrived, so it wasn’t too surprising, but he was hoping that she would be up and around so that he could bounce some ideas off her and ask her opinion on some things.  Since that didn’t appear to be likely to happen unless she woke up within the next hour or so, he knew he’d have to do it all himself – a common theme as of late, but that was fine with him.

Sitting on the bed next to the unconscious Nedira, Larek looked at his notifications and Status for the first time since he’d left the underground tunnels of the Drekkin, as he’d ignored them all while fighting the Sand Vultures and the subsequent run to the city. 

Pattern Manipulation has reached Level 31!

You have reached Level 33 and have 24 available AP to distribute!

Pattern Manipulation has reached Level 32!

Magical Detection has reached Level 39!

Bladed Weapon Expertise has reached Level 3!

Throwing has reached Level 19!

Body Regeneration has reached Level 37!

Body Regeneration has reached Level 38!

Long-Distance Running has reached Level 21!

Pattern Manipulation has reached Level 33!

Pattern Manipulation has reached Level 34!

Speaking has reached Level 20!

Speaking has reached Level 21!

Bargaining has reached Level 10!

Leadership has reached Level 14!

Leadership has reached Level 15!

Leadership has reached Level 16!

The increase in his Skill Levels was surprising, especially in Leadership, of all things.  Apparently, taking charge of the Martials and Mages in Tarvana qualified as “leadership”, so it had ended up going up 3 Levels.  The only one that had surpassed that in development was his Pattern Manipulation Skill, which had seen a lot of use over the last day, both when fighting the Sand Vultures and when using it against Borex. 

All of the Skill increases also contributed to another personal Level, giving him another 24 Advancement Points to spend on his stats. Without hesitation, he added another 8 points to his Martial stats, bringing Strength, Body, and Agility to a base of 115, with his boosts bringing them up to 230.  He knew that it would probably take him a little bit to adjust to the changes, but more and more, during fights, he was relying on his body more than his mind to keep him alive, so he considered it important to keep doing everything he could to keep improving it.

In addition, he had a total of 3,485 Aetheric Force, acquired from the Sand Vultures he’d killed at the Aperture.  Since he was just about to make more Fusions, he used it to increase the maximum Skill Level by 1 for Multi-effect Fusion Focus, Focused Division, Mana Control, Fusion, and Pattern Formation, which brought all of their maximums up to 61.  After that was done, he only had 485 AF left, but he chose to keep it until he accumulated more at some point in the future.

All in all, he’d made some improvements, even if that hadn’t been his original goal in trying to close the Aperture and then later visiting the city of Tarvada.

Larek Holsten

Combat Fusionist

Healer

Patternal

Level 33

Advancement Points (AP): 8/24

Available AP to Distribute: 0

Available Aetheric Force (AF): 485

Stama: 2300/2300

Mana: 3720/3720

Strength: 115 [230] (+)

Body: 115 [230] (+)

Agility: 115 [230] (+)

Intellect: 186 [372] (+)

Acuity: 140 [280] (+)

Pneuma: 2,070 [4,140]

Pattern Cohesion: 41,400/41,400

Mage Skills:

Pattern Manipulation Level 34/50 (500 AF)

Pattern Recognition Level 38[48]/50 (500 AF)

Magical Detection Level 39[49]/50 (500 AF)

Spellcasting Focus Level 37[47]/50 (500 AF)

Multi-effect Fusion Focus Level 48/61 (610 AF)

Focused Division Level 53/61 (610 AF)

Mana Control Level 57[61]/61 (610 AF)

Fusion Level 57[61]/61 (610 AF)

Pattern Formation Level 57[61]/61 (610 AF)

Martial Skills:

Blunt Weapon Expertise Level 1/35 (350 AF)

Stama Subjugation Level 2/35 (350 AF)

Bladed Weapon Expertise Level 3[13]/35 (350 AF)

Unarmed Fighting Level 3[13]/35 (350 AF)

Throwing Level 19[29]/35 (350 AF)

Dodge Level 25[35]/35 (350 AF)

Pain Immunity Level 20/20 (N/A)

Body Regeneration Level 38[48]/50 (500 AF)

General Skills:

Cooking Level 8

Bargaining Level 10

Beast Control Level 9

Leadership Level 16

Writing Level 11

Saw Handling Level 15

Reading Level 17

Speaking Level 21

Long-Distance Running Level 20

Listening Level 43

Axe Handling Level 92

Soon after he’d finished going through everything and spending his different points on improving himself, a knock at the door signaled that his materials had arrived.  Vanders led a group of other Martials that had their hands full of steel plates, all of them approximately the size he had wanted, and they stacked them up next to his bed.  Larek thanked them and they left a few minutes later, leaving him to start working.

He paused for a few minutes, looking at Nedira to see if she was going to wake up, but even though the Martials delivering the steel plates weren’t quiet as they stacked the metal plates on top of each other, she hadn’t even twitched at the sound.  Stretching out his back and shaking his hands in preparation, Larek turned away from the woman sleeping peacefully at his side and picked up the first steel plate on the stack next to the bed.

He'd already thought about what he needed to create over the last hour or so, and seeing the process at work out on the fields only switched the method of how it was all going to work.  Originally, he’d been planning on simply using a Rapid Plant Growth effect that could be activated by the Fusion, but after learning about Nature’s Renewal, he realized he was thinking too small. Sure, it would probably work using the Growth spell, but he wasn’t sure how large of an area he could get it to affect, and the Mana cost would increase dramatically the larger he made it.  It was a bit of an all-in-one growing spell without the need for additional water, which could be good for smaller areas or specific plants, but it was also terribly inefficient in terms of Mana consumption. 

And Mana consumption had been a focus as of late, considering the Mana density of the environment he had been dealing with.  Unfortunately, even getting closer to the heart of the Kingdom hadn’t changed the density dramatically, though it was better than before.

If he was to evaluate it on a scale of 1 to 10, with 1 being the Mana density when he arrived in the Sealance Empire and 10 being what he was used to in the Kingdom before he was transported elsewhere, then he would probably put the current density at a 6.  That was quite an improvement over the 4 or 4.5 Mana density that the underground tunnels of the Drekkin possessed, but it was still a far cry from what it used to be. 

It was as if the Kingdom before was like a small pond of concentrated Mana, where only trickles of Mana filtered out to the rest of the world; after the changes that occurred that caused people to transform into Mages and Martials elsewhere, it was as if a large boulder had dropped into the middle of that pond, sending Mana flying everywhere and reducing the concentration of Mana in the middle.  Larek had the feeling that the density would continue to increase the further he traveled toward the center, but he doubted that it would be exactly the same as before.  It was more… diluted, if that was the correct term, as it spread throughout the world.  That wasn’t necessarily a bad thing, though, because if there ever came a time when the entire world reached the level that the Kingdom had been at before all the changes, then they were all likely in a lot of trouble.  Or they might all be dead by that point, because that meant that a lot of Apertures had likely grown to the point where no one could live near them.

That kind of outcome was hopefully years and years into the future, though, or perhaps they might even find a way to prevent it from happening altogether.  Regardless, Larek had to work with what he had right now, which was not an extremely dense Mana environment, so his Fusions had to be a little bit more restrictive in the amount of Mana pulled into them.  It wasn’t nearly as bad as it was before, considering that he could probably have one of his offensive Fusions, which originally only could be activated for 10 minutes or so before it drained the density to sparse levels, deployed for at least a half-day before any problems occurred. But he also had to take into account that multiple Fusions like the one he was about to create were going to be activated simultaneously in the same general area. 

Therefore, the lesser effect from Nature’s Renewal was the better choice, as it used less Mana.  Of course, once he translated it into a Fusion and put his special touch on it, his creation would use quite a bit more Mana; if he judged the draw correctly, which he’d been getting much better at estimating since he’d had to deal with much less-dense environments, then dozens of these could be used around the city without any issues whatsoever.

It also wouldn’t be like having a dozen pairs of Mages doing what they were currently doing.  Instead, he was hoping that the output of his new Fusions would be multiple times stronger than what they were doing – and they wouldn’t have to rest to let their Mana regenerate after every row, either.

Settling his thoughts into the effects he wanted, because Dousing Spray was going to be included in the Fusion, Larek started designing what was ultimately going to be an Advanced Fusion, even if it wasn’t too complicated.  Ultimately, it consisted of only two active Effects, one of which was what grew the plants in the area of effect and the other was for watering, but it had a third Effect that was for strengthening the steel itself so that it would be much harder to damage. He debated whether to make it adjustable and able to react to mental commands, but decided that simpler was better; just a simple touch to the steel plate to activate or deactivate was all that was needed, which would also cut Mana costs because he wouldn’t have to add in the fourth Effect of recognizing different mental phrases.

He also added an Interval to the watering Effect, as he didn’t want it to be too strong, which might flood the fields.  With the Interval of 5 seconds, it would spread the water around for 5 seconds and then pause for another 5, before starting again.  He might have to adjust it if it proved to be too much or too little, but based on what he saw a short time earlier out in the fields, he was fairly certain that 5 seconds would be fairly close – and that was because of the Magnitudes that were being used for the Effects.

As for those Magnitudes – as well as the Activation Methods – Larek judged that the Nature’s Renewal that the Mages used out in the fields earlier to be something like a Magnitude 3 Effect, which wasn’t bad by any means, but he thought he could do better.  Both the growing and watering Effects were attached via an Activatable Activation Method to a Magnitude 7 portion of the formation, which both made the Effects stronger and extended their range.  As for the Strengthen Effect, Larek made it Magnitude 6 with a Permanent Activation Method, which would always be activated. 

Theoretically, he could make it much stronger, but as it was already made out of steel, the increase in durability would prevent all but the most determined of blows from even denting it.  That, and there was still the matter of using more of the local Mana density than necessary, as anything stronger than Magnitude 6 would be a significant constant drain on the density even without the other Effects active.

All-in-all, for what the Fusion did, it was only complicated enough to need to fit into a 9 X 9 grid formation.  Once it had been constructed, and he triple checked it to make sure it was as perfect as possible, he began the process of filling it with Mana while concentrating on the Effects, imparting the idea of plants growing and water spreading out in a circular spray, as well as the strengthening of the steel plate. 

Seeing his Mana fill at a much higher rate than he had been used to over the last few months, he breathed a sigh of relief that he wouldn’t have to spend an hour or more filling up the Fusion while waiting for his Mana to regenerate.  It still wasn’t nearly instant like it used to be, but it was so much faster than even what he experienced in the Drekkin tunnels that it was almost refreshing to feel it streaming into his body, only to be shoved back out into the Fusion he was creating.

After only 15 minutes, he sensed the last of the Mana filtering in through the grid formation, and he confidently moved the entire Fusion onto the steel plate in his lap.  As it *clicked* into place, he was greeted with a successful notification.

New Fusion learned!

Strong Watered Growth +7

Activation Method(s): Activatable, Permanent

Effect(s): Causes all viable seeds and plants within range to mature rapidly

Effect(s): Distributes water in a circular misting spray that hydrates quickly

Effect(s): Strengthens steel

Magnitude(s): 70 X 70-foot area centered around Fusion location, 600% increase in steel durability

Interval: 5 seconds

Mana Cost: 79,800

Pattern Cohesion: 1,800

Fusion Time: 74 hours

Multi-effect Fusion Focus has reached Level 49!

Fusion has reached Level 58!

Pattern Formation has reached Level 58!

It wasn’t the most impressive Fusion he’d ever created, but it would positively impact many more lives than anything else he’d had his hand in.  He couldn’t help but be proud of the Fusion in front of him, and he was eager to test it out; however, he was confident enough in its performance that he wanted to get the others he would need done with while he had the chance. 

Before he did that, though, Strong Watery Nature wasn’t the only Fusion he was going to create, because with the added range of his newest creation, it was going to require an equally impressive way to plow the fields to prepare for it.  An Intermediate Fusion was all that was required, because there were only two Effects, with only one of those needing an Input based on the Fusion’s orientation.

New Fusion learned!

Furrow Field +6

Activation Method(s): Activatable, Permanent

Effect(s): Gently shifts a certain amount of dirt in the oriented direction

Effect(s): Strengthens steel

Magnitude(s): Moves 3 cubic feet of dirt per second, 600% increase in steel durability

Input: Directional orientation

Mana Cost: 7,500

Pattern Cohesion: 375

Fusion Time: 22 hours

The newest Fusion didn’t give him any additional Skill increases, which was probably due to its lowered complexity, but that didn’t matter all that much.  Now he had a Fusion that would furrow a field, based on the Furrow spell he’d learned from Nedira while they were escaping from Copperleaf Academy, and a Fusion that would grow and water the crops that the people needed in order to eat.  He considered something that might help to harvest everything, but there were so many different types of crops that he didn’t think he’d be able to make something that would be able to do everything; if he isolated each crop, he might be able to figure something out, but he eventually dismissed it as unnecessary.

They had plenty of hands that could do that type of work, as well as planting the necessary seeds after the fields were furrowed. He didn’t need to design something that could do everything; he only needed to speed up the most time-consuming processes, which he’d done.

Now it was time to make enough copies to sustain the people of Tarvana for a long time, which he immediately began by pulling up stacks of the steel plates onto the bed.  With the use of Focused Division, he would be done soon enough, and he’d be able to see the fruits of his labors in a practical demonstration.

Alright, let’s finish this up so we can get to feeding all those starving people.


Chapter 12

“Are you sure this will work?” the refugee from Harvana asked, looking at the handcart in confusion.  Vanders looked at him, the starving man standing there with his shirt off in the late-day sun, his ribs quite visible under his skin.  Still, he hadn’t hesitated to volunteer to do some work, especially when it was hinted that there would be food as a reward when it was all finished. 

The Grand Provider had wanted to use people from inside the city to help with this experiment, but Larek had suggested otherwise.

“Those people out there have nothing to do, no jobs to help them feel like they are part of something bigger.  They’re starving and don’t know what they can do to prevent themselves from dying, so they need a reason to keep going.  They need a purpose, and doing this will give them that purpose.  They won’t be a burden anymore, won’t be simply mouths to feed; instead, they will be an integral part of this city, in which they will have an important role to play.  In the end, food is a resource that can be provided if we work hard enough; hope, on the other hand, is a precious commodity that cannot be bought, only earned.  Let’s let them earn that hope, Vanders.”

It had been a profound statement, and Vanders hadn’t necessarily believed it at first, but when he was tasked to find volunteers among the refugees, he had been overwhelmed by the response.  They’d had to turn away thousands of people who wanted to help, half of them in no shape to walk more than a few hundred feet before falling down from the weakness brought on by starvation, though the ones they did accept were hardly any better.  He hadn’t realized how bad the situation was inside the camps outside the walls, having not wanted to see how horrible the conditions were, so it was an eye-opening experience.

It also brought out a lot of anger.  Not toward the refugees, but toward himself, the other Providers, and especially the Supreme Provider – all of whom had done nothing to change what was happening, despite it being obvious.  I should have worked harder to convince Borex…

As much as he was struggling with his own guilt, he pushed it aside as what he was doing would hopefully change things for the better.  After only a few hours, Larek had emerged from his room in the Provider’s Palace and brought with him the stacks of the steel plates that had been brought to him earlier.  Fendra scoffed at the powerful man’s assertion that they all now had Fusions on them, as anything but the weakest or most basic of Fusions took many hours to complete, but she took one look at them and immediately shut up from the shock that passed through her entire body.

Which was a first, since the woman liked to hear herself talk.

After that was when the plans were quickly made for implementing the testing and production of food, with Vanders and a few others tasked with finding volunteers, while still other Providers sought out handcarts and a few other needed items.  Once the wooden handcarts were acquired, 30 of them in total, one of the steel plates to which Larek had added Fusions was attached to its front, positioned in a particular way so that a specific side was facing forward. 

There were other Fusions as well, which were attached to a simple wooden plank that sat perpendicularly on top of a 6-foot-tall wooden pole.  It looked strangely simple for what Larek promised it would do, but it was a bit beyond his expertise, so Vanders just followed instructions. 

“I have no idea,” Vanders admitted to the refugee, whose name he remembered was Malik.  “That’s why we have you all here to help test these things, and eventually to be in charge of it all if—when—it works.”

“In… charge?  What about the Providers?”

What about the Providers, indeed.

“We’ll… have other duties, I’m told.  Anyway, shall we get started?”

Looking back at Larek, who was adjusting one of the steel plates on one of the handcarts before stepping back with a nod, he knew that now was as good of a time to begin as any.  Addressing Malik, but speaking up so that the entire group of 30 refugees lined up along the empty field could hear him, he said, “Lean forward and touch the plate, willing it to activate!  Once it becomes active, slowly push the handcart forward until you reach the end of the row, and then touch the plate again to deactivate it!”  At least, that was what Larek had told him to say, so he could only assume that this was correct.

The refugees leaned forward and touched the steel plates, not all at once but in a staggered procession, and almost immediately there was something to see.  In front of the handcarts, the field was quickly torn up in a 3-foot-wide swath, though it wasn’t simply tossed everywhere.  Instead, it was almost as if someone had taken a large whisk to a mixing bowl and stirred up its contents, before leaving a line in the middle; in other words, a large chunk of dirt was practically lifted up and mixed together before leaving a furrow down the middle, with small mounds on either side of it. 

The soil that was churned up was also a deeper brown than the almost bleached and dry dirt on the surface, and although he wasn’t a farmer in any shape or form, Vanders could tell that the soil looked much better suited for growing crops.  After an initial round of surprised exclamations coming from the refugees, they began to move forward, the ground in front of them being churned up and readied for planting. 

“A little slower there!  Keep it straight!  You’re drifting into the other rows!” Vanders heard shouted from the few actual Farmers who had joined the volunteers, who were overseeing the operations with more detail than Vanders or any of the other Providers could.  While this method of plowing the field was a bit strange, they seemed to have taken to it much faster than the Grand Provider expected.

There were a few mistakes where one of the refugees pushing the cart accidentally slipped on the softer, plowed soil, causing the cart he was pushing to veer to the side when he fell, but the dirt destruction on another row was quickly smoothed out and corrected a few seconds later.  Otherwise, it seemed as though it was all working as Larek had intended, though he couldn’t help but think that it might be better to pull the whole contraption rather than push it through the already-plowed field, which seemed a bit too soft for the wheels to move through easily.

I’ll have to ask Larek if that is possible.

“Huh.  I guess pulling the Furrow Field Fusions would probably be better,” Larek said next to Vanders, and the Grand Provider started in surprise.  Did he just read my mind?  “If they are able to pull those carts, perhaps strapping one to each of them with a harness of some kind, then that might work.”

Vanders was happy to hear that, and he noted that one of the refugee Farmers had also heard it and nodded along with Larek’s words.  Even if the Grand Provider didn’t do anything, he was sure that the change would take place at some point.

“Planters!  You’re up!”

Dozens more volunteers stepped up, half of them with a full satchel of seeds slung around their bodies, while the others had a wooden and iron hoe in their hands.  The ones holding the seeds immediately started dropping seeds inside the furrows, spacing small piles of them around 2 feet apart from each other, before moving on.  Behind them, the ones with the hoes used their tools to cover the seeds with dirt piled up next to the furrow, covering them completely and smoothing out the entire plot with quick movements.  While many of them had never done anything like this, the method was easy enough to understand, and easy to execute.

Once the planters were at least 200 feet down the rows, Larek nodded in his direction.

“Growers!  Step forward!”

This time, only 5 volunteers moved forward, nervously holding the 6-foot-tall poles upright next to them.  Vanders had them spread out until they were quite a bit apart from each other, before advancing until they were a few dozen feet down the field.

This is it.  The other contraption to plow the field was impressive enough, but ultimately unnecessary if enough people were set to working on it.  This, however, is the important one.

“Alright, now, on the count of three, I want you to reach up and touch the steel plate on the top of your poles, willing them to activate.  At that point, pause for a little bit before walking forward; we’re not sure how fast you need to walk, but start following the others ahead of you at a very slow pace at first.  We may need to either speed up or slow down, depending on the growth rate.”

That’s if it even works, of course.  Vanders was hoping that it would, but he still didn’t even understand how such a thing was possible.

“1… 2… 3!”

While the volunteers didn’t all touch them at the same time, it was close enough.  While there wasn’t an obvious growth immediately, a thick mist spread out from the top of each pole, reaching around three dozen feet away, as it dampened the soil and turned it even darker in color.  After a few seconds, Vanders thought there might be flooding, but that was until he saw green sprouts appear wherever the watery mist landed, shooting up with visible growth. 

Of course, he’d seen the same thing happen with the Naturalists and Aquamancers that had been growing food out here before this, but this was all being done by normal people.  With the help of a Fusion, of all things, but there were absolutely no other Mages involved.

The green stalks, clumped together because of the multiple seeds that had been placed inside the furrow, shot up quickly, and within 10 seconds they were already nearly as tall as he was. 

“Forward!” one of the Farmers nearby shouted, and the volunteers started to walk slowly ahead.  “Faster!”  The refugees sped up their pace, and as the plants at the edge of the field started to ripen from green to gold, he saw the beginnings of a wheat crop that had been plowed, planted, and grown in minutes – and it wasn’t even done yet.  Unlike the Mages growing the food over the last few weeks, the Fusions didn’t have to rest and regenerate their Mana, as they could continue working for as long as they were needed.

It was, for lack of a better word, unbelievable.

“The arrogant bastard actually did it, didn’t he?” Vanders heard muttered from behind him, and he couldn’t help but smile at Fendra’s words.  Yes; yes, he did. 

“It looks like this first section here is a bit overripe, as it was grown for too long,” one of the Farmers said as he started pointing out the wheat nearest the edge of the field.  As the ones with the growing Fusions kept moving, Vanders could see that the initial growth of the wheat crops were a different color than the ones further along, though he probably wouldn’t have noticed if it hadn’t been pointed out.

“Are they bad, then?”

The Farmer shook his head.  “Shouldn’t be.  Not as great of a quality, most likely, but still edible.  You can see that the ones further ahead are near perfect as the speed of their advance is much better, though there are a few patches where they aren’t completely ripe where they may have walked a little too quickly,” he noted, and the Grand Provider saw what he was talking about with the few spots of green throughout all the golden wheat stalks.  “A little practice and working on the timing is all it’ll need to smooth that out, however.  Whoever made these things is a genius and a literal lifesaver.”

Vanders couldn’t help but agree. 

“Harvesters!  It’s your turn!” he shouted, and even more refugee volunteers strode forward, their excited murmuring rumbling across the field.  He couldn’t blame them, because they were just about to harvest the first crop of the new Fusion-created wheat, and many more people would be fed over the coming days.  With how quickly the food was being grown, the only holdup was how fast it could be planted and then harvested, which was why there were hundreds of volunteers for this portion of the plan.

He wasn’t sure all that needed to be done, because he hadn’t been intimately involved in the process, but he knew that the wheat had to be cut and then processed into grains, which would then need to be milled into flour before it was usable for consumption.  Fortunately, they had all of those processes already in place, as they had been doing them before this, though with how much they would have to process they needed a lot more hands. 

Which was why Larek’s idea to use the refugees had ultimately been a good one.  They had thousands of people who had nothing to do, and this would give them exactly what they needed in order to not only to survive, but to have something that they hadn’t had before.

Hope.

“It looks like it works as I had hoped,” the powerful voice of the Fusionist suddenly said next to him, and Vanders jerked in surprise.  How does he move so quickly?  “I’ll leave you all to organize all of this, because it’s not really my specialty,” Larek continued, waving toward the harvesting refugees, who were placing all of the cut wheat stalks on large wagons that had to be pulled by hand.  Any beasts of burden that hadn’t been eaten yet were used to cart the heavier wagons filled with monster corpses out from the Apertures.

“You’re not going to watch the other crops?”

Larek shook his head.  “No, I’m sure you’ve got it well in hand.  Actually, from what I’ve heard from the Farmers, it looks like they have it handled pretty well.  They will probably have to experiment with growing times for all the other crops, but I’m sure they’ll figure it out.”

“What are you going to do, instead?” Fendra asked from behind him.

“Step two to my plan for feeding everyone, of course,” the Fusionist said matter-of-factly.  “This is a great start, but monster meat is apparently an important staple to the people’s diet; without any livestock, that makes sense.”

“Which is what the Providers have been getting,” Fendra said with irritation in her voice.

“And you’ve been doing a fantastic job of it, but it really shouldn’t be all that you do.  Like I said before, all the Mages and Martials should be focusing on external threats, just like you used to do, and you can’t do that while half or more of you are constantly venturing out and hunting for food.  We have people here who can easily do that, instead, so that you can start closing nearby Apertures – and perhaps even expanding your influence and making the Kingdom safer for everyone.”

“You make it sound as if such a thing were easy,” Fendra spat, and Vanders turned around to see her crossing her arms while staring up at the taller man. “Do you have any idea what you’re even saying?  Sure, we might be able to close a few nearby Apertures to keep them a bit safer, but there are Apertures that have grown too powerful to fight against – and that’s not even counting the Five Calamities.”

“That may be, but you’ve got to start somewhere, correct?  Besides, before I leave, I’m going to see if I can’t make it a little easier for you.  First, though, let’s arm the population with powerful weapons so they can go hunting,” Larek said, before turning away and walking back toward the city.

Uh….

“What did he just say?  What powerful weapons does he mean?” Fendra said with exasperation, watching the Fusionist walk away.

“I have no idea, but I’m looking forward to finding out.”

With another look at the fields and the harvesting going on, Vanders nodded at the Farmers, who all had smiles on their faces as they shouted orders.  When they barely even acknowledged his nod, he turned away, following Larek in case the powerful man needed some other supplies to make these so-called “powerful weapons” of his.

Whatever they are, they can’t be more impressive than being able to grow an entire field of crops in a matter of minutes.


Chapter 13

Nedira still hadn’t woken up by the time Larek went to sleep that night, his exhaustion from the day finally catching up with him.  From the fight against the Sand Vultures, the explosions that nearly killed him and the woman sleeping in the bed next to him, the multiple tense situations after arriving in Tarvada, and hours spent creating Fusions, his body and mind were spent.  He had finished almost all of what he needed for his initial batch of Fusions for the next step in his plan, at least, but the need for sleep dictated that he should wait until he’d gotten a bit of rest.

As he struggled awake in the morning with just the hint of sunlight shining through the cracks in the window coverings, he felt an unfamiliar weight on his chest.  Opening his eyes and looking down, all he saw was a mass of reddish-gold hair blocking his view.

What the…?

Not really sure what to do, Larek continued to lie there without moving, feeling the warmth of the woman who somehow ended up draped across his chest.  He wasn’t sure how long he stayed that way, but eventually something seemed to jerk Nedira awake, and she quickly brought her head up as if she had just heard a noise.  Very slowly, she turned her head until she was looking at Larek straight in his eyes, a look of confusion over her face.

“What—?” she began to ask, her voice hoarse, before she coughed a few times as she moved away.  “Actually, I don’t really want to know,” she corrected as soon as she was able to speak again.  “What’s more important is that I’m starving.”

Larek chuckled at that.  “Same here.  Why don’t we see what we can scrounge up,” he said quickly, getting out of bed and nearly tripping over the staves that were scattered along the floor from the night before.  “Watch your step, but grab one of those if you want one.”

The numerous staves had Fusions added to them the night before, and they were spread out so that their areas of ambience didn’t overlap too much like they would in a stack or pile. 

Nedira slowly maneuvered herself to the edge of the bed before looking around, first at the floor and then around the room.  “Where… are we?” she asked, her hand to her head as if it was in pain.  “What happened after the Aperture?”

“Come.  I’ll explain while we get you something to eat.”

Nedira tried to stand up, but she immediately fell back down as her legs couldn’t support her.  “Sorry, give me a moment.”

“Don’t worry, I’ve got you.”  Larek cautiously moved over to her side of the bed and slipped his arms around her, easily picking her up.

“There’s no need—”

“Your body is exhausted after the healing, and you probably have very little physical energy right now,” he explained, cutting her off.  “Once we can get some food in you, I’m hoping that you’ll recover quickly.”

Rather than argue, she sighed and wrapped her arm around his back, which was apparently a bit more comfortable.  “Was I in a coma?”

“No, thankfully.  It was close, though.”

They didn’t speak much while he brought her down to the dining room area in the Provider’s Palace, where he found that breakfast was already being served.  It wasn’t fancy, as it was some sort of biscuit and another slab of meat, but hopefully that would change soon once other crops started being harvested.  Which brought him to explaining to Nedira all that had happened.

“…and so last night I spent time creating dozens of staves with the Variable Repeating Elemental Projectile +7 Fusions on them, as well as a simple Strengthen Wood +8 Fusion on them to keep them from breaking easily.  My idea is to equip large groups of volunteer hunters that can venture into the local Apertures and kill the monsters there, before bringing back their corpses for food.”

“Larek,” Nedira said, putting her head in her hands as she finished her breakfast.  “Is that really the smartest idea?  They aren’t trained to kill monsters, nor would they have any sort of protection if they were attacked – which is almost a guarantee as soon as they step foot within the territory of an Aperture.”

Larek nodded, realizing that what she said was true.  “I know.  But they wouldn’t be sent in without any sort of preparation; my thought was that they could shadow the Martials and Mages that are already going in there for a few days, learning the lay of the land so to say, and then they would be able to take over the gathering of meat as soon as they were comfortable.”  It sounded logical to him, at least.

“I don’t think it’s going to be that easy, but I have to admit that it would certainly—”

“THERE HE IS!  HOW DARE YOU COME INTO MY TOWN AND—”

While Nedira was talking, Larek noticed a familiar figure walking into the dining room with a furious expression on his face.  It appeared as though Borex, the so-called “Supreme Provider,” had recovered from his injuries enough to seek him out.  Before the man could do anything he might regret, Larek immediately pulled out his Pattern Cohesion and wrapped it around the torso of the man, pinning his arms to his sides and halting his progress as he attempted to close the distance with him. 

As had happened the day before, the Supreme Provider was trapped, but this time he was ready for such an event; even as Larek’s Pattern solidified around him, he was already utilizing his Stama, which Larek could see pulsing with a reddish aura around his upper body. 

“YOUR TRICKS WON’T SAVE YOU, GERGASI SCUM!” Borex shouted, before he strained and pushed against the envelope made of Pattern that surrounded him.  To Larek’s consternation, he saw cracks forming in his construct almost immediately as the strength of the Martial pressed against his Pattern.

A few seconds later, his constrictive construct burst apart with the sound of breaking glass, and he felt his Pattern dissipate.  With a roar that sounded like it should’ve come from a monster rather than a man, Borex stomped across the floor with a speed that belied his size, murder intent in his gaze.  Larek started to stand up and create a Pattern shield in front of the charging Martial, but he needn’t have bothered.

“Stop, Supreme Provider!” Fendra, of all people, had entered the room and cast a spell that lifted the man off the floor with a swirl of wind that circled around him like a cyclone.  I need to learn that, the Fusionist thought. The Supreme Provider ineffectually struggled to move, but with no leverage, he was simply flailing around. 

“LET ME DOWN, CAN’T YOU SEE THIS GIANT BASTARD IS LYING TO YOU!”

“I’ll let you down once you get ahold of yourself, Borex.  We can’t have you getting yourself killed so early in the morning, can we?  Especially as you were about to assault the person – who, I will add, is not a Gergasi – who has single-handedly solved our starvation crisis—”

“I DON’T CARE!  THIS IS MY CITY, AND IF I WANT THOSE PEOPLE TO DIE, THEN THEY HAD BETTER WELL DIE—”

“Oh, I wish you hadn’t said that, Supreme Provider,” Vanders said, coming up behind Fendra, along with a few other Mages and Martials that Larek didn’t know.  “You know, I used to idolize you.  Not only were you brave and powerful, but you seemed to have the same sort of drive I had to help people, to protect them.  Now, though, it seems as though the power you hold over the citizens of this city has gone to your head.  What happened to the man I used to model myself after?”

“VANDERS!  STOP FENDRA AND KILL THESE OUTSIDERS!” 

All the shouting coming from the man was starting to grate on Larek’s nerves, but all he could do was watch and prepare to react as soon as he knew what was happening. 

“See?  That’s exactly what I’m talking about.  You charged in here without understanding the situation, and even when we try to get you to see reason, you go spouting—”

“HE’S USING THAT MIND-CONTROLLING MAGIC ON YOU, DON’T YOU SEE?”

There was silence throughout the dining room as everyone looked at Larek, but instead of accusing him of doing what Borex said, he only heard laughter.  “Oh, Supreme Provider, if only it was that simple,” Vanders said.  “He’s not a Gergasi, and even if he was, he’s done more in less than one day than what we were able to accomplish in weeks.  Already, we’ve been able to feed half the refugees from Harvana outside the walls, and the other half will get their first real meal in weeks later today – and from every day here on out.  More than that, Larek—”

“FOOLS!  YOU’VE RUINED IT ALL!  THEY WERE ALL SUPPOSED TO DIE – JUST LIKE THIS LYING SCUM!”

A flash of Stama seemed to emit from every pore in the Supreme Provider’s body, and a split-second later, Fendra’s cyclone had been disrupted, causing the woman to stagger and fall to her knees.  At the same time, Borex hit the ground and lunged for Larek, only for his head to detach from his body as he passed through a stationary axe blade made of Pattern Cohesion floating in his path.

Everything was quiet in the dining room as Larek watched the Supreme Provider’s body hit the floor, blood squirting out of his open neck, and his head landed on Larek and Nedira’s table, bouncing once before rolling to a stop on Nedira’s mostly finished plate.

“It’s a good thing I’m not hungry anymore,” she said, immediately pushing the plate away from her, her tired eyes seemingly barely fazed by the presence of a decapitated head staring at her. 

Larek looked down at the body before locking eyes with Vanders.  The Martial had a grim look on his face, though the Combat Fusionist wasn’t sure if it was directed toward him or not.  “I didn’t intend to kill him,” Larek said into the silence. 

Vanders stepped forward, looking down at the slightly twitching body.  “I know.  He did it to himself.”  The Martial then raised his eyes to Larek’s and nodded.  “If you hadn’t done it, then it was likely going to have to be one of us.  His admission concerning his views on the people of this city, as well as the refugees, was enough of a reason to remove him from power before he got even more people killed.  In all honesty, it should’ve been done before this, but we were all just… trying to do the best we could,” he admitted. 

“I understand,” Larek said – and he did understand.  From what he’d seen and heard, the Supreme Provider had been the one in charge of everything, and he had both the strength of character to lead all the Mages and Martials, as well as the strength in his arms.  Being able to break out of not only Larek’s Pattern constraints but also Fendra’s spell was proof enough of the latter.  It was hard enough to try and survive in the Kingdom with the way it was currently; it was probably even more dangerous to question the decisions of the one who was stronger than you.

Larek stood there awkwardly, blood pooling around his feet, before he glanced at Nedira.  “Oh!  Vanders, this is Nedira.  Nedira, Vanders.  And that over there is Fendra, and—”

“Don’t you think you could’ve timed that a little better, Larek?” Nedira asked softly, interrupting him.

Rubbing the back of his head in embarrassment, he nodded.

“It’s a pleasure to meet you, Nedira.  I’m sorry that it couldn’t be under better circumstances,” Vanders said, before being joined by the Mage Larek had mentioned.  Fendra still seemed pained from her spell being broken like that, and he could only assume that it had something to do with her Pattern Cohesion taking a hit.  It wasn’t the same as a Fusion being interrupted in the middle of being constructed, but he’d heard somewhere that it could still be debilitating. 

“Thank you.  I’m sorry about… him,” Nedira said, gesturing to the head on her plate. 

“So am I.  So am I.”

Larek hesitated to say anything else, because he didn’t want to embarrass himself any more than he already had, but he wasn’t sure how long he had to wait before he could speak.  So, he just went and said it.

“I’m sorry if this is moving too fast after all this, but I have the first batch of staves ready for you,” he said quickly.  “Well, ready for any volunteers among your people who are willing to learn how to hunt monsters.”

“Staves?  Those, uh, won’t do much good against the monsters in the nearby Apertures, Larek.”

“Oh, but Larek’s staves are special,” Nedira interjected.  “However, I was just talking with him about it, and I think they’re going to need something else to keep them a bit safer.  What do you think, Larek?”

The Combat Fusionist thought about it for a moment.  “I suppose I could add something to, say, a necklace?  Trying to do clothing would be too complicated, as those would be more of a custom job.  Are you thinking to add an Automatic Ice Repulsion Field?  Or perhaps more along the lines of keeping them hidden with a Camouflage Sphere?”

“Probably the first.  It’ll be hard to hide them all when their barrages are released, after all.”

“True, true.  Graduated Parahealing?  It would have to be on something separate, of course.”

She shook her head.  “Probably not for everyone.  Perhaps a few for each group on a bracelet or something that can easily be passed around to those who need it.”

“I think I could do that,” Larek said, nodding.  “What about—” he was about to continue asking Nedira about other Fusions he should add, but he looked up at Vanders and Fendra, who looked completely confused at the conversation the two were engaged in.  “Oh, sorry, we were just discussing what might be necessary for the would-be hunters.  I think with a few more additions, they should be a lot safer.  Do you think you could get me necklaces of some kind?  They don’t have to be fancy, just a simple blank medallion maybe?  Could even be made of wood; as long as they’re the same material and generally the same shape, I’ll be able to divide the Fusions onto them all.  And bracelets of some kind, which need to be easy enough to take on and off.”

The Martial looked at Larek as if he had been poleaxed, but after a moment he nodded.  “I… think I can get those for you.”

“Great!  In the meantime, I want to show you the staves I’ve already made, and then I’ll get on to finishing the new Fusions.  If you have someone who could come grab the staves from our room, we’ll get the new volunteers at least practicing with them.”

Nedira stopped him with a hand on his arm before he could head to their room.  “I’m going to stay here, if you don’t mind; my body is still recovering, and I just don’t have the energy quite yet.”

Larek squeezed her hand gently, really looking at her since they had finished eating.  He could see what looked like exhaustion in her face, but he sensed that it was more of a weakness throughout her entire body.  It was the same that happened when someone fell into a coma after using his Healing Surge Fusion, which usually ended up with them being incapacitated for a few days even after waking, waiting for their body to recover.  This was much less severe, but a single meal wasn’t enough to restore her physical energy.

“Absolutely.  Take care of yourself and regain your energy,” he said softly.  “By the way, I’m sure you already noticed, but I took the liberty of adding Fusions to your robe last night; I should have done it before we left the tunnels, and I’m sorry you got hurt because of my mistake.”

She pulled her hand away and cuffed him on the arm lightly.  “Don’t.  It’s not your fault.  It was just bad timing that we arrived just as the Aperture was finished Surging.”  She looked down at her robe and frowned.  “But you’re right, you should’ve done this before we left.  It feels… amazing.  I can’t remember what happened to the one you made me before you disappeared, but it feels like years since I’ve experienced anything like this.  Thank you.”

“Not a problem.  And again, I’m sorry—” she glanced at him with a look, prompting him to raise his hands to reassure her, “for not adding those Fusions earlier.  I won’t mention what happened again, even if I know I messed up.”

“Good.  Now, go on and show all these people your fun toys – and tell them to be careful!  Those things are more powerful than they have a right to be, and someone could get hurt.”

“Yes, dear,” he said with a smile as he turned away, but not before he saw the blush creep up her cheeks.  Stepping over the cooling body of the Supreme Provider, he gestured for Vanders and Fendra to follow, heading toward the room with all the staves. 

Along the way, Fendra asked, “What exactly are these staves?  You keep dancing around whatever they are, and now I’m both intrigued and a little frightened.”

“Have you ever heard about a Variable Repeating Elemental Projectile?  No?  Then perhaps it’s alright to be frightened… because you’re just about to have your mind blown.”


Chapter 14

“What you’ve managed to do in such a short time is absolutely ridiculous, but it’s going to quickly make the Providers useless.”

Larek listened to Vanders as they – along with Fendra – sat in the dining room, which had thankfully been cleaned up after the mess that the Combat Fusionist had inadvertently created two days ago when he chopped off the Supreme Provider’s head.  He nodded, agreeing – at least in part – with what the Martial was saying.

“That’s exactly how it should be,” Larek stated.  At their confused looks, he explained.  “I told you before, my goal here was to acquire supplies – and the axe that you located for me, for which I must express my heartfelt gratitude – and to do that, I needed some supplies that I could actually have without people starving if I took them.  That is already well on its way to becoming a reality, what with the crops starting to bring in an excess of food now, and the monster hunting by refugee hunters starting to show some promise.”

That was a huge understatement, given that the dozens of volunteers had been eager to prove themselves against the monsters that had driven them from their homes.  While they weren’t the exact monsters that had been near Harvana, because the Apertures were different, that didn’t stop the armed hunters from pretending that they were. 

It was so obvious that they were out for revenge when, in their first encounter with a Horned Boar, a 7-foot-tall and 14-foot-long charging behemoth that had to weigh nearly a ton, they absolutely obliterated its body in a matter of seconds after they bombarded it with flaming balls shot out by a virtual army of nearly 100 hunters wielding staves with VREP Fusions on them.  It didn’t even know what hit it and didn’t get to within 20 feet of the group, who had cheered and shouted as a result of their kill, though that was tempered by the fact that there were barely any chunks left of the giant boar to bring back to the city for meat. 

After that initial explosion of destructive force against the Horned Boars, they had learned to slaughter the monsters with a bit of strategy and tactics, using fewer hunters and Icy Spikes that constantly battered the charging boars as they were impaled by hundreds of frozen shards – which would then melt and disappear later on, leaving a holey (but largely intact) corpse that they could transport back to the city.  Not once in the full day that they had been hunting had the Boars even gotten close to them, but even if they did, the Automatic Ice Repulsion Field they had on some wooden medallions around their necks would be enough to block at least a single charging blow by the monsters, and they also had a few people with Graduated Parahealing copper bracelets that they could use to heal anyone who had gotten hurt.

It was still a dangerous job, and Larek expected some would get careless and die if they were too overconfident, but with Larek’s Fusions to help them, they were less likely to die in at least the next coming days.

Which brought him to what to do with the so-called Providers, now that they were out of work.

“I also told you that you should be doing what you were trained to do, which is to help people.  The SIC or not, the Martials and Mages throughout the Kingdom were always designed to help defend the people from monster attacks, and from what I’ve seen of both of you, that’s exactly what you want to be doing.  Your abilities have been wasted on feeding these people, and while it was necessary for a while, you are no longer needed.  Instead, as I mentioned before, you should be going out and fighting monsters – just not for the purpose of gathering their corpses for food.

“The only way the Kingdom is going to survive, what little is left out there, is to fight back against the advance of the Apertures.  You used to let the monsters come to you behind the walls of a town or a city, but that’s all changed; now, you need to go to them.  You know all of this, of course, as you’ve been doing the same over the last, what, nearly 5 years now?  Unfortunately, it hasn’t been working, as they apparently have been too strong for you to combat.  Am I correct?”

They both nodded solemnly at that.

“That’s where I come in,” Larek continued, pulling two medallion necklaces out from his pockets.  “You’ve already seen the staves I can create in the hands of the refugees acting as hunters, but there’s more.  And don’t worry, you’ll be getting some of those to help you out, as well as a few other things.

“First, each of the Mages and Martials will be getting one of these,” he said, offering one of the necklaces to Vanders and the other to Fendra.  The way they jerked in surprise once they grabbed them and the power flowed through their bodies made him smile.  “Normal people can’t really take advantage of a Magnitude 10 boost to their stats, but you can.”  He pulled out two more things from his pockets, and he handed over the brass armlets he’d asked for the day before to each of them.  “Nor can they use a boost to their non-existent Mage and Martial Skills, but guess what?  You can.”

Larek pulled out yet another pair of armlets from his pockets.

“Then there’s the healing Fusions you’re going to need if you’re going to be traveling around and closing Apertures.  There is one that is specially created for Martials here,” he said, handing one to Vanders, “and the other is the same as the hunters have, which is designed for those without Body Regeneration as a Skill.”  So saying, he handed that one over to Fendra.  “Lastly, as I said before, I have staves that will be going to all the Mages here, but they will also be including a utility-based Directional Illumination Fusion on them that might come in handy if you’re ever fighting at night – or run into something as horrendous as the Umbral Demons beneath the desert of Lowenthal.” 

Larek shivered in remembrance of the shadowy Demons, but he cheered up when he remembered that he’d killed them all.  Or at least he hoped so.

“But I will also need to see all the weapons used by the Martials, as I want to improve them as well.  There’s a special Fusion I can add that can increase your effectiveness against many types of monsters, and I think you’ll like it.”  Larek thought about it for a moment, before shrugging.  “I think that’s it.”

“That’s… it?” Fendra asked incredulously.  “That’s more than I could’ve even imagined.  This alone,” she said, slipping the medallion necklace over her neck, “is worth half a Kingdom by itself.  Why?”

Larek was confused.  “Why what?”

“Why do all of this?  And don’t give me that crap about needing supplies.  I’m sure you would’ve been fine without something readily available to eat.  You could’ve hunted for monster meat much easier than any of us could.”

Larek nodded slowly, trying to figure out how to explain without sounding callous.  “That is true, I will admit.  At the time of our arrival, it had been more about getting something to eat and finding somewhere for Nedira to rest safely.  Yes, we didn’t absolutely need supplies for our travels, because I’m sure I could’ve scrounged some up when needed, but that all changed when I saw all the starving people outside. 

“Now, I’m not on a crusade to right all the wrongs throughout the Kingdom, but I also couldn’t help but think about my own family.  I could only hope that if they found themselves in a similar situation, then someone would come along and help them as I’ve done here.  As for you,” he said, looking at both Vanders and Fendra, “the same applies.  Not by helping to feed everyone, but to help protect them.  With so many Apertures out there, it is almost inevitable that my family has been threatened by at least one or two, and I can only hope that a team of SIC members, or even just a loose organization like the Providers, was there to help them escape from certain death. 

“So, while my purposes might seem altruistic, I’m helping you because it might help my family one day.  It’s a bit selfish, I’ll admit it, but as long as my selfishness helps other people, I figure that’s alright.”  He thought about it for a moment before he smirked.  “Oh, and I just really like to make Fusions, so there was an added benefit for me.  Especially since I needed to stay here anyway while waiting for Nedira to recover.”

The two Providers just stared at him, their expressions a bit blank while they evaluated what he said.  Eventually, it was Vanders who spoke first.  “Are you telling me you made all of these already?” he asked, holding up the Fusions that Larek had given him.  “For everyone?”

Larek shrugged.  “Well, I didn’t really have much to do over the last couple of days, so… yes?  I’ve probably made a bit too many, but I’m sure if you find some more Mages and Martials out there that need a little extra help, you wouldn’t mind passing them along, would you?”

They both shook their heads.  “Not at all,” Fendra answered.

“Excellent.  So, as you send people up to get all the stuff in my room, which is getting a little crowded, and the ambient Mana level is steadily dropping from the presence of so many Mana-hungry Fusions, bring up your weapons and I’ll finish those off.  Once I teach you how they work, I have a few separate projects I need to work on before we leave tomorrow, as I believe Nedira will be ready to get moving by then.

“Any questions?  No?  You seem a little overwhelmed, so I’ll leave you to it, then.  Don’t forget to send people up for my finished Fusions along with your weapons!”

At that, he got up and headed back upstairs to his and Nedira’s room, which had seen extensive use over the last few days.  Not only did Nedira sleep a lot to regain some of her strength back, but it had been the main headquarters for Larek’s Fusion creation – and it certainly showed.  There was barely any room to move around inside with everything he’d created, and he had to walk carefully through the objects strewn all over the room and even hung up on the walls so as not to trip over anything.  Even the bed was half-covered with stuff – the half that didn’t possess a sleeping woman, of course.

Fortunately, it was only a few minutes after he got back that Vanders and Fendra arrived with a veritable army of both Mages and Martials, who exclaimed in shock at the new Fusions as they took them and all of the extra ones away.  They even took the extra few dozen plates to which he’d gone ahead and applied additional Strong Watered Growth and Furrow Field Fusions, so that they could expand their cropland in the future. 

They also left behind dozens of melee weapons and even a few bows, along with quivers full of arrows.  For the melee weapons, whether they were swords, battleaxes, knives, or warhammers, he added both a Variable Elemental Gust Sphere Fusion (the same Fusion that he’d added to his own axe that had ultimately led to its destruction), as well as either a Strengthen and Sharpen Fusion, or just a Strengthen Fusion.

For the bows, he didn’t add anything to the weapon itself, but instead added them to the arrows.  After adding Strengthen to the projectiles, which would allow them to be reused, he also added an altered version of the Variable Elemental Gust Sphere Fusion to each and every one – which was made much easier through use of his Focused Division Skill, considering that there were about 200 arrows in total.  The altered version had another Input and Variable pair tied to its Activation Method which only allowed the destructive gust sphere to activate after it impacted something with significant force.  He designed it that way so that casual handling of the arrows, or an accidental dropping, wouldn’t set them off – only after it had hit a target. 

When they were all done a few hours later, they were all taken away by their owners after Larek explained how the Fusions worked and to warn them about how sharp some of them were now, and he was left alone.  Or at least he was no longer bothered by anyone from the city, as Nedira had slept through most of the commotion and had only woken up toward the end of his marathon Fusion-creation session.

Sitting back in the bed with his back against the wall, he sighed, glad to be done with it all.  While he loved making Fusions, it did become sort of repetitive after a while of making the same things over and over.  Which was why he was excited to get started on something else.

“So, what now?  Are you going to make another Air Skimmer, since the last one blew up?” Nedira asked him, snuggling up against his side, and Larek wrapped his arm around her, pulling her close while he closed his eyes.  The two of them had become a lot closer after spending so much time together, despite the fact that Larek was creating Fusions most of the time while Nedira slept through most of the day.  Ever since she had woken up on his chest a couple of days ago, they had been together most of that time and he felt comfortable, excited, and… worrisome. 

The old doubts crept in on whether he was unknowingly using his Dominion magic on her, though he didn’t think that was the case.  While he wasn’t exactly an expert on his Dominion magic yet, he had become quite a bit more sensitive to its use and was 99% sure he hadn’t used any of it on her – at least not after he’d used it to wake her up after being possessed by the Umbral Demons.  But there was still that 1% that he wasn’t sure of, which made him wary of whether or not he’d been able to keep from influencing her. 

Thankfully, the logical and emotional sides of his mind told him to ignore that possibility, so he was enjoying it as much as he could.  It was, to be honest with himself, wonderful to be with her again, and it felt like they had never been apart, nor had any falling out over his Dominion magic before.  It was almost like no time had passed, though he knew that wasn’t the case, especially when he took into account everything that had happened to her; there were multiple times while she was asleep that she had visibly struggled with nightmares, and he didn’t have to ask to know that they were most likely due to her experience with being possessed by an Umbral Demon.

That trauma still obviously haunted her and would continue to do so for a while, but when she was simply nearby him, she seemed much calmer and more put together.

“I thought about it, but I think I might have another solution to the Air Skimmer.”

“Oh?  Something land-based, or something bigger than the Skimmer?” she asked, clearly intrigued.

He chuckled.  “Actually, I was thinking smaller.  With no Fusions whatsoever.”

“What?  What do you mean?”

In answer, Larek pulled out a chunk of his Pattern Cohesion and shaped it into an empty cube with thin walls that was approximately 4 feet wide and 3 feet tall, with an open top; it floated above the bed where they could both see it. 

“After using my Pattern Manipulation Skill, which has really improved lately, I got to thinking about how I could apply it in a slightly different way.  I can already create a shield that I can then move around quickly to block attacks… so why not change its shape to allow me to stand on top of it and then move it around.”

She looked up from where she was pressed against his side.  “Do you really think something like that could work?”

He shrugged.  “I don’t see why not.  I still need to try it out, of course, but that’s not actually what I want to work on next.”  Pulling the Pattern Cohesion back inside his body, he turned to her.  “Do you happen to know any spells that use some sort of void element?”

“Void?  Like the one that you were trapped inside and which transported you halfway across the world?”

Larek shook his head as an involuntary shudder passed through him at the memory.  “No, I’m more thinking about something that my Perceptive Misdirection Fusion uses to conceal a pulsing wave of Mana via something called a void carrier.  Here, look.”  Larek pulled up the aforementioned Fusion from his list, and projected it in front of him so she could see it, similar to how he would do it with his Status. 

She looked at the line that mentioned the void carrier and slowly shook her head.  “For some reason, it sounds familiar, but it’s not a common element.  Nor uncommon or even rare; it might be something that was used by a Mage at some point, but none currently... if I even remember correctly.  Sorry.”

“Don’t worry about it; I was just curious.  I feel like I have a good enough understanding of it through the recreation of this Fusion, as well as my own experience in that nightmarish place, to perhaps use it in a different way – but it isn’t something that I’ve ever done before.  Every Fusion that I’ve personally created, and wasn’t just a variable of something I already knew how to make, has been directly related to a spell I have knowledge of; I’ve never used a concept taken from another Fusion that I don’t at least have a semi-parallel spell that goes along with it.”

“What are you planning, Larek?” she asked suspiciously.

He chuckled nervously before he answered.  “Oh, I just want to create a pocket of the void that I can store things in and then take that stuff out later, where no time has passed.  That’s all.”

“Really?  That’s all?  You’re talking about something that held you captive for years and then dropped you somewhere completely different after it released you, and you want to… what?  Put it in a bag?”

“Bag?  Bag!  That’s a great idea!  I was thinking of some sort of necklace, like the ones I made for the Martials and Mages here, but a bag makes so much more sense!  I can even have the opening of the void be the same opening of the bag… though it would have to be flexible, I suppose.  Fortunately, I think I can apply the same flexibility I originally discovered in my Multi-Resistance Fusions for that.  Should I compartmentalize it into different sections of the void?  Would that even work?  Different pockets – not in the bag, but different pockets of the void?”  He looked down at Nedira in excitement.  “Thank you for the suggestion!”

“But I didn’t—”

Unfortunately for her, the Combat Fusionist was already lost in his mind, starting to put together the Fusion he was going to need to construct for it to work.  It would strain his abilities, but that was exactly what he needed; he’d been stuck at Level 59 in Mana Control, Pattern Formation, and Fusion, and something that pushed the boundaries of his Skills might just push him over the top. 

He rubbed his hands together as the elements of his plan started to coalesce.


Chapter 15

Creating a completely new type of Fusion, with elements to it that he’d only tangentially used in a formation that he was given and didn’t put together himself, was a lot harder than he expected. 

But that didn’t stop Larek from pushing everything he knew about Fusions and the way they worked into his efforts, because he needed to succeed. 

Granted, it wasn’t a life or death situation that required he make something that would prevent them from dying, but if he wanted to use his Pattern Manipulation to form some sort of flying transportation for both himself and Nedira, then he would need some way to hold the supplies they would take with them.  As it was, he was fairly certain that he could make a fairly simple Pattern-based contraption that could hold the two of them if they didn’t mind literally sitting on each other’s laps, but that would be about the extent of it.  Therefore, there wouldn’t be room enough to hold more than a very small pack of supplies, though he could probably find ways to be creative with it by adding hooks or something to the outside of the box, thereby allowing them to bring more with them that way.

However, even as he improved his Pattern Manipulation Skill, he became aware that keeping complicated shapes together for an extended period of time mentally exhausted him.  A simple box was something he could maintain for hours, perhaps a whole day of traveling, but adding hooks or other storage solutions would quickly exhaust his mental reserves.

All of which led to him working on this next project of his: a way to use voids or “the void” to hold the supplies they needed to take with them.  His understanding of it, based on his experience being transported through it and with his Perceptive Misdirection Fusion, gave him enough to go on that such a thing was possible, though executing that possibility successfully was a challenge and a half. 

That was because the void wasn’t exactly something tangible, a material or element that could be easily manipulated.  Rather, it was the absence of anything at all, a nothingness that encompassed all of reality; warmth, light, air, space, and even time were suspended in the void, something that he had intimate familiarity with after being sucked into it by the attack by a Warped Void Hunter.  With that quality being evident, how in the world was Larek supposed to harness the power of the void and give it the structure he needed to contain the supplies they would take with them?

A Fusion, of course, but one more complicated than any he’d made before.

To begin with, he had to determine the Effects he wanted to accomplish, which were further complicated by the spectacular ideas that Nedira had given him.  First, he needed to be able to connect the opening of the void to the opening of the bag she suggested as a means of storage, though a simple sack would work just as well for the purpose.  Second, he had to formulate a way to create multiple voids within the same bag or sack, so that each one could hold a certain type of supplies; otherwise, they would just get all jumbled up.  Third, he had to find a way to retrieve the supplies that were shoved into the bag without having to pull out everything.  Lastly, but most importantly, Larek had to define the undefinable and restrict the very nature of the boundless void into an easily manageable space.

And he had to do all that without unleashing an ever-growing void that could potentially swallow everything in the world if left unchecked.

Needless to say, it was a hefty challenge – but he was ready to push himself to accomplish his goal.  There was always the possibility that it wouldn’t work, of course, but he wouldn’t know if he didn’t try.

The first problem he ran into while contemplating the different Effects he needed for this new creation was his lack of experience actually manipulating the void through Fusions other than with the Perceptive Misdirection Fusion that Grandmaster Fusionist Shinpai had given him.  Even that Fusion didn’t apply void as more than a carrier meant to disguise the pulsing waves of Mana that the Effect sent out to identify the origin of any observers, and not necessarily as a storage device.  Therefore, he found that he needed to start at the beginning and work his way up to his final product.

Back to basics, I guess.

Pulling up the Perceptive Misdirection Fusion in his memory, he analyzed the void carrier Effect to get a better understanding of how it operated.  The simple principles of its function were already known to him because he had learned how to recreate the Fusion, but the intricacies of its properties were still unfamiliar because he didn’t fully comprehend its full processes.  This was largely different from his other Fusions because he understood them better thanks to the spells he had learned, most of them at least based off of an element or other effect that he could relate to.  With void, his only experience was being completely inundated in it, which – while still giving him valuable insights into its properties – didn’t exactly help with being able to manipulate it in a way that was useful.

Therefore, Larek spent some time figuring out how to incorporate the void carrier Effect from Perceptive Misdirection into some of his other Fusions to get a better understanding of it. Almost immediately, the Combat Fusionist discovered that the void carrier did almost nothing when used in conjunction with other Effects, especially ones that were visible.  Using a simple Illuminate Fusion, he witnessed absolutely no change in the illumination Effect’s brightness or execution – but that didn’t do anything; instead, what it did wasn’t visible, because it was originally designed to conceal Mana… which was exactly what it accomplished.

The void carrier acted like a very thin sheet of invisible glass that surrounded the magical effect of the Illuminate Fusion; it was designed to surround the Mana that was used and expelled through the Fusion’s use, which was visible as light – but did nothing to impede the Effect.  When Larek looked at the illuminating effect from the Fusion with his Magical Detection Skill, he realized he couldn’t detect a single trace of the actual Mana being funneled into the light; in other words, it simply looked like a light without any magical basis to it, which was extremely odd to see.

The Fusion, on the other hand, was still visible to his Magical Detection Skill.  It was also able to pick up the very subtle area of ambience as the Fusion absorbed the ambient Mana around it, meaning that while he couldn’t tell that the light was magical in nature, the Fusion gave it away.

That inevitably led him on a tangent to discover if he could conceal the actual Fusion and area of ambience using an altered version of the void carrier Effect.  It took a few tries to get it right, but after about 15 minutes, Larek discovered a way to completely camouflage the entirety of the new Concealed Illumination +1 Fusion that he created.

“Can you see this Fusion here?” he asked Nedira, who had been watching him work with a bemused expression on her face.

She looked at where he was pointing, which was a square piece of flat steel that he had been using and reusing for his experiments.  “Larek, I think you’ve been working too long.  There’s nothing there.”

The Combat Fusionist smiled and touched the steel slab and willed the Concealed Illumination to activate the light.  Nedira gasped when the light came on, and she looked closer at everything, trying to find any hint of the Fusion underneath.  “How did you do that?  Can you see it?”

He immediately shook his head, but added a shrug.  “I can’t see it, but I can, let’s say… feel it.  Because I created it, I have an odd connection to it that allows me to pinpoint its location, but I can’t actually detect it with any of my other senses.  The void carrier is concealing its Mana, which included the Fusion itself because it is infused with Mana; the Pattern Cohesion used in its construction being concealed as well is a byproduct of the void carrier Effect, I believe.”

She shook her head in disbelief.  “So, it’s completely undetectable?”

He thought about it for a moment as he looked closer at the now-invisible Fusion.  “For the most part, yes.”  He stopped as he waved his hands all around the area where the Fusion was located.  “What do you see here when you use your Magical Detection Skill?”

“Nothing.”  It only took her a second to respond.

He nodded.  “Exactly.  While the Mana involved in the Fusion’s operation is concealed, obviously, you’ll also notice a lack of any Mana inside this area here,” he said, demonstrating what he was saying by encompassing both the main body of the illuminating light and the Fusion.  “You don’t see any Mana because the Effect is concealing it.  While not exactly the same as what I’m learning how to manipulate through my Fusions, you’ll notice that this lack of Mana creates a void that is easily noticeable if you’re looking for it.”

After a few seconds, she nodded slowly.  “Still, if you hadn’t told me it was there, I wouldn’t have noticed it.”

“True, and I barely notice it even though I’m aware it’s there.  However, on a much larger Fusion and subsequent Mana expenditure, I can only imagine that the ‘void’ created would be highly visible.  Still better than being easily visible as a Fusion, though.”  Larek immediately thought about utilizing this Effect on the Fusions on Nedira’s and his own clothing, because they had drawn a lot of attention in the past.  A void of Mana around them might still garner a few looks, but not nearly as much as the sight of the powerful Fusions would.  While the Mages in Tarvada who had seen them were used to it by now, Larek and Nedira were planning on leaving soon; being confronted by other former Mages of the SIC when their Fusions were noticed would only hinder them on their journey.

“Good point,” she conceded.  “So, how does this help you, otherwise?”

That was a good question.  It wasn’t until he saw the void carrier in action that he realized what it actually did, which was to create a pocket of its void Effect around Mana so that it was contained without inhibiting its overall purpose.  Thankfully, that was exactly what he needed in order to progress with his ultimate Fusion, at least in part.

“Well, I believe that I can use these void carrier pockets to encapsulate different, definable sections of the void within my Fusion.  What I need to figure out is what I’m going to use as a basis for definition, as trying to contain void with void isn’t likely to work.”  In fact, that sounded like a recipe for disaster, based on his rather limited knowledge of all things void-related.

This was his second obstacle toward achieving his goal, because everything he thought about using wasn’t going to work.  Even if he broke down the process to incorporate a single pocket of the void, the void was a bunch of nothing and endless; his effort to define a sole section of it for use in storing things was seemingly doomed from the start. 

Using air to create a barrier that would define a space?  Nope, air didn’t and couldn’t exist in the void.  A box of stone?  Ice?  Light?  None of those would work, as he instinctively knew that any constructs that were created by the Fusion would be lost within the void, scattered to its furthest reaches and beyond as they became disconnected from the real world.  The same would happen with any items placed within it, which was why he needed definable pockets in the first place.

What he needed was some sort of anchor that would allow whatever he used as a medium for the pocket of void, which also needed to be targeted by a void carrier Effect to keep it into place so that the Mana contained within that defined space didn’t drift off into the great expanse of the void.  However, the more he considered using something that could be created both outside the void opening and inside, such as a loop of air that was connected to the outside of the bag and formed the internal section, the more he realized such a thing wouldn’t work.  It would be too unstable, for one, and maintaining a near-solid loop of air outside and a large defined box inside the void would require a lot of Mana being constantly funneled into it from the ambient Mana around it.  It was also possible that it would simply collapse internally, as it had nothing to push against in the nothingness to maintain its structure.

As far as he was concerned, there was nothing in any of the spells or Fusions he knew that would work as both an anchor and a possible pocket inside the void.  Just as he was starting to give up, he realized there was one thing that he hadn’t considered.  It was the one thing that Larek was convinced was the only reason he had been able to survive inside the void at all. 

Pattern Cohesion.

Using it externally from his body – first in spells and Fusions and then later with his new Skill – had taught him a lot more about what it could be used for and how it could be manipulated.  He was even planning on using it to create something that would allow them to travel within it, after all, so he was aware of how versatile it actually was when he was able to manipulate it in ways that were useful.

As soon as he thought about using his Pattern Cohesion, it was like everything suddenly fell into place.  What he needed wasn’t something rigid or a construct that was prone to breaking in the void; he needed something a bit flexible that wouldn’t break if stressed a bit, as well as being anchored to the Fusion outside.  In fact, what if the defined pocket was part of the Fusion?  If that was the case, then he could easily make multiple pockets that would hold different supplies… but was that actually needed if everything was contained as part of the Fusion?  A single sectioned-off part of the void could hold everything that was needed, and since it was part of the Fusion, the process of retrieving those items would be part of the Fusion as well.

All it would take would be a mental command to find the right supplies inside, allowing him to reach inside and grab whatever he needed.  It would take a manipulation of the pattern pocket to push it forward into his hand, of course, but that was easily accomplished through his knowledge of his Pattern Manipulation Skill.  Just thinking of the Pattern being used as the pocket as a giant, expandable and contractible net was more than enough for him to work out the exact processes.

There were bound to be some issues, of course.  Placing something inside would require an accompanying mental command, which would then label the item to be retrieved later.  If he forgot what that exact mental command was for that item when trying to retrieve it, then it wouldn’t come out; anything shoved into the void without a mental command wouldn’t necessarily be lost, but it wouldn’t ever come out.  That process made the whole Fusion even more complicated, because he needed for it to be able to differentiate between different items; unfortunately, he didn’t know how he could allow it to “learn” different commands, so he would have to have a certain number of pre-created mental commands as part of the Fusion.  This could be numbers or simple phrases, but they had to be easy to remember when putting items in and taking them out. 

Which was when he realized he also needed a mental command that would empty everything inside the void pocket, so that anything not labeled could be retrieved.  The entire Fusion was becoming more and more complicated as he went on, until he came to the point where he needed to design the opening to the void.  He wanted to design it so that it opened around the same opening that the bag or sack he used would have, but that seemed almost impossible considering that it could change shape and wasn’t easily definable as part of the Fusion construction.

It wasn’t until he considered his Pattern pocket idea that he came to the realization that if he was already incorporating the Fusion as part of the actual Effect, then he could also use the Fusion for the opening.  It took a major shift in his perception of what defined a Fusion, but he smiled as he considered what he was planning on drastically changing. 

After all, who said that the different parts of the grid formation all had to be the same size?

It certainly wasn’t Larek, and he was about to prove that size really didn’t matter – unless it came to creating void-based storage containers, of course.


Chapter 16

“Whoa, Larek – what are you doing?  That doesn’t look anything like—”

He was so hyper-focused on his work that he barely heard Nedira speaking as she backed away, let alone had the concentration to respond.  This was the most complicated and frankly intense Fusion that Larek had ever created, and he needed every little bit of his mind centered on his task.  Not only was this the largest Fusion he’d ever seen or created, but its appearance was so different that he wasn’t even sure it would actually work.  Thankfully, he decided to start it off at Magnitude 1, though even that was going to take a lot of Mana to complete, as it was a very complicated formation.  At Magnitude 1, the Pattern-made pocket wouldn’t be able to hold more than what he thought might only be a few cubic feet worth of items at its limit as far as he could tell, but it was more a proof of concept at this point than his final product.

The reason Nedira was likely so worried about the Fusion was because it didn’t look like a normal grid formation.  Typically, the formation of a Fusion was set up so that equally sized sections of the grid were set up in rows and columns, their exact quantity and design dependent upon what was needed for all of the different elements.  Larek had always conformed to these types of grids, because they were simple, easy to understand, and made the most sense.  But now, as he looked to leverage his Fusion expertise and abilities, he was beginning to see that the uniform grid formation design was only a tool; a very handy tool, of course, but it wasn’t the only way to go about creating Fusions. 

He wasn’t completely discarding that tool with his new project, but he was bending and stretching it in ways that changed the way he looked at the whole process. 

Looking at the simple leather drawstring bag sitting in his lap, with the top opened so that he could see inside it to the bottom, his eyes traced over the Fusion formation he had placed upon it.  It wasn’t a grid anymore, though it certainly started out that way as he began his design; instead, the formation he had created was like a grown-up version of the Fusions he’d created in the past.

Around the upper inside edge of the bag, which was splayed open so that he could see all of it, was a ring of hundreds of small, grid-like elements that went into the formation, all connected together similar to his other Fusion formations, but most of them were smaller so that he could fit them all on.  The only exceptions along the ring were the five Effects and the Mana Cost, which were all tied into one another by one very unique section of the formation.  Beneath the ring of hundreds of elements was another one, this one a single, triple-circled element that had extremely strong boundaries, which acted as the final Effect.  This circle floated above the opening, seemingly unattached to the leather of the bag, and it was filled nearly solid with a tightly-woven net of his Pattern Cohesion.

Rechecking each element before he started filling it with Mana was imperative, and he caught a few minor mistakes in the many, many Variables that were present.  Thankfully, he was able to fix these with an application of his Pattern Manipulation Skill without having to recreate the entire formation, which had already taken him over 5 minutes to create – which was an eternity compared to almost all of his other Fusions.  The mental phrasing Variables were to blame, of course, though thankfully he made them quite simple for now; they were only “One” through “Two Hundred”, though he could always add more or even more-detailed phrasing on future iterations.  As it was, it would be easy enough for someone to remember at least a dozen numbers for whatever they put inside the void bag and pull them out with the same phrase, but after a while they would probably have to make a written list of what was inside so they didn’t have to dump it all out with the final phrase, “Empty Everything,” as they stuck their hand inside. 

The Magnitude 1 element appeared fine, as did the two Activation Methods, one for Permanent and one for Reactive.  So did Mana Cost, but that was almost always the easiest, because its appearance rarely changed before he began. The two Inputs, which were comprised of mental phrase detection and a physical object passing through the plane of the void, seemed as if they were constructed perfectly, as well.

It was the Effect elements that he paid attention to the most, however, because they had to be very precise.  The first was the easiest, which was simply a Multi-Resistance Effect to make the leather more durable; ideally, it should have a stronger Magnitude attached to it so that the bag didn’t get destroyed, but as this was just a test, he didn’t feel it was necessary quite yet.

Next was the Effect that used non-invasive mental manipulation to detect the mental phrasing of someone touching the void opening.  It was this Effect that identified the aforementioned mental phrasing Variables, which then hooked to the Reactive Activation Method.  This was then connected directly to the central Effect with the Pattern Cohesion net, which would manipulate the walls of the transformed pocket to push forward the items corresponding to each of the mental phrases.  The fourth Effect was the aforementioned void carriers, which worked as an amorphous sheathe that not only covered the entirety of the Pattern Net, but also camouflaged the Fusion from the outside, meaning that it would look like a normal bag – apart from the “void” of Mana in the area for those sensitive to such things.

Of course, these Effects all hinged on the actual void itself being contained within the pocket and not leaking or spilling forth out of control.  This was accomplished by a pair of Effects that worked in conjunction with each other, making the process a little more complicated than he originally considered it would be, but he eventually figured it out after mentally working through the problems that might arise.

The first of the pair was the actual void itself, which was then directed to push down and fill the Pattern net like a bladder inflating, though since it didn’t really have any mass, it was more that the net conformed around the void that was being created.  It had been tough at first remembering exactly what it felt like being in the void, not because he had forgotten, but because it had been an extremely frightening experience that he didn’t relish reliving.  Unfortunately for him, it had been so ingrained in his memories that it was easy to call up and remember every little nuance of the void, to the point where it felt natural to recreate it in his Fusion; it was as if he had drowned in an ocean and miraculously survived, and from that point on he knew everything there was to know about water.  In this case, it was something entirely different, but the principle remained the same.

The last Effect was what kept the void contained on a plane that cut off immediately at the mouth of the bag.  This was, by far, the hardest part to come up with, because it seemed impossible to stop what was, in essence… nothing.  However, remembering how he had used the inverse of one of his Fusions before when he designed his Weaken Fusion which was in opposition to Strengthen, he did the same to the void.  The end result was strange, as it was something he’d never seen before, but what he was expecting it to do was create a porous barrier of pure matter that acted as a lid to the void pocket.  Ideally, it would have a slight bit of resistance, so that you could feel that it was there, but it wouldn’t prevent items from moving in and out of the void.

At least, that was the theory.  He had yet to test any of this out, as all the different parts had to be included for it to even work.  So, this was officially his test…

…and he just hoped that he didn’t blow himself up – or worse.

Reactivating his hyper-focused state, Larek blocked out all distractions and started to pump Mana into the oddly shaped formation for the first time.  As the Mana was funneled in through the Mana Cost section, he made sure to keep every component of the Fusion firmly in his mind even as he traced the Mana flowing smoothly through the—

Uh, oh.

Near the Magnitude 1 and Reactive Activation Method was a slight break in the containment barriers that he must have missed, but thankfully he caught it before it could cause a problem.  Using his Pattern Manipulation mid-process was extraordinarily difficult, considering he was trying to hold everything together, but he managed to mend and strengthen the barrier so that there was no more potential for rupture once enough Mana entered the formation.  As he finished that, he spotted two more issues he hadn’t noticed before and mentally berated himself for missing them, but he quickly patched them up and made them better than before.

With more Mana flowing through it constantly, he kept an eye out for any other issues, but it seemed as though the three he found earlier were all there was.  He was still cautious as he started ramping up the flow of Mana into the formation, but he didn’t spot anything of concern.  All there was now was keeping all of the different components as firm in his mind as possible, which was extremely hard to do and pushed the limit of his concentration.  With such a complicated and inherently different Fusion, he was at – or even beyond – the height of his abilities as a Fusionist, and one little slip up would be enough for the whole thing to catastrophically fail.

Yet, even as his mind strained to keep his focus, and sweat poured down his face from the stress on his body, Larek was absolutely loving it.  It was this feeling of pushing his limits against a challenge that seemed like it should be impossible that made him fall in love with Fusions in the first place.  As much as it was dangerous to attempt such a radical Fusion, it was also the promise of success that made him keep going.

If his focus and concentration would’ve allowed it, he would’ve laughed with joy at this testing of himself against this powerful and complicated Fusion; alas, the most he could do was smile slightly as he felt the last of the Mana being absorbed into the Mana Cost section of the formation, before it stopped completely.

Larek held his breath as he directed the Fusion to *click* into place along the mouth of the leather bag. 

For an eternity of a second, nothing happened. He froze where he was sitting as he stared at the Fusion and the bag, worried that he had done something horrifically wrong. 

But then he felt, more than saw, a darkness so complete it looked like the absence of anything resembling light had suddenly appeared in the mouth of bag, accompanied by a deep, but brief, *thrum* that startled him. 

Whatever else happened after that was lost as he was bombarded by notifications.

New Fusion learned!

Void Pocket +1

Activation Method(s): Permanent, Reactive

Effect: Strengthens leather

Effect: Creates a flexible net of Pattern Cohesion that can expand and contract upon specific mental phrasing

Effect: Creates a void carrier envelop that surrounds Pattern Cohesion net and external Fusion

Effect: Creates a pocket of pure void within the Pattern Cohesion net

Effect: Creates a barrier composed of flexible, porous matter to contain the pocket of pure void

Effect(s): Using non-invasive mental manipulation, the Reactive Activation Method initiates upon detection of mental phrasing accompanied by the physical breaking of the matter barrier

Input(s): Mental phrasing, physical detection upon the matter barrier

Variable(s): Mental phrasing of “One”, “Two”, “Three” … “One Hundred Nine-Nine”, “Two Hundred”

Variable(s): Mental phrasing of “Empty Everything”

Magnitude: 100% increase in leather durability, 10 cubic feet of void space

Mana Cost: 30,000

Pattern Cohesion: 250

Fusion Time: 29 hours

Magical Detection has reached Level 40!

Magical Detection has reached Level 41!

Pattern Manipulation has reached Level 40!

……

Pattern Manipulation has reached Level 50!

Pattern Recognition has reached Level 39!

……

Pattern Recognition has reached Level 43!

Spellcasting Focus has reached Level 38!

Spellcasting Focus has reached Level 39!

Multi-effect Fusion Focus has reached Level 50!

……

Multi-effect Fusion Focus has reached Level 54!

Mana Control has reached Level 60!

Mana Control has reached Level 61!

Fusion has reached Level 60!

Fusion has reached Level 61!

Pattern Formation has reached Level 60!

Pattern Formation has reached Level 61!

You have reached Level 34 and have 24 available AP to distribute!

You have reached Level 35 and have 49 available AP to distribute!

Congratulations!

Due to your exhaustive study of spell patterns, unique Fusion formations, and your own internal Pattern Cohesion, you have unlocked the Pattern Master Specialization!

Requirements:

Patternal Specialization

Pattern Manipulation Skill of 50

Pattern Formation Skill of 40

Pattern Recognition Skill of 40

Fusion Skill of 40

Intellect of at least 50

Acuity of at least 50

Pneuma of at least 50

The Pattern Master Specialization also provides these benefits:

Ability to utilize Pattern Cohesion inside Fusions in unique ways

Ability to manipulate up to 25% of your Pattern Cohesion outside of spell patterns and Fusion formations

Heightened ability to manipulate your internal pattern

15% reduction in Pattern Cohesion requirements for all spells and Fusions

The Pattern Master Specialization automatically replaces the Patternal Specialization.

Congratulations!

You have unlocked the Grandmaster Fusionist Specialization!

Requirements:

Mana Control Skill of 60

Pattern Formation Skill of 60

Fusion Skill of 60

Knowledge of at least 50 different types of Fusions

The Grandmaster Fusionist Specialization also provides these benefits:

20% reduction in Mana Cost for all Fusions

20% reduction in Pattern Cohesion requirements for all Fusions

20% reduction in Fusion Time for all Fusions

Warning!  The Specializations Combat Fusionist and Grandmaster Fusionist are mutually exclusive!

Do you wish to accept the Grandmaster Fusionist Specialization to replace Combat Fusioni—

Congratulations!

Due to your unique and persistent nature, you have unlocked the Pattern Fusionist Specialization!

Requirements:

Pattern Master Specialization

Mana Control Skill of 50

Pattern Formation Skill of 50

Fusion Skill of 50

Intellect of at least 60

Acuity of at least 60

Pneuma of at least 60

Knowledge of at least 40 different types of Fusions

The Pattern Fusionist Specialization also provides these benefits:

25% reduction in Mana Cost for all Fusions

25% reduction in Pattern Cohesion requirements for all Fusions

25% reduction in Fusion Time for all Fusions

Warning!  The Specializations Grandmaster Fusionist, Combat Fusionist, and Pattern Fusionist are mutually exclusive!

Do you wish to replace Combat Fusionist with Pattern Fusio—

Congratulations, Guardian!

Due to your unique and persistent nature, you have unlocked the Martial Pattern Fusionist Specialization!

Requirements:

Pattern Fusionist Specialization

Mana Control Skill of 50

Pattern Formation Skill of 50

Pattern Manipulation Skill of 50

Fusion Skill of 50

Pain Immunity Skill evolution

Body Regeneration Skill of 30

Intellect of at least 100

Acuity of at least 100

Pneuma of at least 100

Strength of at least 100

Body of at least 100

Agility of at least 100

Knowledge of at least 40 different types of Fusions

Unlocked at least 2 different Weapon Expertise Skills

Access to at least a combined 20 Spells and Battle Arts

Has externally used Pattern Cohesion in a combat environment to kill a target

The Martial Pattern Fusionist Specialization also provides these benefits:

50% increase to manipulatable Pattern Cohesion when used in combat

25% reduction in Mana Cost for all Fusions

25% reduction in Pattern Cohesion requirements for all Fusions

25% reduction in Fusion Time for all Fusions

20% reduction in Mana Cost for all cast Spells

20% increase in the magnitude of all cast Spells

20% increase in the range of all cast Spells

15% reduction in Stama cost for all Battle Arts

15% increase in effectiveness of all Battle Arts

15% increase in duration of all Battle Arts

Warning!  The Specializations Grandmaster Fusionist, Pattern Fusionist, and Combat Fusionist have been overridden by Martial Pattern Fusionist!

Martial Pattern Fusionist Specialization automatically accepted!

Ugh, not again!

The sudden influx of Skill Levels along with not just one, but two personal Levels, was more than enough to nearly knock Larek out; when he added on his Specialization changes, he was lucky to stay conscious.  That being said, he was still knocked backwards, his head hitting the wall behind the bed, but the very minor pain that quickly disappeared was completely ignored as he struggled to hold onto his perception of the world rather than let it fade away entirely.  As he slowly recovered, he studied his notifications a bit more than what his initial glance at them all told him, and he was pleasantly surprised by a few things.

First, it seemed as though pushing himself with a completely new type of Fusion had done wonders for his Skill Levels.  He had already improved them somewhat over the last few days, but this Fusion pushed almost everything over a few thresholds that had been holding him back, especially the ones around Level 60.  The biggest change was probably in his Pattern Manipulation Skill, as he had used his Pattern in ways that were both unique and powerful, which elicited so many improvements to the Skill.  The Skill Levels he achieved also gave him two personal Levels, which brought him to Level 35 and granted him another 49 AP to spend, but he wasn’t quite sure where to place them yet, so he held them in reserve for the moment.

As for his Specializations, his Patternal Specialization got an upgrade to Pattern Master, of which there were a few benefits that had improved greatly.  First, there was a note relating to using his Pattern in unique ways inside of Fusions, just like he had done with his new creation.  Secondly, he could now use up to 25% of his Pattern Cohesion outside of his body – an improvement over the 10% of the prior Specialization.  Then there was a “heightened” ability to manipulate his internal pattern, which was something he hadn’t played around with, but he intuitively had an idea how it would work; he had a feeling it would come in handy in the near-future, but he wasn’t ready to use that feature of the Specialization quite yet.  Lastly, it also added a 15% reduction in Pattern Cohesion for all spells and Fusions – an increase over the 5% that the previous Specialization provided.

That was all amazing, of course, but it was the other Specializations he received that caught his attention.  First, he had unlocked Grandmaster Fusionist!  It was the same as his old instructor, Shinpai, though he had a hard time imagining himself with the same abilities as the old man; even with all he had done, he still didn’t think he measured up to the sheer expertise and knowledge that the Grandmaster Fusionist possessed.

But that wasn’t all, because his new Pattern Master Specialization also unlocked the Pattern Fusionist Specialization, which was even better in some ways.  That lasted all of a moment before it was overridden by his new Martial Pattern Fusionist Specialization, which confused him for a few seconds.  It looked similar to Combat Fusionist, with a few more requirements, of course, but when he looked into the benefits, he realized what the Specialization was all about.

The 50% increase to manipulatable Pattern Cohesion when used in combat pretty much gave it away.

Essentially, it was a way to further his use of his Pattern in combat, something that he’d been doing ever since he learned how to wield his resource outside of his body.  Now, not only was he able to utilize an additional 15% of his maximum Pattern Cohesion outside of his body with his Pattern Master Specialization, but when in combat, he could use even more.

After looking at all of the changes, he glanced again at his new Void Pocket +1 Fusion, and he was surprised yet again.  Yes, it was expensive in terms of Mana Cost and Pattern Cohesion, especially at Magnitude 1, at 30,000 and 250 respectively, but he also saw that the void pocket that was created could contain a full 10 cubic feet of space.  He had originally thought it would be much smaller, and while 10 cubic feet wasn’t a lot, it was around 10 times as much volume than the actual leather bag that was used in his experiment could hold. 

So, overall, it was a huge success.

As he smiled down at it once he recovered enough from his notifications to see straight, he looked over at Nedira, who was standing at the edge of the room, still seemingly frightened of what he was doing.

“Is it over?”

Larek chuckled and waved her toward the bed, excited to show off his new creation.


Chapter 17

“That’s… it?  That’s all you need?”

Larek nodded, eager to get moving.

“Yes, that’s all we need,” he confirmed, looking at Nedira to ensure she didn’t need anything else.  She appeared to have mostly recovered from her near-death experience and subsequent healing, though he knew from how long it took her to wake up that morning that she was still feeling some of the exhaustion effects that had plagued her during her recovery.  Fortunately, her increased appetite after she woke up was easily satiated, given the increase in food being harvested from the nearby fields, as well as from the teams of hunters going out and killing the local monsters for their meat.  In just the few days that they had the Fusions that Larek had created for them, there wasn’t a single person that was still starving, and they now had a surplus that they were storing in case they needed it. 

To help preserve some of that food, Larek had given Vanders and Fendra his original Void Pocket +1 bag that he’d created, as well as two other ones that were even larger at Magnitude 2 and 3.  He had experimented with making progressively larger versions of the Fusion to ensure that he wasn’t hitting his limit of Pattern Cohesion costs, which was why he stopped after first making a Magnitude 4 and then a Magnitude 5 Void Pocket.  The base Pattern Cohesion for a Void Pocket +5 Fusion was 18,750, though with his bonuses granted to him because of his Specializations, it was 40% less than that total.  Despite the hefty decrease, he was hesitant to try a Magnitude 6 version because he would likely be cutting it close to his maximum at that point. 

Not that he really needed to push it to that point, of course.  The growth of the void space inside of each subsequently larger Fusion was substantial, and it wasn’t a linear progression.  At the same time, it wasn’t exponential growth, either, but somewhere in between.  For the Magnitude 1 version, it could hold a total of 10 cubic feet of space – which was impressive all by itself. 

At Magnitude 2, the pocket could hold 50 cubic feet.

Magnitude 3 increased this further by a factor of 6, at 300 cubic feet.

A total of 2,000 cubic feet was possible at Magnitude 4.

And finally, at Magnitude 5, the Void Pocket granted 15,000 cubic feet – more than he ever thought he would ever need for storage.  It was the equivalent to a room that was 30 feet by 50 feet with 10 foot ceilings, which was a larger space than he thought he’d ever be able to fill up.  In fact, since he didn’t add any additional mental phrasing to the Fusion, he was doubtful that he’d ever fill it up completely – unless he just started to shove in all sorts of things without a phrase, of course.  All of that was to say that it was more than was needed at the moment, and even after obtaining two dozen large packages of freshly butchered monster meat, loaves of freshly baked bread bundled into 10 wrapped bunches of a dozen each, and a dozen large baskets of fresh vegetables, he’d barely put a dent in the available space. 

Thankfully, he had used the Magnitude 5 Void Pocket Fusion on a large sack instead of a bag, one with a large 3-foot-wide opening, allowing him to place larger items inside. After some experimentation with his original creation, he quickly discovered that as long as something was bundled together when it was shoved inside the bag, it would count as a single item for his mental phrasing.  This allowed him to have 120 loaves of bread which only took up 10 phrases instead of 120, because they were bundled together by the dozen. 

Retrieving items from the Void Pockets was extremely easy, as well – as long as you remembered what phrasing you used to place an item inside.  If you forgot, it was easy enough to stick your hand inside – which felt oddly cold and strange – and continue to mentally name off numbers until you got what you wanted, but that typically didn’t happen that often.  For instance, it was easy enough to remember that “One” through “Twenty-four” were meat, “Twenty-five” through “Thirty-four” were bread, and so on.  Only if he had wildly different items inside would it become complicated, but by that time he would have to start taking notes.

Then again, Larek could simply cheat and manipulate the Fusion so that he changed the mental phrasing to whatever he wanted it to be without having to redo the entire thing.  His Pattern Manipulation Skill was even more incredible than before, and changing such things was almost as simple as a thought, though it still took some focus to ensure he didn’t mess anything up.  That proficiency also applied to his Fusions, especially his newest one, which was made even easier to create than the original – even at higher Magnitudes.  Each version he made took around 90% of the time it took him for the previous one, thanks to his higher Skill Levels and familiarity with the Fusion; while they still required a hyper-focused state to maintain his concentration on all of the different elements, each subsequent Void Pocket he made was a lot less stressful for him and didn’t push him to his limit anymore.

He even managed to increase a few of his Skills that hadn’t already maxed out, though not nearly as much as the original one had accomplished.  A few more increased in Level after he decided to take advantage of his new storage space, over the last day of Nedira’s recovery, to create a plethora of Fusions that he thought he might need in the future, especially as he traveled home.  Fortunately, another beneficial aspect of the Void Pocket was revealed when he placed a staff inside which had his VREP Fusion on it, just to see if it would fit and wouldn’t harm the Fusion; it not only didn’t harm the staff or the Fusion on it, but it also seemed to halt all ambient Mana flow while inside.

That sounded as if that could be a disaster, as then the Fusions would run out of Mana and start to fail.  However, because time seemed to stop inside the void, there was no need for the Fusions to absorb any ambient Mana to keep functioning.  What that meant was that he could place as many Fusions inside as he wanted and they wouldn’t come to harm. What it also meant was that he could place them together and they wouldn’t cannibalize each other as they attempted to absorb any hint of Mana around them. 

Therefore, as long as he was quick about it, he could stack dozens of similar Fusions together in a box and then place it inside the Void Pocket. Normally, they would begin to fight each other for ambient Mana, destroying most of them in the process, but they didn’t have that problem in the void.  In other words, he’d found a way to transport as many Fusions as he wanted and didn’t have to worry about them falling apart as their areas of ambience fought with each other.

So, he created Fusions that he thought he might need during their travels, especially if they came across similar towns or cities that were suffering as Tarvada had been.  Using his Focused Division Skill, he created dozens of Furrow Field and Strong Watered Growth, as well as a few Secure Hideaways on some additional steel plates that Vanders provided to him free of charge.  He also had more medallion necklaces, bracelets, and anklets with stat boosts, Skill boosts, and healing Fusions, as well as a few dozen more staves that had the VREP Fusion – so that they would never be without one again.  Since he had the time, he also used some simple stones to create his offensive Fusions again, including a padded box with over a hundred Weaken stones, and separate boxes of Binding Thorns, Frozen Zone, Healing Shelter, and Stone Shredder Dome.  With a few of them stored on his belt at all times, joined by his newest axe (to replace his lost best friend) that was also provided to him by Vanders, he was as good to go as was possible. 

It cost the people of Tarvada a generous helping of accessories and steel plates, as well as the fruits of their labors in the fields and the Aperture monsters that were slaughtered for their meat, but he felt it was a more than fair trade.  In essence, he was leaving them in much better shape than they had been when he first arrived, which was what he had been hoping for when he agreed to help them.

Of course, if it hadn’t been for the fact that Nedira needed a safe place to recuperate, he probably wouldn’t have stayed long enough to do everything he had done, but he had to admit that he was glad for the excuse to help.  He wasn’t planning on doing that everywhere, of course, but if he could assist here and there as they journeyed to the northeast toward Rushwood, he didn’t mind taking a few minutes every once in a while to pass out some Fusions to those in need. 

“Then… you’re really leaving?  We can’t convince you to stay?” Vanders asked pleadingly, but Larek could tell he didn’t think it would work.

“No, we have to go.  By now, you should have everything you need, nor only for Tarvada to prosper, but for you,” he answered, looking at Vanders, Fendra, and the few “Providers” that were watching Nedira and Larek getting ready to leave, “to get out there and start closing the nearby Apertures that have grown out of control.”

Vanders nodded.  “That’s next on our agenda.  As for the Calamities—”

“That’s a whole different beast to face, I know.  But I’m sure someone will find a way to put a stop to them,” Larek said as confidently as he could.  Of course, he had no idea who could possibly close them if no one had any success in doing so up to this point, but that wasn’t really his focus at the moment.  From what he had heard over the last few days, the massive Calamity Apertures were at least being contained and not growing much larger than they already were, so the people of the Kingdom still had some time.

“Thank you for all that you’ve done to help us, Larek, and I apologize again for what Borex—”

“Think nothing of it,” the brand-new Martial Pattern Fusionist said, holding up his hand.  “In fact, I’d appreciate it if you didn’t mention that I was here; too much attention can be, as you can imagine, problematic.”

The Martial Provider nodded and agreed.  “I think we can do that.  It’s a small price to pay for all that you’ve done for not only us, but for everyone in Tarvada.”

With a few more exchanged words that were a bit overly thankful for his taste, all of which was becoming a little uncomfortable to Larek, he walked out with the Void Pocket sack held tightly in his left hand, while his right hovered near his new axe.  While he was fairly certain that these people he’d helped wouldn’t try anything at this point, it was also clear that they didn’t want him to leave; at this point, after his experiences over the last year, he wouldn’t put it past them to try and keep him there against his will.

Thankfully, his and Nedira’s journey out of Tarvada was completely unhindered, even as they were accompanied outside and past the walls.  He couldn’t help but smile in pride as he saw the volunteer farmers – though he supposed they weren’t volunteers anymore, as it was their job now – working with the Fusions he had created in the fields.  Everywhere he looked, he saw the crops that were planted in various stages of planting, growing, and harvesting, and large teams of people were transporting the finished product back to the refugee areas outside of the walls, in addition to bringing it inside.  There was a general feel of prosperity and excitement, when before there had been only sadness and impending death – a definite change for the better.

As they walked to the northeast, Vanders and the few Providers who had accompanied them stopped at the edge of the fields, and Larek and Nedira gave them a wave as they said goodbye for the last time.  They walked for another 10 minutes or so until they were behind a small hill that blocked them from the view of those they left behind, where the Fusionist stopped.

“Set that down for a moment, and I’ll see about getting us some transportation,” Larek said, and he set his new Void Pocket sack down on the ground.  Nedira did the same with her own Void Pocket +4 bag, which was smaller than his own, but it also held some various food items – just in case something happened to the main one.  She immediately sat down next to it, her breathing already slightly labored from the exertion of traveling even this far, and she laid her staff across her lap as she watched him work.

“Let’s just hope this works, because I’ll feel really embarrassed if we have to go back to Tarvada,” he told her with a slight grin.  She didn’t look amused, but she also didn’t say anything that would interrupt what he was doing.

While he was confident, he hadn’t exactly made anything like this before, nor used it in the way he was planning.  Thankfully, his new Pattern Master Specialization helped him greatly here, as he could now manipulate up to 25% of his maximum Pattern Cohesion instead of his prior 10% limit.  To get a better understanding of what that meant, he looked at his Status to see all that had changed over the last week or so. 

Larek Holsten

Martial Pattern Fusionist

Healer

Pattern Master

Level 35

Advancement Points (AP): 10/25

Available AP to Distribute: 49

Available Aetheric Force (AF): 485

Stama: 2300/2300

Mana: 3720/3720

Strength: 115 [230] (+)

Body: 115 [230] (+)

Agility: 115 [230] (+)

Intellect: 186 [372] (+)

Acuity: 140 [280] (+)

Pneuma: 2,070 [4,140]

Pattern Cohesion: 41,400/41,400

Mage Abilities:

Spell – Bark Skin

Spell – Binding Roots

Spell – Dousing Spray

Spell – Fireball

Spell – Furrow

Spell – Ice Spike

Spell – Lesser Restoration

Spell – Light Bending

Spell – Light Orb

Spell – Localized Anesthesia

Spell – Minor Mending

Spell – Nature’s Renewal

Spell – Pyroblast

Spell – Rapid Plant Growth

Spell – Repelling Gust

Spell – Static Illusion

Spell – Stone Fist

Spell – Wall of Thorns

Spell – Water Jet

Spell – Wind Barrier

Fusion – Acuity Boost

Fusion – Adjustable Illumination +8

Fusion – Adjustable Illumination +10

Fusion – Agility Boost

Fusion – Area Chill

Fusion – Automatic Ice Repulsion Field +8

Fusion – Automatic Strong Temperature Adjustment +10

Fusion – Binding Thorns +1

Fusion – Binding Thorns +10

Fusion – Body Boost

Fusion – Camouflage Sphere

Fusion – Directional Illumination +7

Fusion – Directional Illumination +8

Fusion – Extreme Heat

Fusion – Flaming Ball

Fusion – Flying Stone

Fusion – Frozen Zone +1

Fusion – Frozen Zone +10

Fusion – Furrow Field +6

Fusion – Graduated Illumination Strong

Fusion – Graduated Parahealing

Fusion – Healing Shelter +1

Fusion – Healing Shelter +8

Fusion – Healing Surge

Fusion – Icy Spike

Fusion – Illuminate

Fusion – Illusionary Image

Fusion – Intellect Boost

Fusion – Intellect and Acuity Boost

Fusion – Left Gust of Air +4

Fusion – Left Gust of Air +7

Fusion – Mage Skill Hexa-Boost +10

Fusion – Mage Stat Boost Suite +10

Fusion – Martial Skill Hexa-Boost +10

Fusion – Martial Stat Boost Suite +10

Fusion – Muffle Sound

Fusion – Muffling Air Deflection Barrier

Fusion – Multi-Resistance

Fusion – Multi-Thruster +6

Fusion – Omni Boost +10

Fusion – Paralytic Light

Fusion – Paralytic Touch

Fusion – Perceptive Misdirection +1

Fusion – Personal Air Deflection Barrier

Fusion – Pneuma Boost

Fusion – Red and White Illuminate

Fusion – Repelling Barrier

Fusion – Repelling Gust of Air

Fusion – Right Gust of Air +4

Fusion – Right Gust of Air +7

Fusion – Secure Hideaway +10

Fusion – Sharpen Edge

Fusion – Space Heater

Fusion – Spellcasting Focus Boost

Fusion – Stone Shredder Dome +1

Fusion – Stone Shredder Dome +6

Fusion – Strength Boost

Fusion – Strength and Body Boost

Fusion – Strengthen and Sharpen Edge

Fusion – Strengthen

Fusion – Strengthen Area +1

Fusion – Strengthen Area +10

Fusion – Strong Watered Growth +7

Fusion – Temperature Regulator

Fusion – Tree Skin

Fusion – Variable Elemental Gust Sphere +7

Fusion – Variable Repeating Elemental Projectile +8

Fusion – Water Stream

Fusion – Weaken +10

Fusion – Void Pocket

Martial Abilities:

Battle Art – Furious Rampage

Battle Art – Consuming Speed

Battle Art – Tactician Mind

Mage Skills:

Spellcasting Focus Level 40[50]/50 (500 AF)

Magical Detection Level 42[50]/50 (500 AF)

Pattern Recognition Level 45[50]/50 (500 AF)

Pattern Manipulation Level 50/50 (500 AF)

Multi-effect Fusion Focus Level 55/61 (610 AF)

Focused Division Level 56/61 (610 AF)

Mana Control Level 61[61]/61 (610 AF)

Fusion Level 61[61]/61 (610 AF)

Pattern Formation Level 61[61]/61 (610 AF)

Martial Skills:

Blunt Weapon Expertise Level 1/35 (350 AF)

Stama Subjugation Level 2/35 (350 AF)

Bladed Weapon Expertise Level 3[13]/35 (350 AF)

Unarmed Fighting Level 3[13]/35 (350 AF)

Throwing Level 19[29]/35 (350 AF)

Dodge Level 25[35]/35 (350 AF)

Pain Immunity Level 20/20 (N/A)

Body Regeneration Level 38[48]/50 (500 AF)

General Skills:

Cooking Level 8

Beast Control Level 9

Bargaining Level 10

Writing Level 11

Leadership Level 16

Saw Handling Level 15

Reading Level 17

Long-Distance Running Level 20

Speaking Level 23

Listening Level 44

Axe Handling Level 92

He still had all 49 of his AP to spend but hadn’t yet because he wasn’t sure where to put it all – and hadn’t really wanted to think about it while he was busy working with Fusions and getting ready to leave.  Now, though, he had a chance to think about what it was he needed going forward.  As had been the priority lately, he still needed to become faster and stronger, while at the same time increasing his total Pattern Cohesion – which was becoming more and more important every time he used it in a new way.  The best way to do all that was to increase his Martial stats – so that was exactly what he did.  Adding a single AP every few seconds to Strength, Body, and Agility, he used 30 AP to bring those three stats to 125.  He immediately felt a difference in his body and the way he could move, though the change was relatively slight; he thought he would discover how much had actually changed once he got into a fight against a monster or two.

As his Body stat went up, so too did his Pneuma stat, which hit a total of 2,250 before his boosts, and 4,500 with them.  That equated to a new Pattern Cohesion maximum of a whopping 45,000; when he considered that he could now use 25% of that externally, he realized that he could manipulate 11,250 Pattern Cohesion for whatever he wanted to use it on.

With 19 AP left, he was debating using it to increase his Martial stats again, but decided against it.  After pumping so much Mana into his Fusions over the last few days, he realized that he could always use a higher Mana maximum, so he pumped the last of his AP into Intellect, bringing it to 205.  Looking again at his stats, he was more than satisfied with what he saw.

Strength: 125 [250] (+)

Body: 125 [250] (+)

Agility: 125 [250] (+)

Intellect: 205 [410] (+)

Acuity: 140 [280] (+)

Pneuma: 2,250 [4,500]

Pattern Cohesion: 45,000/45,000

With his new ability to manipulate more than twice the amount he could previously, as well as a higher maximum Pattern Cohesion, Larek got to work on his new transportation.  While he had enough practice with his Pattern lately that he could make something more complicated, he kept it simple instead.  Pulling out his Pattern Cohesion was even easier than it was before, and he quickly pictured it as a solid, open-topped box that was 5 feet wide on each side and had 5-foot-tall walls.  The only bits of “flair” he added to it were four extrusions on the inside of the box that would act as handles that they could hold on to while it was moving, but that was it.

“It’s… basic, I guess?” Nedira said with skepticism in her voice when she saw his Pattern-based creation.

“I know, I know; it’s not too fancy, but it just needs to work for now.  If I find that I can maintain something with a little more customization, I’ll change it up.” 

Larek practiced moving it around with his mind, finding that it responded instantly to his thoughts, which also meant that it moved fast.  He immediately saw some problems with that as it would probably hurt even him if he was in it and stopped or started too abruptly, so he spent some time practicing with smaller, slower movements that were a lot smoother.  Once he got the hang of it, he jumped inside and practiced with him in the box, immediately finding that it strained him a little more with his additional weight.  It wasn’t horrible by any means, but he knew that after a while it would start to become too much; the strain was only made worse when he moved too quickly or went up higher than 50 or so feet from the surface for some reason.  All of that meant that he’d have to take it relatively slow and stay near the ground instead of flying high into the sky like he originally imagined, but at least it seemed as if it would work.

When he was confident he could both maintain his flying Pattern box and control it with smooth movements, he set it down, reabsorbed the Pattern Cohesion that he’d invested into it, and then walked over to Nedira.

“Ready to go?”

Nodding, she said, “More than ready.”

With a slight yelp, Larek picked her up slightly and formed the box around them so that she wouldn’t have to climb in, before placing his bag and her bag in opposite corners of the conveyance.  Nedira sat with her back against one wall and held onto one of the handles nearby, and while Larek did the same with the one in front of him, he rose into the air about 15 feet and started moving it northeast.  He immediately sensed that the strain was slightly higher on his concentration with Nedira’s weight inside, but it was barely noticeable compared to when he had gotten inside the first time.  He was doubly glad that he had created the Void Pockets now, because they made everything inside the bags weightless; if they had been forced to carry their supplies the old way, he’d probably have to stop every few minutes – if there was room for it in the first place, of course.

Now, though, he thought he could go for at least a few hours before taking a break.  And each hour they moved to the northeast was another hour closer to home.


Chapter 18

It didn’t take long before they encountered the edge of their first Aperture territory, which was obvious enough because the environment changed from rolling hills of grass to rivers and deep ponds.  Normally, that wouldn’t have been too out of place, but they abruptly appeared upon the landscape with a clear delineation, cut off precisely where the territory began.  Looking at it closer, there was essentially a straight line where a rushing river appeared out of nowhere to flow toward the center of the Aperture’s territory, making it quite obvious what was going on.

“Go around?” Nedira asked, but Larek shook his head.  While it wasn’t currently what his companions had called Surging, the Fusionist didn’t want to pass up an opportunity to gain some more Aetheric Force – especially since he had hit his maximum Skill Level in four of his Mage Skills, and the others weren’t far behind.  With all the advancements he’d made lately, he wanted to take advantage of his abilities when he got the chance to sit down and make more Fusions.

Granted, he was still in a hurry to get home, but he also didn’t want to neglect his own development – and he would be able to help out the local area as well by thinning the monsters in the nearby Apertures.  Besides, with how slow he had to keep his Pattern-based box to ensure he didn’t strain himself too much, it was still going to take a few weeks of travel to get back up to Rushwood.  It was still slightly faster than his Air Skimmer, at least; otherwise, he might have rethought his transportation plans.

Still, it wouldn’t be the smartest idea to simply rush into the Aperture’s territory without knowing what they were up against.  Fortunately, he felt fairly confident that there wouldn’t be a repeat of the last disastrous outcome from their last venture into an Aperture; they were both much better equipped to defend themselves, and his Pattern box wasn’t going to explode – or even get knocked out of the sky once he had it locked down with his mind. 

Edging up to the nearest river in the territory, he looked down into the deep rushing waters—

—only to pull himself back as something shot out of the water at his face.  As it passed by the box in an arcing dive back into the water, he was able to better see what it was – though he had no name for it.

Thankfully, Nedira had also seen it and was much more knowledgeable.  Despite missing some of her memories, she remembered more of her Monster Knowledge classes than he did.

“Bladeshark.  It can leap up to 40 feet above the surface of the water at great speeds, as you saw, and it uses its blade-shaped head and upper body to cut through its victims.  Their biggest vulnerability is that they are practically helpless when on land, which is why when they were seen from Scissions, they were typically accompanied by a miniature flood that poured out of the opening,” she recited from memory.

That matched what he saw of the monster, as it was approximately 6 feet long and relatively narrow throughout its whole body, looking more like a fat sword than a shark.  It reminded him of Penelope’s swords, in fact, which made him wonder where the blue-haired Martial ended up.

There was a thump from below as the Bladeshark attempted to cut into the Pattern box and completely failed.  Larek quickly looked over the side to see the monster crashing back down into the water with the tip of its head bent awkwardly.  He chuckled at the proof that his Pattern Cohesion was strong stuff, as he couldn’t even sense a dent in his construct. 

Distracted by looking at where the injured Bladeshark had fallen in, Larek was nearly skewered by a second one that shot out of the water away from where he was looking, and it was only the activation of the Automatic Ice Repulsion Field that he had on his clothing that saved him from being hit.  Instead, the Bladeshark slammed into the sudden plate of ice that appeared in front of it, skittering off at an angle while leaving cracks in the ice behind. 

Needless to say, he leaned away from the edge of his Pattern box to ensure that something like that didn’t happen again.

“Normal tactics in the past had Martials physically blocking their emergence and keeping them out of the water while Mages blasted them with spells.  Not sure if that will work here with our positioning, but we can always try,” Nedira offered.

Larek thought about it for a moment before shaking his head.  “I don’t think that will be necessary.  They’re coming for me already, and all I have to do is be ready for them.  My Agility is high enough that I should be able to see and react to their appearance in enough time.”

“What are you going to do?” she asked.

The Fusionist unfastened his axe from his belt and held it out in front of him.  While it wasn’t identical in shape and appearance as his old best friend, it was close enough to count as a Logging tool for his Axe Handling Skill to function properly.  “It’s time to see if their blade is as sharp as mine.”

“Huh?  What do you mean—?”

Instead of answering, Larek leaned back over the edge of the box, and within a few seconds he saw what he was looking for.  It was almost impossible to spot them under the surface of the river, as their coloring seemed to blend in with the riverbed, but when they launched themselves from the water with a small splash, it was easy enough to spot them.  As it shot toward him aiming for his face – or more accurately, his neck – he quickly adjusted the angle of his axe blade so that it was pointing directly towards the airborne shark. 

Unfortunately for the monster, once it had launched itself out of the water, it had no way to adjust its trajectory.  As a result, the tip of the Bladeshark went headfirst into his axe, and his tool went through its hardened, sharpened, exoskeletal blade with only the slightest of resistance.  The monster was split in half as Larek held the axe steady with his prodigious Strength stat, allowing the murderous shark to essentially kill itself in the process.

It all happened in less than a second as a disturbing *riiiiip* sound accompanied the splitting of the Bladeshark.  Its speed was so great that the two halves continued past him along the same rough trajectory, with all the spilt blood following behind them.  He watched as the now-dead monster fell back into the river, and he was just barely in time to adjust his axe blade again for the dented-head shark that attempted to catch him unawares.  It, too, hit the axe, but because of its misshapen head, all his tool managed to do was cut entirely through the upper third of its head and body before coming out the other side. 

That was apparently enough to kill it, however, as when it fell back into the water, a cloud of recognizable Corrupted Aetheric Force appeared and joined the first Bladeshark’s cloud as they shot into Larek.  He found out a short time later that each of the Bladesharks that he killed was worth 25 Aetheric Force; not the best, but also not the worst – especially since he barely had to work to get it. 

“I guess my axe is sharper,” he remarked with a grin at Nedira, only for his smile to slip from his face as he looked at her.

“How about we find a different method?” she suggested, wiping off the blood that somehow splashed on her face from the last Bladeshark. She spit out some additional blood from her mouth a second later as her face scrunched up in disgust. 

“Sorry about that,” he apologized, before helping to wipe off the rest of the blood with the bottom of his shirt.  “Yeah, we can try something else.”

Now that they knew what they were up against, it was fairly simple to come up with a solution.  As Larek slowly crossed the Bladeshark’s territory, the both of them leaned over the side of the box and stared down at the water below, each of them holding a Stone Shredder Dome Fusion in their left hand pointed downward and a staff with a VREP Fusion in their right.  While the monsters were quick, they weren’t fast enough to avoid a simple movement of the Stone Shredder Dome, and when they impacted the rapidly moving sharp stone they were battered and ripped apart. If they somehow survived impacting the deadly dome, they were finished off with some powerful flying stones that came from the tip of the staff.  The bony blade of the monster was strong and robust, but the rest of its body turned out to be relatively weak; as a result, it only took a few hits from flying stones along its body to kill it outright.

It wasn’t as easy as simply letting the Bladesharks slice themselves apart on his axe, nor was it necessarily as clean since the Stone Shredder Domes tended to make a mess, but it was better in a different way.

In short, it allowed Nedira to join in and fight alongside him. 

That alone was worth the change in his killing methods, as he found himself greatly enjoying the experience.  After a while, they even started a competition where they would attempt to kill the emerging Bladesharks before they could even reach the Domes, blasting them with quick reactions of the VREP Fusion on their staves.  Larek, with his high Agility stat, naturally had an advantage there, but he did his best to try and react at the same speed that Nedira showed.  While she wasn’t able to move her body and target the monsters anywhere near what Larek could accomplish, her quick mind and perception seemed to locate the emergence of the Bladesharks faster than he did.  As a result, while this didn’t exactly make the competition even, it was much closer than he had expected it to be. 

After all the fun he was having with her, time seemed to pass in an instant, and before he knew it, they were at the Aperture.

“Ready for some extreme target practice?” Larek asked with a grin.

“Bring it on.  In fact, I’m confident that I’ll kill more than you.”

He chuckled at her confident tone.  “Oh, really?  That sure of yourself, huh?”

“Yes,” she stated simply.  “You’re going down.”

“Alright, then.  Let’s get this party started.”  Without any reason to delay it longer, he aimed his staff at the Aperture and hit it with a single flying stone, making it shrink slightly in size as it was damaged.  The attack on the Aperture had the result they were looking for, however, as dozens of Bladesharks suddenly converged toward the center of the territory from all over.

Instead of simply swimming their way toward them, most of the monsters instead shot out of the water they were in at an angle, traveling hundreds of feet in a matter of seconds.  When they landed in the water, they dove down and launched themselves again, leap-frogging closer and closer in an attempt to stop those that were attacking the Aperture.

This gave Larek and Nedira the perfect opportunity to hit the Bladesharks out of the air as they came closer.  With each of them taking opposite sides of the box, they began rapidly firing flying stones at the incoming monsters, and soon enough the hopping sharks were shredded as they were hit by barrages of stony projectiles.  While he couldn’t see how well she was doing, Larek was convinced that he was much more accurate with his shots and was absolutely destroying her in their competition.

But he had forgotten that she wasn’t just some normal person wielding one of his Fusions like the volunteer hunters back in Tarvada.  Nedira was a Mage, and she showed the same magical prowess she’d shown back when they were fighting the Sand Vultures – but with the added benefit of boosted stats and protective Fusions to ensure she didn’t get hurt.

With a 100% increase in her maximum Mana and regeneration, she went wild with her spells.  Even while controlling her staff with her right hand, which continued to pummel the approaching Bladesharks out of the air, she used her left hand to rapidly create spell pattern after spell pattern.  There were Pyroblasts that caused the leaping monsters to essentially explode; long Binding Roots emerged from the few bare patches of land in between the rivers and ponds, which latched onto the Bladesharks and held them steady while she destroyed them with her staff; and then there was a brand-new spell that he immediately wanted to learn, which he knew of as Shatter. 

What Shatter did was create a large stone, approximately the size of his torso, near a distant target.  The stone wasn’t a projectile by itself, but it became one after it suddenly shattered into hundreds of sharp fragments that exploded outwards, tearing through anything nearby.  Larek could immediately see a use for something like that in a Fusion and made a mental note to ask her to teach him the spell later.

He was so distracted by watching her work that his own efforts started to fall short, letting the Bladesharks get a little too close to him.  Switching the staff to his left hand, he continued firing out flying stones as he grabbed his axe with his right, and he soon fell into a rhythm of hitting those further out with the staff and slicing through those who got too close with his axe.  It was messy work, and before long he was practically covered in shark blood, but he kept at it over the next few minutes as the numbers of monsters thinned and eventually stopped completely.

“I forgot how powerful it feels to have these boosted stats—eww, what happened?” Nedira started to say with happiness in her voice, before looking at him in horror.  Larek looked down and saw that he was absolutely covered in shark parts and blood, and that he’d collected a small pile of monster pieces at the bottom of the Pattern box. 

“I, uh—”

“Lost, is what you did.  Now, close this Aperture, go take a bath, and then let’s get moving,” she ordered, turning up her nose at his appearance.  The hint of a smile on her lips portrayed that she was playing with him.

“Yes, ma’am.  I’ll get right on that, ma’am.”

“See to it, then,” she said, before turning away and crossing her arms over her chest.  Larek just chuckled and bombarded the Aperture with more projectiles from his staff, before setting the box down on one of the few dry places in the environment.  Reabsorbing the Pattern box, all of the disgusting shark pieces fell to the ground while Larek took a dip in the now-empty river nearby.  It only took a few minutes to wash up, and Nedira used her Repelling Gust spell, one of the first he’d ever learned from her, to dry him off as he stood up to the knockback effect.  It wasn’t too much longer afterwards that they were able to get moving again once he remade the Pattern box, a smile on both of their faces at the successful closing of the Aperture – and at the fun they had in doing it.


Chapter 19

The rest of the day was more of the same, which wasn’t a bad thing at all.  They encountered another three Apertures on their journey and closed them all, stopping only twice for Larek to rest and recuperate after keeping his Pattern box together for a few hours.  After finishing off the Bladesharks, Larek had accumulated enough Aetheric Force to raise the maximum Level of his Pattern Manipulation enough to bring it to 55, and over the rest of the day he was able to do something similar for his other maxed-out Skills.  Pattern Manipulation actually gained another Level based on how he was using his Pattern Cohesion to travel, but that was about it for advancement.  Since he wasn’t really using Mana Control, Fusion, or Pattern Formation at the moment, they didn’t increase in Level despite them all being able to go up to 64 now.

Setting up a Secure Hideaway Fusion that night, on top of a windswept stone hill where they could see for quite a distance all around them, they enjoyed a nice meal of the food they were provided in Tarvada, before storing away again in his Void Pocket sack what they didn’t use.  They’d eaten throughout the day when they got hungry, but it had mostly been while they traveled, so they hadn’t been able to cook anything until that night.  Thankfully, Nedira had remembered to bring actual cookware that they could use over the fire, which was camouflaged by their Secure Hideaway Fusion, making their meal quite pleasant.

“Larek?”

The Fusionist was just finishing up the last of the bread from his meal, using it to sop up the juices from his deliciously cooked monster meat steak, when Nedira spoke up next to him.  “Hmm?” he mumbled, his mouth still full.

“What if… uh, what are you going to do if your family isn’t there?”

He wasn’t surprised by the question, because he had been thinking the same thing.  In fact, it was more likely than not that they weren’t there any more, based on what was happening in the Kingdom and around the world, but he refused to contemplate the possibility that they were dead.

Larek swallowed his mouthful before he answered.  “Go and find them, I suppose.”

“But what if—”

He held up his hand for her to stop.  “I will find them, wherever they are.  If I can’t, then we’ll figure out what to do afterwards.”  That was the limit of what he wanted to discuss about the situation, because anything more would simply upset him.

“I understand,” she said, before leaning her head on his lower shoulder, prompting him to snake his arm around her and pull her close.  They sat there for a while, staring at the fire and watching it pop and spark, before Nedira spoke up again.  “After we find your family, what are your plans after that?” she asked.

“I guess it depends on their situation,” he said after a few seconds of contemplation.  “If they’re doing alright, then I guess I can look into helping the local area and making it safer, similar to what we just did in Tarvada.  If they’re in need of help or relocating, then I’ll bring them somewhere safe and ensure they have what they need.”

“And after that?”

Now that was a good question.  He’d already thought about learning more of his Martial side, such as figuring out how to better control his Battle Arts and utilize his Stama, which he knew was going to be important if he wanted to continue to improve and be a match for the monsters that the Apertures produced.

He also wanted to find his friends, including Nedira’s brother and his roommate Verne, which he knew the woman sitting next to him desired to do.  As for Bartholomew, Vivienne, Kimble, and Penelope, he was interested to know if they were at least doing fine, even if he didn’t necessarily need to reconnect in the same way as before. 

But after seeing what had become of the Kingdom, especially witnessing the problems the people were having firsthand in Tarvada, Larek had an urge to do something about it.  He might tell himself that he had only helped out the people there because he was waiting for Nedira to recover, which was still accurate; but a small portion of mind couldn’t help but be proud of what he’d accomplished with his Fusions, and he felt an innate satisfaction that was a result of his actions. 

They might not all like him because of his height, they might even despise him due to his resemblance to the hated Gergasi, but that didn’t erase the fact that he felt good being able to help them not starve and provide for themselves.  More than that, giving the Mages and Martials there the opportunity to do what they were trained to do by going out and closing nearby Apertures felt not just good, but right.  Larek still hated the fact that he was ripped away from his old life by the SIC and made to attend Crystalview Academy against his will, but he had learned enough by this point that he couldn’t deny that it had been for a good reason. 

The Mages and Martials of the SIC were important to the safety of everyone in the Kingdom of Androthe, as they were the ones that bravely put themselves in between the deadly monsters that appeared and the normal people, such as his family.  Now, with the Kingdom fractured and everything falling apart, it seemed to him that they were more important than ever. As a result, his actions in Tarvada provided them with the tools and wherewithal to continue protecting the people, which would help to stave off the inevitable advance of the Apertures that were spread throughout the land.

What he did saved thousands of lives in the short term and thousands more in the long-term, but it had only really helped those who lived in the area.  It was a start, but he was convinced that there was so much more he could do to help the rest of the Kingdom.

Am I some sort of hero, now?  Am I putting the responsibility of everyone’s safety on my shoulders? 

Whether it was just his paranoia rearing its ugly head, or simply the stress that had he’d borne over the last few months, he couldn’t help but suspect that there was something more to these thoughts.  It all stemmed from how he had acted back in Tarvada by taking charge and ordering people around, dictating how things needed to be done.  It had been for their own good, of course, and he was fairly certain that they wouldn’t have done what was asked of them if he hadn’t done it that way, but that didn’t remove the fact that he had acted more like a Gergasi than ever before.

And that scared him.

Do I want to save everyone so that I can rule over them?  Is this originally what the Gergasi felt when they enslaved all of the Kingdom’s people?  Was it because they thought they knew better and that the enslavement was for their own good?  Am I falling into the same trap?

From all that he’d heard about the Gergasi and seen first-hand, he didn’t think this was the case concerning the Gergasi and their enslavement of the Nobles, but he didn’t actually know their exact motivations.  He’d also seen them react to threats to the Kingdom with thoughts to save as many people as possible, though whether that was purely because they didn’t want to lose their subjects or because they actually cared for their well-being, he couldn’t be sure.  What he was sure about was that he never wanted to end up like them, and he was worried that following this potential path to help the people of the Kingdom fight against the Apertures might lead him right to that undesired outcome.

He might be a half-breed, but that didn’t mean he had to embrace that side of him.  Even if it meant letting the world burn, he wouldn’t become one of them.

Still, he knew that helping the people of the Kingdom was the right thing to do.  Not because of a desire for power or sovereignty, but because if he didn’t help however he could, then it was inevitable that the entire world would fall to the Corruption and its monsters.  It might not happen in the next year, or even the next decade, but he had no doubt that it would happen – unless something not only slowed down the expansion of Apertures, but reversed what had already been done.  The five “Calamities” that were threatening the Kingdom were proof enough that if they let things go on as they were, there would eventually be even more that threatened to take over the entire world. 

Larek couldn’t let that happen, not only for his family, but for everyone else – common and Noble alike.  He just had to ensure he didn’t lose himself in the process.

“I’m going to help the people in the Kingdom,” he finally answered.  “Those Calamities need to be taken care of, at the least, but there’s so much more that I think I can do.  I’m just worried that…” he trailed off, at a loss at how to express what he was worried about.

“You’re worried that you’re going to end up like your father and his people, aren’t you?” Nedira asked, quickly understanding what he meant.

With relief that she seemed to comprehend what he was worried about, he nodded.

“You don’t have to worry about that, Larek.  I know you, and you will never be like them,” she continued forcefully.  “And if you start acting like them, you better believe that I’ll let you know.”

He smiled at that.  “Oh?  How are you planning to do that?”

She moved away from his chest and looked up at him with a grin.  “That’s a secret.  Just know that it’ll involve a lot of punching and slapping, and potentially a few roots in places that you’d rather not have them until you see sense.”

He shivered uncomfortably at the description. “If that’s not enough of a deterrent, I’m not sure what would be,” he said with a nervous chuckle.

“You better believe it,” she replied with a smirk.  Cuddling up against him again, she resumed the conversation in a softer voice.  “But seriously, I don’t think you have anything to worry about.  It’s very noble – and I’m not talking about being a Noble – of you to want to help, because I think you can do a lot of good.  It’s what we all believed when we first found out about your abilities with Fusions, and that hasn’t changed.”  She paused for a moment.  “Actually, it has changed, but for the better.  What you were able to do for those people back in Tarvada was incredible, and I can’t wait to see what you can do for the Kingdom as a whole.”

“Thanks,” he said after a moment, feeling slightly embarrassed from all the praise.

“There’s just one thing you forgot to mention,” she continued.  “When you’re out saving the Kingdom and the world, help me find my brother?”

“Of course.  Along with Verne and potentially the others, just to see how they are doing.”

She sighed before yawning, the day and her ongoing recovery obviously having exhausted her.  “Good,” she got out with a bit of a slurred voice, before her breathing suddenly deepened.  He looked down in amusement at her abruptly sleeping form, before laying down with her in the crook of his arm.  It took him nearly an hour before he was able to fall asleep himself, thoughts and worries over the future warring with each other in his head. 

*          *          *

The next morning saw more of the same as the day before, as they closed another two Apertures with weaker monsters on their way to the northeast.  Larek had accumulated even more Aetheric Force, allowing him to advance the maximum Skill Levels of his strongest Skills again, but it wasn’t as much as he would’ve liked.  While there were hundreds of monsters within the two Aperture territories, one was filled with a familiar foe in the form of Wilde Mushdooms, the same as the first Scission he’d seen in the Empire, while the other was populated by Hopping Chinchillas. 

What looked like a cross between a mouse and a rabbit, the Hopping Chinchillas would’ve been quite adorable – if it hadn’t been for the fact that they were 4 feet in height and 7 feet in length, as well as being able to hop nearly 30 feet vertically and twice as far horizontally.  They also had enormous, sharp front teeth that were nearly as long as his forearm and could cut through a normal person’s leg with a single monstrous bite. 

Thankfully, they also weren’t very smart, and he and Nedira were able to use similar tactics as with the Bladesharks to whittle down their numbers.  He felt slightly bad as their fluffy bodies were torn apart by their Stone Shredder Domes and were impaled by icy spikes sent out by their staves – which seemed to work better than stones for these particular monsters – but he quickly got over it.  He did end up collecting a few of the less-mangled bodies and shoving them inside his Void Pocket sack, as their fur was extremely soft and he thought he might be able to trade them for something in the future. 

Now that he had a means to carry more than just necessary food supplies, he figured he could start thinking about the remains of the monsters he killed – and whether some of those things might be useful.  The meat from the Chinchillas he stuffed into the sack might come in handy if they ever ran out of food, of course, but the fur was more of a luxury item, he supposed.  But the more he thought about the monsters he’d killed in the past, the more he realized that more than a few of them had some sort of aspect to them that might be useful as a material for something.  He wasn’t exactly familiar enough with that type of crafting to know what might be beneficial to keep, but he resolved to learn.

After the second Aperture, there was a strange absence of any obvious Apertures nearby.  At least, any open Apertures, as when Apertures were closed they were much harder to pinpoint unless you were already in their territory.

The reason for the lack of any open Apertures wasn’t immediately obvious, but as soon as he felt something at the edge of his awareness, all thoughts about them faded into the background.  That was because the overwhelming feeling of an extremely large, powerful Aperture flooded into his senses to the north, northwest, and northeast until it was all he could think about.  It was so strong that he nearly lost his concentration and let his Pattern box fall apart, but he managed to hold it together after stopping for a few minutes to regain control of his focus.

“What—?” he started to ask, before his voice broke.  Clearing his throat, he asked again.  “What is that?”

“That’s one of the Calamities, Larek.  At least, I assume so, based on where I think we are.”

“That’s one of the Calamities?  I… I had no idea.”

While he couldn’t see it yet, only sense it in the distance, he could already tell that it was more powerful than anything he’d ever felt before.  As the minutes dragged on, he became more and more accustomed to its strength so that it wasn’t overwhelming his mind, but he still couldn’t fully comprehend how something like that could exist without destroying the entire world already.  He had originally thought that the Aperture underneath the Lowenthal desert had been large and powerful, as it had encompassed the entire underground complex, but compared to what he felt here, it was like comparing a weak toddler to a fully grown adult Martial. 

In other words, there really wasn’t any comparison. 

“How—?”  He couldn’t even finish his question.

“Stupidity and greed, remember?” Nedira answered with a shrug.  “Regardless, it’s the least of our worries,” she continued, pointing ahead of them.

Finally focusing on what was around the area, Larek looked to where Nedira was pointing.  Approximately a mile away in the distance, he could make out two large groups of people walking apart from each other, separated by approximately 1,000 feet.

And they were headed directly toward Larek and Nedira.

Oh, great.  What now?


Chapter 20

“I don’t know what it is, but we can’t allow them to get to it first.”

Marteena, or as she preferred her friends to call her, Teena, hurried after her boss as he rushed out of the headquarters building.  She grabbed her staff from where she had left it near the door before she was nearly blinded by the bright afternoon sun, which was intense after the relative darkness of the building.  Thankfully, her eyesight adjusted fast enough that she didn’t trip over her robe as she managed to catch up to the growing group of Mages and Martials that had joined the throng following the head of the Strike Faction, Jack. 

Otherwise known as her boss.

Teena was jostled from the side as someone hustled up next to her, and the familiar voice of her friend whispered a question to her.  “What happened?”

She shook her head, as she wasn’t exactly sure herself.  “The scouts saw something coming this way, but no one is sure what it is,” she explained.  “Jack wants to get out ahead of it before the ‘cowards’ from the Defend Faction get word of its presence.  His words, not mine, Chardine,” she clarified for her friend, which was likely unnecessary.

Everyone in the Strike Faction knew their leadership’s viewpoint toward the other Faction, as it was completely contrary to their own.  Most of their members held the same viewpoint, of course, but the contention between the leaders of the two Factions was something else entirely.  She was surprised that the two Factions hadn’t yet come to blows over it, though she knew it was close; tensions had been at a boiling point over the last week or so as various issues came to light.

Of course, she wasn’t supposed to know about any of that, but she just happened to be in the right – or wrong – place at the right – or wrong – time. 

“What do you think it is?” her friend asked, huffing a little to keep up.  “It’s got to be pretty important if Jack’s in such a hurry.”

“Don’t know, exactly – but whatever it is apparently closed a few Apertures on its way here – or so the scout report said.  Perhaps the SIC has gotten its act together and sent a relieving force?” Teena hazarded.

Chardine barked a short laugh.  “Ha!  You know more than I do that it’s unlikely to happen.  The Corps is so disjointed now that I doubt they even know we’re here.  They only care about keeping the Academies and Forts open for the influx of new Mages and Martials that have appeared among our youth.”  She hesitated for a moment, before adding, “Unless they’re here to gather up the children?  That would be just like them, taking our future away while abandoning us to our fate.”

Teena hushed her friend.  “Shhhh… you know you shouldn’t talk like that.  There are too many who still want to restore the SIC structure here; you could cause problems for yourself.”

“Oh, no, whatever shall I do?” Chardine whined dramatically, before snorting in disgust.  “If they hadn’t been the ones to cause the Calamities in the first place, we wouldn’t be in this mess—whoops!  Looks like the word got out faster than Jack thought.”  The other Mage looked pointedly in the distance, and Teena followed her gaze.

Coming out of the southern gate of Warshdin, the city where the two Factions were stationed, was another group of Mages and Martials that was approximately the same size as their own.  She thought that her own group had a few more, but the quantity difference didn’t really matter when it was obvious that the Defend Faction had somehow learned of their scout report and were marching out to meet whatever it was just the same as her own Faction.  Unless they have their own scouts out that far, which I suppose would make sense if they did.

“Jack’s not going to be happy about this—” Teena started to murmur, and she was proven right a second later.

“Damn it!” her boss shouted as he caught sight of the other group.  “How did they learn of this?  Everyone, speed up; we have to get to whatever this is before they do!”  At his command, everyone in the large group sped up so that they were practically running, and Teena found herself unable to talk with her friend any further, as it was all she could do to keep her legs pumping and her breathing steady.  Fortunately, she—along with everyone else in the Strike Faction—had become quite fit over the last few years, as they no longer could sit behind city walls and fight from the relative safety of their heights when Scissions appeared.  With how much they were on the move, traveling from one Aperture to another to close them, they had naturally developed their bodies in ways that would allow them to run faster and longer than they thought possible.

Of course, that only applied to the Mages that were part of the Faction, as the Martials didn’t really have this problem with their normal stats.  Lucky bastards.

Unfortunately for the now-running group, the other Faction didn’t seem to have any problem keeping up with them.  Neither group pulled ahead of the other, so they were neck and neck as they ran over the cleared plains and abandoned farmland toward a point in the distance.  She wasn’t exactly sure where they were going or what they were heading southwest to meet, but she figured that Jack had more information and unerringly sent them toward their destination. 

They kept running for another 10 minutes before she began to feel a stitch in her side, which she attempted to rub away as she ran.  Jack was really pushing them to maintain their current mad dash across the ground, but she wasn’t the only one that seemed to be already flagging; they might be in better shape than they were years ago, but their speed was currently a flat-out sprint instead of a mile-eating run that they could maintain for much longer.

Thankfully, this wasn’t a normal occurrence for them, as their main duties were to venture into the territory of the Calamity and kill as many monsters as they could find before retreating.  Such goals didn’t require them to run flat-out like this very often, unless they were being chased by more monsters than they could handle, but that was rare.  Though, if the Strike Faction got their way, such occurrences – for good reason – would become more frequent. 

As it was now, it was all they could do to maintain the status quo, which unfortunately played into the hands of the Defend Faction.  Teena understood their reasons for not wanting to change the current situation, but she couldn’t understand how they didn’t comprehend that doing nothing would only lead to their doom in the future.  They had to strike soon, or they might not have the opportunity to do so.

Just when she thought she would have to slow down and recover from the pain in her side from running, she saw something far ahead of the group, hovering in the air approximately 15 feet above the ground.  She couldn’t quite make it out at such a distance, but it looked like some sort of bluish, glowing box that appeared quite out of place.  Especially when it appeared as though someone was standing inside the box.

Actually, there appears to be a pair of someones.

As an Aeromancer, Teena could fly with her Flight spell, and she knew that there were a few other non-air spells that would achieve the same function, but they were seen as wasteful and weren’t utilized very often, because those spells were channeled, constantly burning through Mana that could be used for something else; and even the strongest of Mages could only maintain their flight for a few minutes before having to set down again as they ran out of Mana. 

She knew this from firsthand experience, as she could get about 30 seconds of flight before she was forced to land again, and it also wasn’t very fast.  She could practically run the same distance as she could travel through the air with her spell, and she also wouldn’t be dangerously near-empty of Mana when she arrived, either.  It was also uncomfortable, as it literally forced her upwards with a bubble of hardened air, which pushed roughly against her body to achieve the spell’s effect.

Nevertheless, Flight was a good emergency spell to have in her back pocket, allowing her to escape from danger along the ground if it was necessary, but fortunately she’d never had to utilize it in a fight against monsters.

But what she saw ahead of them didn’t look like Flight or any of the few other similar spells she knew of that were less effective. 

In other words, it was something entirely new – and that made her realize why Jack had been so insistent in reaching whatever this was first.  Anything new and obviously powerful could be the exact thing they needed to strike down the Calamity.  At the other end of the spectrum, it could also be exactly what the other Faction would need to solidify their stance in maintaining their defense around the Calamity’s borders.

Glancing over at Chardine as they continued to run towards the floating people in the distance, who appeared to have stopped moving, she could see the same thoughts playing over her friend’s face.  She didn’t envy whoever this was that they were approaching at a frantic pace, because they were about to have two very insistent Factions demanding their attention.

And if she knew anything about Jack, which she did, she knew that he was not a patient man.  Neither was Olivia, the leader of the Defend Faction; if they got into an argument, it wasn’t likely to end well with the current tensions between the two Factions.

It felt like they’d been running for hours before they finally began to slow down as they approached the floating bluish box.  As Teena got closer, she could make out that the figure she had seen earlier was a man, a tall man at that, and her natural inclination when seeing him was one of disgust and hatred.  He’s one of the Gergasi!  Having grown up as the daughter of a baker, she’d heard stories of the giants that had enslaved her people over a thousand years before; the recent developments that revealed that they hadn’t stopped enslaving them all had only heightened her anger toward them.  And now there’s one here—

“How dare you show your face here, giant!  We’ll kill you and take whatever it is that is allowing you to hover like that, using it to lead the Strike Faction into the Calamity and finally close it!” Jack shouted at the front of Teena’s group.  Her boss was an imposing man, standing 5 feet tall and nearly that same width, and he was equipped with a full set of plate armor that gave him an even more intimidating aura.  Unlike most Martials, he hadn’t invested much into his Agility stat, making him only slightly faster than most of the Mages, but he made up for it with his amazing strength and resilient body.  The Aeromancer had no doubt that he could back up his claim.

The problem she saw with his stance only became clear once she actually got an up-close look at the man and his companion, a woman with reddish-gold hair that marked her as a foreigner.  Contrary to what she expected, she could sense a great reservoir of power within the man that she identified immediately as him being a Mage, and one that was likely more powerful than her.  More powerful than anyone in the area, in fact.  If that had been it, then she would’ve dismissed him because they had numbers on their side, but she also noticed something strange about his clothes, her robe, and the staves that they held upright by their sides.  She wasn’t an expert on such things, but even at a distance, she could identify that there were some extremely potent Fusions on them, to a degree she didn’t think was possible. 

And then there was the floating box.  It didn’t seem to be made of any recognizable material, as it simply looked to be constructed of blue, glowing light – and yet it was familiar somehow.  It wasn’t until she really stared at it and strained her eyes to figure out what it was that a sudden realization shocked her so much that she could only stare at it with her mouth open in speechlessness. 

“No!  We will use this to defend the border with the Calamity to ensure it doesn’t spread any further!  There is no reason to risk our lives when we can easily stop its advance from claiming any more land!  Besides, it supplies us with the food that you all enjoy so much, so there is no reason to threaten the people with starvation!”

The voice of Olivia, the Defend Faction’s leader, cut through Teena’s shock, and she blinked a few times as her mind started to function again.  She looked again at the floating box, completely ignoring the people inside of it, as she whispered, “That’s Pattern Cohesion.  Pure Pattern Cohesion.  But how?”

“What did you say?” Chardine whispered the question next to her. 

Before she could answer, the man in the box spoke for the first time.  “No, I don’t think you’ll be doing any of that.  If you can’t even recognize that I’m not one of the Gergasi, then I’m not going to bother helping you – especially since you blatantly said that you’re going to kill me just for being tall.  That’s a shame, too, because it looks like you need some help with the Calamity, but I suppose you’ve made your choice.  Goodbye.”

“Wait!  How did you make that out of Pattern Coh—” Teena reflexively shouted after the man said goodbye, but it was already too late.  The box suddenly shot upward a few hundred feet and moved past the two groups, heading straight east instead of angling on its original northeastern course.  She could only watch in despair as it took off, before it suddenly disappeared from her vision somehow.  Searching for it, she realized that there was a small distortion in the space where she saw it disappear, which moved at the same pace as the box had moved previously.  Some sort of illusion? she questioned to herself.  Regardless, it was quickly out of her sight even if she could follow the mobile illusion, which became nearly impossible after a few seconds as her vision lost it among the sky above.

“What was that all about?” Chardine asked her, adjusting her grip on her staff as she looked nervously at the other Faction group that had gotten closer to them as they converged on the strangers. 

“I don’t know, exactly, but that box was made out of Pattern Cohesion.  I’m sure of it.”

Her friend scoffed.  “Impossible.  It isn’t possible to use Pattern Cohesion outside of a Fusion or for casting a spell.  You must be mistaken.”

She shook her head, unsure of anything anymore.  On the one hand, she agreed with Chardine, as using Pattern Cohesion like that was impossible; on the other hand, her eyes and her senses were telling her that it wasn’t only possible, but the proof of that was staring her right in the face.  How does he do that?

Sadly, she couldn’t contemplate it any further than that as the leader of the Defend Faction strode out from her group, the multicolored Mage robe displaying her accomplishments in learning multiple elemental Specializations, making her an Elementalist.  From what she knew of the woman, she had studied hard and long enough to learn the required number of spells in six different elements, giving her anywhere between 36 and 60 different spells that she could cast, making her a true threat to almost any monster they encountered.  Of course, with such a wide variety of disciplines, Olivia wasn’t an expert on any of them like Teena was with her air spells, but it was the variety and unpredictability of her casting style that made her so effective.

“You!  Foolish imbecile!  You’ve ruined any chance of using whatever that man had to help defend against the Calamity!  You’ve doomed us with your words, chasing away what could’ve been our salvation—”

“Shut it, woman!  It’s better this way, as having to deal with one of his kind is more likely to bring misery down upon us rather than help.  You should be thanking me—”

“Thanking you?!  You’re crazier than I thought – which is why we’re never going to risk going far enough into the Calamity to close its Aperture.  You’d simply lead us all to our deaths and say it was better that way!”

The verbal fighting continued on from that point, with accusations and threats being thrown around with no end in sight.  Teena started to back up to get away from the confrontation, as she could see that it was starting to escalate to the point where something other than words would be exchanged soon.  While she really didn’t want to fight the other Faction, she would defend herself – but any type of internal conflict wasn’t good for either Faction, especially if anyone was killed.  That would simply lead to having fewer people to help keep the Calamity in check. 

They weren’t the only group doing so, of course, but even one weak link in the chain of cities surrounding the Calamity could cause their defense to collapse.  This was what the Defend Faction didn’t seem to understand, because eventually something would break down; the way those in the Strike Faction saw it, it was only a matter of time before it was too late to hold it all together, which was why they needed to coordinate and strike together, where they could close the Aperture at the center of the Calamity and give them some room to breathe and reorganize. 

Thankfully, both Jack and Olivia seemed to sense that the inevitable conclusion of their argument would be it becoming physical, so they both agreed to back off and head toward Warshdin.  They marched back to the city at a much slower pace, defeated and disappointed that they hadn’t acquired some new weapon that they could use against the Calamity.  Teena, on the contrary, was lost in contemplative thought as she considered what she’d seen.

Using Pattern Cohesion outside of my body as a material?  How does that even work?  She had no clue, of course, but now that she saw that it was possible, she knew that she had to try.  If she could figure it out, then perhaps they wouldn’t miss out on a method to combat the Calamity, after all.

I’m going to let V know about this when I get back; I bet he’ll know where to start.


Chapter 21

The atmosphere was tense inside the Pattern box as Larek near-invisibly led them over the landscape far below, the Secure Hideaway working to camouflage them enough that they weren’t visible as more than a blur in the air.  The strain of bringing the box up so high was starting to give him a headache, as was the speed that they were moving, but he pushed through the pain that his Pain Immunity Skill didn’t do anything to relieve, as he wanted to get as far away from the two groups of Mages and Martials as possible before setting down to rest.

When they had traveled at least 5 miles past the moronic people and the city that he’d seen on their way, he finally set the Pattern box down in between two small hills covered in small forests, out of sight of anything or anyone that might have been following them.  Releasing the Pattern he’d been manipulating, the Fusionist practically collapsed onto the ground in relief as the incessant pain in his head started to fade away, though it lingered long enough that he knew that he’d have to wait at least another hour before he did anything like that with his Pattern Cohesion again.  It, and his focus, had been strained to the breaking point, and both his mind and his body needed to rest.

“Prejudiced idiots.  Why couldn’t they see past my height and treat me like a normal person?” he asked out loud to himself, feeling completely dejected over the entire incident.  At first, he had been extremely angry at his treatment, especially after his relatively pleasant reception in Tarvada, and he had been unprepared for the vitriolic words he had received from what seemed to be the leaders of the two groups.  After a moment, his anger drained away, only to be replaced by disappointment.  He had been semi-excited to help out the people he might meet on his way home, giving away some of his Fusions so that they could better protect themselves and others, but after seeing the reception he just received, he realized it wasn’t going to be that easy.

As a result, while they were still talking, he decided that he didn’t have to put up with their nonsense and left instead of offering to help, despite the fact that they seemed like they could use it.  Nedira hadn’t said anything and let him do the talking, for which he was thankful for once, because he really didn’t want to get caught there while she attempted to talk sense into them.

In his mind, they didn’t deserve his help, so there was no point in sticking around.

“I told you that would happen, didn’t I?” Nedira said softly by his side, where she had taken a seat after he partially collapsed. 

“Huh?”

“Their reaction to your appearance,” she explained.  “I did tell you that it would be much harder to get around without being identified as a potential Gergasi, didn’t I?”

He nodded.

“Why weren’t you wearing your ring?”

Larek sighed.  “Because of the reaction I received when the Mages saw me in Tarvada,” he replied.  “I mistakenly thought that if I was truthful upfront, it would go better, but I was obviously wrong,” he continued, disgust coloring his voice.  He wasn’t sure if it was disgust at the other people or at himself.

“I… see.  I’m not sure what the best solution is, then.  They’ll either see you without the Fusion and know that you’re tall like a Gergasi, or they’ll think you’re tricking them with your ring if you’re wearing it.”

Thinking about it for a few seconds, he sighed again, this time in exasperation.  “Exactly.  It’s like it doesn’t matter what I do, as I’ll be in trouble either way.” Larek stared down at the ground underneath him for a few minutes, neither of them saying anything as he wallowed in self-pity.  “It’s just so unfair,” he complained, knowing that he was whining but not really caring.  “It’s not like I can help what I look like—”

He stopped talking as something occurred to him.  As he sat there, working out a thought that flashed through his mind, Nedira asked, “What is it?”

The Fusionist didn’t answer for nearly a minute as he found what he was looking for.  As he pulled up his Status and concentrated on his Pattern Master Specialization, he abruptly displayed in the air between them the benefit he had been thinking of for both of them to see.

Heightened ability to manipulate your internal pattern

“What exactly does that mean?” she asked.

It took a few seconds of him focusing on it for Larek to answer.  “I’m not entirely sure, but I believe it might let me alter what I look like.”

“Really?  But it says your internal pattern; how does that alter what you look like?”

“That’s because your internal pattern isn’t just something internal,” he explained as more and more confidence in his understanding of the benefit flowed into his mind, “it’s who you are.  The outside only reflects what is on the inside, so if I was to change my own, personal pattern, my body would change along with it.”  He hesitated for a second before continuing.  “Or at least that’s how I think it works.”

“That sounds dangerous, Larek,” Nedira cautioned.  “What if you mess something up?”

He wanted to reassure her that he wouldn’t mess anything up, as he’d been manipulating patterns successfully for a while now, but he didn’t actually know that he would be fine if he messed with his own pattern.  He had originally wielded it as a weapon to fight the Umbral Demons, which led to his Pattern Manipulation Skill, but it wasn’t quite the same as what he was thinking about doing. 

“I’m not going to lie, it’s probably dangerous,” Larek admitted.  “But I think I have to try, if only to give me a little peace of mind.”  That was the reason he gave her, but in reality there was an even greater motive for him to attempt messing with his own pattern.

He hated the Gergasi, and while he didn’t plan on trying to eliminate the special gifts he may or may not have inherited from his father, there was a physical trait he possessed that had been nothing but a detriment to him.  His height was ultimately the source of all his woes, or at least he could trace them back to it, and if he could potentially change it, he could eliminate the one part of his physical appearance that had caused him so much pain.

Of course, a magical alteration of his internal pattern wasn’t something that should be taken lightly, even if it was to get rid of something that had plagued him for most of his adult life.  He had no idea what utilizing that part of his abilities would actually do, and it could end up doing more harm than good.

But if he was ever going to be able to help the people he met along the route home, he needed to not let the instinctual prejudice of the Kingdom’s population prevent him from doing that.  More than that, if once he reached Rushwood he found his family gone, he needed to be able to speak to whoever was nearby that might be able to tell him what happened to them – and he couldn’t do that if they hated him on sight.

It wasn’t fair that Larek had to change himself just so that he could walk and talk freely among the Kingdom’s residents, but ever since he left home, there hadn’t been a lot that was fair.  At least with his current plan, the Fusionist could actually choose to have himself look a different way, rather than be cursed with his height by birth. 

Without wanting to wait any longer, Larek closed his eyes and started to investigate his own Pattern Cohesion, looking for a way to enact the changes he was thinking about… only to find that he needed to wait a little longer.  It was still strained from how he had pushed the Pattern box not so long ago, but he could at least figure out what to do and plan for when he had fully recovered.

First, using his internal senses, Larek mapped out his entire pattern, investigating every iota of it as it connected to his body; from his toes to the hair on his head, his pattern infused every single part of it.  He wasn’t surprised to find that everything inside of his body was connected by the vibrant energy of his pattern, because he already knew this on an instinctual level.  What he was surprised about was how deeply he understood how every single portion of his pattern influenced who he was; not just his body, his physical form, but also his mind, his Mana, and his Stama.  As he studied what he was looking at, he began to comprehend the relationship that he already knew about between his Body stat and his Pneuma stat, as they were interlinked and directly influenced each other. 

There were a few other connections between his different parts that he discovered, such as how his mind, Intellect, and Acuity stat were directly related to his Mana, as were his Strength and Agility stats and his Stama, but there was one that he felt rather than saw, because it didn’t actually exist.  His Acuity and Agility were related in some way he couldn’t tell, and while he thought there should be a connection between them, he couldn’t find anything directly.  It was something he would have to look into in the future, but for now he left it alone.

Instead, he concentrated on what was actually there, and he began to intuitively understand how he would be able to change his pattern.  Just like he would use his Pattern Manipulation Skill to attack any Umbral Demons that were trying to possess his body and mind, he would have to take control of his Pattern Cohesion.  Instead of wielding it as a weapon, which didn’t change its form as much as temporarily utilize its inherent strength for a specific purpose, he would have to mold and shape the permanent changes he wanted to impart upon it.

But not all at once, and not too drastic of a change.  The same intuitive sense he had of what he needed to do told him that trying to do too much in a short amount of time could start tearing his pattern apart, so any major changes had to be made in smaller increments.

That was fine with him, though, because he had been waiting for years for the opportunity to change his appearance, and he wasn’t going to waste this chance by rushing through the process. With that in mind, he began to plan out what he was going to do while he waited for his pattern to recover from the abuse he’d already put it through.

Thankfully, it didn’t take nearly as long as he feared, and within a half hour he was ready to start.  After warning Nedira that he was about to begin, Larek took a deep breath and took control of his internal pattern.  When he did, he simply held onto it, intimately feeling every little portion of it as he mapped out what he was going to do. Starting the process in his mind, he started to squeeze his pattern just a tiny bit, slowly condensing it within itself.  At first, nothing seemed to happen, so he increased the pressure on his pattern.  Suddenly, there was an awkward jerk in his pattern when it actually started to do what he wanted; it was abrupt and a lot more than he originally intended, like he was pulling on a wagon with its wheel stuck in the mud before it suddenly released, causing him to fall on his face.

Except he didn’t fall on his face; instead, it felt like his entire body had been picked up by an enormous monster hand and was being squished inside of its fist.  He distantly heard screaming, and it was only later once his pattern stabilized and the pain – which was in no way reduced by his Pain Immunity Skill – faded away that he realized that it was him who had been screaming.  His awareness of the world suddenly came back, even though he didn’t remember losing it in the first place, and he found himself looking up at Nedira’s tear-streaked face, her fingers methodically brushing through his hair as his head was positioned on her lap.

Her eyes widened as she realized he was looking up at her, and she suddenly gripped his hair tightly in her fist.  “Don’t you ever do that again, you hear me?” she growled, staring hard into his eyes.  “Those screams you let out are going to haunt my nightmares, and it’s not like I need to add any more to them.”

He nodded after attempting to speak, only to realize that his throat felt like it had been torn up.  His Body Regeneration was already healing what he had done to his body with his screams, but he was now aware that he had done some serious damage to his throat.  He had only been vaguely aware of his screams in his pain-filled torture, but for him to be even that aware of them, they must have been frightening, indeed.  He didn’t blame Nedira for reacting the way she just did.

“I’m… sorry,” he eventually croaked out, his throat nearly repaired already.  He could’ve used his Healing Surge Fusion to fix it the rest of the way, but he decided to let his Skill finish what it had started.

Letting go of his hair, Nedira wiped away the tears from her face, before asking, “What happened?”

“I messed up,” he admitted after he spent a few seconds contemplating what went wrong.  It didn’t take a genius to see that he had succeeded a little too well when he condensed his pattern, as it was obvious – at least to himself – that he was now approximately 5 inches shorter than he had been before.  Since he was lying down, it probably wasn’t as obvious to Nedira, but all it took was one look at his own pattern to see the truth.  “I pushed it too far, too fast.  It won’t happen again.”  At least, he hoped not.

The sudden shifting of his physical body along with his pattern had hurt more than anything he’d ever felt in his life, but at the same time he knew that it wasn’t supposed to hurt that much… as long as he took his time, like he was supposed to.  Thankfully, when he was able to fully evaluate his internal pattern, it appeared perfectly fine without any stress or strains; it was only his body that had taken the punishment from his mistake, for which he was grateful.  Not for the pain, of course, but for the lack of any damage to his pattern.  He thought it was because he wasn’t making any drastic changes to it, only condensing what was already there so that he would shrink in size; if he had tried to give himself another arm or something, the result might have been different.  Can I do that?  Give myself another arm or leg?  He thought it might be theoretically possible, but he also had no desire to try.

“It had better not,” she strictly ordered, before her face softened.  “Now that you know it’s too dangerous, we can go—”

“Oh, it worked, alright.  And I’m not done yet.  If I take it slow this time, I should be fine.”

Nedira appeared angry for a moment, before throwing her hands up in the air.  “Fine.  Do whatever you want.  But if you scream like that again, you better not expect me to comfort you for your imbecilic choices.”

Larek chuckled at that.  “Don’t worry; I’ll be fine, despite my ‘imbecilic’ choices.”

She sighed in exasperation as she shook her head, but she didn’t say anything.  Taking that as a tacit agreement for him to do what he needed to do, he immediately closed his eyes and dove into his internal pattern once again.  His body was now free of any pain, and he was ready to finish what he started.

Fortunately, as soon as he took control of his Pattern Cohesion again, it seemed to be much more pliable than it was before.  Using the same analogy of a wagon being stuck in mud, it was as if he was now traveling along a smooth, packed dirt road without a hint of mud anywhere around, so manipulating his internal pattern was much easier.  It was as if, once he freed his pattern from where it had been entrenched for so long, it was much more willing to change.

So, change it he did.  While it felt like he could now easily make dramatic changes, such as the additional arm he’d thought of, he knew it would be painful as it altered his body; therefore, wanting to forgo another round of painful torture, he started slow, squeezing and condensing his entire pattern little by little.  Instead of it having no result like before, his pattern immediately responded to his manipulations, and he could literally feel his body changing along with it.

It wasn’t pleasant, and it hurt, but it wasn’t even a fraction of the pain that he had just gone through.  Even though he had to grit his teeth and push through the agony of having his body shrunk through his actions with his internal pattern, he prided himself in the fact that he didn’t scream once.  There might have been a few whimpers that he involuntarily released, but he’d still call it a win.

It took another hour of gradually condensing his pattern and his body, but little by little, Larek shrank.  By the time he was done, he was mentally and physically exhausted; he fell asleep once he let go of his control, his head still resting in Nedira’s lap. 

Waking up later, he found that the sun had already set, indicating that he had slept for at least four or five hours, but he didn’t regret the time spent on doing what he had to do.  That was because, for the first time since he was around 11 years old, he was short.

Not short short, because he was still taller than Nedira, and at 5 and a half feet tall, he was on the taller end of most of the Kingdom’s population.  But he was no longer around 7 feet tall, which made all the difference; in other words, he wasn’t a giant anymore. 

“I couldn’t see it actually happening, but now that I look at you, I can tell that you’re shorter,” Nedira said as soon as he woke up.  “How much did you shrink?”

“About a foot and a half,” he answered.  “And while it is technically permanent, I can easily change myself back to how I looked before.”  Larek could feel his internal pattern just waiting inside for him to manipulate it some more, but he had no reason to mess with it any more than he had.

“That’s good to hear.  I liked you the way you were, though I have to admit that it will be nice not having to bend my neck so far to look up at you,” she said with a smile.  All hint of the tears she had shed earlier was gone, and she appeared to have recovered from the fright of his unfortunate screaming. 

“I’m just looking forward to not being screamed at as soon as I show up somewhere with other people,” he said as he sat up.  His balance was more than a little wobbly as he got to his feet, and it took him a few minutes of standing still and then slowly walking around to get used to his new body.  It wasn’t as bad as it could’ve been, of course, because he still looked largely the same; it was only that he had shrunk in proportion to his height.  That meant he had smaller feet, which threw off his balance, and the center of weight on his body had changed slightly, making it more difficult to know how to move in order not to fall flat on his face.  Still, it was worth the temporary disorientation for the bonus of being shorter.

He no longer had to hide behind his Perceptive Misdirection Fusion, nor did he have to hope that at least some people would be able to look past his height and see him for who he was.  While he was disappointed that he had to do this in the first place, he didn’t regret his decision; that being said, as soon as he felt like it was safe to do so, he would probably change himself back in the future.  He liked who he was, even if many others didn’t; he resolved that this alteration of his pattern and body was only going to be temporary.

Nedira agreed.  “I can see the point of what you’ve done, but I have to admit that I liked the old you,” she confessed when he was done adjusting to his new body.  “Though, I think we’re going to have to visit someplace with clothes soon, because you look like a child who’s dressing up in his father’s clothes,” she added with a chuckle.  Looking down at himself, he had to admit that she was right; everything was much baggier than they used to be, and his pant legs were practically dragging along the ground. 

That was just a minor inconvenience, though, for the benefit that it provided.  He wanted to get started on finding clothing right then and there, which would give him an opportunity to test out his new appearance among people, but they decided to start traveling again in the morning. 

Larek still needed to rest his pattern and Pattern Cohesion, so this was probably for the best.  Regardless of his continued exhaustion, he couldn’t help but feel some bottled up excitement as he tried to get some sleep that night, keeping him awake for hours before he finally succumbed to his much-needed slumber.


Chapter 22

“This is taking more getting used to than I thought it would, but I think I’m getting the hang of it.”  Larek fired another barrage of flaming balls out of his staff toward the Ethertoads down below the Pattern box, and fortunately one of them managed to clip the leg of the jumping monster as it attempted to flee.  The oily substance that covered its entire body immediately lit on fire, and a second later – while it was still airborne – the Ethertoad was engulfed in flames.  As soon as it landed on the scorched rock it had been jumping toward, it exploded, sending flaming globs of its body in every direction.

The Fusionist ducked down below the edge of the box, which was higher up on his body than he was used to, and he avoided the bodily assault on their transportation.  The Ethertoads were dangerous only if you got too close, because they tended to explode naturally when they were killed, as a fire was released from inside to light the highly flammable substance covering their bodies.  Nedira said that the most common way of defeating them was to light them on fire ahead of time from afar, though that was easier said than done when the 5-foot-tall monsters could jump up to 250 feet horizontally in a single bound.  Thankfully, they couldn’t reach past about 60 feet vertically, but that also meant that Larek had to hold the Pattern box up higher, which strained his focus a bit.  Thankfully, it wasn’t nearly as bad as it was when he had fled from the two groups wanting to kill him the day before, but it was something he couldn’t hold for more than an hour without needing a rest.

But it was necessary, because Larek needed to practice using his new body.  While it was the same shape, being shorter also meant slightly shorter arms, hands, and fingers, which messed with his aim when using the staff.  Even holding his new axe was slightly odd, but his Axe Handling Skill helped to bridge the gap between his experience and the unfamiliar grip; his experience with the staff and the VREP Fusion on it was something else entirely. 

Over the last half hour, he had practiced against the Ethertoads along the edge of the large, dry, desert-like territory of this Aperture to make himself more familiar with using it.  He wasn’t completely comfortable yet, but even that little bit of practice had been able to improve the handling of his staff and his aim.

“I can tell,” Nedira said, looking over the side at the still-flaming devastation below.  “Want to keep practicing, or should we work on closing the Aperture?” she asked.

Larek thought about it for a moment before deciding to move on.  He directed the Pattern box outside of the territory and set it down, allowing himself a few minutes of rest before he reconstructed it for their push toward the center of the territory.

Ideally, the Fusionist would’ve liked to have spent a little more time practicing, if for only one reason: This was the only Aperture they had detected along their route east.  That wasn’t entirely true, of course, because it was hard to ignore the feeling of the Calamity to the north, but that wasn’t something that either of them wanted to tackle at the moment.  It was also why they were going east instead of northeast for the time, because they were attempting to go around the large Aperture in order to get to Rushwood instead of traveling through it.

But going east quickly revealed that most of the Apertures in the area were already closed.  If he was understanding the situation correctly, then he could only assume that the people who had been so nasty to him the day before were part of the force that was containing the Calamity so that it didn’t become any bigger; at the same time, they were likely keeping all of the nearby Apertures closed so that they ensured the surrounding land was as safe as possible.  It made sense, he supposed, because as long as their “base” was secured, they could venture into the Calamity’s territory without fear of what they would find when they came back.

It was smart; Larek just wished those people hadn’t been so blindly stupid when they had met with him.  But it wasn’t like he was going to go back to them now that he was shorter and unlikely to raise their ire; they had burnt that bridge with their attitudes, and unfortunately for them and their people, they would have to live with the consequences.  He frankly didn’t have the patience to deal with them again, so he decided that there was no reason to.

But that didn’t mean he would treat everyone they came across the same way.  Nedira mentioned that it was a strong possibility that if those people had been watching over that portion of the Calamity, then it stood to reason that there would be more along the perimeter.  That seemed to be the case, because even though they had traveled for dozens of miles since they left early that morning, all of the nearby Apertures were closed.  It was only this single one with the Ethertoads that had caught his attention as they floated along, which was why they were set to close it.

Not only was closing it beneficial for anyone living nearby, but he still needed more Aetheric Force.  This manipulation of his internal Pattern had given him an additional 4 Levels in his Pattern Manipulation Skill, bringing it to its recently increased max of 55, so he needed to up it yet again so that he could keep gaining Levels.  Already he’d gained enough from his target practice against the Ethertoads to bring the maximum up to 56, but he wanted to get it to at least 60 as soon as possible.

Larek ignored the few Ethertoads he saw on his way toward the center of the territory, arriving at their destination within a few minutes.  Without hesitation, he sent a flaming ball toward the Aperture, causing it to shrink by the tiniest amount – and the fight was on.  Within seconds, the hoppy monsters came bounding toward them, their jumps carrying them hundreds of feet at a time.  Before long, there were dozens of them all clustered together underneath the Pattern box, but none of them could reach the two up above, as they were approximately 100 feet above the ground and out of their vertical jumping range.

Not that they didn’t try, of course, as they continued to jump in attempts to get to Larek and Nedira, but whatever they did was futile. 

“Think that’s all of them?” he asked, looking down next to the powerful Naturalist. 

“Hmm… I think so,” she answered.  As he began to aim his staff downward, she stopped him with a hand on his arm.  “Are you sure this thing can handle it?”

He didn’t answer right away, even though he was confident that the strength of his Pattern box – with 11,250 of his Pattern Cohesion invested into it – could handle just about anything.  Instead, he simply raised the box into the air another 30 feet.  “Should be fine, but it doesn’t hurt to be too careful.”

With only another second of hesitation, he unleashed a barrage of over 20 flaming balls downward in a random pattern, before pulling the staff back up and ducking down below the edge.  For two seconds, nothing happened, and he worried that he had completely missed every single Ethertoad down below.  Just as he was shifting to get up in order to try again, he heard the first explosion and saw burning toad parts flying past the box in the distance, as the explosion sent them careening far and wide.

But that was just the start.

One explosion after another, each of them coming within seconds of each other, battered at their eardrums, the horrific sound of monsters exploding all clustered together creating a cacophony of death that was difficult to listen to.  Looking above the edge of the box, he saw hundreds of flaming globs of body parts rocketing by, and dozens more he could feel impacting the bottom and sides of his Pattern construct.  As he had thought, it held up remarkably well against the burning projectiles, though he wondered how well it would handle the actual explosions if they were a lot closer—

Something out of the corner of his eye made him quickly react to shield Nedira with his body.  A dead-but-not-yet-exploded Ethertoad passed closely by the Pattern box, which he could only guess was launched upward from the force of the other explosions, but he didn’t get a chance to wonder anymore on how it got up there, as he felt and heard it detonate only about 25 feet away from them.  His Agility stat was high enough that he was able to move and cover most of Nedira as the force wave of the explosion pushed him slightly into her, but fortunately he was strong enough to keep himself from squishing her.

That was only the start, however, as burning body parts from the monster slammed into him, his Automatic Ice Repulsion Field Fusion on his clothes activating to deflect most of them away.  Even Nedira’s Fusion activated a few times on the parts of her body that weren’t covered by Larek, but they could only do so much against the sheer number of flaming globs that seemed to target them.  His Field ran out of charges just before the end, and he was hit by a piece of burning bone and slimy flesh in the back, and he could feel it try and penetrate his clothing, but it ultimately failed to cut through – but the pressure was enough to mess up his flesh and even create a small crack in one of his ribs.

When it was all over a few seconds later, he collapsed to the side, already activating his Healing Surge to fix the damage.  Larek picked up and threw out the few burning pieces of toad flesh that managed to land inside the box, which had fortunately missed their Void Pocket bags, and he looked over to ensure that Nedira had come away unscathed.  She was already getting to her feet and looking over the side when he did the same, and she started laughing as she stared at the scene down below.  He joined her a second later as he looked at the absolute carnage that had been wrought upon the Ethertoad population, as well as the landscape, which had a literal crater where the monsters had been the most concentrated.  Even better, the explosion was so violent that it ended up closing the Aperture, meaning that their job there was done.

A few seconds into their laughter, Larek was suddenly inundated with Corrupted Aetheric Force that came from the slain Ethertoads, as his actions had directly led to their deaths, even though it was technically a chain reaction caused by a single one exploding.  Based on how much it was, he thought that he would have at least enough to bring Pattern Manipulation’s maximum Level up a few more times once it was available for him to use.

“I guess that’s one way to do it,” Nedira said, still giggling at the chaotic scene.  “This feels like it’s cheating, but it certainly did contain a bit of danger there at the end.”

He nodded, amazed at how quickly it had all happened.  At the same time, he knew that if he had been even a tiny bit slower in shielding Nedira, she might have been seriously hurt or killed if her Automatic Ice Repulsion Field had run out of charges.  He resolved to rework the Fusion a little, because now that they were in the Kingdom with a higher Mana density, it could afford to last longer before it shut down.  It still used a bit of ambient Mana to power it, but so far they hadn’t had any problems with sucking an entire area dry of Mana. 

“Are you alright?” she asked, turning away from the destruction.  “Thank you for protecting me, by the way.”

He shrugged, giving her a smile at the same time.  “I’m fine.  I was hit once by a piece of that one, but I’m already healed.”  Looking her over, he spotted a few drops of blood that seemed to have leaked from her ears.  Reaching up, he moved her hair aside and wiped it away as he looked for the injury.  “The better question is, are you alright?”

“Oh, I’m fine.  The explosion blasted my eardrums wide open from its proximity, but the Graduated Parahealing took care of it quickly.”

“Ah, good.”  While he knew that it was loud, his body – even his ears – had been able to withstand the sound shockwave without any problems.  Thankfully, she seemed fairly nonchalant after having her ears blown out.

“So, where to next?”

The answer to that was to continue heading east.  He quickly started them heading that way once he brought them back down to a cruising altitude of only about 15 feet above the surface.  It didn’t take long for them to exit the Ethertoads’ territory, and they skirted the edge of the Calamity, which was always present in his awareness.  He was still shocked at how powerful it was, but after a while it had faded into the background.  Even though he knew where it was at all times, it eventually didn’t consume his complete attention anymore like when he first felt it.

Three hours later, as they passed over gently rolling hills, grasslands, and random stands of trees, they finally spotted an overgrown dirt road.  Following it for the next few minutes, they came across an abandoned village containing around a dozen buildings, most of them half-destroyed or even burned down to their foundations. While Nedira didn’t seem too shocked to see it, this was the first example that Larek had seen in person of the devastation that had rocked the Kingdom over the last few years.  Sure, he’d seen the refugees back in Tarvada, but he hadn’t actually seen the destruction that had been visited upon Harvana – where those refugees had come from.

He couldn’t help but think of Rushwood suffering the same fate, and he was even more eager to head north and ensure that his family was safe.

Another few minutes past the sad sight of the destroyed village saw a slight change in the overall landscape, as they passed abandoned farmsteads along the road they followed that seemed to have been sandwiched in between Aperture territories, reaching out toward the horizon.  It took another few hours as the sun was getting low in the sky before they finally saw something a bit more substantial in the distance.

A walled city.

As much as he wanted to keep moving and get to his family after seeing the devastation that had been enacted over the countryside, he was aware that it was already getting late in the day, and it was just about time for him to set down and rest his focus after traveling via Pattern box for so long. 

Besides, stopping and visiting the city would give them an opportunity to potentially sleep in a real bed, to buy some new clothes to replace his now too-large attire, and to discover any information that could be had about the area and the Calamity in general.  Plus, he really wanted to see how his new appearance held up to the general population; being able to move freely through a city without having to worry about being assaulted by everyone would be a novel experience.  Sure, he’d experienced something similar with the ring that Shinpai had given him, but there was also the paranoia of being found out by those with strong enough minds to see through the Fusion’s effects.

But now he didn’t have to worry about that.  He actually was his current height, and there was no misdirection or illusion involved.

“Given that they seem more organized than the last city we stayed in, I’m hoping that they might even have some information about my brother’s whereabouts,” Nedira mentioned as they were setting down about two miles out from the city.  They would have to walk the rest of the way, of course, but he didn’t want to appear in the middle of the city in the middle of a flying, glowing box.  While he wasn’t exactly trying to remain inconspicuous, there was a difference between not trying to stand out and announcing his presence to everyone inside the city.

“That would be great!  They might even have information on where to find Verne or the others, though don’t get your hopes up too far,” he cautioned her.  “This is only the first place that doesn’t appear to be completely cut off from everything else, so it might take a little longer to find them.  But rest assured,” he said, putting his hand on her shoulder, “I will do whatever I can to find them.”

“I know you will, Larek. I’m just worried that it’s already too late.”

He gently squeezed her shoulder as she stared at the city in the distance.  “Don’t lose hope; we’ll find them.”

Nedira just nodded, before leading the way toward the city, her Void Pocket bag over her shoulder.  Larek quickly caught up to her and slung his own Void Pocket sack over his shoulder after storing his staff inside, as he matched her walking speed on her right.  Before they had gone more than a hundred feet, Nedira reached out and caught his empty left hand, holding it tightly at first as if she was afraid to let go.  He gently squeezed it back, nonverbally letting her know that he understood her worries, but that he was there to help her.  She eventually relaxed and simply held his hand after a while without it feeling like she was trying to strangle the life out of it, and Larek realized that simply holding hands with her would’ve been a bit more difficult if he was still a foot and a half taller. 

Yet another reason it was a smart idea to reduce my height.

A smile crossed his face as he walked hand in hand with Nedira toward the bustling city in the distance.


Chapter 23

“Form two lines and no pushing!  No entry without assessment!  We all work together to hold back the Calamity!”

The guard on top of the walls shouted these words every 30 seconds or so as Larek and Nedira joined the surprisingly long lines leading into the already overcrowded city.  On their short journey, they passed a few farms that were being worked, but there were only a handful of them that seemed to be fully operational.  There were more than what had originally been outside of Tarvada, including one ranch that held what appeared to be a few dozen head of cattle, but it was definitely not enough to feed everyone in the city.

Unlike Tarvada, there were also caravans entering and leaving the city gates, which made the Fusionist think that there were other towns or cities that were doing better nearby which had been able to continue producing food – or they were transporting other goods besides foodstuffs.  Either way, it seemed as though the areas around the perimeter of the Calamity were doing much better than other areas, which he could only assume was due to the need to keep them from expanding; while many of the smaller Apertures around the Kingdom could be relatively ignored, many of the Kingdom’s resources needed to be corralled toward the Calamities to ensure they didn’t wipe out everything. 

It wasn’t clear whether the Kingdom was even in charge of this, or if it was just the remnants of the SIC still maintaining their duty by protecting the people.  Even the prejudiced fools from the previous city that threatened to kill him appeared better off than his only other experience with a city, but that didn’t mean they were actually acting under official orders.  Regardless, the words that the guard was shouting over everyone entering the city were encouraging, as it seemed as though the people were really coming together to fight against the Apertures, and the Calamity in particular.

“What do you think he means by that?” he asked Nedira.  “About the assessment?”

An older man standing ahead of them in line, wearing a dirty set of worn clothing with his hands calloused from hard work, must have heard his question, because he turned around and eyed the two of them up and down.  Larek mentally sighed in relief as his new height didn’t seem to trigger the individual, who also had what appeared to be a rake he’d recently learned was used in farming over his shoulder, and he experienced a freedom that he’d never really felt before as the man answered his question.

“You must be new arrivals, I would assume.  I’m not sure how you could’ve missed it from where you’re from, but they’re checking for anyone showing Mage or Martial tendencies so that they can either be quickly trained or sent off to one of the Academies or Forts for formal training if they show more promise.”

“The Academies and Forts are still open?” Larek asked, still trying to figure out what was going on in the Kingdom.  From his experience in Tarvada, it almost sounded like everyone was simply trying to survive by themselves without any overarching help from the Kingdom or the SIC, but now what he’d seen near the border of the Calamity made him think such a situation was more isolated than not.   “I thought the whole SIC had collapsed,” he added.

“Not entirely, or so I’ve heard,” the man answered.  “Of course, I’m not really in a position to hear the details, but apparently the SIC is still in charge of a few key areas, which include all of the Academies and Forts used for training Mages and Martials.  It’s the Nobles around the Kingdom that have lost a lot of power, which has consequently converted many of the SIC members into their own fighting forces in charge of certain territories.  Most of them still have a tentative connection to the SIC, at least as far as sending new recruits to learn from an accelerated Mage or Martial curriculum – or so I was told when my nephew was sent north to Crystalview Academy a week ago.”

The name of Crystalview Academy made Larek’s mind blank for a moment as he remembered his own experiences there.  When he could think again, he heard Nedira asking a question.

“Have there been a lot of people showing signs of being a Mage or Martial lately?”

The Farmer looked at them with a suspicious look on his face.  “Where have you been that you—never mind.  You must have been quite isolated indeed not to know,” he conjectured, even as he took a few steps forward as the line moved.  “Anyways, ever since the beginning of the Apertures, the potential for being a Mage and Martial has appeared at an accelerated rate – and not just in children.  Even those who are up to 30 years old have suddenly woken up one day with the hidden potential to become a Mage or Martial, which is why people are assessed before they are allowed into the city of Fairmeadow – along with all the other towns and cities in the Kingdom.  Though, apparently not everywhere.”  He grumbled that last part.

Larek looked at Nedira, but apparently this was something that she hadn’t remembered from her missing memories.  Turning back to the man, he asked, “What happens if they find someone with potential during one of these ‘assessments’?”

“Oh, they immediately pull them aside so that they can start training them to harness their potential and to help with defending against the Apertures,” the Farmer explained.  “From what I understand, the process can take a few weeks up to a month before they start showing signs of wielding that potential, but it’s still much faster than it used to take.  I think the more formal training at the Academies and Forts can take up to a year before they’re sent back out, but they come back a lot more powerful than those trained for a short time here in the city.”

“How is it you know so much about this?” Nedira questioned.

The man snorted.  “Everyone knows that much, though again, apparently not everyone.  Plus, my much younger sister was suddenly discovered to have potential at age 27 three years ago, and she was sent to Crystalview as well.  I never saw her again after that, but I was told she was assigned somewhere important and is still doing well,” he said, a bit of a tear in his eye at the mention of his sister.

“I’m sorry to hear that, but I’m sure she’s doing just fine,” Nedira consoled the Farmer.  “Thank you for answering my questions.”

“Not a problem.  It’s not like there’s a lot else for me to do while in line.”

Since the man was obviously a Farmer, as far as Larek could tell at least, he thought he’d ask about the current food situation.  He had some Fusions in his bag to help with expanding food production, after all.

“It’s always at the point where it feels like we’re going to start starving, but with shipments coming in from the south and additional monster hunting from the Calamity, we get by,” the man said in response to Larek’s question.  “Thankfully, trade hadn’t completely collapsed between us and a number of other cities and towns nearby, though rumor is that all it could take was one more town falling to an Aperture before everything fell apart.  Thankfully, the Defend Faction here has done a superb job protecting us all.”

“Defend Faction?  What is that?”  It sounded familiar for some reason, but he couldn’t place it right away.

“You haven’t—ah, of course not,” the man grumbled good-naturedly again, before moving another few steps up in line.  From what he could tell, it would probably take another 10 minutes or so before they were at the front near the gates. “Remember what I said about the local forces working independently?  Well, many of them have joined either the Defend Faction, such as those who reside in Fairmeadow, or the Strike Faction.  The first Faction concentrates on defending us against the monsters of the Apertures nearby, closing them and killing their monsters; the latter Faction, which is much more dangerous in my opinion, is focused on pushing into the Calamity and closing the Aperture at the heart of it.  Such a venture would be pure suicide from what I’ve heard, and there’s really no need; the Calamity hasn’t expanded in over a year because it’s been stabilized, and it provides us with much-needed monster meat and materials from their corpses.  It’s the only reason we haven’t all starved here, in fact.”

All that he’d learned from the man was both informative and a bit worrying.  He intuitively understood that the two Factions that he explained were the driving forces behind the way he was approached the day before, as it seemed as though representatives from the two Factions were aiming to take his head and his stuff afterwards for their Factions’ objectives.  That didn’t excuse what they did, of course, but at least he understood some of their motivations.

What was worrying about what he learned was two-fold.  First, the local food situation, while better than at Tarvada, also hinted that it was a fragile system of trade that hinged not only on a conglomeration of nearby cities and towns working together, but also using the Calamity and nearby Apertures for monster meat.  That was perfectly fine as far as Larek was concerned, because they might as well get a use out of what they were already doing, but if just one major catastrophe happened, then the whole system would be thrown out of balance.

It wasn’t his intention to solve all these problems, but he could potentially help them out by providing them with a safety net in the form of his farming Fusions.  Normally, he wasn’t looking to go around and provide his help for free to everyone he came across, but it seemed from the Farmer with whom they’d just spoken that the people in charge here were genuinely trying to do their best to protect everyone the best way they could.

But…

…that also brought him to his second worry.  While it sounded like they were doing it for the good of everyone, the “assessment” mentioned pulling people out of the crowd so that they could be trained to fight against the monsters in the Apertures.  Larek knew firsthand how he had been essentially forced into being a Mage and sent to Crystalview Academy against his wishes – and that had been during a time when everything hadn’t been as chaotic and dangerous as it was now.  He couldn’t even imagine what people, especially those older than the normal children that attended an Academy or Fort, had to do nowadays to “train” for combat that they never thought they would ever have to face. 

Was it fair?  Absolutely not.  Was it necessary?  Eh… probably?  He couldn’t know the exact situation in the Kingdom to judge if it was necessary, but with what he’d seen so far, he wouldn’t be surprised to find that if all of the new people with potential hadn’t been discovered and trained, then the entire Kingdom would’ve fallen long before this point.  Did that give those in charge the right to do it anyway?  No.  But at the same time, Larek really couldn’t see any other way they could hope to survive without doing something similar to what they did. 

He didn’t have the authority to change what was happening, nor did he have a solution to replace what was obviously necessary to maintain the safety of the nearby people.  Sure, his Fusions would probably help to bridge the gap between needing warm bodies to throw at the Apertures and the effectiveness of the already existing Mages and Martials, but it wasn’t like he could supply enough to fulfill the needs of the entire Kingdom.  A city or two, perhaps, but that wasn’t exactly why he was there at the city of Fairmeadow in the first place.

This was just to be a temporary stop where they could find out more information about what was going on in the Kingdom and to find the whereabouts of Nedira’s brother and their friends, at which they’d already obtained a good start after talking to the Farmer, and to get some new clothes for Larek’s altered body.  Helping people out was only a secondary objective, and only if doing so wouldn’t cause any delay in his journey north. 

In more pressing matters, the Fusionist thought there might be an issue as soon as they got to the front of the line.  This “assessment” was liable to reveal that both Larek and Nedira had the potential they were looking for, so how would they react to being pulled aside?  Looking over at the woman by his side, she didn’t seem too worried about it, so he just followed her lead.

They chatted about less consequential things with the Farmer, who never introduced himself and Larek didn’t think to ask after a while, before it was the man’s time to be assessed by the guards at the gate to Fairmeadow.  He’d been listening to the goings-on up ahead of them as they moved up the line, so the guard’s words weren’t a surprise.

“Step up!” he shouted, gesturing to a spot in front of him.  “What is your purpose in Fairmeadow?” the guard then asked in a bored tone as soon as the Farmer was even with him.  Larek didn’t hear the man’s response because it was a bit loud nearby, but the guard nodded, touched the Farmer on the arm briefly, and then nodded again.  “Go on through.”

It wasn’t until that point that Larek was able to determine that the guard, as well as a number of others on the wall and down below letting people inside the city, were giving off the sense of being Martials – and a few Mages, in fact.  This, of course, made sense, as they would need to be one or the other in order to determine if one had potential or not – or so he assumed.  Nowadays, he could easily tell if someone was a Mage or a Martial by how the ambient energy around them reacted to their presence, but it hadn’t always been like that. He figured that by touching someone who had the potential to become a Mage or Martial, they would sense it in a similar way. 

“Step up!” the guard called, gesturing to the same place the Farmer had stood a moment before.  Nedira walked up with him, their hands still locked together, and Larek looked at the guard.  “What is your purpose in Fairmeadow?” he asked, though, as opposed to the bored way he had spoken to the Farmer, he seemed much more interested in their answer.

“Just visiting,” Larek responded.  “Probably going to purchase a few things,” he added.  As soon as he said that, though, he realized that they didn’t have any money.  All of it had been lost when his Air Skimmer had crashed and blown up when facing the Sand Vultures, and they hadn’t really needed any in Tarvada because of the unique circumstances they found themselves in there.

I guess I’ll be trading some things instead of just giving them away, he mused.

“Where are you from?” the guard asked, before standing next to Nedira.

“Originally from the north,” Larek answered.

But the guard wasn’t exactly listening as he stared at the woman by Larek’s side.  “You a Mage?” he asked, clearly noting her green robe and staff.

“Yes, I am.”

“Good to have you here,” he answered with a small head bob.  “Please visit the Faction Commander at your earliest convenience.”  Turning to Larek, the man couldn’t keep a frown off his face.  “And who do we have here?”

The Fusionist had to admit, he didn’t look like either a Mage or a Martial at the moment.  Normal, baggy clothes that wouldn’t be out of place on a Farmer, a plain-looking sack over his shoulder, and a Logger’s axe on his waist didn’t exactly scream “powerful individual”.  With his staff stored in his sack, he didn’t even have that as a context clue. 

Not seeing any reason to hide at least one facet of who he was, Larek answered with, “I’m a Fusionist.”

The guard looked confused.  “A Fusionist?  What’s that?”

Wow.  I was not expecting that response.  “I’m a very particular Mage, one who creates Fusions.”  Looking at the guard, as well as the guards on the wall and around the gate, he was somewhat surprised to see that none of them had even a single Fusion on their clothing, weapons, or on an accessory.

Which Larek thought was very strange.

What’s going on here?

One of the nearby guards, a young woman who was wearing a red robe and had an iron mace hanging off her belt, overheard the conversation and spoke up.  “It’s something only some old Mages know how to do, but it’s practically useless,” she said with more than a little snark in her tone.  “It takes entirely too much time to learn and too much time to create them, so they were abandoned years ago with the local training.  I’ve heard that the other Academies still teach it somewhat, but they should follow Crystalview’s lead and get rid of it entirely.  It’s a waste of time, if you ask me.”  She looked at Larek with disgust, which wasn’t exactly new to him, but this wasn’t because of his height; it was because she thought Fusions and Fusionists were beneath her notice.

“Well, if you’re a Mage, then you can still cast spells, so I’m sure the Commander will be able to use you somehow.  See him at your earliest convenience.  Go on in,” the original guard concluded, waving them inside.  But something about what the Martial said caught Larek’s attention.

“What do you mean by ‘able to use me’?”

The guard appeared impatient because they were holding up the line.  “Exactly what I said.  Anyone entering the city with either potential or previous training has to report to the Faction Commander for mandatory service.  No exceptions, even for a Fusion-ator or whatever you are.  Now, get moving or we’ll move you ourselves – and we won’t be gentle about it.”

Larek looked at Nedira and was about to turn around rather than get embroiled in this whole “mandatory service” thing, but the guard’s next words stopped them.  “And don’t think about running, either, because deserters are killed on sight.  We all have to work together to hold back the Calamity, after all, even if a few foolish idiots here and there think they know better.  Now, move along!”

The Fusionist only hesitated a few more seconds before he walked inside, dragging Nedira along with him.  Once they were inside, the bustling city they had seen at a distance was in effect, as the sound of people moving about, shouting at each other either in anger or simply to communicate, and small-time merchants attempting to gain the attention of passersby to purchase their products filled the area around them.  It wasn’t nearly as crowded as Whittleton had been with all the refugees there, but it was close. 

Leading Nedira toward an alleyway that would allow them to get out of the crowd, he stopped inside of it and turned toward her.  “Shall we go?” he asked.  “I can just lift us right out of here, and we can be gone.”

Theoretically, they could’ve left at the gate and the guards wouldn’t have been able to stop either of them, but he didn’t exactly want to cause a scene or hurt anyone.  Granted, he wasn’t exactly happy about the ultimatum he was given, but this sounded more like a policy that they had to adhere to than any specific choice on the guard’s part, though he was sure they wouldn’t hesitate to carry out the punishment for deserting or refusing to serve in the first place if it were necessary. 

Leaving now, though, wouldn’t hurt anyone, and while they might fire some projectiles at them as they left, he wasn’t exactly worried about anyone hurting them inside of his Pattern box.  After they left, he also doubted that any of them would be able to catch them as they fled, so it wasn’t really a concern.

But would it be like this in every city they attempted to visit?  Was Tarvada simply unique, that the two of them didn’t have to worry about something like what was going on here?  He had a feeling that any place where things appeared organized and were maintaining the protection of the nearby areas would be similar in how they treated potential Mages and Martials, even if it wasn’t to the extent where they threatened to kill people that didn’t comply with their orders.  Then again, the SIC basically threatened that when he was drafted into the Academy, and to kill his family as well, so it was entirely possible that most of the Kingdom was still following that example. 

That sort of put a damper on their search for Norde and Verne, let alone all their other friends.  Cities like this were likely to have more information on their whereabouts, but if they had to avoid them so as to avoid being pressed into service, that would hinder their information-gathering efforts.

“Not quite yet,” Nedira said.  “We still need some new clothes for you, and I want to gain a little more information while we’re here.  I don’t… I don’t remember all of this about assessments and an influx of new Mages and Martials, but from what you’ve told me of what happened in the Sealance Empire, it makes sense that such a thing happened here, too – before the threat of the Apertures went global.  If I can find out more about it, then I might be able to locate where Norde might have ended up.”

Larek paused for a second before nodding.  “I agree, but at the first sign that they’re going to force us to participate in whatever they have going on, I’m taking us out of here.  Not for our own sake, but for our families’ sake.”

“Agreed.”

With that settled, the two of them rejoined the crowd outside the alley, as Larek tried to figure out how to afford some new clothes.  After that, they would go see this Faction Commander and see what was going on here – and hopefully gain some much-needed information in the process.


Chapter 24

“How long will they last?”

Larek debated on whether or not to say “forever”, but ultimately decided against it.  The mature Tailor clearly knew what Fusions were, and for him to say that it would continue working in perpetuity was bound to be met with skepticism. 

Over the last year, he’d learned a little bit about how to talk to people, even if it still wasn’t something he was comfortable with.  It especially helped when he didn’t have to outright lie to them, but instead only told half the truth.

“Guaranteed to last for at least four months.  Most of my Fusions have lasted at least six months, so it’s quite possible that these will last for as long or longer.” 

The Tailor held the two stones in her hands as she played around with them, using her mind to control the illumination they provided.  She had to look away as she turned them up to Magnitude 6, before reducing them back down to Magnitude 1 as she blinked away the spots in her vision.  Nedira did the same, but Larek had already recovered from the abrupt flash of light.

“I’ve never seen anything like this before – but it’s also no trick, as I’m able to control them with my thoughts.  Where did you say you got these, again?”

He smiled at the woman’s fascination with the Adjustable Illumination +8 Fusions Larek had placed on the stones.  Those were just some of the Fusions he had made back in Tarvada before leaving and shoved into his Void Pocket sack, just in case they needed them on their journey.  He had no idea it was going to be for the purpose of trade, however.  “I created them myself.”

She just nodded, as if that made sense.  He had a feeling she didn’t know exactly how much effort went into them; the Tailor only knew that they worked as he had advertised.  “Alright.  I accept your offer.  Two sets of clothing that… fit,” she said abruptly, pointedly looking at his ill-fitting attire, “and a new pair of work boots that my husband will make for you.  In exchange for these two Fusions that you attest will last at least four months, which I will be able to use to illuminate my work areas and my storefront.”

“Sounds like a deal to me.  How long until I can pick them up?” he asked.

She tore her attention away from the Fusions in her hands long enough to look at him.  “We’ll put a rush on it, but it won’t be until tomorrow morning at the earliest.”

Larek was hoping that they could have it done that day so that they wouldn’t have to stay in the city, but he was aware that it was already getting late in the day.  Another couple of hours would see the sun setting, so he was lucky that the Tailor agreed to have it done so soon in the morning.  He knew that she would probably be working late that night to get it done, as well as her husband – but at least she’d have light with which to work.

After getting his measurements recorded, which was a unique experience at his new size because he didn’t have to endure the complaints about his height by whoever was taking them, he and Nedira left the Tailor’s shop.  “Are you sure you don’t need anything?” he asked her, indicating the shop they had just exited.  “I have more Fusions I could trade away.”

“Nothing right now,” she said.  “I managed to get a few changes of, uh, underclothing back in Tarvada while we were there, so I’m doing just fine.”

“Really?  I didn’t even know.”  He chuckled, realizing that he had spent a bit of time making Fusions and hadn’t really paid attention to what she was doing half the time, though most of it had been simply recovering.

“Yes, well, unlike some people, I do tend to like to change my underclothes every once in a while.”  She pinched her nose as she looked at him with an amused expression on her face.

“Uh, oh – do I stink?”

Nedira just chuckled at him instead of answering.

“Wait, what does that mean?”

She still wouldn’t answer except with a smile back at him, and he gave up trying to get her to elaborate.  Instead, she took his hand and led him toward the center of the city, which they had just barely had a chance to walk through before they spotted the Tailor’s shop.  Looking around, the city appeared to be very similar to the cities he’d been in before, only with more people; the streets were quite crowded, and sometimes they had to wait for large groups to move before advancing up the street themselves, but the atmosphere was at least one of hope and determination, rather than fear and despair like he halfway expected.

The one thing he didn’t see were stands selling different types of food; instead, as he quickly learned from conversations and seeing it himself, there were multiple dining halls around the city that provided food free of charge, though one had to have something called a “work chit” to present to the halls to obtain food.  He witnessed a few individuals selling their work chits to others for reasons he was unaware of, and eavesdropped conversations revealed that only by providing a service to the city would anyone receive three work chits a day. 

“Forced service is right,” Nedira said softly by his side, but his Listening Skill still picked it up despite being in the middle of the busy city.  “They’re basically forcing the people to provide some sort of service or they’ll starve.  I’m guessing that also includes the Mages and Martials that come into the city.”

Larek suddenly understood something that had been bugging him about their interaction with the guard at the gate.  “That makes sense now,” he murmured loud enough for Nedira to hear.

“What does?”

“Why we were told to report to the Faction Commander ‘at our earliest convenience’,” he explained.  “I imagine that any new Mages and Martials coming into the city would quickly find out that they wouldn’t be getting anything to eat until they entered the Faction’s service, because there’s no place to get food other than these dining halls… which are likely run by the Faction as well.  Clever use of resources, even if I don’t approve.”

As the implications of what he was learning set in, his mood soured further.  While it wasn’t exactly evil to set something up this way, it wasn’t good; what happened to those who, like his mother, couldn’t work at more than the simplest of tasks because of an illness she was still recovering from?  Or his father, with his injured leg, who might not be able to keep up with others providing service to the Faction?  Would they receive less than three work chits a day for less work?  Would they be able to find any type of service they could perform at all?  What about the old, sick, or injured individuals?  Would they be forced to starve because they couldn’t work?

He had a feeling that the answer was yes, because that ensured that the city and the Faction weren’t feeding those who didn’t contribute.  It was barbaric, to be sure, but he could halfway understand the reasoning behind it because they weren’t really running on a surplus of food, from what he’d learned.  That understanding didn’t mean he liked it, of course, because if his parents had been forced to come to a place like this, there was a good chance his mother wouldn’t have been able to work much – and would therefore have to exist on whatever his father could provide for them to share. 

He was beginning to dislike this Faction more and more, and yet he wasn’t savvy enough with economic and logistic policies to offer a better solution – at least not with what the current system provided.  If they had more food, ensuring that everyone could be fed no matter what, then that would be a whole different question.  Even without listening to the Farmer outside the walls, it was already fairly obvious that feeding everyone in the city was a challenge, based on his own observations.  Of course, Larek could probably do something to change that situation by providing his farming Fusions, but should he?  

Struggling to answer this question in his head, he let Nedira lead him toward the center of the city.  Along the way, he was distracted a few times when they encountered larger groups of people moving through the streets, and he began to wonder where all these people slept at night. It was at least as crowded as Tarvada, and they had a veritable extra city full of tents and makeshift hovels outside the walls where the refugees had stayed. 

His internal question was answered a little bit later when they began moving with the greater flow of people and found themselves moving toward an odd structure in the distance.  It took him longer to make it out than usual since he couldn’t easily see over the heads of the crowd anymore, but he eventually discovered that what he was looking at was a stone façade which basically presented the entrance to a large hole in the ground. 

“The Underdwelling” was the large sign that hung over the entrance, and when he was close enough, Larek could see a large ramp that flowed down into the hole, lit up by torches.  The people with whom they’d walked with kept going down the ramp; and while the Fusionist was curious about what was down below, he’d had enough of the underground, after his experience in Lowenthal, that he’d rather not venture down there if he could help it.  Nedira seemed to feel the same, as she immediately turned away and headed for a large building located near the hole’s entrance.

It quickly became obvious where she was going when the words, “Defend Faction Headquarters” were written in big bold letters over the building’s entrance stood out to him, and Larek nearly missed a step when he hesitated.  He wasn’t sure if he was prepared to face whatever was going to happen inside the building, but he pushed through the momentary anxiety and firmed up his resolve. 

No matter what happened, he was strong enough to leave with Nedira if things got… complicated.  At least, that’s what he told himself, with full confidence.

Outside of the building’s entrance stood two individuals, one on either side of the door, though he wouldn’t really call them guards.  Instead, one was a Mage and the other a Martial, lounging against the nearby wall and watching the people pass by.  As Larek and Nedira emerged from the crowd, they straightened up a little as the two approached.

“Haven’t seen you before,” the Martial said, an older woman with a strung bow around her shoulder.  She was wearing an outfit that reminded him of Vivienne’s, and he momentarily wondered where that crazy woman who pretended to assassinate him in the bathtub had ended up.  “Just arrived in Fairmeadow?” she continued, asking her question of Nedira, who was the obvious-looking Mage.

“Yes, we just got in a little bit ago,” Nedira answered.  “We were told we needed to see the Faction Commander?”

The woman pointed her thumb over her shoulder at the entrance.  “Go on in.  The Commander should be on the top floor.  If he’s not, ask any of the others nearby and they should be able to tell you where he went.”

“Thanks,” Nedira said, beginning to step forward, but the Faction mage held out a hand.

“Hold,” he said, staring at them so hard that his eyes eventually crossed.  “Ack!  What is that all over your clothes?  It hurts my head just looking at it!”

Larek looked down, wondering if he had gotten a stain on his clothes at some point, but he immediately understood what was happening.  The Mage back at the gate hadn’t really looked at them closely, and therefore hadn’t noticed the Fusions; this Mage was paying more attention, though, but his mind couldn’t comprehend the strength and complexity of the Fusions that were placed upon Larek’s clothes.  He could only assume that this Mage was one of the newer ones that hadn’t learned much—or anything—about Fusions, and therefore had no way to even identify one.  Based on what he’d learned, it was quite possible that no one used any Fusions nowadays in this city, or their use was limited.

Hmm… I wonder if that could be our ticket out of here.  Or would giving the Faction some powerful Fusions would just allow the Faction to have even more control?

He pushed that decision away for a moment as he answered.  “Fusions.  I’m guessing that you haven’t used many of them before.”

“Fusions?  Yes, I’ve seen them, but they don’t look anything like that!”  The Mage had actually held up his arm to block his sight of Larek and Nedira, which was almost comical. 

“What’s going on?” the archer woman asked, pulling out a knife in response to her counterpart seemingly being assaulted.

Thankfully, the Mage wasn’t completely ignorant of what it meant for the Fusions to be so powerful, as he held up his hand toward the woman.  “It’s fine.  I was just a little overwhelmed by the sheer power I can sense in those Fusions.”  He finally seemed to adjust to his sight as he put his arm down and looked at her.  “I don’t know who they are, but if you accidentally attack them, I’m fairly certain you’ll die.  Leave them for the Commander to deal with.”

The Martial appeared skeptical, but she slid her knife back into a hidden pocket and stepped back.  “Fine.  Go on in,” she said in a monotone. 

Larek just shrugged and followed after Nedira, as he wanted to make sure he was in position to block a strike from behind if the woman decided to attack anyway.  Fortunately, the door closed behind them without any sign of the Martial entering after them, and Larek looked around the room they entered.

It was empty.  Low ceilings and wood-paneled walls surrounded dozens of tables and accompanying chairs, creating a common room that likely saw a lot of SIC members back in the day, but for now it was entirely empty.  There was no obvious sign that anyone had eaten there in a long time, as everything appeared neat, tidy, and clean, and there was no scent of food to be found.  So… even the members of the Faction eat at the dining halls, huh?  I guess that promotes the feeling that everyone is in this together? 

Nedira immediately looked toward the far right corner of the room, where stairs leading upwards could be found, and Larek followed her as she made her way over.  They ascended to a second floor, which appeared to be a U-shaped hallway filled with individual rooms, all with their doors shut tight. These appeared to be lived-in, unlike the empty common room below, and he even thought he heard a few voices behind some of the closed doors. 

They eventually arrived at another set of stairs, which was followed by yet another U-shaped hallway filled with rooms; another staircase led to the fourth floor, which was essentially identical to the second and third floors.  It was only when they arrived at the top of the final set of stairs that they were presented with something different.  Signs of life were present as they encountered a large office-like area, and a half-dozen individuals were running around with paperwork, only glancing up briefly as they saw Larek and Nedira arrive.  Surprisingly, none of those he saw were Mages or Martials, but instead seemed to be some sort of assistants that worked there.

“Must be a lot of paperwork to handle for an entire city,” Larek noted out loud when he saw the frantic pace set by the assistants.

“Not just the city,” said a voice behind them.  It was a voice that Larek immediately recognized, and as he turned around, he saw that he was correct.  “But the entire region.  There are four cities, including Fairmeadow, and sixteen towns all enveloped by the Defend Faction in this region, and it’s all controlled from here.  It certainly keeps us busy.”  The man paused for a moment.  “It’s good to see you, Nedira.  Where have you been?”

“…Kimble?  You look, uh, different.”

That was an understatement.  The once-youthful Pyromancer now looked to have aged at least a dozen or more years, and dark circles bruised the areas under his eyes. Kimble appeared as if he hadn’t slept in weeks, and there was a hunched-over bent to his back as he held himself up with his staff.  Larek glanced over him to see if there was any sign of the Fusions he had made for the Mage all those years ago, but there wasn’t a single one – his or someone else’s. 

“And you look like you’re haunted by demons,” the man said jokingly, but the joking tone only caused Nedira to visibly flinch.  “Huh.  Really?  Demons?  What Aperture did those come out of?”

It took her a few seconds to gather herself to respond.  “It wasn’t an Aperture, exactly… but it’s not something I want to talk about.  Thankfully, Larek saved me from a fate that was literally worse than death.”

“That’s good to hear, Nedira.  I’m glad you’re still alive, too, because we could really use your help.  We’ve been employing over a half-dozen Naturalists to serve in the fields, growing food, but we’re slowly reaching a breaking point.  Another few months, especially with winter right around the corner, and we’ll be facing starvation on a level that we won’t be able to ration through.  Even a single Naturalist helping to grow additional crops will help to reduce the amount of dead to a minimum.”

“I, uh, don’t think I’ll be—”

“But anyway, we can talk about that later,” the Pyromancer interrupted her.  “More importantly, who’s your friend here?  Another new potential that you’ve found?”

Both Nedira and Larek were silent as they stared at Kimble, before Nedira said slowly, “No, Kimble, this is Larek.  You remember, the Fusionist?”

The once-familiar man just looked at Larek for a moment in complete confusion before he started to chuckle.  “Nice joke, Nedira.  There are no more Fusionists around here, you know that.”

“But—”

“And to think I would know one of them?  Oh, that’s a new one!  I’ve never seen this ‘Larek’ fellow in my entire life.”

Huh.  Awkward.


Chapter 25

Standing in front of the red-robed Pyromancer who had absolutely no idea who he was, Larek glanced at Nedira.  “He has no memory of me, remember?  It was taken away by that Gergasi—”

“Gergasi!  What do you know about those blasted giants?  And what do they have to do with me?” Kimble asked, a rising anger in his voice.

“Listen, this might be hard to believe, but you used to know Larek.  You were even assigned to be one of his bodyguards by Dean Lorraine.  Do you remember the Skirmish back at Copperleaf Academy?  He was the one who helped us win with the help of his Fusions—”

She wasn’t able to finish before Kimble started to shake his head, a keening starting low in his chest.  Larek backed up and dragged Nedira with him as the Pyromancer began to shake, and he looked around to see that the half-dozen assistants with paperwork in their hands had stopped and were staring slack-jawed at the Faction Commander.  “Run!  Get out of here!” he shouted at them.  At first, they didn’t move; but when the keening became louder, they panicked and fled toward the stairs, running for everything they were worth.

“Kimble.  It’s alright.  You’re going to be alright.  It’s just the memory block that Chinli put on you,” Larek said to his former bodyguard as soon as the others had left.  “Let me see if I can help get rid of it—”

“NO!  STAY AWAY!” Kimble shouted, his focus suddenly on the Fusionist.  Before he could do anything else, a massive Fireball that stretched from floor to ceiling appeared in front of the Faction Commander.  Larek had a moment to gulp in shock before it was launched directly at him, and all he had a chance to do was push Nedira out of the way before it slammed right into him.  He felt his Automatic Ice Repulsion Field activate, and blocked it for all of a split-second, but there was so much strength behind the Fireball spell that it broke through it and kept going.

Fortunately, before Larek could go up in flames, the split-second delay was all he needed to dive mostly out of the way, but the massive ball of fire hit his work boots and practically melted them off his feet, with his overly-long pant legs suffering from serious scorching and even ignition as the heat pushed through their Multi-Resistance Fusion.  He felt his feet get burned pretty badly, but the skin held up fairly well considering the attack. 

As he landed on the floor, he rolled a few times to put out the flames on his pant legs.  Jumping up as soon as they were out, he looked to make sure Nedira was fine – she was, though she appeared frightened at that sudden attack – before turning back to Kimble.  The Pyromancer was screaming by this point, his robe aflame apparently from the inside, as the Faction Commander seemed to be burning alive.

I can’t let that happen.

Dropping his Void Pocket sack, which thankfully hadn’t suffered any damage from the Fireball spell, he rushed over to his former bodyguard.  Without any other option, especially as the Pyromancer’s skin started to melt off of his flesh, he reached out and slammed his fist into the side of the man’s head through the flames, burning himself in the process, but he didn’t care.  When that didn’t work, he hit the man a little bit harder, ensuring that he didn’t go overboard, and the next smash against Kimble’s temple was enough to knock him out.

The Faction Commander started to collapse to the ground, the flames that were being generated by his body snuffing out, but Larek caught him before he landed.  Patting the rest of the flames on his robe out, the Fusionist lifted the man up and headed toward what appeared to be a large cubicle space that practically shouted, “Faction Commander’s Office.”  Off to his left he saw the giant hole in the wooden wall that had been caused by an enormous Fireball going through it, but he ignored it since it didn’t seem to be burning any more.

Inside, he gently placed the badly burned Pyromancer on a leather couch he found there, Nedira following after.  Without saying a word, she brought his Void Pocket sack with her and he reached inside, using the proper mental phrase to pull out a large box filled with necklaces and medallions that all had Graduated Parahealing Fusions on them.  Taking one and activating it, he knelt down at Kimble’s side and placed it on his old friend’s bare chest where the fire had burned through his robe, before putting the box back inside the sack. 

As the Fusion began to work, repairing the life-threatening burns that had been done to him, Larek looked up at Nedira.  “I don’t know exactly what that was, but I can only guess that it was from the Dominion magic that Chinli used on him.  I’m going to try and do something about it.  Otherwise, this might happen again when he wakes up.”

“Are you sure that’s a good idea?”

He shook his head.  “I’m not sure.  Probably not.  But I can’t leave him like this.”

She only took a few seconds before she nodded.  “Then you better hurry, because my guess is we only have a minute or so before his sudden lightshow brings curious and angry Faction members here.”

Without bothering to respond, he reached out with his hands and placed them around the man’s head, which was still in the process of healing.  The damage was so extensive that it was going to take a little while for the healing to be complete, but he ignored the feeling of the flesh rebuilding underneath his fingers as he closed his eyes and sent whatever senses he had inside of his former bodyguard.

Thankfully, finding the problem was easy and he located it almost immediately.  A resonance with the Dominion magic used on the Pyromancer, reminding him of Chinli, was plainly visible throughout his mind.  The issue he now had was how to get rid of it, because it was a lot more complex than he was expecting.  Instead of something simple like a blanket laid over Kimble’s cloud-like mind, it looked more like a lightning bolt made of crystal had branched and wormed its way through nearly every facet of his memories, skewering them so that they no longer worked.  Quickly assessing the situation, he realized that there wasn’t a single part of the Pyromancer’s mind that wasn’t influenced by Dominion magic in some way or another.

There was also one particular section of the cloud that throbbed with some sort of damage, and the crystalized lightning bolt of Dominion magic appeared to have shattered in just that section inside of his mind. He intuitively realized that this was likely some sort of failsafe that had triggered upon being reminded of Larek’s existence, and the Fusionist cursed at how ruthless the Gergasi were to have included something like this on the off-chance that Larek ever saw them again.

If I ever see Chinli again, I’m going to kill her.  He didn’t feel that way just because of what was done to Kimble, but because he knew that the same thing had likely been done to Nedira; fortunately, it didn’t seem to take completely, and her harrowing experience with the Umbral Demons had eliminated what Chinli had done to her.  At the same time, it also took away many of her other memories, and now that he could see for himself exactly what had been done, he knew she was lucky to even remember her name when that magic was forcibly removed by the shadowy Demons.

But now he had to find a way to do essentially the same thing, while still maintaining all of Kimble’s memories.  He immediately attempted to use his own Dominion magic to remove Chinli’s work, but the foreign influence was too strong; as soon as he pushed against it, it pushed back 100 times as strong, rebuffing his efforts as if he was a small child.  In some ways, he supposed that was exactly what he was when it came to his fledgling use of Dominion magic, but hoped that he would at least have some sort of skill with it. 

Unfortunately, his ability to wield Dominion magic was relatively poor, and while he’d gotten better at it over time, it certainly wasn’t his strongest asset.  It was more “subtly influencing” than the “overbearing hammer blows” of the Gergasi; each had their effectiveness, of course, but in this case overwhelming might was an effective counter to his own subtle approach and meager strength.

Larek wasn’t an expert on Dominion magic, obviously, but he could be considered an expert in something else: Fusions and Pattern Cohesion.  How could he use what he was good at to help his friend break free from the Gergasi’s memory-suppressing effects – all while simultaneously maintaining the Pyromancer’s mind?

With a brief thought, the Fusionist quickly attempted to use his Pattern Cohesion similarly to what he’d done with the Umbral Demons, slicing through the crystalized lightning bolts of Dominion magic… only for them to pass through as if there was nothing there.  In essence, the foreign influence wasn’t something physical or even metaphysical that needed to be removed; the Demons didn’t exactly have a physical presence when they attempted to take over his body, but were more of a metaphysical force that tried to subvert his individual pattern.  It was this connection that allowed him to hurt and kill them with his Pattern Cohesion, but Dominion magic was something else entirely.

After his failure to remove the memory-suppressing influence using his own Dominion magic and his Pattern Cohesion, there weren’t a lot of options for Larek.  The only other thing he had any experience and expertise in was Fusions, but how was that supposed to help?

As he heard shouted voices in his periphery, which he immediately blocked out so that he could concentrate, the Fusionist had an epiphany.  What was a Fusion other than an Effect that was enhanced by a formation and aided by his Pattern Cohesion?  In the past, all of his Fusions had been based on spells or learned formations, but he’d just recently proved that he could take a concept or an idea that he had a little knowledge of and create a Fusion that was based around that concept.  He hadn’t had any spells that used the void, after all, but his knowledge of it was enough to create his Void Pocket Fusion.

So why couldn’t he use his knowledge of Dominion magic to do the same?

Larek took that idea and ran with it.  Without any handy materials to use for his new Fusion, he instead turned to his friend and started to design something that would utilize the man’s skin to absorb the new formation.  Thankfully, the Pyromancer’s earlier self-immolation had burnt off all his hair, leaving the man completely bald and presenting the Fusionist with a blank template to do his work.

His design was very simple, with but a few Inputs, Variables, and Effects.  The first Effect was a variation of the one he used for mental phrasing, but this one simply detected any uses of Dominion magic influencing the target of the Fusion, which in this case was Kimble; upon detection, the Effect would then activate the main Effect of the Fusion, which was an inversion of the Dominion magic concept.  This was probably the hardest Effect to fully establish in the formation, because it was basically the opposite of the ability he shared with the Gergasi.  As soon as he had a sturdy idea of freedom, clarity, and independence, he inserted it into one of the Effect sections of the formation and felt it click into place.

He quickly added in an Input that would detect outside mental influence as well as one for internal and existing influence, as well as Variables that would filter out anything that wasn’t Dominion magic.  For a Magnitude, he hurriedly set it at 5 and hoped that it was enough to take care of the problem already inside of Kimble’s mind, and then had a Reactive Activation Method connected to everything.  He almost finalized it before he realized he needed some way to actually neutralize any existing influence, because what he had now would theoretically prevent anything new from happening, but not affect anything that was already there.  The patchwork insertion of the void concept was probably a bit dangerous, but he could feel that he was running out of time; not only was there a commotion that he could sense Nedira was dealing with, but the Faction Commander was starting to stir and would likely wake up at any point.

Here goes nothing.

He only checked over everything once instead of triple-checking to ensure he had constructed everything correctly, but he had enough confidence in his Fusion-creation ability that he wasn’t too worried.  The overall Fusion formation wasn’t that large for what it was intending to do, after all, so the biggest challenge was keeping all the concepts straight in his mind as he began to funnel Mana into the Mana Cost section of the brand-new formation.

In less than a minute, which surprised him because it didn’t take as much Mana as he thought it would, he felt that the Fusion had completely filled and was now ready for completion.  With a quick adjustment for the correct placement, Larek settled the formation onto Kimble’s head, letting the Pattern Cohesion he had invested into the Fusion sink deep into the skin and flesh, disappearing to any casual scrutiny. The Fusionist and most Mages could probably see that it was there, buried just under the surface of the skin like a tattoo, but it wasn’t too obvious.

It *clicked* into place just as Kimble’s eyes snapped open, and his mouth gaped as if he was about to scream again, but something stopped him from releasing the rage and prevented the flames from covering his body once again.  There was silence all around him as Larek stared at his friend, before the Faction Commander’s eyes rolled back into his head and his entire body started to twitch uncontrollably.  Larek could see the Fusion at work, sucking in ambient Mana, but whether it was actually performing the job it was designed to do was something he could not tell for sure without looking a little closer.

Unfortunately, it was at that point that two pairs of strong arms wrapped around his own from behind and dragged him backwards, away from his friend.  He felt that he could easily break free if he wanted to, especially with his current Strength stat, but a glance around saw that Nedira was in the same state, and he didn’t want her to suffer if he decided to break out.  He barely had a chance to look at who had him restrained other than to determine that they were Martials, but the shouting and accusations of him harming the Faction Commander overwhelmed his attention. 

Other than worry over Nedira’s safety, there was one thing that prevented him from breaking free and knocking everyone out in order to escape: It was that his Automatic Ice Repulsion Field hadn’t automatically activated, meaning that they weren’t intentionally trying to hurt him by restraining him as they were.  That didn’t mean they wouldn’t try in the future, but he felt fairly confident that they weren’t going to try and kill him right away; instead, he figured they were waiting, just the same as he was, for proof.

For himself, he was waiting to see proof that his Fusion worked.

For the Martials and Mages of the Defend Faction standing around him, they were waiting to see proof of guilt.

Only time would tell one way or the other.


Chapter 26

“I don’t know what you did, but if you hurt the Commander, I’ll take great pleasure in killing you slowly.”  The whispered threat in Larek’s ear wasn’t backed up by any serious physical action other than a tightening of the arms around his own, but he simply nodded in response. The Martials that held him were strong, but nothing they were doing actually hurt him, for which he was grateful. 

Because if they ended up hurting Nedira, he would have to intervene – and those involved wouldn’t like it.

While the Commander continued to flop around on the couch, Larek took the time to look at his notifications that he ignored in the heat of the moment.

Dodge has reached Level 26!

Unarmed Fighting has reached Level 4!

Body Regeneration has reached Level 39!

Magical Detection has reached Level 43!

New Fusion learned!

Expression of Free Will +5

Activation Method(s): Reactive

Effect: Using non-invasive mental manipulation, the Reactive Activation Method initiates the process of identifying incoming sources of invasive mental manipulation

Effect: Blocks any and all sources of invasive mental manipulation

Effect: Identifies existing sources of invasive mental manipulation and actively eliminates them by banishing them to the void

Input(s): Detection of active mental state influence

Variable(s): Magical mental manipulation

Magnitude: Blocks 50% of active mental manipulation, eliminates existing mental manipulation at an average rate of 5% per second. 

Mana Cost: 45,000

Pattern Cohesion: 300

Fusion Time: 24 hours

Spellcasting Focus has reached Level 41!

Multi-effect Fusion Focus has reached Level 56!

Mana Control has reached Level 62!

Fusion has reached Level 62!

Pattern Formation has reached Level 62!

The new type of Fusion was enough to gain him some additional Skill Levels, which was surprising because it wasn’t as complicated as some that he’d made lately.  Then again, he had created it under pressure and used some concepts that he hadn’t used before, so that was certainly a reason why he might have gained as much as he did.

Once he was done with that, he had enough time to look around the area with real focus for the first time, recognizing that the dozen or so people who had come to Kimble’s rescue were vaguely familiar.  The two who had been outside the building were present, but he thought he also recognized a few others from the gate, including the arrogant Mage who had overheard him stating that he was a Fusionist.  Instead of acting all high-and-mighty like she had been, she was both angry and in wide-eyed awe as she really looked at him for the first time.  Or more accurately, looked at his clothing full of Fusions.

I’ve really got to hide their presence with void carriers when I add Fusions to my new clothes; the shock when other people catch sight of them is getting a bit old.

He’d probably have to do the same for Nedira’s robe – but that was for later, when he didn’t have to worry about an entire Faction coming after him for hurting their Commander.

Thankfully, Kimble’s bodily spasms abruptly stopped about a minute after they started, and he laid on the couch completely still and silent.  “You killed—!” one of the Faction members behind Larek said, only to be cut off when the Pyromancer abruptly sat up and inhaled a huge lungful of air, as if he had just emerged from the depths of a lake.  His eyes were wide as he stared through everyone in the room, unspeaking as he continued to catch his breath.  A short time later, his breathing slowed to something approaching normal, and Larek could see the point where his focus sharpened on those in the room.

“What are you all doing here?  Who’s watching the gate?” Kimble abruptly asked, his voice starting raw but getting better by the end of the second question. 

“Commander?  Are you alright?  What happ—”

“Back to your posts!  I’m fine, but I can only imagine that half the Kingdom walked into the city while no one was watching.”

There were a few seconds of hesitation before the majority of the Mages and Martials murmured, “By your leave, Commander,” before turning on their heels and leaving toward the stairs.  They didn’t move all that fast, but at least they were going away.

As for the four Martials holding Larek and Nedira, as well as the female Mage he recognized from the gate, they continued to restrain the two of them.  “We can bring these two out back and execute them for assaulting your honored self, Commander.”

Kimble’s focus had been drifting off shortly after ordering the guards back to their posts, but his attention snapped toward the Martial standing behind Nedira who had spoken.  “No, there’s no need.  Let them go and return to your posts.”

“Uh, Commander?  Are you sure—?”

“Yes, I’m sure.  These are friends of mine, so you’d better treat them with respect,” the Faction Commander added.

“Y-yes, sir!  Commander, sir!  We’ll head back now, by your leave.”  Larek and Nedira were quickly released from the arm holds that had been uncomfortable if not painful, and the four Martials swiftly left with only a few glances back toward the Commander.  The Mage from the gate, however, stuck around as she continued to stare at Larek. 

“You too, Shawna.  Don’t forget, you’re on rotation in a few hours, so you need to be ready.”

“B-but, Commander, look at the—”

“I know, Shawna; I know.  We’ll talk later.  For now, you need to go.”  The Commander’s voice grew hard by the end, something that Larek had never heard from Kimble back in the days when he was a bodyguard.  The tone finally seemed to break the woman out of her trance, and she turned around and left with a dazed expression on her face.  She was still so out of sorts that she didn’t even say anything to the Commander before she left.

During all of these exchanges, Larek noticed that Kimble didn’t look directly at him even once.  The Pyromancer looked at Nedira and his subordinates, but not even a single time at the Fusionist standing before him.

When the last person left, leaving them all alone, it was only then that the Faction Commander glanced at Larek, which caused him to raise his hands up to his head as if in pain.

“Are you sure you’re fine?  I can have a look at—” Larek said, but stopped when Kimble shook his head.

“No.  Don’t come near for now.  Everything is a bit… raw right now.  When I physically look at you, it’s like pressing my fingers into an open wound – but it’s in my head.  Even thinking about you is like a bit of pressure on a bad bruise, but at least it’s manageable.”

“Do you remember everything now?” Nedira asked.

Kimble was silent for a few seconds as he rubbed his temples, before looking at Nedira and deliberately ignoring Larek.  At least he knew that it was for a good reason.  “I think so?  It’s hard to tell, honestly, because it feels like every memory that had been blocked from me just got jammed back into my head all at once, but enough of it is there.”  He took a deep breath.  “It’s good to see the both of you, but what happened with that Gergasi that took you?  How did you escape?  Or… are you working with them?”

Larek shook his head, and although Kimble probably saw it in the corner of his eye, he expanded on his quick answer by explaining what had happened to him.  “Not at all.  Let me tell you a quick recap of what happened to me after I left you all that day…”

It took only a minute or two to outline his teleportation and time loss in the void, his travels through the Sealance Empire, his experience beneath the Lowenthal desert, and finding Nedira.  He glossed over the exact details of his reunion with the Naturalist, as she was uncomfortable reliving those memories, and he finished with his arrival in the Kingdom and how he subsequently learned about its situation.

“…and now we’re here, on our way north to check on my family, Nedira’s brother, and finding out what happened to our friends.  Speaking of which, what happened to you?  Big ol’ Faction Commander, huh?”

Kimble sighed heavily, his shoulders slumping.  “Yeah.  Honestly, it’s because I eventually became the most senior member of the SIC here – though that was far from the case when I was assigned here a year ago, before everything seemed to fall apart.”

“Are you telling me that all of the Martials and Mages here are, what, new?  As in, they weren’t Mages or Martials before the Apertures started appearing?” Nedira asked. 

The Pyromancer nodded.  “That’s exactly what I’m saying.  The SIC still exists in some capacity, and we still coordinate in sending promising recruits to Crystalview and Hilltower, but I’d say that at least 80% of the members of the old SIC are no longer with us,” he said sadly, hanging his head. 

“80%?!  That’s… that’s insane!” Larek interjected.  “What the heck happened?”

“Attrition, mostly.  Spread too thin, deaths became more common than not as Apertures were assaulted and closed all over the Kingdom, but it was too much for us to handle.  It was only the appearance of so many promising new recruits in unexpected places that prevented us from folding completely under the onslaught, but by the time the first waves of trainees were ready to fight, many of the old members had perished trying to keep what was eventually going to become the Calamities from expanding any further.  Now, it’s all we can do to maintain our current position, but it’s slowly slipping away.”

The Commander looked at Nedira with a pleading expression.  “I was serious when I said we need help, because we’re a few bad patrols through the neighboring Apertures away from collapse.  The food situation is something that will become an issue before too long, though we’re managing it decently right now.  I’ve done my best to keep trade going between areas I’m nominally in control of, but who knows how long that will last.

“The real issue is that it seems as though the other cities around the Calamity’s perimeter are slacking in their duties to keep it from expanding, putting more and more on our shoulders to maintain the status quo.  We’ve had more deaths over the last few weeks than over the previous half-year due to exhaustion and overwork, and it’s not getting any better.”

Larek listened to his friend talk about the history of what was going on and started to gain a better understanding of the general maladies plaguing the Kingdom.  Having learned that the majority of the old SIC members had been killed during his time away made him glad that Nedira had survived, but he worried for his other friends, including Norde and Verne – who were probably out there somewhere in a similar situation as Kimble, though he doubted that they were in charge of any large areas like the Faction Commander. 

He also had to allot some leniency in how much he didn’t care for the current system that was set up in the city concerning people with potential, the dining halls, and the food chits that were given out for service to the city.  Just because it was Kimble who was in charge of everything and had potentially initiated some of the policies didn’t make it right, but now Larek could at least comprehend how it originated.

“Please, Larek, if I’m remembering correctly, you’re a Fusion prodigy and could really help us out here,” Kimble continued, pleading with Larek – which was odd to the Fusionist because the man wasn’t looking at him.  “I mean, I can barely look at Nedira’s robe without wanting to go cross-eyed, so I’m assuming that’s your work?”

“It is,” he affirmed.  He paused for a moment before asking the Faction Commander an important question.  “We can’t stay long, only until the morning when I’ll be picking up another few sets of clothing, but I want to help you and the people here.  However, I want you to answer one thing for me: If you had to name one thing you need help with most, what would it be?”

“More Martials and Mages.”  The answer was almost instantaneous.

“Unfortunately, I can’t provide that.  I make Fusions; you know that, right?  I can’t whip up a whole new person.  So, besides additional Martials and Mages, what would be most useful?”

This time, the answer took a few seconds as the Faction Commander thought about it.  “Well, obviously offensive and defensive Fusions would keep those we already have better equipped to deal with the monsters in the Apertures, but that may not matter when winter hits and we’re unable to feed everyone.  But even if we’re able to feed everyone, being unable to maintain the balance with the nearby Apertures would eventually make food a non-issue if we’re all dead or forced to retreat.”  He pondered his decision for another few seconds before he finished with, “I’d have to say Fusions for my existing Mages and Martials, because without their existence, everything would simply fall apart.”

Larek smirked at the man, even if he couldn’t see it.  “That’s two things, but I think I can see the problems you’re facing here.  There are multiple ways that I can help you, and just one or two types of Fusions won’t do it in the long run.  Fortunately for you, you’re my friend and I want to help you out… but I’m going to ask for something in return.  Two things, actually.” 

The Faction Commander looked wary.  “What did you have in mind?  We don’t really have a lot to give here.”

Larek ticked them off on his fingers.  “First and foremost, I’m going to give you a way to farm quickly and efficiently, growing crops in minutes, and it can be done by anyone, not just Mages.  But I need you to promise me that you alter your work chit program so that no one will starve once you have your production up and running – even if they can’t work for one reason or another.  I’m not talking about strictly charity, because I know you need everyone working to keep this place going, but not everyone can do what you’re asking of them.”

Kimble had a blank expression on his face, and Larek was unable to tell if it was because the man was angry at the stipulation or relieved that people wouldn’t die.  Either way, he nodded in acceptance.

“And secondly, I need from you, a Faction Commander, permission to enter a Fort so that I can learn about my Martial side of things.  I lost my transfer letter to Fort Silverledge while in the Empire, and I need another one.”

“That’s easy.  However,” he held up his hand before Larek could continue, “I can only do it for Fort Hilltower up north.  It’s the only one we’re in tenuous contact with, and it would look out of place if I were to ‘send’ you somewhere else.”

That… was unfortunate.  Being so close to Crystalview Academy was not necessarily somewhere he’d wanted to be, but he would take it if there was no other possibility.  Finding family and friends was still the first priority, but he was already thinking about what he should do afterwards.

“Very well.  I guess that works for me.  Nedira?  You need anything?”

She shook her head.

“Alright, then.  Kimble, you’re in luck that I somewhat planned ahead in case we stumbled across someone needing some Fusions.  I think we have most of what you’re going to need to turn this place around.  And possibly even look into closing the Calamity in the future.”

“That sounds a little too much like the Strike Faction, but I’ll forgive your blasphemy,” the Commander said in jest.  “But where are the Fusions?  You said you prepared them ahead of time?”

As he spoke with Larek more and more, Kimble was gradually looking at the Fusionist with little glances, as if he was getting used to the sight of him.  As Larek nodded and gestured to the Void Pocket sack, he saw a frown come over his friend’s face.  “I swear I remember you being extremely tall… is that some sort of damage to my memories?  Speaking of which, how did you get rid of whatever it was that was blocking them?”

The Fusionist chuckled.  “Yes, I’m a bit shorter now; I altered my internal pattern.  I wouldn’t recommend doing it until you have a high Skill Level in Pattern Manipulation, though – it hurts, like, a lot.  Oh, and I got rid of what Chinli did to you with a Fusion, what else would I use?”

As the Faction Commander looked around him for some sign of the Fusion he was talking about, Larek smiled at his confusion.  Nedira eventually gave in and solved his conundrum.

“He put it on your skull.  Congratulations on being the first person to have a Fusion permanently attached to their bones.”

As Kimble mouthed, “My skull?”, in shock as his eyes attempted to ineffectively roll up to see it, Larek – still with a smile on his face – got to work removing the completed Fusions he needed from his sack.


Chapter 27

Standing near the gate leading out of Fairmeadow, Larek shook the Faction Commander’s hand as he got ready to leave with Nedira. 

“What you’ve given us is incredible, Larek.  You’ve only gotten better at what you do after all this time, haven’t you?”

The Fusionist just shrugged with a smile on his face rather than answer.

“Well, if you’re ever back this way, please don’t hesitate to visit – or drop off any Fusions you feel like donating to the cause,” Kimble said sincerely, the first sign of relief passing over his face as he realized that things were going to be alright.  At least, Larek certainly hoped so, especially after the haul of Fusions that his former bodyguard had just received, along with instructions for all of them.  The Commander dropped Larek’s hand and hugged the Naturalist next to him.  “And you, young lady, are welcome anytime.  I wish I could join you and help keep this fellow out of trouble,” he said with a smirk directed toward the Fusionist, “but I have responsibilities here that I can’t abandon.”

“That’s perfectly understandable,” Nedira said, stepping back from the former bodyguard.  “If you hear anything of the whereabouts of my brother, Verne, or any of the others, please send word.  I’m not sure of where we’ll be, but there is a good chance that we’ll be at Fort Hilltower at some point.”

“Will do.  Good luck and thank—”

“Hey!  What’s up with the fresh meat?  Where are they going?”  Larek heard a shout from behind him, and he turned around to see a small group of Mages and Martials making their way inside.  From what he could tell from their battered armor and dried blood covering what used to be wounds – before they were magically healed by one of the group’s Mages – they appeared to be just coming back from “patrol”.  The term essentially encompassed looking for any random monsters that might have appeared around the area to closing Apertures, and he could only assume that they had just done the latter. 

The one speaking was an older Martial compared to his groupmates, probably nearing 30 years old, and he had an arrogant sneer on his face that Larek immediately disliked.  When he saw even the other Mages and Martials that had accompanied Kimble down to the gate to see them off step out of the man’s way, he could only assume that there was some trouble brewing that he had no desire to be a part of.

He was especially wary when he saw the shouting Martial twirl a double-bladed battleaxe in his hands as he stepped forward, looking between Larek and the Faction Commander.

The Fusionist turned toward Kimble and was about to tell the Pyromancer farewell, but apparently the arrogant Martial didn’t appreciate it.

“Don’t turn away when I’m talking to you, recruit!  If our fearless – and now apparently bald – leader doesn’t have the balls to take charge of your training, then I’m more than happy to step in.  In fact, I think this just goes to show that a change in leadership is needed, if this is how we treat newbies that haven’t even killed a monster before.”  The man tsked a few times as he stood in front of Larek and attempted to stare him down, despite being about a half-foot shorter.  “I’ve scraped better recruits off the bottom of my boots, you worthless sack of sh—”

“Axil!  Now is not the time!  You have no—”

“No authority?  Is that what you were going to say?  You put me in charge of training all our new recruits, so I believe that gives me all the authority I need to handle business – since your spine seems to have evaporated along with your hair.”  Larek couldn’t help but shake his head and chuckle at the man’s over-the-top attitude.  “What was that?  Are you laughing, recruit?  What is there to laugh at?  I don’t see anything around here worth laughing about, do you?  I know, how about I give you something to laugh at?”  At that, the man backed up a step and started to swing his axe around, the flat side angled toward Larek’s head, but it clanged against an immovable Pattern shield that Larek made appear in an instant. 

As his swing came to a complete stop without any type of rebound, Axil was slightly unbalanced and nearly fell on his face, but apparently his stats were high enough that he recovered without any issue.  Of course, that didn’t stop his face from suffusing with anger as he looked around to see who had cast the spell that had stopped his abrupt attack from hitting the “new recruit”.  “Who did that?  How dare you interrupt—”

“Axil.  What I was about to say, before you so rudely interrupted me, was that you have no idea who you’re messing wi—”

“Arrrgh!  No one messes with my training program!” the axe-wielding man shouted, and Stama was shunted from his body and into his axe as he activated a Battle Art.  As Axil swung the weapon again, this time from the other direction, it practically blurred in Larek’s vision as it moved at quadruple the speed it did before.  It was still angled so that the flat end would hit him, but the Fusionist didn’t want to waste any of his Automatic Ice Repulsion Field charges, so he simply moved the Pattern shield with a thought and blocked the strike.

Of course, that just pissed the man off more, and he swung again and again at Larek from an array of directions, but they were all easily blocked by his Pattern construct.  His own Agility stat was higher than Axil’s by a good amount, and even with the speed of his blows increased so that most Mages wouldn’t be able to follow them, the Fusionist had no problems at all.

“Would you mind not doing that?” Larek asked after approximately two dozen attacks.  “We really need to get going.”

“No!  You’re my newest recruit, and I need to teach you your first lesson!”

Sighing in exasperation, at the tiring man’s next blow, he quickly manipulated the Pattern in his shield and wrapped it around the axe.  When Axil tried to retrieve it, he couldn’t make it budge even a bit.  “Here’s a lesson for you, Axil,” Larek said loudly, so that everyone could hear.  Applying his Agility stat to its highest amount, he took a step toward the man’s side, but to most it looked like he simply appeared in another place.  Still moving quickly, he leaned in close and whispered into Axil’s ear.

“Don’t judge people by their appearances.”

Sure, it wasn’t the most impressive of things he could’ve whispered to the man, such as “Don’t start fights you can’t win,” or “Think before you act stupidly,” or even “Learn not to make a fool of yourself,” but what he actually said resonated with Larek more than anything else.  He’d been judged for his appearance for most of his life, and while he’d corrected a bit of that by making himself shorter, he was still being judged.  This time it was because he was still wearing his ill-fitting and singed clothing, holding a relatively basic-looking sack over his shoulder that appeared empty, and had a common-looking Logger’s axe on his side.  The only thing that looked halfway impressive was his new pair of work boots, which he’d picked up that morning from the Tailor; they fit perfectly and replaced his too-large, destroyed pair with a comfort that he hadn’t experienced in years.  His new clothes were in his sack until he could find some time to add Fusions to them, so with his current attire he probably appeared like some sort of poor Logger that had come to Fairmeadow after learning that he had the potential to become a Mage or Martial.

The anger emanating from Axil was palpable, and instead of verbally responding to Larek’s presence by his side, he let go of his trapped axe and swung around to punch the Fusionist in the face.

That was his second mistake.  The original mistake was deciding to attack Larek in the first place, but he’d only compounded on that mistake by continuing despite the obvious signs that his target wasn’t someone he could bully around.  The Fusionist had suffered enough of that in his life already that he didn’t put up with it anymore; but that didn’t mean that Larek had to be a bully in return.  He wasn’t going to deliberately attack Axil to “teach him a lesson”, or accidentally kill him such as what happened to Borex in Tarvada, but he was certainly going to defend himself.

Before his Automatic Ice Repulsion Field could activate from the incoming attack, Larek moved his own hand to intercept the incoming punch, grabbing the man’s fist with his own and stopping it with only about half of his Strength stat employed into doing so.  With a further flex of his stat, he immediately twisted his fist, and subsequently the arm it was attached to, and he heard and felt the limb’s bones crack under the sudden pressure. 

Axil screamed as the shock of his arm being practically ripped apart shuddered through him, and he collapsed to his knees as Larek kept ahold of the fist in his hand.  He let it drop a second later, which only seemed to enhance the pain that the arrogant Martial was feeling – at least according to the scream volume he heard – and Larek looked up to see the man’s group staring at him before they began to move to attack him.

“Hold!  Do not attack this man!” the Faction Commander shouted, which thankfully stopped Axil’s group from reacting poorly to the situation.

“But he—”

“I need to heal—”

“He can’t do—”

They began to protest, but Kimble simply held up his hand and the words died on their lips.  Larek smiled inwardly at how much authority the Pyromancer held within the faction, as he still remembered the still relatively young man as his bodyguard.

The Fusionist slung his sack off his shoulder and reached inside, pulling out one of the emergency Fusions he had separated from all the rest of his supplies.  There were only a few of these Fusions, but what he extricated from the Void Pocket was a simple copper bracelet with a Healing Surge Fusion on it, which he quickly reached down and slipped over the wrist of the injured Martial, eliciting another scream in the process.  Activating it, he ignored the gasps of the onlookers as the arm that Larek had mangled reset itself back to normal with a few disturbing *pops* and *cracks* during the process, and within 20 seconds the limb was perfectly healed – along with any other injuries that the man might have had on him. 

The dazed and confused Martial didn’t protest as Larek reached down and slipped the bracelet off his wrist before popping it back into his sack.  Squatting down in front of Axil so that they were at eye-level with each other, since the man was still on his knees, the Fusionist smiled and said, “Hello.  I’m Larek.  It’s nice to meet you.  I hope that you have learned my little lesson from this misunderstanding, because if not, you might actually get hurt from your mistakes.  I really hope that doesn’t happen, as you seem like you really care about the training you do with new recruits.  Unfortunately for you, I’m not one of them.”

Larek stood up as Axil continued to kneel, staring up at the Fusionist with confusion and not a little amount of fear.  Addressing the other newcomers, so that there weren’t any more misunderstandings, he said, “As for why myself and my companion are leaving, it’s because we have already performed a significant service for the city and your Faction, and we have places we need to be.  You can speak to my old friend, the Commander, for more details, and I wish you luck in defending against the monsters coming from the Calamity.”

Speaking has reached Level 24!

The increase in his Speaking Skill was a surprise, but he’d take it.  Reaching for Nedira’s hand, he pulled her close before releasing Axil’s double-bladed battleaxe from his Pattern Cohesion, before manipulating it into a thin sheet that he had flow beneath their feet.  Within seconds, his high Pattern Manipulation Skill allowed him to make his Pattern box once again around them, and they took off into the air.  The both of them waved back at Kimble as they ascended, and while it strained his focus to rise so high above the ground, he wanted to get out as quickly as possible without fear that any of the people watching would be able to follow.

“I’m proud of you, Larek.”

The Fusionist looked at Nedira holding onto his arm with a questioning look on his face.

“For not killing him after he attacked you.”

Larek shook his head.  “Why would I do that?”

“Well, after what happened to that man back in Tarvada—”

“That was mostly an accident,” he admitted.  While he hadn’t actually intended to kill the “Supreme Provider”, he also hadn’t worked to prevent it – nor felt bad about it afterwards.  “There was no reason to kill Axil, even if he was too willing to jump to conclusions and judge me on my appearance.  Besides, he deliberately turned his axe so that I wouldn’t be too seriously hurt if he actually managed to make contact, so he wasn’t actually trying to kill me.”

“Oh.  Well, I’m still proud of you for handling all that without resorting to drastic measures,” she said. “Every day, I’m discovering more and more about you that has changed since you’ve been gone.”

“Are they good changes?”

“Yes, for the most part.  The new confidence you have in yourself which you were originally lacking is sometimes a bit intense, but you definitely have the stats and Skills to back it up,” Nedira answered with a smirk. 

Intense?  Me?  He supposed that he certainly was more confident in himself than he used to be, which mainly came about from being on his own for so long.  He’d had to survive with only his own abilities, which led to an independence that he didn’t know he needed at the time.  Now, though, he was just glad that it translated well to interacting with people, and all because he wasn’t afraid to stand up for himself and hold people accountable for their actions.  He was still probably a bit naïve and willing to accommodate the wishes of others over his own, especially when doing so didn’t put himself or Nedira in danger, but it was hard to change who he was; because, deep down, he really did want to help people, and he hoped that they might like him, but he wasn’t ready to abandon everything he cared about to fulfill those wants and hopes.

“Yes, well,” he said, slightly embarrassed as he unconsciously rubbed the back of his neck.  “Everything worked out fine, and Kimble and his local Faction should be doing much, much better now.”

That was an understatement.  Since it was his former bodyguard, Larek had no problem sharing his Fusions with the Faction Commander, which included staves, bracelets, and necklaces with offensive, boost, and healing Fusions on them, upping the efficiency of the Mages and Martials involved in the Defend Faction there by a large order of magnitude.  He didn’t get a chance to add any Sharpen or Strengthen Fusions to any existing weapons or armor, but the upgrade they would be getting was already impressive enough. 

They also received the whole set of farming Fusions, leaving only a few for Larek to lug around in his Void Pocket sack from that point on.  Within a week, they would be able to grow enough food to feed the population of Fairmeadow at least twice over, which would – similarly to Tarvada – help to free up some more Mages and Martials to concentrate on the local Apertures, as well as the Calamity.  He didn’t think they would be actively working to close the Calamity any time soon, but it was a step in the right direction.

In exchange for all the Fusions, Larek simply asked for his previous requirements of feeding everyone who was hungry and the letter for him to use to get into Fort Hilltower, which was now in his sack, but that wasn’t all.  Joining the letter were blank materials to replace the ones that were given to Kimble, so that he could remake the Fusions that Larek had parted with.  He didn’t get a chance to create any Fusions the night before or that morning because they had luxuriated in the feeling of sleeping in a bed again, and there hadn’t really been time to devote to such an activity.  Coming up, though, he planned to put aside some time every night while they were on the move to rebuild his supply.

“That’s for sure,” Nedira agreed.  “You single-handedly turned their whole operation around.”

He didn’t know that for sure, but they would at least have a much better time of things. 

“Now, according to the map in Kimble’s office, we have a little bit left to go toward the east before we can start heading north, adjusting our route to skirt the edge of the Calamity,” she added, looking out at the passing landscape as they slowly descended to an easy-to-maintain altitude once again. 

“Sounds good to me.”  After getting a better idea of where they were in the Kingdom, he could feel the end of his journey back to his family slowly closing in.  He was feeling more confident of finding everyone safe and sound, especially after finding Kimble alive and well – or at least alive.  The stress the Faction Commander was under was immense, he knew, but his former bodyguard was handling it fairly well. 

While the chance that they’d find Nedira’s brother, Larek’s roommate, and the rest of their friends on their way north was slim, he now knew that such a thing wasn’t impossible.  He just hoped they got lucky and found a clue to their whereabouts during their journey – which likely meant stopping and talking with people more often than he cared for, but it was also necessary if they wanted any chance of locating them.

“We should reach the next city sometime tomorrow if we aren’t delayed too much,” he added.  The possibility of a delay was likely, because he was eager to earn more Aetheric Force to use on raising his maximum Skill Levels – because Pattern Manipulation was maxed out once again.  Now he just needed to find a nice, juicy Aperture with enough strong monsters to give him exactly what was needed.


Chapter 28

The next week was filled with fighting, Fusions… and fleeing from Factions that wanted to force Larek to work for them.  As the two of them traveled east for another day before heading northeast for a day and then straight north afterwards, they encountered additional Apertures that were able to give Larek a little over 26,000 Aetheric Force when he killed the monsters inside. It wasn’t as much as he was hoping for, as most of what they encountered were Apertures that didn’t contain any particularly strong monsters.  Still, it was enough to increase the maximum Level for many of his Mage Skills, and he even obtained another Skill Level in Throwing as he used some of his Weaken stones for extra damage at times.

Mage Skills:

Spellcasting Focus Level 41[50]/50 (500 AF)

Magical Detection Level 43[53]/55 (550 AF)

Pattern Recognition Level 45[55]/55 (550 AF)

Pattern Manipulation Level 55/65 (650 AF)

Multi-effect Fusion Focus Level 56/65 (650 AF)

Focused Division Level 56/65 (650 AF)

Mana Control Level 62[70]/70 (700 AF)

Fusion Level 62[70]/70 (700 AF)

Pattern Formation Level 62[70]/70 (700 AF)

Martial Skills:

Blunt Weapon Expertise Level 1/35 (350 AF)

Stama Subjugation Level 2/35 (350 AF)

Bladed Weapon Expertise Level 3[13]/35 (350 AF)

Unarmed Fighting Level 4[14]/35 (350 AF)

Throwing Level 20[30]/35 (350 AF)

Dodge Level 26[35]/35 (350 AF)

Pain Immunity Level 20/20 (N/A)

Body Regeneration Level 39[49]/50 (500 AF)

The only Mage Skill for which he didn’t increase the maximum was Spellcasting Focus, since it still had a bit to reach its current limit of 50.  At the same time, he increased his maximum for Pattern Manipulation up to 65 from its previous 55, since he had been increasing that Skill significantly over the previous few weeks.  Of course, as soon as he did that, he didn’t obtain any more Skill Level increases; it was probably because he wasn’t using it for anything other than a box for their transportation and wasn’t stretching the bounds of what it could do.

But what they were really concentrating on as they traveled was visiting any large cities or towns along their route.  They didn’t necessarily need any food or traveling supplies, since they had all they needed in their Void Pockets, and after Larek added Fusions to his new clothes, he didn’t have to look for any other attire; instead, they were looking to gain some more information.  The knowledge they gained about the state of the Kingdom showed that most of the Kingdom was similar to what they’d seen before.  There were pockets like Tarvada that were supposedly surviving – and in a few cases, thriving – scattered around the Kingdom, but the majority of it was like what they found in Fairmeadow. 

Clusters of cities and towns worked together in large areas, creating what were essentially safety zones where the Apertures were closed regularly or controlled to the point where they were not threating or dangerous.  Looking at the Kingdom as a whole, these safety zones – with a few exceptions of independent cities or towns holding on somehow – formed a cross that extended from the east to the center, west to the center, north to the center, and south to the center; the large parts of the remaining land to the northwest, northeast, southwest, and southeast were consumed by the Calamities.  There was a fifth and final Calamity that was centered in the Kingdom, which apparently either covered the entire capital or was so near it that it made no difference; information coming from that direction was few and far between, which could also account for the fragmented state of the SIC and the lack of a centralized resistance against the Apertures. 

Along those safety zones was where Larek and Nedira traveled, which also meant that finding Apertures to close and hunt monsters was difficult, since most of them were taken care of.  He was tempted to venture into the nearby Calamity but held off for now, since he wasn’t exactly sure what he would find in there; that sort of information was apparently only for full members of a Faction for some reason – and there was a problem with obtaining that knowledge.

It mainly stemmed from the fact that every single town and city they visited had similar policies as Fairmeadow, where they demanded service from those who had potential.  They had gotten lucky that they knew the Faction Commander back in that first city, and even then they had to contend with someone who didn’t understand why they were being let go.  That luck didn’t extend to the places they visited afterwards looking for information, as they were essentially told that they had to join the Faction and serve… or die.

Needless to say, they didn’t like either of those choices, so they had to flee after spending a few hours gaining as much information as they could before they flew away.  Most of the places they visited were a bit lax in their orders and allowed them to come to terms with their service, similar to Fairmeadow where you served or starved, but others essentially had them under guard as they were marched to where they would meet with a Faction leader and be told what was expected of them.  It was in those situations where Larek immediately picked Nedira up and jumped straight up into the air, forming a Pattern box under his feet before fleeing as fast as possible. 

Only once were they actually chased by an odd squad of Aeromancers, who attempted to use air-based spells to blast them out of the sky, but those spells were completely ineffective against his Pattern construct.  Thankfully, they were only followed for about 5 minutes before the Mages ran out of Mana and could no longer take large, bounding leaps enhanced by air spells to keep up with them. 

For those times when the two of them actually stuck around for longer than a few hours and spoke to the local Faction Commander, two of them attempted to essentially capture Larek, even after he offered them some Fusions that could help them combat the Apertures.  He was able to escape with Nedira after overpowering the Mages and Martials they had stationed inside the city, which were thankfully generally weaker than most – as the majority of the stronger members of the Factions were out on patrol. 

Only one, a single Faction, was willing to hear him out and accept help in the form of Fusions without asking for mandatory service.  It was actually a large town, nearly a city, that was controlled by the Strike Faction – as opposed to every other place they visited, all of which were operated by the Defend Faction.  He wasn’t sure if it was because of their philosophy toward pushing deeper into the Calamity than the other Faction, or just bad luck, but the town of Bardington was in bad shape.  Not part of a larger network of Faction-run cities and towns, it also wasn’t necessarily independent like Tarvada; instead, it was basically shunned by nearby cities and towns for being part of the Strike Faction.  As a result, they had starving people, though not nearly as bad as he’d seen before; they also only had about 30 Martials and Mages living there and defending the town from the nearby Apertures, but those individuals were something he hadn’t expected to find.

Older, veteran members of the SIC. 

As soon as he met some of them, he realized why they had a different philosophy concerning the Calamities than most of the others he’d met.  The veterans knew what it was like having control over their lands, as many of them had fought against the Scissions and their monsters for years, and allowing something like the Calamity to continue existing was an affront to all they had worked for during their lives as part of the SIC.  They called the newer Mages and Martials, as well as the entire Defend Faction, “complacent” and “lazy”, both of which would eventually lead to the downfall of everyone.

Having seen and heard the excuses of their stance on the Calamity, even from his old bodyguard, Kimble, Larek agreed with the old-timers.  At the same time, there wasn’t much that the Fusionist could do to change the situation, other than what he was already doing – and the veteran SIC members welcomed his help with open arms. 

Thankfully for them, Larek had spent some time during the evenings adding Fusions to the materials he had picked up in Fairmeadow thanks to the Faction Commander there, so he had plenty to give to the entire force there in Bardington.  While he was working on those Fusions, he had also used his Skills to add a brand-new Void Curtain +10 Fusion he designed to their clothes and even their weapons.  The new Fusion was simple, as it utilized the same void carrier principle he’d utilized on his Void Pockets to essentially hide all sight of the Fusions behind a “curtain”, meaning that they didn’t have to go around with the same amount of scrutiny of their clothes that they’d been putting up with.  Now, anyone with sensitive enough Magical Detection could see the absence of Mana around them, and they could possibly see ambient Mana being sucked into what was essentially a void around them, but they wouldn’t be able to see the actual Fusions.

Larek unloaded many of the same Fusions he had at Fairmeadow for Kimble, but he also spent the night in Bardington and added additional Fusions to the weapons and armor of those who were available.  Contrary to what he’d seen in other cities, these older SIC members actually had quite a few Fusions of their own, but while they were well-constructed, they were also fairly weak. 

At least compared to what Larek could create.

So, he replaced what they had and added in some things that he and Nedira had on their own armor, including the Automatic Ice Repulsion Field, because, well, why not?  If they were determined to strike into the heart of the Calamity regardless of his help, they were going to need it.  For real, though, he actually hoped that his efforts allowed them to actually succeed, because that would just be proof that his Fusions were effective in the hands of those who could really take advantage of them. 

Sadly, even though he was able to fully outfit 25 of them with new Fusions – since one of their groups was out at the time – he doubted that they would be enough to close the Aperture.  Still, every little bit helped, and if he could keep them alive that much longer, then it was worth his time and effort.

Plus, they were actually able to sleep in a bed, whereas every other place they visited essentially ran them out before they could stay the night.

He had worried that the older SIC members would try and keep him there the morning after, but they instead parted with heartfelt thanks and a wish for their own success – and a promise to pass on any information on those they were looking for.  He knew it was probably a forlorn hope that these people would obtain any information like that, given that they were essentially out of the loop, but it didn’t hurt to have additional contacts, he supposed.

That was their only real highlight of their trip, however, as most of their time was spent looking for the odd Aperture nearby to close and hunt for more Aetheric Force, or escaping from cities and towns after obtaining more random tidbits of information.  He created more Fusions at night, thanks to some additional materials from those in Bardington, which replaced what he had given out, but he didn’t receive any more Skill Levels in his Mage Skills the entire trip. 

Most of what he created was simple by this point, even if it was relatively complicated by most people’s standards, and he’d produced them dozens if not hundreds of times by this point; he was starting to get to the point where he’d need to start designing new Fusions or challenge himself with something before he could begin advancing again.  He had some room to grow thanks to the Aetheric Force he was able to accumulate from their journey, but didn’t quite have the impetus at the moment to further his development.

Simple repetition, while it worked to increase his Skills in the past, wasn’t going to cut it anymore. 

After their week of practically non-stop travel, they finally saw something familiar to the east of where they were traveling: The mountain that contained the city of Peratin… as well as Crystalview Academy where Larek and Nedira had met and attended classes.  It was also the location of Fort Hilltower, which he hoped to attend at some point soon to study the Martial side of his abilities.

They bypassed the city without stopping.

While it was possible that they might’ve learned something there, the two of them collectively decided to wait to investigate any information they might gain until later, since Larek wasn’t ready to start training at the Fort, and it was almost guaranteed that they would both be identified as having potential as soon as they walked through the gates.  The Fusionist didn’t want to have to flee now and then be remembered for essentially flying away when he came back for training… as a Martial.

But the sight of the Academy and the city of Peratin also meant that they were getting close to their destination.  It had taken a few weeks to travel from Rushwood to Peratin back when he was ordered to attend, but that travel was also in the form of a slow caravan of merchants; with his Pattern box, he was fairly certain that he could reach it within two days, if not shorter than that.

For the rest of the day, they passed town after town, each of them looking vaguely familiar to Larek, not stopping so close to their destination.  They ended up camping outside like they had been for most of their travels.  The next day, he could practically taste how close they were to Rushwood, but when the day began to fade and darkness fell across the land, he thought that they were still at least four or five hours away. 

He had a restless night that night, as being so close to home and his family kept him awake, so he was slightly tired when they woke up in the morning.  Eager to get moving, they took off again while the sun was barely up, and Larek saw something in the distance that brought a grim reminder of his journey to Crystalview: Barrowford.  The town was where he experienced his first Scission, as well as witnessing his first violent deaths due to the undead monsters that emerged from it.  It was also where Inquisitor Carl had first identified him as having potential, ordering him to attend a Mage academy against his wishes. 

When they got closer, he frowned when he saw the state that the town was in.  Or what was left of the town, at least, because its crumbling walls had been breached at multiple points sometime in the past, and dozens of buildings had collapsed inside.  There was evidence of fierce fighting in the shape of scorched stone and timber scattered around, and the bones of unburied residents stuck up here and there through the rubble.  Of the SIC building where he had stayed, there was nothing but a shell of a foundation, as if it had blown up from the inside.

“Wh—what happened?” Larek asked in a whisper, his eyes unbelieving of what he was seeing. 

Nedira shook her head next to him as they looked down at the devastation.  “Either a large Scission or a wandering monster horde attack.  Or… the Aperture I can sense to the east might have expanded far enough at one point to envelope the town?  If it did, then it’s been closed afterwards.”

In the end, it didn’t really matter what happened – Barrowford was gone.  They’d seen multiple villages and towns in the same shape along their travels, but this hit a little too close to home.

Literally.

Slightly panicking, he looked to the north where Rushwood was located, and pushed the Pattern box ahead probably a little too fast for safety or his focus, but Nedira didn’t say anything as they shot ahead.  In too short of a time, he spotted something that sent a feeling of dread through his entire body.

Rushwood trees.  They were miles and miles too far south of where they should be.

“No, no, no; this whole area should be nothing but flat land, with very few trees present.  These Rushwood trees shouldn’t be here,” he mumbled.

Because if they were this far south, then that meant there wasn’t anything holding them back.  And if there wasn’t anything holding them back, then it was likely there weren’t Loggers doing that work. 

As if he was literally homing into his family’s home, he shot over the treetops, using his familiarity with the area to find his way back to where his family lived.  He overshot it by about a half-mile and had to backtrack, but eventually he located his destination in a break in the trees and took the Pattern box down to search for his family.

The sight of their old house brought back pangs of familiarity, but they were ruined by its current state.  No fewer than six trees had emerged from underneath it to pierce all the way through it, destroying it to the point where if he didn’t recognize his broken bed and the shattered kitchen table, he would barely know it was the same house his family had lived in.

Setting down, he could feel his emotions threatening to break free, but whether he wanted to break down and cry or rage at the unfairness of the world, he wasn’t quite sure.  Nedira joined him as he picked over the wreckage, looking for any sign that his family had perished in his home, but he couldn’t find a single shred of evidence.  He also couldn’t find any personal possessions, as the remains of any clothes drawers and a single wardrobe they owned were completely empty – and he doubted someone stole them.

“I’m so sorry, Larek,” Nedira said after he was done searching through the remains of his childhood home.  “What do you think happened to them?”

The Fusionist stood back and stared at his home, trying to picture what might have happened based on what he found – or, more precisely, didn’t find.  “I don’t see any sign of a monster attack, and they appeared to have left with their clothes and most of their other personal possessions.  They might have fled somewhere after it became too dangerous around here?”  He shook his head.  “Honestly, I don’t really know what happened here, but it looks to have happened a long time ago.”  He felt somewhat better about that for some reason, because he was fairly sure that even if he had arrived earlier, it wouldn’t have changed what happened to his home.

“What are you going to do now?”

He thought about it for a moment, as snippets of his earlier search for his home came back to him.  “I may not know what happened to them, but I can almost guarantee that someone does,” he said, turning to the south.  He vaguely remembered seeing a clearing earlier in his rush to find his house, and if he was correct, then it was exactly where another memory he wished he could forget was located.

Rushwood village.


Chapter 29

It didn’t take long for Larek and Nedira to backtrack toward the village that had caused him so much trouble, as it only required a quick use of his Pattern box and a flight over to it; in all, it took him no more than two minutes from his decision to visit it and setting down in the village center.  He didn’t care how it looked, he didn’t care if it brought attention to him, and he didn’t even care if they recognized him – all he cared about were the answers he needed. 

Amazingly enough, the village of Rushwood seemed to have expanded since he was last there, with a dozen additional buildings having been constructed at some point, mostly appearing to be residential houses.  Not only that, but for the first time in its history, there was a wall surrounding the perimeter, just outside the nearest Rushwood trees that slowly attempted to encroach upon the village.  It was only about 6 feet tall and made entirely of stone; where they got it, Larek wasn’t entirely sure.  As far as he knew, there weren’t any rock quarries nearby, but things had changed enough lately that anything was possible.

“Why didn’t they make the wall out of wood like a palisade?” Nedira asked as they were landing. 

Larek was barely paying attention, because his focus was on the people moving around, but he absently answered her question.  “Because if they used whole Rushwood trees, they would be more likely to grow into the ground and cause all sorts of problems.  It’s a miracle that the whole village isn’t destroyed, in fact, because Rushwood roots reach quite a distance and can grow new trees quite quickly.”

As soon as the box touched down and Larek made it disappear, he gained the attention of the dozen villagers that were walking around on one errand or another, and he was startled when he realized he recognized some of them.  They weren’t actually villagers, or at least they hadn’t been when he still lived there; instead, they were Loggers.  One in particular stood out to him, if only because she was one of the only female Loggers that he ever remembered meeting.

“Luciana?  Is that you?”

The powerfully built woman seemed startled that he knew her name, and a single glance at her face when she looked at him keyed him into the fact that she had no idea who he was.  Either she didn’t remember what he looked like, or all that most people remembered of him was that he was abnormally tall; with his new, shorter stature, it was quite possible that no one would recognize him unless he specifically told them.

“Yes?  Who are you, and what are you doing here?”  It wasn’t exactly a polite inquiry, but his arrival must have startled her and the other wary-looking villagers and Loggers. 

“I,” he began, thinking quickly, “used to live around here and visited this village a few times years ago.  What happened?  Why isn’t the Rushwood pushed back?”

She snorted in disgust, transferring the Logger’s axe she had on her shoulder to her other.  He could tell right away that there was no longer any Fusion on it, though there were the barest traces of one that used to be there.  “Wow, you really mean years ago, because everything pretty much fell apart around that time.”

“Yes, uh, it was a bit before the Apertures arrived.”

Luciana spit on the ground to her side in disgust.  “Yeah, that was just the final nail on the coffin for our efforts here.  By that point, we were already consolidating into the village, as we couldn’t hold the line anymore.”

“Why?”

She spit again.  “Stupid Nobles and their lack of deliveries.  We suddenly stopped receiving any tools with Fusions, and then a few months after that, supply shipments slowed to a crawl before stopping altogether.  We had to resort to trading for what we could get down the river, but it’s been difficult simply surviving.”

Larek could completely understand the reason for everything in the area now, because without Fusions, the Loggers would only be able to work half as fast, or possibly even less.  They were barely keeping everything held back behind the line as it was; with fewer trees being cut, they would quickly become overwhelmed. 

As for the delay and stoppage of deliveries, he could only assume the problems began once the Scissions began to appear in random places instead of near towns and cities, as he remembered the disturbances in trade around that time.  If the Baron in charge of this area had suffered some sort of setback because of this, then he could certainly understand the situation.

But that didn’t answer what he needed to know. 

“Did all of the Loggers move here?” he asked, looking around for his parents or even one of his siblings.

“Most of us did, yeah.”

Then they might still be here.  “There was one family I met years ago, the Holstens; do you remember what happened—”

He was interrupted from behind as he heard footsteps coming up to them, and a familiar voice shouted at him in a drunken slur.

“Da Holstens?  Dose *hic* good fer nuttin’ freaks?  Good rid, er, ridden, riden, uh, deys gone, ya hear me?  None too soooon, if yer askin’ me.  Ya askin’ me?”

Larek didn’t have to turn around to know who it was.  He managed to restrain himself as he did so anyway, only to see the village headman, Toran, barely upright as he held a brown bottle in his hand as he swayed drunkenly.  As much as I want to punch his head off, he seems to know what happened to my family.  I’ll get it out of him… and then punch his head off.

Although, with his current inebriated state, that might be difficult.

“Ah, are you the headman here?” Nedira asked politely, quickly moving up next to Toran.  Larek could immediately see that she understood the problem as fast as he did, and in the process of pretending to steady him, she activated the Graduated Parahealing Fusion on her robe and allowed it to touch his skin.  Within moments, the headman’s swaying began to subside and the intoxicated expression on his face began to fade.

I did not know it could do that.

Unfortunately, his drunken state was replaced by pure, unbridled anger.  Not directed toward Nedira, or even Larek as far as he could tell, but at the mention of Larek’s family.

“Those damned freaks!  I told them they should’ve strangled that boy when he was a baby, but they ignored me!  They were the cause of all our problems, I tell you!  First, that tall freak of nature tried to kill my precious daughter, Giselle, and it was only through the efforts of the SIC that they saved her from his murderous ways. 

“But that brush with death only made her more afraid to live out here in the middle of nowhere, and she asked to move to a town where it was safer – but then Barrowford had to go and be attacked, wiped out to the last man, woman, and child… and Giselle perished along with them.  It’s all his fault, and I hope he died a gruesome death at the hands of the Baron!

“But at least I was able to get my revenge; if not on the demon boy, then his family!  I reported them to Baron Bleck and told him to investigate them for suspicion of deliberately raising a criminal.  It took them over a year to respond, but respond they did!  In fact, royal guards arrived and took them away, kicking and screaming like they deserved.  There was even someone important that came to arrest them, someone powerful that… huh?  Why don’t I remember… … …  What was I saying?  Oh, yes, the royal guards took them away, likely for even higher crimes than even I expected.  Dragged away in chains to the capital, even; I hope they suffered before they were executed—”

Larek tried.

He really did.

Barely repressing his rage at hearing the headman speak, he took in all the information that was being imparted, as he quickly deduced what had happened to his family.  Toran had sold them out.  Based on the timing and the apparent memory loss the headman was suffering from, it was likely that a Gergasi – possibly even his father – had arrived in Rushwood and had taken them away back to the capital.  What was more likely was that they were in the Enclave, where the Gergasi lived, and who knew what those blasted giants were doing to them.

But even after learning this, and knowing that it was possible that the headman might know a little more if he pressed him, he couldn’t restrain himself.  It eventually became impossible as Toran mentioned his family suffering before being executed… and he snapped.

Nedira must have seen something come over him a second before he moved, because she stepped away from Toran as Larek sped forward, using every bit of his Agility stat to arrive in the blink of an eye.  While the man was in mid-sentence, the Fusionist applied every iota of his Strength into his fist as he punched the headman in the face.

The head of Toran, the individual who had caused Larek to be hauled away as a criminal and sent to a Mage academy against his will, exploded from the sheer force of the blow, sending blood, bone, and brain matter flying backwards, before it splattered across the large residence building approximately 50 feet away. 

The Fusionist pulled his hand back, which was covered in the nasty remains of the headman’s… head.  The anger drained away as he saw the headless body of Toran collapse, the bottle in his hand dropping to the ground, the pungent liquid inside spilling out to pool with the spreading blood coming from the neck of the corpse.

He looked up, expecting Nedira to appear horrified at what he’d done, but her expression was a combination of things he couldn’t define completely – but he didn’t sense horror anywhere in there.  Shock and surprise, certainly, as things had happened so quickly that it would be almost impossible for her not to be startled, but he also thought he saw hints of pity and, strangely enough, understanding and acceptance.

There was a lot to unpack there, but he didn’t have time to dwell on her reaction because she wasn’t the only one reacting.  Screams erupted from various places around the village as nearly everyone who had witnessed Larek killing the headman started to panic, as if expecting him to start going on a rampage to slaughter everyone else.  The only one nearby who only looked on the scene without any dramatic reaction was Luciana, who simply stared at the corpse in the same position she was standing in when he walked up. 

The powerfully built Logger eventually looked up at Larek, before nodding and saying, “Thank you.”

It took him a few seconds to register what she had said.  “Uh, what?  I just killed him.”

“And for that, you have my thanks,” she repeated, before taking a deep, shuddering breath as a tear squeezed out the side of her eye to roll down her cheek.  “The bastard had it coming, ever since he had a hand in my own family dying.  He… I don’t want to relive that time, but suffice it to say that after his daughter died, he pretty much gave up.  The drinking at all hours of the day wasn’t even the worst, and he made a lot of enemies; at the same time, he seemed to make just as many friends, so I couldn’t enact my revenge upon him without likely sacrificing myself in the process.  My family wouldn’t have wanted me to throw my life away for something like petty revenge, so I’ve had to deal with his sorry ass for years.

“But now he’s dead.  I figure that I should feel some vindication, but really I just feel numb.”  She stared at him, nodding again.  “So, yes, thank you.  You’ve probably invited a bit of trouble your way for what you’ve done, but I have a feeling that you can handle yourself, stranger.  That being said, I would suggest you leave before you’re forced to handle yourself, because losing any productive members of our little village could hurt.”

Larek was speechless for a few seconds, but at a few angry shouts coming from one of the buildings, he said, “I’ll take that advice.”  As Nedira walked next to him and he formed the Pattern box underneath and around them, he added, “For what it’s worth, I’m sorry about your family, Luciana.”

“Me too.  I can only hope that you’re reunited with your family, Larek.”

Her words startled him for a second and he stared at her, but she subtly winked at him and turned away to leave.  So, she does remember me? 

He didn’t have time to ponder such a thing as he made the Pattern box rise into the air as a crowd of angry villagers started rushing toward them.  He took one last look at the carnage he had enacted upon the headman, but for once, he didn’t feel the slightest bit of remorse or regret about what he’d done.  Even Borex’s death had technically been an accident, and Larek had regretted being forced into that position, but this had been an execution, plain and simple. 

Less than a minute later, they were flying over the treetops back to the south after fleeing the village of Rushwood.  While he wasn’t exactly afraid of the villagers being able to hurt him or Nedira, as he could tell that not a single one of them had any magical potential, let alone being a full Mage or Martial, there were too many things about the village that he didn’t want to be reminded of.  That, and hanging around the corpse of the man he had just punched and subsequently made the head explode wouldn’t exactly be productive.

“Are you alright?”

He thought about Nedira’s question as they floated along, unsure of how to answer.  On the one hand, when it came to the murder of the headman, he didn’t feel much other than a grim satisfaction; that feeling was a worrying sign to him, because he didn’t want to suddenly become unfeeling and uncaring of people’s lives, as that led down the road of the Gergasi.  At the same time, he also felt that the man’s death was justified – but who was he to pass judgment on other people?  It was a conundrum that he wasn’t going to figure out right then and there, so he ignored it for now until he was in a better place to think about it all.

As for his family, he felt an anger simmering under the surface.  The rage he felt earlier was like a blaze made with thin, dry, softwood that ignited quickly and burned hot, but ran out of fuel in a flash.  It was what made him lash out at the headman, but now that rage was just ashes from the brief expenditure of fuel. 

The anger he felt now was like a low, slow burn with hardwood that was just waiting to be fed with more material and an accelerant, where it would emerge as a raging bonfire.  It wasn’t directed toward the headman anymore, as the object of his sudden rage had already been eliminated, but was instead directed toward the Gergasi.  After they “lost” Larek, they had obviously gone after his family, likely in the hopes that they could discover what it was about his mother that had allowed a half-breed such as Larek to survive and prosper where all their other offspring were useless.  At least, that was what he assumed after what he’d learned from Ricardo back at Copperleaf Academy and from what he was told by Chinli before he was sucked into a void.

The thought of what they had done – or were currently doing – to his mother made his anger flare up, but he tamped it back down until it simply smoldered in wait.  He had an almost overwhelming desire to fly straight to the Enclave and kill every single one of the Gergasi while freeing his family in the process – if they were still alive, of course.  He refused to believe that they were dead until he saw proof for himself, and if that turned out to be the case, then he would stop at nothing to tear down everything the Gergasi built as he danced on the ashes of their bones as he annihilated them all.

Fortunately, he wasn’t suicidal; he was more than aware that attempting to do something like storming the Enclave would simply end with his death.  He wasn’t a match for even a single Gergasi, let alone all of them.  Even with his Fusions, he didn’t stand a sliver of a chance against them…

…yet.

He was still learning, still developing his Skills and abilities, but he was nowhere near the point where he felt confident facing the paternal side of his family.  And face them he would, because he would stop at nothing to free his family from their clutches, even at the cost of his own life. 

Just… not yet.  He needed to embrace all of who he was in order to succeed, and there was one thing that he hadn’t gotten a handle on, let alone mastered.

“I’m tired, angry, and,” he finally answered as he looked down at the fist that had just obliterated the headman’s skull, “dirty, but I’m surprisingly fine.”  He took a deep breath, letting it out slowly.  “He needed to go, Nedira.”

“I know.  You told me about him before, remember?”

He vaguely remembered telling her about what had led to him ending up at Crystalview, but he had forgotten about it until now.  He nodded silently in response.

“Besides, if you hadn’t killed him, I would’ve done it just for what he did to you.”

Larek turned in surprise and immediately saw the angry and determined look on her face.  He put his arm around her – the clean one – and pulled her close, speechless for a few minutes as they flew along in the Pattern box.  Eventually, he kissed the top of her head and whispered, “Thank you.”  He didn’t need to explain what he meant by that, because she knew.

“What are you going to do now?” she asked after another few minutes.  “It sounds like the Gergasi have your family.”

“I know, but there’s no way I can fight them right now to free them from their clutches.  I’m not quite ready yet.”

“You mean, we’re not ready yet.”

Larek wasn’t sure he wanted her with him if—when—he eventually took the fight to the Gergasi, as it would be extremely dangerous, but he didn’t want to argue about that at this point.  He just nodded instead without actually confirming anything.

She hesitantly asked, “So, that means that…?”

“Exactly.  It’s time to go back to school.”


Chapter 30

On the way to Peratin, Larek and Nedira stopped by the only nearby Aperture that wasn’t closed, as the Fusionist wanted some additional Aetheric Force before he attended Fort Hilltower, but unfortunately it was an extremely weak one with Vampiric Sheep, which were essentially black sheep with red streaks running through their dense wool, as well as fangs that could suck the blood right out of your body if you weren’t careful.  Larek and Nedira were very careful and killed them from above as they floated by in his Pattern box.  The Sheep couldn’t jump or launch any type of long-range projectiles, so it was fairly easy to wipe them out even when they practically stampeded as a horde when the Aperture was attacked. 

In all, he didn’t even receive enough Aetheric Force to use on anything worthwhile, so he simply kept the 415 AF he was sitting at for a future time.  At the moment, though, he wasn’t exactly hurting in terms of his Skill maximums, and in the near future he was going to be concentrating on his Martial Skills, which were – in general – fairly low and had a lot of room to grow.

Once the mountain that hosted Peratin, as well as Crystalview Academy and Fort Hilltower, was in view, Larek and Nedira set down the Pattern box around five miles away, disembarking so that they could walk the rest of the way.  Everywhere they’d gone in the Kingdom, his Pattern construct had garnered too much attention, and he didn’t want to risk anyone from the city seeing it when they arrived.

“How do I look?” he asked as they got ready to set out on the last leg of their journey. 

Nedira looked at his face for about 10 seconds before she said, “Recognizable, but only because I know what to look for.  To anyone else, you don’t look like the old Larek at all.”

“Good.  Hopefully that will help,” he said, relieved.  On their last rest stop, Larek had worked with his internal pattern to make some subtle changes to his body; however, instead of condensing it down to make him smaller and shorter, he only altered his face so that he looked less like himself.  The changes weren’t dramatic, with a slight lengthening of his nose, a tiny change in the slant of his eyes, a thinning of his lips, and a tiny cleft in his chin was added to make him a whole new person, at least visually. 

He found the process quite easy to do compared with trying to condense his entire pattern down, though it was only made more difficult as he didn’t have a good method to see for himself the changes that he was making.  He could feel the changes as he enacted them, but it wasn’t exactly the same as looking in a mirror or having someone else’s perspective to comment on the changes.  Thankfully, he wasn’t alone and had Nedira to help him with it, but now that they were on the final leg of their journey south to the Fort, he wanted the reassurance that he still looked different enough to get through a casual inspection by someone who was familiar with him.

Such as the Professors from Crystalview seeing him, and in particular Dean Wilburt. 

Theoretically, he could’ve changed his appearance even further so that he was completely a different person, but when he started making sweeping changes to his face, it felt wrong.  He could still do it, of course, but giving himself different facial features altogether felt as if his skin was itchy and uncomfortable, as if it was aware that it was wrong and was telling him about it.  It made no sense to him at first, especially considering how much he had changed his appearance by making himself shorter, but he eventually realized that his previous alterations weren’t really changes; it was still the same internal pattern, after all, just condensed.  It was when he did something completely different from his normal pattern, such as giving himself an eleventh finger, that his body knew that something was wrong – and it let him know. 

But subtle changes didn’t seem to have the same response, so he pushed the limit of what he could do without causing a reaction by his body.  He figured it was better to be recognizable by those who really knew him than have to suffer through a perpetual itchiness that wasn’t necessary; besides, his most recognizable feature had already been altered, as anyone assuming he was the same “tall freak of nature” that had attended Crystalview Academy a half-decade ago would seriously question their assumptions.

As they began walking toward Peratin in the early morning sun, Larek asked, “So, what are you going to do while I’m attending Hilltower?”

She shrugged.  “I’m not sure.  I’m going to dig into any information I can get on my brother’s whereabouts, as well as our other friends’, but I’ll most likely be pulled into service like anywhere else,” she finally answered.

“We can always try and hide you, or have you stay outside somewhere?”

She thought about it for a minute before shaking her head.  “No, there’s too much risk in being discovered, and communicating with you will be nearly impossible.  If you’re going to be attending the Fort, then we’re going to have to look legit so as not to raise any suspicion.  There can’t be any hint that we’re not going to be entering the service of any nearby cities or towns after you’re done with the Fort, or it could complicate your training. 

“I’ll probably end up requesting service in Peratin, as I want to stay near my betrothed,” she added. 

“Betrothed?  Who—?”  He chuckled.  “Is this your roundabout way of asking me to marry you?”

“What?  No, of course not.  I wouldn’t trick you into marrying me, Larek.”  She paused with a grin on her face.  “Unless that’s something you want to do, of course.”

Get married?  I never thought…  Anyway, I’m not exactly in a good place to get married and settle down somewhere, after all.  But if I was going to marry anyone, it would be Nedira.

“I would love to get married to you… as soon as all this mess is over and done with,” he affirmed, taking her hand and bringing it up to his lips to give it a kiss while they walked.  “It wouldn’t feel right without our families there for the wedding, after all.”  He was still holding out hope that his family was still alive, and this was yet another motivation to work hard in order to rescue them – not that he necessarily needed any other motivation to take down the Gergasi.

“Sounds good to me,” she said quickly.  “But that essentially means you’re my betrothed now, doesn’t it?” she asked innocently.

“But I didn’t even ask you—”

“Yes!  Of course I’ll marry you, Larek!”

He stopped and looked at her with a shocked expression, and she gazed right back with an identical one on her own face.  After a few seconds, they burst out laughing.  He took her in his arms and gave her a deep kiss that lasted far longer than anything they’d shared up to this point, and he felt a slight loosening of the stress that had wrapped around his brain after learning about his family.  The fires of anger were still smoldering away, but this little glimpse of his life outside of revenge and rescue brought him some perspective to what he was doing, and why he was doing it. 

When they finally parted, he gazed into her eyes and saw the love shining up from them.  The same worry that he had subtly influenced her with his Dominion magic reared its ugly head in his thoughts, but instead of pushing it away, he embraced it – along with the solution.  “You know, there’s something I’ve been meaning to ask you, and it’s very important if we’re going ahead with this.”

She leaned away from him slightly as she asked, “What is it?”

Larek paused for a second before pushing forward.  “Would you mind if I placed a Fusion on you, similar to what I did for Kimble?”

“Why?  What exactly did it do?”

He forgot that he hadn’t exactly explained to her what the new Expression of Free Will Fusion did.  After a quick description of it, she frowned as she understood what he was getting at.  “I see.  And you want to do this because you’re still afraid that your Dominion magic is influencing me?  I… I don’t think that’s it, Larek.”

“Honestly, I don’t think it is, either, but I couldn’t live with myself and be your betrothed if I didn’t know for sure.”

She just stared at him for a few minutes, a bit of fear in her expression.  He wanted to assure her that it would be perfectly safe, but that apparently wasn’t the issue.  “What if it’s true, Larek?  What if, all this time, my feelings for you have been false?”

That was something he hadn’t seriously thought about, but he supposed he should have at some point.  “Well then, at least we’ll know and go from there.  Either way, I believe it’s necessary for both of us to know.”

The fear didn’t go away on her face, but she still nodded.  “Fine.  Do it.  Quickly, before I change my mind.”

Before he knew it, they were sitting on the ground with Nedira across from him, and he was constructing an Expression of Free Will +10 Fusion.  He wanted to make it as strong as possible so as to block out any attempts of mental manipulation used on her, which would also come in handy if she ever encountered another Gergasi.  He was slightly worried that full coverage would prevent some of the Fusions she used, such as the one on her staff, from working – as they used a non-invasive form of mental manipulation to read her thoughts – but he intuitively knew that she would be fine.  Plus, a quick perusal of the description again said that it only blocked or eliminated invasive mental manipulation, which should block even his own more subtle form of Dominion magic.

It took a few minutes for it to complete, and he reached out to her head, running his fingers through her hair to touch her scalp.  She shivered at his touch, but he ignored it as he directed the finished Fusion to settle under her skin, merging with her flesh as it *clicked* into place. 

Nedira gasped, sucking in lungful of air, as she twitched a few times in response to the Fusion being active.  As opposed to when it affected Kimble, it only stayed active for a few seconds before it went dormant, which he hoped meant that what it found was small enough that it wasn’t that big of a deal.

Once she stopped twitching, she looked up at Larek and her eyes opened wide as she caught sight of him.  Uh, is this a good thing or not—

After a few seconds of searching his face, she smiled.  “Thank you, Larek.  I could actively feel the Fusion you created eliminating the mental manipulation in my mind.  There wasn’t a lot, but it was there.”

“There was?  Was it, uh, mine?” he asked cautiously.

“I’m assuming so, unless you think someone else was trying to subtly get me to like them.  Either way, it’s gone now.”

“And?”

She knew what he was asking, and her smile thankfully didn’t fade away.  “And I still feel the same, if not quite as strongly as I did before.  I swear I sometimes felt like I just wanted to get you alone and, uh, anyway, I think I can restrain myself now,” she explained with a wink.  “But I would still love to be your betrothed, if you’ll have me.”

With great relief, he said, “Of course.  And thank you for being willing to risk your head being blown up to appease my conscience.”

“W-What?  B-But—” she sputtered at first, but she ended up punching him in his shoulder when she saw the smirk on his face.  “I’m not so sure about this now….”

Taking her hand as he chuckled, he kissed it and said, “Oh, don’t worry, I wouldn’t have let anything happen to you.”  Getting to his feet, he pulled her up behind him.  “Now, let’s go – I’ve got some training to do.”

Nedira forgave him for his little joke after walking for about a mile toward the city, and as they approached the tall walls, Larek became more and more apprehensive.  He vividly remembered his previous experience arriving in Peratin for his attendance of Crystalview, and he was worried about the same sort of treatment repeating.

“Don’t worry, it’s completely different this time,” the Naturalist said, identifying his unspoken worry.  “You look different, and your attitude has changed; you actually want to be here, remember?”

He had to admit she had a point.  He wasn’t the same as he was when he first arrived at the city, and it wasn’t just his appearance.  It was also true that he wanted to be there for training his Martial abilities, which was a far cry from his previous experience.

It was approaching noon by the time they arrived at the gate leading into Peratin, and he couldn’t help but notice how different things were from the last time he was there.  For one, the walls appeared a bit more run down than before, with cracks and missing pieces here and there; he figured it was probably because they didn’t really see much use nowadays, as most of the action was out near the Apertures, not at the city.  In fact, as he tried to sense any nearby, he couldn’t detect any for at least a few miles; either they were already closed, or they were too far away for him to sense.

There were also far fewer people trying to get into the city, and the river and docks behind the mountain contained only a fraction of the boats he remembered seeing when he was there before.  These were yet more signs of the devastation trade had undergone with the appearance of the Apertures, and he wouldn’t be surprised if they continued to get worse before they got better.

From what he could tell from afar and getting close to the gate, the only thing that hadn’t changed was the number of people living in the city.  If anything, the population had expanded; despite that, there were dozens of wagons filtering into the city with food from the plethora of farms around the countryside.  For some reason, it didn’t seem as though the area had been hit as badly as most of the rest of the Kingdom, meaning that there was more than enough room for the normal farms and ranches that fed the city – with even more near the walls than usual, as they didn’t have to worry about Scissions appearing and destroying them anymore.

While not an expert on farms and logistics, he’d had enough experience with them over the last few weeks to figure that it wasn’t enough to support much more than just the city, but it was a heck of a lot better than most other places he’d seen thus far in the Kingdom.  Therefore, while Peratin wasn’t necessarily as prosperous as it used to be, there weren’t as many changes as he was expecting.

One thing, though, had changed – which they heard as soon as they were close enough to the gate.

“Form three lines and no pushing!  No entry without assessment!  We all work together to hold back the Calamities!”

It was slightly different from what they’d heard in most other towns and cities along their journey, in particular because multiple Calamities were mentioned, but it had the same purpose: detecting those with magical potential.  Thankfully, this time they were prepared – and they weren’t even planning on shirking their responsibilities.

“Next!” Larek heard soon after arriving at the front of the line they were in.  After walking up with Nedira by his side, the guard – a young-looking Mage – asked, “Purpose of your visit?”

The Fusionist already had his letter from Kimble out, and he presented it to the young man.  “I’m here to attend Fort Hilltower for training to be a Martial.”

“Another one, huh?  You’re the second one today,” he said, giving Larek and the letter only a cursory glance before handing it back to him.  “And you?” the Mage asked, glancing at Nedira.  Thankfully, the same as Larek, she was completely covered with his Void Curtain Fusion, meaning that any hint of the other Fusions was hidden from his sight so he didn’t notice anything out of the ordinary.

Nedira placed her hand on his arm and said, “I came here with my betrothed to join in active service while he’s training at the Fort.”

“Good to see another Mage!” the guard said, genuinely smiling at the woman.  “It seems like we get Martials at three times the rate of Mages here, and I’m sure you’ll be an asset to the SIC.  Are you a current or previous member?”

She hesitated so briefly that Larek barely caught it.  “Previous.  I’ve been of service out to the west over the last few years.”

He didn’t seem to have any problem with that.  “Well, we’re glad you have you back.  While your, uh, betrothed heads up to the Fort, check in with the General at SIC headquarters to get your assignment.”  With a last smile, the Mage guard waved them through, and before they were even past, he shouted, “Next!”

Within a few steps, they were inside Peratin – and Larek was more than ready for the next stage of his training.


Chapter 31

“I’ll be fine,” Nedira said, shooing him down the street.  “You know how well I can take care of myself – especially with these Fusions, yes?”

Larek chuckled.  “Yeah, I know, but I can’t help but worry.”

“I doubt they’re going to send me out to a dangerous Aperture immediately, especially if they don’t know about my capabilities.  Besides, even if they do, you’ve equipped me well enough that I shouldn’t have any problems.”  She took his hands in hers.  “You should be more worried about your own training.”

If he was being honest with himself, he had been ignoring the bit of anxiety that came with starting somewhere new, but now that he was there, he couldn’t ignore it anymore.  This was what he wanted, yes, but there was still a lot of hesitation when it came to actually walking up to the Fort and getting started.  His Martial side had been such an issue up to this point that finally taking steps to figure the whole thing out made him a little nervous. 

What if I can’t figure it out?  What if my Stama is crippled and doomed to get me killed when it slips away from my control?

He tried not to let these worries bother him, but it also wasn’t something that he could completely ignore.  Still, he was here to find out once and for all if he was worried over nothing, or if it was similar to his inability to successfully cast a spell – relegated to something dangerous that would be best left alone if at all possible.

Larek said goodbye to Nedira as she headed into the SIC headquarters building inside of Peratin, watching her confidently striding inside.  He shook his head over his foolish worries, as he had momentarily forgotten that she had survived for years without him nearby and doing this kind of thing.  With the extra Fusions she had courtesy of his efforts, there was very little that could hurt her out there. 

Now, if they decided to send her into one of the Calamities, that was a different story, but he had the impression that the Mages and Martials in Peratin had it fairly easy compared to many other sections of the Kingdom.  She was right, though, that he should be concentrating on his own goal – so he quickly turned up the street and started up the long road up to Fort Hilltower.

Having lived there before, he didn’t get lost like last time, and it only took him a few minutes at a jog to reach a familiar gate that led to the Noble Quarter.  Thankfully, he didn’t recognize either of the guards, as that might have been awkward, and after they asked about what business he had, he showed them his letter.  It only took a minute or so as they looked at it a little closer than the city guards along the wall did, but he was eventually allowed through.

He jogged up the street, running through the center of the Noble Quarter, immediately noticing the changes as he went.  For instance, it wasn’t as clean and pristine as it used to be, as if it had been neglected but not entirely abandoned.  That could be explained by the empty feeling he received when he looked at about half of the large mansions he passed; he wasn’t sure what it was about them that told him they were empty, but he had no reason to doubt that it was accurate.

Larek eventually arrived at the top of the mountain, where he paused as a fork in the road led in two different directions.  When he’d originally come here, he was escorted by Nedira to the right, where Crystalview Academy was located.  His vision was drawn to the Academy, and his focus was immediately drawn to the damage that had been done to the roof and part of the top floor due to his exploding Healing Surge Fusions.  Even though it had been fixed years ago, he could still see where the damage had been, as the stone wasn’t as worn and was slightly off in its color compared to the rest of the Academy. 

He could still picture the sudden Scission attack inside the city, where dozens of smaller, Category 1 Scissions disgorged their monsters to attack both the Fort and the Academy.  At the time, he thought it was just coincidence, bad luck, or a combination of the two that had resulted in the attack, but now he had to wonder if the Corruption had recognized who he was and targeted him there.  It seemed far-fetched, but after seeing not just one but two Scissions open near different Gergasi, he wasn’t sure if his theory of being targeted was all that crazy. 

Shaking his head at his internal curiosity, he turned away from Crystalview and started walking toward his destination.  Constructed of the same stone and appearing very similar in design as the Academy building, Fort Hilltower had a slightly more militaristic look to it.  Instead of hundreds of windows encompassing the outside, there were only a few dozen, and the top of the roofline had more sharp angles and steep sides than that on the Academy.  There was also a huge outdoor training area that he caught a glimpse of in the back, which he thought might be even larger than the one behind Crystalview.  He was reminded of the training spars he’d seen the Martial trainees participate in at Copperleaf, and he could only assume that they did the same here.

As he approached the large, wooden, double doors to Fort Hilltower, he realized that he hadn’t really paid much attention to the Martials while he was attending Crystalview, and only slightly more when he went to Copperleaf.  Other than what he might have heard in passing, as well as witnessing those spars at Copperleaf, he actually didn’t know much about what the Martials did to train.  He belatedly wished he had been a little more curious at the time, especially with Martial stats being a part of who he was, but he grudgingly had to admit that he was too enamored with Fusions back then to concentrate on anything else.  He still was, but his experiences over the last few years, as well as his increased mental stats, had allowed him to break free from the hyper-focused state he used to fall into that ignored the world around him. 

In other words, he wasn’t likely to fall into the same trap with Fusions that had plagued his early experiences with his burgeoning abilities.  He continued to want to improve his skills with Fusions in the future, but he was able to concentrate on something else now – which was why he was here at the Fort in the first place.  He had identified a weakness in his ability to keep himself and those he cared for alive, and Fort Hilltower would hopefully be just the place to correct those failings.

Reaching up to the door, he knocked on it a few times, but no one arrived to open it.  After about a minute of waiting outside, he instead gripped the handle of one door and – surprised at how heavy it seemed, requiring him to exert a small portion of his Strength stat – he opened it.  Slipping inside once it was wide enough for him to fit through, he turned around and pulled it closed with a reverberating *boom*.  Turning back around to see where he had ended up, he saw a surprised-looking older woman in an official-looking SIC training uniform, something similar to what he’d seen a Martial Instructor wearing in the past.  It was a mixture of dark-colored cloth and leather, and it had a SIC patch on the upper left chest section; he also identified a number of knife sheaths strapped to her arms, and a pair of wicked-looking daggers were fitted to her hips.

“Well, that’s a surprise,” the woman’s surprisingly soft voice said as she came to a stop in front of Larek.  “It’s usually a right of passage when our trainees finally gain enough Strength to shift the front doors, but it appears as though you’ve already hit that mark.  Are you sure you’re in the right place?”

Uh, whoops.  I guess I better be careful what I do around here. 

Thankfully, the Fusionist had fabricated a background story for himself, with the help of Nedira, so that he would be able to explain some of his abnormalities.  One aspect of his background story was designed to explain his higher-than-normal Martial stats – up to a point, of course. 

“Yes, I believe so,” Larek answered.  “As for my Strength, there was an… accident when I was about to start training that nearly killed me.  For some reason, it boosted my Body Regeneration Skill high enough that my personal Level increased quite a bit as a result, so I’ve had some extra Advancement Points to add to my stats.”

“I… see,” she said skeptically, folding her arms over her chest as she stared at him. “If you already have that high of stats, then what are you doing here?”

He spread his hands to the side in a display of hopelessness.  “Well, I may be stronger and faster than I used to be, but I have very limited knowledge of fighting as a Martial.  I’ve managed to kill some monsters in the past, but I’ve been blindly cutting things up with my axe,” he explained, patting the axe at his side.  “I used to be a Logger, you see, but that all changed when it was found that I had this magical potential inside of me.”  Most of that was true, and his backstory was thought to work more when it aligned with the truth; there were only certain things that had to be hidden or altered so that he didn’t raise too many suspicions.  The last thing he needed was for someone to recognize him as potentially being half-Gergasi with his dual Martial/Mage nature.

“Why send you here, then?  Fort Hilltower is typically reserved for special cases,” the woman emphasized, still staring at him skeptically. 

He visibly hesitated before he answered.  “Well, it’s also because of my Stama.  While I have the Stama Subjugation Skill, there’s something wrong with it.  Or, at least, I can’t get it to work the way it’s supposed to, and the trainers back at Fairmeadow couldn’t figure it out.  That’s why I was sent here, as they hoped the trainers here would be able to help instead of writing me off as a lost cause.”

For the first time, she looked sympathetic when he described his problems with his Stama.  “Ah, that makes sense.  Every once in a while, we have a Martial that has difficulty accessing and controlling their Stama, and we here at Fort Hilltower have experience dealing with those kinds of problems.  It would be rare for anyone to have the knowledge we have here out in the cities and towns throughout the Kingdom, so now it makes sense why you were sent. Without use of your Stama, you would essentially be handicapped during any engagement with monsters, and you would be less like a Martial and more like a particularly strong commoner. 

“And we can’t have that, can we?” she asked with a savage-looking smile.

“Uh, no?”

“That’s no, ma’am.  If you’re training here at the Fort, then you’ll have to learn how to address your Instructors with the respect they are due, so responding with sir or ma’am is required.”  She held out her hand, and asked, “Do you have your letter from the Faction Commander in… Fairmeadow, you said?”

Larek reached inside his Void Pocket sack and pulled out the letter, handing it to her a few seconds later.  The woman looked curiously at the empty sack as he swung it back around over his shoulder, but she quickly busied herself with looking over the letter written by Kimble.  It only took her about a minute to evaluate it and somehow determine that it was genuine, before folding it and tucking it into a hidden pocket in her outfit. 

“Very good, it looks like everything is in order,” she said.  “Now that that’s out of the way, I want to formally welcome you to Fort Hilltower.  My name is Instructor Wendie, and you may address me as Instructor Wendie, Instructor, or ma’am.  Is that clear?”

He nodded.  At a look coming from the woman, he hastily added, “Yes, Instructor Wendie.”

“Excellent.  It seems you can be trained, so that’s a good sign for what’s to come.”  She turned around and beckoned him to follow.  “We’ll get you settled into the room that you’ll be using while you’re here, before we get into what your training will be like.”

“Thank you, ma’am.” 

Larek was able to look around for the first time, and he quickly took in the appearance of the inside of the Fort.  Similar in design to Crystalview Academy next door, the entrance area was a long, tall hallway that was flanked by dorm rooms on the left and what were likely classrooms or training rooms on the right; there also seemed to be five floors as well, adding some additional symmetry to the Academy building.

However, that was where the similarities ended, because there wasn’t a large crystal forming the entirety of the ceiling, as it was simply plain stone, and the comfortable furniture that was in the Academy’s entrance hall was absent.  They weren’t even replaced by anything, as the entire breadth of the hallway was bare of any furniture or decoration, just the stark stone walls of which almost everything in the building was constructed.

But the biggest difference from what he remembered from Crystalview was the lighting.  Instead of simple Illuminate Fusions being added to cubes of iron and installed in wall sconces, the hallway was lit by what appeared to be oil lamps that burned unevenly and flickered at the slightest bit of air movement.  It gave the entire Fort a bit more of a primitive and run-down feel to it than was probably intended.  What shocked him even more, though, was that Larek didn’t see a sign of any Fusions, not even on the Instructor’s outfit, which he was sure she would’ve had if they were available. 

Though, knowing Dean Wilburt’s stance on Fusionists and Fusions, it wouldn’t have surprised Larek to learn that teaching Fusions or even utilizing them had been forbidden. 

The Instructor led him down a hallway to the left where the dorm rooms were located, before showing him into a room with two beds, again similar to his experience at Crystalview, but this time he didn’t see any sign of having a roommate.

Instructor Wendie sighed, waving around the room.  “This is all yours, as we are far, far below maximum capacity.  In years past, we sometimes had to send some of our Trainees to other Forts because we didn’t have any room, but those days are long past.  Nowadays we’re lucky to have 300 trainees here simultaneously.

“Which brings us to your training,” she continued, watching him place the sack on one of the beds. “Historically, trainees used to be much younger, and we would spend years training them as their bodies developed at the same time.  While we still receive those of a younger age, most of our trainees are older men and women who have unique or special circumstances that are a good fit to be trained here at the Fort rather than the quick instructions they would receive elsewhere.  As a result, those who graduate from this institution are genuinely stronger, faster, and much more capable of dishing out death and destruction toward the monsters that are plaguing this land.

“As a result of our lower head count, our trainee population receives a bit more personal training than we used to employ.  There are no class years, no required schedule that each Martial is supposed to follow, only a curriculum tailored to the individual.  As we get new trainees all the time instead of starting training programs yearly, we have been able to adapt any newcomers into our existing classes with very little difficulty, and you should be able to integrate yourself with your fellow trainees with ease.

“That’s not to say that it will be easy, because it will be anything but.  We’ve condensed what used to take five years to get a Martial ready to join the ranks of the SIC into a program that lasts between six to twelve months, depending on the individual, which requires rigorous training and pushing yourself to your limit time and time again.  We don’t tolerate slackers here, and if we sense that you are not giving it your all, we will turn you out to find your own way in the world without our help.  Do you understand?”

“Yes, ma’am.”

She smiled and nodded.  “Excellent.  Now, as much as I would love to get started today, we’ll have to delay until tomorrow to do your intake evaluation to learn where you’re currently at, and from there we will put together a curriculum based on what you need to learn the most.  Meals are served every morning, noon, and evening in the Dining Hall, so feel free to take some time familiarizing yourself with the Fort and get settled over the rest of today, because tomorrow your real training begins.”

With another brief nod at him, Instructor Wendie turned on her heel and marched quickly out of his new room, showing her speed and Agility for the first time.  Larek figured that she was probably holding back because it wasn’t that fast, but it was still much faster than any new trainee would likely be able to keep up with.

Well, I’m here.  Step one is done.  Step two begins tomorrow, it seems.

As nerve-wracking as it had been getting there, he couldn’t help but be excited for what was to come.


Chapter 32

“Trainee Larek!  Move to the center of the circle and prepare for your evaluation!” Instructor Wendie shouted.

As the slightly taller-than-average man walked from the edge of the circle toward its center, Instructor Torge was already watching his movements.  He had found over the years that a lot of information about someone, and especially a Martial, could be gained from something as simple as walking.  There was a lot more that could be assessed through different means, of course, but the normally innocuous act of moving from one place to another was something that most people ignored when evaluating the potential of trainees.

But not Torge.  He’d been an Instructor at Fort Hilltower for nearly 20 years, one of the few original Instructors from before the changes occurred over the last few years, and he was now the only Instructor at the Fort that hailed from another land.  As a Drekkin, he was one of the few members of his race in all of the Kingdom, as his people didn’t leave their underground world underneath the desert of Lowenthal very often.  The sunlight was normally detrimental to them, not only blinding them with its powerfully bright rays, but also damaging their scaly skin when they were exposed to it for long. 

His Martial transformation eliminated those problems in Torge, thankfully.  As for the reason he stuck around the Fort instead of going back home, as many of the other Instructors had after the Apertures began to expand around the world, he had no reason to leave.  All his nestmates had perished long ago, and his only family – a word he had adopted since arriving in the Kingdom – were those at the Fort.  If he had his wish, he would continue training new Martials at Hilltower until the day he died… preferably many years into the future.

And this man, this Larek, was exactly why he loved being an Instructor.  It wasn’t the fact that Wendie had mentioned that this particular trainee was unusual, because they’d had plenty of unusual trainees over the last few years.  It also wasn’t the fact that he already had at least 30 Strength to have been able to open the front doors, a hidden test for trainees that had been around for as long as the Fort to prove that graduates had what it took to join the SIC.

Such a thing wasn’t exactly common, especially when they had individuals that had already been trained somewhat before arriving, but they did have occasional trainees that were naturally strong and had already passed that threshold upon their arrival.

No, it wasn’t anything he was told about this particular trainee that made him stand up a little straighter and pay better attention to the young man.  Torge was standing with both Instructor Wendie and Instructor Hasat outside of the circle as they would be evaluating the new arrival, but he wasn’t sure if they saw what he did when Larek simply walked into the circle.

Restrained power. A lot of restrained power.

To his experienced eye, it was obvious in the man’s deliberate steps, in the careful way he held himself, and from the almost imperceptibly quick twitch of his eyes as he took in his evaluators.  There was also a confidence in his gait that wasn’t born from arrogance, as they typically saw in most trainees that were sent to them; instead, it was as if the man instinctively knew that he could take care of himself if he was ever in danger.  It was a rare quality to see in a trainee, especially in one that hadn’t been around for at least a decade, and it was – to put it lightly – intriguing to see.

He was even further intrigued when the trainee arrived in the center of the circle and looked at the evaluators, only for his gaze to turn to surprise as he looked at Torge. Now, being a Drekkin and knowing that very few of his people lived within the Kingdom, he had endured the surprised stares of countless trainees over the years, but this was different.  This trainee’s look of surprise wasn’t at seeing someone of a different race, but one that said, “What is a Drekkin doing here?”

That type of response was unusual in and of itself, but with everything else he’d taken in from simply watching the man walk, Torge was both confused about this young man and excited to discover the answer to the mystery that surrounded him.  This should be an interesting evaluation.

Wendie spoke up again as soon as the trainee was in position; this time, it was to explain what they were about to do.

“This is your evaluation.  Previously, this process was undergone by third, fourth, and fifth-year trainees to assess their progress, and to identify where they needed to improve in order to graduate.  Now, however, this evaluation is performed upon any new trainees and repeated every three months to determine whether any changes in training are needed.”

The man nodded at this, his hands at the sides of his fairly nice-looking cloth pants.  The Fort used to put every brand-new trainee into matching clothes to better identify them, but after trade caravans practically dried up from around the Kingdom over the last year, their normal supplier was no longer able to get any of their uniforms to them.  As a result, they abandoned the process except in cases where the trainees didn’t have any extra clothes or their own armor, and then they would be able to borrow some of the few sets they had while they were training.  Otherwise, they were allowed to use whatever they had brought with them.

Which was the case here.  Torge just hoped that the trainee had another set with him, because this set was probably going to be in rough shape after the evaluation.

As Instructor Wendie resumed her speech, something he’d heard countless times before and could now easily ignore, Torge continued his own assessment of this unusual man.  The way he stood, with his hands hanging lethargically by his sides and his feet nearly touching each other, it was obvious to the Drekkin that Larek wasn’t an experienced fighter.  Sure, the man was still brimming with confidence, but Torge sensed no sign of what he liked to call battle competency.  Someone could be strong, fast, and durable, but without battle competency, someone who was weaker and slower could overcome them with simple tactics, techniques, and situational awareness.  Of course, it could be that the man was deliberately downplaying his abilities, but he doubted it; the lack of competency was tough to fake when it was already ingrained in someone. 

To find out if any of this was correct, he’d have to wait until the actual evaluation.

“Before we start, let me explain what it is we are going to evaluate,” Wendie was saying while he had been staring at the trainee.  “The process is broken down into six separate assessments, each of them different but equally important aspects of being a competent Martial.

“The first is an assessment of your basic stats.  This doesn’t mean needing to know the actual numbers on your Status, but is focused more on how you effectively apply those stats, both individually and as a whole.  Someone could have a thousand Strength, but if they simply flail around and hope to hit something with their superior strength, then they aren’t effectively applying it to the situation.  At the same time, we also encourage different types of stat distributions depending on the Specializations you are interested in, though that is a different assessment.

“The second assessment is similar to the first, but it focuses on your actual combat ability.  How do you react when being attacked?  What is your situational awareness like, and do you have a feel for the flow of combat?  Are there any particular tactics that you prefer to use in a fight, or are you simply hoping to survive and get lucky with your strikes?  These questions, and more, can be somewhat answered during this evaluation; I say somewhat, because when faced with an actual life-or-death situation against a powerful monster, your ability to defend yourself in a controlled environment can’t really compare.  Still, this assessment will at least give us an idea of what to expect from you.

“The third assessment is focused around your Martial Skills, and whether you are effectively applying them in combat.  Someone with a Level 10 Bladed Weapon Expertise may sound like they know what they are doing with a sword, but are they actually wielding that Skill to the best of their abilities?  That’s what we’re going to find out.

“Assessment number four is concerned with your Stama.  Each Martial should have had their Stama unlocked before they were even sent here, except in very rare cases, so we will be testing your application of the energy through the use of Stama Subjugation.

“The fifth assessment is similar to the previous one, as it concerns Battle Arts.  Many new trainees, even if they have access to their Stama, typically haven’t had a chance to learn any Battle Arts by this point; for those who have managed to learn some, we’ll evaluate how well they apply their Stama to them, whether they are wasteful in their use, and whether they are using them at the most opportune times.  This assessment will become more important through your training, as we don’t expect new trainees to have access to any at this point.

“The last assessment has to do with Specializations.  Not any particular Specialization, of course, but based on an evaluation of your previous assessments, we would like to see what would be a good fit for you going forward.  Are you a front-line fighter that wants to get into the thick of things and inflict as much damage as possible?  Do you prefer to defend against attacks, protecting your fellow group members while keeping a monster’s attention on you?  Would you rather clash with your target from an unexpected direction, quickly inflicting damaging strikes before retreating so as not to suffer from a powerful counterattack?  Or is using a bow more your style, inflicting damage from afar, crippling your target with precise shots while providing emergency support for your fellow group members? 

“While this evaluation doesn’t lock you into a particular Specialization and you can always change or expand upon it later, this will at least give us – and you – a better idea of what we should concentrate on in your training.

“Do you have any questions before we begin?”

Torge watched as the trainee thought about it for a few seconds before he asked a question.  Two of the most common questions at this point were, “Will it hurt?” and – for the more arrogant ones – “What happens if I’m too strong for you to evaluate?”; the answer to the first was always yes, while the second was ignored except for a few sniggers on the Instructors’ parts. 

It was always humorous to watch that confidence fade away once the evaluation actually started.  They weren’t Instructors for no reason, after all. 

Larek, on the other hand, surprised him yet again – though he supposed he should’ve expected it based on what he’d seen thus far.

“Do you have a spare set of clothing I can wear during the evaluation?”

Instructor Hasat chuckled darkly.  “Don’t want to get those nice clothes dirty, huh?  You probably should’ve thought about that before you came out here.”  The Kingdom-born man had a bit of a mean streak to his personality, but he was a competent trainer.  Unfortunately, with how things were in the world, competent was about average for their Instructors at this point.  Thankfully, Wendie was one of the better colleagues that Torge had worked with over the years.

Larek shook his head.  “No, that’s not it.  I just want this evaluation to be a more accurate assessment of my abilities.”

“What is that supposed to mean?” Hasat asked, his attitude now a bit more hostile than was necessary.  Then again, Torge wanted to know the same thing.

“I have, uh, some Fusions on these clothes that would hinder the evaluation.”

Fusions?  This man is even more of a mystery than I thought.

Unlike some of his current colleagues, who knew of Fusions but hadn’t used them much in the past, the Drekkin Instructor was very familiar with them.  In fact, they even had one of the healing Fusions that had been gifted to the Fort something like five years ago after the Scission attack which precipitated many of the recent changes in the Kingdom.  There used to be more of them, but they had all been taken away by the SIC to use in other places, and the one that they had been allowed to keep was currently considered too valuable to use casually.  If he remembered correctly, it had been over a year since it had been used – and the fact that it still worked was a matter of both confusion and caution.  Those in the SIC required them to hold off on using it anymore, as they were worried that repeated use would break it down, though Torge had his doubts.  It seemed to him that it was working just as well as it had been when they first received it, but what did he know?  He wasn’t a Mage or a Fusionist, after all.

Before Hasat could antagonize the trainee any further, Torge held up his hand.  The other two Instructors deferred to him as the Senior Instructor, though he preferred not to lean on that designation more than necessary.  “We’ll get you some different clothes.  I’d like to talk to you about those Fusions later, however,” he said.  He could tell that Hasat wanted to protest, but the junior Instructor snapped his jaws shut rather than risk the Drekkin’s ire.

“Thank you.”

Wendie had already run inside, pushing her Agility to her limit, and in less than 30 seconds she was back and handing the trainee a set of dark grey pants and a shirt.  As Larek took off his existing clothes, Torge watched as the man seemed to weaken significantly from what he could sense in him before.  Was his confidence propped up by artificial means via whatever Fusions he was using?  It was difficult to tell, but he didn’t think it was all fake – or courtesy of a few magical patterns. 

Then again, it was difficult to tell without witnessing the trainee in action.  Which, coincidentally, was exactly what they were about to do with the evaluation.

“Any other questions?” Instructor Wendie asked.

This time, Larek shook his head.

“Good.  The evaluation will start now.  Prepare yourself to defend against our attacks, using whatever means you have at your disposal.”

There was a moment of silence as the trainee stared back at the three Instructors, and Torge felt an excitement inside of him that hadn’t been present in a long, long time.  He was fairly sure it was the anticipation of discovering something new, which was a spectacular event considering that he’d pretty much seen everything up to this point.  He tensed up slightly as he prepared for the evaluation, before relaxing as he settled into what he liked to call “assessment mode”.  It was time to test this young trainee and see if he could examine some of the mystery that surrounded him.

“Begin.”


Chapter 33

Quickly switching his clothing into what he was given, Larek laid his previous clothes outside of the circle, where he thought they would be perfectly safe.  It wasn’t that he was worried about the clothing themselves getting damaged, but if something the Martial Instructors did to them caused one of the Fusions to rupture, the explosive detonation of all the Mana releasing could be unfortunate. 

As soon as all of the Fusions were off his body, he immediately felt weaker and slower, as all the Boosts were now absent; with his stats essentially cut in half, Larek felt a bit more vulnerable than he had in a long time.  In addition, stripped of every Fusion he had relied on for so long while fighting monsters, the Fusionist didn’t have any way to heal himself or automatically defend against attacks.  He didn’t even have his axe with him, as he decided beforehand that if he was going to learn how to fight at the Fort, he needed to be able to adapt and use different weapons besides his beloved Logger’s axe.  It wasn’t designed to be a weapon; it was a tool, and while he’d used it to fight monsters thousands of times, it was still classified as a tool when it related to his General Skills – more precisely, his Axe Handling Skill.  If he was going to improve as a Martial, he needed to improve his Weapon Expertise Martial Skills, something that couldn’t be done with his current axe.

Not that he was planning on abandoning his new best friend anytime soon, but he considered his axe to be part of his “Mage”-based weapons, the same as his staff, and wielding it as a Pattern construct felt almost as natural as creating Fusions.  Larek’s time at the Fort was to learn about and improve his combat abilities as a Martial, not as a Mage or a Fusionist. As such, he needed to temporarily put aside the advantages that he possessed through his Fusions and demonstrate what he could do with simple, raw stats…

…but not all his stats, of course.  Even without his Boosts, he was still quite a bit stronger and faster than normal trainees, and possibly even had stats higher than his Instructors.  Though, when he looked at the Drekkin – which still shocked him to see one of the residents from underneath the desert of Lowenthal there in the Kingdom – he could sense the immense Martial power within him. If he was going by his Magical Detection’s observance of the lizard-like Instructor’s Stama levels, then the Drekkin was one of the more formidable Martials he’d seen in a long time.  

As prepared as he was going to get, Larek forced his hammering heart to slow down after letting the Instructors giving him his evaluation know that he didn’t have any other questions.  Instructor Wendie paused for a moment before saying, “Begin.”

Things happened quickly as soon as the signal was given, and the Fusionist saw the one that had spoken harshly toward him earlier immediately move behind him, a wooden – but still sharp-looking – sword slashing at his left side.  Even a small portion of Larek’s Agility stat was enough to evade the strike, and he flung himself to the right, only to feel a poke in his upper rib cage as a wooden dagger sliced through his borrowed shirt and pressed against his skin.  His Body stat was high enough to prevent the sharpened wood from penetrating, but it was shocking enough of an attack that he didn’t even see coming from Instructor Wendie that he froze for a second before knocking it away with his hand.

That was when a block of wood on the end of a handle smashed into his left leg, as the Drekkin appeared and attacked.  While it didn’t hurt him, the momentum behind the blow lifted him up and nearly made him fall on his face; it was only a last-second twist that saved him from the indignity of face-planting during the evaluation.

Unfortunately, that was just the start.

At first, he was able to avoid or even block with his hands a few of the strikes and blows that assaulted him from all sides, but they kept coming incessantly.  None of them did any damage to him other than potentially a bruise here and there when one connected just right, but they didn’t bother or hinder him – especially when they were healed within a few seconds because of his Body Regeneration Skill at Level 39.

After a minute or so of being battered and poked, he finally cranked up the amount of Agility he was applying to his speed.  For the next 10 seconds, he was able to avoid quite a few more attacks, only to mistakenly move in a way that left him open to another from a different direction.  He started to use his hands to physically block what he couldn’t avoid, pushing them away with a burst of his Strength stat, but as soon as he began to do that, the Instructors began to attack from directions he couldn’t predict, and he was soon blocking nothing.  It was at that point that they sped up their attacks, and while he felt that he was faster than them, they utilized their Agility to swiftly move in ways that used an economy of movement that was a complete mystery to him.  The end result was that even though he was technically faster, they were able to keep him trapped between them without a way to avoid their attacks.

It was frustrating, to say the least.

Just when he thought he was going to have to increase his speed past what he wanted to demonstrate to these Instructors, they abruptly pulled back and gave him time to collect himself.

“You have high Agility, but you have very little sense of how to use it effectively,” Instructor Wendie suddenly said, startling him.  Oh yeah, this is an evaluation.  He hadn’t exactly forgotten that this was what he was there for, but in the heat of combat it had become a secondary consideration.

“You can take a hit without too much damage,” the more hostile of the Instructors went next, derision clear in his voice, “but part of effectively utilizing your Body stat is in how you can move to minimize or avoid injuries.  It’s not a matter of being fast enough, but knowing your body well enough that even the slightest movements can make a difference.  Unfortunately for you, the movements I witnessed were sluggish, unrefined, or simply nonexistent.”

The Drekkin went next.  “You’re strong, but Strength is more than simply exerting force upon your opponent.  Restraint is sometimes more important than raw power, and your frantic flailing left you open to additional attacks that would’ve been less obvious if you had restrained your follow-throughs.  I see potential, but it’s far from being utilized properly.”

Larek immediately felt horrible over the assessment of his stats – or more precisely, his effectiveness in utilizing them – but he pushed aside his feelings.  He knew he was using them poorly, after all, which was one of the reasons he was there at the Fort. 

He eventually nodded at their evaluation, knowing that what they said was true.

“Combat ability is next, which we prefer to assess with you using a weapon,” Instructor Wendie said.  “Pick one out from the rack over there.”  She pointed to a wooden weapon rack, which held approximately a dozen wooden practice weapons.  Larek quickly jogged over and picked out a large, double-bladed battleaxe, which was as close to his preferred Logger’s axe as possible.

“Now, this time, instead of just defending, we want you to attack; we will defend ourselves, so you will need to try and avoid damage, but for now this will be a one-on-one assessment.”

Begin,” she continued as soon as he was back in the middle of the circle and prepared with his wooden axe.  It felt odd in his hands, though not necessarily unwieldy; it just wasn’t as comfortable as his own axe felt when he was wielding it.

Instructor Wendie approached first, and Larek attacked her, attempting to chop into her neck, but the woman somehow minimally deflected his attack, ducked the barest amount to avoid being struck, and then attempted to stab him with one of her wooden daggers.  He managed to scoot backwards in time to avoid being struck, but she took a step forward and moved close enough to attack again, and it was all he could do to bring his wooden axe around to block her.  Even though he managed to deflect one of the daggers with the haft of his weapon, he was unable to move in time to block the second, and it “stabbed” into his stomach. 

The Fusionist attempted to chop into her from above in response, but she practically twirled around him, avoided his swing, and then stabbed him three more times in various places on his body. 

He struck out at her another dozen times over the next minute, never getting close to actually hitting her despite his Strength and applying about half of his Agility.  She, on the other hand, would’ve killed him several times over from all the hits she landed – if she was able to penetrate through his skin, of course.  Still, the end result was an absolutely humiliating showing.

He felt that if he had applied all of his Agility, he might have been able to surprise her at least once or twice, but even that he wasn’t exactly confident in.  She seemed to be able to predict his movements before he even shifted his limbs, which just went to show how skilled she was in combat – and how unskilled Larek was.

The mock combat against the sword-wielding instructor didn’t turn out too much better, as while he wasn’t quite as fast as the woman, he had longer range and was able to deflect his attacks even more skillfully than she had.  He didn’t seem to have the same supernatural prediction of his movements that Wendie possessed, but the Instructor was still adept enough to avoid any hits upon him and “killed” Larek at least three times during the assessment.

Lastly, he was completely unmatched against the Drekkin, who was more skillful than the others by far.  What was even worse was that the Fusionist began to detect that the powerful Martial was actually handicapping himself so that Larek could feel as if he was actually making progress, but it was all an illusion.  It was as if he was leaving himself open to see what the trainee would do, but Larek was unable to capitalize on any of the openings.  Afterwards, as he thought about it more, he realized that while in the heat of the fight he had seen at least a half-dozen openings, on a later retrospective, he thought he identified dozens more that he didn’t see at the time.

Needless to say, he had a lot to learn.

“Pathetic,” the sword-bearing Instructor said when this part of the evaluation was finished.  “You’re like a mindless brute swinging around a club at anything that comes near.  Very little combat ability to speak of, though I suppose most weaker monsters would simply throw themselves at you, making your style of fighting simple enough to execute in that case.”

Larek didn’t think he was that bad; he’d killed thousands of monsters after all, and not all of them had been weak.  Still, using a weapon other than his Logger’s axe made a huge difference, because he wasn’t nearly as skilled in its use, even if he thought that it was similar in application.

“While that assessment is a bit harsher than I would give you, I have to agree with most of it,” Instructor Wendie commented.  “This isn’t about your effective use of your stats, but more about your awareness of your surroundings and your ability to both attack and defend yourself against an opponent.  In both areas, you are particularly… inept.”

It was harsh, but not as harsh as the other Instructor.

“Agreed,” the Drekkin added.  “While I sensed some instincts in there during the fight, I saw no hint of any formal training present.  Your stance is completely atrocious, your movements are exaggerated, and while you seem to prefer an axe to fight with, it appears as if you have very little knowledge of how to even hold it, let alone wield it properly as a weapon.”

“With those two assessments over, it’s time to assess your Martial Skills.  To help us with that, we need to know what your highest offensive Skill is currently,” Instructor Wendie stated as soon as the Drekkin was done.  “You’ve already explained that your Body Regeneration is high due to some accident, so that isn’t something that we need to assess during this evaluation, but your offensive capabilities are definitely something that we need to determine.”

Larek looked at his Status and tried to figure out what exactly she wanted to hear. 

Martial Skills:

Blunt Weapon Expertise Level 1/35 (350 AF)

Stama Subjugation Level 2/35 (350 AF)

Bladed Weapon Expertise Level 3/35 (350 AF)

Unarmed Fighting Level 4/35 (350 AF)

Throwing Level 20/35 (350 AF)

Dodge Level 26/35 (350 AF)

Pain Immunity Level 20/20 (N/A)

Body Regeneration Level 39/50 (500 AF)

As she already stated, Body Regeneration wasn’t something they needed to test, which probably also included his Pain Immunity Skill.  Dodge was his next-highest Skill, but that didn’t seem to be offensive in nature; besides, he had demonstrated that at least somewhat during his earlier assessments, even if he wasn’t very effective at it.

So that left… Throwing?  It was at Level 20, which was fairly high, he supposed.  If that didn’t count, it would be Unarmed Fighting at Level 4, and he was fairly certain that they had seen how poorly he had done during his assessment concerning his stats.

“Throwing.”

That seemed to surprise her, as well as the sword-wielding Instructor.  He couldn’t tell if the Drekkin was surprised or not, as he hadn’t really become adept at determining their facial expressions despite all the time he spent in their tunnels under the desert.

“Throwing?  That’s… unusual.”  Shrugging, she jogged over to a table behind the weapon rack that he didn’t notice before, grabbed something quickly, and then moved over to Larek.  When she handed it over, he found it to be a rolled-up leather strap with pockets containing an assortment of what appeared to be throwing knives.  He recognized what they were, of course, but he’d never actually thrown any of them before.

“This will give us at least a baseline for where you’re at, and whether you’re applying your Skills effectively – similarly to how we assessed your stats.  Go ahead and hit that stationary target over there a few times,” Instructor Wendie said, pointing to what appeared to be an archery target against the far wall, “before we test your ability to hit a moving target.”

Larek nodded, grabbing the first of the knives out of the leather strap.  Having seen them thrown before, he had an idea of how to hold them, and he let the first go with as good of a throw as he could.  He was fairly accurate in his aim, hitting the target just off-center, though as it flipped through the air it ended up rotating to the point where it hit handle-first; it stuck in the straw target for a second before slipping out and clattering against the stone floor.  His second attempt was much better, as it hit near the center and actually stuck, though it impacted at an angle instead of straight on.  His third was almost perfect, as it stuck deep into the center of the target with no problems.

He might not have used them before, but his Throwing Skill apparently adjusted for that lack of experience quickly enough that he was able to get the hang of it fairly easily.

Of course, hitting a moving target – in this case the Drekkin Instructor – was something entirely different.  The lizard-like Instructor ran, dodged, and even jumped to avoid the knives that Larek threw at him, batting away any that got close with his wooden weapon – not that many actually got close.  He had to admit that his experience with throwing in the past hadn’t necessarily been focused on precise, moving targets, and especially with weapons with which he was unfamiliar.  Give him his Logger’s axe and he could probably shave the wings off a fly at 30 feet, but throwing knives were just awkward enough in his hands that he didn’t have that kind of aim.

“Barely passable for someone with Level 5 in Throwing,” Instructor Wendie said once he was out of knives.  Larek inwardly winced, considering that he was Level 20.  “Are there any other offensive Skills that you would like to demonstrate?”

He thought about it for a moment, before shaking his head.  They’d pretty much seen it all already.

“Alright, then it’s on to an assessment of how you handle your Stama.”

Uh, oh.

“Please subjugate your Stama and direct it toward different portions of your body.”

Well, that’s not going to happen.

Still, he attempted to do what she asked, even knowing that it would be unsuccessful.  Inwardly reaching for the source of his Stama inside of his chest, he attempted to grab some of it and direct it where he willed it to go, using everything he’d learned about it from Penelope and his other Martial bodyguards in the past.  Unfortunately, that method never seemed to work for him, even after he obtained the Stama Subjugation Skill.

“We’re waiting,” the impatient, sword-wielding Instructor complained.

Larek gave it one more try before giving up.

“I’m sorry, I cannot control my Stama,” he finally admitted.  “It’s the main reason that I’m here, other than to obtain combat training.”

“Understood.  So, that would preclude assessing any Battle Arts, since you shouldn’t have any without control, I suppose—”

“That’s not entirely true,” he interrupted.  He knew that he had to be at least honest about this if he was going to get help controlling his Stama and Battle Arts.  “I actually have two Battle Arts.”  Technically, Larek had three, but Tactician Mind applied 50% of his Agility stat toward Intellect and Acuity – something he would rather not bring up right now, considering it would out him as also having Mage stats.

“You do?  Can you show either of them to us?”

He nodded before shaking his head.  “Again, they aren’t something that I can control.  They seem to only trigger in times of supreme emotional distress and are, to put it mildly, dangerous – especially when used in conjunction with each other.”

“What are they, if you don’t mind sharing?” Instructor Wendie asked, and he told them.  None of them had ever heard of them before and asked for an explanation of what they did, so he pulled up the information by concentrating on both Furious Rampage and Consuming Speed and then shared them so that they could see them floating in the air.

Furious Rampage

Effect: Double Strength stat while reducing Body stat by 30%

Duration: 90 seconds

Base Stama Cost: 150

Consuming Speed

Effect: Triple Agility stat while reducing Body stat by 60%

Duration: 20 seconds

Base Stama Cost: 300

“Powerful, but extremely dangerous,” the Drekkin Instructor said after a moment of looking the information over.  “I’ve seen a few similar to those two in the past, where your body is weakened in order to strengthen something else.  We typically discourage even developing them, however, as they are what we call ‘Final Sacrifice’ Battle Arts.  They are used when all hope is lost in a battle and a Martial gives everything they have in one final attack, sacrificing themselves so that his fellow Martials and Mages can potentially escape.  It almost inevitably ends with their deaths, because even if they manage to survive the attack, their bodies are so torn up by the time the Battle Art ends that they have difficulty even moving.”

Larek could well understand that, as he had fallen unconscious after using both Battle Arts the first time.  If his body hadn’t been as strong as it was, or if the fight had gone on further, he might not have survived.  It was only with the addition of Tactician Mind that he was able to even control himself somewhat while he was under the influence of the other Battle Arts, and it also helped him stay aware enough not to push himself to unconsciousness.

But that still didn’t mean he knew how to control it.

“So, he’s useless.  He might be strong and decently fast, and he didn’t seem to suffer any lasting injuries from the evaluation, but without being able to control his Stama, he’s nothing more than a meat shield on the front lines.”  The words stung, even if it was coming from the Instructor that didn’t seem to like him for some reason.  For once, though, he at least knew it wasn’t because he was tall.  “This might be an evaluation to see where we need to focus his training, but why should we even consider training him at all?”

Instructor Wendie stared at Larek for a moment before she sighed.  “As much as I hate agreeing with Instructor Hasat, I have to agree.  If he cannot properly subjugate his Stama, then training him would be… well, not a waste, as he can certainly be an asset with the proper combat training, but without reliable Battle Arts, his usefulness is greatly reduced.”  She looked him in the eye and asked, “Are you sure you don’t have even the slightest bit of control over your Stama?  While we don’t expect new Martials to have the ability to completely subjugate their Stama immediately, all of them should have at least an instinctual knowledge of how to interact with it after their Stama Subjugation is unlocked.  We can teach you how to properly subjugate and control it at that point, but if you can’t even get that far… well….”  She shrugged, as if it was out of her control.

Larek’s heart dropped after hearing this, as he was now worried that they wouldn’t be able to help him at all.  He had hoped that going to one of the training Forts would be all that was needed to teach him how to control his Stama and Battle Arts, but it seemed as though he was, once again, unique to the point where he couldn’t be helped.  This has just been a huge waste of ti—

“You make a good point, but I can sense something within this young trainee that tells me that there is more to this than just an inability to subjugate his Stama,” the Drekkin abruptly announced, interrupting his defeatist thoughts.  “I will handle his training, as I have a few ideas I want to try in order to fix this little problem.”

“Senior Instructor Torge, this isn’t a ‘little’ problem,” the sword-wielding Instructor—Hasat—said, not looking at Larek anymore, but right at the Drekkin.  “Your expertise is better-suited toward advancing our existing students’ combat abilities, as they are the ones that show promise.  Not this one,” he added, waving distractedly at the Fusionist’s direction, the disgust more than evident in his voice. 

“Your concern has been noted on the evaluation, Instructor Hasat.  However, I am taking personal responsibility over his training, and that is final.”

The scathing look that Instructor Hasat gave the Drekkin finally clicked something in his mind.  He’s not angry at me.  He’s jealous and ambitious; jealous of my already high stats – regardless of my inability to utilize them properly – and ambitious to the point where he is willing to confront the Senior Instructor, looking for a way to take him down a notch.  That, and he seems like he has a genuinely unfriendly attitude; definitely not a good combination of traits.

Instructor Hasat stormed off, and Instructor Wendie left shortly thereafter, a look of pity on her face for some reason.  When Larek glanced back at the Drekkin, he thought he recognized what might be a smile on the Senior Instructor’s face…

…and that made him shiver involuntarily.


Chapter 34

When the training room inside the Fort was completely empty other than Larek and the smiling Drekkin, Senior Instructor Torge, the Fusionist stood there for nearly a minute with the silence stretching uncomfortably long.  Just as he was about to open his mouth to ask what he should be doing, the powerful instructor suddenly moved, using a speed that Larek hadn’t seen up to this point.  His own Agility was just barely high enough to catch the movement, and his mind worked quickly as it saw the Drekkin’s wooden, hammer-like weapon heading toward his right arm with a speed and strength that told him that this wasn’t just a light tap.

As he dodged to the left to avoid it, Senior Instructor Torge somehow brought in his swing, moved the weapon to his other hand, and swung it again so that it was lined up directly at Larek’s left leg. The Fusionist was in motion and couldn’t stop his dodge, and his mind quickly assessed what was happening and came up with two solutions.  The first was he could quickly form a Pattern shield using his Pattern Cohesion and block the blow, which he would prefer to avoid since it would be difficult to explain how he did it.  The second, and the one he went with, was just to let the blow hit him.

*Crunch*

The impact was worse than expected, as the wooden block slammed into his left knee, sending him spinning after a brief spike of pain that was dulled by Pain Immunity.  He rotated twice in the air before landing in a sprawl on the ground, and he immediately scrambled to sit up and defend himself in case Torge was trying to kill him.  If that was the case, then he would break out his Pattern constructs to prevent himself from dying.

When the Senior Instructor simply stood there looking down at him on the floor, the haft of the weapon he had hit Larek with snapped and barely holding on to the head of the hammer with a few splinters, he looked down to see his leg bent at the knee in a direction it wasn’t supposed to go. 

“What the hell was that for!?” he yelled, even as he used his hands to shift his leg back into the correct position so that it could heal.  He could feel that his Body Regeneration Skill was already kicking in and repairing the damage, though it would still take a few minutes to be fully healed; he, of course, could speed it up with his Healing Surge Fusion, but it was halfway across the room at the moment. 

Larek tensed up as the Senior Instructor dropped the broken weapon at his feet and walked toward the downed Fusionist, squatting and putting his arms on his knees as he stared at the healing leg.  “Hmm… that’s even more than I expected.”  The Drekkin mumbled to himself before he looked up into Larek’s eyes.  “You were holding back, weren’t you?”

“Huh?  What do you mean?”

The Senior Instructor just stared at him, as if he could look into his soul and pick out his lies.  “I don’t know exactly why you’re hiding your strength, but it stops now if you want training.”  He paused for a few seconds before he continued.  “I’ve been doing this a long time, and I’ve seen just about every type of Martial that you can think of, and probably a few that you can’t.  I know just how hard a Martial with 10 Strength should be able to strike me, and how fast someone with 80 Agility should be able to move.  I also know how to adjust my own strikes to inflict the precise amount of damage that I want to.

“That blow right there,” he said, pointing to Larek’s knee, “would’ve ripped off your leg if you had under 50 in your Body stat.  Based on the damage done to it, I would put your Body stat somewhere between 115 and 130, probably on the higher end.  When I look at how rapidly your injury is healing, I would put your Body Regeneration Skill between 35 and 45; by the fact that I didn’t see you howling in pain at the start, you also likely have the Pain Immunity Skill, something that is was rare even among the oldest Martials in the SIC.

“You’re also strong, but without actually taking a strike from you, I can’t be more accurate than saying that you have a Strength stat between 90 and 140.  Your Agility is tough, because you were hiding your speed earlier, but I saw a hint of it when you attempted to dodge my simple feint – something that you weren’t able to recognize, further demonstrating your lack of combat awareness.  My best guess is something over 100, but it could be as high as 135 if I didn’t see everything you’ve got.

“You also have a Dodge skill nearing or at 20, but you don’t know how to use it properly.  I’m assuming that your Throwing Skill was earned from something other than throwing knives, and you don’t seem to favor any particular weapon.  That being said, you showed a little bit of an Unarmed Fighting Skill during the first assessment, but I don’t believe that is your particular area of expertise.

“How am I doing so far?”

The Senior Instructor was correct in just about everything he said, which put Larek in a bit of quandary.  He had been trying to hide his power so that they wouldn’t ask too many questions about his high stats, but the Drekkin had seen right through his efforts; he wasn’t sure that the other Instructors during the evaluation had noticed, but he wouldn’t be surprised at this point.  In retrospect, it was their job to train Martials, so his attempted subterfuge was doomed from the start.

At least as far as his capabilities as a Martial went.  He still wasn’t comfortable sharing his other side with anyone at the Fort, especially as he got the vibe from Instructor Hasat that the man would immediately turn on him for suspicion of being affiliated with a Gergasi in some way.  The Drekkin, on the other hand, might just be someone he could confide in… but it was still too soon to tell.

“I’d say that you really know what you’re talking about,” he replied, feeling a few things shifting in his knee that were uncomfortable, but he could tell it was healing just fine.

“Good.  Now, while I’m curious as to what could’ve possibly allowed you to acquire as high of stats as you seem to possess at such a young age, I don’t really care.  What matters is what I can do with you, how I can mold you into a perfect Martial with capabilities that I hope will surpass even the greatest of those who worked for the SIC in the past.  I sense a greatness in you, Larek, that I’ve never sensed before.

“BUT!” the Senior Instructor practically shouted, locking eyes with Larek once again.  “I expect you to put in the work, to learn what I have to teach, and—most importantly—I need you to be honest with me.  I don’t need your life story, I don’t need you to share whatever secrets you’re attempting to hold onto, but I expect you to be upfront with whatever relates to your Martial abilities and Skills.  I can’t train you without having an accurate baseline to work with; otherwise, this won’t work.”

Larek thought about it for a second before he nodded.  He’d already shared most of what he was already going to, but if it came down to specifics like his actual Martial stats and relevant Skill levels, then he didn’t see a problem with that.  Especially when his Instructor seemed to have worked out most of them already.

“I can do that.  However, that’s not my major concern,” Larek said.

“Yes, I know,” Torge affirmed.  “I can train you to fight better than the pathetic flailing I saw earlier, but it’s your Stama and reliably accessing your Battle Arts that are the issue.  Thankfully, I think I have some ideas that we can try and see if they’ll work to break through your inability to manipulate your Stama.”

Something about what the Senior Instructor said about manipulating Stama resonated with Larek, giving him a hint of what he might be doing wrong.  He didn’t get a chance to think about it for more than a few seconds, however, as his leg finally finished repairing itself, and Drekkin held out a hand.  The Fusionist took it and allowed himself to be helped up; when he was on his feet, he realized for the first time that his borrowed clothes had been absolutely ruined.  There weren’t any bloodstains, but they had been cut into with the relatively sharp wooden weapons the other Instructors had been using during the evaluation.

Seeing him looking down at his clothing, Torge mentioned, “Don’t worry about it.  I’m just glad you didn’t ruin your other set.”

“No, they wouldn’t have been ruined,” he said matter-of-factly.  As soon as the words crossed his lips, he realized he’d probably said something he shouldn’t. 

“Oh, really?  Now this I have to see.”  Before Larek could say anything, the Drekkin had sped across the room and stood next to the trainee’s Fusion-filled clothes.  “Do you mind if I check them out?”

He’d already decided that he would try and be as truthful as he could with his new Instructor, which included the Fusions that he was in possession of.  That didn’t mean he had to admit that he was actually the creator, however.

“Go ahead; but I must warn you, it’s a bit of a rush—”

As soon as he gave permission, Torge picked up both his shirt and pants in either hand, immediately hissing in absolute shock.  It was a sound that reminded Larek of his experience underneath the Lowenthal desert and the Drekkin he’d met there, and he managed to keep the smirk off his face at the powerful Martial’s sudden lack of composure.

“T-thissss issss imposssssssible,” the Senior Instructor hissed while he spoke, but upon realizing what he’d done, he quickly corrected himself and banished the hiss from his speech.  “This is… do you have any idea what these Fusions can do?”

Larek nodded.  He knew from experience that his Omni Boost still worked on Martials, though long-term testing with a boost to Mage stats that they didn’t possess was still needed to ensure it didn’t hurt them.  “Yes, they double your stats.”

The Drekkin must not have actually checked them, only felt the difference in his body, because at that point the Senior Instructor’s eyes went a little vacant as he checked out his Status.  For the second time, Larek watched Torge lose his composure as he staggered backwards – as if he couldn’t believe what he was seeing.

“I… now see why you didn’t want to wear this during the evaluation,” the lizard-like man said after he regained his thoughts. 

Larek nodded again as he considered what else he might say about the Fusions on it.  He realized that he’d have to go over a little bit more than just the boosts, because it was something that he wouldn’t be able to wear during training.  Fortunately, he had some alternative options to replace some of what was on the clothing in his Void Pocket sack.

“But those boosts to Martial stats aren’t the only thing on them,” he said, walking up next to the still-astonished Drekkin.  “If you put on the shirt and tie the pants around your waist—as I don’t think they will fit over your legs and tail—I’ll show you what I mean.”

It took a few seconds for the Senior Instructor to do as Larek suggested, and fortunately the Fusionist was large enough that his clothes easily fit over Torge’s upper torso without any issues. The pants looked funny as they were tied together with the legs around his waist, but Larek saw that they were functioning just fine.

“Hold on, let me pick up one of these,” the Fusionist said, grabbing one of the throwing knives from where they had ended up earlier.  “Don’t dodge this, if you would.”  With the little practice he had earlier, Larek was easily able to throw the knife at the now-stationary Instructor, aiming right for his stomach.  To the trainee’s expectation, but the Drekkin’s shock, a block of ice appeared in front of Torge and repelled the thrown knife automatically, sending it ricocheting off at an angle.  As it clattered noisily to the stone floor, the Senior Instructor looked up from where he had just watched the ice block fall to the floor.  “Do that again.”

Larek smiled at the sheer excitement that the Drekkin showed as he had another half-dozen knives repelled by ice through the magic of the Automatic Ice Repulsion Field.  Larek had to stop after that though, because there was a limit to how much it could continue without having to wait a little.  Theoretically, he could’ve eliminated the Limiter on it, but it still drew a bit of ambient Mana upon its use; while it was denser in the Kingdom, it still wouldn’t be able to handle hundreds of uses within a few minutes.

“It can do a few more, but it has to, uh, recharge before it is at full power again,” he explained as best he could.  “As you can see, though, this was another reason why I didn’t want to wear it during the evaluation.”

“I do see that.  I’ve never heard of anything like this.  It’s miraculous.  Is there more?”

Larek smiled.  “A little bit more,” he said.  He was going to use a throwing knife for the next part, but they were actually a little dull.  “Do you have a sharp knife?” he asked.  Out of seemingly nowhere, but was actually from a sheath strapped to his back, the Senior Instructor pulled out a small knife, about 4 inches long.  “That should work.  Only using a small portion of your Strength, try to cut and then stab the shirt.”  Without hesitation, Torge did so, again surprised when it didn’t part underneath his blade.  “It’s not impervious, but it can hold up under some serious abuse.  I’m pretty sure if you put a little effort into it that you could cut it – but I’d prefer if you didn’t,” he added with a chuckle.

“It’s enough to know that it’s tougher than leather, if not some of the softer metals.”

“That it is,” Larek agreed.  “One last thing.  It also has a healing Fusion that—”

Whoa.  Upon mentioning healing, the Senior Instructor’s attention was fixed upon him so strongly that he felt like prey underneath the gaze of a predator.  “Healing?  Like this?”

Before Larek could say anything, the Drekkin used the knife to cut into and through the scales covering his arm.  Torge had to increase the pressure to the point where his knife’s blade nearly snapped, but eventually he was able to cut deeply enough that he started to drip blood all over the stone floor.  The Fusionist was about to explain how the healing worked, but it appeared as though the Senior Instructor already knew, as he watched the Healing Surge Fusion activate.  Within seconds, he was as good as new.

“Uh, yeah, like that.  Have you, perchance, used something like that before?” Larek asked, curious how he had figured it out so quickly.

Rather than answer that question, his new Instructor looked on with satisfaction at his now-healed arm and he smiled again at Larek.  It was the same smile he’d had after announcing that he was going to be handling the Fusionist’s training personally.

“You’ve just made your upcoming training all that much harder on yourself, I hope you realize that?  If we don’t have to wait for you to heal up… well, I think you can guess where I’m going with that.”

Uh, oh.  What in the world did I just sign up for?

His instructor rapidly took off Larek’s clothes and, with only a small hesitation, tossed them back to him.  “I have to look into a few things and rearrange some training schedules, but for now I want you to take it physically easy for the rest of the day.  Normally, I’d have you sparring with some of our other students, but with your high stats and non-existent combat awareness, it wouldn’t benefit any of you.

“Tomorrow, however, you’ll be starting with me as we begin your combat training.  This afternoon and this evening, I want you to continue trying to access your Stama, even if it feels like it isn’t productive.  I’d rather know that we’ve exhausted everything that you’ve been taught about subjugating your Stama before we attempt some more… extreme measures.  Any questions?”

Larek shook his head.

“Very well.  You should have a schedule ready to go for you tonight.  You’re dismissed.”

With a nod and a short bow of respect to the powerful Drekkin, Larek quickly jogged away after replacing his clothes.  He was hungry again and decided it was close enough to lunch time to eat, and then after that…

…most likely a very unproductive Stama experimentation session.  Still, things were looking up for him, as he had just been assigned a new Instructor that seemed as if they were willing to work with him despite his abnormalities.  In fact, Senior Instructor Torge reminded him a little of Grandmaster Fusionist Shinpai, at least in terms of capability and willingness to overlook some things that would make most others a bit cautious when dealing with him.

He just hoped he lived up to the powerful Drekkin’s expectations.


Chapter 35

Larek reviewed his schedule again as he finished up with breakfast.  Fortunately, it wasn’t that hard to remember, as more than half of it was working directly with Senior Instructor Torge.  As he looked around the sparsely populated Dining Hall, he wondered if anyone else received this kind of one-on-one attention. Immediately, he knew that it was unlikely that they did, so that could be another source of contention between him and the other students.  He already had his higher stats that made him stand out, but now with getting personal training from the Senior Instructor?

Yeah, that is probably going to be a problem.

While it had been a while since he’d been at Copperleaf Academy, let alone Crystalview, he still remembered how busy the Dining Halls were during mealtimes – and this was definitely only a fraction of the sometimes-crazy breakfasts, lunches, and dinners.  The biggest difference between his previous experiences and this wasn’t that they were Martials instead of Mages, but rather it was that they were a larger variety of ages.  He didn’t feel out of place for his age now, as he saw trainees ranging from age 12 or 13 to nearly 30, nor was he uncomfortable because of his height; instead, he felt slightly out of place because he was the newest arrival, sat by himself, and was the only one not dressed in at least some sort of protective armor – whether leather or something sturdier – and didn’t have a weapon on him.  He, again, left his favorite axe in his room instead of bringing it with him, not because he didn’t like it anymore, but because he figured he would be learning how to use something else.

Such as an actual weapon as defined by Martial Skills.

Larek could hear a few conversations about him coming from the different cliques that seemed to have formed among the trainees, though he fortunately didn’t have to put up with any of them coming over and attempting to bully the new kid, like Nedira warned him might happen—

“Hey, newbie!”

Larek closed his eyes and sighed, completely aware that he just jinxed himself with his thoughts.  He opened them a moment later and glanced over at the one who had spoken, discovering him to be a young man who appeared to be around Larek’s age, surrounded by three women from the Kingdom at another table. 

“My name is Larek.  How may I help you?” he asked politely, hoping to head off whatever confrontation this was going to turn out to be before it happened. 

“Larek, huh?  Lemme ask you sumptin’, alright?”  The young man’s accent was strange, but he understood it well enough; it was much better than the speech he heard from the Ectorians back in the Empire, at least.

He really wanted to respond to the question with, “You just did,” but he held his tongue.  “Go ahead,” he said instead.

“Do you wanna spar with us later?  Anastasia needs ‘nother Brawler to test herself against, and she’s too shy to ask.”

That was not anything like what he was expecting.  He was so shocked that he paused for a second to collect his thoughts before responding.  “Brawler?”

“Yeah, ya know, someone who uses they fists to fight?  I figured since ain’t got no weapon that ya punch things, like our ‘Stasia here.”

Larek looked at the women that were sharing the table with him, and he immediately picked out the one who the man was likely referring to.  She was staring at the table and not looking at him, as if she was too afraid to meet his eyes.  A sudden memory of his own social ineptitude back when he first attended Crystalview Academy flashed through his mind. While he wasn’t completely over those types of things, he remembered being shy and worried that he would cause offense if he simply spoke to someone.  He immediately felt bad for her, knowing firsthand how much that could affect your interactions with other people… but he wasn’t exactly sure if he was the right person for it.

“I wouldn’t mind that sometime, but this is technically my first real day here.  I guarantee I would not be a proper sparring partner right now, but hopefully when I’ve had a chance to learn more, I would be more fitting.”

“Ah, I’m sure ya will be fine!  You made it here, afta all!”

He shook his head.  “I’m here as, well, a special case.  And I’m technically not even a Brawler; I just don’t have a weapon that I’m proficient in yet.”

The four of them looked at him, even the shy Anastasia, in disbelief, which quickly turned to anger in the case of the young man.  “If you don’t wanna spar, you don’t have to lie ‘bout yaself. C’mon, let’s go,” he said, addressing the women, and they got up to leave after giving him frosty glares.

And here I was thinking it was that woman that had a bit of social ineptitude.  Apparently, I still know how to put my foot in my mouth without even trying.

Disappointed with his first real interaction with the other trainees, Larek did his best to ignore the looks as he finally decided where to put his available AP.  He had managed to increase his Throwing and Body Regeneration Skills each by one the day before, bringing them to 21 and 40 respectively; it was also enough to push him over into personal Level 36, netting him an additional 25 AP to spend on his stats.  As directed, he’d spent most of the remaining day before attempting to control or subjugate his Stama, with no luck; he held off spending his AP until he had time to think about it – and to review his upcoming training schedule.

Based on what he thought he would be doing, as well as considering what he was doing here at the Fort in the first place, he ended up placing 24 AP into his Martials stats, divided equally among them – bringing them all to 133.  As a result of his Body stat increasing, so too did his Pneuma, bringing it to 4,788 and 47,880 Pattern Cohesion when he had all of his boosts active.  His extra single AP he kept in reserve in case he found a need for it at some point in the future.

Overall, it was what he needed in order to survive his jam-packed training schedule.

Monster Knowledge/Aperture Closure – 9am to 9:50am

Classroom 102

Group Tactics – 10am to 10:50am

Training Hall 110

Stama and Battle Arts – 11am to 11:50am

Training Hall 115

Lunch – 12pm to 12:50pm

Dining Hall 1

Private Instruction/Strength and Body Training – 1pm to 1:50pm

Workout Gym B

Private Instruction/Agility Training – 2pm to 2:50pm

Obstacle Course A

Private Instruction/Weapon Training – 3pm to 3:50pm

Mock Arena 5

Private Instruction/Combat Awareness – 4pm to 4:50pm

Mock Arena 5

Private Instruction/Stama Subjugation – 5pm to 5:50pm

Training Hall 205

Independent Training – 6pm to 9pm

His schedule was dropped off by none other than the Senior Instructor the night before, who went over it with him briefly before leaving.  The main point that his new “mentor” of sorts wanted to impart to him was that while he would be attending a group Stama and Battle Arts class which was mandatory, Larek would use it more for an opportunity to see the two being used than to participate himself.  For attempts to learn how to control his own, that would wait until the end of the day.

Larek finished going over everything, and judging by the time, it was time for him to head to his first class.  As he left the Dining Hall, he received some additional glances in his direction from those who witnessed the confrontation earlier, but thankfully none of them appeared too hostile – more curious as to what had happened. 

Finding his first class was easy, as most of the classrooms and training areas that were being used were on the first floor; he had some private instruction from Senior Instructor Torge later on the second floor, but for the most part his training would be handled either on the first floor or in the outside training areas.  For Monster Knowledge/Aperture Closure, which he supposed was designed to teach trainees about the monsters they might face and the basics of closing Apertures, his lessons were inside a rather large classroom.

It turned out that the classroom was big enough to fit every single trainee at the Fort, all 286 of them once they all filed in to start the class.  Larek was wondering how this was going to work because everyone started at different times; that question was quickly answered as the entire trainee population was broken into 10 different sections within the room, all but Larek knowing where they were supposed to sit.  Each section contained those who arrived around the same time or had knowledge around the same levels, and 10 different Instructors oversaw these different sections. 

It was confusing at first, as it didn’t make sense to have everyone in the same classroom when they could’ve easily found different classrooms for each section.  Again, that was answered when the first 10 minutes was taken over by Senior Instructor Torge, who addressed the entire trainee population with news of the Kingdom, the state of the Calamities, and any new information regarding the nearby Apertures that might be pertinent. 

“…and so advancements have been made in suppressing the Calamity in the northeastern portion of the Kingdom, with the eventual goal of closing it.  The push toward those efforts has been a long time coming, but through the coordination of the remaining members of the SIC, in conjunction with local defensive forces, a plan has been put into place toward an all-or-nothing push toward the center.  For those graduating from your training in the next few months, this is likely the general area where you will be assigned, as any and all forces are going to be needed to ensure success.”

That was definitely news to Larek, and it seemed to be news to quite a few of the other trainees.  Many didn’t look happy to hear the information, and he could only assume that they were more inclined toward the ideals of the Defend Faction and liked the status quo, but he could be wrong.  They could also dislike the fact that they would be assigned to a place that was going to see a lot of dangerous action over the next few months, as that definitely would’ve made him angry if he learned about that when he was originally learning how to be a Mage.  Now, of course, he couldn’t care less about that kind of thing, because he was training in order to become stronger, and to eventually take on the Gergasi to get his family back.

If anything, that was going to be even more dangerous than trying to close one of the Calamities.

Larek discovered that the other reason they were in a big classroom was because the different section groups weren’t exactly static.  Individuals would drift from one section to another as they jumped ahead in some areas, or went back to a previous one for more information that they might have been lacking.

Naturally, his own section was basically the beginner course, and it was also the largest with a total of 39 people, including himself.  Instructor Paldin, the Instructor in charge of those who had been there less than a month, essentially handed out books that everyone had to study and went over the bare-bones basics of Apertures, which seemed like they were familiar information for some of them, but new to others.  For Larek, it was all easy enough to follow, and the knowledge about common monster types was more of a refresher than anything new; for the information about Apertures, it was all unnecessary.

If anything, with Larek being there during the first Aperture appearance and his experiences closing dozens of them all by himself, he could probably teach this portion of the class.  For now, though, he didn’t say anything about his knowledge, as he didn’t want to cause more of a scene than he already had in the Dining Hall, especially since he saw the strange-talking young man and the three women with him in a different section earlier.

After Monster Knowledge/Aperture Closure class came something called Group Tactics.  This took place in a similar Training Hall as the one in which he had performed for his evaluation, but this time it wasn’t the entire Fort’s worth of trainees.  Instead, just over 60 of them were in his class with him, and it consisted of demonstrations and discussions of tactics that would be best used in a group setting.  These included – or he was told would eventually be included in the future – formations for the best offensive placement, formations for the best defensive placement, strategies for taking down larger monsters, strategies for corralling and eliminating faster monsters, what to do when faced with a flying monster that is out of reach, how to overcome seemingly invulnerable opponents that are immune to physical damage, roles for Martials among a small group, tactics for handling damage output and defense while participating in much larger groups, proper defense priorities if forced to retreat, and identifying targets to ensure maximum damage output while protecting the more vulnerable members of the group. 

While only a small portion of that was covered during this first class, what Larek learned was eye-opening; he’d been part of groups before, of course, but he hadn’t really understood the nuances of group cohesion and strategies that the Martial Instructors taught.  He, at least, didn’t think he’d made any major mistakes in the past, but he was beginning to see that he definitely could’ve changed his role in the group at times, which would’ve improved the dynamics among them dramatically.

The only drawback to the class was that it was taught by Instructor Hasat, the same sword-wielding Instructor who didn’t like Larek during his evaluation.  Fortunately, other than a few disapproving looks in his direction when he arrived, he didn’t have to suffer through any embarrassment or harassment from the Instructor, so he could only hope that the man had put aside his personal feelings for now.

His last class before lunch, and before he started his private instruction with Senior Instructor Torge later, was Stama and Battle Arts – a class he was dreading because he couldn’t participate.  Fortunately for him, the even smaller class – around 30 trainees – in another Training Hall was taught by none other than Instructor Wendie, who was already aware of his inability to control his Stama.  As a result, he wasn’t called on at all, though this made him stand out a little; given that it was his first day, it wasn’t as bad as it could’ve been, however.

As for the class itself… it was worlds better than he expected.  Being able to use his Magical Detection Skill to accurately pinpoint the use of Stama, inside of what turned out to be a beginner class of Martials, let him see the beginning stages of Stama Subjugation inside the body. Of course, even though his fellow trainees were “beginners”, they were still able to cycle their Stama around their bodies, which he quickly learned was used to strengthen their bodies to better utilize the Stama when used in Battle Arts.  They could also direct it toward a body part to temporarily enhance its strength or durability by a small amount, such as having a minor Boost Fusion for a specific arm or a leg.  He was really beginning to understand what he had been told before back when he attended Crystalview, when he learned that Mana was manipulated outside of the body, while Stama was manipulated within.

Yes, as much as he observed, he was still frustrated in his attempts to do the same thing.  Sure, he could sense the Stama within his body, but whenever he attempted to grasp it to do what he wanted, it slipped through his mental control like it was a misty cloud.  The only time he actually had any kind of control was when he was activating his Battle Arts, and that was what he would consider to be a minor influence; it still seemed to have a mind of its own, but he had at least been able to direct it toward keeping him conscious and away from a scenario that promised certain death the last time he used it.  That small win wasn’t exactly what he called control, however.

Despite his failure to get anything going, he still felt like he was making progress as he watched the others directing their Stama around their bodies.  That, along with some thoughts on the process from the night before, made him curious to see what he could accomplish once he met with Senior Instructor Torge later. 

As if thinking about it made it happen, his Stama and Battle Arts class finished before he knew it, and he was off to lunch.  The Dining Hall was again only partially full, and while he didn’t garner any significant attention from those eating or hanging out until their next class, Larek still left as soon as possible so that he wouldn’t be late for his first private instruction class, Strength and Body Training.

I wonder what this class is all about?  I mean, I’m already strong and quite durable, so what is this supposed to train?

As he arrived and then waited in Workout Gym B, which seemed to be full of various contraptions, weights, and – for want of a better name – torture devices, he began to have an inkling of what was in store for him. 

The sight of the Drekkin’s now-familiar, vicious smile when he walked into the gym only confirmed that Larek was in for a rough time.


Chapter 36

Struggling back to his knees, Larek barely managed to raise his training sword to lightly block the incoming blow, as his strength had given out a while ago.  The impact against his sword pushed the wooden sword into his face, making his vision go slightly blurry as it crunched his nose.  He was barely aware as he fell onto his back, looking up at the sky above the Mock Arena that was located outside of the Fort’s building, his breathing ragged from exhaustion. 

After a few seconds, he felt something cover his face and he momentarily panicked, before he realized it was his original clothes, which he had replaced at the beginning of his training with Senior Instructor Torge hours—has it only been a few hours?—ago.  With a thought, he activated the Healing Surge Fusion on it, feeling his destroyed nose and numerous smaller wounds repair themselves.  Unfortunately, it did nothing to affect his exhaustion; if anything, using the healing Fusion made it worse.

A thump against his chest revealed itself to be a canteen of blessedly cold water, and as he sat up he practically inhaled the precious resource as if his life depended upon it.

“Good job today.”  The now-hydrated Fusionist looked over at the Senior Instructor, who didn’t appear to be the least bit tired from all the training, thinking murderous thoughts at the infuriating smile on the Drekkin’s face.  “Now, don’t get me wrong, you have horrible Strength and Body control, the application of your Agility for anything but pure speed is a joke, you look like you’ve never held a weapon in your life, and you remind me of a blind mole rat when it comes to your awareness in combat… but at least you didn’t complain even once.  That’s more than could be said for 99% of my other trainees, I’ll have you know.  Even better, I can abuse your body and you can simply heal up with that fancy Fusion of yours.”

As he stopped speaking, the Senior Instructor threw a large bag to him, which Larek barely caught in time before it slammed into his face.  Larek looked inside to see dried meat and what appeared to be freshly baked rolls.

“Eat up!  I need you to have some energy for when we start figuring out your Stama.  Don’t want you passing out on me, after all,” the Drekkin said with a chuckle.

Rather than say anything, the Fusionist tore into the provided food, scarfing it down to the point where he nearly choked, but he was able to wash it down with some more water.  In approximately ten minutes he was done, having finished off the entire bag – and was disappointed there wasn’t more.  He had expended a lot of energy over the last four hours, and his body was craving more food to replenish it; that being said, he was already feeling better than he had just a few minutes before, and he knew he would be more than capable of finishing his last class without collapsing.

As he adjusted his sitting self on the dirt surface of Mock Arena 5, which was like a miniature version of the dueling arena over at Crystalview Academy, he could already feel the changes in his body.  Or, more accurately, his control over his body – and it had only been a day!  It all started at the Workout Gym, where he spent the hour under the instruction of Torge, lifting weights, pushing and pulling large stones, and bending metal bars.  These exercises weren’t designed to make him stronger, but to refine his control over his own Strength.  Lift too strongly, and he could damage the weights; lift without enough strength, and he wouldn’t be able to shift the weights at all.  Push or pull a stone up an incline too weakly, and the stone could fall back and injure him; push or pull that same stone too strongly, and it could fall off the incline and break apart.  It was all designed to train him in applying just the right amount of Strength in his movements, and he really felt like he was making progress… up until he trained his Body.

Torture was what he called it instead of training, because training his Body involved a lot of hitting by metal and wood contraptions that rotated on a central axle in the middle of the Gym.  The idea was to move his body in ways that would minimize or completely avoid the painful arms that extended out from the rotating cylinder as the Senior Instructor rotated it with a wheel he spun – out of harm’s way, of course.  That entire experience was a lesson in temporary pain and bruises that layered on top of bruises, though even then he felt he was starting to learn a little bit by the time they moved on to his next class.

Agility Training took place in a shared space that had dozens of other trainees participating in an Obstacle Course.  It was essentially a long, indoor course filled with beams of wood, ropes, climbing walls, and even more rotating contraptions – though these weren’t designed to inflict punishing blows like the one in the Gym.  Instead, they were designed to knock people off the course, which was suspended 10 feet above the stone floor… with no padding or anything to soften the fall if someone was knocked off.

To say that Larek discovered that fact a few times would be an understatement.  Larek had known that Agility was more than just speed, as he could feel that his body became more flexible and stable as his stat increased, but he’d never actually used that flexibility and stability all that much.  With the obstacle course, though, he was forced to bend, stretch, and balance himself along thin wooden beams that a cat would have trouble moving across as he attempted to move his way through the obstacles.  While he wasn’t the worst of the trainees trying to make their way through the course, he could see that his only advantage was his higher Agility.  What made him realize he was far behind despite that was how those with 100 fewer points in that stat could demonstrate better flexibility and balance than he could.

Needless to say, he hit the floor plenty of times during the class, though he fell fewer times as he began to learn what was needed.  It was a slight improvement, but Larek could already feel the differences in how he held his body even while simply sitting down, as it felt even more comfortable.  He knew that this kind of training was exactly what he’d needed when he had originally been adjusting to his higher Martial stats, and even now, he knew that he had barely scratched the surface of what he could accomplish if he actually applied himself to learning how to control his body better.

After stat training came Weapon Training, and they moved to Mock Arena 5, where they were currently.  After being quickly taught a basic way to hold various training weapons, the Senior Instructor proceeded to beat, slice, or stab Larek while the trainee tried to simply defend himself, looking to see if there was a particular weapon that felt more comfortable in his hands.  To no surprise to the former Logger, it was an axe (of sorts) that felt the best in his hands – though it wasn’t a battleaxe.  Instead, it was a halberd, which basically possessed a curved axe blade on the end of a long pole, with a sharp stabbing point sticking out on top.  He thought he liked it because the pole reminded him of the Mage’s staves that he’d been using, while the axe blade was the closest he could find to his Logger’s axe that he was used to.

Even though it felt comfortable in his hands, that didn’t mean he automatically knew how to use it.  Because of its length, it was a bit awkward to use against the Senior Instructor, especially when they were a close distance apart, but he quickly realized that this weapon was designed with range in mind, as the idea was to attack from afar rather than up close like he was used to with his normal Logger’s axe.

Still, even though he was fairly confident that the halberd was the one he wanted to concentrate on, the Drekkin made him use all of the different training weapons so that he was familiar with them.  It was also why he was using a wooden training sword when they moved onto Combat Awareness in the next class, as he was told that it was the easiest weapon to start training his body to recognize threats and defend against them appropriately. He had no prior experience with using the weapon, so he couldn’t accurately say that it was better than anything else, but he was at least able to wave it around and get lucky, blocking an attack every once in a while.

The rest of the time, he was essentially getting beaten up by the Senior Instructor as he was trained to notice small movements that the Drekkin would make which would likely indicate how he was going to be attacked.  From there, they moved on to Larek wearing a blindfold and trying to listen to the Senior Instructor moving around him, at which he actually did quite well because of his Listening Skill, but the problem was that he didn’t know how to react properly.  Lastly, he spent at least 15 minutes straight being told to stand still and attempt to pinpoint where strikes would appear around him without turning his head – which was essentially a disaster.  All that ended with him on his knees and taking a sword to the face – which brought him to his current position. 

Overall, it had been exhausting, painful (until his Pain Immunity kicked in), and humbling, because he was so outmatched when it came to utilizing his high stats and what Skills he actually possessed in combat that they were basically nonexistent.  He thought that, even if he was wearing his clothes and using his best friend, the Senior Instructor would still find a way to absolutely wipe the floor with him.  It made his entire goal of getting stronger even more important, because if the Gergasi had even a fraction of the abilities that the Drekkin possessed, then he would have very little chance against them.  Even with powerful Fusions to help him, he had very little confidence in success at this point.

In addition to him starting to understand his body and his stats a little better, Larek also received some Skill improvements – and even obtained a new Skill when he used a bow during his Weapon Training class.

Ranged Weapon Expertise Skill has been unlocked!

Ranged Weapon Expertise has reached Level 1!

Ranged Weapon Expertise has reached Level 2!

Blunt Weapon Expertise has reached Level 2!

Blunt Weapon Expertise has reached Level 3!

Bladed Weapon Expertise has reached Level 4!

Bladed Weapon Expertise has reached Level 5!

Dodge has reached Level 27!

Body Regeneration has reached Level 41!

They weren’t huge gains, but every little bit helped.  The increases to his Weapon Expertise Skills were especially helpful, as he was fairly certain they were what helped him unconsciously feel a little more confident in using them, though he still had a long way to go before he could actually defend himself against the Senior Instructor.

“Rested enough?” the Drekkin abruptly asked once he was settled after eating.

Larek nodded, crossing his legs and placing his hands on his knees.  He guessed that this last class, Stama Subjugation, wasn’t going to be as active as the previous ones, and he turned out to be correct as his Instructor sat down across from him.

“Now, before we start, I need to know a few things,” Torge said, his serious voice softer compared to the gruff orders he had practically shouted during their earlier training.

Only slightly wary of the questions that might be asked, the Fusionist said, “Go ahead.”

“First, what is your Stama Subjugation Skill Level?”

Larek didn’t hesitate to answer.  “Level 2.”

With a nod, the Drekkin continued.  “Next, when was your Stama unlocked and who unlocked it for you?”

“It was unlocked….”  He paused for a second, only because he had do some mental calculations.  “I believe it was unlocked approximately four months ago.”  He wasn’t sure of the exact timeline, as he didn’t know exactly how long he was in the Sealance Empire and underneath the Lowenthal desert.  “As for who unlocked it, uh, no one did.  It was unlocked during a… traumatic incident.” 

Again, the Senior Instructor nodded.  “That’s about what I thought.”

“Really?”

“If you weren’t aware of it before now, there are two methods by which your Martial abilities can be unlocked.  The most common—by far—as well as the safest method is by having another Martial use their Stama to, for want of a better phrase, ‘unlock the door’ inside of a new Trainee’s body.  It’s fairly simple for someone to learn how to do it, but it also takes a large amount of Stama to do it correctly, and there is an inherent risk of foreign Stama harming the one who is undergoing the process.  Thankfully, this rarely happens, as those who know the technique are proficient enough in controlling their Stama well enough to prevent any harm from coming to either them or the one they are working on.

“The second, and more dangerous method, is what you experienced.  During traumatic or highly stressful events, which are typically life-or-death situations, the body is forced to embrace their Martial abilities in order to prolong their life.  While very rare, I’ve seen a few Martials – and even Mages – in the past who have undergone such an awakening of their latent potential, and they almost inevitably have issues of one kind or another.  Of course, once they figure out a way around their individual obstacles, they tend to be the most powerful of Martials and Mages, which is why I believe you are so advanced for your age and experience.”

That definitely made sense to Larek, even though his Instructor’s belief that his power came from his method of unlocking his Martial abilities wasn’t quite correct.  Not that he was going to mention that he was also a Mage, of course.

“Now, your particular issue is something that I haven’t encountered or heard of before, but I think we can work through it,” the Drekkin continued.  “Tell me, what does it feel like inside your body and what happens when you attempt to touch, let alone subjugate, your Stama?”

Larek thought about it for a few seconds, seeing if he could put it into words.  “It’s like a large pulsating source of energy in the middle of my chest, and when I attempt to reach inside and touch my Stama, the only sensation I can relate it to is putting my hand into a pond of water.  I can feel the wetness on my hand, but when I go to take a fistful with the intention of moving it around to do what I want, it simply drips away.”

“I see.  And what have you been envisioning when you attempt to subjugate your Stama?”

“Envision?  I’m not sure what you mean; I’ve just been attempting to forcibly take control of it, as I was taught.”  While he hadn’t technically been taught that, he remembered his conversation with Penelope and Bartholomew when they first discussed Stama and the Stama Subjugation Skill. 

“That’s almost correct,” the Drekkin said as he shook his head.  “While that is the end result, you need to have a purpose for taking control, other than just trying to subjugate Stama just for subjugation’s sake.  This purpose is what forms the Stama into the kind of energy that can be used in various ways, as you saw earlier in your Stama and Battle Arts class.”

After a little more discussion and explanation of what he needed to do, Larek took the lesson to heart and did what he’d been trying to do this whole time.  Envisioning the purpose he wanted for his Stama, he reached inside and attempted to gain control of the energy in his chest.  Lo and behold, after what felt like the millionth time doing this exact same thing, he—

—failed once again.  And Larek kept failing no matter how he adjusted what he was envisioning, how he approached his reservoir of Stama, or even tried a few other techniques that his Instructor prompted him to attempt.  In the end, while he was no closer to successfully subjugating his Stama, he still felt like his efforts were bearing fruit.

Why?  Because as he closed his eyes and perceived the volatile energy inside of his chest using his Magical Detection Skill, he began to recognize some similarities between it and the Mana that infused his entire body.  Just as he was starting to comprehend what exactly it was he was looking at, his introspection was interrupted by Torge.

“Well, that’s all for today,” the Senior Instructor announced loudly.  “We’ll continue with this class in Training Hall 205 from this point on; I didn’t want to move you after your exhaustion after Combat Awareness, which is why we were still here, but tomorrow will be different.  I don’t know what it is, but I can almost feel like you’re going to have a breakthrough tomorrow with your issue; I encourage you to continue studying your Stama and figuring out a way to subjugate it tonight – after dinner, of course.  I’m sure you’re still starving after all that today.”

Larek opened his eyes and nodded.  He also felt like he was on the cusp of figuring this whole Stama thing out; he just needed some time.  And food.

Senior Instructor Torge chuckled when he heard Larek’s stomach growl, before saying, “Dismissed.”

The Fusionist was up and out of the Mock Arena within seconds after grabbing his Fusion-filled clothes, his nose leading the way to the Dining Hall.  A scant 20 minutes later, he left the Hall, headed to his room, and sat on his bed, ready to spend the night contemplating his Stama.

As he unconsciously slid into the same hyper-focused state that he used for creating Fusions, the solution to all his problems suddenly came to him.


Chapter 37

“So, are you ready to try some other techniques for subjugating your Stama?”

Instead of being ready for disappointment yet again, Larek was actually anticipating this class all day.  His first few classes with other trainees had been very similar to the previous day, though he did receive quite a few more curious looks in his Stama and Battle Arts training; from the few conversations he overheard, they were wondering why he wasn’t participating – and why Instructor Wendie wasn’t taking him to task for it.  He ignored the whispers and used the time to observe the other trainees instead, which continued to firm up his belief that he had found the solution to his own Stama problem.

He hadn’t actually accomplished anything yet, even after an epiphany the night before, but he had a good feeling about his chances in his Stama Subjugation class.  He was so preoccupied with his thoughts on his Stama that he barely cared that he was subjected to another intense and physically draining training session with Senior Instructor Torge.  If anything, his preoccupation allowed his instincts to take over as he practiced regulating his strength and adjusting his body to get through the obstacle course, reaching farther than the day before.  There was even one section that he’d gotten to that included Instructors throwing fist-sized wooden spheres at him as he walked along a thin wooden beam, designed to teach trainees how to dodge projectiles while actively moving, and he managed to get across with only a few hits.  He even managed to keep his balance despite the impacts being hard enough to leave temporary bruises, which earned him some minor accolades from a few of the other trainees.

Every other private instruction he participated in showed marked improvement in his handling of weapons and combat awareness – though he still ended up battered, bruised, and laid out on the floor time and again by the superior abilities of the Drekkin training him.  Still, both his better stat management and a few more increases in his Martial Skill Levels had shown a visible improvement in the way he moved in combat – at least in his own eyes.  He was sure he was still pathetically awkward and slow compared to many of the other trainees, let alone the Instructors, but he could already feel himself getting better. 

Now, it was time to work on his other major obstacle: his Stama.

“I actually think I figured something out last night, though I haven’t tried it yet,” he said in response to his Instructor’s question about attempting some new techniques.

As the Drekkin had mentioned before, instead of staying in Mock Arena 5 for this portion of the training, they had moved to the relatively quiet, empty space of Training Hall 205.  It wasn’t a very large “hall”, more like a 50 foot by 50 foot room constructed of stone with a few thin mats sparsely scattered about, but it was more than enough for just the two of them. 

“Oh, and what is that?”

Larek hesitated to say anything, because if he told the truth, it would out him as a Mage.  While he was beginning to believe that the Senior Instructor wasn’t one to freak out over that knowledge, and might even be an ally in his journey to improve all aspects of himself, he wasn’t quite ready to reveal that information.  If his idea worked, then the explanation would almost require sharing that secret, but he didn’t want to overcommit until he knew it worked for sure.

“It’s… something new, and I’m not even sure it will work,” he deferred.  “If it does, then I’ll try to explain it a little better.”

“Just make sure you don’t hurt yourself permanently or allow your Stama to take control, or you may never get it back,” the Drekkin warned, and Larek nodded in affirmation.

Taking a deep breath, the Fusionist closed his eyes and entered a hyper-focused state, concentrating on his body and the Stama welled-up inside of it.  This was what he had done the night before in his room when he had an epiphany, but it wasn’t until now – when he had someone nearby to help in case anything went wrong – that he was going to do anything about the knowledge he learned. 

Using his Magical Detection Skill, he confirmed what he was seeing with what he had figured out.  He looked at the density of energy around the area, seeing the strands of light that marked the ambient Mana that was available.  More accurately, what he was seeing was the floating energy that was released from the world of Corruption that opened Scissions and then Apertures all over the world.  He had noticed this before in the Sealance Empire, as the multicolored strands seemed to change in appearance when they entered a Mage’s body and then changed in a different way when it entered a Martial’s body.  He had already deduced that this free-floating energy was basically converted into Mana or Stama when the body absorbed it from the environment, but it didn’t really *click* in his mind until last night.  The only excuse he could think of as to why it hadn’t occurred to him until now was that it hadn’t really mattered at the time of his discovery of the multicolored strands, as he had been more focused on Mana density than anything else – which had been a mistake.

What he should have realized but hadn’t was that both Mana and Stama were two sides of the same energy that infused the world.  In simpler terms, his Mana felt like a tranquil river flowing lazily through his entire body, while his Stama had the sense of being a raging inferno contained in a relatively small space in his chest.  Whenever he let his anger or intense emotions overwhelm him, it pierced through the container of his Stama and released it throughout his body, where it seemed to have a mind of its own in the way it was used. 

And it was the truth behind that concept, of it having a mind of its own, which led him to discover what he had the night before. 

It was all Corruption.  When it entered his body as Mana, it was pacified and tamed by his mental abilities, which were reflected in his stats.  In other words, his mind took it in, dominated it and told it to behave, and it did. 

When it entered his body as Stama, however, it wasn’t influenced by his mental stats but by his physical stats, which left it charged with the powerful strength of his physical body.  Instead of being tranquil and tame, it was like a wild animal, and only by subjugating it by accessing those same stats would it obey a Martial’s commands, moving to where it was instructed to go.  That was also why he was warned by both Penelope and Bartholomew that the higher Stama someone had, the stronger the pushback the Stama had against the person controlling it; with higher stats to feed off of when it entered his body, it would therefore be that much harder to subjugate.

Therein lay the problem.  Having obtained Stama when his Martial stats were already quite high, and then making no active attempt to subjugate it once it was in its body, his Stama was now wholly independent and wouldn’t listen or react to anything he did to it.  Essentially, it had a mind of its own and wasn’t interested in being under the thumb of anyone.  It seemed to have a small sense of self-preservation, which was why it didn’t do anything that would cause him to outright die or lose complete control, but it was otherwise going to do what it wanted to.  The fact that it hadn’t simply taken over at all times was due to the fact that it was locked away, only accessible when his intense emotions – which he recently realized were influenced by his Dominion magic – cracked open the barrier around his Stama and released it into his body.

It wasn’t until he really entered his hyper-focused state and discovered that the barrier around his Stama wasn’t just some sort of metaphysical shell made of hopes and dreams. 

No, it turned out that the containment of his Martial energy was none other than a thick barrier of Mana.

At first, he wasn’t sure if he was correct, because how could the peaceful energy of his Mana ever contain the wild, destructive energy of his Stama?  Was it the same in everyone else?

Observing other trainees using their Stama and looking closer with his Magical Detection Skill at the pool of their energy in their bodies, he discovered that they didn’t.  Instead, it was purely their Stama Subjugation Skill that allowed them to contain their Stama in their bodies until it was needed, an unconscious control that kept it on a leash.  So, why was his different?  Well, because of the way his Mage side was awakened, it also activated his Martial side most of the way; but since it wasn’t done with an initial influx of foreign Stama – which he deduced was actually designed to teach his body how to subjugate the Martial energy – his body had to adapt.  Instead of subjugating his Stama, his Mana simply contained it and locked it away so that it wouldn’t harm anyone.

Because his mental stats had always been higher than his Martial stats, his mind had been able to easily contain his dangerous Stama.  It was only through times of stress that the shell cracked open – but it was also his newest Battle Art, Tactician Mind, that allowed him to boost his mental stats enough to partially counteract the boosts to his physical stats to influence his actions somewhat while he was being controlled by his Stama. 

So, what was it that he needed to do to finally access his Stama?  All of this knowledge he had gained from observation and introspection led to one quite simple conclusion, and it was the basis from which he was going to finally control that which had slipped through his grasp time and time again.

And that conclusion was what he already knew, but hadn’t acknowledged: Mana and Stama were one and the same.  It was only what stat ultimately influenced them that made the difference. 

If that was the case, then he could also draw some parallels to the Skills that dealt with them directly: Mana Control and Stama Subjugation.  Mana Control hadn’t exactly been easy to acquire, but once he had it, it made controlling his Mage energy almost effortless.  With Stama Subjugation, he had to give up the thought that he could ever master the Skill enough to actually control his large Stama pool; the time for establishing dominance over his Stama through the use of the Skill was long past.  For any other Martial, his body would’ve been crippled by the lack of control, if it hadn’t already ripped him apart by the destructive strength of raw physical energy.

But Larek wasn’t just any other Martial.  His Mage energy had been able to contain but not directly control his Stama, preventing him from being crippled or killed by it.  But they were both energies with different… flavors, he supposed, but energy, nonetheless.

What did that mean? Well, if there was anything he was good at, it was directing energy to follow a particular pattern to achieve a desired result.

In other words, he was going to use a Fusion to achieve control.  But instead of powering it with Mana, he was going to use Stama.

Foolhardy?  Probably.  Dangerous?  Certainly.  But did he think it would work?  Yes; yes, he did.

Why did he believe he could do this in the first place?  Because he had already been manipulating his Martial stats for a long time now through his Boost Fusions, and they directly influenced his Stama pool.  He had been told before that Stama Subjugation wasn’t a Skill that could be boosted by a Fusion, which he certainly understood why; it was something that couldn’t be artificially enhanced, as it had to do with the Martial’s control over their own stats – just like he was learning from Senior Instructor Torge. 

But he was confident enough in his abilities as a Fusionist to create an aid in conjunction with his Skill, a way to train Stama Subjugation so that it could be used properly.  It would be a way around the limitations he currently had when it came to controlling his Stama, while using his strengths at the same time.

As he prepared himself to start, he could sense his Instructor getting closer before laying a hand on his shoulder for direct contact; he mentally sighed in relief that Torge already knew why he wanted to do this with someone else present.  The Drekkin, having much more experience with Stama and manipulating it outside of his body and in someone else’s, would be able to monitor him in case something went wrong and Larek’s Stama was let loose throughout his body without any control. 

Now that everything was settled, he began to create the Fusion he had been thinking about all day.  It was a relatively simple one, compared to some he’d created lately, but it was also the most different.  First and foremost, he was going to be making it inside of his body, something he’d never done before; he knew that it could be done after placing a Fusion on both Kimble and Nedira, though this was going a lot harder because it wouldn’t be attached to skin or bone.  Instead, it would be attached to the flesh inside of his body that surrounded where his Stama was located. 

Secondly, instead of being flat and two-dimensional like usual, he had mentally designed a spherical formation.  For the first time ever, one of his Fusions wouldn’t have sides, but would be attached in a way that it formed a perfect sphere, which would allow the connections among all of the different segments to flow naturally and much smoother than normal. 

Last, and probably the most important difference, was that instead of Mana Cost, he was including a Stama Cost element to the formation.  This was because he wasn’t planning on using Mana to initially fuel the Fusion, and it would be maintained by ambient Stama – just like his other Fusions used ambient Mana. 

There were three Effects that he was using in his formation, the first of which was the same void carrier camouflage he’d used on his other Fusions, as it would hide what he was creating from prying eyes.  While it would be using Stama instead of Mana, any Mage would be able to see the Pattern Cohesion he would be investing into the Fusion, and he wanted to avoid anyone noticing it; thankfully, they wouldn’t be able to see Stama being absorbed from the nearby area, so it would essentially be invisible.

The second Effect was based on the Void Pocket he’d created earlier, with the flexible net that contained the storage space inside the Fusion.  Instead of it being used in the void, it was instead going to be used to contain all of the Stama in his body inside of the Fusion.  Since it would be powered by Stama and framed with Pattern Cohesion, he figured it would be strong and flexible enough to handle all of his Stama – as well as any that might be added in the future.

The last Effect was modeled after his understanding of Stama Subjugation, Mana Control, and even Pattern Manipulation.  Because Stama was a bit volatile and had a mind of its own, especially in large, concentrated quantities, this Effect had two purposes: 1. To release the Stama in smaller quantities, adjustable to 5 different Magnitudes with mental phrases; and 2. To exert mental control over the smaller quantities of Stama released and have it go where he wanted it without it taking over his body. 

This was the portion that was the hardest, because while he had a basic understanding of how Stama Subjugation worked, he’d never actually been able to do much more than influence it slightly.  Still, his experience controlling his Mana and his Pattern Cohesion filled in some of the gaps, though he knew it wasn’t going to be perfect.

At least not at first.

Which was the reason for the different Magnitudes of releasing his Stama.  He was well aware that even with this Fusion, it couldn’t replace a Skill in its entirety, but having smaller amounts of Stama to work with would be much easier than trying to subjugate his entire Stama pool all at once.  It was with this method that he would be able to slowly release Stama that he could manipulate and slowly increase his Stama Subjugation Skill over time, eventually allowing more and more Stama to be released over time as his control improved.

Adding in an Input for detecting mental phrasing, Variables for the different phrases, a Permanent and a Reactive Activation Method, and 1 through 5 Magnitudes, he was all set. Assembling it with his mind’s eye inside of his chest was difficult at first, but his familiarity with his own body made the process easier as he constructed the spherical Fusion around his pulsating Stama pool, and he took special care to ensure that it was connected correctly and that all of the Stama pathways would allow the energy to flow freely.

It was at this point that he realized he should’ve practiced both creating a spherical Fusion and using Stama to power on something that wasn’t the inside of his chest, but he pushed that aside as he finished the last of his triple-checking for any errors.  When there didn’t seem to be any issues, he took another deep breath and concentrated on the Mana barrier around his Stama pool.

He could feel the sweat dripping down his cheek as he performed the most delicate portion of this entire process.  After discovering that his Stama was surrounded and contained by his Mana, he realized that he could easily pierce through it by using his Mana Control to make a hole in the barrier; of course, doing that without being able to subjugate his Stama could be a disaster, especially as he’d seen before that his Stama was destructive and liked to force itself out of any cracks to escape completely.  He had originally thought about the Effect he eventually put in this Fusion as a way to let out tiny amounts of Stama to see if he could subjugate those amounts, but it was just too dangerous.

But now he was doing it on purpose.  Piercing the Mana barrier in a tiny area right around where the Stama Cost section of his Fusion was located, he mentally winced as his little hole ended up popping the barrier completely, like a soap bubble poked by his finger.  He was suddenly glad that he hadn’t attempted this without preparation, because he wasn’t sure what would’ve happened – he might have even died.

As it was, though, his Fusion greedily sucked in nearly all of the Stama that was released, a lot sloppier than when he funneled Mana into a formation.  Some of it drifted outward into his body, and he suddenly felt an intrusion of foreign Stama in his body as Torge rapidly corralled and pushed the wayward Stama back into the Fusion; the Drekkin couldn’t actually see where he was pushing it, since he couldn’t observe Pattern Cohesion, but he certainly felt something when the Stama he had pushed into Larek was sucked up as well. 

The Senior Instructor gasped in surprise, but Larek was too involved with maintaining the integrity of the Fusion to pay attention to outside distractions.  As the Stama was absorbed into the Stama Cost section, the volatility of the physical energy showed that it wasn’t exactly meant for this kind of activity; it immediately began to try and break apart his formation, shaking the entire thing like it was trying to escape through whatever means it could find.  His hyper-focused state was the only thing that allowed Larek to keep it all together, forcibly holding the formation in one cohesive whole without letting the Stama get its way.  He belatedly thought that if he had tried this even a month ago, the formation would’ve shattered from the internal pressure; as it was, his focus and Skills were just barely enough.

It also apparently took massive amounts of Pattern Cohesion to withstand the internal pressure, as thousands of his Cohesion streamed in from around his body and into his new Fusion, to the point where it began to worry him that he’d bitten off more than he could chew.  Even as more ambient Stama was absorbed from the environment and sent directly into the Fusion, the drain on his precious resource continued.  5,000, then 10,000, and finally 15,000 Pattern Cohesion moved into the formation within 30 seconds; when it reached 20,000, he began looking for a way to make it stop, as he currently only had 23,940 Pattern Cohesion, as he wasn’t wearing his boosting Fusions because of his previous training.

It was a mistake he wouldn’t make again if he lived through this.

Thankfully, at 22,000 Pattern Cohesion consumed in the creation of the Fusion, he felt the absorption of Stama into the Fusion slow down, before stopping altogether.  As his Stama began to gather in his pool again and with the Mana barrier gone, he had to hurry.  Struggling to keep the entire formation together as it felt like it was going to explode at any moment, he attached it to his internal flesh, which mostly settled over his heart.  When it was as perfectly placed as possible, he forced it to finish as he delicately let it go.

Rather than the normal *click* as it settled where he wanted it without exploding, there was a deep *thump* that he could feel throughout his entire body, followed by an invisible shockwave of energy as all his Mana and Stama was expelled from his body simultaneously, disturbing the multicolored strands of light that permeated the environment.

It was only the Senior Instructor’s hand on his shoulder that kept him upright as his vision went blurry and a wave of exhaustion flowed through his entire body.  He slumped in place, too tired to move and too mentally strained to check on his new Fusion.

All that mattered at that point was that he was still alive and it hadn’t exploded, so he figured that it had been at least a partial success.

“What… what did you do?”

When he was finally able to gather his thoughts and sit up again without wanting to collapse into a pile of exhausted goo, Larek sought out to answer that same question for himself.


Chapter 38

The first thing that Larek looked at before acknowledging his notifications was the results of his new Fusion.  A thorough introspection revealed the tight weave of the Fusion’s formation surrounding the source of his Stama inside of his chest, pulsing with the replenishing energy that automatically refilled from the ambient power in the environment.  As he watched it work, he witnessed it pull in ambient Stama just like his other Fusions absorbed ambient Mana, and it cycled the volatile energy throughout the formation just as he expected.

What he didn’t exactly expect was the feeling of leashed power straining at the Pattern Cohesion that comprised the structure of the Fusion, as if it was keeping a dangerous animal on a leash.  Thankfully, the incredible strength and sturdiness of his Pattern Cohesion inside of his Fusion was more than up to the task; at the same time, he knew that if any other Fusionist tried something like this, it would’ve burst apart within seconds – if they could even get it to come together in the first place without falling apart.

Larek also noticed that his spherical design, which allowed the Stama to flow freely throughout the entire formation, aided in its stability.  He was fairly certain that it was what allowed it to function in the first place, and he was doubtful that making a flat, two-dimensional Fusion on another material using Stama would inevitably degrade and fall apart in a short amount of time.  What that meant was that, although he had used Stama as an energy source for a Fusion for the first time, he likely wouldn’t be using it again in the future.  It was just too dangerous of an energy source, and he wouldn’t have used it if it wasn’t necessary – and it really was necessary, as the proof was clear in the way the Fusion served its purpose.

In other words, Larek’s Stama was perfectly contained inside of the spherical Fusion without even a hint of leakage.  He could still sense it and even reach out to it, but it was now safe and secure inside an artificial container of his own making.  More than that, the shell of Mana that had held it separate before was nowhere to be seen, meaning that it was really and truly safely partitioned off. 

That didn’t mean it was any less dangerous, of course.  There was a reason it had to be contained this way, after all, and there was no way to really test it without activating the other Effect of the Fusion, which was to release small amounts of Stama so that he could work with it, rather than trying to wrestle with the entire pool all at once.  That was what had been the issue before, as his efforts of subjugating his entire Stama pool had been futile; if this Fusion worked the way he designed it, he could slowly work his way up to that point, taking his chance at using piecemeal helpings of Stama so that he could finally utilize it properly.

Or so he hoped.

After seeing that it was functioning at least enough to keep his Stama contained, he backed away from his introspection and looked at his notifications.

Magical Detection has reached Level 44!

Magical Detection has reached Level 45!

Pattern Manipulation has reached Level 56!

Pattern Recognition has reached Level 46!

Pattern Recognition has reached Level 47!

Spellcasting Focus has reached Level 42!

Spellcasting Focus has reached Level 43!

Multi-effect Fusion Focus has reached Level 57!

……

Multi-effect Fusion Focus has reached Level 60!

Pattern Formation has reached Level 63!

Pattern Formation has reached Level 64!

Fusion has reached Level 63!

Fusion has reached Level 64!

Stama Subjugation has reached Level 3!

The influx of Skill increases had been powerful when he received them, though his exhaustion and the use of most of his Pattern Cohesion to fuel the Fusion had made them a secondary sensation at the time.  Still, he was happy to see that he had improved most of his Mage Skills once again, with the most notable absence being Mana Control – because he had been using Stama, not Mana, to fuel the formation.  What was surprising, however, was that he also gained a Level in Stama Subjugation, which brought it up to 3; he could only assume that it had something to do with how he had forcefully funneled his Stama toward the Stama Cost section of his Fusion, something that he didn’t really have all that much direct control over, but he wasn’t going to complain about it.

Once he was done looking through his notifications, he couldn’t help but notice that something was absent.  The Fusionist perused them again, just to make sure he hadn’t missed it, but it wasn’t present.  He then checked his Status, only to find that it wasn’t listed there, either.

For some reason, there was no sign of him having learned a new Fusion.

He wasn’t sure if it was because it couldn’t exactly be defined, or if it was because it was created inside of his own body, or because it was fueled by Stama instead of Mana, but the end result was that it didn’t seem to exist.  His Status seemed to understand that he had done something significant, hence the Skill increases, but he could only assume that it couldn’t define what he had actually done.

Checking on all that took about 10 seconds, and Larek cleared his throat as he finally answered his Instructor.  “I… think I now have access to my Stama,” he explained.  “I don’t know how effective that access is just yet, but it is something I will need to discover with your help.”

“Yes, but what did you do?  I can sense a change in your Stama, but I’m unsure exactly what you did.”  Torge paused for a second before he continued, tightening his grip on Larek’s shoulder.  “You may have your secrets, but in order to train you properly, I need to know.”

While Larek didn’t think that the Senior Instructor needed to know everything in order to continue his training, the Drekkin certainly had a point.  Up until now, he had kept knowledge of his dual nature as a Mage and Martial contained to only a few people, all of them people he trusted to keep that knowledge to themselves.  It wasn’t for his sake that he asked them to keep it to themselves, though it was that in part, but because it was safer for them if his secret didn’t get out.  Evidence of that was plain enough based on how they had their memories of him suppressed, and it was only through his acceptance of being taken away that they escaped with their lives. 

Even now, enough was known about the Gergasi that almost everyone knew that they weren’t only giants that had mind-controlling powers, but were also extremely powerful – because they had the traits of both Mages and Martials.  Being revealed as even a half-Gergasi could cause problems, especially with those who originated in the Kingdom, though fortunately he’d mostly taken care of his height problem identifying him.  But there would be no denying his heritage if it became known that he was both a Martial and a Mage.

On the other hand, there were people who lived in the Kingdom who hailed from other lands who didn’t really care about his origin – or didn’t care enough to want to immediately kill him for it.  The Drekkin, Torge, could be that type of person; Larek had already considered revealing some of what he could do to the Senior Instructor once he got to know him a little better, but after what he’d just done, there was very little benefit in hiding at least some of his abilities, and it would be better if he came clean.

If worse came to worst, he might have to flee, but he’d already gained so much at the Fort that he would consider what he’d gone through worth it.  But if things worked out… then he could gain even more than he originally expected.

Larek took a deep breath, steadying his nerves.  “Sit down, if you would,” he finally asked of the Senior Instructor.  “I have something important to tell you.”

The Drekkin’s scaled hand remained on the Fusionist’s shoulder for a few more seconds before he walked in front of Larek and squatted down on his haunches, staring intently at the trainee.  “I’m listening.”

Larek reordered his thoughts, trying to figure out how to start the conversation.  In the end, answering Torge’s initial question seemed like the best way.  “First of all, in answer to what I did, I created a Fusion to not only contain my Stama, but to help regulate the amount of Stama released from its containment so that I can more easily subjugate it – at least until my Stama Subjugation Skill increases.”

Expecting disbelief, anger, or outright denial accompanied by laughter at such a claim, Larek was surprised when the Senior Instructor did neither.  “I see.  Go on.”  His face was impassive, showing no sign of what he was thinking.

Larek debated how much to tell him, but in the end, he decided to simply tell the Drekkin everything.  Or at least most of it: He left out his history with other people, including their names, as he didn’t want to get them in trouble; if the Senior Instructor sold him out, then it would only be him that would be in trouble, and not others, such as Nedira. He also left out his abduction by Chinli and the exact nature of his teleportation to the Empire, because he didn’t fully understand what exactly had happened there, but he included most of the rest. 

“…and so, you might be wondering how it is that I have the abilities of a Mage and a Martial—” he wrapped up his explanation, but the Senior Instructor cut him off.

“You’re a Gergasi.  Or at least partly; you don’t have the height.”  Thankfully, the Drekkin didn’t seem all that angry about it.

“I’m what they call a half-breed.  My mother was a Noble that was, uh, forced to breed with one of the Gergasi before she escaped. Unfortunately, some time ago, her location was discovered and my entire family was taken prisoner; now, I want to get strong enough to rescue them.  What that means is going up against the Gergasi directly, and I already know that I’m no match for them without the knowledge of how to properly utilize my Martial abilities.”

For the first time, Torge showed some emotion; his expression turned angry as Larek spoke about his family.

“Your nestmother and nestmates are prisoners?”

It took him a second to understand what he meant by that, but eventually remembered that was what the Drekkin called their family.  “Yes.”

“Then I will help you,” the Senior Instructor said immediately in response.  “But I need to know the extent of your capabilities as a Mage and what you can do with Fusions.”  He paused and cocked his head to the side as he looked at Larek with a different gaze.  “Are you the one that made the healing Fusions?  The one from years ago at Crystalview Academy?”

The Fusionist ducked his head.  “Uh, yeah, that was me.”  He was prepared to be reprimanded again for his role in destroying a portion of the Academy.

“And you were the one who created all the Fusions on your clothes?”

Larek nodded.

“Then I think we can work with that.  How confident are you in controlling your Stama now?”

Hesitating only a second, the trainee said, “In small amounts, I think I should be alright.  The problem is, I don’t have any practice ever using it in my body or for any Battle Arts.”

“That’s fine.  It’s what we’re here to do, after all.”  Torge stared at Larek for a moment.  “Before I commit to helping you even more than I had previously planned, I need something from you.”

Larek bristled at the mention of his Instructor needing something, but he pushed his hesitance away.  He wanted to train, after all, and while he didn’t expressly say it, the Fusionist had implied that he wouldn’t be using it to help against the Calamities, but for rescuing his family from the Gergasi.  So, as long as it wasn’t something that would cause him or his friends harm, he would consider it a fair trade.  “What do you need?”

“Those healing Fusions – can you make more?  We have one left from what was given to us after the Scission attack, but we were told not to use it any more except in an emergency; the thought was that it would stress the Fusion too much and destroy it.”

Larek smiled, thinking that they still had one of his original Healing Surge Fusions, but that quickly turned into a frown.  “Who told you that?  If they had seen it, they would’ve known that frequent use wouldn’t stress that Fusion enough to degrade it.  If it was a more powerful Magnitude, or channeled ambient Mana in larger, sudden bursts, then that could be a possibility over time – but not the Healing Surge Fusions I created back then.”

At least, he was fairly certain of that; he hadn’t seen one of his original Fusions he’d made at Crystalview Academy in years, so it was possible that they did eventually start to degrade – but he somehow doubted it.

“It was Dean Wilburt from Crystalview Academy.”

“Ah.  Yeah, that explains it,” Larek said.  “He had it out for me and most other Fusionists from the beginning.  After I accidentally blew up a portion of the building, I’m guessing he started including Fusions in general in that dislike.”

The Drekkin hissed suddenly, and it took the Fusionist a second to realize he was laughing.  “That was you?  He never did fully explain what had happened.”

Larek chuckled along with him.  “Yeah.  I didn’t know what I was doing back then, and I stacked up hundreds of Healing Surge Fusions on the roof.  When one was destroyed by the Scissions, it blew up and created a chain reaction that led to the catastrophic destruction of the others.”  He sobered up a second later as he realized how that sounded.  “But I’m much more experienced now, as well as more careful,” he reassured the Senior Instructor.

“I’ve felt your Fusions, so I know you’ve had to have improved,” Torge agreed. “You haven’t blown yourself up with any of your other Fusions, after all.”

“True… at least, not accidentally,” he added with a wink.  “But getting back to the Healing Surge Fusions, I can certainly create them – but what about Dean Wilburt?  Won’t he have a problem with them?”

“He has no say over what we do or do not use at the Fort,” the Drekkin assured him.  “He can only make suggestions, which was what he did with the healing Fusion we were using before.  We didn’t know any better, and being the authority in the area on such things…”

“…you followed his suggestion and stopped using it.  Makes sense, I suppose.  So, you’re not worried about flagrantly using the healing Fusions?  I assume that you want them for the other trainees, so that they can train longer without worrying about major injuries?”

“Precisely.  As long as they work, I don’t care about what the Dean says about it.”

“Alright, I can do that.”  He held up a finger.  “But, I want to make sure that my name and presence here stay a bit more private.  If you’re going to be using the healing Fusions, word will likely get out to the Academy, and therefore the Dean will hear of it, and as I said before, we don’t exactly have the best history.”

“We can do that.  There’s no reason to share where we got them from, and we operate independently enough that he cannot demand the answer from us.”

Larek was as satisfied as he could be.  He debated offering to create some other Fusions, such as stat-boosting ones, for the trainees, but held off because he realized that would only be a handicap for those learning how to utilize the stats they did have.  While Mages could certainly benefit from higher stats early on, he knew from experience that higher Martial stats meant a harder difficulty learning how to utilize them.  Once they had the experience and training – which was what he was currently learning now – then they would be beneficial, but for now, they would harm more than help.

“Well, then, if you’re in agreement, let’s get started.”

Bargaining has reached Level 11!

“Taking a small bit of your Stama, I want you to use your Stama Subjugation to start circulating it through your entire body, never keeping it in one place for long.”

As Larek listened to his Instructor’s orders, he was able to squeeze a little bit of his Stama out of his pool using the Magnitude 1 Effect of his new Fusion.  At Mag 1, only 1% of his total Stama pool was released, but even that was almost too much for him to control.  Thankfully, he managed to corral it all together in a small blob of volatile energy that wanted to slip out of his mental grip, but he could feel his Stama Subjugation Skill kick in and grab ahold of it completely. 

For the first time ever, the Fusionist was able to start moving that tiny blob of a measly 26 Stama around his body, feeling it subtly affecting each of his body parts as he went. 

Stama Subjugation has reached Level 4!

I did it!  After all this time, I can finally control my Stama!

He still had a lot of training he needed to go through to become even halfway competent in using it correctly, but with the aid of his internal Fusion, he was well on his way.


Chapter 39

The next two months were a blur of constant training, practicing with his Stama, and enduring the increasingly perplexed and angry looks of the other trainees and Instructors at Fort Hilltower.  It turned out that the news that the Senior Instructor had taken Larek under his wing didn’t take long to disseminate throughout the Fort, aided by the obvious disdain of Instructor Hasat, who continued to show his dislike for the Fusionist whenever they passed each other. 

Larek ignored the snide comments about how he was such a pathetic, special case that needed the attention of the strongest Instructor just to have any chance of becoming a halfway decent Martial, as well as the venomous looks on the Instructor’s face whenever he happened to glance in his direction.  Thankfully, Hasat hadn’t pushed further than the verbal abuse, though sharing the information on his inability to use Stama or Battle Arts with the rest of the trainees was likely the Instructor’s way of getting Larek back for… whatever his problem really was.

Unfortunately, the sharing of that information – which should’ve stayed between the Instructors and Larek – made all the other trainees confused, envious, or downright angry at the Fusionist.  The reason for that?  Well, Larek quickly learned that the Drekkin that had taken him on as a private trainee was considered the best of the best Instructors not only at Fort Hilltower, but was probably one of the top 10 if not the top 5 in the Kingdom.  There were more powerful and stronger Martials in the Kingdom, even after the SIC had been gutted, but as far as those that most Martial trainees would ever see or interact with, Senior Instructor Torge was right near the top. 

All of which meant that with Larek prioritizing his time, very few – if any – of the other trainees would be able to work with the powerful Instructor.  Things really came to a head when he was taken out of his Monster Knowledge/Aperture Closure and Stama and Battle Arts classes the day after he made a breakthrough with his Stama Fusion, leaving Group Tactics and Agility Training as the only classes where he interacted even a little bit with other trainees.  Larek was almost taken out of Group Tactics when Torge mentioned that he didn’t really need it, considering what he was planning on doing in the future, but the Fusionist protested and told his Instructor that it had been extremely beneficial information. He doubted that he would go instantly from the Fort to the Enclave to save his family, as he still needed to improve himself to the point where he thought he might succeed, so any knowledge about fighting with other people was invaluable – because he wasn’t by himself anymore.  If they managed to find the rest of their friends, it wouldn’t just be Nedira and him, but a whole entire group.  While he wasn’t planning on taking them into the dangerous area of the Enclave and fighting against the Gergasi, who knew what they would encounter before that happened?

As could be expected, his continued presence in Group Tactics was met with the same gamut of emotions coming from the other trainees, and he had endured being ignored, being stared at, or even being tripped or pushed from behind.  Granted, the latter only lasted for a day or two before Larek had learned to apply his Martial stats a bit better and wouldn’t be so casually tripped up anymore, and he was strong enough to avoid being pushed around once he learned how to set his weight and center of balance.

Agility Training on the obstacle course became more intense as he not only had to learn how to balance or contort himself around the obstacles, but he had to avoid the “accidental” shoves or extra hard throws coming from those trying to knock him off.  He ignored these for the most part, because while he fell afoul of the incidents quite often at the beginning, it taught him to be a lot more perceptive and to utilize his stats in different ways to avoid falling. 

The only time he didn’t ignore these activities was when, on two separate occasions, someone tried to literally stab him in the back.  The first one succeeded, managing to sink a blade a few inches into his upper back on the right side… at least before Larek whipped around and practically took the man’s head off when he smacked him so hard he went flying off the obstacle course.  He had actually ended up snapping his attacker’s neck in the process, which would’ve killed the man if it hadn’t been for the fact that there were a number of Healing Fusions that the Fusionist had created for use to heal injuries in the course.  As it was, the damage to the foolish Martial’s nerves and neck was so severe, and the man was so near death, that he ended up having to recover for a few days afterward from the exhaustion in his body. 

It was ruled an “accident,” and neither Larek nor the injured trainee were punished, even though it was obvious what had happened; it was yet another indication that there was a bit of bias in the faculty, as Torge wasn’t present at the time – only other Instructors that looked at Larek as a drain on resources who shouldn’t even be there at the Fort (at least according to what they’d heard not only from Hasat, but from a reluctant affirmation of Larek’s handicap with Stama from Instructor Wendie).  As a result, even with blood on his shirt and back indicating that he had been stabbed – since his wound had healed most of the way by the time he was able to report the attack – the whole thing was considered an accident and left at that.

The other back-stabbing incident was later on, when Larek had not only improved in his application of his stats, but had improved his combat awareness through repetitive and painful training with the Senior Instructor.  The woman, who was actually quite fast for a trainee, didn’t get her knife closer than a few inches before the Fusionist turned around, grabbed her hand, and broke her wrist all in a matter of a second.  As the knife dropped to the stone floor below the obstacle course, he simply pushed her off as she looked at her wrist in horror, and then he went back to working his way across a series of graduated beams that led to a wooden pole that he had to use his hands to climb down. 

He didn’t bother to report the incident, and as far as he knew she didn’t either, so he quickly forgot about it after that.  It wasn’t worth his time to do so, and most of the other attacks and “accidents” stopped after that.  He overheard one of those who’d perpetually tried to hurt or trip him up lamenting to his fellow trainees that it wasn’t worth it anymore, because, as he said, “He doesn’t react, as if what I’m doing doesn’t even matter.  I’d like to wipe the smug look off his face, but he’d probably ignore that, too.”

So, by the time two months at the Fort had come and gone, most of the deliberate attacks had disappeared, but the looks remained.  Some of the newer arrivals, those who came after Larek was already there, seemed interested in talking to him, but after a few conversations that were actually quite pleasant, their minds were poisoned by the rumors that were spread around the Fort about him.  He didn’t particularly care, though, because he wasn’t there to make friends; he was there to train – and that was exactly what he did.

A hyper-focused state became common for him throughout the days of training, and it was only through periodic meetings with Nedira every 7 days that he kept from becoming too entrenched in that state.  She helped to keep his mind afloat and aware of the world around him, mainly by simply spending time with him and letting him know about any news that she’d picked up.

“I haven’t found my brother or anyone else yet, but there are some rumors that I’m following up with that might lead to him,” she told him at one point.  “Information travels slowly through the Kingdom nowadays, and is often incomplete, but I’m starting to compile quite a bit of that information for the SIC headquarters here,” she explained.

“That’s good to hear!” he’d told her.  “If you can figure out where we need to go after this to find him, that would help speed up the process.”

“How is the training coming, by the way?”

He’d already told her about his Stama Fusion at an earlier meeting.  “It’s… phenomenal.  I can’t believe how much I didn’t know about my own body, my stats, and how Stama worked before I came.  I still have a long way to go before I’m as confident with Stama as I am with Mana and Fusions, but it’s getting there.”

It was at that point that she’d hesitated.  “I, uh, shared some of the farming Fusions with the city.  I hope you don’t mind.”

“Not at all.  Whatever it takes to feed all these people, I’m all for it.  I created them to share with people, so I’d rather them get used than go to waste.”

“Yes, well, it almost didn’t happen because there was pushback over using them.”  At his confusion, she’d explained.  “Because they were Fusions.  They have a weird aversion to using them here.”  Larek explained what he’d learned from Torge, and she’d nodded in understanding.

That was all the really important news that she’d had to share throughout the entire two months he was there, but that was probably a good thing for Larek.  If he had heard that one of his friends was found, he probably would’ve left in the middle of training, which would’ve hampered his development.  Thankfully, once he passed a certain point, there wasn’t much more that was new that the Senior Instructor could teach him, only to improve upon what he had already learned.

For instance, thanks to his Strength and Body Training, Larek now had an almost perfect sense of his Strength, able to apply just the right amount for different tasks – something that he’d struggled with before.  He could also tense up certain muscles to aid in deflecting damage to his flesh when attacked, and his body movements in avoiding attacks had improved monumentally.  The application of both stats could always be improved, of course, but he had a fairly good idea of how to train his body so that he constantly got better – especially when his stats increased or were boosted. 

From his Agility Training, Larek had improved his sense of balance to the point where he could walk over a thin wire without falling, could leap up to 15 feet vertically, and could contort himself into previously unheard of positions, all to navigate his way through the obstacle course along with most of the best trainees.

In Weapon Training, he continued to utilize the halberd as his main weapon, but Torge didn’t want him limited to a single type of weapon – unlike what most trainees had to settle for.  The Senior Instructor learned earlier on that Larek’s development of Skills was incredibly fast compared to any other trainee, and utilized that fact to the fullest.  Every single training weapon in the arsenal was utilized at one point or another, with at least 10 to 15 minutes with each one to familiarize himself with them.  It turned out that this method of using different weapons in the same category, such as knives and swords and battleaxes, helped to increase his Bladed Weapon Expertise at a faster rate compared to using the same weapon over and over.  The same went with clubs, maces, warhammers, and the like for Blunt Weapon Expertise, and so on.

Combat Awareness drilled into him a need for constant awareness, and using his hyper-focused state to focus on a larger area around him actually seemed to work to give him a better idea of what was going on in his vicinity.  It took some time to maintain that state while actively trying to defend or attack, but after about a month of constantly attempting to do both at once, he found himself anticipating and reacting to Torge’s attacks before he even knew what he was doing. 

And at least 10% of the time, it actually worked!  He still needed to improve his success rate in defending himself, but he had at least been taught how; now it was only a matter of putting it into practice.

Through it all, he also had the occasion to improve his Body Regeneration Skill, though it wasn’t really a choice.  He was beaten or cut up so many times during the training that he barely acknowledged the temporary pain anymore, to the point where he could be severely injured and not even be aware of it before he took a step and had his leg give out underneath him.  After that happened, Torge had him add his awareness of his own body into his hyper-focused state, and it helped him learn when to back off and let himself heal or push through the minor wounds if they weren’t debilitating.

Throughout all the physical training, there was one thing that Larek added in that was actually able to counter the Senior Instructor’s superior experience and knowledge: Pattern Manipulation.  At first, he had simply constructed a Pattern shield to block and even smash into the Drekkin, who had no idea what to do about the sudden construct.  It didn’t surprise the Fusionist when the wily Instructor eventually figured out ways to get around his shield, either through use of Battle Arts or a combination of multiple weapons, such as throwing a knife while attacking with a spear, of which Larek could only successfully block one or the other.

In addition, at first Larek couldn’t move all that much while he had the Pattern shield active, which was also a disadvantage when it came to a fight, but as he practiced more and more, he was able to begin to actively attack and defend himself with his training weapons.  After that came an improvement with his focus, allowing him to move at about a quarter of his top speed while maintaining the Pattern construct.  Following that, he eventually learned how to create two active Pattern constructs, though he quickly learned that they had to be identical in order to maintain focus. 

But just the other day, he had a breakthrough as Pattern Manipulation reached his current Skill maximum of 65.  Once that happened, it was as if an epiphany flowed through his mind, and he could now have two different Pattern constructs.  He could now maintain a Pattern shield and an axe, as that was what he was still the most familiar with, and he could maintain his focus on it better than anything else he experimented with. 

His combat awareness suffered while he had most of his focus on the Pattern constructs, but he was able to partially attack and defend while they were active.  Only practice and an increase in his Pattern Manipulation Skill – once he had enough Aetheric Force to raise its maximum – would bring him to the point where he could fight unhindered, but he could at least maintain a single construct and be decent in a fight.

In all, Larek had made incredible gains in the two months he had been at the Fort.  A simple look at his Status quantified it accurately enough, but it was all the knowledge about fighting and techniques that really made an enormous difference.

Level 40

Advancement Points (AP): 4/28

Available AP to Distribute: 2

Available Aetheric Force (AF): 415

Stama: 3360/3360

Mana: 4100/4100

Strength: 168 [336] (+)

Body: 168 [336] (+)

Agility: 168 [336] (+)

Intellect: 205 [410] (+)

Acuity: 140 [280] (+)

Pneuma: 3,024 [6,048]

Pattern Cohesion: 60,480/60,480

Mage Skills:

Spellcasting Focus Level 43[50]/50 (500 AF)

Magical Detection Level 45[55]/55 (550 AF)

Pattern Recognition Level 47[55]/55 (550 AF)

Pattern Manipulation Level 65/65 (650 AF)

Focused Division Level 56/65 (650 AF)

Multi-effect Fusion Focus Level 60/65 (650 AF)

Mana Control Level 62[70]/70 (700 AF)

Fusion Level 64[70]/70 (700 AF)

Pattern Formation Level 64[70]/70 (700 AF)

Martial Skills:

Unarmed Fighting Level 10[20]/35 (350 AF)

Ranged Weapon Expertise Level 10/20 (200 AF)

Blunt Weapon Expertise Level 15/35 (350 AF)

Stama Subjugation Level 20/35 (350 AF)

Throwing Level 24[34]/35 (350 AF)

Bladed Weapon Expertise Level 25[35]/35 (350 AF)

Dodge Level 30[35]/35 (350 AF)

Pain Immunity Level 20/20 (N/A)

Body Regeneration Level 47[50]/50 (500 AF)

When he was wearing his Fusion-filled clothes, the differences were amazing.  He had increased his Skills so many times that he managed to earn a total of four personal Levels, giving him an additional 106 AP to allocate to his stats.  Placing 35 into each of his Martial stats for a total of 105 left him with 2 to play with at some point after he already had 1 left over from his previous Level increase.  His Mage Skills – other than Pattern Manipulation – didn’t budge at all, but every Martial Skill other than Pain Immunity increased at least a few Levels. 

But those improvements in most of his Skills and stats were almost nothing compared to his efforts with his Stama and his Battle Arts.  The sight of his Stama Subjugation Skill being at Level 20 was only part of the story.

The work and effort he put into developing his Martial abilities would change the way he fought forever. 


Chapter 40

“Alright, show me what you’ve learned.  Use only what you’ve learned with me at the Fort; that means no Fusions, just so we’re clear.  You can still use your Pattern constructs, as you have incorporated that into your fighting style, but that’s it.  Understood?”

Larek nodded at his Instructor’s orders, before striding confidently into the territory of the Aperture.  They had taken the day to visit and test Larek’s improvements over the last two months at one of the nearby territories that just recently opened again, and now it was Larek’s responsibility to close it.  Well, not just his responsibility, as there were a few other members of the SIC beginning to cull all of the monsters in anticipation of closing it scattered around, but this section of it was all his. 

Gripping the shaft of his halberd in the way he was taught, Larek’s boots cracked the dry and burnt grass underneath them, his head on a swivel and his eyes roaming over every inch of the landscape around him.  His Combat Awareness class had done wonders for his perception, as he was now accustomed to perceiving everything within around 100 feet of his person.  He had an advantage in the fact that he could also use his Magical Detection Skill to detect voids or concentrations of the magic, which he had used to pinpoint the locations of both Martials and Mages by the presence of their Stama and Mana.

Even better, he could also use it to detect monsters, as he discovered that they were more of a dense concentration of Corrupted Aetheric Force that showed up to his Skill, though he had to be a bit closer to actually sense it.  For this test, he would be using his Magical Detection Skill, but he would be backing it up with his physical senses. 

What he saw around him was relatively barren landscape, though evidence of what it used to be was still present.  The dry and burnt grass revealed that it used to be similar to the lush grasslands that surrounded the territory, but once the Aperture arrived, it had transformed it into what he was now seeing.  A heat rose from underneath his feet, scorching the environment and making it slightly hard to breathe, but he didn’t let any of that bother him.  Instead, he used what he was observing to picture what he would be going up against.

Because knowing what kind of monster inhabited this Aperture would be too easy, he supposed.

The ground underneath his feet rumbled slightly and he paused, only to jump back slightly as a jet of flames erupted approximately 30 feet to the left of his position, shooting a dozen feet straight up into the air.  He watched as it kept burning for about 5 seconds before it disappeared, revealing a small, rapidly cooling hole where the flame had emerged.  Further away, he saw another flame jet erupt, and then another in the opposite direction, letting him know that this wasn’t just an isolated incident.  I’m going to have to keep a lookout for those; it seems as though the ground rumbling is an indication of when and where they will emerge, at least.

Cautiously stepping ahead, going around where the flames had emerged, he kept a lookout for any monsters.  Even though in the far distance he could see a group of SIC members entering the territory from a different direction, he wasn’t close enough to see what they were fighting.

Another 50 feet in, he finally detected something.  For a wonder, it wasn’t his Magical Detection that caught it first but his own vision, as he saw something that looked out of place around 60 feet to his right, looking like a short, misshapen hill along the otherwise relatively flat landscape.  It blended in well enough that he wouldn’t have noticed it if he hadn’t been looking for anything out of place, and he started to slowly walk over to it.  Another thing he had learned was when to be cautious and when to be bold, and walking into a situation where he didn’t have enough information, was absent everything but a Healing Surge Fusion on a necklace in case of emergencies (he would essentially fail if he was forced to use it), and was by himself, caution was the name of the game.

At about 20 feet away, just as his Magical Detection Skill indicated that this small hill was, indeed, a monster, it abruptly moved.  Not just a portion of it, but the entire thing; before he knew it, a large figure unfolded itself from the landscape, standing up until it towered a half-dozen feet above Larek’s head.  Steadying himself at its abrupt appearance, he thought he recognized it from his past Monster Knowledge classes, though not necessarily this particular variety.

With skin made of what appeared to be a mixture of dirt and charred wood, the Trogre was a mixture of a troll and an ogre; with a large pot-belly that was surrounded by a frame that looked to be made of pure muscle, arms long enough that they practically dragged on the ground, and a head that reminded him more of a butchered pig what with all the weeping wounds and scars all over it.  It held a pair of stone clubs in its long-fingered and pudgy hands, both of the weapons at least 4 feet in length and a foot in width at their widest, and they had sharp protrusions along their length that indicated that someone hit by them wouldn’t just be smashed into the ground, but torn apart simultaneously.

From what he knew about Trogres, they had a regenerative ability that healed them over time and were extremely strong, but they also had a weakness to fire.  This one, however, seemed to be on fire from the inside, or at least that was what Larek assumed from the reddish-orange glow that emerged from a few cracks in its skin.  The Flame Trogre, which was what he dubbed it in his head, suddenly roared loudly as soon as it caught sight of the Fusionist standing there, and it took a step toward him; the weight of the intimidating monster was enough to shake the ground slightly when its oversized foot hit the dry and cracked surface, and Larek automatically adjusted his center of gravity to compensate for the temporary shake.

Before he arrived at the Fort, a simple use of one of his offensive Fusions, such as Healing Shelter or Frozen Zone would probably be enough to kill the Trogre; if not them, then he would stay back and attack it from afar with his staff, filling it so full of ice spikes that it wouldn’t be able to move.  Unfortunately, he didn’t have any of those things on him right now, and even if he did, they wouldn’t be allowed; instead, he needed to use what he had been taught over the last two months.

As his opponent began to raise both of its arms in anticipation of smashing both stone clubs into him, Larek activated the Magnitude 1 version of his internal Stama Fusion, allowing 1% of his Stama – or 33 Stama – to flow out.  Subjugating that amount of energy was quite easy by this point, and he directed it through his body to his feet, where it suffused into a preset pattern he had learned from the Senior Instructor.

Fleetfoot

Effect: Increases Agility stat by 50%

Duration: 40 seconds

Base Stama Cost: 30

With the Fleetfoot Battle Art now active, he felt the energy in his leg muscles twitching with power, and he quickly moved from his position, utilizing the leftover Stama that he still controlled to further enhance and support his legs by cycling it through them rapidly.  There was an entrenched route that they followed, something that he’d had to gradually produce as he learned how to cycle the energy through his body, and now the Stama flowed through effortlessly. 

Swiftly circling around the Flame Trogre, Larek set his feet so that his left was further out from his right, crouched slightly for better stability, and swung his halberd at the monster’s right leg, aiming to slice through its knee, bringing it to the ground so that he could finish it off.  Surprisingly, the slow-looking Trogre was able to twitch its right club backward just enough that the Fusionist’s weapon was deflected upward, and he only ended up scraping the sharp spike at the end of the pole against the monster’s back upper thigh, which cut a line along its skin. 

Larek threw himself backwards as the stone club whipped around at him, the Trogre’s long arms more than a match for his own long weapon, and he used what he’d learned in his Agility training to roll, keeping the halberd perpendicular to his body so that it was pointed off to the side.  As he sprang to his feet, he surveyed the damage he’d done and saw a tiny amount of steamy glowing blood emerging from the wound, which equated to barely a scratch.

Looks like I’m going to have to go all out with this thing.

Rushing up to the Flame Trogre from its front as it turned quickly toward him, Larek’s combat awareness noted the position of the monster’s arms and predicted that it was about to sweep both clubs at him from the sides at different elevations, meaning that he might be able to dodge one of them, but not both.  Thankfully, he didn’t have to dodge either of them, because with a thought he formed two Pattern shields on either side of him as the Trogre swung both clubs with incredible speed.  As the wind shrieked at their passage through the air, he was able to shift his shields to line up with both incoming weapons while he continued forward to the now wide-open monster.  Through his focus with his Pattern shields, he sensed the dual impacts and felt them waver slightly, something that didn’t happen very often.  What that meant was that they had stopped extremely potent attacks; if they had hit Larek, even with a boosted Body stat, he would’ve been severely hurt, if not killed if he had been hit in the head.

This thing was strong, there was no doubt about that.

But that ultimately didn’t matter as he activated his internal Fusion to release another 1% of his Stama; as he took control with his Stama Subjugation, he fed it through the pathways to his arms, and from there he was able to direct it to the Battle Art pattern in his hands.

Empowered Strike

Effect: Doubles the damage output of an equipped weapon

Duration: Single strike

Base Stama Cost: 25

As Empowered Strike activated, the volatile power flowed out of his hands and into his weapon.  The whole process took a bit more concentration than simply feeding it to his legs, because even though he activated the actual Battle Art, he still had to focus on keeping the Stama inside of his weapon instead of flying free.  Thankfully, he’d had plenty of practice once he was trained on how to do something like this, and his entire weapon glowed with an external blue light, indicating that it had been successful. 

Leaping when he was only a few long steps away, he chopped downward, aiming to cleave through the skull of the Trogre by gaining additional height.  As his overhead chop arced downwards, the monster somehow sensed what was coming and was able to react, jerking its head back so that Larek’s halberd missed its target.  Despite the last-second save, it couldn’t prevent the Fusionist’s weapon from slicing into its chest, the blade cutting deeply into its flesh, only to be torn open even further as the spike on the end shattered rib bones and cut into a few vital organs.

As Larek’s feet hit the ground, he had to cycle the remaining Stama that hadn’t been used for Empowered Strike to enhance his arm strength enough to yank the weapon free of the Trogre’s chest.  As it came free, his combat awareness flashed danger, and a few things happened all at once.  Noticing a foot striking out at him that would likely shatter some of his bones if it hit without any defense, Larek quickly activated Mag 2 on his internal Fusion, and 5% of his maximum Stama – or 180 Stama – was allowed to enter the rest of his body.  It took a little more effort to subjugate the energy, but with his Stama Subjugation Skill at Level 20, he managed it without too many problems. 

He then funneled that Stama into the channels around his chest, activating yet another Battle Art.

Absorb Blow

Effect: Absorbs up to 90% of a single strike

Duration: Single strike

Base Stama Cost: 150

Of course, he wasn’t going to rely just on that to help him, as he moved both of his Pattern shields from where they had blocked the clubs and placed them out front.  The first shield shattered from the impact with its foot, telling him that it had been damaged from the impact with the stone club more than he thought, while the second one barely held on long enough to slow the attack. 

But the Trogre wasn’t done, and even as its horrendous chest wound began to heal, a club swatted at him with a flick of the monster’s right wrist.  There wasn’t a lot of power behind it since it wasn’t a full swing, but it was still enough to hit him from the side and send him flying.  Absorb Blow lessened the damage done to his body, and while he felt his entire side would be a massive bruise until his Body Regeneration kicked in, it didn’t do any major damage.  It also did nothing to prevent the force of the blow, which sent him tumbling through the air.

Thankfully, he was able to reorient himself while mid-air and landed on his feet about 50 feet away.  It was only that fact that saved him from getting a flame jet up his butt when it emerged from under his feet, and he felt the scorching heat from it as he quickly jumped out of the way.  Focusing on the Flame Trogre once again, he saw that it was moving slowly toward him, the wound he had inflicted visibly healing.  The regeneration wasn’t nearly as fast as his own Healing Surge, but he thought that it would probably be completely healed within 10 minutes or less.

Stymied at every turn, Larek decided that this wasn’t a battle that would be over quickly, like he had been hoping.  Even as his own bruises cleared up along his side, he rapidly moved back into range with the Trogre, renewed his Fleetfoot Battle Art that was about to expire, and set about gradually wearing the monster down.  The slightly slower opponent – due to his chest wound – didn’t have quite the same range of motion as before, which meant that he was able to dodge one of its strikes while blocking the other with his Pattern shield, and he concentrated on the one arm that he had just blocked.

Maneuvering his shield construct so that it appeared above the club, he pressed down with it, slamming the stone weapon into the ground.  The Trogre was strong enough to extricate the club within seconds, of course, but that was all Larek needed.  Another application of Empowered Strike was aimed at its wrist, and he ended up cutting deep into the flesh and bone.  As it bellowed out in pain, he took the time to create a Pattern axe and chopped downward, severing the last of what was keeping the wrist intact, leaving the Trogre’s hand and weapon on the ground.

From there, it was only a matter of attrition as he eventually trapped the other club, though this time the monster abandoned it rather than having its hand chopped off again.  That didn’t matter to Larek, however, as he continued to speed around the powerful monster, occasionally using Empowered Strike to cut deeply into its legs, inflicting dozens of wounds that leaked steaming blood, weakening it over the next five minutes.  Without one hand and absent a club in its working one, Larek didn’t take another blow in all that time, his combat awareness and speed working overtime to keep him out of trouble, as he whittled his opponent down until it eventually collapsed to a knee when too much damage to its leg had been inflicted. 

Seeing his chance to end it, he activated his internal Fusion at Magnitude 2 twice in a row, giving him 360 Stama to use.  This amount was at the limit of what he could safely subjugate, especially in a combat scenario, and he strained his focus on controlling it long enough to activate his final Battle Art, Execution.

Execution

Effect: Doubles Strength and Agility stats for a single strike, and then halves both stats for 5 seconds

Duration(s): Single strike, 5 seconds after strike

Base Stama Cost: 350

As the Stama fed into the pattern that encompassed his upper chest, arms, and legs, he nearly lost control as it activated and he felt his Strength and Agility doubling for a single blow. He moved faster than the Trogre could react as he aimed for its neck, and this time it was unable to avoid the strike.  As its head went flying from the sudden decapitation, he felt the strength and speed leave his body, leaving him feeling drained.  During that time, he saw and felt the Corrupted Aetheric Force enter his body from the slain Flame Trogre, indicating that he had indeed killed it, and he smiled grimly in satisfaction of having killed the powerful monster without the aid of any Fusions – other than the necessary one allowing him access to his Stama, of course.

“Adequate,” he heard from behind, and he didn’t have to turn around to know that Torge was behind him.  He had sensed him at the range of his awareness since he entered the territory, watching him venture through it and then fight the Trogre.  “For the next one, I want you to try and kill it in half the time – while also avoiding getting hit.”

Larek nodded, hefting his halberd as he straightened his shoulders, looking across the landscape at what would likely be his next target.  One down, who knows how many more to go.  With that thought in mind, and a smile on his face, the Martial Fusionist stretched his awareness to its limit as he cautiously worked his way across the Aperture’s territory.


Chapter 41

Running back toward Peratin and Fort Hightower, Larek reflected upon what he’d learned from his experience at the Aperture and from facing the Flame Trogres, which the Senior Instructor revealed was exactly what they were called soon after facing his first one.  First, he learned that he was now more than capable of killing such a dangerous monster without the use of his Fusions and only his Stama.  Toward the end, he even learned how to kill them without using his Pattern, which was imperative because as they got closer to the center of the territory, the more prevalent the SIC teams were.  He wasn’t exactly keen on sharing his dual abilities with everyone quite yet, so he kept his attacks to what a Martial would be able to display; it was harder and took longer, for sure, but he could still do it.

Secondly, Larek learned just how effective groups of SIC members could be when facing down the dangerous monsters of an Aperture.  The tactics and stratagems he’d learned in his Group Tactics class were on display as he watched the others involved in closing the Aperture perform well against the Trogres, utilizing different roles to take them down relatively safely and efficiently compared to Larek doing it himself.  What really made a difference was the fact that they had a Martial that specialized in blocking or absorbing the damage from the monster’s attacks, primarily by using a shield and taunting it to attack only them.  With its attention focused solely on them, the rest of the group was practically free to attack with abandon, piling on the damage to the point where the Trogre’s regeneration was overwhelmed.

He recognized that they would’ve had trouble if they were facing more than one at a time, but every single monster in the territory was separated from the others, so that didn’t happen.

Lastly, he learned that the gains applied to his Skills increased dramatically when he was in combat against monsters, rather than through training with the Senior Instructor.  He thought that it was only due to how incessant – and frankly, brutal – the training had been that he even acquired as many Levels as he had; but even that couldn’t compare to fighting in a real battle against strong opponents like he just did.

Dodge has reached Level 31!

Dodge has reached Level 32!

Bladed Weapon Expertise has reached Level 26!

……

Bladed Weapon Expertise has reached Level 30!

Stama Subjugation has reached Level 21!

……

Stama Subjugation has reached Level 23!

Magical Detection has reached Level 46!

Pattern Manipulation has reached Level 66!

Pattern Manipulation has reached Level 67!

Larek had spent almost all of his accumulated AF on increasing the maximum Level of his Pattern Manipulation Skill to 70 since it was already maxed-out, and he had ended up gaining two more Levels in it.  But it was his Martial Skills, which had tapered off a bit in advancing in Levels over the last few days, which had gained a significant boost.  As they went up, he felt more and more confident in his ability to fight as a Martial would, utilizing his weapon Skills, moving and dodging better than he ever had in his life, and using his Stama and Battle Arts to their greatest extent. 

He had only learned a few Battle Arts, as he wanted to master them before he moved on to learning more, and they required practice compared to simply learning spells.  But with his training, he now had 7 Battle Arts to call upon, though only the ones he’d recently learned were safe enough to use or didn’t require too much Stama.

Martial Abilities:

Battle Art – Furious Rampage

Battle Art – Consuming Speed

Battle Art – Tactician Mind

Battle Art – Fleetfoot

Battle Art – Empowered Strike

Battle Art – Absorb Blow

Battle Art – Execution

He would love to be able to use Tactician Mind in battle, as that would only enhance his thinking speed, but its cost of 800 Stama was more than he could handle right now.  In fact, he couldn’t even handle Magnitude 3 of his internal Stama Fusion, as it released 25% of his maximum Stama upon activation; it was going to be a while until he would be comfortable with that, let alone the 50% that was released at Magnitude 4, or the entire Stama pool at Magnitude 5. 

Of course, it wasn’t just stats and Skill Levels that he’d acquired while he was training in the Fort, but Specializations as well.

Striker

Requirements:

Strength of 20

Body of 10

Agility of 20

Stama Subjugation Skill of 4

Dodge Skill of 10

Bladed Weapon Expertise Skill of 15

Pain Resistance Skill of 10

Body Regeneration Skill of 15

Knowledge of at least 3 Battle Arts

The Striker Specialization also provides these benefits:

A 5% increase in Agility when wielding a bladed weapon

A 5% increase in the effectiveness of the Bladed Weapon Expertise Skill

A 5% decrease in Stama cost for all Battle Arts while wielding a bladed weapon

Basher

Requirements:

Strength of 20

Body of 15

Agility of 15

Stama Subjugation Skill of 4

Dodge Skill of 10

Blunt Weapon Expertise Skill of 15

Pain Resistance Skill of 15

Body Regeneration Skill of 15

Knowledge of at least 3 Battle Arts

The Basher Specialization also provides these benefits:

A 5% increase in Agility when wielding a blunt weapon

A 5% increase in the effectiveness of the Blunt Weapon Expertise Skill

A 5% decrease in Stama cost for all Battle Arts while wielding a blunt weapon

Ranger

Requirements:

Strength of 15

Body of 15

Agility of 20

Stama Subjugation Skill of 4

Dodge Skill of 15

Ranged Weapon Expertise Skill of 15

or

Throwing Skill of 15

Pain Resistance Skill of 10

Body Regeneration Skill of 10

Knowledge of at least 3 Battle Arts

The Ranger Specialization also provides these benefits:

A 10% increase in Agility when wielding a ranged weapon

A 5% increase in the effectiveness of the Ranged Weapon Expertise Skill

A 5% increase in the effectiveness of the Throwing Skill

A 5% decrease in Stama cost for all Battle Arts while wielding a blunt weapon

Unfortunately, those three Specializations were probably some of the last that he would earn for a while.  Why?  Because there was one Martial Skill that he couldn’t obtain, for some reason.

Blocking.

Whether it was because he considered all shields with which he could block to be similar to his Pattern construct or for some other reason, whenever he was tasked with using an actual physical shield to block with during training, he could never learn the actual Blocking Skill.  He was still taught how to hold it properly, techniques to lessen the impact when using it to block an attack, and ways to angle it to deflect blows rather than trying to stop them completely, but that was about the extent of his benefits. 

Without Blocking as a Skill, he was locked out of quite a few other Specializations, at least the easier ones to acquire, such as Shieldguard and even Brawler, which used the Skill in terms of blocking with their limbs rather than a shield.  Torge told him that higher-Level Specializations didn’t necessarily require Blocking in any form, but it was going to be a while until he unlocked them.

Still, he couldn’t really complain.  He’d gotten the training he’d wanted, and he thought that with another month or so to fill in any gaps, develop his Stama Subjugation, and learn a few more Battle Arts, he would be ready to leave and continue increasing his Skills in the outside world.  By pushing himself and challenging himself in whatever Apertures he could find that weren’t closed, he thought he could become strong enough within the next six months to think about taking on the Gergasi and freeing his family.  The delay chafed at him when he thought about what they might be going through at the hands of the manipulative giants, but he wasn’t stupid enough to race in right now and get himself killed.

A few years ago he might have done just that, but he liked to think that he’d learned a bit since then.

The run back took him and his Instructor about an hour, even though they engaged about half of their Agility to push themselves faster, but it gave him time to reflect on his advancements.  The sun was just starting to set when they reached the gates of Peratin, and with the presence of the powerful Drekkin at his side – whom everyone guarding the gates seemed to recognize – they didn’t have to wait in line before they were let inside.  The run up the hill to the Fort wasn’t as big of a chore as it used to be, especially now that he knew how to utilize his stats to the point where he wasn’t even winded when they arrived, though evening was already upon Hilltower by the time they arrived.

As they passed through the front doors, which were much easier to open than when he first showed up at the Fort for training, Torge spoke to him.  “Decent work today.  There’s still more that I want you to improve upon, and I’ve already considered some alternative training I want you to attempt tomorrow.  For now, get some well-deserved dinner and take the rest of the—”

The Senior Instructor abruptly cut off, his gaze looking past the trainee.  Having worked with the Drekkin over the last two months, Larek had become better at reading his face and body expressions, and right now Larek thought his Instructor was both wary and angry at whatever he was looking at.

A single glance behind him had the Martial Fusionist turning back around immediately, as standing near the entrance was none other than Dean Wilburt from Crystalview Academy.

“Senior Instructor!  Just the person I was looking for.”

Uh, oh.  Larek heard the voice and immediately shrank in on himself, the memories of their last meeting still imprinted on his mind.  Despite having changed enough that the man shouldn’t recognize him, he still worried that it would be obvious that he was the same person as the one that had blown up a portion of the Academy.  Then again, even if he did recognize him, what could the Dean do?  He wasn’t quite sure, but if the man attacked him, and Larek was without his normal clothes with their Fusions, he might not survive, despite recently developing his Martial side.

He gave it 50/50 odds, and he didn’t want to have to bet on a positive outcome.

If Torge participated, then it would be no contest, but he couldn’t count on the Senior Instructor taking his side against the Dean of the Academy literally next door.

“What do you want, Wilburt?” the Drekkin asked shortly.

“Well now, that’s no way to treat an old friend, is it?”

Torge hissed in what Larek recognized as angry laughter.  “Old friend?  I don’t know if I’d go that far, but we’re certainly both old and colleagues in our mutual profession.  Regardless, what is it I can do for you, Dean?” he asked, his tone slightly more conciliatory.

“Ah, yes, well, I’ve been receiving reports that some of your trainees might be utilizing Fusions that they received from somewhere, and I’m here to verify that they are safe and won’t inadvertently harm anyone.”

“I don’t know what you’re talking about, Dean, but even if we were using Fusions, what does it matter?  You have no authority here.”

“Ah, but that’s where you’re wrong, old friend,” the Dean replied, and Larek could hear the smile in his voice.  “Word hasn’t reached here yet, but it seems as though the SIC wants to consolidate this Fort and my Academy together, freeing up some trainers that could be better used to combat the Calamities.  And guess who is slated to oversee this new joint operation?”

“You, I assume?”

“That’s correct.  It isn’t official, yet, but you should be hearing something at some point tomorrow,” the Dean said smugly.  “Anyway, about those Fusions?  What information do you have on them?  Or—oh, how rude of me, is this one of your trainees?”

Larek could barely comprehend what was being said, because he was stuck on the Dean soon to be heading up both Fort Hilltower and Crystalview Academy.  Still, he caught his Instructor’s eye and turned around, putting a smile on his face and offering his hand to Professor Wilburt.  “Hello.  It’s very nice to meet you, but I really have to get moving before they stop serving dinner,” he said, using every bit of focus not to immediately run away… or punch the Dean in the face.  He wasn’t sure which would be worse.

“It’s nice to meet a future trainee that I’ll be responsible for soon.  Don’t let me keep you—hold on.  You look familiar for some reason.  Do I know you?”

The Martial Fusionist shook his head.  “No, I don’t believe we’ve met.”

“Huh.  My mistake, I guess.  You may be on your way.”  Despite the words, the Dean held onto Larek’s handshake longer than necessary and was studying him intently.  After a few uncomfortable seconds, he finally let go, and Larek bowed and quickly moved off toward the Dining Hall – though he was planning on detouring to his room.

He had to get out of there before it was too late and the Dean recognized him.  He was just lucky that he wasn’t wearing his Fusion-filled clothes at the time; while the Fusions were hidden using void carrier barriers, it was almost a guarantee that someone like Wilburt would notice the absence of magical power around him.  He was fortunate that the small void created by the medallion around his neck with the hidden Healing Surge Fusion hadn’t been noticed; otherwise, he might have been found out.

With unreasonable panic setting in, Larek arrived at his room at a run, changed into his normal clothes, and then began packing everything else into his Void Pocket sack.  When he looked around his room to verify that very little trace of him being there was left behind, he pulled out a Camouflage Sphere Fusion from the sack, activated it to camouflage him from any casual visual inspection, and left his room with the intent of leaving the Fort – and Peratin – that night.


Chapter 42

Stopped near the rear exit to Fort Hilltower as he tried to figure out how to open the door without being seen, he nearly reached out for it when a hand touched his shoulder from behind. Larek nearly reacted by attacking whoever it was that had managed to spot him sneaking around in his Camouflage Sphere, but a glance at the hand on his shoulder out of the corner of his eye revealed a familiar scaly appearance.  Somehow, the Senior Instructor had managed not only to locate him despite his being nearly invisible, but had also snuck up on him regardless of his combat awareness.  It was at that point that he knew he still had a long way to go before he could match the pure power and experience of the Martial trainer.

“I—”

“You don’t have to say anything,” Torge whispered, cutting him off.  “I’m glad you’re leaving, because it’s going to get a bit difficult with you here and the Dean hanging around.  I could tell he recognized you, though it might take seeing you a couple more times before he remembers from where.”

“But—”

“It’s fine.  I’d rather you get out of here while you can, because I’d rather not have to fight Wilburt to keep you safe if I can help it.”  He turned Larek around, and since he was inside of the Sphere, he could see him.  “It’s been a pleasure, boy.  I wish you good luck in rescuing your nestmates.”

“Thank you, Senior Instructor—”

“You can call me Torge.  All my friends do,” he said, smiling as he held out his hand for his former trainee to shake.  “Keep practicing and I think you might just be alright.”

“Will do, Sen—Torge.  By the way, I left something I was going to give you later underneath my bed.  Remember what I told you about my Void Pocket Fusion and how it works?”

The Drekkin nodded warily.

“I created one for you and filled up what I could in the time I had.  Most of them should be self-explanatory, but slots one through ten are filled with copies of different Fusions, so be sure to share with whoever you want.”

“You can’t be serious,” he replied disbelievingly.

“Oh, I am, but you’ll just have to see them for yourself,” the Martial Fusionist said with a smile.  “I better get going before it gets too late.”

“Safe travels, and I hope to hear of your success in the future.”

With a nod, Larek turned back to the door, but Torge was already there, opening it for him in full view, holding it open so that his former trainee could sneak out.  He took his time exiting so that he wouldn’t be particularly visible, but once he was outside he sped up in the lower light levels present.  He could still be spotted, but it would be much harder compared to inside of the Fort, and right now speed was more of a concern than perfect invisibility.  Within a minute, he was already heading down the pathway leading to the Nobles’ Quarter, and with very few out and about, he made good time.  Not stopping as he blew past the guard station, the two guards on duty not even noticing him as they leaned against the wall chatting, he turned his feet toward the SIC Headquarters building where he hoped he would find Nedira.

As if the thought had summoned her, Larek nearly collided with her familiar figure rushing through the streets, her destination seemingly where he had just come from.  Throwing himself to the side to avoid the collision, he deactivated his Camouflage Sphere and whispered, “Nedira!”

The Naturalist let out a high-pitched squeak as Larek startled her, putting her hand against her chest as if to keep her heart from pushing its way out.  “Larek!  What are you doing here?”

“I had to leave suddenly.”

She was visibly confused as she looked at him, her breathing slowing down from the panicked state it had been in a few seconds before.  “What?  Why—you already know, don’t you?”

“Know what?”

“The SIC just received news that Dean Wilburt will be taking over running the Fort starting tomorrow.”

He nodded, while at the same time thinking how glad he was not to have run because of an unsubstantiated claim. 

“How did you find out?  I just heard an hour ago and was coming to get you as soon as I could get myself out of there.”  For the first time, Larek noticed that Nedira had her Void Pocket bag with her, and she looked ready for travel.

“He showed up and was bragging to Torge about taking over,” he explained.  “Thankfully, he didn’t recognize me right away, but he thought I looked familiar.  It’s only a matter of time before he puts it all together.”

“He saw you?”

“Yep!  I even shook his hand,” Larek said, chuckling.

“You… shook his hand?  Why would you do that?”

“I was just trying to throw him off, and acting nice was the best way I could think to do that.  I didn’t want to give him any reason to investigate me further than that at the time, which punching his face in certainly would’ve done.”

She genuinely laughed at that, but she held it in as best she could because she didn’t want to call attention to themselves in the darkened street.  “Yeah, I’m glad you didn’t do that – even if he deserved it.”

“I was close to doing it if he immediately recognized me, but thankfully he didn’t.”  Looking at her belongings again, he asked, “Do you have everything you need?  Are you ready to go?”

“I have everything.  I ended up leaving quite a few Fusions from my bag for the SIC; I hope you don’t mind.”

“Again, that’s what I created them for – to help people.  I did the same thing with Torge, so don’t worry about it.”

With a smile, she said, “Thanks.  But yes, I’m ready to go.”

“Good.”  Forming his Pattern box right there in the street, as he wanted to leave as soon as possible, he started laying out his plans.  “I was thinking about going east for a while, hitting Apertures on the way so that I can continue improving my Martial abilities, as well as accumulating more Aetheric Force.  I still have a long way to go before I’m ready to face the Gergasi and save my family, but after today’s outing, I’m feeling much more confident that—”

“Actually, let me cut you off before you go into too much detail,” Nedira interrupted, even as she leaned against the inside of the box and looked at him with a serious expression on her face.  “There’s going to be a change of plans concerning your destination.”

Taken slightly aback, he asked, “What?  Why?”

“Bring us up and start heading south if you would, and I’ll explain on the way.”

Shrugging, Larek did as she requested and they shot into the sky.  With the improvements to his Pattern Manipulation Skill, it wasn’t as much of a stress on his focus to bring them 500 feet above the ground, and even moving through the air at a slightly higher speed than normal – going south – was easier.  He might not be able to maintain it for hours, but for now it was good enough.

After about 30 minutes, he slowed the movement of the box and brought them down, where they hovered only about 20 feet above the ground.  At this height, he could probably maintain his construct for half a day if necessary, if not longer.

“So, what’s this about a destination?  Did you hear something important?”

With the moonlight from above the only illumination nearby, Nedira nodded.  “Exactly.  At the same time we received the missive detailing the change in leadership over the Fort and the Academy, I also obtained a lead from an SIC member that I’d been waiting on.”

“A lead on what?  Or… who?”

“It’s a who,” she answered.  “Your former roommate, Verne, to be more precise – or at least someone similar enough that I couldn’t imagine someone else from the Dyran Hearthwood being a former SIC member and going by the name, ‘V’, now.”

“That does sound promising.  Where is he?”

She paused as her face fell slightly.  “Well, that’s the issue, actually.”  

“He’s not… dead, is he?”

She held her hands out in front of her placatingly.  “No, it’s not anything like that.  The problem is more of where he’s at.”

“Is he on the other side of the Kingdom or something?  If so, it might take a little bit, but we’ll get there.”

Shaking her head, she finally explained what was having her so worried.  “No, not exactly.  Apparently, ‘V’ is located in a city called Warshdin along the southern border of the northwestern Calamity.  And before you ask, yes, we did visit that city on our way north to see your family – albeit briefly.  In fact, we never actually made it inside.”

“Briefly?  Never made it inside?”  Larek vividly remembered the trip they had taken in his Pattern box to the east and then north to Rushwood, but every place they stopped at they had at least entered the city or towns they passed, even if a few of them had them leaving after a few minutes.

There wasn’t a single one that he remembered not entering at all, unless he counted the one where—

“You’re not serious, are you?” he asked, hoping she was joking.  “The city where the two Factions met us outside and threatened to kill me?  Really?”

Nedira nodded.  “It gets worse than that.”

“How could it get worse?  They threatened to kill me, remember?”

“Oh, I remember.  But that’s not the issue.  It has to do with what Faction he is supposedly part of.”

It only took him a second to realize what she was saying, but didn’t understand the problem.  “The Strike Faction?  Not that I have an issue with that, because I honestly believe everyone should be working toward that outcome, but what’s wrong with that?”

“Inherently, nothing,” she replied with a shrug.  “But the same information I gained said that the Strike Faction in Warshdin was set to implement their first major strike into the Calamity with the intent of closing the Aperture there.  They were going to be doing it soon, too.”

“How soon?”

“Like… yesterday?  Or perhaps the day before.  It took a while for the information to get to Peratin, and the timeline might be off by a day or two.”

Everything Nedira just imparted to him raced through his mind.  “So, you’re saying that someone that may or may not be Verne, but most likely is my old roommate, is part of a Strike Faction of Mages and Martials that has potentially already entered the powerful Calamity that even all the SIC members over the last few years with the same intent haven’t been able to close?”

“Exactly.  And we need to go save him before he gets himself killed.”

He looked at her and the intensity in her expression before asking, “Not that I disagree, but why do you seem so insistent on braving the danger of the Calamity to save Verne?”

Nedira appeared distant for a brief moment before she answered.  “Because I remembered something else once I heard of Verne possibly being alive and in Warshdin.”

“You regained some of your memories?”

She shook her head.  “Not exactly.  It’s more of a kernel of knowledge that I didn’t know I had until that point.”

Larek waited for her to share what it was, but she was silent.  After nearly a minute, he finally asked, “And what was this ‘kernel of knowledge’ you gained?”

“Only that I know that Norde had been working with Verne the last time I remember speaking to him.  If anyone knows where my brother is, it’ll be your roommate.”

“Ah.  That makes sense, then.  Still, I’m a bit wary of going back to that city after our previous reception.  Are you positive it’s the same place?”

“Yes, 100% positive.  The only question was whether it was actually Verne there or not.”

The Martial Fusionist hmphed, crossing his arms against his chest.  “Well then, it seems we have no choice but to go.  We can’t let that little guy die, after all.”

“No, we can’t.”

While not exactly pleased about going back to that city, Larek knew it was necessary.  And if it indeed led to Verne and from there to Norde, then putting up with the opposing Factions was worth every minute of it.  Besides, if he understood the Naturalist correctly, it was possible that only the Defend Faction will still be in the city, so he wouldn’t necessarily come between them while gaining more information on Verne’s whereabouts.  At least, he hoped that was the case; there was too much speculation on exactly what they would find when they arrived.

Creating a windscreen made out of his Pattern Cohesion in front of the box, which was much easier to do now that he had learned how to focus on two different constructs simultaneously, Larek raised the box up another 20 feet so that he could move faster without being in danger of running into something.  When everything was set, he started them moving, and the windscreen helped them from being blown out of their conveyance once he began increasing their speed.  After 10 minutes of steadily ramping up the rate of travel, he estimated that they were moving at least five times as fast as they normally flew through the air, making the landscape practically fly by beneath and around them. 

He could potentially go even faster, but he was right on the edge of his focus limit; any faster would mean he would have to stop more often and recuperate before continuing, but their current speed was something he could still maintain for hours yet.  Neither of them spoke as they traveled south, both of them watching the land go by in the darkness of the night, though that changed slightly when the sun finally came up.  At that point, Larek began describing what he’d been up to since the last time they had met, with him detailing both his stat and Skill development and his experience inside the Flame Trogre Aperture’s territory.  Nedira explained that she had actually participated in closing an Aperture a few days before, as part of a group of 20 SIC members who closed it regularly. 

As she described how relatively easy it had been because of the group she was in, he remembered how effective the other groups fighting against the Flame Trogres had been.  He began to wonder if he should think about putting together his own group when he eventually went up against the Gergasi, but he immediately dismissed it as being too dangerous.  Still, the thought lingered in his mind, and he was unable to get rid of it.

With their speed, they traveled quickly south and started heading southwest and finally straight west.  Larek had to stop about every 12 hours, where they would find someplace secure before eating and sleeping for an hour before resuming.  It was exhausting, but it wasn’t anything new; he’d been far more exhausted plenty of times while he was training with Torge, so it didn’t bother him all that much.  Nedira slept curled around his feet a few times as they traveled, using the only room at the bottom of the Pattern box to replenish her own energy by any means at her disposal.

After a little over two days, they arrived within five miles of the city of Warshdin, and Larek set down quickly, absorbing the Pattern Cohesion from his box and windscreen immediately, lest it be seen.  Back down on the ground, they looked at each other and nodded, arranging their Void Pocket bags on their shoulders as they began their walk toward the city that they hoped would lead to their friends and family.


Chapter 43

“They’ve already left—and good riddance!” the guard shouted, laughing along with the others at the gate.  “Always so annoying with their insistence that we all head into the Calamity and sacrifice ourselves to the monsters there.  Like that would ever possibly work.  It’s suicide to go deep inside there; everyone knows that!”

Thinking that the guards would be no help, but hoping otherwise, Larek asked if he knew exactly where they went.

The still-chuckling guard simply waved off to the north.  “Who cares?  They marched off into the Calamity three days ago and haven’t been seen since.  We’re all the better for it, you know?  The entire city has been walking on eggshells for weeks now, just waiting for a spark to set them all off, but fortunately the Strike Faction decided to depart and do what they’ve been saying they’d do.”

“Is there anyone who might know a bit more specifically where they went?  My, uh, uncle was with them and I need to reach him to convince him to turn back.”

The man shook his head.  “I’m sorry to hear that your uncle was with them, but I can’t say I hold much hope that they’ll succeed.  As for more information on their exact route, I don’t… well, actually, I believe I heard that there was one member of the Strike Faction left in the city, who stayed behind to maintain their Faction facilities.  You can check there, though I would seriously reconsider even stepping a foot into the Calamity’s territory.  Around the edges might be relatively tame, but as soon as you get about a day’s walk inside, there are things that will obliterate you as quick as a thought.”

“Thank you for the warning,” Larek said.  “I’ll take that into consideration.  In the meantime, can you tell me where to find the Strike Faction facilities?”

The guard did so a few seconds later, letting them into the city.  There were members of the Defend Faction at the gates that checked them for potential, but upon mention of being interested in the Strike Faction, they were immediately dismissed as a lost cause and told to go on their way. 

The two of them navigated their way through the city of Warshdin, which was larger than some they’d visited a few months ago as they made their way to Rushwood, though it was only about half as populous as Peratin.  It was big enough that it still took them about 10 minutes to find their way through the overly complicated layout of streets to arrive at the Strike Faction facilities – or so he assumed.  The fenced-in compound was only barely visible from the street, as the wooden barrier surrounded what appeared to be a number of large buildings, but as to their exact purpose, Larek couldn’t tell.

What he could determine was that the area was almost completely empty of people.  It was extremely quiet compared to the rest of the city, proving that the guard had been accurate in saying that the entire Strike Faction had left the city to go into the Calamity.  Well, all but one, apparently, whom he could vaguely sense with his Magical Detection Skill and his still-improving combat awareness.  The source of the flux in the ambient Mana was in one of the buildings near the gate leading into the compound, which he could only assume was because they were meant to monitor the only entrance he could see.  Granted, he could probably leap over the walls or use his Pattern box to fly over, but he didn’t have a real reason to do that yet.

Instead, he walked up to the sturdy gate and knocked loudly and with enough strength that the gate shook a bit from the impact.

Almost immediately, the person on the inside stirred at the noise as they moved slightly before pausing for a moment. A few seconds went by before they moved even further, heading to the right of the gate on the inside of the compound, where they seemed to be climbing up a ladder.  Only about 30 seconds after he knocked, a face appeared over the top of the wooden walls, peering down at the two of them.

“W-What do you want?  No one’s here.”

Gauging by his appearance and slightly nervous stutter, the young man that called down to them was expecting the worst.  He wasn’t sure how bad the tension between the two Factions had gotten, but the Martial that was practically shaking as he spoke seemed ready to break at any time.  A quick glance at the remaining member of the Strike Faction’s internal source of Stama, which Larek could now detect in most people due to his Skill, he was very new to utilizing his potential as a Martial. 

That’s probably why he was left behind.  He’d be more of a liability than an asset inside the Calamity’s territory.

“Hello there!  I’m well aware that no one is inside – which is the reason I’m here in the first place.  I just have some questions for you—”

“I don’t know anything.  Go away!” the young man shouted, before disappearing off the top of the wall.

“Hey!  Where are you going?” he shouted back, but there was no answer.  From his Magical Detection Skill, he could sense that the Strike Faction member was already nearly down the wall and was likely going to be heading back into the building nearby. 

Now was the time to take a little more drastic action.  Turning to Nedira, he said, “I’ll be right back.”  With a few steps forward and a giant leap, his hands managed to reach the top edge of the 25 foot walls, and he immediately pulled himself over.  Dropping over to the other side, he landed just in front of the young man, who reared back in horror at Larek’s appearance.

“It isn’t polite to just walk away when I was asking you a question,” the Martial Fusionist began to say, but the Strike Faction member panicked and drew a sword from his belt.  With a clumsy lunge in his direction, Larek easily sidestepped the slow strike and grabbed the man’s wrist and arm, and with a squeeze he disarmed the relatively weak Martial in a matter of seconds.  He could sense some fumbling within the young man’s Stama pool, but rather than risk the Faction member hurting himself, Larek reached out and flicked his temple hard enough that it knocked him out. 

Yet another maneuver I learned back at the Fort.

Laying the unconscious body of the young man at his feet, he walked over and removed the bar on the gate, before opening it just enough that Nedira could slip through.

“What did you do?!” she hissed when she saw the Faction member.

He waved off her concern.  “I just knocked him out; he’ll be fine.”

She made him carry him inside the nearest building, which appeared to be an overly large guardhouse for the compound.  He could only assume that the Strike Faction spent almost as much time and manpower protecting itself from the other Faction in the city as it did assaulting the nearby Apertures, that such a building was needed.

Placing the young man on what appeared to be his own bed, he was about to heal him to wake him up when he stopped and looked around. 

It quickly became obvious that this was more than a guardhouse.  Judging by the maps pinned up against the walls near a sitting area, as well as scattered papers along a few tables, it was either a staging area for the leaders of the Strike Faction or the Martial he had just knocked out had brought it all there to study it.

“Looks like this is exactly what we needed,” Larek said, waving at all the maps.  He could see that they mainly concentrated on the vast circle of land that the Aperture’s territory inhabited, hundreds of miles in diameter, though he wasn’t quite familiar enough with the geography of the area to pinpoint everything precisely.  He had a general understanding of the area, but he’d never really finished all of his Geography of the SIC classes, after all.  Then again, the landscape was likely vastly different inside the Calamity as it conformed to Aperture at the center. 

“Yes, this is precisely the kind of information that’ll help us find the Strike Faction and Verne, if he’s still with them,” Nedira said, beginning to look over the pinned maps.  Larek started perusing the papers on the tables, and as he began reading what appeared to be large quantities of notes, he began to obtain a better picture of exactly what the Calamity really was.

“This is… this… how do they expect to get to the Aperture, let alone close it?” he asked in a whisper, shocked at what he was reading.

“What are you talking about?”

Larek waved at the papers that he was still looking through.  “The Calamity.  I didn’t really understand what it was until now; or at least, if these notes are accurate, I’m beginning to comprehend the sheer enormity and danger they pose.”

“Why?  What did they know?”

He picked up one paper and tried to summarize what it – and the other papers – said for her.  “According to this, the Calamity started when a single Aperture was left to grow larger because it was being used to accumulate resources.  Apparently, the original monsters were Steel Slimes, which were slow, relatively resistant to physical damage, but highly vulnerable to most magical spells.  The steel that came from their bodies was used in weapon and armor manufacturing, as well as a number of other projects, and those in charge of keeping it culled got greedy and let it expand so that they would have more to farm for additional steel. 

“At some point, some of the Steel Slimes evolved into Rainbow Slimes, which had the same physical resistances but also had a higher resistance to magical spells.  They were also much faster, stronger, and deadlier – a bad combination for anyone fighting them.  It doesn’t say here what happened after that happened, but I’m guessing that they were taken completely unprepared and were therefore unable to handle the stronger Slimes. The end result was that they inadvertently allowed the Aperture’s territory to expand yet again – which is where the major problems began.

“Similar to how the large Aperture underneath the desert of Lowenthal absorbed the other Apertures underground that it intersected with, so too did the Slime Aperture – though in a different way.  Unlike what he Umbral Demons did, which was essentially to consolidate all of the other Apertures into one single, giant Aperture, the original Calamity Apertures instead kept the other Apertures exactly where they were; that means that all the absorbed Apertures still operate where they’re originally located, converting the landscape around them, and continue to churn out monsters.  They also don’t grow any larger than they were when they were originally absorbed into the Calamity – which seems like it could be a benefit.

“However, it says here that these ‘subservient’ Apertures cannot be closed; they are permanent fixtures that perpetually produce more monsters.  More than that, most of them have begun to evolve their monsters despite not expanding their territory, depending on if they are culled frequently or not.  That means that most of the Apertures around the perimeter are still relatively weak, but the further one gets to the original Slime Aperture, the more evolved and stronger the monsters will be.

“These notes here,” he continued, picking up a different paper, “say that the monsters are highly aggressive, especially if you move further into the Calamity’s territory.  Borders deep within the Calamity are a bit more fluid, meaning that if you attack the monsters from one subservient Aperture, it’s entirely possible for adjacent Apertures to send their monsters as reinforcements. 

“But what makes the original Aperture nearly impossible to close is the fact that once it obtains the subservient Apertures, it also can’t be closed.  At least, not in a way that the SIC members in the past were able to figure out, as they had to retreat when they were overwhelmed by every monster within its territory that came to defend it.  But the Strike Faction, as well as the remainder of the SIC leadership, seems to think the only way to actually close the Calamities is to kill every single monster from every Aperture after they attack the original Aperture.”

He shook his head, overwhelmed by the enormity of the problem that the Strike Faction faced.

“How do they know that?”

“Huh?  Oh, uh, where… oh, here it is,” Larek responded, finding a different paper with notes on it.  “Apparently, early on in the Calamity’s expansion, it was noticed that attacking the main Aperture – in this case, the original Steel Slime one – paused the creation of monsters from all the other Apertures within its territory.  It was hypothesized that this was due to all the monsters converging upon the central Aperture for defense, leaving the influence of subservient Apertures that normally controlled them, so they were unable to initiate the creation of additional monsters. 

“Based on observations, each Aperture can only produce a fixed number of monsters until they expand their territory, and without being able to tell if their monsters are still active or not, they are held in a kind of stasis state.  At least, that’s what these notes say; I haven’t seen it myself, so I can’t say how accurate it is.  It’s also possible that they have other reasons to believe that this method will work, but these notes don’t mention them.”

“Their hypothesis makes sense to me,” Nedira said after nearly a minute of silence as they continued to look through the notes and maps.  “What doesn’t make sense is why they chose to do this now, and with a limited number of Faction members.  It seems like suicide to go in there with less than 100 people – but apparently they did just that.”

“How many did they have?” Larek asked.

She picked up a list of names with Specializations marked next to them, along with a few notes.  “Only 92, though half of them seemed to be veterans of the SIC.  That will help them, but against… how many monsters are there likely to be?” she asked, seeing that he also had a list – but it was a list of known Apertures inside the Calamity.

“254 subservient Apertures, all with their own monsters.  The number of monsters varies with each Aperture, of course, but for a brand-new Aperture I’d say that they number between 40 to 200, depending on their strength.  Even if there were only 40 per Aperture, we’re still talking about over 10,000 monsters – and that’s not even considering what is around the original Aperture.  The real number is likely many times that, as these notes say that at least half of the subservient Apertures had expanded at least once before they were swallowed up, and with perhaps a third of them that haven’t been culled in a while possessing stronger, evolved monsters, I can’t even hazard a guess at how many there were.  It wouldn’t surprise me if there were 100,000 monsters inside – and that could be low-balling it.”

They stood there in silence as his words seemed to suck all the life out of the room, but he shook it off as he continued.  “What I don’t understand is how the Strike Faction expects to kill all of them, if their hypothesis is even true.  With only 92 members of their Faction against 10,000 monsters, I might be able to see them being able to succeed, if with major casualties, but ten times that amount or more?  No, it doesn’t make sense.”

They continued to look around the tables and on the maps, and while they found “V.” listed as accompanying the group, the exact route they were going to take to get to the center, an inventory of supplies brought with them, and approximate travel time (which was listed as three weeks of hard travel), and even an inventory of individual weapons, armor, and Fusions – which were relatively basic and standard, ranging from +1 and +2 boosts to Sharpening Fusions – there were no notes detailing what they were going to do once they got to the central Aperture. 

“There has to be some sort of plan, as they wouldn’t go unless they thought they could succeed,” Nedira muttered, and Larek couldn’t help but agree.  As they were going over everything again for the third time, looking for whatever they might have missed, the Fusionist heard a groan from behind him, and he turned around to see the Martial he had knocked unconscious starting to stir.  It was an indication of how new the young man was to being a Martial that he didn’t even have a high enough Body Regeneration Skill to fix him quickly enough to wake up faster; by his estimates, Larek thought that they had already been looking through everything for almost an hour.

“Perhaps our friend here has some ideas.  Shall we ask him?” the Fusionist asked.

It was at that point that the young Martial sat up with his hand rubbing his temple, his eyes bleary-looking as he looked around.  He suddenly froze when his vision cleared enough to see Larek and Nedira standing there, staring straight at him with predatory gazes.

“Yes, I think that would be a wonderful idea.”


Chapter 44

“Well, that was a waste of time,” Larek remarked, walking out the gate leading into the Strike Faction compound.  Inside of Nedira’s Void Pocket bag was a collection of the papers and maps that they had found in the guardhouse in case they needed to reference them, but as for obtaining any other information from the Martial left in charge of the place… that didn’t turn out so well.

“I know!  I can’t believe he didn’t have any information!” Nedira exclaimed, quite perturbed.  Larek felt the same, but he didn’t respond with anything other than a grunt of acknowledgement. 

He shouldn’t have been surprised that Flint, the Martial that had been knocked out so easily by Larek, didn’t know anything about why the Strike Faction thought that they could succeed against the Calamity.  It had been obvious as soon as he opened his mouth that the young man didn’t have any information, especially after the Fusionist heard that Flint had only become a Martial and joined the Faction four days prior.  In fact, there was so much that he didn’t know that he had brought every paper full of notes and maps that had been left behind and brought them to the guardhouse, where he studied them in anticipation of following behind the rest of the Faction at some point.  It was a foolish idea, of course, traveling through the Calamity’s territory by oneself, as even Larek would be wary of doing so alone; but the fanaticism he sensed within the new Faction recruit was fervent enough that he wouldn’t be surprised if the young man carried through with his plan at some point in the future.  

Unlike what Larek had experienced with the Strike Faction in Bardington, which was also filled with primarily veteran SIC members, this particular branch of the Faction in Warshdin was populated by fanatics.  They didn’t just subscribe to the philosophy that it would be better if they could strike at the heart of the Calamity and close it, they actively disliked anyone who disagreed with them, and they spent considerable time planning and preparing for the time when they could actually attack the Apertures inside.  From the panicked fanaticism that Flint spouted, the Fusionist got the sense that they pushed themselves to journey deeper into the Calamity at every chance, risked themselves to scout possible routes through it, and made themselves a nuisance around the city when they constantly asked for more volunteers and preached to those that would listen that their way was the only hope of salvation.

Not that Larek necessarily disagreed that closing down the Calamities would be the best for everyone, but with the chances of success heavily against them, he couldn’t understand what had prompted them to move now. 

“So, what do we do now?” the Naturalist asked as they walked down the street with no real destination in mind. 

Larek only had to think about it for a few seconds before he answered.  “Our original intention in coming here hasn’t changed.  If it is indeed Verne that had been here, then we need to find him; not only because he was my roommate and friend, but because he may have a lead on your brother.”

“While I agree with you, you’re talking about the two of us heading into the Calamity and following in the Faction’s footsteps, which – as we’ve just learned – is extremely dangerous.  Are you sure that is the wisest choice?”

He shook his head.  “Wisest?  Most definitely not.  Our only choice?  Again, not really.  But I’m going to do it anyway.  If you want, you can stay here and keep Flint from doing something stupid like journeying into the Calamity when he can barely protect himself from a Bog Goblin.”

“Uh, no, don’t be ridiculous.  If you’re determined to go in there, I’m coming with you,” she said with finality.

I wonder if she’s going to be this stubborn when it comes time for me to go up against the Gergasi and rescue my family. 

“He’s my friend, too, and I’m not going to let you go alone.”

He took her hand in his and squeezed it gently, giving her a smile.  “I’d love to have you with me,” he said, realizing he really meant that.  They made a good team, and now that he felt a bit more comfortable protecting her with his still burgeoning Martial abilities, he knew he could do even better in the future.  Even though he was still planning on facing his real father and the other “great ones” alone, he couldn’t imagine rushing into a Calamity without her.

“Good, because you’re not getting rid of me that easily.  Where you go, I go; I’m not losing you again like I did nearly five years ago.”

“Don’t worry, I’m not planning on going anywhere.  Well, other than into the heart of one of the most dangerous places in this world, of course,” he added with a chuckle.

“Speaking of that, what’s the plan?  Just rush in there, find them, and bring Verne back out?”

He shrugged.  “We know their route and can approximate how far they’ve traveled, so… sure?”  He thought about fighting their way north, killing monsters along the way to accumulate Aetheric Force, but from what he’d heard, the longer they were inside the territory, the more likely they would encounter something that they couldn’t easily handle.  In addition, if they stopped to kill monsters, they might even become overwhelmed if other Apertures sent their monsters as reinforcements; knowing that they weren’t constrained by the limits of their normal territories made them extra dangerous, because unless they took the time to kill everything that arrived as reinforcements, then they could potentially be followed for miles, if not perpetually. 

With that basic plan in mind, they started backtracking through the city toward the gate they came through originally.  Halfway there and not wanting to waste any more time, he stopped in an alleyway with the intention of forming a Pattern box around the two of them so that they could fly straight up and then north toward the Calamity; but just as he was about to do so, he heard a shout coming from the only open end of the alleyway. 

“Stop right there!”

As Larek looked up in surprise, he saw a group of five people standing right where they had passed a few moments before, and he immediately determined that they were all Mages and Martials.  They were joined a few seconds later by another dozen or so that appeared behind them, presenting a wall of figures that completely blocked them from escaping.

Even though they were only about 40 feet away from each other, he shouted back, “What do you want?  We have no business with you.”  While he spoke, he was already pulling out his Pattern Cohesion and prepared himself; while he could easily form the Pattern box beneath the two of them, he was wary of doing so if these people ended up attacking them.  He could see at least one of the Martials with a bow, arrow nocked and ready to fire, and some Mages could cast spells fast enough that they might hit the both of them before they could escape.  Not that he was too worried, especially with their Automatic Ice Repulsion Fields, but he didn’t want to put Nedira in danger unnecessarily.

“You came into the city; that’s all the business that matters.  With the Strike Faction away, the Defend Faction is employing the service of any Mages and Martials that enter, so you’ll have to come with us.”  The man shouting back at them was smaller than the average Kingdom citizen, but his voice was strong and deep enough that it wouldn’t have been odd coming from someone much larger – such as someone who was Larek’s original size.  Despite the authoritative tone, and the feeling of acute strength coming from the commanding Martial, Larek shook his head.

“No, I don’t think we will.  Now, if you don’t mind, we were just leaving.”

“That’s not an option at this point,” the man replied snidely, waving around him.  “If you didn’t notice, you’re severely outnumbered and blocked in. Your only option is to come along quietly, serve your time here helping to close some of the nearby Apertures and cull the fringes of the Calamity, and you can be on your way.  Should only take, oh, four or five months, max.”

“We don’t have time for this,” Nedira said suddenly, cutting into the conversation between the two of them.  “Would you be a dear and get us out of here?” she asked with a wink in Larek’s direction.

He gave her a little half-bow.  “By your command,” he said as seriously as he could while trying not to laugh.  He could sense that the one who was making demands of them was becoming enraged at them chatting with each other, and as he stepped forward, his mouth open to yell some more, Larek used his Pattern Cohesion to form the Pattern box around them. 

Before he could start rising into the air, two things happened in quick succession.  The man who had been shouting at them suddenly disappeared from where he had been and appeared behind the two of them, two knives in his hand.  His speed was so high that even though Larek saw him moving, to anyone else it would’ve looked like he teleported.  As the anger in the man’s face chafed at the disrespect that Larek was showing him, he stabbed forward with his knives, intending to strike Nedira in the back.

Simultaneously, an arrow whistled through the air, accompanied by two Fireballs launched by some of the Mages in loudmouth’s group, aiming straight for Larek.  With his combat awareness being something he’d been working on over the last two months, he was more than able to sense all of these simultaneous attacks, but now he had to figure out what to do about them.  His focus was already slightly shaken from the abrupt assault, so lifting them into the air suddenly was out; he was afraid that he would rush it and move too quickly, likely hurting Nedira in the process. 

That left defending themselves, but for Larek there wasn’t any real choice as to who to defend.  Flexing another portion of his Pattern Cohesion, he quickly formed a Pattern shield between the astonishingly quick Martial and Nedira’s back, while he let the arrow and fireballs continue unimpeded.  The knife-wielding Faction member’s knives slammed against Larek’s shield, coming to a complete stop and surprising the man so much that he stumbled backwards.  A half-second later, Larek’s Automatic Ice Repulsion Field activated and easily blocked the projectiles, to the astonishment of the one who launched them.

As everyone froze in shock at what had just happened, the Martial Fusionist took advantage of the temporary lull.  “That was a mistake, trying to attack my betrothed,” he said, even as he slammed his Pattern shield into the knife-wielding Martial with bone-crunching force.  The man, despite having enough Strength to make him a threat, was sent flying, eventually crashing painfully into the end of the alleyway, which was created from mortared stone blocks stacked on top of each other.  The impact was so hard against the stone that one of the larger stone blocks even shifted slightly, causing the wall to rumble; fortunately, it didn’t fall, but it was probably the first time it had taken that kind of abuse.

As much as he wanted to retaliate further against the man, as well as against the others plugging up the alleyway, he instead moved the Pattern shield to protect them from further projectiles and then took them straight up in the box.  They moved a little faster than was probably prudent, and Nedira held onto his arm as her weight was pressed against the bottom of the construct, but in a few seconds, they were 500 feet above the city.

“Thanks,” Nedira said as they stopped rising and headed north instead. 

“You’re welcome.  I don’t understand what just happened, though.”

“Uh, you just smashed that guy nearly through a wall with a thought, is what happened,” she replied with a chuckle, and he felt some of the tension leave him as he joined in. 

“Yes, but why did they attack in the first place?  Didn’t they want us to join them?”

She shook her head.  “Probably not.  They knew we were there to see or join the Strike Faction, and from what we observed or heard, the two Factions were at extreme odds the entire time they were in the city.  It wouldn’t surprise me if they took it upon themselves to eliminate anyone who wasn’t likely to join them; it was made all the easier since the Strike Faction isn’t there to protest or retaliate.”

“That’s stupid.  We’re all supposed to be on the same side, aren’t we?  Even if we were part of the Strike Faction, wouldn’t thinning out their numbers be to their benefit?”

“You would think so.  Unfortunately, these types of things don’t always make sense or work out the way we want, do they?  I just hope this isn’t a sign of things to come.”

Smiling and shaking his head, Larek lightly nudged her with his elbow.  “Don’t you know you can’t say stuff like that out loud?” he joked.  He still remembered Verne telling him the same thing when they set out for Copperleaf Academy after he had hoped that they would have a boring road journey, and that night they were attacked by Bog Goblins. 

She smiled sadly back at him as she likely remembered the same thing.  “We’ll find him, Larek.  If he’s out there, we’ll bring him back safely.”

“I know we will,” he said with as much conviction as he could muster.

Over the next few minutes, Larek gradually brought the Pattern box down in altitude, until they were only about 50 feet above the ground.  He continued moving north at a decent speed, growing ever closer to the Calamity’s border; he could feel it more than see it, as it was an oppressive tingle at the back of his mind that only got stronger the further north they went.  He thought that he had gotten used to it when they had been traveling before, but actually approaching it was something completely different.

When he felt like he was right on the threshold, he stopped the Pattern box and looked down at the landscape.  Around them was a plain of short grass over gently rolling hills, a few stands of trees dotted around the area, but it otherwise looked relatively normal.  Directly below them was a pathway that had been tread by many feet, and he knew this was where the different Factions entered the Calamity for different reasons, from culling to exploration and planning, and it was this pathway that the Strike Faction had taken on their journey north into the Calamity.

This clear pathway through the grass was also cut off completely when it intersected the territory of the Calamity.  A clear dividing line was visible where the pathway seemed to disappear, erased entirely by the environmental changes set upon the area by the Aperture in charge.  And the environmental changes were significant, to say the least; given that the original Aperture had Steel Slimes as its monster, he supposed that it made sense that it would be different – though he wasn’t exactly expecting this, despite reading about it in the notes they took from the Strike Faction.

Past that dividing line was a stretch of hard-looking dark rock, obsidian if what he read was correct.  Where there were trees before were now pillars of a multi-colored metal, which were apparently so strong that they couldn’t be cut by anything, and the hills that gently rolled through the area just outside the territory were blockier in shape, as if carved out of the landscape rather than formed naturally over time.  From what he could tell, there was not a single living thing within his sight nor in his awareness, though he was sure that would change the further in they went.

“Ready?”

Nedira nodded, readying her staff just in case it was needed.  With any luck, it wouldn’t be; despite the notes detailing what they would find, it was possible they might be surprised by something along the way. 

Without another word, he eased through the border of the Calamity, feeling the oppressive tingle increase to an annoying buzz all over his body.  Once they were completely through, it almost completely disappeared, prompting Larek to exhale a breath of relief.  He thought that if he’d had to feel that the entire time, he would’ve had an extremely difficult time during their journey.  Unfortunately, his next breath in was dry and metallic tasting, as the environment of the Steel Slimes – and Rainbow Slimes, if not something even more dangerous – made itself known.  

Checking around them once again to see if their entrance had elicited any type of response, the two of them began moving forward when everything seemed clear.  Nedira brought out her maps and began identifying nearby landmarks, which quickly oriented Larek and got him headed in the right direction.

And thus, they started their rescue journey of their friend and former roommate, Verne.  If they were careful enough, they’d be in and out within a day or two, because they could move much faster than the Strike group.

That is, of course, if the group was still alive.  He refused to think otherwise, and kept his attention on flying over the strange, foreign landscape that had once been the northwestern portion of the Kingdom.


Chapter 45

“Where are they?” Nedira grumped, staring out over the edge of the box.  “They should be in sight, according to the schedule.”

“Perhaps they changed it?  Or went a different way other than what was left at their compound?”  He wasn’t sure why they would do that, since it seemed like a good – if foolish – plan.  “Unless… they left them there deliberately?” he proposed.

After traveling for a full day, following the route marked out on the maps they’d taken from Warshdin, they hadn’t seen any sign of the Strike Faction.  It didn’t help that no tracks were left behind from their passage on the stone landscape, but even so, both Larek and Nedira had thought that they would see some sort of indication that they were going in the right direction.  Unfortunately, there was absolutely nothing… at least nothing regarding the ones they were seeking.

But that didn’t mean they didn’t see anything at all.  Flying over the Calamity’s territory was relatively uninteresting, as while they eventually found what appeared to be random sightings of Steel Slimes and even a single Rainbow Slime, there really wasn’t much variety in the environment.  Some places had more metal poles that replaced trees than others; a few areas had rivers that appeared unchanged at a glance, but once he looked closer at them, he realized they weren’t clear but slightly greyish in color; and there was even one section the map they were following had them go around, which appeared to be dozens of large, spiky boxes that was identified as being a small town at some point in the recent past.  Why the route went around it, he wasn’t sure, but he couldn’t deny that it appeared very unwelcoming in general.

But those were just the boring parts.  What was interesting to see were the subservient Aperture territories, because they provided a significant contrast to the almost monochrome color of the rest of the environment.  “Normal” environments, as in grassland or forests, appeared like little oases upon a sea of darkness, and the more extreme territories, such as one that contained snow and ice, or, in another instance, one that seemed themed after light and illumination, were nearly blinding in their intensity. At one point he saw a desert that reminded him of Lowenthal, and another Aperture seemed to be some sort of swamp-like area, with decaying vegetation and stagnant-looking pools of water.  In total, they passed by a total of 13 different Apertures as they followed the route on the maps, though most of them were at a distance.  In only a few of them was he able to actually see any monsters, but these were all relatively weak in strength because they were culled more often by those venturing inside – such as those belonging to the Defend Faction.

From what he understood, it was this constant culling that prevented the Calamity from expanding any further; if it was ever interrupted for a significant amount of time at any point around the perimeter of the Calamity, there was a chance that it would lead to the expansion of its territory.  It was this fact that led to the creation of the Defend Faction, or so he’d learned, because keeping it stable through defense rather than attempting to close the Aperture at the center was safer… and more profitable. 

From the notes he’d read, the Strike Faction despised the short-sighted and profit-minded objectives of the Defend Faction, who hunted subservient Apertures just inside the Calamity for meat and other useful resources, but they also killed and harvested the steel that came from Steel Slimes – just like the ones that had caused the Calamity in the first place. It was this fact that made very few of those keeping it stable and “safe” from wanting to close it, as it made those kinds of resources easy to acquire without too much effort.

Larek could see both sides of the argument and agreed somewhat with both of them, even if he leaned more toward eventually achieving the Strike Faction’s end result.

But not like this.  However well-thought-out their plan was, they just didn’t have the people or the resources to defend against the entire Calamity’s worth of monsters.

“Why would they do that?  Why would they leave deliberately false information inside their… conveniently empty… poorly defended… compound?” Nedira asked, comprehension clearly dawning on her as she spoke. 

“What is it?”

“Remember how we were attacked back at Warshdin?  I can only assume that the animosity between the two Factions is greater than we know, and all this information we gained was meant for the Defend Faction to find.”

“Why?  What’s the point of that?”

She shrugged.  “Who knows?  Perhaps they are setting a trap in case the Defend Faction follows them?  Maybe they aren’t actually heading for the center to close the Aperture but are planning something else?  I suppose it doesn’t really matter why they did it; what matters now is that we don’t know where they actually are.”

Larek didn’t like the explanations Nedira came up with, even though he didn’t have any proof that they weren’t accurate.  It was more a feeling that the Strike Faction was actually going through with their original plan to close the Aperture, even if their route and itinerary found back at the compound was false.

Shaking his head, he said, “Not exactly.  I have a very good feeling that they haven’t given up on their original plan to attack the Calamity’s main Aperture, so they’re more than likely still heading there.  We might not know precisely where they are right now, but we still know their destination.”

“I’m not sure I agree, but I’ve learned to trust you when you get these ideas into your head,” she said with a brief chuckle.  “So, if it’s the case that they are still moving toward the center of the Calamity, what’s the plan?”

Larek needed a moment to rest and think.  Setting the Pattern box down on the obsidian covering the environment around them, he absorbed the Pattern Cohesion and sat down on the slightly warm ground.  They’d taken a few breaks over the last day, getting just enough rest to keep going, but he was starting to feel extremely exhausted.  From leaving at night from Fort Hilltower until now, he’d only gotten a few hours of sleep over the last few days, and it was catching up with him.  He had hoped that their journey through the Calamity would’ve been nearing completion by now, but that didn’t seem like it was going to happen anytime soon.

Pulling out his Secure Hideaway Fusion, he activated it to camouflage them from any monsters that might wander by, even if they hadn’t seen anything near them from above. 

“More than anything, we both need to get some decent sleep,” he began, pulling out some bedrolls from his Void Pocket Sack, followed by some meat and bread.  It wasn’t exactly evening yet, but it was still late enough that he could consider this dinner.  “After that,” he said around mouthfuls as both chewed rapidly through their meals, “we’ll have to make a new plan.  I mean, we could fly over this entire section of the Calamity and still miss them, if we’re not looking in the right place at the right time.”

“Absolutely,” Nedira agreed.  “I’ll take a look at the maps in the morning and see if I can figure out where they really went.”

After they were done eating, they settled down in their bedrolls, with Nedira placing hers right next to Larek’s so that they could share them together.  As he laid down on his back, she snuggled up next to him and rested her head on his chest with her arm draped over him; within seconds, she was asleep, and it didn’t take long for him to follow her into dreamy unconsciousness.

*          *          *

The Martial Fusionist woke up abruptly, his sense of something wrong screaming at him.  It only took a half-second for him to apply his Magical Detection Skill to his surroundings, wherein he immediately discovered absences in the area around his Secure Hideaway. As his eyes flew open and he turned his head to the side, he discovered what it was that he sensed.

Around the perimeter of the barrier that protected them were a half-dozen metallic-colored blobs, which he immediately recognized as the Steel Slimes they had been seeing periodically as they traveled through the Calamity.  With the early morning sun just breaking over the horizon, Larek was able to see them clearly and on the same level, to see that they were approximately 5 feet wide and 3 feet tall, shiny, metallic blobs, but that changed as they moved.  Stretching themselves up until they produced a single arm-like appendage, the Steel Slimes then slammed their amorphous arms down on the Secure Hideaway’s barrier like a powerful fist knocking on a door. 

Except that these knocks were powerful enough to crush someone into goo if they weren’t careful.  What they were also doing was cracking open the defenses of his Fusion like a hammer to a walnut.  He’d never actually had something attack the air barrier around his Secure Hideaway like this before, and while he knew it had 500 damage resistance, he could immediately sense that it wasn’t going to be enough.  Against one or two of the Steel Slimes, it probably would’ve been fine; against six of them, however, it wasn’t able to withstand their constant attacks as they pounded on the barrier with no obvious end in sight. 

“Nedira, wake up!” he yelled, probably a little too loud for the woman still draped across him, but he’d apologize later.  As gently as he could, he pushed her off of his chest and sprang to his feet after momentarily getting tangled up in his bedroll, and it only took a second to grab his Void Pocket sack, reach inside, and pull out his halberd.  Grasping it securely in his hand, he was glad that he had taken the time during one of their rest stops to add at least a Strengthen and Sharpen Edge +7 Fusion to the blade and point, as well as a Strengthen +10 Fusion to the shaft; he was still intending to add some other Fusions, such as the VREP to the butt end to act as a Mage staff would, as well as a Variable Elemental Gust Sphere to the stabbing point on the opposite end, but hadn’t had the chance to do that quite yet.  They’d been on the move since he’d had to flee the Fort, and the two Fusions he did manage to add were only possible because they didn’t take long or require too much focus – which recovering from using too much focus for his Pattern box to fly was the main point of stopping in the first place. 

Just as he settled himself into his stance, with Nedira groggily waking up and coming to terms with what was happening, the air barrier suddenly disappeared after all six of the Steel Slimes impacted it within a second of each other.  To Larek, there was an odd feeling that grabbed his attention, and he immediately looked down at the steel plate that he had used for his Secure Hideaway Fusion; it took him a full second to comprehend what had happened, and he stared at the Fusion in disbelief.

Or more accurately, he stared at what used to be a Secure Hideaway Fusion, but was now what appeared to be a solid grid of Pattern Cohesion.  All of the symbols and connections had been fused together, completely eliminating any Effects, Magnitudes, Inputs, Variables, Activation Methods, or Mana Costs.  The Mana that had been infused into the formation was still present, but all it did was sit inside the solid grid, doing absolutely nothing.

I guess that’s what happens when the barrier breaks or gets overwhelmed; I guess we’re lucky it didn’t crack completely and blow up.

He would’ve thought that the barrier would’ve simply shut down if it received too much damage, but he realized that he hadn’t put any contingency inside the formation to make that happen.  It was something that he’d have to fix in the future, because he couldn’t count on it simply fusing all together and not exploding the next time it happened.

The Steel Slimes were already moving toward them as soon as the barrier came down, and while Larek was distracted by the broken Fusion, one of them rolled close enough to him to start stretching out an appendage that was intending to smash into the Fusionist just as it had smashed through the barrier.  His combat awareness eventually snapped him out of his contemplation of his Fusion, and he instinctively swept out with his weapon, its length more than long enough to reach the extended appendage.  Its blade was sharp enough that it cut through the Slime’s reaching pseudo-arm, and as soon as it was separated from the rest of its body, it suddenly hardened from the jelly-like appearance it had before and fell to the ground in an inert lump.

The metallic monster’s body seemed to ripple and vibrate for a second after it lost a portion of its bulk, showing that it at least was aware of what happened, if not being affected by pain.  It hesitated for a brief second as it pulled its cleaved appendage back into its body, but that was all the opening that Larek needed.  Seeing that he could damage it, he stepped forward and quickly slashed once, twice, and then three times, cutting large chunks of the Slime off its main body.  He could tell that, just before impact, the Slime would suddenly harden its exterior to the consistency of steel, but his halberd blade was sharp enough to cut even through the hard metal defense.

The “wounds” he caused seemed superficial as the monster simply condensed upon itself and reformed smaller, but that was when he remembered that Slimes had internal cores; destroy the core inside of them and the Slime would die.  As such, he switched to stabbing the monster with the point of his weapon, hoping that he would get lucky and pierce wherever the core was located.  As he did this, he glanced at Nedira behind him as she got to her feet after grabbing the staff that always laid next to her as she slept, and she immediately began launching magical projectiles even as she swayed a little from the abrupt awakening. 

Thankfully, she seemed to understand what was happening without him explaining, and a steady stream of flying stones flew out of the tip of her staff, piercing through the exterior of the Steel Slimes, as they were largely magical in nature.  Still, the monsters’ physical resistance played a part by not letting the stone slivers penetrate more than a few inches, but when dozens of them slammed into one of the Slimes in concentrated rapid succession, it was enough to push them deeper, eventually traveling far enough to find and pierce the core.  As soon as that happened, the metallic monster immediately froze and hardened into a stone-filled blob of steel, completely inert.

Meanwhile, Larek also got lucky and managed to find the core in the one he was fighting, as he pierced the point of his halberd deeply into its body.  Unfortunately, the form of the Slime flowed over the head of his weapon, trapping it inside; when it hardened into pure steel, his weapon was trapped inside and he couldn’t tear it out.  Even as he yanked on the shaft in a vain attempt to extricate it, the other four Slimes were already closing in on them.  Nedira engaged one and would be able to kill it, but not before the other three reached the them both.

Abandoning his weapon, Larek reached down and pulled a bundle of Mage staves from his sack; before he could untie the rope that bound them together, a steel appendage flew toward him, and he instinctively pointed the entire bundle toward the attacking slime and mentally activated the same barrage of flying stones to emerge from the few staves he was actively touching. 

To his surprise, he apparently didn’t need to touch all of them, because all 20 of the staves fired simultaneously.  A veritable wall of sharp stone slivers flew out and struck the Slime, over and over again, completely obliterating it within two seconds.  As Larek got over his shock of watching stone and chunks of steel flying backwards from the incredible impact, he turned the bundle toward the other two Slimes and did the same thing, killing them almost as soon as he aimed at them, finishing them off just as Nedira killed the other one she was defending against.

“What… what was that?”

Larek looked a little sheepishly at her as he held the bundle in his hands.  “Uh, well, I couldn’t get one of them undone in time?” he asked with a shrug and a quiet laugh.  The laughter faded as he looked down at the bundle, immediately noticing the price he had to pay for doing such a thing.

The Fusions on all of the staves were degraded and fading away even as he watched.  With the incredible amount of ambient Mana that was sucked from the environment in such a short amount of time, the VREP Fusions – being in such close proximity – basically cannibalized each other to feed the magical Effects of the Fusions.  Thankfully, they weren’t “destroyed”, which could cause them to explode; rather, they were drained and were unable to recover even as ambient Mana rushed into the area.  As he watched, they continued falling apart and eventually faded, only leaving a hint of their former presence.

“Well, I guess that means I won’t be doing that again.  Or at least not very often,” Larek said, dropping the bundle back into the sack.  He would spend some time replacing those Fusions at some point, but not at the moment; he had more important things to do, such as freeing his halberd.

Thankfully, all it took was using his Logger’s axe, which had an equally sharp Fusion on it, to cut away enough of the steel around the head of the halberd to free it.  Once he had extricated it from the lump of dead Steel Slime, he looked around to see if there were any more Slimes headed their way.

While he didn’t see any more nearby, what he did see made him concerned.  Approximately three miles to the northeast was a subservient Aperture with a grassland and forest environment, and while he had seen it from a distance, he hadn’t seen any monsters there.  The maps they had were helpful in that regard, because they listed the types of monsters they would encounter along the route, and this one in particular was known to the map’s creator.

Razor Locusts.

And, if he wasn’t mistaken, there was a swarm of the 2-foot-long, razor-legged flying insect monsters heading their way.  By the way they had left their territory, it became quite clear that they were coming to the defense of the Steel Slimes, even though they were already slain. 

“Uh… we need to go.  We need to go right now!”


Chapter 46

It turned out that Larek could keep ahead of the Razor Locust swarm that followed them, and he could even get so far ahead of them that they disappeared over the horizon, but they quickly discovered that it didn’t matter.

Because they didn’t stop coming.  Being in the territory of the Calamity, the Locusts could apparently track them everywhere and anywhere they went.  The only way to lose them completely was to exit the Calamity, but that was impossible at the moment; they were over a day away from the border, and Larek couldn’t concentrate on his Pattern box that long without resting.  If they rested, then the Locust swarm would catch up.

And there were tens of thousands of the flying insects, so many to the point where they would blot out the sun if they flew overhead.  From what he knew about them, which Nedira confirmed after he questioned if she had any other information on them, they normally attacked in small swarms of 25 to 50, even in the days of Scissions appearing around the Kingdom, using their razor-sharp legs to slice up their victims with vicious speed.  The behavior of them when acting as subservient reinforcements to the Calamity’s own monsters was more proof that attacking the Aperture in the center was foolish without thousands of Mages and Martials all participating simultaneously. 

But all the local Strike Faction had was less than 100 people with them – which was definitely not enough.

“If we can’t outrun them or hide, we might as well kill them,” Larek said after an hour of trying to flee from the Locusts, grabbing two Mage staves – a pair from a different bunch which hadn’t been damaged from his earlier stunt against the Steel Slimes – from his sack. 

“Fine by me,” Nedira said, as Larek slowed the box’s movement down, allowing them to float gently north as he began matching speed with the pursuing bugs.  Soon enough, the buzzing of what seemed like countless wings hit them like a wall of sound, but Larek pushed through the slight disturbance in his focus and maintained a distance of approximately 50 feet from the leading edge of the swarm.

At that distance, he could see the movement of the Locusts’ legs, as they rubbed back and forth like two knives sharpening each other, and he could practically taste the monsters’ desire to dismember the two of them.  It was slightly intimidating, to say the least, because he was facing a veritable wall of dangerous insects that would obliterate them if they faltered for even a moment.  Individually, they weren’t that strong, but that was why they attacked in a swarm.

Unfortunately for them, they were going to learn that was a bad idea when they bunched up like they were.

While Nedira alternated between casting Pyroblasts, which enveloped dozens of Locusts at a time in a fiery explosion, and slinging out flaming balls from her staff, Larek took both staves he brought out of his sack and held them against his body, one in each arm, as he aimed toward the swarm.  Since most of his focus was on maintaining his Pattern box and moving it away from the Locusts, the best he could do as far as aiming was to gently strafe the wall of bugs with a Magnitude 2 barrage of flaming balls coming out of both staves.  Within seconds they were punching holes in the formation of the swarm, igniting the individually weak Locusts as they were impacted by the projectiles, before falling from the sky in a fiery conflagration, plummeting down to the ground below.  Because they were constantly moving, they didn’t have to worry about using up the ambient Mana, and with them separated instead of next to each other, there was no risk of what happened to the other bundle of staves happening with these two. 

It didn’t take more than five minutes of constantly strafing the swarm before they began to see results.  The density of the insects following them thinned significantly, making it slightly harder for all of their shots to hit their targets as they spread out, but the advantage of using Fusions for this purpose was that they weren’t going to run out of Mana anytime soon. 

In addition to thinning the numbers by killing literally tens of thousands of the flying bugs, Larek was also slowly acquiring Aetheric Force.  It was hard to tell how much he was receiving, as some was constantly streaming into him, but he didn’t think it was much per Locust he killed; he decided that it was only a fraction of a single AF, and that only after killing 15 to 20 of them would he receive a full AF.

But when he was killing thousands of them, the numbers added up.  By the time there were only a few hundred of them left, still following them ineffectually but with small enough brain function that they didn’t know it was futile, he had gained a few hundred AF.  It wasn’t a ton, but considering that Nedira was killing probably twice the number of Locusts as he was with her better aim and Pyroblast spells, he thought it was more than worth it.

As the last dozen or so fell, their burning bodies plummeting to the ground below, Larek stopped the Pattern box with a relieved sigh, before leaning forward and looking over the edge to watch them fall with satisfaction.  That satisfaction abruptly disappeared as, when he looked down, he didn’t see the black obsidian he was expecting. Instead, he saw that they were over a vibrant field of green, filled with a riot of different wildflowers dotting the landscape.  It was actually quite beautiful in comparison to the rest of the environment they had been passing through, and it looked like a nice, peaceful place to rest, relax, and plan what they were going to do, now that they weren’t being chased by a massive swarm of Razor Locusts.

Unfortunately for the two of them, that just wasn’t going to happen. While the rest of the burning swarm fell harmlessly along the grass and wildflowers below, one of them crash-landed on top of a red-petaled, sunflower-resembling plant that was at least three times the size and height of any of the others.  The dead bug bounced off one of the larger flower’s petals before falling into the grass below. 

That was when the center of the red-petaled sunflower transformed from a circular orange color to one that was darker in the center, and for all intents and purposes Larek thought it looked like an eye.  When the colors rapidly shifted a second later, almost like the flower had just blinked, it wouldn’t surprise him if that was exactly what it was.

“Uh, Nedira?” Larek asked, the pitch of his voice rising as he saw the red-petaled flower begin to move.  “What is that?”

Hearing the urgency in his voice, the Naturalist looked over the side of the box, and she sucked in her breath.  “A Red Spring Daisy.  We should probably go before we provoke it.”

“Too late for that.”  Out of the corner of his eye, he saw more movement, and a quick step to the other side of the box showed the whole beautiful landscape filled with flowers stretching off into the distance.  At the same time, it also showed movement coming from sporadic places all over as more red-petaled flowers suddenly shifted so that their centers were looking at the floating box filled with two people.  As they all “blinked” simultaneously, he realized that the simple act of a burning Locust hitting one of these Red Spring Daisies had inadvertently caused the entire population of this subservient Aperture to rise against them.

Larek didn’t know anything about what these Red Spring Daisies were, but as they were plants that were stuck in the ground, he figured they couldn’t be that bad.  They could easily fly past them and be just fine, right?

“Great.  It’s time to run again,” Nedira said, seeing the same thing he was as she came up next to him. 

“But—”

His protestation died on his lips as he saw one of the red-petaled flowers uproot itself, until it grew to over 15 feet in height, utilizing its extremely long roots as a set of legs.  Even as that one emerged from the ground, every other one he could see, which numbered at least 100, had done the same as they stared at Larek’s box. 

“Still, what—”

“Go!  Don’t you know why they’re called Red Spring Daisies?”

Rather than argue, he got the Pattern box moving, retracing the path they had taken to get there.  It was just in time, too, as he narrowly avoided the red, green, and brown shape that flew through the space that they had just abandoned.  As he looked back and up at the red-petaled flower that had shot past them, he saw the wickedly sharp green leaves along its stem that looked like multiple arms and the orange “eye” that looked at them with a sudden blink.  That wasn’t what caught his attention, though, as it was the multiple brown roots that extended below the stem.

Curled up like a snake, the roots formed what could only be described as multiple springs that were at least twice as large as the rest of the mobile monster plant.  It didn’t take an expert in monsters to realize why the Red Spring Daisy was called that, as it seemed to be able to use its roots to jump high into the air.  How high into the air was something he didn’t know, but as Larek’s Pattern box was around 50 feet off the ground and the Daisy had shot past them, he thought it was likely that they could reach 100 feet or higher.

So, he turned his two staves toward the flower that was hitting the top of its arc and blasted it with a stream of flaming balls.

“That won’t work,” Nedira immediately said after Larek started his attack.  “They’re immune to fire.”

As she said, the flaming balls that hit the now-falling Red Spring Daisy didn’t do anything; instead, they were absorbed into its petals, stem, leaves, and even its roots as he attempted to hit all of it.  If anything, the fire seemed to rejuvenate the monster, as it seemed to glow.

Actually, that turned out to be the start of its own attack.  A triplicate of sharp, 3-foot-long leaves were suddenly launched from its stem, chasing after them in the Pattern box.  They flew through the air quickly, but not fast enough to take Larek by surprise; he formed a Pattern shield in front of the incoming leaves, and they impacted the barrier before crumpling up like a piece of paper, falling to the ground a second later.  When he looked back at the descending Daisy, he could see tiny buds growing out from where the leaves had been launched, meaning that the attack wasn’t a one-time thing.

“How do we kill them—hold on!”

In his peripheral vision, he saw more Daisies jumping along the sides of the Pattern box, their spring-like roots allowing them even more horizontal momentum than vertical, and over a dozen Daisies launched volleys of sharp leaves at them.  He abruptly took them up while still moving away from the attacks, increasing the strain on his focus, but it caused the leafy projectiles to pass by harmlessly underneath. 

Unfortunately, when he looked back and below, he saw dozens of the Daisy monsters springing after them, moving quickly enough that they were keeping up with his current speed.  He could go faster, of course, but that would also put even more strain on his focus, meaning that he wouldn’t be able to keep it up for long; if he doubled his speed at that height, he estimated he could keep it up for an hour or so.  But if he was forced to stop, and these Daisies followed them as incessantly as the Locusts, then it would only be a matter of time before they caught up.

“Being a plant, they also absorb water, so no water stream, but the icy spikes and flying stones should work.  Martials have the easiest time against them, though, because the Daisies don’t have as much physical resistance as they do magical,” Nedira informed him.

“Well, attacking them with my halberd doesn’t seem likely right now, so it’s back to filling them full of stones, I guess.”

As he kept the Pattern box moving away, speeding it up slightly so that he kept ahead of the springing Daisies, Larek and Nedira started firing off flying slivers of stone, aiming to cut through the bouncing flowers.  It was surprisingly difficult, because the Daisies were apparently much more intelligent than the Locusts, as they could twist themselves in the air to avoid the projectiles; and even when taking a hit was inevitable, they used their petals and eye as a shield, causing the stone shards they shot to bounce off.  They didn’t do no damage, but it was negligible even when they increased the Magnitude and had larger projectiles.

So, they switched to Icy Spikes, which had the benefit of breaking apart when they were blocked, which seemed to slow down the red flowers for a few seconds before the ice particles melted and were absorbed.  With them moving slower, they were able to work together to finally cut through the stem of one of the Daisies, and it fell to the ground cut in half, mostly dead even before it made impact.

But the process was slow-going, especially once the pursuing Daisies got into a rhythm with each other and there was a constant barrage of sharp leaves shot out at them every few seconds.  He was able to block a few of them with his Pattern shield, but he found that simply moving the box was easier and put less strain on his focus; at the same time, though, it also made coordinating their own attacks difficult, if they were forced to move all the time.

“This isn’t working,” Larek shouted, the wind whipping past them, making it hard to speak other than by yelling.  “There’s just too many of them.”  He began to think about what he might have in his Void Pocket pack that might help them, but he couldn’t think of any Fusions that would work properly in the current situation.  One example was the Stone Shredder Dome, which could help them deflect some of the leaves, but that would be purely defensive in nature; the problem wasn’t defense, but offense.  He could protect them with a number of different Fusions, but their main offensive Fusion – the VREP on their staves – wasn’t working as well as they would’ve liked.

He had over 100 of his Weaken Fusions on some stones that would explode when he threw them, but getting the range and his aim correct when he was constantly having to move around the Pattern box would be extremely difficult.  Even if he managed to perfectly throw each one, he didn’t have enough to get them all.  He wasn’t sure of their numbers, but he counted at least half again as many as the Weaken stones he had, so it would only slow down the inevitable.

Most of his powerful offensive Fusions weren’t designed for a situation like this.

Now, if they were on the ground, then that would be a completely different story… hmm, that might work.

“I’m setting down!”

She looked at him like he was crazy.  “What?!  No!” 

“It’s our only chance!  Don’t worry, I’ll keep you safe!”

Before he did that, he dug into his sack and pulled out a few Fusions, slipping them into his belt pockets so that he didn’t have to go looking for them later.  Once they were secured, he warned Nedira to hold on as he sped up considerably, using his focus to widen the lead they had on the flowers, until they were almost imperceptible along the horizon.  At that point, he set down the box.

“This is going to be a little uncomfortable, but it’s the only way I can ensure that you’re safe.”  He explained what he was planning, and despite her unhappy look, she didn’t protest.  As she sat on the ground and crossed her legs, maintaining a comfortable position, he formed a simple dome made of Pattern Cohesion and placed it over her, leaving small, randomly placed holes in the dome so that she could both see out of it and breathe.  When that was formed, he also placed a Secure Hideaway Fusion nearby and activated it, making her disappear and as an extra measure of safety.

Quickly running 50 feet away, he maintained the Pattern dome while he dug out more Fusions from his belt pockets and started setting everything up.  He finished just before the first of the Red Spring Daisies arrived, and he pulled his halberd out of his Void Pocket sack, ready to show these stupid flowers why they shouldn’t mess with someone who had spent a good portion of their life cutting down plants much tougher than them.


Chapter 47

Stone shards tore up yet another Red Spring Daisy that attempted to land on Larek’s head, as the Stone Shredder Dome Fusion he had placed on the ground near his feet protected him from above.  As its spring-like roots were shredded, the rest of the plant monster was flung away, landing among the remains of two others that the Martial Fusionist had already sliced apart only moments ago. 

He dodged another barrage of sharp leaf projectiles sent by a different Daisy before diving with his weapon toward a third opponent, bringing its blade down in a chop that cleaved the flower in two from petal to root.  As he stood up, he felt his Automatic Ice Repulsion Field block another leaf barrage, but he was already moving back toward the temporary protection of his Stone Shredder Dome.  It was the only thing preventing him from being piled upon from the bouncing Daisies that continued to arrive, but the plant monsters were beginning to smarten up and—mostly—avoided being torn up from the Fusion’s effect.

Unfortunately for them, the surrounding area wasn’t that much better for them.  With Larek having set up a half-dozen Frozen Zone Fusions in a loose circle around his defensive center, there weren’t a lot of places they could land and attack from.  Nearly a hundred of the Daisies had been killed already, either from their roots being torn apart by the Dome, the moisture inherent in their forms freezing and cracking their stems and petals by the Frozen Zones, or through Larek’s own efforts with his halberd, but they never seemed to stop coming. 

Thankfully, the Fusionist was also able to use his second Pattern construct to attack from afar.  Utilizing his Logger’s axe in Pattern form, he was able to send it flying out to chop down the tall flower monsters up to 70 feet away. 

Even with those advantages, his combat awareness was working overtime to keep up with the constantly arriving Red Spring Daisies, especially once they learned to avoid the death traps where the Frozen Zones had devastated their early numbers.  But this also worked in Larek’s favor, as they were concentrated in three main areas that were free of offensive Fusions, and all that he needed to do was chop through them like he was felling trees with his Pattern axe, or venture out from his overhead protective Dome to finish them off with his halberd.  It wasn’t exactly easy, but at no point did he feel like he was in trouble.

It might have been an impromptu battlefield, but he was controlling it better than he would have just a few months before.  His time training with Torge at Fort Hilltower really paid off, as he was relying on his own senses, his superior movement, and his burgeoning Martial Skills to obliterate his opponents. 

It wasn’t all perfect, of course, as he’d had to rely on his Automatic Ice Repulsion Field multiple times to block some projectiles that he either didn’t sense coming or wasn’t able to move out of the way in time.  In addition, he could sense the Mana density starting to thin out quite a bit in the area due to so many Fusions being active at once; when he combined the Fusions on his clothes, his axe, his halberd, the six Frozen Zones, the Stone Shredder Dome, the Secure Hideaway protecting Nedira, the Fusions on her clothes and staff, and even the two Void Pocket bags they possessed, it was starting to add up. 

After only a minute or so into the fight, Larek could feel the density starting to reach critical levels. To alleviate some of the strain on the nearby ambient Mana, he reached out and mentally deactivated the Secure Hideaway and half of the Frozen Zones.  A few seconds later, he could sense the density stabilizing as additional ambient Mana rushed into the area, and a few seconds after that, it even started to climb. 

With the Pattern dome concealing Nedira exposed, Larek tapped into his Stama to increase his own speed with Fleetfoot, moving out from underneath his Stone Shredder Dome as two Daisies landed next to his Pattern construct.  While they couldn’t get through it, he didn’t want to take any chances as he swung his halberd through one of the flowers’ stems, effectively killing it instantly, but the other one managed to avoid his follow-through strike with a bend in its stem that would be hard for someone even with high stats in Body and Agility.  Instead of attacking him back, it launched its leaves at the dome, and he watched in consternation as one of the leaves managed to slip through one of the slits he’d added so that she could look out.

He sensed rather than saw the Automatic Ice Repulsion Field on her clothes activating to block the sharp natural projectile, but his anger at her being attacked had him cancel the protective construct so that he could create two floating Pattern axes simultaneously, before using them to cut the offending monster into a dozen different parts.

“Finally!  You can’t just keep me locked away like that, Larek!  I can fight, too!” Nedira shouted angrily at him, getting up from where she had been sitting underneath his Pattern construct. 

“But—” he began to protest, even as his combat awareness detected another barrage of leaves that he stepped out of the way to avoid.

“No!  Let me do this!”

Nedira turned her staff on the landing Daisies and unleashed barrages of stone slivers, cutting through three of them as soon as they landed.  She even moved to avoid being struck by additional leafy projectiles; more than that, she cast a spell from her other hand and a wall of thick roots broke through the hard obsidian ground, protecting her from her left-hand side.  As Larek watched a Red Spring Daisy launch more leaves at it, instead of cutting all the way through, the sharp projectiles stuck into the root wall. 

“Go!” she shouted once again toward him, seeing that he had paused in his own attacks to watch her.  “Stop watching, and don’t make me do all the work here!”

The Fusionist shook his head with a small smile, mentally chastising himself for his treatment of her.  Ever since the attack by the Sand Vultures, he couldn’t help but think that it was his responsibility to protect her, even if it meant keeping her locked up behind barriers.  Even with all the traveling they’d done since then and the monsters they’d killed, it had always been from a relatively safe position up in the air, so those situations were different; now that they were on the ground and more vulnerable, he fell back on the thought that she needed to be kept locked away and safe – because he didn’t want her to get hurt.

But he had momentarily forgotten that she wasn’t helpless, nor was she fragile and in need of delicate protection.  She was a Mage trained by the SIC and had been fighting monsters in all the years he had been caught in the void.  Plus, unlike what had happened while ineffectively fighting the Sand Vultures, she had Fusions on her person that would provide more than enough protection for her.

Taking her order to move as a hint that he should get his head out of his butt and start killing deadly flower monsters, he took to the task with renewed fervor.  As he closed with the incoming Daisies, he sliced through their relatively fragile stems with his halberd and two Pattern axes, finally able to let loose now that half of his focus wasn’t on protecting Nedira.  Stone shards flew out in conjunction with his advance as the Naturalist used her staff to aid him, obliterating the monsters when they were distracted by his attacks.

Exactly as the Mage and Martial relationship should be. 

More thick roots emerged from underneath two of the Daisies, entangling with their own roots and binding them in place; Larek took advantage of their lack of mobility by slicing through multiple sets of leaves that attempted to be launched from their stems, before using his Fleetfoot Battle Art to move up to them before they could extricate themselves.  An Empowered Strike was all that was needed to cut through both flowers with one large sweep of his halberd, before he was on the move once again.

Their coordination wasn’t completely perfect, unfortunately, as he twice accidentally ran into a stream of stone slivers that she had been shooting out, only for his automatic defenses to kick in.  But overall, he had to say that their teamwork was a step above doing it all himself.  It was not only more effective working together, but they tore through the Daisies with such speed that they eventually started pegging them in the air before they could even land.

Seemingly hours later, but probably only about 20 minutes after the fight on the ground began, the last red-petaled flower was blasted apart before it could land with a barrage of stones, as the Daisy had been preparing to land on Larek and saw the projectile attack too late to dodge.  Looking around at the vegetative massacre, with roots, stems, leaves, and flower petals filling the local landscape to the point where he needed to wade through a few areas of heavy activity, he noticed Nedira leaning heavily on her staff.  He was by her side in a second.

“Are you alright?  You didn’t get hurt, did you?”

She shook her head.  “I’m fine.  Just the pressure of the fight draining away.”  Looking at him, she wagged her finger at him.  “Don’t do that again.  You can’t just hide me away whenever we get into something dangerous.” 

“I’m sorry, I just thought—”

“I can guess what you thought,” she said, laying her hand on his arm as he began to explain.  “But get those thoughts out of your head.  What happened against those Sand Vultures was a mistake, and we weren’t prepared for it; now, though, I have ample preparations and might have been able to handle all of these by myself on the ground.”  Thinking about what he’d seen her do, he didn’t doubt that she would’ve fared better than most Mages when facing that kind of attack.  “But going forward, if we’re going to work together, then you can’t hide me away again.  We’re a team, you and I, and you need to be able to count on me to have your back without needing your full protection.”

He nodded, knowing what she said was true, but it was still hard for him to fully embrace that kind of thinking.  Even after his Group Tactics class at the Fort, where working with multiple people was more effective than going about things alone, he still had trouble remembering that he wasn’t the only one capable of doing great things.  It was a mindset that he was trying to change, especially as it had embedded itself in his actions while traveling through the Empire, but it was a work in progress.

“I’ll… do better, I swear I will.  I can’t help but want to protect you, is all.”

“I know, and I love that about you,” she said with a smile – before smacking his arm playfully.  “Just as long as you remember that I’m not helpless and can take care of myself.”

“I think I can do that.”  He wrapped his arms around her and bent down to give her a kiss, happy that they had both gotten through the fight unscathed, but a distant roar echoed off the surface of the obsidian ground.  “Ugh… looks like this isn’t over.”

“It certainly sounds that way.  We better get a move on it.”

Larek quickly had his Pattern box up around them and they were airborne, floating 50 feet above the surface. 

“Where to now?” he asked, seeing what looked to be a massive pack of black and white-striped, hairless cats with six legs racing toward them from the southwest.  He wasn’t sure what they were, but they didn’t seem like they’d be able to reach them high in the air.  Just in case he was wrong, he brought them up to 100 feet and held them stationary, while he reviewed his notifications.

Bladed Weapon Expertise has reached Level 31!

Bladed Weapon Expertise has reached Level 32!

Pattern Manipulation has reached Level 68!

Dodge has reached Level 33!

Stama Subjugation has reached Level 24!

He’d gained enough Aetheric Force through all the recent fighting to allow him to increase some more Skill maximums, so he did that for some of his Martial Skills for a change.  He was able to increase the maximum for Bladed Weapon Expertise and Dodge since they were getting close to their current maximum of 35, bringing them both up three points to a new maximum of 38.  He now had less than 100 AF to spend, but he suspected that he would soon be able to acquire more with the way things were going.

“I’m not even sure anymore,” Nedira said to his earlier question, looking around them.  It took Larek a few seconds of perusing the nearby landscape to try to figure out where they had even ended up, and even then he wasn’t exactly sure.  They had been fleeing from the Locusts and then the Daisies for a while, and while he knew they weren’t on the other side of the Calamity, they seemed to have gotten off the route they had taken to get to that point.  “If those are Striped Cazorts,” she continued, pointing toward the incoming monsters from the southeast, “then we’re way off-track.”

She pulled out a few of the maps they’d taken from the Strike Faction compound and spent a minute or so reading them.  Eventually pointing to a spot on one, he saw that they were indeed a bit further away than he expected.  He hadn’t realized they had fled that far, and while he thought that they had been going south during their flight, they had actually been heading northwest.  It reminded him a little of the Lowenthal desert when he had been mixed up and turned around multiple times, though he hadn’t read or heard of anything like that happening in the Calamity.

“I think the best thing to do is to go back down south and see if we can find any hint of where the Strike Faction went after departing from the route,” Nedira said after a moment.  “I have to admit that I wasn’t paying attention to alternate pathways they could’ve taken at the time, but now we don’t have any other choice if we’re going to find—”

Before she could finish, a low buzzing filled their ears, and they looked south simultaneously.  It was fairly faint at this distance, but Larek soon spotted what appeared to be a very small grouping of Razor Locusts flying directly toward them. 

“How?  We killed them all, right?” Nedira asked.

Pulling out some of the notes in his Void Pocket sack, he found what he was looking for after a few seconds.  “It says here that, ‘Once reinforcements have arrived from a different subservient Aperture, they will continue to spawn monsters and send them out until their target is either dead or has left the Calamity.  The only exception to this is when the central Aperture is attacked, which prevents all the subservient Apertures from spawning new monsters.’  What I can only assume that means is that we’re going to be perpetually attacked by small swarms of not only the Razor Locusts,” Larek said, waving toward the approaching insects, “but everything else we’ve encountered, such as the Red Spring Daisies.”  A glance toward the southeast, whence he thought the Daisies had originated, saw a single one bounding on its roots toward them.  He figured that it had likely spawned at some point after they had killed the first one near its territory, and had finally caught up.

“That’s… not good,” Nedira said a bit worriedly.  “We can leave and come back, I suppose, but we’re at least a day’s journey into the Calamity.  Can you make it that long?”

He thought about it for a few seconds before shaking his head.  “No, we’d have to stop every 8 to 10 hours or so to let my focus recharge.  Add in the fact that we’re both going to need to sleep at some point, and we have a problem.”

They decided to wait until both the Locusts and the Daisy arrived before killing them, rather than move on and have to fight them somewhere else that might be less effective.  As for the Striped Cazorts, the hairless, six-legged, striped cats, there were approximately 80 of them underneath the Pattern box.  It turned out that they could jump nearly 25 feet into the air—and did so repeatedly to try to reach the two of them above—but they were far from actually doing them any harm. 

“How long until a new one spawns?” Nedira abruptly asked.

Larek knew what she was asking and had seen it in the notes.  “The reinforcement monsters spawn at an average rate of every 20 minutes.”  The Fusionist thought about the arrival of the small Locust swarm and the Daisy and thought this was fairly accurate based on the first ones killed.

“Hmm… alright.  I think I have an idea, then.”

“You do?”

The Naturalist turned to Larek and smiled innocently.  “I think you’ll like it, too.  It’s dangerous, reckless, and probably foolish, but it’s our only option unless you want to leave the Calamity altogether.  We could probably find a way to get to the border one way or another, but then we’ll be even further behind the Strike Faction’s lead and no closer to finding them.”

He only hesitated for a moment before saying, “Let’s hear it.”

It took her a few minutes to fully outline her idea, but halfway through it he was already nodding along as it took shape in his mind. 

There was no hesitation as he voiced his approval.  “I’m in.  And you’re right, it’s exactly the kind of thing that I would do.  I’m surprised you thought of it, considering how dangerous it is.”

“Well, I just had to think of the opposite of what was safe and sane, mixed in the belief that you always seem to figure out how to do the impossible, and out came this wild and likely suicidal plan.”

“I don’t know about suicidal,” he joked, even as he put his halberd away and brought out a pair of staves.  “I give it a 50% chance of working, after all.  Even odds are better than probable death any day.”

Nedira leaned over the edge of the box and pointed her staff downwards, mimicking what Larek was doing.  As the two of them let out a barrage of fireballs at the Striped Cazorts below, she said, “Knowing you, I wouldn’t be surprised if you find a way to improve those odds in our favor even further.”

As the first of the Cazorts died below them, he couldn’t help but think of ways to do just that.


Chapter 48

“I have to say, this plan is genius,” Larek said, watching as the latest Locust swarm entered the range of the Frozen Zone Fusion and froze completely solid, before falling to the ground below.  As a tiny amount of Corrupted Aetheric Force flowed into him, ready to be purified for his own use, he continued.  “All this AF is really adding up.  This was a lot easier than I expected it to be.”

“Don’t let your guard down, Larek.  This is only the beginning, remember?”

The Fusionist nodded at Nedira, but he couldn’t help but be excited at the new use for his Pattern constructs and Fusions.  “I know, but I’m just glad that it’s working.  Well, mostly.”

Larek thought about the path they were on and how Nedira had come up with a solution to their initial problems.  Being hunted down by monsters wherever they went within the Calamity was an issue, because it would never stop.  But what if there were a way to slow them down, if not stop them completely?

The beautiful and talented Naturalist figured out a way to do just that after asking a few questions about his Fusions – or at least for quite a few of the monsters now following them.  The Locusts were still a bit of a problem, as they were able to fly over the obstacles in their way, but that wasn’t that big of a deal. 

For the others, however, it seemed to work perfectly. 

Larek had thought about using Fusions nearby Apertures before, such as putting one of his offensive Fusions nearby and letting any monsters that came out die as they passed through it.  He’d dismissed it a while ago because there was an area around the Aperture that didn’t allow his Fusions to absorb more ambient Mana from the environment, making them effectively useless.  Even if he placed them 20 feet or more away, outside of the range of that effect, his offensive Fusions didn’t cover a large area, and the monsters coming out would simply avoid them.  He would be unable to completely encircle the entire Aperture because the ongoing Mana cost to keep them running would drain the ambient Mana within minutes, at least in the Sealance Empire, or perhaps up to an hour now that he was in the Kingdom. 

All of that meant that he hadn’t really thought about trying something like that again – but that was before Nedira got an idea into her head that could work.  She proposed that he didn’t need to surround the entire perimeter of the Aperture opening, but only a small section, perhaps a tenth of it.  Which section depended on only one thing: where Larek and Nedira were located.

And where were the two of them located?  Heading towards the center of the Calamity, that was where.

If they were going to find the Strike Faction anywhere, it was going to be on the way toward the Aperture that started it all.  Therefore, logically, all Larek needed to do – depending on the location of the subservient Aperture that was providing constant reinforcements – was line a small section of the area still able to pull ambient Mana in within those territories, and let each new monster spawned die within the Fusions he placed there.  It took some backtracking, of course, but over the course of a few hours they had visited the Aperture of the Razor Locusts, the Red Spring Daisies, and even the Striped Cazorts and set up six Frozen Zone and Healing Shelter Fusions, depending on what they were being used against, before leaving.  He found that six of the offensive Fusions, with nothing else absorbing ambient Mana nearby, was the limit before the Mana density started to decrease – but that was enough to block a decent portion of the pathway leading to Larek and Nedira.

They even tested it out by floating nearly 500 feet away in his Pattern box, and the Red Spring Daisy they were observing automatically ran in their direction, not bothering to spring into the air yet, and it froze to death in the Frozen Zone Fusion it passed through.  It was as if being subservient to the main Aperture in the center of the Calamity caused any thought of the monsters going around the Fusions to be impossible, as all that matter was getting to them as soon as possible.

After they departed each of the Apertures, they just had to ensure that they stayed on a heading that was generally in the direction the Fusions were placed, and they didn’t have to worry about them too much.  The most notable exception to this was the Razor Locusts, unfortunately, because they tended to fly up almost immediately after exiting the Aperture, missing the Fusions he placed on the ground.  He almost spent some time playing around with building some sort of wooden construct that could elevate the offensive Fusions off the ground, but they’d already spent considerable time just backtracking and setting everything up and didn’t want to waste any more.  In the end, it was easy enough to kill the Locusts when they eventually caught up with them, due to the other idea that Nedira had:

Using a small platform to hold one of his offensive Fusions and direct it toward incoming monsters, killing entire swathes of them with ease.  For instance, he’d just wiped out the latest Locust swarm with his Frozen Zone Fusion, bringing it to them instead of using it as a defensive measure like he’d been doing.  He wasn’t sure why he hadn’t thought of doing that before Nedira mentioned it, but it opened up a whole new avenue for killing monsters that was much more powerful than anything he’d done before. 

The only drawback was that he couldn’t easily control his Pattern constructs more than 50 feet away; he could stretch it to 100 feet or even farther away if he was really focused on it, but it was a bit more inaccurate at that point.  In most cases, especially against the Locusts, anything that far out wasn’t really needed.

As they traveled northwest after setting up the last of the Fusions in the Cazort Aperture’s territory, using a map that Nedira was annotating with the correct directions to maintain the defenses set up against respawning monsters, they looked for any sign or trace of the Strike Faction passing through.  After traveling for a few hours with no indication of the large group, they set down and took turns sleeping; one person was all that was needed to fend off the Locusts that attacked them, especially when Larek set up three more Frozen Zone Fusions around their campsite.  Whatever didn’t pass through the Fusions and froze to death were killed through the application of a Mage’s staff, as a single small swarm of Locusts wasn’t very threatening.

It was only when a dozen Steel Slimes and a Rainbow Slime appeared that both of them had to be awake to fend them off.  Unfortunately, other than making their opponents slightly slower, the Slimes completely ignored the Frozen Zone Fusions, and none of his other offensive Fusions would work against them; Healing Shelter did nothing because they didn’t have bodies that were affected by the powerful healing effect, and Binding Thorns were ineffective when the Slimes could simply wiggle out of the constrictive effects like they were nothing.  Thankfully, magical effects from their staves still worked against the Steel Slimes to take them out quite handily, though the Rainbow Slime took a little extra effort.

Thankfully, Larek had spent some of his time when Nedira was asleep creating additional offensive Fusions in case he needed more in the future, but he also added a VEGS to his halberd, which could now create an elemental gust sphere a few inches off the edge of its blade.  When he attacked the larger, colorfully prismatic-looking Rainbow Slime, which moved at least three times faster than the Steel variety, his halberd blade – which was Sharpened enough that it could even cut through steel – ricocheted off its exterior.  Fortunately for Larek, he was able to activate the Variable Elemental Gust Sphere Fusion on it as soon as he made contact, and a bubble of fiery air appeared underneath the surface of the larger slime.  It burst like an infected wound, spraying multicolored slime goo everywhere, but that was far from enough to kill it.

Even though his automatic defenses needed to be deployed a single time during the fight when an extra-long appendage coming from the Rainbow Slime hit him in the back, he was fast enough to land a few more hits and added a trio of VEGS applications to it.  While its exterior ruptured, Nedira also discovered that it was less resistant to the barrage of fireballs she continued to send at it from her staff, and a single Pyroblast spell was all that was needed to finish it off, especially once it was inserted into its reforming side.  At that point, it exploded, killing it for good as its internal core was destroyed in the process.

Other than that singular attack from the Slimes, the only thing they had to contend with were the Locusts, which were typically single-minded enough not to move around the Frozen Zone Fusion nearby when rushing in to attack them – which allowed them both to get a decent amount of sleep through the night.  In the morning, they got on the move in his Pattern box, again looking for any signs of the Strike Faction, moving genuinely back and forth over a wide area of the landscape.  A few times, they were attacked by a Red Spring Daisy or a Striped Cazorts, but it was thankfully a rarity.  What was more concerning, however, was that the further north they went, even if they got within a half-mile of a subservient Aperture, its monsters began to attack as reinforcements.

At the first instance, which was from some Snowmes – which were these small figures with pointy blue hats and pure white clothing covering their bodies, and they could create snow- and ice-based spells that attacked from range – it was easy enough to kill them all because they weren’t very fast and had a severe weakness to balls made of fire slamming into them in repetition.  Their advantage came from when they were inside their own snow-filled territory, which made it hard to see them when they were hiding, but once they were outside in the obsidian landscape of the Calamity, they stuck out like a sore thumb.  Once the Snowmes that were following them were killed, Larek went into the subservient Aperture’s territory and set up a section of Healing Shelter Fusions from which they would emerge, leaving it as defended as could be. 

That was just the first, though, and within a couple of hours, two more monster reinforcements started to attack them, one of them being Jumping Spiders, which he remembered attacked Thanchet – where Copperleaf Academy was located – at one point, along with a bunch of other bugs from a Scission. The other was a Shining Elk, a glowing elk-like animal that had antlers that shone brightly enough that they were nearly blinding; that was only to its advantage because those antlers were sharp and durable enough to pierce through steel, and by blinding its victims ahead of time, they wouldn’t even see the attack coming.  Thankfully, both were relatively contained by additional Fusions in their territories, as the Jumping Spiders didn’t seem to jump unless they saw that their victim was nearby.

But the proximity of the Aperture territories they encountered only became denser as they traveled north in a crisscross pattern.  At one point, they flew into what they quickly determined was a conjunction of fairly large territories, causing three sets of monsters to attack them simultaneously.  It was during that fight against King Penguins, Sucker Flies, and Decayed Stallions that Larek set down and prepared for the onslaught, arranging more offensive Fusions around the two of them as they waited for the monsters to arrive.

This time, Nedira was fighting from the start instead of being protected and hidden, and they were able to absolutely crush the incoming opponents.  It helped that they arrived in separate groups because of their different traveling speed, with the Stallions – which were undead horses – arriving first. Half of them were subsequently torn apart by a pair of Binding Thorn Fusions, with the rest killed by Larek’s halberd or Nedira’s staff, which tossed out enough fire to burn the animated corpses enough that they wouldn’t be coming back anytime soon.  The Sucker Flies, which swarmed like the Locusts and had a long proboscis like a mosquito, fell in the same way as those annoying insects: by flying through a pair of Frozen Zones. The King Penguins, which were approximately Larek’s current height, were slightly harder to kill because their exterior was immune to cold and they had slick enough bodies to prevent any Thorns from pinning them down.  A single Healing Shelter was all that he could afford to place to stop a few of them, but the majority of the Penguins were killed by the deadly duo.

And, of course, since he was attacked by them, he had to set up additional Fusions inside their territories to stop them from sending out their new spawning monsters, though only perhaps 1 in 3 swarms of Sucker Flies were stopped in that way.  This delayed their search for a few hours, but it was worth it to prevent even more monsters from constantly attacking them. 

It continued like that for the next two days, as they searched and fought additional reinforcements, before setting up additional Fusions designed to kill them when they emerged from their Apertures.  Not everything was fully prevented from venturing out to attack them, similar to the Locusts and the Flies, but at least 90% of them were stopped completely.  Larek actually appreciated that they weren’t all stopped, because it didn’t take him long to learn that as soon as he was out of their secured territory, he didn’t receive any Aetheric Force from their deaths; only when they were directly attacked did he accumulate more, and it was making a huge difference.

In fact, over the three days they spent searching for the Strike Faction, moving from east to west as they moved north, Larek managed to increase quite a few Skill Levels – including some of his Mage Skills, due to having to create multiple Fusions to replenish what he was leaving in each of the Aperture territories they passed.  With the Aetheric Force he also acquired, he was in no danger of hitting a maximum anytime soon.

Mage Skills:

Spellcasting Focus Level 43[53]/55 (550 AF)

Magical Detection Level 46[55]/55 (550 AF)

Pattern Recognition Level 47[55]/55 (550 AF)

Focused Division Level 60/70 (700 AF)

Multi-effect Fusion Focus Level 62/70 (700 AF)

Mana Control Level 65[75]/75 (750 AF)

Fusion Level 65[75]/75 (750 AF)

Pattern Formation Level 65[75]/75 (750 AF)

Pattern Manipulation Level 69/80 (800 AF)

Martial Skills:

Unarmed Fighting Level 10[20]/35 (350 AF)

Ranged Weapon Expertise Level 10/35 (350 AF)

Blunt Weapon Expertise Level 15/35 (350 AF)

Throwing Level 25[35]/40 (400 AF)

Stama Subjugation Level 27/40 (400 AF)

Dodge Level 34[44]/45 (450 AF)

Bladed Weapon Expertise Level 35[45]/45 (450 AF)

Pain Immunity Level 20/20 (N/A)

Body Regeneration Level 48[58]/65 (650 AF)

The biggest changes were in his Bladed Weapon Expertise and Pattern Manipulation Skills, which were at Level 35 and Level 69, respectively.  Unfortunately, it seemed that Pattern Manipulation was at another threshold because it didn’t seem to increase any further than Level 69 for more than a day, so he expected that he needed to find something new to do with it that he hadn’t tried before.  However, he didn’t have any need to experiment quite yet because it was already doing magnificently with what he needed it to do, and it became easier and easier to control two different constructs simultaneously.  He found that he could maintain three constructs as long as two of them were static, but it was still difficult even with those restrictions. 

In addition to the Skill Levels simply increasing, they also allowed him to gain enough Advancement Points to reach a personal Level of 41, giving him an additional 28 AP to add to the 2 he had left over from his previous Level-up.  Of course, now that he had a fairly good handle on his physical stats and changes didn’t affect him nearly as much, he pumped another 10 AP into Strength, Body, and Agility, which brought them all to a base of 178.

Level 41

Advancement Points (AP): 15/28

Available AP to Distribute: 0

Available Aetheric Force (AF): 314

Stama: 3560/3560

Mana: 4100/4100

Strength: 178 [356] (+)

Body: 178 [356] (+)

Agility: 178 [356] (+)

Intellect: 205 [410] (+)

Acuity: 140 [280] (+)

Pneuma: 3,204 [6,408]

Pattern Cohesion: 64,080/64,080

Everything was improving while looking for the Strike Faction, just like he had hoped, but the further they went into the Calamity and the more monsters that attacked them, he couldn’t help but feel like they were getting in over their heads.  While they had quite a few of them under “control”, it was quickly becoming clear that leaving once they located Verne and the members of the Faction they were looking for would be an issue. 

With no way to backtrack at this point and explore different routes other than the ones that they were already searching, as that would cause many of the 30+ Apertures in which they had set up Fusions to help control reinforcements to set their monsters on them, it was looking more and more like they only had two options of what to do. 

First, they could continue moving all the way north until they passed through the northernmost border of the Calamity, protecting themselves as best as they could along the way from the subservient Apertures.  Once they crossed over the border, all of the reinforcements would stop following them, and they could try again to find the Strike Faction from a different direction.

For that option, Nedira estimated that it would take about a week, even if they rushed through as fast as they could without searching to the east or west, because of all the preparation and defense against spawning reinforcements.

Or, they could try and close the entire Calamity by attacking the central Aperture.  At this point, that would certainly be much faster than the first option, but that would be even more suicidal than their current plan.  While many of the southern subservient Apertures they’d been passing by had already been essentially neutralized, there were still over 200 Apertures within the Calamity that would send their monsters toward the central Aperture as soon as it was attacked.

He felt confident that they might be able to take out a few dozen sets of monsters that attacked, especially if they weren’t able to reach them up above in his Pattern box, but it was more than likely that they would be assaulted by multiple hordes of monsters that could inflict some serious damage upon them, even 100 feet or higher up into the air.  Perhaps if they were able to find the Strike Faction and joined with them, they might have a very small chance of success, but he wasn’t going to count on it.

“To the north it is,” he confirmed after some deliberation, and he could see that Nedira was relieved with that decision.  “When we get out, we’ll rush around to the east and attempt to find them from a different direction.”

With that firmly in their minds, they pushed ahead and abandoned their search for the Strike Faction, instead heading slightly northeast.  If the route that Nedira plotted was accurate, they would bypass the central portion of the Calamity and come out in a position that would allow them to reach another portion of the border in good time. 

At least, he hoped it was in good time, because they still had no idea where the Strike Faction was located.  He could only hold on to the belief that they weren’t dead, and that they would find them before it was too late.


Chapter 49

It wasn’t but an hour into their journey to the northeast that Larek and Nedira finally understood how dangerous it was to be within the Calamity the closer they got to the center.  It was in only the second subservient Aperture they passed after making the decision to keep going that they discovered their first evolved monster – other than the Rainbow Slimes, of course.

When they had to pass within range of the Aperture for it to send out reinforcements, Larek didn’t think anything of it at first.  The map that Nedira was going by said that this particular Aperture was home to a monster called a River Shappo, and it mostly inhabited the dozens of large rivers that wound through its territory.  The River Shappo had dark skin and only small tufts of hair on its head, was approximately the size of horse though nearly twice as wide, and it had an enormous mouth that could practically swallow a person whole.  Of course, that person wouldn’t likely be whole once its strong, serrated teeth tore them apart on the way down, but that wasn’t really the point.

They were also relatively slow because of their short, though powerful legs, and they only really excelled in moving through the water with speed with the fins on their back and their flipper-like back feet.  When Larek saw the River Shappo coming out of the Aperture’s territory, a large herd at least 100-strong, they moved so slowly that he thought that it wouldn’t even be worth it to stop and set up Fusions to prevent reinforcements from reaching them – because they wouldn’t catch up unless they stopped for a full day or more.

Unfortunately, none of the notes or the map mentioned that there was an evolved version of the River Shappo along with the original, which was what they saw next.  A dozen enormous shapes suddenly took off from inside the territory, flapping wings that extended far from their bodies, which looked like very large versions of the Shappos running along the ground. 

“What are those?” Larek asked, even as he prepared to dual-wield staves once again.

Nedira shook her head.  “I have no idea.  Never heard of anything like them before.”

That wasn’t good news.  What also wasn’t good news was the actual size of the flying Shappos, as when they quickly closed the distance, he was able to put their dimensions into better perspective.  If he was correct, then each of the evolved, flying versions of the Shappo were at least 35 feet long, a dozen feet wide, and had wingspans reaching 50 feet or more.  Their wings were leathery looking and the same color as the rest of their bodies, making them look like a River Shappo had essentially grown to enormous proportions and inherited massive bat wings.

Other than the wings and larger size, he didn’t see anything else different about them – but that was more than enough.  As the gigantic evolved Shappos that had to have weighed thousands of pounds flew toward them, moving at least 10 times faster than the original versions on the ground, Larek realized that it was going to be a bit harder to kill these particular monsters than normal. 

They were just too big to keep them completely within the boundaries of an offensive Fusion that he could move around on a small disc – but that didn’t mean he couldn’t try.

As he set the Pattern box on a course that would backtrack their route instead of pushing forward, as he didn’t want to trigger another round of reinforcements from a different subservient Aperture, he prepared to start blasting what he was dubbing Flying Shappos out of the sky.  With one of his Frozen Zone Fusions on a floating disc following behind them, he looked over at Nedira and saw the determined look on her face. Knowing that she was with him in this endeavor meant more than he could describe.  It was both worrying and exciting at the same time – a strange confluence of emotions that made his heart race.

“Target the same one to take it down faster,” the Naturalist said calmly.  “Follow my lead.”

He just nodded and adjusted his grip on the staves underneath his arms, waiting for the incoming Flying Shappos to get within range.  When the one in the lead passed an invisible threshold, around 100 feet away, Nedira started firing out large stone shards from the end of her staff, and Larek immediately matched her.  The sharp stones impacted the incoming monster around its face and some of its neck when it banked sharply to avoid the barrage, and Larek could see that their projectiles only penetrated its thick skin a few inches.  Not enough to injure it seriously, or even inconvenience it.

“The wings!” she shouted, and they both attempted to shred its wings with lines of stone shards whizzing across the distance.  He definitely saw them hit the outstretched appendages, but other than a few small tears in the thinner wing material, it didn’t seem to do much damage.  It was probably due to the fact that they couldn’t concentrate their fire on a single wing because it flapped and moved around too much. 

By that time, it was already approaching the 50-foot mark, and Larek moved up his Frozen Zone Fusion on the Pattern disc and basically shoved it in its face.  It seemed to work for a moment before it jerked away, moving much faster and smoother than he expected, as it dove down below the Fusion and seemed to recover within seconds. 

Next, he attempted to freeze one of its wings, but it was moving too fast and was too large to affect easily, and the Flying Shappo simply kept flapping its wings quickly enough that any of the freezing effects were nullified. 

In other words, this wasn’t going well. 

Nedira changed to flaming balls instead of stone shards, making them much larger than they usually did when sending out so many elemental projectiles, and these ones finally seemed to make a difference.  At Magnitude 8, the flaming balls were hefty enough to burn through the monster’s skin, scorching the flesh underneath and causing the Shappo to roar in pain.  When it opened its mouth, he saw that it had spread them wide enough to fit a good portion of himself, Nedira, and the Pattern box at the same time.  The multiple rows of large, serrated teeth made him doubt they would survive such a circumstance unscathed.

The problem with Magnitude 8 flaming balls was that they didn’t fire nearly as fast out of the staves as the others; they only came out once every few seconds, in fact.  That meant that they had to be quite accurate in their shots, and if they missed one they would risk being unable to kill them before they caught up.  Of course, Larek could simply speed them up to keep ahead of them, which was what he did once it was too close for comfort, but he couldn’t keep that up indefinitely.

Instead of trying to be accurate with the flaming balls, he decided to go another route.  Using the water stream attack from the staves, he targeted the burnt section of the Flying Shappo and dug further into the flesh. When it rolled and dove to avoid the powerful jet of water, he could see that it did absolutely nothing against its normal skin.  Only by eliminating its outer layer of protection could he do more damage, and he kept up the barrage as well as he could as it continued to avoid at least half of the strikes sent its way.  Nedira did the same, and they were slowly wearing it down bit by bit – but this type of thing wasn’t sustainable.  While they could eventually kill it this way, they were already backtracking further than he wanted to, which would simply add even more length to their journey that they couldn’t afford.

There were still 11 of them left after this first one died, and then another one might even appear, after 20 minutes, from the Aperture it was spawned; he wasn’t exactly sure on the evolved monster respawn rate, but he was erring on the side of caution.

The problem was that he wasn’t taking advantage of his Skills in this instance; more accurately, he wasn’t using any of his newly acquired Martial Skills.  Sure, he was using Fusions right now, but they weren’t cutting it.  He made a mental note to see about making improved versions of the staves and the offensive Fusions to utilize on stronger monsters, but that didn’t help him right now. 

With a growl at how annoying these Flying Shappos were being, he told Nedira, “Keep firing and support me.”

“What?  What are you doing—?” she started to ask, watching him dump both staves into his Void Pocket sack and pull out his halberd. 

Before he could think too much about it, Larek vaulted over the side of the Pattern box.  In mid-leap, he absorbed the Pattern Cohesion from the disc that was moving his Frozen Zone Fusion around, letting it fall to the ground; simultaneously, he then formed a larger disc under his own feet, which he landed on a split-second later.  He landed awkwardly, almost causing him to fall off, but he managed to regain his balance before that embarrassing event could occur.

He began to move the disc under his feet, and it took him a few precious seconds to become accustomed to its rapid movements, but his Agility and Body – which had been honed at Fort Hilltower’s obstacle course – allowed him to manage it without too many issues.  When he felt like he had a handle on it, he adjusted his grip on his halberd and shot toward the battered, burnt, and slowly dying Flying Shappo.

“Larek!  Are you sure about this?” Nedira shouted behind him, and Larek made sure to dedicate a portion of his focus on keeping the Pattern box steadily moving in the same direction.  He just had to ensure that he didn’t get too far away from it; otherwise, he might lose control.

“Nope!  But I’m doing it anyway!” he shouted back, a grin flashing across his face briefly as he closed with the pursuing monster. 

He might not have wings that gave him the ability to dive and bank and avoid projectiles like the airborne Shappo did, but he had something the massive monster didn’t: an ability to move the disc beneath him with just a thought. And since it was his thoughts moving it, he could also change his stance to adjust his balance and move with it to avoid getting knocked off – which was exactly what he did against his dying opponent. 

Dropping below it, he changed the momentum of the disc to bring him upwards toward the dangerous predator, with his halberd poised to cut it from its neck to its rear fin.  The Shappo sensed him coming and attempted to dive straight toward him, its mouth open as if to swallow him whole.  Seeing it move like that, he quickly crouched, shifted the disc to rise even more rapidly, and then jumped, physically leaving the platform he had been standing upon.

The Shappo didn’t have time to react as two things happened at once.  Flipping his halberd over, the Martial Fusionist caught the upper edge of its open mouth as he jumped over it, and the extremely sharp blade cut through its teeth, skin, flesh, and even bone with ease; the Shappo’s downward momentum was enough to force the weapon through its skull and brain, killing it instantly.

At the same time, Larek continued his disc’s flight upward, and it entered the monster’s open jaws and forced itself down its throat.  While he couldn’t see it inside of the monster, he could feel it because the disc was connected to him, and it cleaved through its throat and obliterated its internal organs, the edge of the disc being unintentionally sharp when he first created it.

Even if Larek hadn’t managed to land his blow on its head and cut through its brain, there was so much damage to the rest of its body that it wouldn’t have survived much longer.  Ripping through an upper portion of its back, the disc popped out, and the Fusionist brought it back beneath his feet as he began to descend from his impromptu jump.  He stumbled a little as he landed, but he quickly recovered and looked back, watching the corpse of the Flying Shappo slam messily into the hard obsidian below.

“That’s… alright.  I guess you do know what you’re doing,” Nedira shouted in disbelief at what he’d just done.

“Sometimes.  Only sometimes,” he said with a chuckle, eyeing the next Flying Shappo in his sights. 

Bladed Weapon Expertise has reached Level 36!

Bladed Weapon Expertise has reached Level 37!

Ten minutes later, the last of the airborne monsters that had been following them was dead and plummeting to the ground below, each one taking less time than the one before as Larek continued to accustom himself to his new fighting style.  He quickly learned that a fully “healthy” Flying Shappo wasn’t as easy to kill as the first one, which had been heavily damaged, as it was both faster and seemed to have a preternatural ability to dodge his strikes even with his added versatility.  Thankfully, it didn’t take long before he and Nedira were able to work together to herd each one into a position where it would take a few full-power flaming balls to its face, side, or even wings; each hit slowed it down and made it easier for Larek to finish it off with a few swings of his halberd, or even ramming it with his disc when all else failed.

“That was impressive, I must say,” Nedira told him as soon as he rejoined her in the Pattern box.  He found that it was easy enough to keep it moving while he was out fighting on the disc, though if he’d had to make evasive maneuvers during that time he might have lost control of it.  This style of fighting wasn’t exactly ideal when he was also operating the Pattern box, but it worked well enough for this circumstance.  “What made you decide to do that?”

“Impatience,” he replied with a small grin, before sobering up.  “But we need to consider what to do when we encounter even more of these evolved monsters.  The Fusions we’ve been using have been enough for now, but I find it hard to believe that this is the worst of those that we’ll encounter.”

She was silent for a moment before nodding, even as the Martial Fusionist sent the Pattern box toward the Shappo Aperture.  “You’re most likely correct.  We’re not strong enough, as it is, to handle something even more powerful than these Flying Shappos.  What do you propose we do?  We can always head straight east or west and hope to avoid the worst of them; that, of course, would negate all the work we did against those subservient Apertures, because their reinforcements would likely be able to reach us.”

She had a point, of course, and that didn’t seem like the best solution.  Neither did moving north without a plan to combat stronger monsters in place.  Turning back south was technically another option, but that was fraught with the same issues of reinforcements as going east or west. 

He thought about it for a while, considering all the options, and he even took a mental inventory of their Void Pocket storage to see if there were any solutions within.  After a few minutes, the travel time being enough to encounter the large herd of landbound River Shappos, Larek eventually determined that there was really only one solution. 

“We go northeast, like we were planning,” he stated.

“What about the evolved monsters?”

He nodded, acknowledging her worry, even while he mentally planned out what he was going to do.  “I have an idea for that.  As well as an idea that might make securing the perimeter around the Apertures even better.”

“Oh, really?  Just like that, you have a solution?”

He shrugged.  “Maybe?  We won’t know if we don’t try.”

“What is your plan, if you don’t mind me asking?  Actually, even if you do mind, I should probably know, since we’re in this together.”

“Fusions.”

She waited for him to say more, but when he was silent after that, she exasperatingly asked, “What Fusions?  We’ve already tried everything.”

“Ah, yes, well… I’m not talking about the Fusions I already have.  I’m talking about new ones.”

“New ones?” she prompted, when he didn’t elaborate.

Nodding, he said, “Exactly.”  Before she could ask again, he finally explained.  “See, I made many of my offensive Fusions, including Frozen Zone and the current iteration of the staves, during my time in the Sealance Empire or in Lowenthal.  Both of those places had a lower ambient Mana density that I had to accommodate into the designs, because otherwise the density would deplete to the point where they wouldn’t work anymore.  The same thing happens here, as you know, but it is much less pronounced.

“But I hadn’t really thought about changing my existing Fusions, because they seemed to work just fine for what we needed them for.  That, unfortunately, doesn’t seem to be the case anymore.  Now that these stronger, evolved monsters are likely to be the norm rather than the exception, we need something to counter them.

“Not only have I increased my Skills since I first made these types of Fusions, but I’ve expanded my knowledge of how to customize them so that they do exactly what I wanted.”  He held up the Void Pocket sack at his feet as an example.  “So, I think there might be a way to enhance our capabilities when it comes to damaging these types of monsters, as well as controlling what comes out of the Apertures.  I just need some time to work on them.”

“I… see.  If you can do that, it would be worth it, but it all depends on how often these Flying Shappos appear as reinforcements.  I don’t think I can kill one by myself.”

That was certainly an issue, because once he was hyper-focused on creating a new Fusion or two, he couldn’t wrench himself away to fight or risk injuring or killing himself.  “Well, let’s see if we can find out that information.”  Larek stored his halberd in his Void Pocket sack and took out two of his staves.  “Shall we?” he asked, indicating the large herd of River Shappos below them. 

Her answer was to start raining down streams of stone shards upon the monsters, the projectiles easily penetrating their flesh compared to their larger, flying cousins.


Chapter 50

Even though it wasted a few hours, the two of them discovered that the Flying Shappos only spawned from the Aperture after every tenth River Shappo appeared.  Nedira belatedly said that it made sense because it matched the ratio of the smaller Shappos they killed compared to the evolved version.

That information was all they needed for Larek to start working.  After placing a few of his existing Healing Shelters to kill off any of the River Shappos that appeared, he sat in a camp with Nedira, who was going to watch over everything while he started creating some new Fusions.

The first one he decided to work on was an improvement to their staves, as that had been the major obstacle to killing evolved monsters.  First, he had Nedira demonstrate a spell that he had seen her use before but hadn’t had a chance to learn quite yet.  She took her time creating the spell pattern and cast it multiple times as Larek watched.  The destruction of the rocks she created and turned into deadly shrapnel was both loud and impactful – and it was exactly what he needed to add to his new Fusion.

New Spell learned!

Shatter

Magnitude: 3-foot diameter stone

Base Elemental Damage (Explosion): 20

Base Elemental Damage (Piercing): Up to 5 per shrapnel piece

Base Mana Cost: 150

Base Pattern Cohesion: 6

Pattern Recognition has increased to 48!

Unfortunately, other than Pyroblast – which he had learned earlier from her – and now Shatter, the Naturalist didn’t know any other spells in other elements that might be beneficial to add to his new Fusion.  Most of her learning had been focused on her Naturalist Specialization, and other than some of the more basic spells, such as Water Jet, Repelling Gust, and Ice Spike, she didn’t have anything but nature and earth-based spell knowledge.  She only acquired Pyroblast because it was useful in fighting monsters, but hadn’t had a chance to learn much more than that.

One spell from her Specialization that he did end up thinking might be useful, however, was something called Acid Spray.

New Spell learned!

Acid Spray

Magnitude: 3-foot wide cone extending up to 10 feet

Base Elemental Damage (Acid): 20 per second for 10 seconds

Base Mana Cost: 250

Base Channeled Mana Cost: 25 per second

Base Pattern Cohesion: 12

She had rarely ever used the spell because it required a target to be within 10 feet of her, which was practically melee range; Larek could nearly reach her with his halberd at that distance, and it was better if she stayed far away from her opponents.  It was also a channeled spell, which meant that after paying the hefty cost of 250 Mana to initiate a spray of acid in a cone-like shape up to 10 feet away, it required another 25 Mana per second to maintain the spray.  Anything hit by the acid would suffer from the burning of the liquid as it ate through skin and flesh, doing up to 200 damage over 10 seconds.  For a large, evolved monster like the Flying Shappo, even if she was close enough to hit it, its exterior skin was strong enough to withstand quite a bit of damage and would likely shrug off such an attack – or at least not be overly debilitated.

But Larek had something else in mind for the spell when it came to his new Fusion.

After confirming that she didn’t really have anything else to teach him that could be used for offensive purposes, Larek got to work.  Taking a blank staff out of his Void Pocket sack, he held it across his knees as he started putting together the different components he wanted to include.  Ultimately, it was going to be similar to the Variable Repeating Elemental Projectile Fusion he had on the existing staves, but would be multiple times stronger.

Using the same general layout as the VREP formation, he replaced the flaming ball effect with something that mimicked the Pyroblast spell, which would create a compressed ball of fire that would appear and explode near a target. Since it wasn’t a projectile that crossed an intervening space before it exploded, unlike the previous flaming balls, the Effect he wanted would require a mental phrase based on distance. 

But that would be entirely too complicated to remember all of the phrasing, as well as Magnitude and the specific Effect that was chosen.  Something such as “Fire 3” for the current VREP Fusion was easy enough to mentally phrase, but adding in another component that someone had to calculate in split-second was entirely too much.

“Fire 3 22 Feet” for a particular mental phrasing made his head hurt just thinking about it.

Instead, he thought back to some of his previous Fusions and came up with something that would work even better.  There would still be a mental phrase, in this case “Blast” followed by the Magnitude chosen, but the distance would rely entirely on a narrow object detector that extended past the tip of the staff in a beam approximately 6 inches in width.  If the object detector “saw” something within 250 feet, it would use that object as the target distance for the Effect.  That way, any of the Effects could be used against monsters, the immobile ground, or even a thrown object – as long as it passed through the invisible beam of object detection.

Rather than just 8 different Magnitudes to assign to the different Effects like the VREP, Larek added a full 12.  The smallest Magnitude was essentially a ball of compressed fire no larger than his fist, and when it exploded it only expanded to a diameter of about a foot and a half.  Compared to the original Pyroblast spell, which expanded up to four feet when it exploded, it was quite small.

The size of the ball and the explosive diameter only increased as the Magnitude got higher.  At Magnitude 3, the explosion matched fairly closely to what the Pyroblast spell could normally produce; at Magnitude 6, the explosion reached 10 feet in diameter; at Mag 9, it was twice that.  If they chose to use Magnitude 12, the highest Magnitude he thought he could reasonably create without risking himself by using too much Pattern Cohesion, then the explosion reached up to 40 feet – which was a larger diameter than the entire main body of a Flying Shappo.

In other words, it was quite powerful.

As for Mana restraints, there weren’t any.  These weapons would only be for himself and Nedira, at least for the moment, because they were far too dangerous for anyone else to handle without proper training and a healthy understanding of what it meant if they used them too much.  He set an optional 0.5-second Interval for Magnitudes 1 through 4, allowing for repetitive explosive blasts, which had a separate Reactive Activation Method triggered by adding the phrase “Repeat” to “Blast 1”, “Blast 2”, etc.  He didn’t add it to anything of a higher Magnitude, because there was too much risk of damaging the Fusion formation with the draw of so much Mana through it, and it would also drain the ambient Mana in the area much faster that way.  Of course, there was nothing stopping Larek or Nedira from simply thinking the mental phrasing needed to use those Effects in rapid succession, but it was one of those things that they knew to be cautious with unless there was no other choice.

As it was, anything over Magnitude 8 required a few seconds’ pause between each use to reduce the risk of degrading the Fusion formations too fast.  Thankfully, even if they pushed them too far, Larek was adept enough with manipulating his Pattern Cohesion that he could repair or strengthen anything in the Fusion that started to deteriorate; but as long as they were relatively careful, they should last a while without needing to be repaired.

As far as ambient Mana draw, the rapid expenditure of the most powerful Magnitudes would be significant, but if they were able to stay on the move – such as what they were doing flying around inside of his Pattern box – then it wouldn’t be too detrimental to the nearby Mana density.  It was still something to worry about if they were forced into a stationary position, but they would simply have to rely on the smaller Magnitudes if that was the case.

Once he had every “Blast” Variable set up and the fiery explosion Effect in place, he moved on to the next Effect: Shatter.  Replacing the flying stone Effect from the VREP Fusion, instead of a ball of compressed fire that exploded, the “Shatter” Effect would create a stone aimed at the target before making it shatter into hundreds of sharp pieces with deadly velocity.  If a monster was immune to fire or magical spells, then the physical nature of a large stone essentially exploding in their face would theoretically bypass those restrictions. 

Similar to the Blast Effect, the smallest Magnitude of Shatter had a stone that was approximately the size of two fists put together and produced hundreds of smaller stone slivers that were almost needle-like in appearance.  It wasn’t very powerful, but he could see it being effective against smaller monsters where a weaker attack was more prudent, or even for those situations where accuracy was better than pure destruction. 

By contrast, at Magnitude 12, the size of the boulder that was produced was 15 feet wide and would send out shards of stone that were equal to his leg in length and width.  Needless to say, he didn’t want to be anywhere near one of those boulders shattering into hundreds of those shards.

The same Intervals for repetitive use applied to Magnitudes 1 through 4, with Magnitude 5 and up being at their own discretion.  In essence, the setup for Shatter was nearly identical as the Blast, with only the Effect being fundamentally different.

For the final two Effects, as he wanted to replace the icy spike and water stream Effects from the VREP Fusion, he had to get a little more creative.  For the first Effect, icy spike, what he was looking for was a stronger attack – something he didn’t think was necessarily going to happen if the spike of ice was simply larger at Magnitude 12, for instance.  Sure, it would hit harder, be stronger, and would likely be many times larger than what the VREP Fusion produced, but there wasn’t anything fundamentally different about it. 

He thought about trying to apply the principle behind the Shatter Effect by creating a chunk of ice and causing it to explode at a target, but that seemed less useful – and he already had two effects that essentially exploded.  Unfortunately, he didn’t really have any new spells that he could think of that might work in improving how the Fusion sent icy spikes flying out from the end of the staff.  After some deliberation, he tapped into an existing Fusion he already possessed, Frozen Zone, and then did something that seemed counterintuitive at first.

Instead of making an icy spike bigger when the Magnitude increased, he kept it the same size.  What changed was the number of icy spikes produced, all of them approximately a foot in length and an inch wide with a sharp tip; for instance, at Magnitude 1, only 3 of the spikes were produced, separated by 3 inches and arranged in a triangular formation as they flew out from the tip of the staff.  At Magnitude 6, a full 30 of them were arranged in a circular cluster 2 feet in diameter; Magnitude 9 doubled that number, and Magnitude 12 had a wide, 10-foot circle of 200 foot-long icy spikes that would shoot straight ahead, reaching up to 200 feet away before losing altitude. 

Overall, that may not seem like an upgrade, but when he added in the fact that each of the icy spikes would radiate a chilling cold that was adopted from Frozen Zone, then anything hit by these spikes would start to have portions of their bodies freeze.  At Magnitude 1, the cold was only slightly chilly because it wasn’t very strong, nor did it spread that cold all that far; at Magnitude 12, if all 200 of the icy spikes hit a large target, then the cold would be the equivalent of a Frozen Zone at Magnitude 12, freezing anything nearby almost instantly, and it would radiate that cold up to a foot away from each spike.

Similar to the previous two Effects, Magnitudes 1 through 4 were repeatable, though he also added 5 and 6 to the list because he was fairly certain that the overall Mana draw for this Freeze Effect was less than the previous two, so there was a smaller chance of damage being done to the formation.

Lastly, replacing the water stream Effect was a little easier to decide what to do, if a bit more complicated.  Using the new Acid Spray spell he’d learned from Nedira, he combined the acidic and deadly nature of that spell with the Water Jet spell, forming an Effect that shot out a continuous, powerful jet of acid instead of dispersing it in a spray.  While blanketing an area with acid might be beneficial, he didn’t think that it would have quite the same outcome as it would if a monster was hit by a stream of pressurized acid.  If something was resistant to many other physical or magical means, then it was quite possible that the natural destructive power of acid might cut through those resistances where nothing else would work.  He was fairly certain that the pressure, combined with the acidic effect, was strong enough to even cut through a Rainbow Slime, whereas the other Effects would be far less effective.  Better yet, the Acid Effect was useful in slightly closer quarters, especially when something exploding or freezing could potentially harm an ally, as the acid was slightly more viscous than pure water and wouldn’t splash nearly as much upon impact with a target – meaning that there was less splashback that they would have to contend with.

Instead of assigning different Magnitudes to the Acid Effect, Larek simply hooked it up to Magnitude 12 and left it at that.  It was more of a “channeled spell”-type of Mana draw compared to anything else, and how much ambient Mana was used was dependent upon how long it was kept active.  Anything past 5 seconds would start to deplete the nearby Mana density, so that was just something that they had to keep in mind.

With all of these new Effects in place, and the different components set up for the Fusion, Larek double- and triple-checked the formation to ensure he had everything correct.  He fixed the width of a couple of containment barriers and was finally satisfied with what he had created.

“I’m going to start now,” he warned Nedira, before beginning to funnel Mana into the Mana Cost section of the new Fusion.  As soon as he dumped in the first of his Mana into the Fusion, he could sense that it was going to take a lot more to fill it up completely.  Thankfully, his Mana regeneration had improved greatly since he was in the Sealance Empire or even Lowenthal, and he was able to keep up a steady funnel of Mana into the Fusion.  The large Mana Cost didn’t surprise him, considering what sort of Fusion he was creating and the fact that it was Magnitude 12, but what did surprise him a little was how much of his Pattern Cohesion was already draining from his body to fill it in.  Even with the reductions in what was needed due to his Specializations, he estimated that it was going to be a third or more of his current Pattern Cohesion.

As he sat there, constantly funneling Mana into the formation while focusing on keeping it together, he was aware of the few reinforcements that managed to make it to their camp and past all the defensive Fusions.  Nedira, of course, took care of them with her staff with no problems, but as time went on with no end in sight to the amount of Mana being needed for his Fusion, he began to worry in a very small portion of his mind.  He ignored that worry as much as he could, because it was only going to interrupt his focus, but it continued to nag at him, nonetheless.

It only got worse after the first hour passed… and then the second… and he was aware that it would nearly be time for another Flying Shappo to spawn from the subservient Aperture – and it wouldn’t be stopped by the defenses they already had in place.

Finally, after what was one of the longest Fusion-creating sessions he’d ever participated in, he felt the last of the Mana required for the formation enter the Mana Cost section, and he glanced at his Status to see that just over 18,000 Pattern Cohesion had been consumed – and that was after the 40% decrease in cost due to his Specializations!

As the formation hummed with Mana and he directed it to *click* into its finished place on the staff, the Fusionist heard, “Larek!  Hurry up!  It’s coming!”

Feeling the weakness of nearly a third of his Pattern Cohesion being gone and the hours of constant Mana funneling, Larek shook his head as he looked up.  Nedira was fidgeting in a panicked state, her staff aimed toward the large figure of a Flying Shappo approximately 400 feet away.  It had just entered a dive that would have it crashing down into her, flattening the entire camp – including Larek – in the process.

“I’m done,” he said hoarsely, and for the first time he realized that his throat was dry.  “Move out of the way, if you would; I’ve got this.  At least, I think I do.”  Nedira looked back at him and saw him pointing his staff toward the incoming Shappo.  She appeared momentarily confused because she couldn’t see any Fusions on it, but then she seemed to realize that he had hidden them with the void carrier Effect so that they wouldn’t be obvious.  She quickly sidestepped out of the way but kept her own staff pointed toward the incoming monster. 

Blast 12, he thought, even as the monstrous winged figure entered the range of the staff.  Nothing happened at first; Larek realized that his aim wasn’t completely lined up with the diving Shappo and tried again.

BOOM!

The explosion that occurred in the face of the Shappo was so great that Larek and Nedira felt the heat of it even 200 feet away, and the shockwave a split-second later knocked the Naturalist on her back.  Larek was able to hold himself upright, though the compressed air that pushed by him stung his eyes a little bit as he looked to see what had happened to the monster.

When his vision rapidly cleared from the blinding flash of the explosion, he saw what appeared to be the hind legs of the Flying Shappo spiraling to the ground after having been launched backwards and further back into the air from the shock of the explosion.  Of the rest of its body, or even its wings, which had been pulled tight to its body as it dove, there was no sign.  He could only assume that it had been completely obliterated by the explosion.

Larek didn’t even realize his ears were ringing until it disappeared a second later, and he scrambled to his feet in a slight panic to check on Nedira.  He breathed a sigh of relief when she sat up on her own, a confused expression on her face morphing into anger as she looked at him and his staff. 

“You couldn’t have warned me about that?”

He hung his head, slightly ashamed, but he couldn’t help but chuckle at how absurdly destructive his new Fusion was.  “Sorry about that.  I guess my powerful staff is more explosive than I thought.”

She just huffed and crossed her arms, even as she activated the Graduated Parahealing Fusion on her robe to heal what little damage she had taken.  “I’m going to ignore the implied innuendo there, while you tell me what in all that is holy you just did.”

As he sat next to her, letting her lean on him as she finished the last of her healing, Larek began to explain all the spectacular features of his newest creation.


Chapter 51

After explaining his new Fusion to Nedira in detail, Larek finally looked at his notifications to see what had changed.

New Fusion Learned!

Variable Elemental Destruction +12

Activation Method(s): Activatable, Reactive

Effect(s): Camouflages Fusion using a void carrier shroud

Effect(s): Creates a condensed ball of flames that explodes near target

Effect(s): Creates a stone that shatters into hundreds of sharp pieces

Effect(s): Creates multiple icy spikes that emit a freezing aura upon impact

Effect(s): Creates a high-powered jet of acid

Effect(s): Using non-invasive mental manipulation, activates or deactivates Activatable Activation Method upon detection of mental phrasing by individual in direct contact with object

Variable(s): Mental phrasing “Blast 1”, “Blast 1 Repeat”…(see entire list)

Input(s): Directional orientation in a narrow beam, identification of distant targets, mental phrasing

Interval(s): 0.5 seconds

Magnitude(s): Targets up to 250 feet away, 100% to 1200% of base elemental strength, 1 to 12 seconds of freezing aura

Mana Cost: 7,800,000

Pattern Cohesion: 30,400

Fusion Time: 1,447 hours

Fusion has reached Level 66!

Fusion has reached Level 67!

Pattern Formation has reached Level 66!

Pattern Formation has reached Level 67!

Mana Control has reached Level 66!

Mana Control has reached Level 67!

Multi-effect Fusion Focus has reached Level 63!

Multi-effect Fusion Focus has reached Level 64!

Spellcasting Focus has reached Level 44!

I guess that explains why it took me so long, he couldn’t help but think after looking at the details of his new Fusion, Variable Elemental Destruction +12.  Even though his Specializations helped to reduce the final Mana Cost, the base cost was nearly 8 million Mana, with his final cost still being 5.85 million Mana – more than he’d ever funneled into anything before.  Looking at it in Nedira’s hands, he realized he needed to put a Strengthen Fusion on the wooden staff; if it suddenly broke and the Fusion shattered, the impending destruction would be catastrophic, to say the least.

While he quickly did that, adding a Strengthen +12 Fusion on the opposite end of the staff, he was happy to see that he had gained a total of nine Skill Levels from the single Fusion, the biggest jump in quite a while.  He was just one AP off from earning another personal Level, but he thought that he might accomplish it when he created a second staff for himself – since the first one was for Nedira to help protect them.

“Try it out,” he said, pointing toward a cluster of Steel Slimes that were rolling in their direction.  They were probably about 600 feet away, but it wouldn’t be long until they were in range for the new staff.

“Are you sure this will reach up to 250 feet?”

He nodded.  “Yes.  Remember what I told you about the mental phrases?  Try something at Magnitude 4 and add ‘Repeat’ to it once they’re close enough.”  While she could easily try some of the higher—and more destructive—Magnitudes, it was better that she understood what she was working with before she started with those.

It was something that Larek probably should’ve experimented with before he blasted the Flying Shappo out of the sky, but what was done was done.

Striding to the edge of their camp, Nedira waited calmly with her staff held loosely in her right hand, only bringing it up with both hands so that she could sight along its length at the approaching group of Slimes.  When Larek judged them to be approximately in the 250 foot range, he watched as a cluster of icy spikes suddenly materialized around the tip of her staff and shot off with incredible speed toward the physically tough monsters.  A half-second later, the process was repeated, and another tight cluster of icy spikes followed right behind.  This repeated for a total of 5 seconds, until there was a line of spikes crossing the distance to the Slimes, before shattering upon contact with the lead monster.

Thousands of tiny pieces of ice flew everywhere after impact, showing very little damage to the actual Slime, but the monster was visibly slowed in comparison to the others.  A large section of what appeared to be frost covered the front portion of the Slime, though it disappeared when it continued to roll forward, pushing it beneath itself.  Even though Nedira hadn’t done much damage to the monster, the obvious freezing aura given off by the spikes upon contact was a good sign that it was working as intended.

Next came the creation of multiple stones that shattered essentially in direct contact with the Slimes, shearing off a few small chunks of slime from their bodies in the process.  It wasn’t too effective, even at Magnitude 4, but it wasn’t really expected to be; the high physical resistance of the Steel Slimes was well known.  It was more of a proof of concept, though Larek was fairly certain that a much higher Magnitude would have a greater effect.

When she used the Blast Effect, the difference was evident.  Even with a higher physical resistance, the presence of magical flames and the explosive effect of the detonating balls of fire tore large chunks out of the lead slime, and it only took a few seconds of repeat Blasts at Magnitude 4 to reach its internal core.  She killed a second one only a few seconds later, before cutting off the flow of Blasts. 

When a stream of greenish liquid shot out of the tip of the staff and crossed the extreme distance to the approaching slimes, Larek noticed that there was some drop-off of its acceleration and height as it passed about 150 feet.  By the time it reached the Slimes, it had dropped in height about 2 feet, nearly hitting the ground at a slightly slower speed than before, but the results were still clear.  As it hit the Steel Slime, it literally punched a hole through its form, and even as it reformed to cover up the hole, it was obvious that the acid was doing some serious damage to it.  Whatever it touched was practically melting, the strength of the acid and the pressure behind it being so incredible that the Slime couldn’t keep up. 

Nedira kept in mind what he said about keeping the acid Effect going past 5 seconds, as that would start lowering the ambient Mana density significantly, so she shut it off just after that limit.  He couldn’t see the smile on her face, but he could tell that it was there from her stance alone, which brought a grin of satisfaction to his own.

After having tried everything out at lower Magnitudes, as well as the repeating function, Nedira evidently decided to finish off the remaining Slimes with more Blasts – though these ones were a higher Magnitude.  As the first one exploded in the midst of the monsters, enveloping them in an explosion that covered more than half of them, he thought that it was probably a Magnitude 8 or 9 – but definitely not any higher than that.  The result was the absolute obliteration of all but one of them as they were ripped apart in a screeching of superheated metal, and the last was killed a few seconds later by a Magnitude 6 or so Blast that was much more modest-sized – but still equally as deadly to the physically resistant Steel Slime.

“I love it,” she said when she turned around, staring at the staff in her hands in wonder.  “It’s powerful and easy to use; but this would also be extremely dangerous in the wrong hands.”

“That’s true,” he acknowledged.  “That’s why these are only for us… and anyone we think we could trust with them.”  He hadn’t given up hope that he would find Verne, after all, and if anyone would appreciate the destructive nature of this Fusion, it was his former roommate.

Larek had to wait for his Pattern Cohesion to refill for a little bit before he started on the next Fusion, so he practiced with Nedira on using the staff effectively; it had the potential of being extremely destructive and dangerous at close-quarters, so it required some experience with the different Magnitudes that they didn’t hurt themselves in the process. 

He had to say, after using it for about an hour, that it made eliminating the Razor Locusts that continued to come after them quite easy.  A single Blast at Magnitude 6 was usually enough to kill every single one of them, making them quite trivial; not that they weren’t before, but it barely took a second of thought before they were completely destroyed.

Once his Pattern Cohesion had been refilled and Nedira assured him that she would be fine against the next appearance of the Flying Shappo, Larek sat down with another staff to create another Variable Elemental Destruction +12 (VED) Fusion on it.  It took perhaps a few minutes less than it did before, mainly because he knew what he was doing and what to expect, though his hyper-focused state was nearly interrupted when, at one point, he peripherally heard the sound of an enormous explosion, but he managed to keep it all together.  He knew it was Nedira taking care of the next Shappo, so he just pushed that knowledge to the back of his mind and kept going.

Fusion has reached Level 68!

You have reached Level 42 and have 28 available AP to distribute!

Pattern Formation has reached Level 68!

Mana Control has reached Level 68!

Multi-effect Fusion Focus has reached Level 65!

Spellcasting Focus has reached Level 45!

Pattern Recognition has reached Level 49!

It wasn’t quite as impressive of a Skill increase as the first time he created the Fusion, but it was still beneficial – because it gained him another personal Level and 28 AP to distribute.  He nearly shoved his newly available AP into his Martial stats once again, but he held off for one particular reason.

Throughout his time creating Fusions, especially at the beginning, he hadn’t had any problems with Mana; it regenerated so quickly that it wasn’t really a concern to him.  His time in the Sealance Empire and Lowenthal, as well his experience once he returned to the Kingdom, showed him that his Mana regeneration was dependent upon the current density of the Mana around him.  It could only take so much at a time from the ambient Mana to replenish his Mana pool, after all.

Or so he had believed.

But after paying specific attention to the mana density as it pertained to the use of his Fusions, he began to think that this wasn’t entirely accurate.  Yes, the density of the Mana around him certainly played a role in how fast his pool regenerated, but even though the ambient Mana was quite a bit denser in the Kingdom than in the Empire or Lowenthal, he didn’t think that his regeneration speed kept up with the difference.  In other words, while his Mana regeneration had greatly impacted the ambient Mana density in the Empire, where sometimes he had to slow down so as not to reduce the density too much, that wasn’t even near to happening once he was back in the Kingdom.

In the end, what he thought might be the issue was his Acuity stat, which was what was supposed to govern Mana regeneration – though he hadn’t really thought about it in a long, long time.  In fact, he couldn’t even remember when he had last added any AP to it. The Acuity stat had started at 100 and he’d added 40 to it, though he’d stopped after a while because it didn’t seem to make as much of a difference as it did when he added AP to his other stats. 

Perhaps that was the problem.  His other Mage stats had far outstripped his Acuity, though it was hard to compare his Pneuma because it was influenced by his Body stat; that being said, his Intellect was at 205 now, while Acuity languished 65 points behind.

It was time to change that.  Ultimately, he wasn’t sure if it would even do anything, but he supposed that it couldn’t hurt to try.  Some might believe that it was a waste, especially when the AP he spent could be used to make him physically stronger and faster; for Larek, though, he might have been working on his Martial side lately, improving his physical prowess over his poor or nonexistent training, but that wasn’t all that he was.

He was a Fusionist at heart, and if there was a way to improve his ability to create Fusions, he would take that opportunity.  If he had still been horribly inept or weak, he would keep bolstering his Martial stats, but he’d already made great strides to improve himself that way; now it was time to improve his Mage side once again.  The sheer amount of Mana that he had to funnel into his latest creation was proof that what he was making—or would make in the future—had incredible demands on his resources, and if he didn’t improve himself now, then he would soon find himself trying to create something that required more than he could give.

With that thought in mind, he threw all 28 of his newly acquired AP into Acuity, bringing it to a total of 168.  While that might not seem like a huge improvement, when it was doubled due to his Omniboost Fusion, a total of 56 added to his Acuity certainly was.

Or so he hoped.  The Fusionist couldn’t feel anything different immediately, as it largely had to do with Mana regeneration; but once his Pattern Cohesion filled back up, he would be able to see if it had made a difference… or if it had been a waste.

After about an hour upon finishing his own staff with the VED +12 Fusion on it, Larek sat down once again and began planning out his next Fusion, where he would be able to test out his new Acuity.  This one wasn’t going to be designed for Larek or Nedira to use, but to replace the old offensive Fusions he’d been using to kill most of the reinforcements that came from the Apertures they passed.  The weaknesses of them were already known, as their high ongoing ambient Mana cost and subsequent limitations on how many he could place around the Apertures’ openings were obvious, so he aimed to fix those weaknesses.  He might not be able to fully stop every single reinforcement from venturing out, but he would do his darndest to get as many as possible.  If he was successful, then they wouldn’t have to worry about a monster like the Flying Shappo attacking them every few hours as they made their way to the northeast.

With that determination firmly in his mind, he began creating a brand-new Fusion formation that would take everything he’d learned over the last few years and put it all together in a powerful Fusion that would solve a lot of their current problems.  Approximately 30 minutes later, after many different revisions and tweaks, he glanced up at Nedira.

“I’m ready,” he said in a monotone voice, his focus almost fully on his newest creation as he kept the formation together.  “Starting now.”

As the Mana flowed out of him and into the Fusion on the steel plate he had designated as the material to hold it, the difference in his Mana regeneration was incredible.  While it wasn’t necessarily a direct linear improvement with his increased Acuity, he could feel his Mana filling up much faster; it was very similar to what he used to experience in the Kingdom years ago, and there was very little downtime as he funneled millions of Mana into the formation.  It was hard to quantify exactly what had changed, but in the end he decided that it didn’t ultimately matter; his brief checks of the local Mana density using his Magical Detection Skill was enough to tell him that his new Mana regeneration speed wasn’t affecting it to the point where it began to drop in density.  It wasn’t exactly even, but he suspected that if Nedira began using large quantities of Mana with her staff while he was working it would start to suffer; for now, though, it wasn’t harming anything.

After only an hour, he could feel the Mana being funneled into the Fusion slow down until it finally stopped. He was fairly certain that he used just as much, if not more, Mana in this particular formation compared to the Variable Elemental Destruction +12 Fusion, but it had taken less than half the time.

If that didn’t prove that increasing his Acuity made a difference, then he didn’t know what would.

As it clicked into place, he sagged a little from the expenditure of Pattern Cohesion and constant funneling of Mana, but he smiled when he looked down at his completed creation.

Looking up at Nedira, who looked questioningly at him after it appeared as though he was finished, he asked, “Shall we go try it out?”

Nodding emphatically, she joined him as they packed up their camp, and Larek made a Pattern box for them to journey toward the center of the Shappo Aperture.  Once they arrived, Larek deactivated the previous Fusions they had set up earlier to stop the River Shappos from getting out, and the almost-giddy Fusionist carefully placed the steel plate down in a precise location. The two of them then stepped away, got back in his Pattern box, and floated 100 feet away.

Just then, another Flying Shappo started to emerge from the Aperture, and Larek mentally activated the Fusion he had just placed moments prior.

“Alright, let’s see if it works,” he said.

“You don’t know?”

Larek chuckled.  “Not at all.  It should, but let’s prepare just in case.”  So saying, he took his new VED staff out of his Void Pocket sack and held it at the ready.  Nedira did the same next to him.

The both of them watched with bated breath as the Flying Shappo walked out of the Aperture before flapping its wings to get airborne.  This was the reason why his previous Fusions couldn’t stop the monsters from reaching them, because they immediately flew over any of his defenses.

But if his new creation worked as intended, that concern was a thing of the past.


Chapter 52

Holding her breath as the Flying Shappo took to the air, Nedira saw the moment it identified them and began heading in their direction.  She gripped her staff tighter in her hands, ready to blast it apart with the new Pyroblast effect that Larek had somehow managed to instill in the Fusion that was on it, which was something she never would’ve believed possible if she hadn’t seen—and used—it herself.  The way that the Fusionist could simply take a spell’s effects and replicate them in a Fusion left her nothing short of astonished, even though she’d seen it multiple times before.  She had thought that the void-based bag of his had been his crowning achievement, but it almost paled in comparison to the staff in her hands.  Having practiced and killed multiple monsters with it, including one of the Flying Shappos that was heading toward them at the moment, she knew firsthand how powerful – and dangerous – it was.

But now he had created a Fusion that would kill a monster like the Flying Shappo without their intervention?  How is that even possible?  She had seen and relied upon the other Fusions he had made, such as his Frozen Zone and Healing Shelter, in their journeys together, but she was more than aware of their limitations and drawbacks, which included depleting the ambient Mana in an area if too many of them were active simultaneously.  While she wasn’t able to completely perceive the same strands of light that Larek seemed to see, she had become much better at discerning the density of Mana in an area over time, as it was more a strange numerical sense of it than something visual.  It helped to determine how much of the local density she was depleting when she used her new staff, which was extremely helpful.

When she hadn’t been using her staff, she could sense that the local Mana around them was at around a static 95% density; this was because of the always-active Fusions that they had on her robe and his clothes, which absorbed that much ambient Mana from the environment to keep them going.  When she used her old staff, the draw on the ambient Mana brought the density down another 3% to 5%, which wasn’t that big of a deal – especially since the Fusion on that staff regulated how much could be drawn from the environment.  The offensive Fusions that Larek used, such as Frozen Zone, consumed about 8% of the local Mana density to keep them active. 

The issues concerning ambient Mana arose when the total density dropped below 50%, as that was when it started to use more than could be quickly replaced.  That was why, when they placed a maximum of six of the offensive Fusions near an Aperture to kill the reinforcements, it managed to maintain the balance.  With six of them there, and if Larek and Nedira weren’t nearby with their own Fusions, it used around 48% to 49% of the available ambient Mana; adding another one would slowly deplete the density until some of the Fusions would break, thereby freeing up more Mana density. 

In contrast, the new staff used between 5% to a whopping 50% of the nearby Mana density for the highest of Magnitudes.  The biggest difference was that most of the functions of the staff’s Fusion weren’t continuous, so using a Magnitude 12 Blast, for instance, depleted the nearby Mana density for a short time, but it recovered fairly quickly as more Mana flowed in to replace it.  It was almost like her own Mana regeneration in that respect; it regenerated relatively fast upon single-use Fusion Effects, whereas continuous, always-active Fusions sort of reserved the Mana density so that it couldn’t be used for anything but keeping the Fusion active. 

It was a strange way to look at it, and she had tried to describe the way she perceived it to Larek, but he seemed to have an instinctual understanding of Mana Density through a visual inspection, so it wasn’t exactly compatible with his thinking.  But what she couldn’t understand was how he expected a single Fusion to be able to keep any monsters from emerging from an Aperture, because the reserved Mana density cost would likely be enormous.

Except that, besides a very tiny surge in the Mana density being consumed when he turned on what he had just created, his Fusion didn’t seem to be using much Mana at all.  She was about to say something when it passed through what she considered to be the boundary around the Aperture, the area where Fusions weren’t possible to place because they couldn’t absorb ambient Mana.  At first, nothing seemed to happen, and she sighted down the length of her staff, ready to blast the Shappo apart; but then it seemed to light up from multiple angles, as if a multitude of light beams illuminated it.

She only caught a glimpse of that before all hell broke loose.

A huge surge of Mana from the environment was sucked into the Fusion, leaving her slightly breathless at the sudden drop in Mana density, to the point where she couldn’t even calculate how much was being used.  Instead, she could only look in awe as a large, thick dome that she estimated was about 25 feet wide and 60 feet tall extended over the entire Aperture, leaving the zone affected by the non-absorption effect hollow in its center.

The walls of the dome appeared to be powerful, hardened gusts of air, rapidly moving and keeping everything contained within – including the majority of the Flying Shappo; a tiny portion of its rear and its back legs seemed to be stuck outside, but the majority of it was caught inside the effect.  These walls of air were important, because in a flash the interior of the dome suddenly turned opaque as it almost instantly filled with a familiar-looking acid, similar to the Acid Spray spell she had taught to Larek and he had then incorporated into the new Fusion on her staff.  Instead of a powerful stream of it, it was instead filling the dome like it was water in a lake, completely encompassing the Shappo inside, and it was thick enough that Nedira couldn’t even see it anymore.

I guess that would certainly kill it after a while, she couldn’t help thinking.  But what about monsters that are resistant to—

A few seconds after the acid appeared, it suddenly froze as a sense of horrifically extreme cold filled the dome, which was something that the Naturalist could feel even from 100 feet away.  Over the course of 2 seconds, the entirety of the acid froze completely solid, enveloping the Flying Shappo in a block of acid ice; if it hadn’t been trapped before in the viscous liquid, then it certainly was now.

Before she could wonder what was going to happen next, two things happened nearly simultaneously.  First, the exterior of the dome expanded outwards approximately 5 feet, leaving a gap between the frozen acid and the wall of air.  A split-second after that happened, the solid, dome-shaped block of acidic ice shattered, reminding Nedira of her Shatter spell.  As soon as the ice shattered, all the millions of shards were picked up by powerful internal gusts of air, which whipped them around in a fury for a full 5 seconds, making so much noise as they crashed against each other that she had to cover her ears as she watched with wide eyes. 

In the midst of the “acidicle” (acid icicles) destruction, she thought she caught sight of a few obliterated pieces of the Flying Shappo, but there was so much going on that it was difficult to tell for sure.  The only thing she knew was that when the cyclonic devastation was complete and the acid fell to the ground, where it melted into the dirt and rivers nearby, the only trace of the monster at all was the small portion of its legs that hadn’t made it inside the Fusion’s area of effect before it was caught by the air wall.  As it fell to the small dirt island that encompassed the area around the Aperture, some of the melting acid fell on it and began dissolving it immediately, leaving only a small portion of it behind.

Mouth open in shock, Nedira had to take a few seconds to comprehend what she’d just seen.  The complete obliteration of the flying monster had been done so thoroughly and quickly that it seemed almost impossible; she had figured Larek would fill an area with powerful Pyroblast effects, which had proven highly effective against the Flying Shappo, but he had done something completely unexpected – and yet extremely smart.  He had incorporated many different damaging attacks, both magical and physical, which were designed to exploit the weaknesses of all monsters, no matter what they were.

If something was resistant to physical damage?  The magical freeze, coupled with the explosive shattering of the acid ice, should be more than enough, but then it would also be pummeled by air gusts that were magical in nature.  Resistant to magical damage?  The physical nature of the acid was strong enough to eat through just about anything, and adding in being slammed around by high-speed acidicles after being inside of a shattering explosion, there wasn’t much that could stand up to that.  She couldn’t think of a single monster, other than one perhaps too large to fit inside the dome at all, that wouldn’t die when exposed to the effects of the Fusion, or at least be so severely damaged that they wouldn’t be too much of a threat.

But there were downsides to this devastating destruction, of course.  As she reached out with her senses, she was again shocked to find that the Mana density of the immediate area was down to less than 5%, though it was slowly creeping back up as more Mana flowed into the environment. 

“That… used more Mana than I expected… but it worked, I guess?” Larek mumbled at her side. 

“What in the world was that?” Nedira asked, finally able to speak again.

He turned to her, thoughts still obviously chasing each other around his head as he looked slightly distracted.  “That was my new Shattering Acidic Occlusion Dome +12 Fusion.  The draw of Mana was nearly too much; I may have to limit the last attack time by a second or so to make sure it doesn’t deplete the density too much.”

“I’d say so!  That was incredibly destructive and scary, if I’m telling the truth.”

He appeared worried at her words.  “I’m sorry, I didn’t mean to scare you.  I didn’t think there was any danger to us, but I can see how that might’ve looked.”

Shaking her head, she said, “No, it wasn’t that.  It was watching what using almost every drop of Mana in an area can really do, something that I doubt any other person alive has ever seen before.  I can’t even imagine what would happen if someone, other than you, got ahold of this kind of devastating power.  I thought your staff Fusions were scary enough, but this… this is on a whole other level.”

Still looking worried but now thoughtful, he nodded after a few seconds.  “I can definitely see that. I might need to add some sort of shut-off for these Fusions, similar to what I’ve done before, but perhaps more permanent?  I’ve only been thinking in terms of us using these things; but what if someone was to get ahold of them without our knowledge?  That certainly bears thinking about, especially ways to prevent them from accidentally—or intentionally—killing a lot of people.”

Nedira agreed.  These Fusions he was creating were powerful, but they could also cause a lot of damage if they weren’t careful.  Knowing that he would probably come up with a way to prevent that from happening, she moved on from her worries as she waved toward the Fusion.  “Going back to the Mana draw, that Fusion used a lot of ambient Mana all at once, but now it seems nearly dormant in comparison.  How did you do that?”

It took a few seconds for her question to get through his furious thinking, but he eventually explained.  “Oh, yes.  It’s in a relatively inactive state right now, though it has a light-based detection Effect that is Reactive, continuously searching for more targets of a certain size.  It won’t react to small animals or insects, as I didn’t want it to activate every time a fly flew through it. If we ever encounter something that small, it might not be the best idea to use this, but for 99% of other monsters, it should be fine.

“The Reactive Effect, once it detects an object of proper size, waits until a mass threshold has been reached before activating the rest of the Effects that you saw, in order.  In total, it only lasts 14 seconds, though I might reduce that down to 13 depending on current Mana density levels.  As you also no doubt sensed, it uses a lot of Mana to activate it, which means that it isn’t suited for normal Apertures outside of the Calamity; they seem to respawn their monsters faster than these inside here, and they would be useless to protect against a newly opened Aperture, as the constant flow of monsters repopulating the territory would cause it to drain the Mana density in a short amount of time, which would lead to the Fusion cannibalizing itself.  It’s possible that I might be able to tone down the severity of the destruction to save on Mana cost, but the majority of the expense can be attributed to the size of the dome itself.”

While she wasn’t an expert on Fusions like Larek, she could understand a bit of what he was referring to.  The devastating Effects, while expensive in terms of Mana, were secondary to the area of the dome, which took a lot of Mana to extend all the way around the entire Aperture.  It was possible that multiple Fusions with just a portion of the area might work to reduce costs even further, but he shot that down even as she voiced that thought.

“There’s too much danger of overlapping areas of ambience if I were to try and split it up into multiple Fusions, which would lead to formation degradation at an increased rate.  I’ve also found that I have a problem with irregular shapes, as that was what I thought of doing at first; having a dozen wedges of a large dome shape butted up against each other sounds like it would save in Mana cost, but I instinctively felt that creating a slice of a whole dome was going to cost nearly as much Mana as the entire dome because of its irregular shape.  That’s why most of my Fusions are cubes, domes, or spheres, as those seemed to conform to my formations at a much better rate than something like a triangle, or in this case, a slice of a dome.

“Perhaps in time I will get better at envisioning something like that, but for now, it’s basically the large dome or nothing.”

It was disappointing, but Nedira knew better than to question what he could or couldn’t do.  He was already defying what should be possible with what he’d created, so who was she to tell him that he was wrong?  If he said it couldn’t be done without being nearly as expensive as the original, then that had to be the case.

“So, the plan is to place one of these on all the Apertures that attack us on our way north?”

He nodded.  “Yes, but I need to make a bunch of them first.  I should be able to use my Focused Division Skill to make a few of them at one time, but it’ll still take nearly a day before I have what we’re likely to need.”

“With all these new Fusions, we should be fine if you need to take a day to make enough.  We’ll be able to make up quite a bit of time with them later.”

“That’s what I was thinking.  Time to go back to camp?”

She agreed, and Larek controlled the box they were standing in as they moved out of the Aperture’s territory.  As much as she disliked the obsidian ground that made up the majority of the Calamity’s environment, she also didn’t want to spend time camping on top of or next to a river – which was what the Shappo Aperture territory was mostly comprised of.  When they arrived at their previous encampment, Larek got comfortable while Nedira spotted another swarm of the annoying Razor Locusts in the distance.  She wished they could go back and close off that Aperture with his new Fusion, but that would require a bit of backtracking.  As it was, killing the flying insects was easy enough with a single use of her new staff, which she did as soon as they were within range, “blasting” them apart with a Magnitude 6 blast from her staff. 

Larek spent a few hours creating more of his newest Fusion before Nedira became too tired to keep watch, so she slept for about 6 hours while he kept watch.  She did the same for him afterwards, and as soon as she woke him up later, he went right back to creating more Fusions.  She never got over how incredible it was that Larek was able to manipulate his Mana in such a way that thousands of Mana flowed into the Fusion he was working on every second or so, as handling that much would tire her out within minutes.  His knack for every aspect of Fusion creation was why he was the Fusionist, however, and not her.  More and more, though, she felt like she was becoming less useful; it had been a while since she’d had to actually cast a spell, as most of their attacks had been with Larek’s Fusions.  She knew she had a lot more to offer than just standing there holding a staff, but it was hard to compete with something that didn’t require her pool of Mana to use and wouldn’t tire out no matter how many times you used it.

Pushing away those forlorn thoughts as soon as the powerful Fusionist was done creating what they needed, she was eager to get on the move again.  As they took to the air in his Pattern-constructed box, she looked toward the northeast and thought that if everything went right, they might be able to get out of the Calamity a day ahead of schedule, despite the break they took to create more Fusions.

It was only a matter of time before they were able to come back in and search for Verne; while she would be happy to be reunited with him, she was more anxious to find out if he knew where her brother was located.

She would find him, if it was the last thing she did.


Chapter 53

After finishing all of the necessary Fusions so that they could resume their trek to the northeast, Larek looked at the gains he had achieved over the last day.  His Mage Skills had shot up significantly, thanks in part to the fact that he’d created 50 of the new Shattering Acidic Occlusion Dome +12 Fusions, using Focused Division to create two at a time; any more than that required too much Pattern Cohesion, and it was originally a struggle to complete the Fusion in the first place.  As his Skill Levels increased, it gradually became easier, and his focus was able to withstand the hours of concentration that were needed to complete all 50.

Spellcasting Focus has reached Level 46!

……

Spellcasting Focus has reached Level 50!

Magical Detection has reached Level 47!

Pattern Recognition has reached Level 50!

Focused Division has reached Level 61!

……

Focused Division has reached Level 64!

Multi-effect Fusion Focus has reached Level 66!

……

Multi-effect Fusion Focus has reached Level 70!

Mana Control has reached Level 69!

……

Mana Control has reached Level 74!

Pattern Formation has reached Level 69!

……

Pattern Formation has reached Level 74!

You have reached Level 43 and have 29 available AP to distribute!

The reason he thought he had gained so many Skill increases was due to his new Fusion.  Knowing that he wanted to include quite a few Effects into it, which included detecting a presence through the use of light fluctuations, the air gust barriers forming a dome, filling that dome with acid, freezing and then shattering the frozen acid, using powerful air gusts to tear apart whatever survived the first Effects, and then using a void curtain to camouflage its presence and an Effect to strengthen the steel plate the Fusion was on, Larek had to push past the 6 Effect limit of Advanced Fusions – and it had been a challenge, but one that he managed to overcome.  His Skill increases as a result were a bonus to having actually completed the Fusion in the first place.

As for his newly acquired 29 AP as a result of reaching Level 43, he placed another 8 into Acuity to continue improving his Mana regeneration, bringing it to a base of 176, while the other 21 he divided equally across his Martial stats.  With 7 more in each, they were all now at a base of 185; with his Body stat increasing, it also reflected his Pneuma and Pattern Cohesion, bringing them both up even further.

From his accumulated Aetheric Force, he’d also increased the maximums of some of his Mage Skills, as they were already reaching the limit after his latest Fusion-creating session.  It was only enough to increase them a few Levels, but it would be enough so that he wouldn’t hit a wall anytime soon.

Level 43

Advancement Points (AP): 5/29

Available AP to Distribute: 0

Available Aetheric Force (AF): 127

Stama: 3700/3700

Mana: 4100/4100

Strength: 185 [370] (+)

Body: 185 [370] (+)

Agility: 185 [370] (+)

Intellect: 205 [410] (+)

Acuity: 176 [352] (+)

Pneuma: 3,330 [6,660]

Pattern Cohesion: 66,600/66,600

Mage Skills:

Magical Detection Level 47[55]/55 (550 AF)

Spellcasting Focus Level 50[55]/55 (550 AF)

Pattern Recognition Level 50[55]/55 (550 AF)

Focused Division Level 64/70 (700 AF)

Pattern Manipulation Level 69/80 (800 AF)

Multi-effect Fusion Focus Level 70/75 (750 AF)

Mana Control Level 74[78]/78 (780 AF)

Fusion Level 74[78]/78 (780 AF)

Pattern Formation Level 74[78]/78 (780 AF)

Overall, it had been extremely advantageous to stop for a while and get all that done, even if they were in a hurry; he thought that the time they would save having to fight any additional reinforcement monsters, as well as the ease at which they’d be able to kill anything else they encountered, would be significant.  It was also good to finally stretch his Fusion-creating muscles a little bit after having concentrated on his Martial Skill lately, though he knew that it would continue to be important to further improve them.  Even with his new VED staff Fusion, he wasn’t going to rely solely on its long-range effects; he would like to hone his abilities and exercise his Stama so that it became easier to use without losing control.

There always seemed like there was more that he had to work on, but that wasn’t necessarily a bad thing.

Only 10 minutes after they left the area around the Shappos, the two of them encountered yet another Aperture territory despite trying to avoid it, but the farther they moved toward the northeast, the closer together they became.  It was easy enough to destroy all of the Undead Soldiers in their decaying leather and rusty iron armor with repeated uses of their staves at lower Magnitudes, though Larek took a few minutes to use his Pattern Manipulation to create a disc so that he could weave in and among them with his halberd, slicing them apart with wide sweeps of his weapon.  It was only when they faced the evolved Death Knights, the undead horse-riding Knights that he remembered from all the way back in Barrowford, that he pulled back rather than risk getting hurt.  It only took a single Magnitude 10 Blast to completely shatter the powerful undead, and while there were a few dozen of them that came to attack the pair in the Pattern box, they stood no chance against Larek’s powerful Fusions.

Needless to say, it was quite a change from his first experience with monsters.  This time, no one he knew died, and they were able to take care of the attacking monsters from the safety of his box – which the undead couldn’t reach, no matter how much they wanted to. 

After they were cleared out, which was fairly easy since they bunched up as a group to attack them, it was a simple matter of placing the new Shattering Acidic Occlusion Dome (SAOC) Fusion down near the Aperture and leaving.  There was no time spent on ensuring that the Fusions he placed were carefully lined up to maximize the deaths of the reinforcements as they continued to travel north, nor was there any extra time spent making sure they didn’t overlap unnecessarily.  Just one Fusion set down and they were done.

From there, they continued on, encountering more and more reinforcements and their evolved monsters, though there weren’t any that they couldn’t handle – or that his new SAOC Fusion couldn’t kill when they respawned.  The only thing that changed were the sheer numbers of monsters that they encountered, which was explained by the much larger territories that their Apertures possessed; judging by the maps they had taken, territory size and their subsequent density increased the closer they got to the center of the Calamity, but they were angled to pass through the least amount of them if they kept their course.  It would only be a few days now at the pace they were moving, and they would be out of there.

They even discussed heading off in a different direction to get out faster, knowing that they could easily handle any of the reinforcements that might catch up to them if they moved out of their previous path, but they ultimately decided to keep on as they were going rather than risk it.  They might save a day or so of time at this point, but both of them figured it wouldn’t make that much difference in the end.  They would still get back to the Calamity before it was too late, after all, because it would still take the Strike Faction weeks to reach the center.

Or so they thought.

Halfway through their third day of heading to the northeast after creating all those Fusions, Nedira looked at their map, absently noting that they had passed the halfway mark the day before, and they were now on the last stretch for a couple more days and they would be out of the Calamity.  At this point, they were approximately 200 miles away from the reported site of the Steel Slime Aperture, which was at the heart of the Calamity, and the presence of evolved monsters was already starting to taper off – which was a big relief.  While they had yet to encounter any that they couldn’t easily kill with their staves and the SAOC Fusion, there was always a chance that they would find something that could give them trouble.  As far as Larek was concerned, they had gotten quite lucky in the reinforcements they faced, but he’d rather not push that luck by staying in the Calamity any longer than necessary.

As he glanced at the map over her shoulder while continuing to move the Pattern box on their designated path, something out of the corner of his eye caught his attention.  Whipping his head up, he noticed something moving in the distance ahead.  Sighing as he expected yet another batch of reinforcements from the nearest Aperture, he began to prepare for whatever it was when he realized they weren’t heading their direction.  Instead, a huge clumping of what appeared to be 6-foot-tall Rock Golems were stomping toward a destination to his left.  As he got closer, he saw that the grey-colored, humanoid-shaped monsters were heading southwest, away from an intercept course with the Pattern box.  Such a thing hadn’t occurred since they arrived, which made the actions of the monsters very strange.

He tapped Nedira on the shoulder to get her attention.  “Hey.  What do you make of that?” he asked, pointing toward the Golems, which were getting closer by the moment.  Even when they were within a few hundred feet, none of them reacted to their presence, which was doubly weird.

The Naturalist looked up at his question, seeing exactly what he was pointing at almost immediately.  She appeared confused for a moment, matching his own current state, before she sucked in her breath.  This was followed by her looking back at her map for a second, then turning her head to the southeast; a moment later, she glanced between the map, the Golems, and their supposed heading rapidly a few times.

“Kill one of them, if you would?”

She didn’t have to ask twice as he held out his staff, briefly chose to simply use a multitude of Magnitude 6 blasts, and proceeded to blow the legs, arms, head, and then the body of the closest Rock Golems apart from the explosive impact of the Fusion’s Effect.  Once it was a pile of scattered rubble on the obsidian ground, he saw the Corrupted Aetheric Force it contained flow into him, and he knew it was dead.  It was at this point where the rest of the Golems would see what he did and attack…

…but they seemingly ignored the plight of their dead comrade and kept stomping toward the southwest.

“It’s as I thought,” Nedira said after watching the events unfold.

“What are you thinking—?” he started to ask, but his mind was already putting it together.  “Oh no.”

“Unfortunately, I believe so.”

“But… how?  That can’t be right.”

She was silent for a few seconds.  “I have no idea how it happened, but I can’t think of another explanation.  If the notes can be believed, then the only reason these monsters would ignore us so completely is if they had instructions that superseded their normal behaviors.”  She looked off to the east, and Larek followed her gaze.  Flying through the air were apparently some winged monkeys of some kind, moving much faster than the Golems – but they, too, weren’t on an intercept course with the two of them in the Pattern box.  “I think that proves it,” she said, waving at the airborne monkeys’ direction.

“So, what you’re saying is…”  He couldn’t say it. 

“Yeah.  The Strike Faction appears to have made it to the center of the Calamity, and it’s calling on all of its monsters to come defend it.”

Larek nearly refused to believe it, but he—like Nedira—couldn’t see any other explanation.  “Again, how?  They should’ve been weeks out still!”

She didn’t have any answer but a shrug.

The Fusionist sighed as he stopped the Pattern box, staring at the different groups of monsters they could see from their position, which included a third horde to the south that they had apparently bypassed.  It only took him a few seconds to decide on his course of action, as he, too, started flying the box toward the southwest – right to the heart of the Calamity.

Nedira nodded in approval, but still asked, “You sure?”

“Of course.  We didn’t come this far to give up now, did we?”

“No.  No, we didn’t.  I just hope that they know what they’re doing and don’t get killed before we can get there.”

Larek gradually doubled their speed over the course of about 10 seconds, giving them both a chance to acclimate.  “Not if I have something to say about it.”  Without having to worry about crossing over Aperture territories and drawing the ire of any reinforcements, he was going to arrive as fast as he possibly could.


Chapter 54

“No!  Why did you do that?!  Are you insane?!  You’re going to get us all killed!”

Verne heard the Faction leader, Jack, yelling at the unfortunate Mage who started casting prematurely, and he couldn’t help but agree.  They had been sneaking through the entire Calamity for the last week, using the nearly exhaustless energy of the Martials to carry the Mages as quickly as possible, because speed was one of the things they had revealed was necessary when navigating their way through the massive territory.  It had been the various Scouts and Rangers that they had employed to map the vast Calamity that had discovered the secret to traveling through it without being attacked, and it was as simple as speed, speed, and more speed. 

If you didn’t stop for more than a minute at a time, avoided directly interacting with any of the subservient Apertures’ territories, and if you were noticed by a Steel Slime—or a Rainbow Slime, which was worse—you absolutely did not kill one of them, but instead needed to run away. Then nothing would attack you as you made your way through.  In essence, none of the surrounding Apertures would send out their monsters as reinforcements, allowing you to slip through without notice.  Not stopping also prevented the Calamity Aperture from locking onto them, which made them essentially invisible unless one negatively interacted with a monster at some point.  It had taken moving in shifts, carrying those who needed rest or sleep on mobile cots, but they had managed—through extensive perseverance—to get within a mile of the central Aperture, despite all of the obstacles in their way.

And it was all going to be ruined by a Mage who started casting before they were prepared, and had ended up violating the other rule to crossing through the Calamity without drawing attention to yourself:

Don’t cast any spells, use any battle arts, or carry any Fusions with you. 

There was apparently something about the Calamity that could sense even minute shifts in ambient Mana or Stama, and even simply absorbing Mana from the environment to refill your Mana pool was detectable.  And when the Mage began forming his simple Fireball spell before they were all ready, pumping every spare bit of Mana into it, that act had triggered the chaos that was happening around them. 

They had been so close, too.  If he had just waited another minute next to the giant Aperture, when all of the Martials were in position to attack as well, then their plan might have actually worked.  Granted, it was still a longshot and might not have worked, but the theory of overloading the Aperture with massive amounts of damage before it could trigger its defensive reinforcements was the best idea they had come up with since the Strike Faction was formed.

It also probably would’ve killed most of them that had joined in the expedition to the center of the Calamity, but that was a price that all of them were more than willing to pay to finally close it.  But now that all of the defenses had been triggered prematurely, there was no chance of that happening.

“Everyone, attack!  Let’s see if we can still salvage this!” Jack shouted, and every Mage and Martial sprang into action.  It was likely already too late, what with the slight rumble underneath their feet and the sub-vocalized screaming that seemed to come from the giant Steel Slime Aperture, but they might just get lucky.  As Verne threw an acorn from his pocket onto the ground, he began casting a spell that he’d adapted from his homeland, as the spells in his Specialization were “natural” to him.  As a Naturalist, following in the footsteps of Nedira—about whom he seriously worried because he hadn’t heard from her in more than a year—such spells that dealt with nature and plants were extremely easy, while he struggled with many other types of spells.  It had nearly gotten him kicked out of Silverledge Academy because he struggled to cast even the simplest of any other spells, such as a Fireball, but he managed to demonstrate that his inadequacies were actually an advantage.

To say that he had an affinity for growing things was an understatement.  Once the Professors discovered what he could do, they called him a prodigy, though he didn’t let that go to his head; he studied just as hard as everyone else, even if shaping and manipulating the patterns of the spells he cast to change them to suit his needs was almost trivial in execution. 

For instance, the spell called Grove Defender was a Naturalist spell that animated an existing tree to fight for them, though it had restrictions on size and a limit on how well it could fight – a limitation based on the caster themselves.  That was because the tree in the Grove Defender spell was directly controlled by the caster, so their own skills in fighting directly reflected upon how effective the spell became.  If they were a poor melee fighter, which most Mages were, then so too would be the animated tree.

Verne’s twist on the spell took something he remembered from the Dyran Hearthwood, namely the elders who planted themselves once they reached a certain age, growing large and tall and acting as sentinels to protect their homeland, and applied it to Grove Defender. His reworked spell was now called Ancient Protector, and he could grow an enormous oak tree out of a single acorn.  It took almost all of his Mana, and most of his Pattern Cohesion, to cast it, but it was more than worth it.

As he formed the spell pattern and fed his Mana and Pattern Cohesion into it, causing him to immediately feel drained and exhausted afterward, he watched the acorn suddenly burst with roots shooting out in all directions.  Dozens of these roots grew and writhed like a mass of snakes from a central point, and when they spread in a roughly circular formation, reaching 30 feet in diameter, a green shoot rapidly expanded from the middle.  At first, the green shoot was no more than the width of his pinky, but it rapidly grew in both width and height, browning along its outer edges as it began covering itself in a bark that was as hard as iron.

In no more than 20 seconds, the trunk of the Ancient Protector extended 50 feet into the air and grew to 8 feet in diameter; at that point, a mass of branches sprouted above the trunk, creating a leafy crown of foliage, and larger lower branches began to emerge.  These lower branches acted as the tree’s arms, and each of them were as thick as two people side by side, and reached dozens of feet in front of the enormous arboreal behemoth.  

The best part of Ancient Protector was that Verne didn’t need to control it directly, as it was self-acting based on the parameters of the spell.  It used the same sort of techniques that he’d seen his elders perform in the Hearthwood, and while he’d never seen them fighting monsters before, they frequently utilized their battle prowess in demonstrations against each other. 

In other words, they weren’t simply trees that could swing their branches at an enemy and hope to defeat them.  Rather, they were able to use the entirety of their bodies to inflict as much damage as possible, using their roots, their crown of leaves, and their multitude of branches to attack.

Which was exactly what it did.  As he practically collapsed to the hard obsidian ground, the extremely powerful spell taking a lot out of him, he watched as the Ancient Protector used its enormous roots to quickly propel itself forward to the edge of the floating Aperture, where it began to beat on the spherical object with its arm-like branches, headbutt it with its crown of foliage, and extended at least a dozen roots upwards to stab and pound at the underside of the floating portal. 

Unfortunately, it quickly became obvious that its efforts were in vain, as were all the powerful spells that were raining down on its exterior, as well as the impacts of dozens of Martial weapons enhanced by Battle Arts.  Other than a brief shrinkage at the beginning of the attack, the Aperture’s 350-foot diameter size seemed not to condense at all, hinting that it had already entered the phase where it was invulnerable to attack until all of the monsters controlled by its subservient Apertures were killed.  If they had coordinated better, and if the other Mage hadn’t preemptively used Mana, then Verne was confident they might have had a good chance of actually closing the Aperture before it could get to this point.

But not anymore.

We’re so dead.

They had planned and planned for this, going so far as to leave false clues back at their Faction compound in Warshdin, just so that they wouldn’t be sabotaged on their way toward the center of the Calamity.  They had attempted to contact other Strike Factions around the Calamity in hopes that they could coordinate their activities, but none of them believed that this could work, and they refused; they thought that their own plans were better, and that Verne’s particular Strike Faction was foolish for pursuing this method – and that they would only get themselves killed.

Until just a few minutes ago, he would’ve laughed at them, showing the nonbelievers that their plan had gotten them this far exactly as expected.  Of course, now it seemed as if they were correct: They were all going to be killed.

“Stop!  It’s not working!” Jack called out, and the attack gradually dropped off as everyone tried just one more time to break through the invulnerable outer shell of the Aperture.  “Prepare for incoming!”

Ah, here it is… the beginning of the end.

Normally, anyone trying to approach the massive central Aperture had to, at least, fight their way through the thousands of Slimes that guarded the area around it; that was if they managed to slip by the subservient Apertures without a fight, which was harder said than done.  A single person or a small group might be able to do it, but it was unlikely that they would be able to step foot within 10 miles of the Calamity’s heart without being detected by the final line of defense in the form of the Slimes that protected it.  Unless they did something like what the Strike Faction did, but that had taken careful planning, constant movement, and the lack of use of any Mana or Stama for an entire week.  But even that hadn’t been enough in the end.

But now that the Aperture was alerted to their presence, the Slimes that wandered around the area were converging on their location.  It wouldn’t be long afterwards that the monsters from nearby subservient Apertures would start arriving, but they had to deal with the Slimes first.  Verne didn’t know if they could do even that much, considering that they wouldn’t be facing just Steel Slimes.

They wouldn’t be facing only Rainbow Slimes, either.  While they were a lot more difficult to kill, they weren’t impossible to fight – especially with the numbers they had on their side.

It also wasn’t what the Rainbow Slimes had eventually evolved into, which were large slimes a dozen feet in width, were completely impervious to physical damage instead of being simply highly resistant, and reflected most single-target magical spells back to the caster. 

Crystal Slimes.

They were difficult to kill, but it could be done, especially with wide-effect spells that couldn’t be reflected.  Only a few of them had been taken down in the past because they rarely ventured more than a few dozen miles away from the Calamity’s Aperture, acting more as guards than venturing around the rest of its territory, but from what Verne knew, the battles had been long and difficult.  Chipping away at its crystalline exterior bit by bit was the only way to find and destroy its core, which took a while, but it was also dangerous because it could attack from range, launching small portions of itself as deadly, sharp projectiles up to 150 feet away.  The Crystal Slime wasn’t something that they would choose to fight if they didn’t have to, but it theoretically could be done.

No, what was going to be the most trouble was the third evolved Slime, a singular monster that had been spotted almost a year ago.  There was only one of its kind, though even that one was bad enough.  From the reports they’d received, the aptly named Emperor Slime was 100 feet tall and twice as wide and formed from some sort of dark material that the Scouts couldn’t identify.  Whatever it was, it was likely even more resistant to any damage they could dish out to it than the Crystal Slime, and even if they could hurt it, the monster was so large that it could take days to wear it down enough to reach its core. 

It was just that huge.

If it was only the Emperor Slime or the Crystal Slimes that they had to deal with, then that was one thing, but when they were put all together, they stood very little chance of surviving – and that was before the other Apertures’ monsters arrived.  If they had three or four times their numbers of Faction members, they might be able to hold off their inevitable demise a little longer, but there was a reason why closing the Calamity was thought to be a fool’s hope.  It would take tens of thousands of people, all working together, to withstand the onslaught of so many monsters, and there just weren’t that many people willing to venture into the Calamity to do such a thing.  He’d heard that there was a plan to do something of that scale at a different Calamity sometime in the future, but theirs wasn’t on the agenda – and that was a problem.

Why?  Because all signs pointed toward the Aperture expanding again within the next few months.  The Defend Faction, for all that they preached keeping things safe, wasn’t doing what needed to be done to prevent such an occurrence, as they sent fewer and fewer groups into the Calamity to keep the numbers of monsters down.  It wasn’t obvious to most people, as there wasn’t a clear indication that this was the case, but for those that closely monitored the situation – such as the Strike Faction – the trend was clear enough.

It was either strike now or let it expand again; if that happened, cities and towns around its perimeter would be swallowed up, and tens or hundreds of thousands of people would lose their lives.  If not from the monsters invading their homes, then from the lost farmlands and inevitable mass starvation that would bring about.

So, the Strike Faction had to act before it was too late, for better or worse.  It just sucked that all their efforts would be for nothing.

“Do you think we’ll be able to escape, V?”

Even as Verne directed his Ancient Protector away from the invulnerable Aperture and toward the approaching Slimes he could see in the distance, he turned to Marteena, or Teena as she liked to be called by her friends – which he supposed he qualified as.  He could immediately see how pale she looked, as the realization of their predicament settled upon her.  She, like everyone else, knew that they wouldn’t likely make it out of there alive; at the same time, giving their lives for a noble cause like closing the Aperture before it could expand was worth it.  But now?  Now, nothing would show for all their efforts.

“No, Teena.  There’s no way we can outrun the monsters here, as they’ll chase us all the way to the border.  Perhaps if we had Martial stats, we might be able to stay ahead of them, but even then, I doubt we would be able to run for an entire week straight without rest.  Even the Martials that brought us here had to sleep once a day to maintain our pace, which was already quite brutal.”

“So… this is it?”

He didn’t answer, as nothing he could say would make her or himself feel better.  Ever since a number of things had happened nearly five years ago, he hadn’t looked at his life the same way; he’d thrown himself into his studies and then thrown himself into dangerous assignments, searching for whatever it was that seemed as if it was just out of reach.  When he first became aware of the Strike Faction, he thought it was the perfect change to stretch his abilities and live up to his potential, even if he didn’t know why such a thing was something he thought was necessary.  Along with what had happened back home, there was something missing from his life; that was his motivation for participating in the riskier fights and plans the Faction enacted.

Sadly, it didn’t look like he was going to find that elusive missing piece, as his life was soon going to be coming to an end.

Of course, he wasn’t going to simply give up.  He was going to take as many monsters down as he could before the end, starting with the dozen Steel Slimes that rolled their way toward the small force of Strike Faction members.  Verne ordered his Ancient Protector ahead of even the assembled martials awaiting the inevitable confrontation, and it immediately attacked the closest of the metallic slimes.

With a slam of its powerful arm-branch, the Slime was practically flattened to the ground, the impact of the blow so powerful that its core was ruptured as it became a pile of goo.  The Steel Slimes were highly resistant to physical attacks, but when a physical attack was so powerful that they essentially collapsed into a puddle, there wasn’t much that could be done about it.  Of course, its follow-up attacks with its roots weren’t quite as effective, as its sturdy bottom appendages attempted to pierce or smack around the Slimes, but it was enough to delay them long enough for another barrage of powerful branch blows to finish them off.

The Martials that were watching were perfectly fine with the impressive tree doing all the work, as they knew that such a thing was limited in its time with them.  Verne did a mental check at how much longer he could expect it to stick around, and he figured that it still had about 16 out of its 20 minutes before the Mana invested into it faded away, leaving a single acorn behind. 

Unfortunately, the Dyran Naturalist couldn’t just create another one instantly, as it was so exhausting and had used nearly all of his Mana; in about an hour he would be in good enough shape to cast the spell again, but he was uncertain if they would even still be alive by that point.  Until then, he would throw his Ancient Protector into as many fights as possible, allowing the other members of the Strike Faction to rest and prepare for the inundation of monsters that would be coming soon. 

Not that he thought it would ultimately matter in the long-run, because they were absolutely screwed at this point.


Chapter 55

It was slightly bizarre to pass over the rocky landscape and various Aperture territories without having to worry about being attacked, but Larek didn’t let that bother him.  He focused all his concentration on maintaining the speed of the Pattern box through the air, moving more and more swiftly as the minutes passed by.  The strain of increasing his speed began to get to him, but he largely ignored it because he knew it was important to travel as quickly as possible.  He didn’t know how long the Strike Faction had before they were overwhelmed by monsters, but a nagging intuition told him that it wasn’t long.

As he gradually reached speeds faster than anything he’d flown before, a pressure began to form behind his eyes that he recognized as pain, only for it to be nullified by his Pain Immunity Skill.  Out of nowhere, the pressure was largely relieved when he received a surprise notification.

Pattern Manipulation has reached Level 70!

Larek wasn’t expecting it because he hadn’t been doing something new with his Pattern Manipulation Skill, though he supposed that pushing the limits of his speed probably had something to do with it.  Regardless of the reason, it helped him to concentrate and focus on what he was doing, even going so far as to speed up a little bit more.

As the land practically flew by underneath them, he was forced to add a Pattern shield up front as a windbreaker, as the pressure against the two of them from the air as they passed through it was strong enough to nearly knock Nedira out of the box.  As he approached what he thought was nearly 200 miles per hour, he discovered the limit of his new Level in Pattern Manipulation, as the pain in his head came back with a vengeance.  He was forced to slow down slightly until it disappeared, though he remained right on the line so as to maintain as much speed as possible. 

Even with his focus on controlling his Pattern constructs, the Fusionist was able to look around at what they were passing by.  Larger and larger Aperture territories were evident as they got closer to the center, as were the monsters that traveled forth from them.  He saw a few that were familiar, such as thousands of Jumping Squirrels, along with their evolved versions, which Nedira said were named Ambush Squirrels, which were four times the size and were able to blend into their own environment (needless to say, they stuck out among all the monochrome obsidian that made up most of the Calamity), but the majority of them were new to him. 

He saw lizard-like monsters, strange six-legged bears, some sort of flying fish with metallic scales, moving mounds of dirt and moss, large red rats that were at least 8 feet long, and even more.  Most of them had an evolved version with them, which typically meant that they were much larger and therefore deadlier, but there were others – such as the red rats, which were simply a different color.  Nedira wasn’t sure what that meant or what the evolved version of a Blaze Rat was, but judging by how sleekly it moved in comparison with the others, there was no doubt that it was faster and likely a lot stronger than its predecessors.

After 45 minutes they had traveled nearly three-quarters of the way toward the center of the Calamity, and the feeling of the massive Aperture was becoming stronger as they approached.  The intense sensation of being inside the Calamity’s territory had faded a bit since they arrived, but now there was no denying the strength of it.  It had been ever-present before, but now it was almost more than he could bear – especially as his concentration was focused on manipulating the Pattern box and windshield. 

Another 10 minutes later and even more of the strong sense of the central Aperture nearby caused Larek to have to slow down, as he was at risk of losing control of all of it.

“Are you alright?” Nedira asked worriedly when she felt them slowing.

Larek nodded.  “I will be, but the Aperture is interfering with my concentration.  I need to go slowly for this last portion.”

Even going slower, he was still moving at least 100 miles per hour, but he chafed at any delay.  Still, it was better than losing control going at twice that speed, which could cause the Pattern box to disappear underneath them – which would be disastrous to say the least.

Thankfully, or not so thankfully depending on how he looked at it, it wasn’t but a few minutes later when he heard the sounds of fighting coming from up ahead.  Slowing down even further and removing the Pattern shield blocking the wind, The Fusionist could clearly see ahead for the first time – and his concentration wavered slightly at what he saw.

Initially, all he could see was the enormous Aperture floating above the ground, as he was positive that it was larger than even the one below the desert of Lowenthal.  It practically throbbed with power, and he could sense the wrongness emanating from it, full of Corrupted Aetheric Force.  Unlike the one that the Umbral Demons had taken over, this particular Aperture looked “healthy” for want of a better word; it wasn’t stuffed full of foreign Apertures, so that was probably what made the difference.

Larek also had the strange feeling that it was angry, which he didn’t think was possible; assigning an emotion to an object like the Aperture seemed contradictory, but something told him that this was absolutely the case.  Does growing to this size give them a form of sentience?  He honestly didn’t know, nor particularly care at the moment, because his attention was quickly drawn to the conflict slightly away from the Aperture and on the ground below it.

A large group of people, Martials and Mages from the appearance of their weapons and clothing/armor, were currently being surrounded by hordes of Slimes, both the common Steel variety and the less common and evolved Rainbow Slimes.  Spells were being slung at the monsters, along with Martial projectiles which were enhanced by Battle Arts, and explosions detonated betwixt nearby shards of ice, whirlwinds of sharpened stone, and burning fireballs slammed into the amorphous Slimes in rapid staccato as the Mages unleashed everything they had.

Despite that, Larek could immediately see that it wasn’t going to be enough.  Already, a few unmoving bodies were laid out on the obsidian ground, evidence that at least some of them hadn’t been able to keep up a stable defense, and the barrage to keep the Slimes back was already starting to slow.  Even worse, it wasn’t just the Steel and Rainbow Slimes that they were having to deal with, as Nedira pointed out a moment after they arrived.

“Those are the Crystal Slimes mentioned in the notes!” she said, gesturing to a group of over 20 of the shack-sized Slimes that looked like liquid glass, though he was sure they were much more durable than that type of material.  “There’s no way the people down there are going to survive if we don’t stop them!”

He agreed, but that wasn’t really the problem.  From nearly every direction he could see from his position, Larek saw groups – varying in size and number – of monsters racing toward the confrontation near the massive Aperture.  It was a miracle that Larek and Nedira managed to arrive before any of the subservient Apertures’ monsters attacked, or so it appeared, but they had perhaps five minutes before they were going to be overrun.

“Look,” he pointed out to the Naturalist by his side, indicating the various monster groups that were inbound.  “Even if we kill those Crystal Slimes, there’s more of everything right behind them.  Let’s just get Verne and go,” he suggested, looking closer at the tiring Mages and Martials down below. 

Larek didn’t see his old roommate right away, but a second after he started looking, he saw something that shocked him.  The ambient Mana in the area was suddenly sucked toward a point near a man covered in a hooded cloak, and he saw what appeared to be roots crawling along the ground as they expanded outward in a wide circle.  Even as he saw this, the hooded man collapsed wearily to the ground, causing the hood to fall back off his head.  It only took a split-second to recognize the tree-like skin and green hair of his roommate, though Verne certainly appeared more mature and slightly taller than he remembered.  Then again, his roommate had still essentially been a boy when he last saw him; now, he was obviously a young man.

“But we don’t even know if—” Nedira began to say in response to his suggestion, but Larek cut her off.

“There he is!  Let’s go pick him up and get out of here.”

His companion was visibly conflicted, and if Larek was being honest with himself, so was he.  If they simply picked up their friend and left, they would be leaving the rest of the Strike Faction to die.  Although, when he thought about it, they were all going to die when all the other monsters showed up, especially the 20-plus Crystal Slimes, of which there was no way they could kill them all before they were overwhelmed.

Larek and Nedira most likely could do it, but by the time they finished them off, the other monsters would arrive.  Getting down to the Strike Faction and taking Verne away at that point would be much harder, if not impossible, because there would be so many monsters that any extraction would be fraught with extreme danger.  Why?  Well, because from what he saw of the approaching monsters, at least two of them were airborne.  Attempting any type of rescue while hundreds or thousands of flying monsters attacked simultaneously?  That sounded like a nightmare to him.

Could I make a Pattern box or platform to transport them all, leaving none behind?  He thought that it might be possible, but his focus was already slightly strained from reaching where they were, and he doubted he would be able to keep it afloat for more than a few minutes, especially at the size that was needed for every member of the Strike Faction. If he was forced to stop and rest at that point, it would just be like delaying the inevitable, since it wouldn’t be long until the monsters caught up to them; he didn’t think he’d be able to move that fast while carrying everyone, even with his recently improved Level in Pattern Manipulation.

No, their best bet was to swoop in on his Pattern box, gather Verne up, and then escape while the rest of the monsters were distracted with the members of the Faction.  It was an absolutely horrid idea, leaving them all behind to die, but he didn’t think there was any other choice.  Even with their new staves, he doubted that there would be enough ambient Mana to maintain the attacks necessary to save them all. 

Or… is there? 

Now that he was closer to the enormous Aperture, he could tell that the density of Mana around it was thicker than normal. Given that the energy they used for Mana and Stama leaked from the world of the Corrupted through the opening, he supposed that made sense.  But would it be enough?

He wasn’t willing to bet on it at the moment, especially since if they committed to trying to fight, then it would likely be impossible to extract themselves later.  As much as it hurt him to acknowledge it, the smartest plan was to get in and get out before it was too late.

Nedira evidently thought the same, as she stood in the box silently without protest as Larek quickly brought the construct over to the beleaguered Faction members and set it down within a dozen feet of the exhausted-looking form of his old roommate.  Verne wasn’t even watching as they landed, his eyes closed as he visibly attempted to recover from what he had just done.  At this distance, Larek could finally see what it was that young man had done, and he was shocked and amazed at what he was witnessing – along with the Naturalist by his side.

The roots had expanded along the ground like he’d already seen, but now there was a rapid growth occurring in its center, and the amount of Mana that he felt inside the quickly forming tree was much more than he expected.  It only took him a second of using his Magical Detection Skill to see what was going on; Apparently, Verne had cast a spell that took most of his Mana, but what it also did was somehow absorb Mana from the environment to further strengthen it.

Larek didn’t think that was possible.  Everything he had been taught about spells and the Mana they required said that all Mana needed to come from the caster; Fusions were different because they were designed to have an initial Mana Cost, with additional ambient Mana needed later to maintain it.  But what he saw happening was essentially the equivalent of a spell utilizing ambient Mana to finalize its effect; he also wouldn’t be surprised if it ended up requiring an upkeep of ambient Mana to maintain its spellform.

But he couldn’t let that distract him, because while their arrival hadn’t been noticed by Verne, it was certainly noticed by some of the other Faction members.  One in particular looked familiar, and he quickly realized why.

“I remember you!  Give us that thing so that we can escape!”

Ah, the guy from before who threatened to kill me and take my Pattern box outside of the city.  Great.

Larek ignored the man as he picked up the Void Pocket sack from the bottom of the box, slung it over his shoulder, and rushed to Verne’s side after reabsorbing the Pattern Cohesion from his construct.  Abruptly remembering what happened when he was reintroduced to Kimble, he stopped himself from saying anything to or touching his old roommate, letting Nedira take the lead ahead of him.

She quickly knelt by his side and spoke to him, but other than a brief flash of surprise and recognition—for Nedira, at least—on his exhausted face, he couldn’t hear what she said.  That was because Mr. “let’s-kill-them-and-take-their-floating-box” was coming up behind them at a run, and he wasn’t alone.  Two others were with them, one a young female Mage, while the other was a relatively large Martial, wielding a thick sword that reminded him of what Penelope used to wield.  The sight of it caused him to briefly wonder if she still had the one he had added Fusions to, or if it had been confiscated at some point.

“Hey!  Where did it go?  Who are you?  Did you come to get us out of here?” the man, who seemed as if he was in charge, demanded, his questions rattling off one after another.  When they ran up to him and stopped no more than 10 feet away, with Larek doing nothing but standing there in between them and Nedira who was talking to Verne, the man again demanded, “Answer me!  Or we’ll kill you and take whatever it is that is creating that ugly flying box!”

Ugly?  That’s just rude.

“I don’t have to answer you.  You can go about your business, and we’ll go about ours,” he said after a tense few seconds of silence.  Well, not exactly silence, because there was still a battle for survival going on around them, but there was at least silence between Larek and those that had confronted him. 

“That’s not how this is going to work.  I—We—need to get out of here, and you have the means to let us do just that,” the man said in response, anger now clear in his voice.  “So, either give it to us, or we’ll take it off your corpse – your choice.”

The female Mage at his side was looking at Larek with a strange expression on her face.  Just as the man finished his ultimatum, she turned to him and said, “Jack, I don’t think you should—”

“Not now, Marteena!  This is our way out of here, and this fool’s selfishness is just wasting time.”  The man, Jack, turned slightly toward the Martial with the big sword at his side.  “It doesn’t seem like you’re going to cooperate.  Henrick, kill this man, and we’ll figure it out after he’s dead.”

“What about the other one?” the deep voice of the Martial asked, even as he prepared to rush Larek, his sword raised in a position that Larek recognized from his training.  It appeared as though the Martial was planning on taking his head off with a sweep of his weapon… unless it was a feint?  He had trained against one of the best Instructors the Kingdom had to offer, so he was prepared to defend against it either way, but surely the man, Henrik, wasn’t that arrogant to believe Larek would fall for such an obvious attack.

“We’ll kill her if she refuses to explain how our way out of here works.”

Henrik nodded almost imperceptibly and attacked.

Leveraging his Agility stat to the utmost, the Fusionist prepared for an intense fight against the Martial, but he was shocked when the man seemed to move in slow motion.  It was at that point that Larek realized that not every Martial was like Torge, with stats and experience great enough to challenge him at every opportunity; even when Larek was able to become faster than his Instructor once he learned how to leverage his Agility properly, the slight edge in speed wasn’t always enough to win in their spars due to years and years of combat experience on the part of the Drekkin. 

This Martial, Henrik, had only a fraction of Larek’s Agility stat; if he were to guess, he would put it at around 50 to 60 based on the man’s current speed.  That was still quite respectable for most Martials, of course, but compared to Larek’s 370 in Agility, it was almost laughable.

Rather than waste time waiting for Henrik to reach him to attack, the Fusionist dropped his Void Pocket sack and rushed forward in a blur of speed to meet the man before he had taken a few steps.  He had no intention of killing the Martial unless he had to, because he was only following orders, but he couldn’t allow the man to hurt either Nedira or Verne if he were caught in the crossfire.

Moving to the side of Henrik, he reached out with his hands and grabbed the man’s right wrist; with the application of his Strength stat, he twisted the wrist until it popped, which took quite a bit more force than he was expecting.  He could only assume that the Martial’s Body stat was fairly high, but it also couldn’t compete with a 370 in Strength.  As he felt it break in his hand, he quickly moved up and grabbed the other wrist.  It was at that point that Henrik abruptly sped up, a red aura surrounding his feet and arms.  As the Martial’s Battle Art was used, one that obviously increased his Agility, he attempted to swing his still-unhurt wrist with the sword toward Larek with the intention of cutting him in half, but the Fusionist simply ducked the obvious attack.  After the blade passed over his head, he reached out and grabbed the left wrist, broke it, and then snatched the falling sword out of the air.

With a flick of his own wrist, he quickly tossed the surprisingly heavy sword straight up so that it couldn’t be recovered immediately, and it flipped over and over through the air, traveling hundreds of feet in the span of a second.  Knowing that broken wrists wouldn’t stop a determined Martial, who was already shrugging off the pain, Larek kicked the legs out from underneath Henrik.  As the man toppled forward, a powerful blow to the back of his head slammed his face into the hard ground. 

The Fusionist mentally winced when he worried that he’d hit the man too hard, but when the man immediately started to scramble to his feet, Larek hit him again, and then again until he groaned and moved just enough to prove that he was still alive.  Henrik had a bloody, messed-up face and likely a severe concussion, but he would eventually recover through the use of his Body Regeneration Skill.

Unarmed Fighting has reached Level 11!

It was at that point that he felt a buildup of Mana from nearby, and he sighed in exasperation as he saw Jack, the man that had ordered Larek’s death, beginning to cast a spell.  He appeared shocked at how Henrik had been so easily subdued, but apparently he didn’t know when he was beaten. Larek didn’t really care if the Faction leader used a spell against himself, because he was fast enough to dodge or resist it, but the foolish man was aiming toward Nedira.

“Stop!  I’ll kill her if you don’t—”

Rage flooded Larek and he felt the Stama inside his body trying to break free, but thankfully it was restrained by his internal Fusion; otherwise, he might have lost control as it took over.  Instead, he crossed the space in between himself and Jack, and he felt a Pyroblast explosion erupt in front of him as he blocked the man’s line of sight of Nedira.  Most of it was nullified as ice blocks appeared in front of Larek, though he felt the heat and force of the explosion push him back a step as his eyebrows were singed. 

Unfortunately for Jack, Larek had been no more than a foot away from the Faction leader at the time.  The Pyroblast explosion essentially erupted in the man’s face, a mistake on his part, especially as even more of the shockwave was reflected back at him by the automatic Fusion on Larek’s clothes. 

The unfortunate man was launched backwards, his entire face blown apart and his upper body mangled by the explosive force.  Larek wasn’t sure if he survived or not, though even if he had, it wouldn’t be for long; he debated on whether he should even heal him. 

That choice was taken away from him as he realized that the female Mage next to him had also been hit by the Pyroblast explosion, though less severely because she was standing about 10 feet away from the unfortunate leader.  She was launched backwards and rolled a few times before coming to a stop, and Larek rushed to her side.  While he wasn’t there to make friends or even save them all, she had at least tried to stop Jack from ordering an attack on him.

When he knelt by her battered form, he immediately saw that she had burns all over her face and exposed arms, and it was likely that the force of the explosion had broken a rib or two.  It only took a few seconds to heal her with his Healing Surge Fusion located on his clothes, and then he ran to Nedira’s side even as the woman began struggling to sit up with a groan.

During the confrontation with the leader, Verne’s spell had apparently finished, and Larek was thoroughly impressed.  A massive tree was currently moving toward the incoming Slimes, swinging its powerful branches and flattening the Steel variety with ease, relieving some of the pressure on the Faction’s defensive line.  Ah, I was right; it’s absorbing a slight amount of Mana from the environment.  How did he do something like this?

His amazement was cut short when he overheard Verne talking, his voice strained.  “…no, I told you I can’t.  I have a connection to my Ancient Protector, and if I move too far away from it, that connection will snap and harm me.”

“Harm you how?” Nedira asked.

His old roommate shook his head.  “I don’t know, but it could damage my Pattern Cohesion irreversibly, sort of like if a Fusion is interrupted in mid-creation.”

“Well then, get rid of it and we can go.”

“I can’t,” Verne said emphatically.  “It… has a life of its own until the spell naturally expires.  I can give it basic orders, but it’s basically on its own.”

“When does it expire?” Larek asked abruptly, surprising the young man, who looked at the Fusionist suspiciously.  There was no recognition in his eyes, however, and now wasn’t the time to tell his friend who he was. 

“A little under 20 minutes.”

Damn.  That’s entirely too long.

“What if we just kill it?”

Verne appeared taken aback by that, as if he didn’t think anyone there was capable of doing such a thing, but he shook his head after a few seconds.  “I’ve never had one get killed before, but something tells me it will have a similar effect as moving too far away from it.”

Double damn. 

“That’s a risky spell, Verne.”

“I know, but it’s powerful—wait, how do you know my name?  Did Nedira tell you?”

Larek hesitated for only a half-second before he answered with, “Yes, sure.  Let’s go with that.”  Meanwhile he was trying to think of a way to escape with his roommate before it got too late, but he couldn’t find any way to do that without harming Verne.  Especially when his Magical Detection Skill revealed a thin, rope-like connection between the young man still resting on the ground and the massive tree beating up Slimes in the distance.

Magical Detection has reached Level 48!

Shaking his head, he realized there were only three choices they could make now.  Larek and Nedira could depart right now, leaving everyone—including Verne—behind, but that didn’t set well with him.  They could risk harming his roommate by taking him away from his connection with his Ancient Protector, but if it was anything like breaking the concentration of a Fusionist during the creation of a Fusion, then there was the possibility that he could be harmed worse than just a reduction of his Pattern Cohesion.

He could die.

Or, what he knew he was going to choose as soon as he considered it, they could stay and fight – and hope that they were strong enough to hold off almost the entirety of the Calamity.

With a sigh and a shake of his head, he told Nedira, “Break out everything from our supplies and share them around.  We’re staying.”

The Naturalist didn’t argue as she began doing just that.


Chapter 56

While he hadn’t gotten as much rest of his focus and concentration as he would’ve liked after racing to their current location, Larek knew there wasn’t any other choice but to get moving.

“I’m going up; stay here with Verne and the rest of the Faction.”

Nedira looked like she was ready to protest, but the words died on her lips as she continued pulling Fusions out of the Void Pocket bags and looked at the people that were fighting for their lives around her.  After a few seconds, she nodded.  “I’ve got this handled.” She then rushed to his side before he could leave, before wrapping her arms around his neck and stretching up to give him a kiss.  “Don’t get killed out there, Larek.”

“Larek?  Why does that name seem familiar?” Verne abruptly asked, a look of confusion on his face. 

“Don’t worry about it, Verne.  I’ll explain later,” Nedira quickly replied, breaking away from the Fusionist, knowing that she had to stave off any questions before something caused the young man to start freaking out.  “For now, help me distribute these to your fellow Faction members.”

“Uh, alright.  Hey, is that Jack?  What happened to him?”

Larek didn’t stay to hear Nedira’s explanation of what had occurred with the leader of the Strike Faction, because he needed to get airborne as quickly as possible if he was going to have any chance of staving off the complete annihilation of these people.  With his halberd in his right hand and his new staff in his left, the Martial Fusionist created a disc under his feet made of his Pattern Cohesion. This time, though, he extended the Pattern to encompass his lower legs up to a point just under his knees.  Now that he wasn’t needing to control a Pattern box to hold Nedira, his focus was freed up to customize his own transport.

He needed to move fast, and the best way to do that was to ensure he didn’t accidentally fall off his construct at high speeds.  There was still going to be wind resistance, but he was strong enough to withstand a bit of it as he traveled; he wasn’t going to be moving hundreds of miles an hour, as there wasn’t any need for that at the moment, but quickly arriving at where he needed to be was important.

As his Pattern disc formed under his feet and securely wrapped around his lower legs, he heard a gasp from behind.  Glancing back, he saw the Mage he had healed from the leader’s Pyroblast explosion staring at his feet.  “That’s… that’s Pattern Cohesion, isn’t it?  How did you—?”

“Yes, but there’s no time.  Stay alive and perhaps I’ll show you,” he quickly said, before he braced himself as he shot into the air.  It took a few seconds to adjust to the new feeling of being secured to the disc, but he quickly became accustomed to it and took off to deal with the first of the many problems heading their way.

The first priority was to find a way to deal with the Crystal Slimes, which were no more than 300 feet from the front lines of Faction members by this point.  The Mages and Martials were still battling the hundreds of Steel and Rainbow Slimes that were surrounding them and could do nothing to help, so he supposed that it was up to him.

Once he obtained some height, he aimed the staff in his left hand at the lead glass-looking monster down below him, nearly 200 feet away.  He found that it was much easier to keep just his disc airborne and at a much greater height than the box he was using, and he didn’t feel much strain from it. 

When his staff’s aim was in position, a simple mental phrase was all it took to unleash destruction upon the Slimes down below. 

Blast 10.

He nearly upped it to Magnitude 12 right away, but decided against it at the last moment; with the explosion being only a little over 200 feet away from the nearest Faction member, he didn’t want to accidentally cause any collateral damage.  As it was, the Magnitude 10 blast Effect slammed into the Crystal Slime and shattered a chunk out of it with the sound of breaking glass; when the debris cleared, he could see that his attack had removed about a fifth of the Slime, but it hardly seemed hindered as it continued to roll along toward the Faction members.

These things are strong. 

Larek quickly shouted back toward the Strike Faction front line, knowing that he better hurry and kill these things before it was too late.  “BRACE YOURSELVES!”

The Fusionist couldn’t afford to chip away at each Crystal Slime with lower Magnitude blasts; he could certainly do it, but it would take entirely too much time and ambient Mana in the area.  A Magnitude 12 blast, he hoped, would be able to kill one of them in a single strike – though it would consume a lot of Mana in the process.  It couldn’t be helped, though, because the other monsters heading toward them from all over the Calamity were getting closer by the second.

Whether or not the Faction members heard him or simply wondered what the heck the flying man was talking about was of no concern to him.  His Magnitude 12 blast wouldn’t be close enough to kill any of the Mages or Martials, though if they didn’t brace for the shockwave they would likely be knocked off their feet and possibly injured in the process.

The rushing air that erupted from the powerful *BOOM* that erupted below Larek pushed at him, threatening to break his concentration holding the disc beneath him, but he managed to hold on.  Thankfully, the same couldn’t be said for not only the lead Crystal Slime, which had been obliterated, but the closest two also had large chunks taken out of them.  It wasn’t enough to kill them, though it certainly slowed them down.

Glancing back at the Faction, he saw a good dozen of them on the ground, having been flung back from the explosion, though since they were still moving he didn’t think they were too bad off.  The only ones he had severely affected had been Mages, as they were physically weaker and couldn’t stand up to the shockwave, but the Martials still appeared shocked and a little unsteady at the sudden detonation that destroyed one of the Crystal Slimes. 

Moving 30 feet to his right, so as to not deplete all the ambient Mana in that particular area, he shouted for the Faction members to brace themselves once again, before unleashing another Mag 12 blast aimed at the obsidian ground in between three Crystal Slimes near each other, including the pair he had damaged before.  As the explosion detonated, he braced himself as well, and when he stabilized his own balance above the destruction, he saw that all three of the Slimes he had been hoping to affect had been completely shattered.  Another peripheral glance at the Faction showed that they took his advice this time and hunkered down, bracing against the shockwave even as they continued to fight the smaller Slime horde still near them.

So, he did it again, moving away from his previous position as he destroyed two more of the Crystal Slimes below him.  It was at this point that he had to move quickly out of the way of a retaliatory strike by the large monsters below, as spears of sharp crystal as large and thick around as one of his legs were suddenly launched in a barrage toward him on his Pattern disc.  He barely escaped being impaled, as he doubted that his Automatic Ice Repulsion Field would’ve prevented all of the momentum from the heavy projectiles.  Unfortunately, one of them did hit his disc, and the sudden impact startled him so much that his focus wavered for a moment, causing it to spin wildly out of control and taking him with it.  After only a few seconds he was able to correct the spin and move out of the way of a second barrage of crystal spears, and he resumed his own strikes down on them shortly thereafter.

They exchanged attacks for nearly a minute before he managed to take the last of them out.  He was fortunate not to be hit again by the projectiles, because while they were powerful, the Crystal Slimes weren’t quite adept at predicting where he might fly to, so they were just too inaccurate – especially when Larek was between 200 and 250 feet away.  As the last of them shattered from the destructive explosions, Larek turned his attention to the next threat.

To the south, a large group of flying lizards that looked like small dragons was the closest to arriving, and they were accompanied by even larger lizards that even more closely resembled dragons.  With the smaller ones at around 10 feet in length and the larger evolved ones at least three times that size, they appeared pretty formidable – especially with the lava-like saliva that seemed to drip from their jaws.  He wasn’t sure what they were, but based on their red scales, he could only assume that they were probably resistant or immune to fire-based effects.  While he could cause explosions with his blast Effect from his staff, it was ultimately fire-based and likely wouldn’t be as effective.  When he added in that there were hundreds of the flying lizards and they were spread out in a giant, scattered mass instead of conveniently clustered together, then the blasts that had destroyed the Crystal Slimes so handily wouldn’t be nearly as useful against them.

The shatter Effect with large boulders would be much better, but that wasn’t the only thing he was going to try.  As he flew toward them and got within range, he unleashed the multitude of  Magnitude 4 icy spikes on repeat, and he began moving the tip of the staff around to hit as many of the flying lizards as possible.  Upon the first impact of the ice projectiles against the airborne monsters, he immediately saw them penetrate a few inches into their tough scales, before spreading their freezing aura throughout the area of impact.

The result of that was instantaneous, as almost invariably the cold was enough to freeze the muscles that controlled their wings. As they struggled to flap that which gave them the ability to fly, the flying lizards plummeted to the ground, which was only around 50 to 100 feet.  Some of them recovered from the cold and frantically saved themselves from hitting the obsidian uncontrollably, but the majority of them hit with enough force to break bones or damage their wings. 

Shortly after he started firing the icy projectiles, the flying lizards took notice of him and began to converge on his location, moving together to attack him in concert.  That was exactly what he was waiting for, because as soon as they were clumped up more than before, he sent a Magnitude 10 shatter Effect at their center, which created a large boulder that shattered instantly, sending hundreds of sharp stone shards outward with penetrating force.  As those closest to the shattered stone were ripped apart from the boulder’s detonation, many more had their wings ripped apart as a multitude of shards easily shredded through them in their outward path.  These individual monsters similarly plummeted to the ground below like the ones he had frozen, but there was no recovering for them. 

Overall, he did quite a bit of damage to them, but there were still hundreds more that he had to contend with – along with the much larger evolved versions.  He could eventually chip away at their numbers using the same strategy on the rest, but a quick glance at the other incoming monsters showed that he didn’t have much time.

It was time to speed up the process.

Instead of staying stationary like he had been, he started to rapidly circle around the large group of flying lizards, launching out another Magnitude 10 shatter or icy spike Effect every second.  The greater number of ice-based projectiles allowed him to target the monsters in a way that hit others behind them, slowing them down or causing them to drop, which he took advantage of by making another boulder explode near where they were clumping up.  His constant movement ensured that he didn’t deplete the ambient Mana around him too quickly, though he could tell that the constant use of his staff was gradually lowering the Mana density nearby.  It wasn’t enough to cause concern, however, as he was only using Magnitude 10 Effects instead of 12, though if he continued too long, it certainly would.

But he wasn’t planning on it taking too long, as within a minute he’d already killed at least three-quarters of the flying lizards.  Only the evolved versions were left, having ranged behind the others like mother ducks pushing their ducklings forward into the slaughter, and he quickly learned that they were more dangerous than their smaller brethren.  For one, a Mag 10 shatter right next to them hurt them as they were impaled by stone shards, but their scales were much tougher and their wings more durable.  As for his icy spikes, they barely seemed to affect the winged behemoths, as they simply bounced off and perhaps made them a little chilly.

Larek moved in closer so that he could start drilling through their scales with his acid stream, which showed him the second reason they were more dangerous; when he was within 100 feet, the closest evolved flying lizard opened its mouth, and a vaguely spherical ball of lava shot out at him, forcing him to dodge.  Larek responded with acid that he used to shear its wing off its body, before tearing a line through its scales.  The monster began falling too quickly for him to try and finish it off, but knowing what he was up against, he was able to move onto the next while traveling to a new spot so that he could continue using the ambient Mana around.

After all but about 30 of the smaller flying lizards had been killed or were now landbound, which took a total of about three minutes, he took off and left the scattered remnants of the winged host.  He could spend another minute or so finishing them off one by one, but there were still more monsters to head off before they could overwhelm the Faction members behind him.  The monsters’ numbers had been thinned enough that he thought that they could be easily handled by those he was protecting.

That became even more obvious as he sped toward the next monster group, as he began to see his staves and their Fusions being wielded by the Faction; the weaker versions, of course, since there were only two that had the same properties as the ones Larek and Nedira wielded.  But there were dozens of flaming balls, icy spikes, and flying stones quickly tearing through the Steel Slimes that were still giving them all so many problems.

It didn’t take long before he was up against the next-fastest arrivals, which were ground-based rabbits, practically flying along the ground with outrageous speed.  A few blasts proved to be largely ineffective, as they were so fast and so low to the ground that the shockwaves against the 3-foot-long grey rabbits didn’t do much against those that weren’t at the point of detonation.  Shattered stones were similar, mainly because of their low profile, though he certainly killed dozens with them.  In the end, what it required was sweeping the leading edge of rabbits back and forth with large barrages of Magnitude 8 icy spikes, sent out once per second, because their defenses couldn’t stop the projectiles from spearing straight through their bodies.  Since it was coming from above, they also had difficulty seeing the barrages coming and couldn’t avoid them, which made killing them much easier.

There weren’t any evolved rabbits, from what he could see, but the problem was that there were so many of them – as in thousands.  A few hundred inevitably made it through his attacks before he was forced to move onto the next group, which was the first time that he had to use his halberd since he started the defense of the Strike Faction.  Hundreds of Rock Gremlins, each approximately 6 feet tall if they stood upright, scampered over the obsidian ground, and he quickly discovered that there was some sort of magical barrier that surrounded them, preventing his blasts from reaching them.  Shatter did nothing since the Gremlins were made of rock, other than chipping off a little of their bodies with the physical impact of stone against stone, and they moved too quickly to easily hit with acid; even large Magnitudes of icy spikes were useless because they were blocked by the magical barrier, shattering upon impact.

Therefore, he landed in front of them and waited for them to come to him.  Thankfully, as soon as they saw him, they all immediately targeted him instead of streaming past, and he pumped Stama into Fleetfoot to increase his speed while constantly utilizing Empowered Strike to rain blows down upon the monsters.  With a Fusion affecting the sharpness of his halberd blade, he was able to cut through the rocky exterior of the Gremlins to discover that they were flesh and blood beneath it – which stood no chance against his weapon as he sliced through them.  He held it one-handed while periodically sending out spurts of acid with the staff in his other hand, and even though they attempted to overwhelm him with numbers, he kept moving through their approach with the combat skills he learned from Torge back at Fort Hilltower.

He still wasn’t perfect, as his automatic defenses were triggered multiple times from strong blows that managed to get through, and he even suffered a few rocky punches against his limbs when his AIRF was temporarily exhausted.  Fortunately, other than a few bruises that quickly healed because of his Body Regeneration, he wasn’t seriously hurt.

When there were only a dozen or so of the Rock Gremlins left, he judged that he had spent a bit too much time on them already, and he reformed his Pattern disc and took off into the air.  One of the Gremlins attempted to jump on him as he rose, but he cut it in half with his halberd and filled its face full of acid, killing it by the time it hit the ground. 

Larek moved from that fight to another, and then that one to yet another, all the while constantly maintaining his watch for the next group to arrive.  At one point he had to make a choice to let an entire group of monsters through because he couldn’t be in two places at once, but it seemed as though the Faction finally got their feet under them by that point.  When the enormous spiders, which were each the size of a horse, that he was forced to leave to the Faction arrived, they were set upon by the entire might of the Faction wielding the Fusions that Larek—by way of Nedira—had provided.  He even saw a few explosions that he was fairly certain came from the Naturalist’s own staff, and he knew they were going to be alright.

After three full hours of constant fighting, however, Larek’s energy began to flag.  Constantly using his Pattern Manipulation Skill to move around the battlefield was convenient, but it was wearing down his focus bit by bit, especially since it hadn’t fully recovered from his flight there.  He took to setting down on the few obsidian hills scattered around just so he could dismiss the Pattern disc under his feet from time to time, and attacking from afar but from ground level instead of airborne. 

At around 5 hours, it seemed as though the fastest of the monsters that were nearby had already arrived, and there was a slight lull in the incoming groups.  Larek could see more coming in the distance, but he judged that they had at least a half hour before the next arrived. 

He landed on a nearby hill, wanting to rest as much as he could before he was forced to get back up, because he knew that the attacks would likely keep coming for at least a week; not all of the monsters were fast enough to get to the center of the Calamity in a hurry, but they would come all the same.  Some would just take longer than the others.  He was thinking about heading toward the Faction to see if everyone was holding up alright, possibly to see if he could get Verne out of there now as the massive tree was no longer present, but as he began to stand up, he felt a faint rumbling underneath him.

Worried that some sort of monster was digging through the obsidian – as unlikely as that was – he stood up completely and got ready to jump away, but he realized that the rumbling wasn’t just coming from underneath him.  Shouts of dismay came from the distant forms of the Strike Faction, and when he looked at them, thinking they were under attack by some unknown force of monsters, he instead saw the majority of them looking off to the north. 

He, of course, did the same…

…and immediately wished he hadn’t, as the largest Slime he’d ever seen before slowly rolled toward him.


Chapter 57

What is that?

The Slime he saw had to be at least 100 feet tall and twice that wide as it spread out over the ground, and it was somewhat difficult to differentiate from the material the environment was made of.  The dark exterior of the massive monster seemed to almost blend in with the obsidian beneath it, making it seem like it was even larger than it actually was.

Not that it needed to look larger, because it was already so massive that Larek could only stare in horror.

It moved slowly, but inexorably, toward Larek, though it could also be heading toward the Strike Faction as well based on its angle of approach.  In the end, it didn’t really matter, because it was frankly scarier than anything he’d ever seen – and that included when his father had come to Copperleaf Academy looking for him.

There was a feeling of inevitability to the gigantic Slime that wasn’t present in any other monster he’d ever fought and killed; it felt like if it reached him, he and anyone else around him were going to die.  He was fairly confident in his Fusions, but he had a feeling that they would be nearly useless against that thing.

Time to go.

Larek started running toward the edge of the hill he was on and leaped off the side, forming his Pattern disc under his feet before he could start freefalling.  When it was in position, he used it to fly as quickly as he could manage toward the Strike Faction, who were simply standing there in shocked silence as their doom rolled in their direction.

Some few noticed him approaching, but their attention was inevitably pulled back to the enormous Slime, as if there was nothing that could distract them from its presence.  As he passed over the front lines, a quick perusal of them showed the presence of his Fusions in their hands or on their person, ranging from the staves that shot out projectiles to necklaces and bracers that held Boosts for stats and Skills, as well as quite a few healing Fusions that had undoubtedly saved quite a few lives already.

And none of it would be useful against the monster that was about to roll over them like they were ants.

Landing near Nedira and Verne, who were located near the rear of the formation, he could see that both of them were also entranced by the Slime’s approach.  Reabsorbing his Pattern Cohesion from his disc, he reached out to grab Nedira’s shoulder and gently shook her, as she barely even acknowledged his presence.

“We need to leave.  There’s no stopping that thing,” Larek said, and she finally tore her gaze away.

“What?  No, we can’t leave all these people.  Besides, I’m sure that your new staff can kill it, right?”

He shook his head.  “I don’t think so.  At least, I get the feeling that anything I try against it will only tickle it a little.”  Larek wasn’t sure why or how he felt like that way, but he could sense deep down that it was the truth. 

“It can’t be invulnerable, Larek.  There’s got to be a way to kill it,” Nedira insisted.

Again, he shook his head.  “There’s no time to try.  We need to get out of here before it’s too late.  Once you and Verne are safe, perhaps I can think of a way—”

“Huh?  What?  No—I’m not going anywhere!”  Verne had apparently heard his name and snapped out of his preoccupation with the massive Slime, and immediately protested.  “I’m not leaving everyone here to die, and I’m especially not going anywhere with a stranger!”

“Verne, look, there’s no time to argue if we’re going to get out of here alive.  We need to go now if we’re going to have any chance of escape—”

As if in answer to that, Verne started to assemble a complicated spell pattern in front of himself; at first, Larek thought his old roommate was going to attack him, but once he felt a massive drain of ambient Mana, he realized that wasn’t his friend’s intention.

“No!  Don’t cast—”

But it was already too late as the Ancient Protector’s roots started to form and expand.  Verne hadn’t recast the spell since Larek had arrived, as there had been no need with the sharing of Fusions from his and Nedira’s Void Pocket bags, but apparently his roommate was being stubborn now and cast the spell out of protest.  Of all the stupid…  Now, he couldn’t risk taking Verne away without harming or potentially killing him, at least for the next 20 minutes.  And even if the massive Slime was relatively slow in comparison to many other monsters, it was so large that even its slow movement would allow it to reach the Strike Faction far before that occurred.

“Verne!  Why?!” Nedira asked, shocked, even as Larek’s old roommate staggered slightly from casting his unique spell.  He wasn’t nearly as exhausted as he was before, which the Fusionist thought was explained by the necklace with its Boosts on it; regardless, Verne’s exhaustion was of secondary concern at the moment.

“I told you before, Nedira.  I won’t leave my friends here.”

“But—”

“No.  Even if I die here, then I won’t have to live with the knowledge that I abandoned them in their time of need.”  He waved toward her, as if shooing her away.  “But that doesn’t mean you have to die with us.  You and whoever this is can and should leave; we’ll try and buy you some time with our lives, but you better get out of here as quick as you can.”

Larek could immediately tell that there was no convincing Verne to leave now, even if he hadn’t cast his Ancient Protector spell.  He even understood where he was coming from, because if this Strike Faction was composed of friends, then he wouldn’t want to abandon them, either.  Feeling conflicted, he looked at Nedira to see that same sort of internal debate going on inside her head; he could practically hear her thoughts, or at least inferred what they were because they were the same ones that were running through his own mind. 

Should we leave him here?

Should we take a risk and force him to come with us?

Should we stay and try our best to kill that thing?

What she ultimately asked, though, hinted at the decision that she was leaning toward – and he couldn’t help but lean toward that, as well.  It wasn’t something he wanted to do, and it hurt his heart to even contemplate it, but he also wasn’t ready to die here if there was another way around it.  His family was counting on him to survive, whether they knew it or not.

“Do you know where my brother is?” Nedira asked softly, which was just barely audible over the increasingly loud rumble that came from the approaching Slime as it traveled over the ground. 

“Norde?  Of course.  How do you not know?”

She hesitated for a moment.  “I’ve… had some memory problems lately, and I’ve forgotten more than I like to admit.  Where is he?”

“Memory problems?  What happened to you?”

“It’s not important right now.  If you’re too stubborn to leave with us, then I need to know where I can find my brother before we flee.”  There was a second’s pause before she continued in an even softer voice.  “I’m sorry.”

“Don’t be sorry, Nedira.  We wouldn’t have lasted even this long if it wasn’t for your help and the help of these crazy helpful Fusions.  Where did you say you got them again?”

“Again, that’s not important, Verne.  Where…  Is…  Norde?” she said more seriously, as their time was running out quickly if they were going to leave.

Larek’s former roommate stared at the Naturalist for a few seconds before sighing.  “Now it’s my turn to be sorry.  It just felt so good seeing you that I didn’t want that feeling to go away!  In fact, just fighting next to you brought back the joy I used to feel every day—alright, alright, I’m wasting time again,” he said, seeing the angry look on Nedira’s face.  “Your brother is at the—”

Before he could finish, a horrific screeching and tearing noise assaulted their ears, which caused everyone to try and locate its source.  It was fairly easy for almost everyone there, however, because they were already staring at the massive Slime; for Larek and his friends, they turned to it just in time to see the last of a massive chunk of the obsidian underneath it finish being ripped out of the ground.  The obsidian was roughly ovoid in shape, and it was sized at approximately a third of the size of the Slime itself, which meant it was quite large.  Once free from the ground, it floated in front of the monster as it continued rolling along, before another horrible cracking and tearing noise battered at their eardrums, and a quarter of the chunk suddenly sheared off of the whole…

…before being launched nearly half a mile with extreme speed and force at the people staring in disbelief at what was happening.

“Watch out!” Larek shouted, but it was already too late for a small section of the Faction’s line, as the approach of the obsidian piece, which reminded him of the size of one of the caravans he’d traveled with years ago, slammed through a dozen of them as it swept them away.  As the chunk of stone kept going, it left behind dismembered legs and feet as well as scattered blood splatter as their owners were smeared across the length of the massive boulder, only to get smeared against the ground a few seconds later as the obsidian finally hit the ground, rolling for another half-mile before coming to a rest.

But Larek didn’t have a chance to do anything to try and save them, if he even could, because another screeching tear of the massive chunk occurred, and a second caravan-sized boulder came flying at them.  Or, more accurately, at the Ancient Protector that just finished completely forming from Verne’s spell.

Unfortunately for Larek, Nedira, and his old roommate, they were standing right behind it.  Using his incredible speed, he grabbed his friends and took them down to the ground, before creating a dome of Pattern Cohesion around them thick enough to protect them. 

“No!  My—” but Verne wasn’t able to finish his protest as the enormous stone projectile slammed into his Ancient Protector, and Larek could hear cracks and creaks running through the mobile tree, even if he couldn’t see it from his position.  That occurred just a split-second before the obsidian boulder impacted his Pattern dome and shattered it, losing him the 6,000 Pattern Cohesion he had pumped into the construct.  Thankfully, the dome was strong enough to deflect the projectile, and it was sent careening through the air to land harmlessly away from everyone.

When Larek looked around, he was horrified to see that the Ancient Protector had a large chunk of its trunk completely ripped away and it had fallen over, unable to move or get up.  It wasn’t completely destroyed, but it was so injured that it couldn’t function anymore. 

“Verne?  Verne?  Verne?!” Nedira shouted, and the Fusionist turned back to his roommate to see that he was lying where he had thrown them all down to protect them, twitching slightly while he appeared to be unconscious.  Using his Magical Detection Skill, he could see that the connection between his friend and the Ancient Protector was spasming, as if it too had been injured.  Neither of the two had perished, but they were now both essentially incapacitated.

“Larek, we can’t leave,” Nedira abruptly said, grabbing onto his arm when she couldn’t get Verne to wake up.  “I need to find out where my brother is, and he could be the only one who knows.”

Argh!  It’s just one thing after another!

While he internally complained, he knew it wasn’t anyone’s fault for the current situation.  He couldn’t find fault in Verne’s insistence to stay, after all, and he knew that Nedira’s priority was finding out her brother’s whereabouts; if she was ever to find him, then she needed the information that his old roommate seemed to possess.  And that meant that they had to save him in order to get that information; he had a feeling that if they were to try and flee right now with Verne, the tenuous connection between the young man and his spell might snap and do the harm that was warned about before.

“Fine.  Stay here with him, and I’ll go see what I can do,” he replied, unable to see any other way out that didn’t end with Verne’s death.  At that point, another cracking noise was heard, and a third boulder was shot at the line of Strike Faction members, but they were finally prepared… somewhat.  Having seen what the first one had done, the people spread out as they tried to avoid the projectile, which somewhat worked.  Only a single Mage was caught by the obsidian chunk as it flew through the line, while two others managed to throw themselves on the ground to let it fly over them.  Larek doubted it would be that easy to avoid being hit in the future, but for now it seemed like a viable strategy; otherwise, it wouldn’t take more than a few minutes to waste everyone there.

The fourth and final boulder of the original obsidian chunk was on its way toward the Strike Faction before Larek was already on his Pattern disc again, flying toward the enormous Slime.  Behind him, Nedira had placed a Secure Hideaway to protect herself and the unconscious Verne; he had doubts that the air barrier would be enough to protect them from a full-on strike by a large boulder projectile, but it also hid them well enough that it might give them the advantage of being out of sight and out of mind.

Though whether the enormous Slime even had a real, thinking mind was debatable, because most monsters simply seemed like creatures that were simply focused on killing things.

He was halfway to the monster when another screeching and tearing assaulted his ears, as another massive chunk of obsidian was ripped from the ground along its path, having passed over the previous hole it made as if it wasn’t even there.  As he got closer, the same process as before repeated itself with a quarter of the chunk being sheared off, ready to throw…

…but apparently he was wrong about the Slime being unthinking, because it thought that his approach from above was enough of a threat that instead of being chucked at the Strike Faction, the newest boulder went straight toward him. 

It was so abrupt and fast that there was no way he could avoid it, so the only thing he had time for was a thought – which was fortunately all that was needed to create another Pattern construct in front of him.  The Pattern shield he created was slightly larger than normal, but it did its job; the boulder slammed into the construct and its momentum halted immediately, before dropping down to crack in a few places on the hard ground below.

Being thicker than the dome he had created to shield himself, Nedira, and Verne, his shield didn’t shatter immediately, but it was cracked enough that he felt its durability—aka the Pattern Cohesion invested into it—had dropped by more than half.  It was such a powerful attack that he’d never seen anything like it before, which also didn’t bode well for his own reprisal.

Flying quickly over the top and slightly behind the massive Slime, so as to be out of the direct line of sight of the boulders, he aimed his staff and unleashed a Magnitude 12 blast at its exterior.  The shockwave reached him at about 225 feet away, but he was used to it by now and it didn’t faze him in the least; the same could be said for the enormous monster, as when he could see the results of the explosion near the Slime, he thought there might have been a slight dent in its exterior – but it could also be a trick of the eye.  It was such a dark black that any type of damage was hard to see at a distance… though he didn’t think it would be much worse if he was to get up close.

Seeing the Slime shift its bulk in order to line up a shot, he was already moving when the next boulder was launched, and the powerful wind of its passage overhead was enough to trigger a slight reaction of his Automatic Ice Repulsion Field.  He knew from the strength of the wind that if he was actually hit by one of the large obsidian projectiles that his defenses and even his high Body stat wouldn’t be enough to save him.

Next up was an attempt at using the shatter Effect, which—if it was possible—was even less effective than blast.  The stone shards of the Magnitude 12 boulder he created simply bounced off the side of the Slime, as if it was made of some sort of rubbery substance.  It was almost more dangerous to Larek as a few bounced sharply back up toward his location in the air, and he had to duck to avoid being decapitated, not trusting his AIRF to prevent all the damage.

The Slime was so large and so much different from many other monsters he’d fought that the icy projectiles with their cold aura did absolutely nothing, even when he slightly strained the Fusion on his staff by launching out Magnitude 12 after Magnitude 12 while he strafed around, always moving to an area of greater Mana density.  Thankfully, he was able to retreat for a moment and use his Pattern Manipulation Skill to repair the stress marks in the Fusion’s formation. Otherwise, he would’ve worried about it breaking at an inopportune time.

As for the acid stream… it had no noticeable effect on the Slime that he could tell.  It simply pooled on top of the monster, its potency completely unapparent as it seemed unable to dig into its exterior shell, unmixing like oil and water.  All it took was a few shifts of the Slime before the pooled acid dripped down its side, falling onto the obsidian below – and hissing as it began to eat into the stone.

As a last resort, he opened up one of the pouches on his belt and pulled out a steel plate, before throwing the Shattering Acidic Occlusion Dome in front of the massive Slime and then activating it.  The Fusion, which had been so powerful against the Apertures they passed on their way north, killing anything that emerged as reinforcements, immediately formed its air barrier dome as soon as the front portion of the monster passed into range, and for the first time he saw some sort of effect – though it wasn’t exactly what he was hoping for.  The barrier was strong enough that it actually did something to the Slime, but that “something” was to push it away abruptly, making an immovable barrier that the monster was excluded from.  As soon as it was pushed out, the Fusion shut off since there was no longer something within its range, only to reactivate a split-second later as the Slime flopped back into its triggering range.

This rapid activation and deactivation continued for the next 30 seconds, even as Larek dodged or had to block another set of obsidian boulders.  He could see that the Mana density in the area around the Fusion was starting to deplete, though slowly; while the Fusion typically used a lot of ambient Mana, it was only a fraction of it when just the air barrier was triggered. 

Eventually, the Slime continued on its way, its bulk wrapping around and then flowing over the air barrier dome as if it was a harmless obstacle in its way.  When it was fully enveloped by the Slime, Larek couldn’t see the Fusion anymore, but he could still sense it even from a distance – and what he felt was something he had worried about when he had first created it.  The rapid activation and deactivation of such a powerful formation, which had many complex parts, was breaking down.  Like most Fusions, it wasn’t meant to be turned on and off so rapidly, but it was doubly worse for the amount of Mana running through it; it was the same reason he had put Intervals on his original staves, so as to prevent the Fusion from breaking down over time through overuse at a rapid pace. 

But this was happening much faster than he could’ve ever expected.  He hadn’t thought of this situation when he had created the Fusion, so he couldn’t plan for something like it.

Uh, oh.

He took off, moving away as quickly as he could, which just happened to be away from the Aperture and the Strike Faction.  He happened to be on the opposite side of them and would’ve had to have flown over the Slime and its boulders if he went the other way, so he could only hope that they were far enough away when the Fusion finally failed.

Larek was only a mile away when the formation finally broke.  He could feel it in his chest like a great *whoomp*, and he looked back to see a flash of light where the Slime had been.  It took him a second for his Body Regeneration to kick in and blink away the blinding spots in his vision, but just as he did, he felt a shockwave many times stronger than the ones caused by his Mag 12 blasts slam into him, sending him spinning out of control. 

After a few seconds, he managed to recover, somehow maintaining the disc construct the entire time.  Looking into the distance, he couldn’t tell how well the Strike Faction had withstood the blast of the Fusion detonating and releasing all of the infused Mana, but he knew that at least Verne and Nedira should be alright behind the protection of their Secure Hideaway. 

As for the Slime, he sighed in relief as he looked at where it had been, seeing only a large hole at least 100 feet in diameter carved into the obsidian, a sign of the strength of the Fusion’s detonation.  There was no sign of the Slime anywhere—

--at least until he spotted something out of his peripheral vision, as a large, black, ovoid shape fell from the sky like a meteor, before slamming into the hole in the ground with great enough force to cause an earthquake.  Larek stared in shock as he saw the enormous Slime slowly rolling itself out of the side of the hole, showing absolutely no signs that it had just been blasted thousands of feet into the air from the explosive detonation of a powerful Fusion.

What?  How?  That’s not possible… is it?

He had no idea how it had not only survived the blast, but seemed completely unharmed from it.  At the sight of it continuing on its path toward the Strike Faction and his friends, his posture slumped in defeat atop his Pattern disc, unable to figure out a way to stop it.


Chapter 58

Seeing the visibly unharmed Slime heading toward the Strike Faction as if his attacks on it meant absolutely nothing nearly broke Larek, but he rallied his despondent emotions as he wracked his mind for a solution.  In the back of his mind, he knew that he could arrive at where Nedira and Verne were located and quickly grab them up before leaving, but that was a last resort; that act might kill his old roommate as quickly as the Slime would when it reached them, so he would rather wait until he had no other choice. 

At its current pace, that meant he had a few minutes before he had to make that kind of decision.  Thankfully, at least for the sake of the Faction, the Slime continued to try and throw its massive obsidian boulders at Larek rather than at them, which he was able to avoid easily after his recent practice, but that would likely only last until it was within close range of the other people near the Aperture.

His mind worked overtime to come up with a solution as he dodged the heavy and dangerous projectiles.  With his mental stats so high, he was able to consider the problem quite quickly – though that didn’t mean he could come up with a solution that rapidly, of course.  Still, he fully evaluated the problem from a number of angles, utilizing all of the information he had on the Slime to come up with some things to try and stop it.

First, it was obvious that his staff was essentially useless.  For the moment, he drifted down to the ground and dropped it off, letting it clang against the obsidian below; he would’ve rather stored it away into his Void Pocket sack, but it was back near Nedira.

Secondly, it seemed as though explosive damage, even that coming from a powerful Fusion that was broken, did absolutely no damage to the enormous Slime.  He briefly considered creating another spell pattern in front of it, which would inevitably explode when it couldn’t complete properly, similar to what he’d done to the Greater Trizard Aperture years ago, but he decided against it.  The explosion it would create might not even be bigger than the one that had just occurred when his Shattering Acidic Occlusion Dome Fusion broke.

Third, he thought about why nothing he’d done had worked against the gigantic monster.  Having seen quite a few Slimes over the last few days, he was aware that the exterior of the Slime, which was like a thick shell, was typically the strongest part of the monster, leaving its interior slightly more vulnerable; of course, this was only relative to its actual strength, because its interior could be quite durable by normal standards.  In addition, even if he was able to blast off a portion of its exterior, he’d seen other Slimes quickly harden their exposed internal portions into a new exterior.  It might end up being smaller because of what was blasted off, but it could reform its shell easily enough given a few seconds.

Therefore, it was obvious that the exterior shell of this Slime was highly resistant to magical effects and physical damage.  That much was obvious from the Effects of his wand that he threw at it, but he couldn’t help but think that there had to be a way to get through the protective shell. 

Which brought him to his last consideration, which was applying what he was good at.  He was a Fusionist through and through, and he thought that just about anything could be accomplished through the use of a Fusion – so why not this?  None of his current Fusions seemed to be able to do anything, but what if he made a new one?

He immediately disregarded that idea because creating an entirely new Fusion on the fly, especially in the middle of a fight, was entirely too difficult; ensuring that he didn’t mess up a new formation while keeping it together, all while being bombarded by boulders, was essentially impossible.  That left utilizing an existing Fusion he already knew – and wouldn’t take long to create, as he didn’t have a lot of time – and a quick perusal of his Fusions list brought up the only one that he could think of that might have a chance of working.

Weaken.

Normally used on small stones to weaken the structure of the material so that it would break apart when it came in contact with something, thereby releasing the Mana inside of the Fusion into an explosion, he had a completely different idea for it.  He couldn’t simply place a Weaken Fusion on something and toss it at the Slime, forcing it to explode.  For one, explosions did nothing to the Slime; secondly, and more importantly, he didn’t have anything on him that could be used to place the Fusion.  He could probably cut away some obsidian from the ground to act as a material, but he was thinking of something else entirely.

Namely, the exterior of the enormous Slime itself. 

While he’d never actually placed a Fusion on a monster before, he did have experience placing one on a person before.  Expression of Free Will was something that he’d created for both Kimble and Nedira to help fight and prevent the influence of Dominion magic, and he had added it directly to their skulls.  There was an extremely brief thought from him that if he was to create the inverse of Expression of Free Will, something like Denial of Free Will, might actually make someone more susceptible to Dominion magic, but the very thought disgusted him.  Even if the inverted Fusion actually did that, he was fairly certain that most monsters, but especially the Slime, didn’t have enough of a mind to try and dominate – so it would be pointless. 

But Weaken, theoretically, should aid in weakening the exterior of the Slime… if he was able to place the Fusion on the monster itself.  Of course, doing that was nearly an impossible task, but he’d had plenty of practice doing nearly impossible tasks, and this was something he thought he could do. 

Breaking out of the hyper-focused state he had used to consider everything about the Slime, Larek saw that only a few seconds had passed since he had begun.  Dodging another boulder automatically, he immediately began to create a simple Weaken formation in front of him, though it was much stronger than anything he’d made before.  At Magnitude 16, it would require quite a bit of Mana and Pattern Cohesion, but it wasn’t anything near what he’d had to put into some of his other recent Fusions.  Thankfully, it was such a simple formation that keeping it together only required a small bit of his focus, so he was able to keep a peripheral eye out for incoming boulders, utilizing the rest of his focus on maintaining his Pattern disk and moving it around. 

Even if he had the focus for such a thing, the very movement of his body through the air meant that he had to use even more of his Pattern Manipulation to move the Fusion he was working on with him, which essentially pushed his concentration to its maximum.  As he pumped heaping amounts of Mana into the formation, it was all he could do to keep himself alive while moving the Fusion he was working on along with him; nothing else mattered other than the Fusion he was focused on completing, and even the plight of the Strike Faction fell away as he did everything he could to hold it all together.

Just over two minutes later, which was cutting it close for the Faction, he felt the rest of the Mana needed for the Fusion filter into place, and the formation practically hummed with power waiting to be utilized.  Keeping it together, he looked around for the first time, seeing that the Slime was even closer to the front line of the Strike Faction than he expected – and that its attention had turned away from Larek.  Another boulder shot out, not at the flying Fusionist, but at the Faction members, and it was so close and so fast that they could barely react; another dozen of them were virtually obliterated by the stone despite spreading out as much as they could.  They were also raining down magical spells and projectiles from their new staves provided by Nedira, but it was likewise having absolutely no effect on the incoming monster. 

Using his Pattern Manipulation to move himself and his Mana-infused Fusion, he quickly sped toward the top of the Slime, getting closer to it than he ever had before.  As soon as he was within 20 feet of its exterior, the shell of the Slime seemed to writhe underneath him, before it formed into a sharp spike six feet in diameter that shot straight up toward him.  He barely managed to avoid being impaled by the appendage as he dodged out of the way, only to nearly end up stabbed by another spike that emerged where he ended up.  He maneuvered his disc to avoid another half dozen spikes before he managed to get close enough to the surface of the monster, and as soon as he was able, he directed his finished Fusion to merge with its exterior.

Almost before it snapped into place, the Fusionist took himself back up into the air, narrowly avoiding yet another spiky appendage in the process, as he watched the Fusion take hold.  Now over 100 feet away, he was able to observe it as the entire shell seemed to ripple outwards from where the Fusion was placed, the formation shining brightly to his Magical Detection, and the Slime actually paused in its movement for the first time since he’d seen it.  Rushing back to where he left his staff, glad that he hadn’t had it with him while trying to handle moving the Fusion with him as it would’ve been a distraction, he scooped it up from where it had fallen, racing back toward the monster within seconds. 

Even before he arrived, he saw that the remaining Faction members were continuing their assault from a distance, sending magical projectiles toward the enormous monster.  He flew to the front, wanting to see what kind of damage was being done now that its exterior was weaker…

…and he saw absolutely nothing.

Discouraged but not ready to give up, Larek rose up above the top of the still-unmoving Slime and targeted the area around the Fusion he placed on the monster, taking pains to avoid hitting it directly, as he unleashed a Mag 12 blast, shatter, icy spikes, and acid stream down upon it. 

Nothing.  His efforts had ended up being useless, as there seemed to be no change in the resistance that the Slime showed from before the Fusion.  The only visible evidence that it had done something was in how its entire form rippled after it was in place and the fact that it seemed to be frozen in place for the moment.  How long that would last, he didn’t know, but he couldn’t count on it being forever. 

But it might be enough time to get out of here with Nedira and Verne.

Shaking his head in regret, as he wished he had figured out a solution that might’ve worked, he went to fly toward where his two friends were still taking shelter under the Secure Hideaway, when a yell caused him to pause for a moment and look down.

“NOOOO!!!  I’m not going down like this!”

One of the Martial Faction members, a man wielding a shortsword in each of his hands, sped along the ground, closing the distance between the front line and the Slime.  The man’s Agility stat was apparently quite high, because he crossed hundreds of feet within seconds, and when he was approximately 30 feet away, he leaped into the air, both of his swords pointed downwards as if he was preparing to impale the exterior of the Slime with his weapons.  Larek nearly turned away, knowing that such an attack would be futile with the man likely just bouncing off; he needed to get out of there soon before the Slime woke up from whatever was keeping it paralyzed, and couldn’t afford to waste any more time.

But something else also told him to watch, despite the futility of it.

He was glad he did, because instead of simply bouncing off, the Martial’s two swords sunk through the exterior of the Slime to the hilt.  The man was visibly confused for all of a second before he used his Strength to pull downwards, and his blades carved two long lines down its shell that only stopped because he hit the ground.  From inside the pair of cuts, a black substance trickled out like an oily ooze, before enough of it pooled at one point to drip down to the obsidian below.

Everyone nearby froze, including the Mages who had been ineffective against the monster thus far.  A few seconds passed as another bit of black ooze dripped out of the cuts to pool along the previous drippage, before there was a roar taken up by the other Martials as they rushed forward, weapons out and ready to tear into the Slime.

W-What?  How?

Larek fired another volley of his staff’s Effects at the monster, thinking that it simply took time for the Fusion to work, but nothing had changed – it still did nothing to it.  A second after his unsuccessful attempts, he flew down to the Slime’s back again, looking closer to confirm that he had indeed done nothing, which he quickly determined was true, before he swung out experimentally with his halberd.  He half expected it to bounce off, but the blade and even the point tore through the barrier like it was soft flesh, belying the fact that it had just withstood the effects of his powerful staff like it was nothing.

As he tried to wrap his mind around what was happening, he was suddenly reminded of something he’d heard in one of his Monster Knowledge classes back at Crystalview.  He’d dismissed it at the time, as he had been largely focused on learning about Fusions at that time, but now the words rang true. 

“…and every monster you encounter will test your abilities as a Mage.  Most will be easy enough to kill through the use of even basic spells, but others will take some figuring out in order to damage them.  It’s why we teach every student here at the Academy how to cast at least basic spells in multiple elements, even if that isn’t your Specialization.  A Fire Elemental, for instance, would be immune to a Pyromancer’s most powerful spells, but a simple Ice Spike learned here at Crystalview might be enough to kill it. 

“But there will come a time when you might face a monster that is immune to all types of magical spells.  Such an occurrence is exceedingly rare, thankfully, but it can happen and has happened in the past.  In such a case, when all your efforts are useless, something as simple as a weapon wielded by a Martial could be enough to kill such a monster.  That is why we have both Mages and Martials working together, because if a spell won’t work, then it is likely that a metal implement of death will. 

“If you remember anything from this course, it is that all monsters have a weakness.  It might take some effort to find it, but it is there if you look hard enough.  Once you’ve discovered what it is, then you can do everything in your power to exploit it.”

As the memory of his Professor’s words echoed through his mind, he smiled as he looked down at the enormous Slime.  It seemed as though they had found its weakness after all, and it wasn’t anything he was expecting.  Given that the Steel Slimes, Rainbow Slimes, and even the Crystal Slimes – all likely previous versions of this monster – were highly resistant or even immune to physical damage, he had thought the same would be true of this enormous Slime.  While that was, in part, true, it seemed that its weakness stemmed from its originator, the monster that had been initially exploited by those that had been in charge of keeping the Aperture culled and closed.

It wasn’t immune to all physical damage, after all.  Simple steel, which was found in the weapons of the Martials – and his halberd – was its weakness.

Of all the things he would’ve thought was its bane, a basic metal wasn’t at the top of the list.  But, now that he knew, he was going to exploit that weakness to the best of his ability and kill this Slime once and for all.

With renewed vigor, Larek went at the Slime with his weapon, slicing large openings through its exterior, watching the goo from inside leak out in a facsimile of blood.  At the same time, the majority of the Martials arrived near the first that had attacked it, and they began laying into the monster with everything they had, slicing off large chunks of it with every blow – and yet it was barely a portion of its overall size.  Larek also found that after he ended up taking off a portion of its shell with a sideways slice, the goo would rush out initially but would quickly “scab over”, forming another layer of its shell within seconds. 

They were doing damage to it, but it wasn’t enough.  That was only made obvious when the Slime began to twitch, as if it was waking up, and the frantic pace of Larek and the Martials only increased at the sight.  Stama was quickly used up as Battle Arts were employed, allowing the combatants to start piling on the damage at a greater pace; soon enough, the ground around it was slick with black ooze, which turned out to be quite slippery.  Fortunately for the Martials at ground-level, they had the stats to keep themselves largely on their feet, but it was getting more and more treacherous by the second.

But at the same time, the Slime was starting to move more and more.  Whatever his Weaken Fusion had done had either been temporary or the Slime was fighting through the Effect, because after no more than a minute after they began the attack in earnest, the first spike began to form near its front where the Martials were located.  Being veteran members of the Strike Faction, they reacted quickly to avoid the spike when it tried to impale one of them, as it was slower to emerge than usual, but if the Slime kept waking up further and further, it wouldn’t be long until it would be fast enough to catch one of them – especially as dodging the attacks would be difficult while standing amongst the black goo under their feet.

They were, yet again, running out of time, and Larek redoubled his efforts in attacking the Slime from above.  He even took a chance to let out a little more of his Stama from his internal Fusion to use Furious Rampage, which doubled his Strength stat while reducing his Body stat by 30%, and he felt the strength flood into his arms while a bubbling anger attempted to cloud his mind.  Thankfully, with better control over his Stama through Stama Subjugation, he was able to maintain his mind and control his actions as he fought, though it was a close thing. 

Almost as soon as he did so, he was forced to avoid a spike from the Slime that lethargically tried to stab him, and he chopped through it completely, which ended up taking up a larger chunk than he’d previously been able to accomplish.  With a growl, as the anger that seemed to accompany his Battle Art influenced his voice slightly, he yelled at the Martials below, “Cut off the spikes!”

They didn’t question his order as more and more spikes started to emerge from its exterior, and they worked together to cut through them, dropping large chunks off the enormous Slime and speeding up the process.  Larek tore into the top of his foe with abandon, soon becoming covered in black Slime goo, but he didn’t care because he could see a definite reduction in its size.  Of course, they still had a long way to go before it was dead, but they were making progress.

About two minutes into the fight, the spikes were coming faster and were more numerous than before, and Larek heard one of the Martials cry out in pain as he was just a split-second too slow in his dodge.  It’s waking up too fast.  We’re not going to make it.

Just then, the Mages that had been left back at the front line arrived, and while they didn’t have steel weapons to attack, they joined in nonetheless – and that ended up being the turning point of the entire massacre of the enormous Slime.  When a spike appendage was cut off, the Mages quickly focused their magical spells and staff projectiles on the momentarily exposed section of the exterior, and it was quickly revealed that the inner portion of the Slime wasn’t anywhere near as resistant to magic as the exterior.  Large holes were blasted into the goo that then flooded out afterwards, as the shell took longer to recover in that area, and the Slime rapidly began to deflate as it leaked from multiple holes. 

Even as waves of black goo spread out in waves along the obsidian ground, Larek saw what was happening and directed his staff downward into the holes in the shell that he made, filling them with icy spikes and acid. He would’ve liked to use the blast or shatter effects, but they were more likely to hurt him seriously at that range, as they would explode right at the surface rather than inside.  His efforts paid off as the acid stream seemed to prevent the shell from reforming from the internal goo, at least for a bit, and the whole monster began to deflate even faster.

Despite their success, Larek still heard the multiple instances where the Martials on the ground were impaled by spikes, and he was worried that they would begin to falter if enough of them were taken out.  They kept fighting, however, as they refused to give up; soon enough, the Slime was only half the size it had been when the fight started, and then only a quarter – and yet, there were multiple Martials down.  Larek couldn’t tell if they were dead or just incapacitated until their bodies could heal, but the result was the same: fewer people to continue attacking the shrinking monster.

It was at that point that another horrific noise, somewhat muffled by the black goo covering it, was instigated by the Slime, and a large chunk of obsidian was ripped out from the ground underneath the Martials.  As they were flung in all directions, they stopped attacking the monster as the obsidian hovered in the air, before being split up into different boulder-sized chunks that were likely going to utterly smash the rest of the Strike Faction within seconds.

Larek began to panic, doing everything he could to tear even further into the Slime, but no more spikes were trying to attack him, giving him an easy way to make a hole.  Just as the last portion of the floating obsidian, dripping with the Slime’s own “blood”, was cut away from the whole, something caught his eye in one of the previous holes he had made along its back, where he was using acid to prevent it from scabbing over as quickly.  A large hump in the sealing shell suddenly bobbed up before descending slightly again, and the Fusionist suddenly knew what it was.

The Slime’s core.

Tossing his staff away before throwing himself off his disc, he used his momentum and both hands to angle his halberd downward, stabbing into the reforming shell; and as it pierced through the exterior, he used it to quickly cut through a square so that he could stab further inside.  As he used the weapon as a lever to rip out the chunk of its exterior, there was another ripple through the entire Slime, and the pole of the halberd was caught by the undulating shell and ripped from his hand, along with the chunk he had pried off.  The weapon went flying off the side of the monster, out of reach, but Larek wasn’t unarmed.  With a quick motion, he removed his axe from the holder on his belt, unused for a while now, but as he lifted the haft into his hand, it just felt right.  While it wasn’t his original axe that he’d originally acquired back near his home, it was similar enough that it felt familiar.

“Let’s finish this, old friend.”

With a deep breath, he dove into the exposed shell of the enormous Slime.  He couldn’t see anything, of course, but he didn’t have to; almost immediately he bumped into the large core of the monster, and he struck out with his axe.  It took enormous strength to push through the fluid inside the Slime, but he managed to somehow get enough leverage for his axe to pierce all the way through the gelatinous core, cutting it in half. 

An enormous shudder ran through the entire Slime, jostling him so much that he was quickly moved away from the opening, and he struggled to move.  Surrounded by the complete darkness of the monster’s insides, he was quickly lost, with no exit anywhere within his questing fingers.

That’s just great.  I killed it, but now I’m going to drown in its insides.

He began to panic as the Slime spasmed again, and he began to feel a pressure as the goo started to constrict around him.

Or maybe I’ll be crushed to death first….


Chapter 59

The pressure upon Larek’s entire body ramped up until he felt like he was going to be squished like a grape between his fingers.  He immediately regretted diving into the middle of the Slime to kill it, even if he had succeeded in killing it, but at the time he wasn’t really thinking straight.  His Furious Rampage Battle Art had faded away, but at the point he was attacking, he was making such a decision it had still burned within him.  It was only now, when he was having the life squeezed out of him, that he realized he probably could’ve simply shoved his halberd through the few feet of the Slime’s shell and activated the Variable Elemental Gust Sphere Fusion he had on the blade, especially as the monster’s core had been so close.  Then again, how was he to know if it would’ve even worked, as perhaps it might’ve been immune to the magical damage and only steel would hurt it.

Regardless of what decisions he had ultimately made and the regrets that came with them, Larek felt like he was going to die at any point. The squeezing on his body reached a crescendo as the bare skin all over his body began to compress, until he felt his finger bones beginning to snap.  He tried to cry out in temporary pain but couldn’t even open his mouth because of the pressure, and that was when his very eyes began to cave in, the skin protecting them just not strong enough to prevent their collapse.

As they burst inside of his eye sockets, reaching up to his brain, he mentally activated his Healing Surge Fusion and started to heal what was being destroyed, but it was a losing battle.  The healing couldn’t keep up with the pressure being exerted upon him, and he was counting down his demise within seconds…

…until all the pressure suddenly released, most of it gone as if it had never been there.  He felt fluid around him as if he was inside a thick soup, and his Healing Surge Fusion was able to repair him the rest of the way.  Opening his eyes did nothing except reveal that he was still in darkness, but the sensation of falling through the liquid around him was strong, like he was rushing down a river. 

The next moment, his momentum sped up until he shot out somewhere at an incredible pace, and the feeling of flying through the air caused him to wipe at his eyes – with arms and hands that were now free of the constricting fluid – and he saw the sky above him just as he landed hard upon the ground, bounced a few times, and then skid along what he quickly discovered was the Slime’s slippery internal goo.  Except that, once he stopped and was able to sit up to look around, he realized that it was more accurate to call it external goo, as it was everywhere except in the Slime.

As for the monster, he caught the last of it as it completely deflated.  Spouts of black fluid shot out in various directions, most of it coming from the holes that were carved into its shell, and he quickly deduced what had likely happened.  When he destroyed the core, the internal goo automatically solidified into the nearly impenetrable shell, which was probably a defense mechanism to protect the damaged core, and was what nearly crushed him to death; after a short time, however, it couldn’t maintain its solid shape upon its death and immediately turned back into goo.  That goo was put under pressure, and it basically shot him out of one of the holes in its shell, and was currently expelling the last of it even now.

As he was getting unsteadily to his feet, which was difficult in all the slippery Slime blood everywhere, he was nearly knocked off his feet as something slammed into his chest.  He belatedly realized his AIRF was on cooldown, so it didn’t reflect the assault, but that was probably a good thing as he looked down to see a black goo-covered Nedira holding tight to him.

“Larek!  I thought that the Emperor Slime had killed you!”

He tried to speak, but he had to turn his head to the side and cough out a lung full of black liquid.  “Heh, no, not yet.  It sure tried, though,” he said when he could finally talk.  The woman was still wrapped around him, as if afraid to let him go, and he moved to reassure her by patting her on the head, but realized he was absolutely covered in gunk.  At least it doesn’t smell.  Instead, he asked, “Emperor Slime?  It had a name?”

She finally moved slightly back to look up into his face.  “Not officially, I don’t believe, but that was what everyone with the Strike Faction was calling it.  Thankfully, they say there was only one of these.”

“Ah.  That’s good to know.  Speaking of the Strike Faction…” He trailed off as he looked around, seeing the Mages and Martials of the Faction in various states of exhaustion. Some of them were sitting slumped on the ground, some were barely standing upright, and others were laid out flat on their backs.  The only thing that all of them had in common was an expression of disbelief, as if they couldn’t understand why they weren’t dead – like the dozens of others that hadn’t made it. 

Catching a glimpse of something past them, he knew that it wasn’t over yet.  In fact, within the next few minutes, another monster horde would be approaching, and they needed to be ready for it.

And he would be damned if he was going to repel the monsters all by himself.

Gently pushing Nedira away, he turned toward the shocked Faction members and addressed them with as loud of a voice as he could.  “Listen up!  This isn’t over!  You wanted to strike at the Calamity, and this is the result!  This thing is dead, but there are more coming!”

“And who are you?  Where did you come from?” someone shouted back, a male Mage that was doing his best to stay out of the black goo and not succeeding very well. 

Larek shook his head.  “That’s not important right now.  What is important is that you prepare for more monsters and to work together—”

“He’s the one who killed Jack!”

Ah.  The Martial that was with the leader.  What was his name?  Henry… no, Henrik.  Looks like someone healed him.

“No, Jack killed himself,” said another familiar voice, and he saw the female Mage that had asked him about his Pattern construct.  Marteena?  Did I remember her name right?  “He was foolish enough to try and kill this man, and his own spell blew up in his face.  And why did he attack him?  Because he was looking for a way to escape, leaving us all behind to die to the monster attacks.”

“What?  No, that can’t be true!”

“Lies!  Jack would never—”

“I saw it happen!  What she says is true—”

“But who has that kind of power?  He’s probably also a monster—”

There was a brief discussion over what Larek did and didn’t do, but they didn’t have time for whatever they thought.  “ENOUGH!  I’m the one who created those Fusions that you’re using, so if you don’t trust me and want me to leave, I’ll just take them back and we’ll leave you to die. It’s your choice; I’m beginning not to care either way.”

“No!  Don’t go – we need your help!”

“You made these?  I find that unlikely—”

“Good riddance, then, because if he really did kill Jack—”

“SHUT UP!” screamed Marteena, interrupting everyone’s grumbling.  “As he said, that’s ENOUGH!  You can bicker all you want later, but we need to work together to survive.  Whether or not he killed Jack is of no consequence, as he has done nothing but help us since then.  And he is willing to help us now, if we work with him, is that right?”

Larek nodded, glad that he didn’t have to yell at everyone again, because he was exhausted and it took a lot out of him. 

“So, forget whatever you know or think you know about him, because he has given us a chance.  A chance not only to survive… but to fulfill the objective of our Faction.  If you haven’t realized it by now, we’re closer to closing the Aperture now than ever before, and if we can manage to hold on over the next week and a half, which should bring even the slowest of monsters here, then we can finally put an end to this Calamity – and we won’t let it happen again.”

As far as rousing speeches went, it wasn’t the best – but it also wasn’t the worst.  It was also enough to get the exhausted Mages and Martials motivated enough to get moving, traveling back to where they had set up their lines before.  Now, of course, they were much depleted, with only 56 people still alive, but that would have to be enough.

Exiting the pool of black goo that remained after the Emperor Slime was dead, Marteena came up beside him and Nedira and introduced herself.  “Hello.  Larek, was it?  I’m Marteena, but my friends call me Teena.”

“Nice to officially meet you, Teena.  I assume you’ve already met Nedira?”

“Oh, yes, I worked with her to distribute all the Fusions she pulled out of those miraculous bags.”  She hesitated for a moment, before blurting out, “So, you said you would tell me more about how you’re able to create things out of Pattern Cohesion—”

“After all this is over, if you still want to learn.  I’m not sure you’ll be able to do everything I can, however, but it might still be beneficial.  In fact, every Mage should know about it, as it’s another Skill that they could Level-up in order to get stronger.”  He shook his head, knowing that this wasn’t the time for this.  “But that’s for later.  We have more to do before we get there.”

“Ah, yes, of course.  In reference to that, how would you like to arrange the defense of the Faction?” Teena asked.

Larek was confused.  “Why are you asking me?”

Visibly flustered, she said, “Well, because you’re the one in charge now—”

“Let me stop you right there,” he interrupted.  “I have no desire to be in charge, nor do I want to lead your Faction in any way, shape, or form.  I only want to work with you so that I’m not ending up doing all the work, especially over the next few hours as I really need to rest after all that,” he said, waving toward the deflated Emperor Slime.

“But—”

“Here’s an idea,” he went on, talking over her.  “Why don’t you be in charge and tell me what you want my help with, and I’ll do my best to follow orders.  I may not follow them exactly, as I may have a better idea of what needs to be done at the time, but it’ll most likely be to your benefit.  I want to protect everyone in the Faction just as much as they want to stay alive, because those people will help defend those I care about.”  He nodded toward Nedira and waved back at where the Faction’s camp was originally set up.  He didn’t have to explain that he was talking about Verne, because she seemed to know what he was talking about.

“I… but I’m not a leader.”

“Neither am I, but you seemed to handle them pretty well back there.  You can all determine later if you want to stay in charge, but I figure that you’re the best one for the job.  You know your people better than I ever would, after all, and you’ll know what to do with them.”

“I… will try.”

No more was said, but as they were walking out of the goo pool, Larek could sense the Fusions in his staff, axe, and halberd from where they had been flung during the fight with the Slime or lost within its body.  He swiftly traveled to them and he picked them up, slightly horrified at how dirty they were, but they were both thankfully completely intact and undamaged. 

They only had a few minutes before the next monsters arrived to try and kill them, and Teena rallied her people with hesitant orders; it was enough, however, because most of them were so exhausted from the previous battle that none of them protested her giving them orders.  From what Larek could tell, most of them were glad that they had someone who seemed to be in charge, so that they at least had a semblance of organization.

Of them all, it was the Mages that were in the best shape, if only because they hadn’t been in the complete thick of the battle against the enormous Slime, though that wasn’t saying much.  They still seemed likely to fall over at any point, but they still got into position in a united front against the incoming group of monsters.  Fortunately for them, it was only a large horde of thousands of ferret-like creatures that stood 3 feet tall and were able to leap long distances with their sharp claws extended and their overly large jaws open and ready to rend flesh from the bone.

It was nothing that a concerted barrage of rapid-fired projectiles sent out by the Strike Faction couldn’t take care of.  Even better, the Martials, who were practically dead on their feet from the Slime fight, could sit back and utilize some of the staves that were extra now that their owners had either died or were simply additional ones that were provided by Larek and Nedira.  The rapid use of the staves dropped the Mana density down quite a bit, to the point where the Fusionist became slightly worried, but the ferret monsters were dead before it became too much of a problem.

“If you can, spread them out a little more; otherwise, the ambient Mana density in the area will drop too low – especially in protracted battles,” Larek advised the new leader of the Faction after watching them finish off the last of the horde.  “Are you able to sense the ambient Mana density with your Magical Detection Skill yet?”

“Uh, I think so?”

“Then you can use it to determine how low it gets.  You shouldn’t have any problems if you spread them out a little, or keep it to about 20 or so firing simultaneously.”

The Mage appeared lost in thought as she nodded, before moving off.  Larek turned to Nedira and smiled a tired smile.  “Do you mind keeping an eye on them?  Only participate if you really need to, and if there are any emergencies you can wake me up.  Otherwise, I really need to sleep.”

“I’ve got this,” she assured him, waving toward where the Secure Hideaway was located.  “I don’t think Verne is awake yet, but there’s nothing I can think of to help,” she added.  Larek looked around for the broken Ancient Protector tree, but it was nowhere in sight.  He just nodded, went toward the Secure Hideaway, deactivated it from outside, and then reactivated it once he was inside again.  Looking at his old roommate, he discovered that he was at least resting comfortably and didn’t seem as distressed, which seemed like a good sign.  Without another word, he laid himself down and fell asleep almost instantly, still largely covered in the blood of the Slime he’d had to climb inside in order to kill.

*         *          *

Larek woke up an indeterminate amount of time later to find that Verne was unfortunately still asleep.  Sitting up, he debated creating an Expression of Free Will Fusion and settling it upon his friend in order to help clear away the Dominion magic that had been used on him to make him forget Larek, but decided to wait until his former roommate woke up naturally.  He still wasn’t sure exactly what had happened when his friend’s Ancient Protector spell knocked him out, and he didn’t want to mess up any healing that might be going on with that strained connection.  It was a risk either way, however, because if Verne had the same reaction as Kimble had when he was triggered by Larek’s identity being revealed, it could be bad, but he also didn’t want to mess with whatever reason his friend was still unconscious.

After he looked outside the Secure Hideaway to ensure that they weren’t immediately in need of his help, he finally looked at the notifications about his Skill increases that he had ignored up until this point. 

Magical Detection has reached Level 49!

Magical Detection has reached Level 50!

Pattern Manipulation has reached Level 71!

……

Pattern Manipulation has reached Level 79!

Mana Control has reached Level 75!

Fusion has reached Level 75!

Pattern Formation has reached Level 75!

Unarmed Fighting has reached Level 12!

Unarmed Fighting has reached Level 13!

Stama Subjugation has reached Level 28!

……

Stama Subjugation has reached Level 40!

Dodge has reached Level 35!

……

Dodge has reached Level 44!

Bladed Weapon Expertise has reached Level 38!

……

Bladed Weapon Expertise has reached Level 45!

Body Regeneration has reached Level 49!

Body Regeneration has reached Level 50!

Bargaining has reached Level 12!

Bargaining has reached Level 13!

Leadership has reached Level 17!

……

Leadership has reached Level 20!

Speaking has reached Level 25!

Axe Handling has reached Level 93!

You have reached Level 44 and have 29 available AP to distribute!

You have reached Level 45 and have 59 available AP to distribute!

He hadn’t really paid attention to the after-battle notifications or sensations of Skill increases from the fight with the Slime, as he was being crushed at the time, but it had apparently been quite lucrative to fight something that powerful.  Not only did he essentially max out his Mana Control, Fusion, Pattern Formation, and Pattern Manipulation from the act of creating a powerful Weaken Fusion and then placing it on the Slime itself, but he also increased his Stama Subjugation Skill by 13 Levels!  Whether it was because he took a chance to use Furious Rampage or if it was due to the foe he was fighting, the end result was that he now had better control over his Stama and might even be able to use some of his other Battle Arts that required more. 

Since he had hit his maximum Level on multiple Skills, he looked to see if he had accumulated enough AF to raise them – and was shocked at what he saw. 

Available Aetheric Force (AF): 385,147

What?  How?

The answer was fairly obvious when he stopped to think about it.  He’d killed thousands of monsters over the course of a few hours before the enormous Slime arrived, and he hadn’t even taken the time to look at how much AF he had been accumulating from them – and that wasn’t even counting what he received from the Slime itself.  Now that it all had a chance to purify in his body and was ready to use, it added up to nearly 400,000 AF.

He quickly raised the maximum of every single Skill by 20, spending a whopping 225,100 AF in the process, and then kept the rest to figure out at a later time.  As for his large influx of AP, he spent 45 of his accumulated 59 AP to raise his Strength, Body, and Agility up to 200, and the remaining 14 to bring Acuity up to 190. 

He immediately felt a surge go through his body as his stats swelled by a significant amount, and his mind felt even more clear than it had a few minutes prior.  Along with the Body stat increasing, his Pneuma and Pattern Cohesion increased (with Boosts) to 7,200 and 72,000, respectively – an incredible amount by any standards.

With that taken care of, he checked up on Verne again to see him still unconscious, so he left the Secure Hideaway on his friend as he went to see Nedira.  “Thanks for keeping watch,” he said as he came up behind her, and she nearly fell down as she turned toward him.  He caught her before she could hit the ground, as the tiredness in her entire body was evident; he could only assume that she was staying awake and marginally alert by sheer willpower alone.  “Hey, you’re alright.  How long was I out?”

“Just over 12 hours,” she replied, her speech a little slurred from exhaustion.

Half a day?  I haven’t slept that long in a while.  I must’ve been more tired than I thought.

“I’m taking over now, so go get some sleep.  Verne still hasn’t woken up, but hopefully he will soon.”

She didn’t argue as she stumbled away, her staff the only thing keeping her upright.  He saw that she had cleaned up a bit while he was asleep, and looking down he found that most of the Slime goo had dried on his clothes and was already flaking off.  Rather than waste time cleaning up, knowing that it would fall off eventually, he went to find an equally run-down Teena.

“Reporting for orders!  Where do you want me?” he asked, and he could see that she was glad he had finally arrived.  With a smile, she essentially told him to take over the entire defense while her people rested; given that he couldn’t see any monster hordes on the horizon, he had no problem with that.  He felt extremely rested, though hungry, and as soon as he grabbed something to eat, he would do his part to keep everyone safe.


Chapter 60

The next week and a half was a measure of patience and the frantic defense of his friends and the Strike Force, who became more and more adept at using their new Fusions that Larek provided.  He even spent some free time – which was strangely frequent as they had to wait for more monsters to arrive – adding Strengthen and Sharpen Edge Fusions to the Martials’ weapons, as well as Multi-Resistance Fusions to not only their armor but the robes of the Mages, so as to make them a little harder to kill. 

After a few days, with the help of his Pattern disc allowing him to scout around for incoming monster hordes, he even dropped hundreds of his original offensive Fusions in their path, which dramatically lessened their numbers by the time they arrived.  Ideally, he would’ve loved to kill them all from a distance with his Fusions, but something like his Shattering Acidic Occlusion Dome was only really useful for a few monsters at a time – unless he wanted it to explode when too many interacted with it, but he would rather not chance the explosion hurting anyone in the Faction at this point.  The first one exploding near the Slime was bad enough, and he didn’t want a repeat.

He briefly thought about flying out and killing the monsters at a much greater distance, eliminating them before they could even become a threat, but he decided not to.  Why?  Because as he told Teena and the Strike Faction before, he didn’t want to do it all himself.  The Mages and Martials were more than capable of defending themselves with the help of their new Fusions, and he was inclined to let them.

Besides, he still had to wait for Verne to wake up, as his old roommate hadn’t regained consciousness the entire time.  His body reacted to water and food being shoved into his mouth, chewing and swallowing automatically, so he wasn’t in danger of his friend dying from starvation or dehydration, but it was getting to the point where he was ready to try and wake him up by placing the Expression of Free Will Fusion on his skull. 

Before he decided to go that route, something else momentous was happening.  As Larek scouted out further and further from the center of the Calamity, ranging over 100 miles away at one point, he came to the conclusion that there were no more monsters coming.  The last monster horde was a bunch of slow-walking fishmen, wielding tridents in their fins that looked deadly enough, but they didn’t seem to fare very well walking over land.

Rather than take them out himself, which he could easily do from above, he allowed them to arrive near the center Aperture.  As he set down near the Strike Faction, who were sitting around talking while they waited for the next assault, he found Teena.  “For at least 100 miles, there are no more monsters – just these ones that will arrive in the next hour or so.  I can only assume that they are the last.”

Shocked, she just stared at the Fusionist for a few seconds before she shook her head.  “Seriously?  We… did it?”

“Almost.  You just have a few more to kill, and then we can close the Aperture… right?  That’s what all the notes we found at your compound in Warshdin said, at least.”

“That’s correct.  There were a few much smaller Apertures that were closed this same way in the past, which had taken over only a few subordinate Apertures, and there’s nothing to say that this situation won’t be the same.”

“But you don’t know for sure.”

She shook her head.  “Of course not.  No one has closed a Calamity of this size, after all.”

He supposed it made sense, as this wasn’t something easily done.

The deaths of the last monsters in the Calamity were relatively anticlimactic, because as soon as the trident-wielding fishmen were within range of the staves all the Mages and Martials were carrying, they were blasted by hundreds of flaming balls that tore through them like they were wet paper.  It took a couple of minutes for them all to come close enough to die, with none of the fishy monsters getting within 50 feet of the closest Martial up front, but eventually the final one fell to the ground dead.  As soon as it fell, there was a deep, hollow *thwomp* behind them all, and they turned to see the gigantic Aperture seemingly pulse where it had been relatively stable before.

“Attack the Aperture!  Now’s our chance to close it!” Teena screamed, and everyone – Larek and Nedira included – started to bombard the large spherical opening from afar.  A few seconds after they began, however, a Steel Slime emerged from the Aperture and fell to the ground, before starting to roll in the direction of the Strike Faction. 

“Reinforcements!  Larek, you’re in charge of eliminating them!” the de facto leader of the Faction yelled at him, and he got right on it.  He was using his own less-powerful version of the staves that the others were using, as he didn’t want to suck away all of the ambient Mana in the area; it proved to be more than enough to obliterate the Slime, however. 

But it wasn’t the last Slime to emerge from the Aperture as they slowly shrunk it down in size, as they kept appearing after every 5 seconds or so.  It wasn’t as fast as when an Aperture re-opened to populate its territory, such as what he’d experienced at his very first Aperture sighting with the Greater Trizards, but it was much faster than the reinforcements from the other Apertures.  And not only Steel Slimes appeared, but their evolved versions plopped out of the opening to the world of Corruption, as after every tenth Steel Slime was a Rainbow Slime; after every ten Rainbow Slimes that were sighted was a Crystal Slime.  Thankfully, they were easy enough for Larek to dispose of, using his powerful staff by blasting the latter apart, but he began to get worried when he saw his ninth Crystal Slime and the Aperture had only shrunk approximately halfway.

“We’re going to have to speed this up!” he shouted at Teena from above, where he had been keeping watch for and eliminating new arrivals as soon as they showed up. 

“How?  We’re already giving it all we’ve got.”

“Have the Martials attack with their weapons and their Battle Arts,” he suggested, after taking out yet another Steel Slime that emerged from the Aperture.  “I’ll build a platform for them to reach it.”  That was the major problem with such a large Aperture, because it floated just a little too far off the ground to easily reach it from below with a weapon.  They could jump and hit it, but that would be too slow.

As Larek employed his Pattern Manipulation to assemble a platform made of his Pattern underneath the spherical Aperture, which essentially consisted of a large rectangular box that they could jump up on and then swing away without any further difficulty, he heard Teena direct the Martials to hand over their staves to the Mages, who were now dual-wielding them and unleashing their projectiles upon the Aperture.  They normally couldn’t do such a thing – or at least do it well – because they didn’t have the strength and skill to aim them properly without both hands on a single staff, but since they barely had to aim at the enormous Aperture, they were able to accomplish this without too many difficulties.

The difference in the Aperture’s rate of shrinkage was obvious from the second that the Martials started their offense, doubling or even tripling it in some cases.  Even though Larek had built the platform on the opposite side of where all the reinforcements were coming from, the biggest problem with the Martials being that close was that as soon as another Slime appeared, they inevitably moved toward them immediately.  That wasn’t that big of a deal with the Steel and even the Rainbow Slimes, but it wasn’t long until a Crystal Slime appeared – and was almost immediately too close to the Martials for Larek to utilize his usual method of blasting them apart with his staff. 

Thankfully, Teena saw the same problem and called the Martials to temporarily retreat.  They did so just in time as the Crystal Slime moved toward them, and Larek did his best to keep the blast radius to a minimum while he tore chunks off the monster over the course of a minute.  He’d also had to kill more Steel Slimes and a Rainbow Slime while he was doing that, but they were simple in comparison to the Crystal version. 

Eventually, though, he was done with it and the Martials resumed their attack up close, but it was only a matter of time before disaster struck.  That last Crystal Slime was the tenth one he’d seen, and if it followed the same pattern, then it was entirely possible that the next evolved Slime to come out in place of the Crystal Slime would be another Emperor Slime.

He had absolutely no desire to fight one of those things again.

The minutes flew by as they continued to shrink the Aperture, until it was only 50 feet in diameter.  He was starting to believe that even if the Emperor Slime were to come, it wouldn’t fit out of the opening…

…but he was proven wrong a minute later as it had shrunk even further, to about 45 feet in diameter, as a dark bulge began to press out of the Aperture, as if it was trying to squeeze out of the too-small opening.  Unfortunately, being a Slime meant it was quite flexible and would probably succeed in pushing through, as was evidenced by the fact that it quickly extended outward at least 5 feet and it was growing.

“Everyone back!  I’m going to see if I can close it faster!” Larek yelled, and he flew up above the Aperture, aiming for an area behind where the Strike Faction continued to bombard the opening from afar.  Thankfully, the much-faster Martials actually picked up the slower Mages and raced away from the area, giving them the much-needed space to avoid being damaged by what Larek was about to do.

He launched two Magnitude 12 blasts in quick succession from his area, feeling the ambient Mana deplete drastically from the Effect’s usages, but he wasn’t done.  The Emperor Slime was already 10 feet out of the opening, even though it had shrunk another five feet from the blasts, and Larek moved to another area with his Pattern disc, before launching another Mag 12 blast at it.  He continued to strafe around the edges of the still-shrinking Aperture, seeking out enough ambient Mana to fuel his blasts, and it continued to shrink rapidly.

But the massive Slime was also flowing out much faster, as if the squeeze was helping it somehow.  He didn’t give up, despite the ever-growing presence of the Emperor Slime; and with one more blast that drained the last of the available Mana in the area, the Aperture flickered and then abruptly shrunk down to an average-sized one when it was closed, leaving it only a foot across.  There was an immediate loosening of the pressure that he had gotten accustomed to ever since he entered the Calamity, like a weight was taken off not only his shoulders but his mind, as the Aperture finally closed.

As for the Emperor Slime, the opening snapped shut on it when only half of it had emerged, and it just so happened to cut it in half in the exact spot where the Core was located, killing it instantly.  As black goo flooded the area, Larek looked up to see the Strike Faction cheering from where they were standing hundreds of feet away.  He sighed in relief, knowing that they had succeeded, but what really proved that the Calamity was finally closed was seeing the landscape change before his eyes.  Past the original territory of the Steel Slime Aperture, which extended about a half mile in diameter, the obsidian ground broke apart and faded as its hold on the environment disappeared.  It was replaced by bare dirt and the sight of dead trees and grass, but what was once organically devastated could rise again. 

They had done it.  The northwestern Calamity was no more.

*          *          *

“He’s still not waking up,” Nedira told Larek after ensuring that there was no more danger around and after he had survived the enthusiastic congratulations and thank you’s that he received after the Calamity was closed. Many shaken hands and hugs were given out, even from those who originally didn’t want to work with him, and he took it all with a little embarrassment as they looked upon him with something akin to worship in their gazes.  He’d done his best to eliminate whatever bit of Dominion magic he might have been influencing them with, but after working with them for the last week and a half in intense battle situations, some of it had evidently bled through.  While he appreciated that they weren’t out for his blood anymore, the opposite wasn’t exactly something he was comfortable with, either.

“I was really hoping that closing the Calamity would somehow jolt him awake,” Larek said, kneeling by his friend’s side.  Unfortunately, it seemed as though that wasn’t to be, as his former roommate was still unconscious; he looked peaceful, at least, but nothing seemed to wake him up.

Nedira was silent for a few moments before she blurted out, “I think you should do it.”

“Really?  But the risks involved—”

“Can’t be any worse than keeping him in this state for who knows how long.  He might be taking food and drink, but this coma-like state can’t be good for his mind or his body.  You already said there are no more loose connections to that spell he used, so I think this is probably the only thing that we can do.”

That was true; Larek had already checked using his Magical Detection Skill to see if there was anything obvious keeping him in that state, but he found nothing.  He didn’t dare to delve into his mind to see if there was something there, because he didn’t want to alert the nascent Dominion magic set by Chinli, thereby starting something he wasn’t immediately prepared to fight back against.

But now there wasn’t much choice.  Well, there technically was the choice to leave him like he was, but it seemed that both of them would rather try to do something rather than let their friend linger like this with no end in sight.  Besides, as selfish as it was, they still needed to know where Nedira’s brother was located, as that would dictate their next destination.  To find that out, they needed Verne to wake up.

“Alright, but get ready in case he wakes up and the Dominion magic inside his head causes him to blindly attack anyone nearby.”

She just nodded as the Fusionist got to work.  In what felt like no time, he’d put together the formation for the Expression of Free Will +10 Fusion, the same one that Nedira had on her own skull.  After his experience with moving completed Fusions during the battle with the Emperor Slime, he found that it was easy enough to create it separate from his friend’s body and then transport it to where he wanted it when he was ready.  When the last of the Mana needed for the Fusion filtered through the formation and it thrummed with power, he cautiously brought it near his former roommate, intending to have it pass through his scalp and fuse right into his skull, but when it got within a few inches of his skin, Verne’s eyes abruptly flew open and he screamed, before flailing about. 

Nedira was prepared, thankfully, and had thrown herself on top of him, keeping his arms and legs pinned to the ground as best as she could, while Verne attempted to throw her off.  “Hurry!  I can’t hold him!”

A spell pattern somehow started to slowly assemble itself in front of Nedira’s face, which Larek thought looked similar to the Ancient Protector spell he’d used before, but it was twisted in some way he couldn’t explain.  Knowing that it could be catastrophic if he allowed the young man to complete it, he used both his hands to hold Verne’s head down and still while he mentally slipped the Fusion into place, allowing it to finish completely with a familiar *click*.

If they thought he had freaked out before, once the Fusion went to work eliminating any trace of Dominion magic in his mind, it was nothing compared to the spasming and flailing he underwent afterwards.  Thankfully, the spell pattern he had been assembling broke apart and faded away, but his spasms were so great that Nedira was flung away, thankfully unhurt, and Larek waved her away rather than risk jumping on top of the young man again.

It took another five minutes before Verne finally calmed down, collapsing on the bedroll he had been lying on while breathing hard.  His eyes finally seemed to focus on his surroundings, and he groaned as he held his hands up to his head and rubbed his temples.  “Ow.  What… what happened?” he finally asked, his voice hoarse and likely as dry as the Lowenthal desert.

“We don’t really know,” Nedira replied, coming up next to him and laying a hand on his arm in a comforting gesture.  “You were in a coma-like state ever since your Ancient Protector was seriously damaged by the Emperor Slime, and we didn’t know how else to wake you.”

“Nedira?  You’re still here?  Wait… did we kill that thing?”

She nodded when he looked up at her.  “Not only that, but we closed the Calamity.”

“What?  How?  Everything is a little fuzzy….”

Larek moved around from behind the young man so that Verne could see him.  “Hey there, roomie.” 

“Who—?  Larek?  Larek!  I can remember you now!  What… what happened?” 

“There’s a lot to explain, but the gist of it is that you’re now free of any influence by all Dominion magic.  I created a Fusion and stuck it inside your head,” Larek explained with a smirk. 

“You did what?  How is that even possible—ah, never mind.  Now that I’m remembering correctly, you do the impossible every day, don’t you?”

“That’s what I’ve been saying!” Nedira agreed with a chuckle. 

“I bet it was you that killed that impossibly enormous Slime, wasn’t it?”

Larek just shrugged, not wanting to relive the horrific events of being trapped inside of that monster. 

“What’s more important right now is that you’re alright.  Did anything happen to your Pattern Cohesion or something else that might explain why you were in that coma-like state?” Nedira asked. 

“Let me check… no, I don’t see anything different.  I have no idea.”

Larek sighed in relief.  He was really hoping that his friend hadn’t been permanently affected by what had happened to his Ancient Protector.  “That’s good to hear.  Now, there’s an even more important question that we need the answer to.  Nedira tried to ask you before, but you fell into your coma before that could happen.”  He paused for a moment before continuing.  “Do you know where Norde is?”

Verne paused for a moment before he nodded.  “That’s right.  I remember you asking me about that before.  Anyway, the last time I heard from him, he was working for the Strike Faction down at the southeastern Calamity.  A city called, hmm, Provenance?  Providence?  Something like that.”

Larek, of course, hadn’t heard of any place like that, but he was hoping that as long as they had a direction, they would eventually find it. 

“Thank you.  Now, let’s see about getting out of here before Teena remembers that I was supposed to teach her about Pattern Manipulation.”

“Are you trying to skip out on me?” came a voice behind him.  He knew who it was without turning around.

“Ah, bring her with us.  She isn’t needed here anymore, anyway, now that the Calamity is closed,” Verne said, looking behind Larek at what the Fusionist could only assume was Teena.  And there was a hint of a goofy smile on his face.  Huh.  Well, I guess that settles that.

“Fine.  Everyone get ready to leave, because we have places to see and people to find.  We’ll talk on the way,” he said, turning around to see Teena already had a pack on her back, as if she was ready to go.

“I’ve decided that I don’t really care for a leadership role, so I figured I would beg to come along with you.”

“He says you’re good, so no begging is necessary,” Larek said.

He looked at Verne, who was glancing around Teena as if looking for someone.  “Where’s your shadow?” his former roommate asked lightly.

A cloud fell over Teena’s face.  “Chardine didn’t make it.”

“I’m so sorry.  I know you two were close—”

“It’s fine.  Really, it is.  Char died doing what we set out to do, and without her sacrifice we might never have succeeded.”  She took a deep breath before looking Larek straight in his eyes.  “I’m ready to go anytime you are.”

“Me, too,” Verne agreed.  Getting up on unsteady legs, he added, “Now, let’s go get the whole gang back together!”

Larek smiled even as he gathered his own stuff, before creating a Pattern box large enough to fit four people comfortably.  While he was looking forward to finding Norde, he was also hopeful that he would keep developing his strength, as his ultimate goal of rescuing his family was still at the forefront of his mind.  He’d already improved so much in their quest to rescue Verne, so he could only imagine what would happen when they went to find Nedira’s brother.

“I couldn’t agree more,” Larek said to his former roommate, as he lifted them all into the air and began flying toward the southeast.  What they would find there, he didn’t know, but it was sure to be dangerous with impossible odds of success.

In order to grow and get stronger, with the end goal of facing down the Gergasi who stole his family away from him, that was exactly what he was looking for.


Epilogue

“Impossible!  How could this have happened?!”

Barkus was confused.  “What do you mean?  I thought this was great news—”

“Fool!  We were supposed to be the first to close one of the Calamities, therefore establishing ourselves as the preeminent force once again in the Kingdom.  Now the SIC is going to look like idiots when we assemble the tens of thousands of Mages and Martials that are needed to close the northeastern Calamity – when the northwestern one was reportedly closed by less than two hundred!”

“Uh, I believe they had less than a hundred—”

General Maxwell pointed at Barkus and he shut his mouth.  “See!  That’s exactly what I’m talking about!  Rumors are flying faster than any real information, but the fact remains that the Calamity has been closed.  There’s no way to deny that when everyone can sense it… but there might be a way to turn this to our advantage.”

“How, sir?  More importantly, why?” the senior Corpsman couldn’t help but ask, though he immediately shrank back, wondering if he had overstepped himself.  Thankfully, it seemed as though the General was in an unusual mood.

“Why?  Because we need public opinion on our side, Barkus.  Without their support, we won’t be able to gather the forces needed to close any other Calamity; and without those forces, which we will use to close all of the others, we won’t be able to spread our influence throughout the common people.  They need someone to protect them, and the current structure isn’t cutting it.  The SIC held command before, and it’s about time we held it again.  Once they see that it was the SIC that ended the major threats against their overall survival, they’ll come flocking to our banner for further protection.  The resources that we’ll be able to acquire at that point should be enough to set us up into the future as we consolidate our hold over everything.

“As for how we’re going to take advantage of this situation, what better way is there than turning public opinion against those who closed it?”

“How would that work, sir?”

General Maxwell held up his finger as if making a point.  “They had no backing behind them, and therefore no support.  What do you think is going to happen to all of those Apertures that were just released from the Calamity?  That’s right, they are now free to grow and populate their territories, because there is no plan or structure for dealing with the aftermath.  The so-called Defend Factions were caught flat-footed after the Calamity’s closure, and it will likely be months or years before they can fully gain control over everything that was within that territory.  Such an endeavor is likely to claim many lives, as well, and without the Calamity keeping them in check, many of the Apertures will expand and become major threats on their own. 

“Unlike what we’ve been doing since we started planning for the northeastern Calamity’s closure.  We already have a strategy in place to quickly establish outposts to begin culling the newly freed Apertures, thereby limiting the danger to the people and those we’re using to contain them all. 

“In short, they produce chaos, while we apply order to the region – just like we’ll do to the Kingdom once we’re done.  If we manipulate the flow of information in our favor, then those who closed the Calamity will ultimately seem like anarchists instead of saviors, and we can sweep in and project our own competence once we have everything under control.”

Barkus couldn’t help but shake his head.  “But sir, if we can discover how they did it with so few people—”

“No, it doesn’t matter.  They got lucky, is all.  It’s more important to bring as many Mages and Martials under our command as possible; we don’t need to consider a small team, because a large group will work better for our plans in the long run.  Is that understood?”

He swallowed whatever protests were bubbling up in his throat.  “Sir, yes, sir.”

“Good.  I’m going to have some messages that need to go out quickly, so return in 30 minutes and make sure they succeed in getting where they’re supposed to.  Dismissed.”

Barkus turned on his heel and left the General’s large office inside Fort Stonekeep.  As he closed the door behind him, he breathed a sigh of relief after leaving the General’s strong presence, which always seemed to press down on him whenever he was near.  Taking a deep breath, he straightened up and glanced around, glad to see that no one was watching, and he began organizing his thoughts for his upcoming assignment.  He knew he could find messengers for most of what was needed, but there was one place that he was likely to be sent to in order to ensure that the messages were delivered to the right people.  That meant he was going to be leaving soon…

…and he wasn’t sure how he felt about it.  After hearing that one of the Calamities had been closed, he had been joyful and had silently congratulated whoever it was who’d done it, but after his conversation with the General, he was confused about what exactly he should be feeling. 

On the one hand, he agreed that the SIC should rise to prominence again, if only because they were the only organization in the Kingdom that could take on the protection of its citizens with any type of success.  On the other hand, he didn’t think it was right to villainize the individuals who had done the impossible. 

It’s not my responsibility.  Those decisions have already been made, and there is nothing I can do to change them.  Even though he told himself that, he didn’t believe it.

Therefore, when he was given his assignment later on by General Maxwell, he dispatched most of what he was supposed to, but held on to a few that he was going to take personally to the south.  It might not make much of a difference, but if he could find a way to raise the opinion of the SIC in the public’s eye while helping out those who achieved what was thought at one time to be impossible, then he would do it.

It was time to visit an old friend near the southeastern Calamity.  An old friend who knew him by an entirely different name, one that he’d had while he was still proud to be a Noble in the Kingdom of Androthe.

The End
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